Dan Crisan *Editor*

Stochastic Analysis 2010

V. Bally D. Brody E. Clément D. Crisan S. Davie I. Gyöngy L. G. Gyurkó L. Hughston M. Kelbert V. Kolokoltsov N.V. Krylov T. Kurtz X.-M. Li T. Lyons A. Macrina V. Ortiz-López A. Papavasiliou M. Sanz-Solé V.N. Stanciulescu Y. Suhov M.V. Tretyakov R. Tunaru

D Springer

Stochastic Analysis 2010

Dan Crisan Editor

Stochastic Analysis 2010



Editor Dan Crisan Department of Mathematics Imperial College London 180 Queen's Gate London SW7 2AZ United Kingdom d.crisan@imperial.ac.uk

ISBN 978-3-642-15357-0 e-ISBN 978-3-642-15358-7 DOI 10.1007/978-3-642-15358-7 Springer Heidelberg Dordrecht London New York

Mathematics Subject Classification (2010): 60H05, 60H07, 60H10, 60H15, 60H30, 58J65

© Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2011

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilm or in any other way, and storage in data banks. Duplication of this publication or parts thereof is permitted only under the provisions of the German Copyright Law of September 9, 1965, in its current version, and permission for use must always be obtained from Springer. Violations are liable to prosecution under the German Copyright Law.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

Cover design: WMX Design GmbH, Heidelberg, Germany

Printed on acid-free paper

Springer is part of Springer Science+Business Media (www.springer.com)

Preface

In July 2009, Imperial College London hosted the 7th Congress of the International Society for Analysis, its Applications and Computations. One of the invited sections of the Congress was devoted to Stochastic Analysis and Applications. It proved to be one of the most popular sections with talks covering a variety of topics within Stochastic Analysis. Spearheaded by the success of the meeting, the participants agreed to contribute to a special volume dedicated to the subject. The book "Stochastic Analysis 2010" is the result of their joint efforts.

Springer Verlag has kindly agreed to publish the collected works of the participants and we owe a special thanks to the publisher and, in particular, to Dr Catriona Byrne, Springer's Editorial Director for Mathematics. I would also like to acknowledge the Mathematics editorial team, in particular, Dr Marina Reizakis Associate Editor for Mathematics and Annika Elting Editorial Assistant for Mathematics for the smooth and efficient handling of the book project.

London July 2010 Dan Crisan

Contents

Introduction
Dan Crisan
Integration by Parts Formula with Respect to Jump Times for Stochastic Differential Equations7
Vlad Bally and Emmanuelle Clément
A Laplace Principle for a Stochastic Wave Equation in Spatial Dimension Three
Víctor Ortiz-López and Marta Sanz-Solé
Intertwinned Diffusions by Examples 51 Xue-Mei Li
Efficient and Practical Implementations of Cubature on Wiener Space
Lajos Gergely Gyurkó and Terry J. Lyons
Equivalence of Stochastic Equations and Martingale Problems113 Thomas G. Kurtz
Accelerated Numerical Schemes for PDEs and SPDEs
Coarse-Grained Modeling of Multiscale Diffusions: The <i>p</i> -Variation Estimates169 Anastasia Papavasiliou
Numerical Solution of the Dirichlet Problem for Linear Parabolic SPDEs Based on Averaging over Characteristics

Individual Path Uniqueness of Solutions of Stochastic Differential Equations Alexander M. Davie	213
Stochastic Integrals and SDE Driven by Nonlinear Lévy Noise Vassili N. Kolokoltsov	227
Discrete Algorithms for Multivariate Financial Calculus Radu Tunaru	243
Credit Risk, Market Sentiment and Randomly-Timed Default Dorje C. Brody, Lane P. Hughston, and Andrea Macrina	267
Continuity of Mutual Entropy in the Limiting Signal-To-Noise Ratio Regimes Mark Kelbert and Yuri Suhov	281

Introduction

Dan Crisan

Stochastic Analysis has emerged as one of the main branches of the latter half of twentieth century mathematics. Situated at the confluence between Analysis and Probability Theory, Stochastic Analysis impresses through its wide range of topics and applications. It aims to provide mathematical tools to describe and model random dynamical systems. Such tools arise in the study of stochastic differential equations and stochastic partial differential equations, infinite dimensional stochastic geometry, random media and interacting particle systems, super-processes, stochastic filtering, mathematical finance, etc. Its roots can be traced back to the work of Kiyosi Itô who has laid the foundations of the theory of stochastic differential equations and of stochastic integration in the 1940s.

Since the early 1950s, Stochastic Analysis has developed at an accelerated rate, gaining new perspectives through interactions with various branches of mathematics, including partial differential equations, potential theory, Lie groups and Lie algebras, differential geometry, and harmonic analysis. Stochastic Analysis embodies the main characteristics of twentieth century mathematical sciences – having elegance, mathematical depth and strong interactions with a wide range of areas. Its influence has gone far beyond the confines of mathematics by providing tools for analyzing random phenomena in fields as diverse as physics, biology, economics, and engineering. For example, the research on filtering theory with its many engineering applications could not have developed to its current stage without the use of stochastic analysis tools, including martingale theory, stochastic differential equations and Itô calculus play crucial roles in pricing financial derivatives such as options (as embodied in the famous results of Black and Scholes), futures, interest rate derivatives, etc.

It is difficult, if not impossible, to summarize a subject that has experienced such rapid fundamental developments both in the vertical and in the horizontal direction.

e-mail: d.crisan@imperial.ac.uk

© Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2011

D. Crisan

Department of Mathematics, Imperial College London, 180 Queen's Gate, London SW7 2AZ, United Kingdom

D. Crisan (ed.), Stochastic Analysis 2010, DOI 10.1007/978-3-642-15358-7_1,

The special volume "Stochastic Analysis 2010" aims to provide only a sample of the current research in the different branches of the subject. It includes the collected works of the participants at the Stochastic Analysis section of the 7th Congress of the International Society for Analysis, its Applications and Computations organized at Imperial College London in July 2009. In the following, we give a brief description of the contributions comprising the volume:

The contribution of Bally and Clément considers a class of stochastic differential equations (SDEs) driven by Poisson point measures and aims to give sufficient conditions for proving the absolute continuity with respect to the Lebesgue measure of the law of their solution and for the smoothness of the corresponding density. The authors prove that, under certain non-degeneracy assumptions, the solution X_t of the stochastic differential equation will have a smooth density for sufficiently large t (explicit bounds are given). The results do not apply for small t: one has to wait for a while until the regularization effect takes place. The main tool of the analysis is a Malliavin type integration by parts formula for stochastic differential equations with the basic noise given by the jump times.

Ortiz–López and Sanz–Solé analyse in their contribution a family of stochastic wave equations in spatial dimension three, driven by a Gaussian noise, white in time and with a stationary spatial covariance. The family is constructed by perturbing the driving noise with a multiplicative parameter $\varepsilon \in [0, 1]$. They show that this family satisfies a Laplace principle (as ε tends to 0) in the Hölder norm and identify the corresponding large deviation rate function. In the proof of main result, they use the weak convergence approach to large deviations developed by Dupuis and Ellis. An essential ingredient of this method is a variational representation for a reference Gaussian process, e.g., Brownian motion when studying diffusion processes, or various generalizations of the infinite-dimensional Wiener process when dealing with stochastic partial differential equations.

The paper of Li lies within the area of stochastic geometry. Let p be a differentiable map from a manifold N to another manifold M which intertwines a diffusion operator \mathcal{B} on N with another (elliptic) diffusion operator \mathcal{A} on M, that is $(\mathcal{A}f) \circ p = \mathcal{B}(f \circ p)$ for a given smooth function f from M to \mathbb{R} . The paper studies the geometry induced by the pair of diffusion operators $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B})$. The geometry leads to an intrinsic point of view on the filtering framework. This is explained by examples, in local coordinates and in the metric setting. The article draws largely on recent work of Elworthy, LeJan and Li and aims to have a comprehensive account of the topic for a general audience.

The contribution of Gyurkó and Lyons explores high order numerical schemes for integrating linear parabolic partial differential equations with piece-wise smooth boundary data. The high order Monte-Carlo methods presented give accurate approximations with computation times comparable with much less accurate finite difference and basic Monte-Carlo schemes. A key feature of these algorithms is that the order of the approximation is tuned to the accuracy one requires. A considerable improvement in efficiency can be attained by using ultra high order cubature formulae. The methods presented belong to the Kusuoka–Lyons–Victoir (KLV) family of numerical methods for integrating solutions to partial differential equations that occur in mathematical finance and many other fields. Sofar, Lyons and Victoir have given a degree 5 approximation. Gyurkó and Lyons present here the cubature of degrees 9 and 11 in one-dimensional space-time and describe the advantages of using these new methods.

The paper of Kurtz studies the equivalence between stochastic equations and martingale problems. Stroock and Varadhan proved that the solution of a martingale problem for a diffusion process gives a weak solution of the corresponding Itô equation. The result is obtained by constructing the driving Brownian motion from the solution of the martingale problem. This constructive approach is much more challenging for more general Markov processes. A "soft" approach to this equivalence is presented here which begins with a joint martingale problem for the solution of the desired stochastic equation and the driving processes and applies a Markov mapping theorem to show that any solution of the original martingale problem corresponds to a solution of the joint martingale problem. These results coupled with earlier results on the equivalence of forward equations and martingale problems show that the three standard approaches to specifying Markov processes (stochastic equations, martingale problems, and forward equations) are, under very general conditions, equivalent in the sense that existence and/or uniqueness of one implies existence and/or uniqueness of the other two.

Gyöngy and Krylov present in their contribution a survey of numerical methods for some classes of deterministic and stochastic PDEs. The methods presented are distinguished from other methods as they all include *Richardson's extrapolation* method as an acceleration step. The first class of methods considered are monotone finite difference schemes for parabolic PDEs. The authors present theorems on power series expansions of finite difference approximations in terms of the mesh-size of the grid. These theorems imply that one can accelerate the convergence of finite difference approximations to any order by taking suitable mixtures of approximations corresponding to different mesh-sizes. The results are extended to degenerate elliptic equations in spaces with supremum norm. Similar methods and results are also presented for finite difference approximations of linear stochastic PDEs. Finally, the authors present results on power series expansion in the *parameters* of the approximations and introduce theorems on their acceleration for a large class of equations and various types of time discretizations.

The contribution of Papavasiliou studies the problem of estimating the parameters of the limiting equation of a multiscale diffusion in the case of averaging and homogenization. The parameters are estimated given data from the corresponding multiscale system. The author reviews recent results that make use of the maximum likelihood of the limiting equation. The results show that, in the averaging case, the maximum likelihood estimator will be asymptotically consistent in the limit. However, in the homogenization case, the maximum likelihood estimator will be asymptotically consistent only if one subsamples the data. The paper also contains a study of the problem of estimating the diffusion coefficient. Here, a novel approach is presented that makes use of the total *p*-variation. The author shows that in order to compute the diffusion coefficient, one should not use the quadratic variation commonly defined as a limit where the size of a partition goes to zero but rather as a supremum over all partitions. This definition is at the core of the theory of rough paths as it gives rise to a topology with respect to which the Itô map is continuous. The advantage of this approach is that it avoids the subsampling step. The method is applied to a multiscale Ornstein–Uhlenbeck process.

Stanciulescu and Tretyakov present in their contribution a class of numerical methods for solving the Dirichlet problem of linear parabolic stochastic partial differential equations. The methods are based on a probabilistic representation of the solution of the corresponding SPDE which involves averaging characteristics over an auxiliary Wiener process w independent of the Wiener process W that drives the SPDE. The numerical methods are constructed by approximating the stochastic characteristics for a fixed trajectory of W. The authors introduce first-order and order 1/2 (in the mean-square sense) numerical methods. To make them fully implementable, the methods require an additional Monte-Carlo step. The corresponding convergence theorems, both in the mean-square sense and in the sense of almost sure convergence, are given. All results are proved under rather strong assumptions, in particular that the SPDE has a sufficiently smooth classical solution. This allows the authors to obtain convergence of the proposed methods in a strong norm and with optimal orders. However, the numerical algorithms of this paper can be used under broader conditions. The paper is concluded with results of some numerical experiments.

The contribution of Davie analyses the problem of uniqueness of solutions of stochastic differential equations. Consider the equation

$$dx(t) = f(t, x(t))dt + b(t, x(t))dW(t), \quad x(0) = x_0,$$
(1)

where W is a standard Brownian motion. Then, under suitable assumptions on the coefficients f and b, (1) has a unique strong solution. That is, there is a unique process x, adapted to the filtration of the Brownian motion, satisfying (1). Here, the author gives an answer to a different uniqueness problem: *Given* a particular Brownian path W, does (1) have a unique solution for that particular path? The first problem with this question is to interpret it, since the stochastic integral implied by the equation is not well-defined for individual paths. The author uses methods of rough path theory to give an interpretation of (1), under slightly stronger regularity conditions on b. The main result states that for almost all Brownian paths W there is a unique solution in this sense. The proof requires estimates for solutions of related equations which are given in the paper.

The paper by Kolokoltsov develops the theory of stochastic differential equations driven by nonlinear Lévy noise, aiming at applications to Markov processes. It is shown that a conditionally positive integro-differential operator (of the Lévy-Khintchine type) with variable coefficients (diffusion, drift and Lévy measure) depending Lipschitz continuously on its parameters generates a Markov semigroup. The analysis of SDEs driven by nonlinear Lévy noise was initiated by the author in previous publications. Here, the author suggests an alternative, more straightforward approach based on the path-wise interpretation of these integrals as nonhomogeneous Lévy processes. The paper uses a general result on the duality for propagators and develops stochastic integration with respect to a nonlinear Lévy noise. The well-posedness of SDEs driven by nonlinear Lévy noises is reformulated in terms of the uniqueness of an invariant measure for a certain probability kernel on the Skorohod space of cadlag paths. Uniqueness results are obtained for the case of Levy measures depending Lipschitz continuously on the position x in the Wasserstein–Kantorovich metric W_p . The paper is concluded with some basic coupling results of Lévy processes that form the cornerstone of the required W_p -estimates.

The contribution of Tunaru lies in the area of mathematical finance. Financial calculus is dominated by numerical approximations of integrals related to various moments of probability distributions used for modeling financial products. Here, the author develops a general technique that facilitates the numerical calculations of option prices for the difficult case of multi-assets, for the majority of European payoff contracts. The algorithms proposed here rely on known weak convergence results, making use of the gaussian probability kernel even when modeling with non-gaussian distributions. Even though the underpinning theory behind the approximations is probabilistic in nature, the methods described here are deterministic, thus they avoid common pitfalls related to Monte-Carlo simulation techniques. In addition, they can be adapted to a wide range of modeling situations. The techniques can also be employed for calculating greek parameters. The paper contains results that prove that the weak convergence characterizing condition can still be applied under some mild assumption on the payoff function of financial options.

Similar to the previous paper, Brody, Hughston and Macrina contribute with a paper in mathematical finance. The authors propose a model for the credit markets in which the random default times of bonds are assumed to be given as functions of one or more independent "market factors". Market participants are assumed to have partial information about each of the market factors, represented by the values of a set of market factor information processes. The market filtration is taken to be generated jointly by various information processes and by the default indicator processes of the various bonds. The value of a discount bond is obtained by taking the discounted expectation of the value of the default indicator function at the maturity of the bond, conditional on the information provided by the market filtration. Explicit expressions are derived for the bond price processes and the associated default hazard rates. The latter are not given a priori as part of the model but rather are deduced and shown to be functions of the values of the information processes. Thus, the "perceived" hazard rates, based on the available information, determine bond prices, and as perceptions change so do the prices. In conclusion, explicit expressions are derived for options on discount bonds, the values of which also fluctuate in line with the vicissitudes of market sentiment.

The contribution of Kelbert and Suhov addresses the continuity properties of mutual and conditional entropies between the input and output of a channel with additive noise. The authors study mainly a non-Gaussian situation for both large and small signal-to-noise ratio. This nontrivial aspect has not been discussed before at the level of generality adopted in this paper. The complex character of the continuity properties of various entropies was acknowledged as early as in the 1950s. An example can be found in Dobrushin's work where a number of important (and

elegant) results about limiting behavior of various entropies have been proven. The paper studies the entropy power inequality (EPI), an important tool in the analysis of Gaussian channels of information transmission, proposed by Shannon. The authors analyse the continuity properties of the mutual entropy of the input and output signals in an additive memoryless channel and discuss assumptions under which the entropy-power inequality holds true.

Integration by Parts Formula with Respect to Jump Times for Stochastic Differential Equations

Vlad Bally and Emmanuelle Clément

Abstract We establish an integration by parts formula based on jump times in an abstract framework in order to study the regularity of the law for processes solution of stochastic differential equations with jumps.

Keywords Integration by parts formula · Poisson Point Measures · Stochastic Equations

MSC (2010): Primary: 60H07, Secondary: 60G55, 60G57

1 Introduction

We consider the one-dimensional equation

$$X_t = x + \int_0^t \int_E c(u, a, X_{u-}) \mathrm{d}N(u, a) + \int_0^t g(u, X_u) \mathrm{d}u \tag{1}$$

where N is a Poisson point measure of intensity measure μ on some abstract measurable space E. We assume that c and g are infinitely differentiable with respect to t and x, have bounded derivatives of any order, and have linear growth with respect to x. Moreover we assume that the derivatives of c are bounded by a function \overline{c} such that $\int_E \overline{c}(a) d\mu(a) < \infty$. Under these hypotheses, the equation has a unique solution and the stochastic integral with respect to the Poisson point measure is a Stieltjes integral.

Our aim is to give sufficient conditions in order to prove that the law of X_t is absolutely continuous with respect to the Lebesgue measure and has a smooth density. If $E = \mathbb{R}^m$ and if the measure μ admits a smooth density h, then one may develop a Malliavin calculus based on the amplitudes of the jumps in order

© Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2011

V. Bally and E. Clément (🖂)

Laboratoire d'Analyse et de Mathématiques Appliquées, UMR 8050, Université Paris-Est, 5 Bld Descartes, Champs-sur-Marne, 77454 Marne-la-Vallée Cedex 2, France e-mail: vlad.bally@univ-mlv.fr, emmanuelle.clement@univ-mlv.fr

D. Crisan (ed.), Stochastic Analysis 2010, DOI 10.1007/978-3-642-15358-7_2,

to solve this problem. This has been done first in Bismut [4] and then in Bichteler, Gravereaux, and Jacod [3]. But if μ is a singular measure, this approach fails and one has to use the noise given by the jump times of the Poisson point measure in order to settle a differential calculus analogous to the Malliavin calculus. This is a much more delicate problem and several approaches have been proposed. A first step is to prove that the law of X_t is absolutely continuous with respect to the Lebesgue measure, without taking care of the regularity. A first result in this sense was obtained by Carlen and Pardoux [5] and was followed by a lot of other papers (see [1,7,11,13]). The second step is to obtain the regularity of the density. Recently two results of this type have been obtained by Ishikawa and Kunita [10] and by Kulik [12]. In both cases, one deals with an equation of the form

$$dX_t = g(t, X_t)dt + f(t, X_{t-})dU_t$$
(2)

where U is a Lévy process. The above equation is multi-dimensional (let us mention that the method presented in our paper may be used in the multi-dimensional case as well, but then some technical problems related to the control of the Malliavin covariance matrix have to be solved – and for simplicity we preferred to leave out this kind of difficulties in this paper). Ishikawa and Kunita [10] used the finite difference approach given by Picard [14] in order to obtain sufficient conditions for the regularity of the density of the solution of an equation of type (1) (in a somehow more particular form, close to linear equations). The result in that paper produces a large class of examples in which we get a smooth density even for an intensity measure which is singular with respect to the Lebesgue measure. The second approach is due to Kulik [12]. He settled a Malliavin type calculus based on perturbations of the time structure in order to give sufficient conditions for the smoothness of the density. In his paper, the coefficient f is equal to one so the non-degeneracy comes from the drift term g only. As before, he obtains the regularity of the density even if the intensity measure μ is singular. He also proves that under some appropriate conditions, the density is not smooth for a small t so that one has to wait before the regularization effect of the noise produces a regular density.

The result proved in our paper is the following. We consider the function

$$\alpha(t, a, x) = g(x) - g(x + c(t, a, x)) + (g\partial_x c + \partial_t c)(t, a, x).$$

Except the regularity and boundedness conditions on g and c we consider the following non-degeneracy assumption. There exists a measurable function $\underline{\alpha}$ such that $|\alpha(t, a, x)| \ge \underline{\alpha}(a) > 0$ for every $(t, a, x) \in \mathbb{R}_+ \times E \times \mathbb{R}$. We assume that there exists a sequence of subsets $E_n \uparrow E$ such that $\mu(E_n) < \infty$ and

$$\underline{\lim}_{n\to\infty}\frac{1}{\mu(E_n)}\ln\left(\int_{E_n}\frac{1}{\underline{\alpha}(a)}\mathrm{d}\mu(a)\right)=\theta<\infty.$$

We need this hypothesis in order to control the error due to the fact that we localize our differential calculus on a non-degeneracy set. If $\theta = 0$, then for every t > 0, the

law of X_t has a C^{∞} density with respect to the Lebesgue measure. Suppose now that $\theta > 0$ and let $q \in \mathbb{N}$. Then, for $t > 16\theta(q + 2)(q + 1)^2$ the law of X_t has a density of class C^q . Notice that for small t we are not able to prove that a density exists and we have to wait for a sufficiently large t in order to obtain a regularization effect.

In the paper of Kulik [12], one takes c(t, a, x) = a so $\alpha(t, a, x) = g(x) - g(x + c(t, a, x))$. Then the non-degeneracy condition concerns just the drift coefficient g. And in the paper of Ishikawa and Kunita, the basic example (which corresponds to the geometric Lévy process) is $c(t, a, x) = xa(e^a - 1)$ and g constant. So $\alpha(t, a, x) = a(e^a - 1) \sim a^2$ as $a \to 0$. The drift coefficient does not contribute to the non-degeneracy condition (which is analogous to the uniform ellipticity condition).

The paper is organized as follows. In Sect. 2, we give an integration by parts formula of Malliavin type. This is analogous to the integration by parts formulas given in [2] and [1]. But there are two specific points: first of all the integration by parts formula take into account the border terms (in the above-mentioned papers the border terms cancel because one makes use of some weights which are null on the border; but in the paper of Kulik [12] such border terms appear as well). The second point is that we use here a "one shot" integration by parts formula: in the classical gaussian Malliavin calculus, one employs all the noise which is available – so one derives an infinite dimensional differential calculus based on "all the increments" of the Brownian motion. The analogous approach in the case of Poisson point measures is to use all the noise which comes from the random structure (jumps). And this is the point of view of almost all the papers on this topic. But in our paper, we use just "one jump time" which is chosen in a cleaver way (according to the non-degeneracy condition). In Sect. 3, we apply the general integration by parts formula to stochastic equations with jumps. The basic noise is given by the jump times.

2 Integration by Parts Formula

2.1 Notations-Derivative Operators

The abstract framework is quite similar to the one developed in Bally and Clément [2], but we introduce here some modifications in order to take into account the border terms appearing in the integration by parts formula. We consider a sequence of random variables $(V_i)_{i \in \mathbb{N}^*}$ on a probability space (Ω, \mathcal{F}, P) , a sub σ -algebra $\mathcal{G} \subseteq \mathcal{F}$ and a random variable J, \mathcal{G} measurable, with values in \mathbb{N} . Our aim is to establish a differential calculus based on the variables (V_i) , conditionally on \mathcal{G} . In order to derive an integration by parts formula, we need some assumptions on the random variables (V_i) . The main hypothesis is that conditionally on \mathcal{G} , the law of V_i admits a locally smooth density with respect to the Lebesgue measure.

H0. (a) Conditionally on \mathcal{G} , the random variables $(V_i)_{1 \le i \le J}$ are independent and for each $i \in \{1, \ldots, J\}$ the law of V_i is absolutely continuous with respect to the Lebesgue measure. We note p_i the conditional density.

(b) For all $i \in \{1, ..., J\}$, there exist some \mathcal{G} measurable random variables a_i and b_i such that $-\infty < a_i < b_i < +\infty$, $(a_i, b_i) \subset \{p_i > 0\}$. We also assume that p_i admits a continuous bounded derivative on (a_i, b_i) and that $\ln p_i$ is bounded on (a_i, b_i) .

We define now the class of functions on which this differential calculus will apply. We consider in this paper functions $f : \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{N}^*} \to \mathbb{R}$ which can be written as

$$f(\omega, v) = \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} f^m(\omega, v_1, \dots, v_m) \mathbf{1}_{\{J(\omega)=m\}}$$
(3)

where $f^m : \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^m \to \mathbb{R}$ are $\mathcal{G} \times \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^m)$ -measurable functions.

In the following, we fix $L \in \mathbb{N}$ and we will perform integration by parts L times. But we will use another set of variables for each integration by parts. So for $1 \leq l \leq L$, we fix a set of indices $I_l \subset \{1, \ldots, J\}$ such that if $l \neq l', I_l \cap I_{l'} = \emptyset$. In order to do l integration by parts, we will use successively the variables $V_i, i \in I_l$, then the variables $V_i, i \in I_{l-1}$ and end with $V_i, i \in I_1$. Moreover, given l we fix a partition $(\Lambda_{l,i})_{i \in I_l}$ of Ω such that the sets $\Lambda_{l,i} \in \mathcal{G}, i \in I_l$. If $\omega \in \Lambda_{l,i}$, we will use only the variable V_i in our integration by parts.

With these notations, we define our basic spaces. We consider in this paper random variables $F = f(\omega, V)$ where $V = (V_i)_i$ and f is given by (3). To simplify the notation we write $F = f^J(\omega, V_1, \ldots, V_J)$ so that conditionally on \mathcal{G} we have J = m and $F = f^m(\omega, V_1, \ldots, V_m)$. We denote by \mathcal{S}^0 the space of random variables $F = f^J(\omega, V_1, \ldots, V_J)$ where f^J is a continuous function on $O_J = \prod_{i=1}^J (a_i, b_i)$ such that there exists a \mathcal{G} measurable random variable Csatisfying

$$\sup_{v \in O_J} |f^J(\omega, v)| \le C(\omega) < +\infty \quad \text{a.e.}$$
(4)

We also assume that f^J has left limits (respectively right limits) in a_i (respectively in b_i). Let us be more precise.

With the notations

$$V_{(i)} = (V_1, \dots, V_{i-1}, V_{i+1}, \dots, V_J), \quad (V_{(i)}, v_i) = (V_1, \dots, V_{i-1}, v_i, V_{i+1}, \dots, V_J),$$

for $v_i \in (a_i, b_i)$ our assumption is that the following limits exist and are finite:

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} f^J(\omega, V_{(i)}, a_i + \varepsilon) := F(a_i^+), \quad \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} f^J(\omega, V_{(i)}, b_i - \varepsilon) := F(b_i^-).$$
(5)

Now for $k \ge 1$, $S^k(I_l)$ denotes the space of random variables $F = f^J(\omega, V_1, ..., V_J) \in S^0$, such that f^J admits partial derivatives up to order k with respect to the variables $v_i, i \in I_l$ and these partial derivatives belong to S^0 .

We are now able to define our differential operators.

• The derivative operators. We define $D_l : S^1(I_l) \to S^0(I_l)$: by

$$D_l F := 1_{O_J}(V) \sum_{i \in I_l} 1_{A_{l,i}}(\omega) \partial_{v_i} f(\omega, V),$$

where $O_J = \prod_{i=1}^{J} (a_i, b_i)$.

• The divergence operators. We note

$$p_{(l)} = \sum_{i \in I_l} 1_{\Lambda_{l,i}} p_i, \tag{6}$$

and we define $\delta_l : S^1(I_l) \to S^0(I_l)$ by

$$\delta_l(F) = D_l F + F D_l \ln p_{(l)} = 1_{O_J}(V) \sum_{i \in I_l} 1_{\Lambda_{l,i}} (\partial_{v_i} F + F \partial_{v_i} \ln p_i)$$

We can easily see that if $F, U \in S^1(I_l)$ we have

$$\delta_l(FU) = F\delta_l(U) + UD_l F. \tag{7}$$

• The border terms. Let $U \in S^0(I_l)$. We define (using the notation (5))

$$[U]_{l} = \sum_{i \in I_{l}} 1_{\Lambda_{l,i}} 1_{O_{J,i}} (V_{(i)}) ((Up_{i})(b_{i}^{-}) - (Up_{i})(a_{i}^{+}))$$

with $O_{J,i} = \prod_{1 \le j \le J, j \ne i} (a_j, b_j)$

2.2 Duality and Basic Integration by Parts Formula

In our framework, the duality between δ_l and D_l is given by the following proposition. In the sequel, we denote by $E_{\mathcal{G}}$ the conditional expectation with respect to the sigma-algebra \mathcal{G} .

Proposition 1. Assuming H0 then $\forall F, U \in S^1(I_l)$ we have

$$E_{\mathcal{G}}(UD_lF) = -E_{\mathcal{G}}(F\delta_l(U)) + E_{\mathcal{G}}[FU]_l.$$
(8)

For simplicity, we assume in this proposition that the random variables F and U take values in \mathbb{R} but such a result can easily be extended to \mathbb{R}^d value random variables.

Proof. We have $E_{\mathcal{G}}(UD_{l}F) = \sum_{i \in I_{l}} 1_{\Lambda_{l,i}} E_{\mathcal{G}} 1_{O_{J}}(V)(\partial_{v_{i}} f^{J}(\omega, V)u^{J}(\omega, V))$. From H0 we obtain

$$E_{\mathcal{G}} \mathbb{1}_{O_J}(V)(\partial_{v_i} f^J(\omega, V) u^J(\omega, V)) = E_{\mathcal{G}} \mathbb{1}_{O_{J,i}}(V_{(i)}) \int_{a_i}^{b_i} \partial_{v_i}(f^J) u^J p_i(v_i) dv_i.$$

By using the classical integration by parts formula, we have

$$\int_{a_i}^{b_i} \partial_{v_i} (f^J) u^J p_i(v_i) \mathrm{d}v_i = [f^J u^J p_i]_{a_i}^{b_i} - \int_{a_i}^{b_i} f^J \partial_{v_i} (u^J p_i) \mathrm{d}v_i.$$

Observing that $\partial_{v_i}(u^J p_i) = (\partial_{v_i}(u^J) + u^J \partial_{v_i}(\ln p_i))p_i$, we have

$$E_{\mathcal{G}}(1_{O_J}(V)\partial_{v_i}f^J u^J) = E_{\mathcal{G}}1_{O_{J,i}}[(V_{(i)})f^J u^J p_i]_{a_i}^{b_i} - E_{\mathcal{G}}1_{O_J}(V)F(\partial_{v_i}(U) + U\partial_{v_i}(\ln p_i))$$

and the proposition is proved.

We can now state a first integration by parts formula.

Proposition 2. Let H0 hold true and let $F \in S^2(I_l)$, $G \in S^1(I_l)$ and $\Phi : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ be a bounded function with bounded derivative. We assume that $F = f^J(\omega, V)$ satisfies the condition

$$\min_{i \in I_l} \inf_{v \in O_J} |\partial_{v_i} f^J(\omega, v)| \ge \gamma(\omega), \tag{9}$$

where γ is \mathcal{G} measurable and we define on $\{\gamma > 0\}$

$$(D_{l}F)^{-1} = 1_{O_{J}}(V) \sum_{i \in I_{l}} 1_{A_{l,i}} \frac{1}{\partial_{v_{i}} f(\omega, V)},$$

then

$$1_{\{\gamma>0\}} E_{\mathcal{G}}(\Phi^{(1)}(F)G) = -1_{\{\gamma>0\}} E_{\mathcal{G}}(\Phi(F)H_{l}(F,G)) +1_{\{\gamma>0\}} E_{\mathcal{G}}[\Phi(F)G(D_{l}F)^{-1}]_{l}$$
(10)

with

$$H_l(F,G) = \delta_l(G(D_l F)^{-1}) = G\delta_l((D_l F)^{-1}) + D_l G(D_l F)^{-1}.$$
 (11)

Proof. We observe that

$$D_{l}\Phi(F) = 1_{O_{J}}(V) \sum_{i \in I_{l}} 1_{\Lambda_{l,i}} \partial_{v_{i}}\Phi(F) = 1_{O_{J}}(V)\Phi^{(1)}(F) \sum_{i \in I_{l}} 1_{\Lambda_{l,i}} \partial_{v_{i}}F,$$

so that

$$D_l \Phi(F) . D_l F = \Phi^{(1)}(F) (D_l F)^2,$$

and then $1_{\{\gamma>0\}}\Phi^{(1)}(F) = 1_{\{\gamma>0\}}D_I\Phi(F).(D_IF)^{-1}$. Now since $F \in S^2(I_l)$, we deduce that $(D_IF)^{-1} \in S^1(I_l)$ on $\{\gamma>0\}$ and applying Proposition 1 with $U = G(D_IF)^{-1}$ we obtain the result.

2.3 Iterations of the Integration by Parts Formula

We will iterate the integration by parts formula given in Proposition 2. We recall that if we iterate *l* times the integration by parts formula, we will integrate by parts successively with respect to the variables $(V_i)_{i \in I_k}$ for $1 \le k \le l$. In order to give some estimates of the weights appearing in these formulas, we introduce the following norm on $S^l(\bigcup_{k=1}^l I_k)$, for $1 \le l \le L$.

$$|F|_{l} = |F|_{\infty} + \sum_{k=1}^{l} \sum_{1 \le l_{1} < \dots < l_{k} \le l} |D_{l_{1}} \dots D_{l_{k}} F|_{\infty},$$
(12)

where $|.|_{\infty}$ is defined on \mathcal{S}^0 by

$$|F|_{\infty} = \sup_{v \in O_J} |f^J(\omega, v)|.$$

For l = 0, we set $|F|_0 = |F|_\infty$. We remark that we have for $1 \le l_1 < \ldots < l_k \le l$

$$|D_{l_1}\dots D_{l_k}F|_{\infty} = \sum_{i_1\in I_{l_1},\dots,i_k\in I_{l_k}} \left(\prod_{j=1}^k \mathbf{1}_{A_{l_j,i_j}}\right) |\partial_{v_{i_1}}\dots \partial_{v_{i_k}}F|_{\infty},$$

and since for each $l(\Lambda_{l,i})_{i \in I_l}$ is a partition of Ω , for ω fixed, the preceding sum has only one term not equal to zero. This family of norms satisfies for $F \in S^{l+1}(\bigcup_{k=1}^{l+1} I_k)$:

$$|F|_{l+1} = |D_{l+1}F|_l + |F|_l$$
 so $|D_{l+1}F|_l \le |F|_{l+1}$. (13)

Moreover, it is easy to check that if $F, G \in S^{l}(\bigcup_{k=1}^{l} I_{k})$

$$|FG|_l \le C_l |F|_l |G|_l, \tag{14}$$

where C_l is a constant depending on l. Finally for any function $\phi \in C^l(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R})$ we have

V. Bally and E. Clément

$$|\phi(F)|_{l} \le C_{l} \sum_{k=0}^{l} |\phi^{(k)}(F)|_{\infty} |F|_{l}^{k} \le C_{l} \max_{0 \le k \le l} |\phi^{(k)}(F)|_{\infty} (1+|F|_{l}^{l}).$$
(15)

With these notations, we can iterate the integration by parts formula.

Theorem 1. Let H0 hold true and let $\Phi : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ be a bounded function with bounded derivatives up to order L. Let $F = f^J(w, V) \in S^1(\cup_{l=1}^L I_l)$ such that

$$\inf_{i \in \{1,\dots,J\}} \inf_{v \in O_J} |\partial_{v_i} f^J(\omega, v)| \ge \gamma(\omega), \quad \gamma \in [0, 1] \quad \mathcal{G} \text{ measurable}$$
(16)

then we have for $l \in \{1, ..., L\}$, $G \in S^{l}(\cup_{k=1}^{l} I_{k})$ and $F \in S^{l+1}(\cup_{k=1}^{l} I_{k})$

$$1_{\{\gamma>0\}}|E_{\mathcal{G}}\Phi^{(l)}(F)G| \le C_{l}||\Phi||_{\infty}1_{\{\gamma>0\}}E_{\mathcal{G}}\left(|G|_{l}(1+|p|_{0})^{l}\Pi_{l}(F)\right)$$
(17)

where $||\Phi||_{\infty} = \sup_{x} |\Phi(x)|, |p|_{0} = \max_{l=1,\dots,L} |p_{(l)}|_{\infty}, C_{l}$ is a constant depending on l and $\Pi_{l}(F)$ is defined on $\{\gamma > 0\}$ by

$$\Pi_l(F) = \prod_{k=1}^l (1 + |(D_k F)^{-1}|_{k-1})(1 + |\delta_k((D_k F)^{-1})|_{k-1}).$$
(18)

Moreover, we have the bound

$$\Pi_{l}(F) \leq C_{l} \frac{(1+|\ln p|_{1})^{l}}{\gamma^{l(l+2)}} \prod_{k=1}^{l} (1+|F|_{k}^{k-1}+|D_{k}F|_{k}^{k-1})^{2},$$
(19)

where $|\ln p|_1 = \max_{i=1,...,J} |(\ln p_i)'|_{\infty}$.

Proof. We proceed by induction. For l = 1, we have from Proposition 2 since $G \in S^1(I_1)$ and $F \in S^2(I_1)$

$$1_{\{\gamma>0\}} E_{\mathcal{G}}(\Phi^{(1)}(F)G) = -1_{\{\gamma>0\}} E_{\mathcal{G}}(\Phi(F)H_1(F,G)) +1_{\{\gamma>0\}} E_{\mathcal{G}}[\Phi(F)G(D_1F)^{-1}]_1.$$
(20)

We have on $\{\gamma > 0\}$

$$\begin{aligned} |H_1(F,G)| &\leq |G||\delta_1((D_1F)^{-1})| + |D_1G||(D_1F)^{-1}|,\\ &\leq (|G|_{\infty} + |D_1G|_{\infty})(1 + |(D_1F)^{-1}|_{\infty})(1 + |\delta_1((D_1F)^{-1})|_{\infty}),\\ &= |G|_1(1 + |(D_1F)^{-1}|_0)(1 + |\delta_1((D_1F)^{-1})|_0). \end{aligned}$$

Turning to the border term $[\Phi(F)G(D_1F)^{-1}]_1$, we check that

14

Integration by Parts Formula with Respect to Jump Times for SDE's

$$\begin{split} |[\Phi(F)G(D_1F)^{-1}]_1| &\leq 2||\Phi||_{\infty}|G|_{\infty}\sum_{i\in I_1}1_{A_{1,i}}|\frac{1}{\partial_{v_i}F}|_{\infty}\sum_{i\in I_1}1_{A_{1,i}}|p_i|_{\infty},\\ &\leq 2||\Phi||_{\infty}|G|_0|(D_1F)^{-1}|_0|p|_0. \end{split}$$

This proves the result for l = 1.

Now assume that Theorem 1 is true for $l \ge 1$ and let us prove it for l + 1. By assumption, we have $G \in S^{l+1}(\bigcup_{k=1}^{l+1} I_k) \subset S^1(I_{l+1})$ and $F \in S^{l+2}(\bigcup_{k=1}^{l+1} I_k) \subset S^2(I_{l+1})$. Consequently, we can apply Proposition 2 on I_{l+1} . This gives

$$1_{\{\gamma>0\}}E_{\mathcal{G}}(\Phi^{(l+1)}(F)G) = -1_{\{\gamma>0\}}E_{\mathcal{G}}\left(\Phi^{(l)}(F)H_{l+1}(F,G)\right) + 1_{\{\gamma>0\}}E_{\mathcal{G}}[\Phi^{(l)}(F)G(D_{l+1}F)^{-1}]_{l+1}, \quad (21)$$

with

$$H_{l+1}(F,G) = G\delta_{l+1}((D_{l+1}F)^{-1}) + D_{l+1}G(D_{l+1}F)^{-1}$$

$$\begin{split} [\Phi^{(l)}(F)G(D_{l+1}F)^{-1}]_{l+1} &= \sum_{i \in I_{l+1}} \mathbb{1}_{A_{l+1,i}} \mathbb{1}_{O_{J,i}}(V_{(i)}) \left(\left(\Phi^{(l)}(F)G\frac{1}{\partial_{v_i}F}p_i \right) (b_i^-) - \left(\Phi^{(l)}(F)G\frac{1}{\partial_{v_i}F}p_i \right) (a_i^+) \right). \end{split}$$

We easily see that $H_{l+1}(F, G) \in S^{l}(\bigcup_{k=1}^{l} I_{k})$, and so using the induction hypothesis we obtain

$$\begin{split} &1_{\{\gamma>0\}} |E_{\mathcal{G}} \Phi^{(l)}(F) H_{l+1}(F,G)| \\ &\leq C_l ||\Phi||_{\infty} 1_{\{\gamma>0\}} E_{\mathcal{G}} |H_{l+1}(F,G)|_l (1+|p|_0)^l \Pi_l(F), \end{split}$$

and we just have to bound $|H_{l+1}(F,G)|_l$ on $\{\gamma > 0\}$. But using successively (14) and (13)

$$|H_{l+1}(F,G)|_{l} \leq C_{l}(|G|_{l}|\delta_{l+1}((D_{l+1}F)^{-1})|_{l} + |D_{l+1}G|_{l}|(D_{l+1}F)^{-1})|_{l},$$

$$\leq C_{l}|G|_{l+1}(1 + |(D_{l+1}F)^{-1})|_{l})(1 + |\delta_{l+1}((D_{l+1}F)^{-1})|_{l}).$$

This finally gives

$$|E_{\mathcal{G}}\Phi^{(l)}(F)H_{l+1}(F,G)| \le C_l ||\Phi||_{\infty} E_{\mathcal{G}}|G|_{l+1}(1+|p|_0)^l \Pi_{l+1}(F).$$
(22)

So we just have to prove a similar inequality for $E_{\mathcal{G}}[\Phi^{(l)}(F)G(D_{l+1}F)^{-1}]_{l+1}$. This reduces to consider

$$\sum_{i \in I_{l+1}} \mathbf{1}_{A_{l+1,i}} p_i(b_i^-) E_{\mathcal{G}} \mathbf{1}_{O_{J,i}}(V_{(i)}) \left(\Phi^{(l)}(F) G \frac{1}{\partial_{v_i} F} \right) (b_i^-)$$
(23)

since the other term can be treated similarly. Consequently, we just have to bound

$$|E_{\mathcal{G}} \mathbb{1}_{O_{J,i}}(V_{(i)}) \left(\Phi^{(l)}(F) G \frac{1}{\partial_{v_i} F} \right) (b_i^-)|.$$

Since all variables satisfy (4), we obtain from Lebesgue Theorem, using the notation (5)

$$E_{\mathcal{G}} 1_{O_{J,i}}(V_{(i)}) \left(\Phi^{(l)}(F) G \frac{1}{\partial_{v_i} F} \right) (b_i^-) \\ = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} E_{\mathcal{G}} 1_{O_{J,i}}(V_{(i)}) \Phi^{(l)}(f^J(V_{(i)}, b_i - \varepsilon)) \left(g^J \frac{1}{\partial_{v_i} f^J} \right) (V_{(i)}, b_i - \varepsilon).$$

To shorten the notation, we write simply $F(b_i - \varepsilon) = f^J(V_{(i)}, b_i - \varepsilon)$. Now one can prove that if $U \in S^{l'}(\bigcup_{k=1}^{l+1}I_k)$ for $1 \le l' \le l$ then $\forall i \in I_{l+1}$, $U(b_i - \varepsilon) \in S^{l'}(\bigcup_{k=1}^{l}I_k)$ and $|U(b_i - \varepsilon)|_{l'} \le |U|_{l'}$. We deduce then that $\forall i \in I_{l+1}$ $F(b_i - \varepsilon) \in S^{l+1}(\bigcup_{k=1}^{l}I_k)$ and that $(G\frac{1}{\partial_{v_i}F})(b_i - \varepsilon) \in S^l(\bigcup_{k=1}^{l}I_k)$ and from induction hypothesis

$$\begin{split} |E_{\mathcal{G}} \Phi^{(l)}(F(b_{i}-\varepsilon))1_{O_{J,i}}(G\frac{1}{\partial_{v_{i}}F})(b_{i}-\varepsilon)| \\ &\leq C_{l}||\Phi||_{\infty}E_{\mathcal{G}}\{|G(b_{i}-\varepsilon)|_{l}|\frac{1}{\partial_{v_{i}}F(b_{i}-\varepsilon)}|_{l}(1+|p|_{0})^{l}\Pi_{l}(F(b_{i}-\varepsilon))\}, \\ &\leq C_{l}||\Phi||_{\infty}E_{\mathcal{G}}|G|_{l}|\frac{1}{\partial_{v_{i}}F}|_{l}(1+|p|_{0})^{l}\Pi_{l}(F). \end{split}$$

Putting this in (23) we obtain

$$\left| E_{\mathcal{G}} \sum_{i \in I_{l+1}} 1_{\Lambda_{l+1,i}} 1_{O_{J,i}} \left(\Phi^{(l)}(F) G \frac{1}{\partial_{v_i} F} p_i \right) (b_i^{-}) \right| \\
\leq C_l ||\Phi||_{\infty} E_{\mathcal{G}} \left\{ |G|_l (1+|p|_0)^l \Pi_l(F) \sum_{i \in I_{l+1}} 1_{\Lambda_{l+1,i}} |p_i|_{\infty} |\frac{1}{\partial_{v_i} F}|_l \right\}, \\
\leq C_l ||\Phi||_{\infty} E_{\mathcal{G}} \{ |G|_l (1+|p|_0)^{l+1} \Pi_l(F)|(D_{l+1}F)^{-1}|_l \}.$$
(24)

Finally plugging (22) and (24) in (21)

$$\begin{aligned} |E_{\mathcal{G}}(\Phi^{(l+1)}(F)G)| &\leq C_{l} ||\Phi||_{\infty} \left(E_{\mathcal{G}}|G|_{l+1}(1+|p|_{0})^{l} \Pi_{l+1}(F) \right. \\ &+ E_{\mathcal{G}}|G|_{l}(1+|p|_{0})^{l+1} \Pi_{l}(F)|(D_{l+1}F)^{-1}|_{l} \right), \\ &\leq C_{l} ||\Phi||_{\infty} E_{\mathcal{G}}|G|_{l+1}(1+|p|_{0})^{l+1} \Pi_{l+1}(F), \end{aligned}$$

and inequality (17) is proved for l + 1. This achieves the first part of the proof of Theorem 1.

It remains to prove (19). We assume that $\omega \in \{\gamma > 0\}$.

Let $1 \le k \le l$. We first notice that combining (13) and (14), we obtain

$$|\delta_k(F)|_{k-1} \le |F|_k (1 + |D_k \ln p_{(k)}|_{\infty}).$$

since $p_{(k)}$ only depends on the variables $V_i, i \in I_k$. So we deduce the bound

$$\left|\delta_{k}((D_{k}F)^{-1})\right|_{k-1} \leq \left|(D_{k}F)^{-1}\right|_{k}(1+|\ln p|_{1}).$$
(25)

Now we have

$$|(D_k F)^{-1}|_{k-1} = \sum_{i \in I_k} 1_{A_{k,i}} \left| \frac{1}{\partial_{v_i} F} \right|_{k-1}$$

From (15) with $\phi(x) = 1/x$

$$\left|\frac{1}{\partial_{v_i}F}\right|_{k-1} \le C_k \frac{(1+|F|_k^{k-1})}{\gamma^k},$$

and consequently

$$|(D_k F)^{-1}|_{k-1} \le C_k \frac{(1+|F|_k^{k-1})}{\gamma^k}.$$
(26)

Moreover, we have, using successively (13) and (26),

$$\begin{split} |(D_k F)^{-1}|_k &= |(D_k F)^{-1}|_{k-1} + |D_k (D_k F)^{-1}|_{k-1}, \\ &\leq C_k \left(\frac{(1+|F|_k^{k-1})}{\gamma^k} + \frac{(1+|D_k F|_k^{k-1})}{\gamma^{k+1}} \right), \\ &\leq C_k \frac{(1+|F|_k^{k-1}+|D_k F|_k^{k-1})}{\gamma^{k+1}}. \end{split}$$

Putting this in (25)

$$\left|\delta_k((D_k F)^{-1})\right|_{k-1} \le C_k \frac{(1+|F|_k^{k-1}+|D_k F|_k^{k-1})}{\gamma^{k+1}} (1+|\ln p|_1).$$
(27)

Finally from (26) and (27), we deduce

$$\Pi_{l}(F) \leq C_{l} \frac{(1+|\ln p|_{1})^{l}}{\gamma^{l(l+2)}} \prod_{k=1}^{l} (1+|F|_{k}^{k-1}+|D_{k}F|_{k}^{k-1})^{2},$$

and Theorem 1 is proved.

3 Stochastic Equations with Jumps

3.1 Notations and Hypotheses

We consider a Poisson point process p with measurable state space $(E, \mathcal{B}(E))$. We refer to Ikeda and Watanabe [9] for the notation. We denote by N the counting measure associated to p so $N_t(A) := N((0, t) \times A) = \#\{s < t; p_s \in A\}$. The intensity measure is $dt \times d\mu(a)$ where μ is a sigma-finite measure on $(E, \mathcal{B}(E))$ and we fix a non-decreasing sequence (E_n) of subsets of E such that $E = \bigcup_n E_n$, $\mu(E_n) < \infty$ and $\mu(E_{n+1}) \leq \mu(E_n) + K$ for all n and for a constant K > 0.

We consider the one-dimensional stochastic equation

$$X_t = x + \int_0^t \int_E c(s, a, X_{s-}) dN(s, a) + \int_0^t g(s, X_s) ds.$$
 (28)

Our aim is to give sufficient conditions on the coefficients c and g in order to prove that the law of X_t is absolutely continuous with respect to the Lebesgue measure and has a smooth density. We make the following assumptions on the coefficients cand g.

H1. We assume that the functions *c* and *g* are infinitely differentiable with respect to the variables (t, x) and that there exist a bounded function \overline{c} and a constant \overline{g} , such that

$$\begin{aligned} \forall (t,a,x) \quad |c(t,a,x)| &\leq \overline{c}(a)(1+|x|), \quad \sup_{l+l' \geq 1} |\partial_t^{l'} \partial_x^l c(t,a,x)| \leq \overline{c}(a); \\ \forall (t,x) \quad |g(t,x)| &\leq \overline{g}(1+|x|), \quad \sup_{l+l' \geq 1} |\partial_t^{l'} \partial_x^l g(t,x)| \leq \overline{g}; \end{aligned}$$

We assume moreover that $\int_{F} \overline{c}(a) d\mu(a) < \infty$.

Under H1, (28) admits a unique solution.

H2. We assume that there exists a measurable function $\hat{c} : E \mapsto \mathbb{R}_+$ such that $\int_E \hat{c}(a) d\mu(a) < \infty$ and

$$\forall (t, a, x) \quad |\partial_x c(t, a, x)(1 + \partial_x c(t, a, x))^{-1}| \le \hat{c}(a).$$

To simplify the notation, we take $\hat{c} = \overline{c}$. Under H2, the tangent flow associated to (28) is invertible. At last we give a non-degeneracy condition which will imply (16). We denote by α the function

$$\alpha(t,a,x) = g(t,x) - g(t,x+c(t,a,x)) + (g\partial_x c + \partial_t c)(t,a,x).$$
(29)

H3. We assume that there exists a measurable function $\underline{\alpha} : E \mapsto \mathbb{R}_+$ such that

$$\forall (t, a, x) \quad |\alpha(t, a, x)| \ge \underline{\alpha}(a) > 0,$$

$$\forall n \int_{E_n} \frac{1}{\underline{\alpha}(a)} d\mu(a) < \infty \quad \text{and} \quad \liminf_n \frac{1}{\mu(E_n)} \ln\left(\int_{E_n} \frac{1}{\underline{\alpha}(a)} d\mu(a)\right) = \theta < \infty.$$

We give in the following some examples where E = (0, 1] and $\underline{\alpha}(a) = a$.

3.2 Main Results and Examples

Following the methodology introduced in Bally and Clément [2], our aim is to bound the Fourier transform of X_t , $\hat{p}_{X_t}(\xi)$, in terms of $1/|\xi|$, recalling that if $\int_{\mathbb{R}} |\xi|^q |\hat{p}_{X_t}(\xi)| d\xi < \infty$, for q > 0, then the law of X_t is absolutely continuous and its density is $\mathcal{C}^{[q]}$. This is done in the next proposition. The proof of this proposition relies on an approximation of X_t which will be given in the next section.

Proposition 3. Assuming H1, H2 and H3 we have for all $n, L \in \mathbb{N}^*$

$$|\hat{p}_{X_t}(\xi)| \leq C_{t,L} \left(e^{-\mu(E_n)t/(2L)} + \frac{1}{|\xi|^L} A_{n,L} \right),$$

with $A_{n,L} = \mu(E_n)^L (\int_{E_n} \frac{1}{\underline{\alpha}(a)} \mathrm{d}\mu(a))^{L(L+2)}.$

From this proposition, we deduce our main result.

Theorem 2. We assume that H1, H2 and H3 hold. Let $q \in \mathbb{N}$, then for $t > 16\theta(q+2)$ $(q+1)^2$, the law of X_t is absolutely continuous with respect to the Lebesgue measure and its density is of class C^q . In particular if $\theta = 0$, the law of X_t is absolutely continuous with respect to the Lebesgue measure and its density is of class C^{∞} for every t > 0.

Proof. From Proposition 3, we have

$$|\hat{p}_{X_t}(\xi)| \leq C_{t,L} \left(e^{-\mu(E_n)t/2L} + \frac{1}{|\xi|^L} A_{n,L} \right).$$

Now $\forall k, k_0 > 0$, if $t/2L > k\theta$, we deduce from H3 that for $n \ge n_L$

$$t/2L > \frac{k}{\mu(E_n)} \ln\left(\int_{E_n} \frac{1}{\underline{\alpha}(a)} d\mu(a)\right) + \frac{k \ln \mu(E_n)}{k_0 \mu(E_n)}$$

since the second term on the right-hand side tends to zero. This implies

$$\mathrm{e}^{\mu(E_n)t/2L} > \left(\int_{E_n} \frac{1}{\underline{\alpha}(a)} \mathrm{d}\mu(a)\right)^k \mu(E_n)^{k/k_0}.$$

Choosing k = L(L+2) and $k/k_0 = L$, we obtain that for $n \ge n_L$ and $t/2L > L(L+2)\theta$

$$\mathrm{e}^{\mu(E_n)t/2L} > A_{n,L}.$$

and then

$$\begin{aligned} |\hat{p}_{X_{t}}(\xi)| &\leq C_{t,L} \left(\mathrm{e}^{-\mu(E_{n})t/2L} + \frac{1}{|\xi|^{L}} \mathrm{e}^{\mu(E_{n})t/2L} \right), \\ &\leq C_{t,L} \left(\frac{1}{B_{n}(t)} + \frac{B_{n}(t)}{|\xi|^{L}} \right), \end{aligned}$$

with $B_n(t) = e^{\mu(E_n)t/2L}$. Now recalling that $\mu(E_n) < \mu(E_{n+1}) \le K + \mu(E_n)$, we have $B_n(t) < B_{n+1}(t) \le K_t B_n(t)$. Moreover, since $B_n(t)$ goes to infinity with n we have

$$1_{\{|\xi|^{L/2} \ge B_{n_L}(t)\}} = \sum_{n \ge n_L} 1_{\{B_n(t) \le |\xi|^{L/2} < B_{n+1}(t)\}}$$

But if $B_n(t) \le |\xi|^{L/2} < B_{n+1}(t), |\hat{p}_{X_t}(\xi)| \le C_{t,L}/|\xi|^{L/2}$ and so

$$\begin{split} \int |\xi|^{q} |\hat{p}_{X_{t}}(\xi)| \mathrm{d}\xi &= \int_{|\xi|^{L/2} < B_{n_{L}(t)}} |\xi|^{q} |\hat{p}_{X_{t}}(\xi)| \mathrm{d}\xi + \int_{|\xi|^{L/2} \ge B_{n_{L}}(t)} |\xi|^{q} |\hat{p}_{X_{t}}(\xi)| \mathrm{d}\xi, \\ &\leq C_{t,L,n_{L}} + \int_{|\xi|^{L/2} \ge B_{n_{L}}(t)} |\xi|^{q-L/2} \mathrm{d}\xi. \end{split}$$

For $q \in \mathbb{N}$, choosing *L* such that L/2 - q > 1, we obtain $\int |\xi|^q |\hat{p}_{X_t}(\xi)| d\xi < \infty$ for $t/2L > L(L+2)\theta$ and consequently the law of X_t admits a density C^q for $t > 2L^2(L+2)\theta$ and L > 2(q+1), that is $t > 16\theta(q+1)^2(q+2)$ and Theorem 2 is proved.

We end this section with two examples

Example 1. We take E = (0, 1], $\mu_{\lambda} = \sum_{k \ge 1} \frac{1}{k^{\lambda}} \delta_{1/k}$ with $0 < \lambda < 1$ and $E_n = [1/n, 1]$. We have $\cup_n E_n = E$, $\mu(E_n) = \sum_{k=1}^n \frac{1}{k^{\lambda}}$ and $\mu_{\lambda}(E_{n+1}) \le \mu_{\lambda}(E_n) + 1$. We consider the process (X_t) solution of (28) with c(t, a, x) = a and g(t, x) = g(x) assuming that the derivatives of g are bounded and that $|g'(x)| \ge g > 0$. We have $\int_E a d\mu_{\lambda}(a) = \sum_{k\ge 1} \frac{1}{k^{\lambda+1}} < \infty$ so H1 and H2 hold. Moreover, $\alpha(t, a, x) = g(x) - g(x + a)$ so $\underline{\alpha}(a) = \underline{g}a$. Now $\int_{E_n} \frac{1}{a} d\mu_{\lambda}(a) = \sum_{k=1}^n k^{1-\lambda}$, which is equivalent as n, go to infinity to $n^{2-\lambda}/(2-\lambda)$. Now we have

$$\frac{1}{\mu_{\lambda}(E_n)}\ln\left(\int_{E_n}\frac{1}{\underline{\alpha}(a)}\mathrm{d}\mu_{\lambda}(a)\right) = \frac{\ln(\underline{g}\sum_{k=1}^n k^{1-\lambda})}{\sum_{k=1}^n \frac{1}{k^{\lambda}}} \sim_{n \to \infty} C \frac{\ln(n^{2-\lambda})}{n^{1-\lambda}} \to 0,$$

and then H3 is satisfied with $\theta = 0$. We conclude from Theorem 2 that $\forall t > 0, X_t$ admits a density C^{∞} .

In the case $\lambda = 1$, we have $\mu_1(E_n) = \sum_{k=1}^n \frac{1}{k} \sim_{n \to \infty} \ln n$ then

$$\frac{1}{\mu_1(E_n)}\ln\left(\int_{E_n}\frac{1}{\underline{\alpha}(a)}\mathrm{d}\mu_1(a)\right) = \frac{\ln(\underline{g}\sum_{k=1}^n 1)}{\sum_{k=1}^n \frac{1}{k}} \sim_{n \to \infty} 1,$$

and this gives H3 with $\theta = 1$. So the density of X_t is regular as soon as t is large enough. In fact it is proved in Kulik [12] that under some appropriate conditions the density of X_t is not continuous for small t.

Example 2. We take the intensity measure μ_{λ} as in the previous example and we consider the process (X_t) solution of (28) with g = 1 and c(t, a, x) = ax. This gives $\overline{c}(a) = a$ and $\underline{\alpha}(a) = a$. So the conclusions are similar to example 1 in both cases $0 < \lambda < 1$ and $\lambda = 1$. But in this example we can compare our result to the one given by Ichikawa and Kunita [10]. They assume the condition

$$\liminf_{u \to 0} \frac{1}{u^h} \int_{|a| \le u} a^2 \mathrm{d}\mu(a) > 0, \quad (\star)$$

for some $h \in (0, 2)$. Here we have

$$\int_{|a|\leq u} a^2 \mathrm{d}\mu(a) = \sum_{k\geq 1/u} \frac{1}{k^{2+\lambda}} \sim_{u\to 0} \frac{u^{1+\lambda}}{1+\lambda}.$$

So if $0 < \lambda < 1$, (*) holds and their results apply. In the case $\lambda = 1$, (*) fails and they do not conclude. However, in our approach we conclude that the density of X_t is C^q for $t > 16(q+2)(q+1)^2$.

The next section is devoted to the proof of Proposition 3.

3.3 Approximation of X_t and Integration by Parts Formula

In order to bound the Fourier transform of the process X_t solution of (28), we will apply the differential calculus developed in Sect. 2. The first step consists in an approximation of X_t by a random variable X_t^N which can be viewed as an element of our basic space S^0 . We assume that the process (X_t^N) is solution of the discrete version of (28)

$$X_t^N = x + \int_0^t \int_{E_N} c(s, a, X_{s^-}^N) \mathrm{d}N(s, a) + \int_0^t g(s, X_s^N) \mathrm{d}s.$$
(30)

Since $\mu(E_N) < \infty$, the number of jumps of the process X^N on the interval (0, t) is finite and consequently we may consider the random variable X_t^N as a function of these jump times and apply the methodology proposed in Sect. 2. We denote by

 (J_t^N) the Poisson process defined by $J_t^N = N((0, t), E_N) = \#\{s < t; p_s \in E_N\}$ and we note $(T_k^N)_{k \ge 1}$ its jump times. We also introduce the notation $\Delta_k^N = p_{T_k^N}$. With these notations, the process solution of (30) can be written

$$X_t^N = x + \sum_{k=1}^{J_t^N} c(T_k^N, \Delta_k^N, X_{T_k^N}^N) + \int_0^t g(s, X_s^N) \mathrm{d}s.$$
(31)

We will not work with all the variables $(T_k^N)_k$ but only with the jump times (T_k^n) of the Poisson process J_l^n , where n < N. In the following we will keep n fixed and we will make N go to infinity. We note $(T_k^{N,n})_k$ the jump times of the Poisson process $J_t^{N,n} = N((0,t), E_N \setminus E_n)$ and $\Delta_k^{n,N} = p_{T_k^{n,N}}$. Now we fix $L \in \mathbb{N}^*$, the number of integration by parts and we note $t_l = tl/L$, $0 \le l \le L$. Assuming that $J_{t_l}^n - J_{t_{l-1}}^n = m_l$ for $1 \le l \le L$, we denote by $(T_{l,i}^n)_{1 \le i \le m_l}$ the jump times of J_l^n belonging to the time interval (t_{l-1}, t_l) . In the following we assume that $m_l \ge 1$, $\forall l$. For i = 0 we set $T_{l,0}^n = t_{l-1}$ and for $i = m_l + 1$, $T_{l,m_l+1}^n = t_l$. With these definitions we choose our basic variables $(V_i, i \in I_l)$ as

$$(V_i, i \in I_l) = (T_{l,2i+1}^n, 0 \le i \le [(m_l - 1)/2]).$$
(32)

The σ -algebra which contains the noise which is not involved in our differential calculus is

$$\mathcal{G} = \sigma\{(J_{t_l}^n)_{1 \le l \le L}; (T_{l,2i}^n)_{1 \le 2i \le m_l, 1 \le l \le L}; (T_k^{N,n})_k; (\Delta_k^N)_k\}.$$
(33)

Using some well-known results on Poisson processes, we easily see that conditionally on \mathcal{G} the variables (V_i) are independent and for $i \in I_l$ the law of V_i conditionally on \mathcal{G} is uniform on $(T_{l,2i}^n, T_{l,2i+2}^n)$ and we have

$$p_i(v) = \frac{1}{T_{l,2i+2}^n - T_{l,2i}^n} \mathbf{1}_{\{T_{l,2i}^n, T_{l,2i+2}^n\}}(v), \quad i \in I_l,$$
(34)

Consequently, taking $a_i = T_{l,2i}^n$ and $b_i = T_{l,2i+2}^n$ we check that hypothesis H0 holds. It remains to define the localizing sets $(\Lambda_{l,i})_{i \in I_l}$.

We denote

$$h_l^n = \frac{t_l - t_{l-1}}{2m_l} = \frac{t}{2Lm_l}$$

and $n_l = [(m_l - 1)/2]$. We will work on the \mathcal{G} measurable set

$$\Lambda_{l}^{n} = \bigcup_{i=0}^{n_{l}} \{ T_{l,2i+2}^{n} - T_{l,2i}^{n} \ge h_{l}^{n} \},$$
(35)

and we consider the following partition of this set:

Integration by Parts Formula with Respect to Jump Times for SDE's

$$\begin{split} \Lambda_{l,0} &= \{T_{l,2}^n - T_{l,0}^n \ge h_l^n\},\\ \Lambda_{l,i} &= \bigcap_{k=1}^i \{T_{l,2k}^n - T_{l,2k-2}^n < h_l^n\} \cap \{T_{l,2i+2}^n - T_{l,2i}^n \ge h_l^n\}, \quad i = 1, \dots, n_l. \end{split}$$

After L - l iterations of the integration by parts we will work with the variables $V_i, i \in I_l$ so the corresponding derivative is

$$D_l F = \sum_{i \in I_l} 1_{\Lambda_{l,i}} \partial_{V_i} F = \sum_{i \in I_l} 1_{\Lambda_{l,i}} \partial_{T_{l,2i+1}^n} F$$

If we are on Λ_l^n then we have at least one *i* such that $t_{l-1} \leq T_{l,2i}^n < T_{l,2i+1}^n < T_{l,2i+2}^n \leq t_l$ and $T_{l,2i+2}^n - T_{l,2i}^n \geq h_l^n$. Notice that in this case $1_{\Lambda_{l,i}} |p_i|_{\infty} \leq (h_l^n)^{-1}$ and roughly speaking this means that the variable $V_i = T_{l,2i+1}^n$ gives a sufficiently large quantity of noise. Moreover, in order to perform *L* integrations by parts we will work on

$$\Gamma_L^n = \cap_{l=1}^L \Lambda_l^n \tag{36}$$

and we will leave out the complementary of Γ_L^n . The following lemma says that on the set Γ_L^n we have enough noise and that the complementary of this set may be ignored.

Lemma 1. Using the notation given in Theorem 1 one has

(i) $|p|_0 := \max_{1 \le l \le L} \sum_{i \in I_l} 1_{\Lambda_{l,i}} |p_i|_{\infty} \le \frac{2L}{t} J_t^n$, (ii) $P((\Gamma_L^n)^c) \le L \exp(-\mu(E_n)t/2L)$.

Proof. As mentioned before $1_{A_{l,i}} |p_i|_{\infty} \leq (h_l^n)^{-1} = 2Lm_l/t \leq \frac{2L}{t}J_t^n$ and so we have (i). In order to prove (ii) we have to estimate $P((\Lambda_l^n)^c)$ for $1 \leq l \leq L$. We denote $s_l = \frac{1}{2}(t_l + t_{l-1})$ and we will prove that $\{J_{t_l}^n - J_{s_l}^n \geq 1\} \subset \Lambda_l^n$. Suppose first that $m_l = J_{t_l}^n - J_{t_{l-1}}^n$ is even. Then $2n_l + 2 = m_l$. If $T_{l,2i+2}^n - T_{l,2i}^n < h_l^n$ for every $i = 0, \ldots, n_l$ then

$$T_{l,m_l}^n - t_{l-1} = \sum_{i=0}^{n_l} (T_{l,2i+2}^n - T_{l,2i}^n) \le (n_l + 1) \times \frac{t}{2Lm_l} \le \frac{t}{4L} \le s_l - t_{l-1}$$

so there are no jumps in (s_l, t_l) . Suppose now that m_l is odd so $2n_l + 2 = m_l + 1$ and $T_{l,2n_l+2}^n = t_l$. If we have $T_{l,2i+2}^n - T_{l,2i}^n < h_l^n$ for every $i = 0, ..., n_l$, then we deduce

$$\sum_{i=0}^{n_l} (T_{l,2i+2}^n - T_{l,2i}^n) < (n_l+1) \times \frac{t}{2Lm_l} < \frac{m_l+1}{m_l} \frac{t}{4L} \le \frac{t}{2L}$$

and there are no jumps in (s_l, t_l) . So we have proved that $\{J_{t_l}^n - J_{s_l}^n \ge 1\} \subset \Lambda_l^n$ and since $P(J_{t_l}^n - J_{s_l}^n = 0) = \exp(-\mu(E_n)t/2L)$ the inequality (ii) follows. \Box

Now we will apply Theorem 1, with $F^N = X_t^N$, G = 1 and $\Phi_{\xi}(x) = e^{i\xi x}$. So we have to check that $F^N \in S^{L+1}(\bigcup_{l=1}^L I_l)$ and that condition (16) holds. Moreover, we have to bound $|F^N|_l^{l-1}$ and $|D_l F^N|_l^{l-1}$, for $1 \le l \le L$. This needs some preliminary lemma.

Lemma 2. Let $v = (v_i)_{i \ge 0}$ be a positive non-increasing sequence with $v_0 = 0$ and $(a_i)_{i\ge 1}$ a sequence of E. We define $J_t(v)$ by $J_t(v) = v_i$ if $v_i \le t < v_{i+1}$ and we consider the process solution of

$$X_t = x + \sum_{k=1}^{J_t} c(v_k, a_k, X_{v_k-}) + \int_0^t g(s, X_s) \mathrm{d}s.$$
(37)

We assume that H1 holds. Then X_t admits some derivatives with respect to v_i and if we note $U_i(t) = \partial_{v_i} X_t$ and $W_i(t) = \partial_{v_i}^2 X_t$, the processes $(U_i(t))_{t \ge v_i}$ and $(W_i(t))_{t \ge v_i}$ solve, respectively,

$$U_{i}(t) = \alpha(v_{i}, a_{i}, X_{v_{i}-}) + \sum_{k=i+1}^{J_{i}} \partial_{x} c(v_{k}, a_{k}, X_{v_{k}-}) U_{i}(v_{k}-) + \int_{v_{i}}^{t} \partial_{x} g(s, X_{s}) U_{i}(s) \mathrm{d}s,$$
(38)

$$W_{i}(t) = \beta_{i}(t) + \sum_{k=i+1}^{J_{t}} \partial_{x} c(v_{k}, a_{k}, X_{v_{k}-}) W_{i}(v_{k}-) + \int_{v_{i}}^{t} \partial_{x} g(s, X_{s}) W_{i}(s) \mathrm{d}s,$$
(39)

with

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha(t,a,x) &= g(t,x) - g(t,x + c(t,a,x)) + g(t,x)\partial_x c(t,a,x) + \partial_t c(t,a,x), \\ \beta_i(t) &= \partial_t \alpha(v_i,a_i,X_{v_i-}) + \partial_x \alpha(v_i,a_i,X_{v_i-})g(v_i,X_{v_i-}) - \partial_x g(v_i,X_{v_i})U_i(v_i) \\ &+ \sum_{k=i+1}^{J_t} \partial_x^2 c(v_k,a_k,X_{v_k-})(U_i(v_k-))^2 + \int_{v_i}^t \partial_x^2 g(s,X_s)(U_i(s))^2 \mathrm{d}s. \end{aligned}$$

Proof. If $s < v_i$, we have $\partial_{v_i} X_s = 0$. Now we have

$$X_{v_i-} = x + \sum_{k=1}^{v_i-1} c(v_k, a_k, X_{v_k-}) + \int_0^{v_i} g(s, X_s) ds$$

and consequently

$$\partial_{v_i} X_{v_i-} = g(v_i, X_{v_i-}).$$

For $t > v_i$, we observe that

$$X_t = X_{v_i-} + \sum_{k=v_i}^{J_t} c(v_k, a_k, X_{v_k-}) + \int_{v_i}^t g(s, X_s) \mathrm{d}s,$$

this gives

Integration by Parts Formula with Respect to Jump Times for SDE's

$$\begin{aligned} \partial_{v_i} X_t &= g(v_i, X_{v_i-}) + g(v_i, X_{v_i-}) \partial_x c(v_i, a_i, X_{v_i-}) + \partial_t c(v_i, a_i, X_{v_i-}) \\ &- g(v_i, X_{v_i}) + \sum_{k=i+1}^{J_t} \partial_x c(v_k, a_k, X_{v_k-}) \partial_{v_i} X_{v_k-} \\ &+ \int_{v_i}^t \partial_x g(s, X_s) \partial_{v_i} X_s \mathrm{d}s. \end{aligned}$$

Remarking that $X_{v_i} = X_{v_i-} + c(v_i, a_i, X_{v_i-})$, we obtain (38). The proof of (39) is similar and we omit it.

We give next a bound for X_t and its derivatives with respect to the variables (v_i) .

Lemma 3. Let (X_t) be the process solution of (37). We assume that H1 holds and we note

$$n_t(\overline{c}) = \sum_{k=1}^{J_t} \overline{c}(a_k).$$

Then we have:

$$\sup_{s\leq t}|X_t|\leq C_t(1+n_t(\overline{c}))e^{n_t(\overline{c})}.$$

Moreover $\forall l \geq 1$, there exist some constants $C_{t,l}$ and C_l such that $\forall (v_{k_i})_{i=1,...,l}$ with $t > v_{k_l}$, we have

$$\sup_{v_{k_l} \le s \le t} |\partial_{v_{k_1}} \dots \partial_{v_{k_{l-1}}} U_{k_l}(s)| + \sup_{v_{k_l} \le s \le t} |\partial_{v_{k_1}} \dots \partial_{v_{k_{l-1}}} W_{k_l}(s)|$$
$$\le C_{t,l} (1 + n_t(\overline{c}))^{C_l} \mathrm{e}^{C_l n_t(\overline{c})}.$$

We observe that the previous bound does not depend on the variables (v_i) .

Proof. We just give a sketch of the proof. We first remark that the process (e_t) solution of

$$e_t = 1 + \sum_{k=1}^{J_t} \overline{c}(a_k) e_{v_k -} + \overline{g} \int_0^t e_s \mathrm{d}s,$$

is given by $e_t = \prod_{k=1}^{J_t} (1 + \overline{c}(a_k)) e^{\overline{g}t}$. Now from H1, we deduce for $s \le t$

$$\begin{aligned} |X_s| &\leq |x| + \sum_{k=1}^{J_s} \overline{c}(a_k)(1+|X_{v_k-}|) + \int_0^s \overline{g}(1+|X_u|) \mathrm{d}u, \\ &\leq |x| + \sum_{k=1}^{J_t} \overline{c}(a_k) + \overline{g}t + \sum_{k=1}^{J_s} \overline{c}(a_k)|X_{v_k-}| + \int_0^s \overline{g}|X_u| \mathrm{d}u, \\ &\leq \left(|x| + \sum_{k=1}^{J_t} \overline{c}(a_k) + \overline{g}t\right) e_s \end{aligned}$$

where the last inequality follows from Gronwall lemma. Then using the previous remark

$$\sup_{s \le t} |X_s| \le C_t (1 + n_t(\overline{c})) \prod_{k=1}^{J_t} (1 + \overline{c}(a_k)) \le C_t (1 + n_t(\overline{c})) e^{n_t(\overline{c})}.$$
 (40)

We check easily that $|\alpha(t, a, x)| \leq C(1 + |x|)\overline{c}(a)$, and we get successively from (38) and (40)

$$\sup_{v_{k_l} \le s \le t} |U_{k_l}(s)| \le C_t (1 + |X_{v_{k_l}}|)\overline{c}(a_{k_l})(1 + n_t(\overline{c}))e^{n_t(\overline{c})} \le C_t (1 + n_t(\overline{c}))^2 e^{2n_t(\overline{c})}.$$

Putting this in (39), we obtain a similar bound for $\sup_{v_{k_l} \le s \le t} |W_{k_l}(s)|$ and we end the proof of Lemma 3 by induction since we can derive equations for the higher order derivatives of $U_{k_l}(s)$ and $W_{k_l}(s)$ analogous to (39).

We come back to the process (X_t^N) solution of (30). We recall that $F^N = X_t^N$ and we will check that F^N satisfies the hypotheses of Theorem 1.

Lemma 4. (i) We assume that H1 holds. Then $\forall l \ge 1$, $\exists C_{t,l}, C_l$ independent of N such that

$$|F^{N}|_{l}+|D_{l}F^{N}|_{l}\leq C_{t,l}\left((1+N_{t}(\overline{c}))e^{N_{t}(\overline{c})}\right)^{C_{l}}$$

with $N_t(\overline{c}) = \int_0^t \int_E \overline{c}(a) dN(s, a).$

(ii) Moreover, if we assume in addition that H2 and H3 hold and that $m_l = J_{t_l}^n - J_{t_{l-1}}^n \ge 1, \forall l \in \{1, \dots, L\}$, then we have $\forall 1 \le l \le L, \forall i \in I_l$

$$|\partial_{V_i} F^N| \ge \left(e^{2N_t(\overline{c})} N_t(1_{E_n} 1/\underline{\alpha}) \right)^{-1} := \gamma_n$$

and (16) holds.

We remark that on the non-degeneracy set Γ_L^n given by (36) we have at least one jump on (t_{l-1}, t_l) , that is $m_l \ge 1$, $\forall l \in \{1, \ldots, L\}$. Moreover, we have $\Gamma_L^n \subset \{\gamma_n > 0\}$.

Proof. The proof of (i) is a straightforward consequence of Lemma 3, replacing $n_t(\overline{c})$ by $\sum_{p=1}^{J_t^N} \overline{c}(\Delta_p^N)$ and observing that

$$\sum_{p=1}^{J_t^N} \overline{c}(\Delta_p^N) = \int_0^t \int_{E_N} \overline{c}(a) \mathrm{d}N(s,a) \le \int_0^t \int_E \overline{c}(a) \mathrm{d}N(s,a) = N_t(\overline{c}).$$

Turning to (ii) we have from Lemma 2

$$\partial_{T_k^N} X_t^N = \alpha(T_k^N, \Delta_k^N, X_{T_k^N}^N) + \sum_{p=k+1}^{J_t^N} \partial_x c(T_p^N, \Delta_p^N, X_{T_p^N}^N) \partial_{T_k^N} X_{T_p^N}^N -$$
$$+ \int_{T_k^N}^t \partial_x g(s, X_s^N) \partial_{T_k^N} X_s \mathrm{d}s.$$

Assuming H2, we define $(Y_t^N)_t$ and $(Z_t^N)_t$ as the solutions of the equations

$$\begin{split} Y_t^N &= 1 + \sum_{p=1}^{J_t^N} \partial_x c(T_p^N, \Delta_p^N, X_{T_p^N-}^N) Y_{T_k^N-} + \int_0^t \partial_x g(s, X_s^N) Y_s^N \mathrm{d}s, \\ Z_t^N &= 1 - \sum_{p=1}^{J_t^N} \frac{\partial_x c(T_p^N, \Delta_p^N, X_{T_p^N-}^N)}{1 + \partial_x c(T_p^N, \Delta_p^N, X_{T_p^N-}^N)} Z_{T_k^N-} - \int_0^t \partial_x g(s, X_s^N) Z_s^N \mathrm{d}s. \end{split}$$

We have $Y_t^N \times Z_t^N = 1, \forall t \ge 0$ and

$$|Y_t^N| \le e^{t\overline{g}} e^{N_t (1_{E_N} \overline{c})} \le e^{N_t (\overline{c})}, \quad |Z_t^N| = \left| \frac{1}{Y_t^N} \right| \le e^{N_t (\overline{c})}$$

Now one can easily check that

$$\partial_{T_k^N} X_t^N = \alpha(T_k^N, \Delta_k^N, X_{T_k^N}^N) Y_t^N Z_{T_k^N}^N,$$

and using H3 and the preceding bound it yields

$$|\partial_{T_k^N} X_t^N| \ge e^{-2N_t(\overline{c})} \underline{\alpha}(\Delta_k^N).$$

Recalling that we do not consider the derivatives with respect to all the variables (T_k^N) but only with respect to $(V_i) = (T_{l,2i+1}^n)_{l,i}$ with n < N fixed, we have $\forall 1 \leq l \leq L$ and $\forall i \in I_l$

$$|\partial_{V_i} X_t^N| \ge e^{-2N_t(\overline{c})} \left(\sum_{p=1}^{J_t^n} \frac{1}{\underline{\alpha}(\Delta_p^n)} \right)^{-1} = \left(e^{2N_t(\overline{c})} N_t(1_{E_n} 1/\underline{\alpha}) \right)^{-1},$$

and Lemma 4 is proved.

With this lemma we are at last able to prove Proposition 3.

Proof. From Theorem 1 we have since $\Gamma_L^n \subset \{\gamma_n > 0\}$

$$1_{\Gamma_L^n} |E_{\mathcal{G}} \Phi^{(L)}(F^N)| \le C_L ||\Phi||_{\infty} 1_{\Gamma_L^n} E_{\mathcal{G}} (1+|p_0|)^L \Pi_L(F^N).$$
Now from Lemma 1 (i) we have

$$|p_0| \le 2LJ_t^n/t$$

and moreover we can check that $|\ln p|_1 = 0$. So we deduce from Lemma 4

$$\Pi_{L}(F^{N}) \leq \frac{C_{t,L}}{\gamma_{n}^{L(L+2)}} \left((1 + N_{t}(\overline{c})) e^{N_{t}(\overline{c})} \right)^{C_{L}}$$
$$\leq C_{t,L} N_{t} (1_{E_{n}} 1/\underline{\alpha})^{L(L+2)} \left((1 + N_{t}(\overline{c})) e^{N_{t}(\overline{c})} \right)^{C_{L}}$$

This finally gives

$$|E1_{\Gamma_L^n} \Phi^{(L)}(F^N)| \leq ||\Phi||_{\infty} C_{t,L} E\left((J_t^N)^L N_t (1_{E_n} 1/\underline{\alpha})^{L(L+2)} \left((1+N_t(\overline{c})) e^{N_t(\overline{c})} \right)^{C_L} \right).$$
(41)

Now we know from a classical computation (see e.g., [2]) that the Laplace transform of $N_t(f)$ satisfies

$$Ee^{-sN_t(f)} = e^{-t\alpha_f(s)}, \quad \alpha_f(s) = \int_E (1 - e^{-sf(a)})d\mu(a).$$
 (42)

From H1, we have $\int_E \overline{c}(a) d\mu(a) < \infty$, so we deduce using (42) with $f = \overline{c}$ that, $\forall q > 0$

$$E\left((1+N_t(\overline{c}))e^{N_t(\overline{c})}\right)^q \leq C_{t,q} < \infty.$$

Since J_t^n is a Poisson process with intensity $t\mu(E_n)$, we have $\forall q > 0$

$$E(J_t^n)^q \le C_{t,q}\mu(E_n)^q.$$

Finally, using once again (42) with $f = 1_{E_n} 1/\underline{\alpha}$, we see easily that $\forall q > 0$

$$EN_t(1_{E_n}1/\underline{\alpha})^q \leq C_{t,q} \left(\int_{E_n} \frac{1}{\underline{\alpha}(a)} \mathrm{d}\mu(a)\right)^q.$$

Turning back to (41) and combining Cauchy–Schwarz inequality and the previous bounds, we deduce

$$|E1_{\Gamma_L^n} \Phi^{(L)}(F^N)| \leq ||\Phi||_{\infty} C_{t,L} \mu(E_n)^L \left(\int_{E_n} \frac{1}{\underline{\alpha}(a)} \mathrm{d}\mu(a) \right)^{L(L+2)}$$
$$= ||\Phi||_{\infty} C_{t,L} A_{n,L}.$$
(43)

We are now ready to give a bound for $\hat{p}_{X_{l}^{N}}(\xi)$. We have $\hat{p}_{X_{l}^{N}}(\xi) = E\Phi_{\xi}(F^{N})$, with $\Phi_{\xi}(x) = e^{i\xi x}$. Since $\Phi_{\xi}^{(L)}(x) = (i\xi)^{L}\Phi_{\xi}(x)$, we can write $|\hat{p}_{X_{l}^{N}}(\xi)| = |E\Phi_{\xi}^{(L)}(F^{N})|/|\xi|^{L}$ and consequently we deduce from (43)

$$|\hat{p}_{X_t^N}(\xi)| \le P((\Gamma_L^n)^c) + C_{t,L}A_{n,L}/|\xi|^L.$$

But from Lemma 1 (ii) we have

$$P((\Gamma_L^n)^c) \le L \mathrm{e}^{-\mu(E_n)t/(2L)}$$

and finally

$$|\hat{p}_{X_t^N}(\xi)| \le C_{L,t} \left(\mathrm{e}^{-\mu(E_n)t/(2L)} + A_{n,L}/|\xi|^L \right).$$

We achieve the proof of Proposition 3 by letting N go to infinity, keeping n fixed.

References

- Bally, V., Bavouzet, M.-P., Messaoud, M.: Integration by parts formula for locally smooth laws and applications to sensitivity computations. Ann. Appl. Probab. 17(1), 33–66 (2007)
- Bally, V., Clément, E.: Integration by parts formula and applications to equations with jumps. Preprint (2009) to appear in Probab. Theory Relat. Fields
- Bichteler, K., Gravereaux, J.-B., Jacod, J.: Malliavin calculus for processes with jumps, vol. 2 of Stochastics Monographs. Gordon and Breach Science Publishers, New York (1987)
- Bismut, J.-M.: Calcul des variations stochastique et processus de sauts. Z. Wahrsch. Verw. Gebiete 63(2), 147–235 (1983)
- Carlen, E.A., Pardoux, É.: Differential calculus and integration by parts on Poisson space. In Stochastics, algebra and analysis in classical and quantum dynamics (Marseille, 1988), vol. 59 of Math. Appl., pp. 63–73. Kluwer, Dordrecht (1990)
- 6. Denis, L.: A criterion of density for solutions of Poisson-driven SDEs. Probab. Theory Relat. Fields **118**(3), 406–426 (2000)
- Elliott, R.J., Tsoi, A.H.: Integration by parts for Poisson processes. J. Multivariate Anal. 44(2), 179–190 (1993)
- Fournier, N.: Smoothness of the law of some one-dimensional jumping S.D.E.s with nonconstant rate of jump. Electron. J. Probab. 13(6), 135–156 (2008)
- 9. Ikeda, N., Watanabe, S.: Stochastic differential equations and diffusion processes, vol. 24, 2nd edn. North-Holland Mathematical Library, North-Holland Publishing, Amsterdam (1989)
- Ishikawa, Y., Kunita, H.: Malliavin calculus on the Wiener-Poisson space and its application to canonical SDE with jumps. Stochastic Process. Appl. 116(12), 1743–1769 (2006)
- Kulik, A.M.: Malliavin calculus for Lévy processes with arbitrary Lévy measures. Teor. <u>Imovīr</u>. Mat. Stat. (72), 67–83 (2005)
- Kulik, A.M.: Stochastic calculus of variations for general Lévy processes and its applications to jump-type SDE's with non degenerated drift. Preprint (2006)
- Nourdin, I., Simon, T.: On the absolute continuity of Lévy processes with drift. Ann. Probab. 34(3), 1035–1051 (2006)
- Picard, J.: On the existence of smooth densities for jump processes. Probab. Theory Relat. Fields 105(4), 481–511 (1996)

A Laplace Principle for a Stochastic Wave Equation in Spatial Dimension Three

Víctor Ortiz-López and Marta Sanz-Solé

Abstract We consider a stochastic wave equation in spatial dimension three, driven by a Gaussian noise, white in time and with a stationary spatial covariance. The free terms are non-linear with Lipschitz continuous coefficients. Under suitable conditions on the covariance measure, Dalang and Sanz-Solé [7] have proved the existence of a random field solution with Hölder continuous sample paths, jointly in both arguments, time and space. By perturbing the driving noise with a multiplicative parameter $\varepsilon \in [0, 1]$, a family of probability laws corresponding to the respective solutions to the equation is obtained. Using the weak convergence approach to large deviations developed in (A weak convergence approach to the theory of large deviations [10]), we prove that this family satisfies a Laplace principle in the Hölder norm.

Keywords Large deviation principle \cdot Stochastic partial differential equations \cdot Wave equation

MSC (2010): 60H15, 60F10

1 Introduction

We consider the stochastic wave equation in spatial dimension d = 3

$$\begin{cases} \left(\frac{\partial^2}{\partial t^2} - \Delta\right) u(t, x) = \sigma(u(t, x)) \dot{F}(t, x) + b(u(t, x)), \ t \in]0, T], \\ u(0, x) = v_0(x), \\ \frac{\partial}{\partial t} u(0, x) = \tilde{v}_0(x), \ x \in \mathbb{R}^3, \end{cases}$$
(1)

Facultat de Matemàtiques, Universitat de Barcelona, Gran Via de les Cortes Catalanes 585, 08007, Spain

e-mail: vortize@ub.edu, marta.sanz@ub.edu

© Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2011

V. Ortiz-López and M. Sanz-Solé (🖂)

D. Crisan (ed.), Stochastic Analysis 2010, DOI 10.1007/978-3-642-15358-7_3,

where Δ denotes the Laplacian on \mathbb{R}^3 . The coefficients σ and b are Lipschitz continuous functions and the process \dot{F} is the *formal* derivative of a Gaussian random field, white in time and correlated in space. More precisely, for any $d \geq 1$, let $\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^{d+1})$ be the space of Schwartz test functions and let Γ be a non-negative and non-negative definite tempered measure on \mathbb{R}^d . Then, on some probability space, there exists a Gaussian process $F = (F(\varphi), \varphi \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^{d+1}))$ with mean zero and covariance functional

$$E(F(\varphi)F(\psi)) = \int_{\mathbb{R}_+} \mathrm{d}s \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \Gamma(\mathrm{d}x)(\varphi(s) * \tilde{\psi}(s))(x), \tag{2}$$

where $\tilde{\psi}(s)(x) = \psi(s)(-x)$ and the notation "*" means the convolution operator. As has been proved in [5], the process *F* can be extended to a martingale measure $M = (M_t(A), t \ge 0, A \in \mathcal{B}_b(\mathbb{R}^d))$, where $\mathcal{B}_b(\mathbb{R}^d)$ denotes the set of bounded Borel sets of \mathbb{R}^d .

For any $\varphi, \psi \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, define the inner product

$$\langle \varphi, \psi \rangle_{\mathcal{H}} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \Gamma(\mathrm{d}x) (\varphi * \tilde{\psi})(x)$$

and denote by \mathcal{H} the Hilbert space obtained by the completion of $\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ with the inner product $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{\mathcal{H}}$. Using the theory of stochastic integration with respect to martingale measures (see for instance [16]), the stochastic integral $B_t(h) :=$ $\int_0^t ds \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} h(y) \mathcal{M}(ds, dy)$ is well defined, and for any $h \in \mathcal{H}$ with $||h||_{\mathcal{H}} = 1$, the process $(B_t(h), t \in [0, T])$ is a standard Wiener process. In addition, for any fixed $t \in [0, T]$, the mapping $h \to B_t(h)$ is linear. Thus, the process $(B_t, t \in [0, T])$ is a cylindrical Wiener process on \mathcal{H} (see [9] for a definition of this notion). Let $(e_k, k \geq 1)$ be a complete orthonormal system of \mathcal{H} . Clearly, $B_k(t) := \int_0^t ds \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} e_k(y) \mathcal{M}(ds, dy), k \geq 1$, defines a sequence of independent, standard Wiener processes, and we have the representation

$$B_t = \sum_{k \ge 1} B_k(t) e_k.$$
(3)

Let \mathcal{F}_t , $t \in [0, T]$, be the σ -field generated by the random variables $(B_k(s), s \in [0, t], k \ge 1)$. (\mathcal{F}_t) -predictable processes $\Phi \in L^2(\Omega \times [0, T]; \mathcal{H})$ can be integrated with respect to the cylindrical Wiener process $(B_t, t \in [0, T])$, and the stochastic integral $\int_0^t \Phi(s) dB_t$ coincides with the Itô stochastic integral with respect to the infinite dimensional Brownian motion $(B_k(t), t \in [0, T], k \ge 1)$, $\sum_{k\ge 1} \int_0^t \langle \Phi(s), e_k \rangle_{\mathcal{H}} dB_k(t)$.

We shall consider the mild formulation of (1),

$$u(t,x) = w(t,x) + \sum_{k\geq 1} \int_0^t \langle G(t-s,x-\cdot)\sigma(u(s,\cdot)), e_k(\cdot) \rangle_{\mathcal{H}} \mathrm{d}B_k(s)$$
$$+ \int_0^t [G(t-s) * b(u(s,\cdot))](x) \mathrm{d}s, \tag{4}$$

 $t \in [0, T], x \in \mathbb{R}^3$. Here

$$w(t, x) = \left(\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}G(t) * v_0\right)(x) + (G(t) * \tilde{v}_0)(x),$$

and $G(t) = \frac{1}{4\pi t} \sigma_t$, where σ_t denotes the uniform surface measure (with total mass $4\pi t^2$) on the sphere of radius *t*.

Throughout the paper, we consider the following set of assumptions.

(H)

- 1. The coefficients σ , *b* are real Lipschitz continuous functions.
- The spatial covariance measure Γ is absolutely continuous with respect to Lebesgue measure, and the density is f(x) = φ(x)|x|^{-β}, x ∈ ℝ³\{0}. The function φ is bounded and positive, φ ∈ C¹(ℝ³), ∇φ ∈ C^δ_b(ℝ³) (the space of bounded and Hölder continuous functions with exponent δ ∈]0, 1]) and β ∈]0, 2[.
- 3. The initial values v_0 , \tilde{v}_0 are bounded and such that $v_0 \in C^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$, ∇v_0 is bounded and Δv_0 and \tilde{v}_0 are Hölder continuous with degrees $\gamma_1, \gamma_2 \in [0, 1]$, respectively.

We remark that the assumptions on Γ imply

$$\sup_{t\in[0,T]}\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} |\mathcal{F}(G(t))(\xi)|^2 \mu(\mathrm{d}\xi) < \infty, \tag{5}$$

where \mathcal{F} denotes the Fourier transform operator and $\mu = \mathcal{F}^{-1}\Gamma$. This is a relevant condition in connection with the definition of the stochastic integral with respect to the martingale measure M ([4]).

The set of hypotheses (**H**) are used in Chap. 4 of [7] to prove a theorem on existence and uniqueness of solution to (4) and the properties of the sample paths. More precisely, under a slightly weaker set of assumptions than (**H**) (not requiring boundedness of the functions v_0 , \tilde{v}_0 , ∇v_0), Theorem 4.11 in [7] states that for any $q \in [2, \infty[, \alpha \in]0, \gamma_1 \land \gamma_2 \land \frac{2-\beta}{2} \land \frac{1+\delta}{2}[$, there exists C > 0 such that for $(t, x), (\bar{t}, y) \in [0, T] \times D$,

$$E(|u(t,x) - u(\bar{t},y)|^q) \le C(|t - \bar{t}| + |x - y|)^{\alpha q},\tag{6}$$

where *D* is a fixed bounded domain of \mathbb{R}^3 . Consequently, a.s., the stochastic process $(u(t, x), (t, x) \in [0, T] \times D)$ solution of (4) has α -Hölder continuous sample paths, jointly in (t, x).

The reason for strengthening the assumptions of [7] is to ensure that

$$\sup_{(t,x)\in[0,T]\times\mathbb{R}^3} |w(t,x)| < \infty \tag{7}$$

(see Hypothesis 4.1 and Lemma 4.2 in [8]), a condition that is needed in the proof of Theorem 2.3 below. This is in addition to (4.19) in [7], which provides an estimate of a fractional Sobolev norm of the function w.

We notice that in [7], the mild formulation of (1) is stated using the stochastic integral developed in [6]. Recent results by Dalang and Quer-Sardanyons (see [8], Proposition 2.11 and Proposition 2.6 (b)) show that this formulation is equivalent to (4).

In this paper, we consider the family of stochastic wave equations

$$u^{\varepsilon}(t,x) = w(t,x) + \sqrt{\varepsilon} \sum_{k\geq 1} \int_0^t \langle G(t-s,x-\cdot)\sigma(u(s,\cdot)), e_k(\cdot) \rangle_{\mathcal{H}} \mathrm{d}B_k(s) + \int_0^t [G(t-s) * b(u^{\varepsilon}(s,\cdot))](x) \mathrm{d}s,$$
(8)

 $\varepsilon \in [0, 1]$, and we establish a large deviation principle for the family $(u^{\varepsilon}, \varepsilon \in [0, 1])$ in a Polish space closely related to $C^{\alpha}([0, T] \times D)$, the space of functions defined on $[0, T] \times D$, Hölder continuous jointly in its two arguments, of degree $\alpha \in \mathcal{I}$, where

$$\mathcal{I} := \left] 0, \gamma_1 \wedge \gamma_2 \wedge \frac{2-\beta}{2} \wedge \frac{1+\delta}{2} \right[.$$

To formulate the large deviation principle, we should consider a Polish space carrying the probability laws of the family $(u^{\varepsilon}, \varepsilon > 0)$. This cannot be $C^{\alpha}([0, T] \times D)$, since this space is not separable. Instead, we consider the space $C^{\alpha',0}([0, T] \times D)$ of Hölder continuous functions g of degree $\alpha' < \alpha$, with modulus of continuity

$$O_g(\delta) := \sup_{|t-s|+|x-y| < \delta} \frac{|g(t,s) - g(s,y)|}{(|t-s|+|x-y|)^{\alpha'}}$$

satisfying $\lim_{\delta\to 0^+} O_g(\delta) = 0$. This is a Banach space and $\mathcal{C}^{\alpha}([0,T] \times D) \subset \mathcal{C}^{\alpha',0}([0,T] \times D)$.

In the sequel, we shall denote by $(\mathcal{E}_{\alpha}, \|\cdot\|_{\alpha})$ the Banach space $\mathcal{C}^{\alpha,0}([0, T] \times D)$ endowed with the Hölder norm of degree α , and consider values of $\alpha \in \mathcal{I}$.

Let $\mathcal{H}_T = L^2([0, T]; \mathcal{H})$. For any $h \in \mathcal{H}_T$, we consider the deterministic evolution equation

$$V^{h}(t,x) = w(t,x) + \int_{0}^{t} \langle G(t-s,x-\cdot)\sigma(V^{h}(s,\cdot)), h(s,\cdot) \rangle_{\mathcal{H}} ds$$
$$+ \int_{0}^{t} \left[G(t-s) * b(V^{h}(s) \right](x) ds.$$
(9)

The second term on the right-hand side of this equation can be written as

$$\sum_{k\geq 1}\int_0^t \langle G(t-s,x-\cdot)\sigma(V^h(s,\cdot)),e_k(\cdot)\rangle_{\mathcal{H}}h_k(s)\,\mathrm{d} s,$$

with $h_k(t) = \langle h(t), e_k \rangle_{\mathcal{H}}, t \in [0, T], k \ge 1$.

Existence and uniqueness of solution of (9) can be proved in a similar (but easier) way than for (4). This will be obtained in the next section as a by-product of Theorem 2.3, where it is also proved that $V^h \in \mathcal{E}_{\alpha}$. We will denote by $\mathcal{G}^0 : \mathcal{H}_T \longrightarrow \mathcal{E}_{\alpha}$ the mapping defined by $\mathcal{G}^0(h) = V^h$.

For any $f \in \mathcal{E}_{\alpha}$, define

$$I(f) = \inf_{h \in \mathcal{H}_T: \mathcal{G}^0(h) = f} \left\{ \frac{1}{2} \|h\|_{\mathcal{H}_T}^2 \right\}$$
(10)

and for any $A \subset \mathcal{E}_{\alpha}$, $I(A) = \inf\{I(f), f \in A\}$.

The main result of this paper is the following theorem.

Theorem 1.1. Assume that the set of hypotheses (**H**) are satisfied. Then, the family $\{u^{\varepsilon}, \varepsilon \in [0, 1]\}$ given by (8) satisfies a large deviation principle on \mathcal{E}_{α} with rate function I given by (10). That means, for any closed subset $F \in \mathcal{E}_{\alpha}$ and any open subset $G \in \mathcal{E}_{\alpha}$,

$$\limsup_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \varepsilon \log P(u^{\varepsilon} \in F) \le -I(F),$$

$$\liminf_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \varepsilon \log P(u^{\varepsilon} \in G) \ge -I(G).$$

In the proof of this theorem, we will use the weak convergence approach to large deviations developed in [10]. An essential ingredient of this method is a variational representation for a reference Gaussian process (Brownian motion when studying diffusion processes, or different generalizations of infinite-dimensional Wiener process when dealing with stochastic partial differential equations). As it is shown in [2], a variational representation for an infinite-dimensional Brownian motion along with a transfer principle based on compactness and weak convergence allows to derive a large deviation principle for some functionals of this process. This method has been applied in [3] to establish a large deviation principle to reaction-diffusion systems considered in [12] and also in several subsequent papers, for instance in [11, 15, 17]. We next give the ingredients for the proof of Theorem 1.1 based on this method.

Variational Representation of Infinite Dimensional Brownian Motion

Let $B = (B_k(t), t \in [0, T], k \ge 1)$ be a sequence of independent standard Brownian motions. Denote by $\mathcal{P}(l^2)$ the set of predictable processes belonging to $L^2(\Omega \times [0, T]); l^2)$ and let g be a real-valued, bounded, Borel measurable function defined on $\mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathbb{R}^\infty)$. Then,

$$-\log E(\exp[-g(B)]) = \inf_{u \in \mathcal{P}(l^2)} E\left(\frac{1}{2} \|u\|_{L^2([0,T];l^2)}^2 + g\left(B + \int_0^{\cdot} u\right)\right) \quad (11)$$

(see Theorem 2 in [3]).

Weak Regularity

Denote by $\mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{H}}$ the set of predictable processes belonging to $L^2(\Omega \times [0, T])$; \mathcal{H}). For any N > 0, we define

$$\mathcal{H}_T^N = \{h \in \mathcal{H}_T : \|h\|_{\mathcal{H}_T} \le N\},\$$
$$\mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{H}}^N = \{v \in \mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{H}} : v \in \mathcal{H}_T^N, a.s.\},\$$

and we consider $\mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{H}}^{N}$ endowed with the weak topology of \mathcal{H}_{T} . For any $v \in \mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{H}}^{N}$, $\varepsilon \in]0, 1]$, let $u^{\varepsilon, v}$ be the solution to

$$u^{\varepsilon,v}(t,x) = w(t,x) + \sqrt{\varepsilon} \sum_{k \ge 1} \int_0^t \langle G(t-s,x-\cdot)\sigma(u^{\varepsilon,v}(s,\cdot)), e_k(\cdot) \rangle_{\mathcal{H}} \mathrm{d}B_k(s) + \int_0^t \langle G(t-s,x-\cdot)\sigma(u^{\varepsilon,v}(s,\cdot)), v(s,\cdot) \rangle_{\mathcal{H}} \mathrm{d}s + \int_0^t [G(t-s) * b(u^{\varepsilon,v}(s,\cdot))](x) \mathrm{d}s.$$
(12)

We will prove in Theorem 2.3 that this equation has a unique solution and that $u^{\varepsilon,v} \in \mathcal{E}_{\alpha}$ with $\alpha \in \mathcal{I}$.

Consider the following conditions:

- (a) The set $\{V^h, h \in \mathcal{H}_T^N\}$ is a compact subset of \mathcal{E}_{α} , where V^h is the solution of (9).
- (b) For any family $(v^{\varepsilon}, \varepsilon > 0) \subset \mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{H}}^{N}$ that converges in distribution as $\varepsilon \to 0$ to $v \in \mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{H}}^{N}$, as \mathcal{H}_{T}^{N} -valued random variables, we have

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} u^{\varepsilon, v^{\varepsilon}} = V^{v},$$

in distribution, as \mathcal{E}_{α} -valued random variables.

Here V^{v} stands for the solution of (9) corresponding to a \mathcal{H}_{T}^{N} -valued random variable v (instead of a deterministic function h). The solution is a stochastic process $\{V^h(t, x), (t, x) \in [0, T] \times \mathbb{R}^3\}$ defined path-wise by (9).

According to [3], Theorem 6 applied to the functional $\mathcal{G} : \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathbb{R}^{\infty}) \to \mathcal{E}_{\alpha}$, $\mathcal{G}(\sqrt{\varepsilon}B) := u^{\varepsilon}$ (the solution of (8)), and $\mathcal{G}^0 : \mathcal{H}_T \to \mathcal{E}_{\alpha}, \mathcal{G}^0(h) := V^h$ (the solution of (9)), conditions (a) and (b) above imply the validity of Theorem 1.1.

Laplace Principle for the Wave Equation 2

Following the discussion of the preceding section, the proof of Theorem 1.1 will consist of checking that conditions (a) and (b) above hold true. As we next show, both conditions will follow from a single continuity result. Indeed, the set \mathcal{H}_T^N is a compact subset of \mathcal{H}_T endowed with the weak topology (see [13], Chap. 12, Theorem 4). Thus, (a) can be obtained by proving that the mapping $h \in \mathcal{H}_T^N \mapsto V^h \in \mathcal{E}_\alpha$ is continuous with respect to the weak topology. For this, we consider a sequence $(h_n, n \ge 1) \subset \mathcal{H}_T^N$ and $h \in \mathcal{H}_T^N$ satisfying $\lim_{n\to\infty} ||h_n - h||_w = 0$, which means that for any $g \in \mathcal{H}_T$, $\lim_{n\to\infty} \langle h_n - h, g \rangle_{\mathcal{H}_T} = 0$, and we will prove that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \|V^{h_n} - V^h\|_{\alpha} = 0.$$
 (13)

As for (b), we invoke Skorohod Representation Theorem and rephrase this condition as follows. On some probability space $(\bar{\Omega}, \bar{\mathcal{F}}, \bar{P})$, consider a sequence of independent Brownian motions $\bar{B} = \{\bar{B}_k, k \geq 1\}$ along with the corresponding filtration $(\bar{\mathcal{F}}_t, t \in [0, T])$, where $\bar{\mathcal{F}}_t$ is the σ -field generated by the random variables $(\bar{B}_k(s), s \in [0, t], k \geq 1)$. Furthermore, consider a family of $(\bar{\mathcal{F}}_t)$ -predictable processes $(\bar{v}^{\varepsilon}, \varepsilon > 0, \bar{v})$ belonging to $L^2(\bar{\Omega} \times [0, T]; \mathcal{H})$ taking values on \mathcal{H}_T^N, \bar{P} a.s., such that the joint law of (v^{ε}, v, B) (under P) coincides with that of $(\bar{v}^{\varepsilon}, \bar{v}, \bar{B})$ (under \bar{P}) and such that,

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \|\bar{v}^{\varepsilon} - \bar{v}\|_{w} = 0, \quad \bar{P} - a.s.$$

as \mathcal{H}_T^N -valued random variables. Let $\bar{u}^{\varepsilon,\bar{v}^{\varepsilon}}$ be the solution to a similar equation as (12) obtained by changing v into \bar{v}^{ε} and B_k into \bar{B}_k . Then, we will prove that for any $q \in [0, \infty[$,

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \bar{E} \left(\left\| \bar{u}^{\varepsilon, \bar{v}^{\varepsilon}} - V^{\bar{v}} \right\|_{\alpha}^{q} \right) = 0,$$
(14)

where \overline{E} denotes the expectation operator on $(\overline{\Omega}, \overline{\mathcal{F}}, \overline{P})$. Notice that if in (12) we consider $\varepsilon = 0$ and $v := h \in \mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{H}}^N$ deterministic, we obtain the equation satisfied by V^h . Consequently, the convergence (13) can be obtained as a particular case of (14).

Therefore, we will focus our efforts on the proof of (14). In the sequel, we shall omit any reference to the bars in the notation, for the sake of simplicity.

According to Lemma A1 in [1], the proof of (14) can be carried out into two steps:

1. Estimates on increments

$$\sup_{\varepsilon \ge 1} E\left(\left|\left[u^{\varepsilon,v^{\varepsilon}}(t,x) - V^{v}(t,x)\right] - \left[u^{\varepsilon,v^{\varepsilon}}(r,z) - V^{v}(r,z)\right]\right|^{q}\right)$$

$$\leq C[|t-r| + |x-z|]^{\alpha q}.$$
(15)

2. Pointwise convergence

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} E\left(|u^{\varepsilon, v^{\varepsilon}}(t, x) - V^{v}(t, x)|^{q} \right) = 0.$$
(16)

Here, $q \in [1, \infty[, (t, x), (r, z) \in [0, T] \times D \text{ and } \alpha \in \mathcal{I}.$

Before proving these facts, we will address the problem of giving a rigorous formulation of (12). As we have already mentioned, the stochastic integral with respect to $(B_k, k \ge 1)$ in (12) is equivalent to the stochastic integral $\int_0^t \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} G(t-s, x-y)\sigma(u^{\varepsilon,v^{\varepsilon}}(s, y))M(ds, dy)$ considered in the sense of [6]. We recall that such an integral is defined for stochastic processes $Z = (Z(s, \cdot), s \in [0, T])$ with values in $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$ a.s., adapted and mean-square continuous, and the integral

$$v_{G,Z}^{t}(\star) := \sum_{k \ge 1} \int_{0}^{t} \langle G(t-s, \star - \cdot)Z(s, \cdot), e_{k}(\cdot) \rangle_{\mathcal{H}} \mathrm{d}B_{k}(s)$$
(17)

satisfies

$$E\left(\|v_{G,Z}^{t}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3})}^{2}\right) = \int_{0}^{t} \mathrm{d}s \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \mathrm{d}\xi E(|\mathcal{F}Z(s)(\xi)|^{2}) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \mu(\mathrm{d}\eta)|\mathcal{F}G(t-s)(\xi-\eta)|^{2}.$$
(18)

(see [6], Theorem 6).

As a function of the argument x, for any $v \in \mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{H}}^N$, the path-wise integral

$$\int_0^t \langle G(t-s, x-\cdot) \sigma(u^{\varepsilon, v}(s, \cdot)), v(s, \cdot) \rangle_{\mathcal{H}} \, \mathrm{d} s,$$

is also a well-defined $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$ -valued random variable. Indeed, let Z be a stochastic process satisfying the hypotheses described before. Set

$$\nu_{G,Z}^{t}(\star) := \int_{0}^{t} \langle G(t-s, \star - \cdot) Z(s, \cdot), v(s, \cdot) \rangle_{\mathcal{H}} \, \mathrm{d}s.$$
(19)

By Cauchy-Schwarz' inequality applied to the inner product on \mathcal{H}_T , we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|\nu_{G,Z}^{t}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3})}^{2} &\leq N^{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \mathrm{d}x \int_{0}^{t} \mathrm{d}s \|G(t-s,x-\cdot)Z(s,\cdot)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2} \\ &= N^{2} \int_{0}^{t} \mathrm{d}s \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \mathrm{d}\xi |\mathcal{F}Z(s)(\xi)|^{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \mu(\mathrm{d}\eta) |\mathcal{F}G(t-s)(\xi-\eta)|^{2}, \end{aligned}$$

where the last equality is derived following the arguments for the proof of Theorem 6 in [6]. We recall that this formula is firstly established for Z sufficiently smooth and by smoothing G by convolution with an approximation of the identity. The extension of the formula to the standing assumptions is done by a limit procedure.

From this, we clearly have

$$E\left(\left\|\nu_{G,Z}^{t}\right\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3})}^{2}\right)$$

$$\leq N^{2} \int_{0}^{t} \mathrm{d}s \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \mathrm{d}\xi E(|\mathcal{F}Z(s)(\xi)|^{2}) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \mu(\mathrm{d}\eta)|\mathcal{F}G(t-s)(\xi-\eta)|^{2}.$$
(20)

Remark 2.1. Up to a positive constant, the $L^2(\Omega; L^2(\mathbb{R}^3))$ -norm of the stochastic integral $v_{G,Z}^t$ and the path-wise integral $v_{G,Z}^t$ are bounded by the same expression.

Let \mathcal{O} be a bounded or unbounded open subset of \mathbb{R}^3 , $q \in [1, \infty[, \gamma \in]0, 1[$. We denote by $W^{\gamma,q}(\mathcal{O})$ the fractional Sobolev Banach space consisting of functions $\varphi : \mathbb{R}^3 \to \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$\|\varphi\|_{W^{\gamma,q}(\mathcal{O})} := \left(\|\varphi\|_{L^q(\mathcal{O})}^q + \|\varphi\|_{\gamma,q,\mathcal{O}}^q\right)^{\frac{1}{q}} < \infty,$$

where

$$\|\varphi\|_{\gamma,q,\mathcal{O}} = \left(\int_{\mathcal{O}} \mathrm{d}x \int_{\mathcal{O}} \mathrm{d}y \frac{|\varphi(x) - \varphi(y)|^q}{|x - y|^{3 + \gamma q}}\right)^{\frac{1}{q}}$$

For any $\varepsilon > 0$, we denote by $\mathcal{O}^{\varepsilon}$ the ε -enlargement of \mathcal{O} , that is,

$$\mathcal{O}^{\varepsilon} = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^3 : d(x, \mathcal{O}) < \varepsilon\}.$$

In the proof of Theorem 2.3 below, we will use a smoothed version of the fundamental solution *G* defined as follows. Consider a function $\psi \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}_+)$ with support included in the unit ball, such that $\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \psi(x) dx = 1$. For any $t \in]0, 1]$ and $n \ge 1$, set

$$\psi_n(t,x) = \left(\frac{n}{t}\right)^3 \psi\left(\frac{n}{t}x\right),$$

and

$$G_n(t,x) = (\psi_n(t,\cdot) * G(t))(x).$$
 (21)

Notice that for any $t \in [0, T]$, supp $G_n(t, \cdot) \subset B_{t(1+1)}(0)$.

Remark 2.2. Since $G_n(t)$ is smooth and has compact support, $v_{G_n,z}^t(x)$ is welldefined as a Walsh stochastic integral, and this integral defines a random field indexed by (t, x). By Burkholder's inequality, for any $q \in [2, \infty[$,

$$E\left(|v_{G_n,z}^t(x)|^q\right) \leq CE\left(\int_0^t \|G(t-s,x-\cdot)Z(s,\cdot)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^2\,\mathrm{d}s\right)^{\frac{q}{2}}.$$

As for the path-wise integral $v_{G_n,z}^t(x)$, by applying Cauchy-Schwarz' inequality to the inner product on \mathcal{H}_T , we have

$$E\left(|\nu_{G_n,z}^t(x)|^q\right) \le N^q E\left(\int_0^t \|G(t-s,x-\cdot)Z(s,\cdot)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^2 \,\mathrm{d}s\right)^{\frac{q}{2}}.$$

Hence, as in Remark 2.1, up to a constant, $L^q(\Omega)$ -estimates for both type of integrals at fixed $(t, x) \in [0, T] \times \mathbb{R}^3$ coincide.

The following proposition is the analogue of Theorem 3.1 in [7] for the path-wise integral $v_{G,Z}^t$.

Proposition 2.1. *Fix* $q \in [3, \infty[$ *and a bounded domain* $\mathcal{O} \subset \mathbb{R}^3$ *. Suppose that*

$$au_q(eta,\delta) := \left(rac{2-eta}{2}\wedgerac{1+\delta}{2}
ight) - rac{3}{q} > 0$$

and fix $\gamma \in]0, 1[, \rho \in]0, \tau_q(\beta, \delta) \land \gamma[$. Let $\{Z_t, t \in [0, T]\}$ be a $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$ -valued, (\mathcal{F}_t) -adapted, mean-square continuous stochastic process. Assume that for some fixed $t \in [0, T]$,

$$\int_0^t E\left(\|Z(s)\|^q_{W^{\gamma,q}(\mathcal{O}^{t-s})}\right) \, \mathrm{d} s < \infty.$$

We have the following estimates:

$$E\left(\left\|\boldsymbol{\nu}_{G,Z}^{t}\right\|_{L^{q}(\mathcal{O})}^{q}\right) \leq C \int_{0}^{t} E\left(\left\|\boldsymbol{Z}(s)\right\|_{L^{q}(\mathcal{O}^{t-s})}^{q}\right) \,\mathrm{d}s,\tag{22}$$

$$E\left(\|\nu_{G_{n},Z}^{t}\|_{\rho,q,\mathcal{O}}^{q}\right) \leq C\int_{0}^{t}E\left(\|Z(s)\|_{W^{\rho,q}(\mathcal{O}^{(t-s)(1+\frac{1}{n})})}^{q}\right)\,\mathrm{d}s,\qquad(23)$$

$$E\left(\left\|\nu_{G,Z}^{t}\right\|_{\rho,q,\mathcal{O}}^{q}\right) \leq C\int_{0}^{t}E\left(\left\|Z(s)\right\|_{W^{\rho,q}(\mathcal{O}^{(t-s)})}^{q}\right)\,\mathrm{d}s.$$
(24)

Consequently,

$$E\left(\left\|\nu_{G,Z}^{t}\right\|_{W^{\rho,q}(\mathcal{O})}^{q}\right) \leq C \int_{0}^{t} E\left(\left\|Z(s)\right\|_{W^{\rho,q}(\mathcal{O}^{(t-s)})}^{q}\right) \,\mathrm{d}s.$$

$$(25)$$

Proof. By virtue of Remark 2.2, we see that the estimate (22) follows from the same arguments used in [7], Proposition 3.4. We recall that this proposition is devoted to prove an analogue property for the stochastic integral $v_{G,Z}^t$. In the very same way, (23) is established using the arguments of the proof of Proposition 3.5 in [7]. Then, as in [7], (24) is obtained from (23) by applying Fatou's lemma. Finally, (25) is a consequence of (22), (24) and the definition of the fractional Sobolev norm $\|\cdot\|_{W^{\rho,q}(\mathcal{O})}$.

Next, we present an analogue of Theorem 3.8 [7] for the path-wise integral $v_{G,Z}^t$, which gives the sample path properties in the argument *t* for this integral. As in Proposition 2.1, \mathcal{O} is a bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^3 .

Proposition 2.2. Consider a stochastic process $\{Z_t, t \in [0, T]\}$, (\mathcal{F}_t) -adapted, with values in $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$, mean-square continuous. Assume that for some fixed $q \in [3, \infty[$ and $\gamma \in]\frac{3}{a}, 1[$,

$$\sup_{t\in[0,T]} E\left(\|Z(t)\|_{W^{\gamma,q}(\mathcal{O}^{T-t})}^{q}\right) < \infty.$$

Then, the stochastic process $\{v_{G,Z}^t(x), t \in [0, T]\}, x \in \mathcal{O}$, satisfies

$$\sup_{\mathbf{x}\in\mathcal{O}} E\left(|\nu_{G,Z}^t(x) - \nu_{G,Z}^{\bar{t}}(x)|^{\bar{q}}\right) \le C|t - \bar{t}|^{\rho\bar{q}},\tag{26}$$

for each $t, \overline{t} \in [0, T]$, any $\overline{q} \in]2, q[, \rho \in]0, (\gamma - \frac{3}{q}) \land (\frac{2-\beta}{2}) \land (\frac{1+\delta}{2})[$.

Proof. We follow the same scheme as in the proof of [7], Theorem 3.8. To start with, we should prove an analogue of (3.26) in [7], with $v_{G_n,Z}^{\bar{t}}$, $v_{G_n,Z}^t$ replaced by $v_{G_n,Z}^{\bar{t}}$, $v_{G_n,Z}^t$, respectively. Once again, we apply Remark 2.2, obtaining similar upper bounds for the $L^{\bar{q}}(\Omega)$ -moments (up to a positive constant) as for the stochastic integrals considered in the above mentioned reference. More precisely, assume $0 \le t < \bar{t} \le T$; by applying Cauchy-Schwarz' inequality to the inner product on \mathcal{H}_T , we obtain

$$E\left(\left|\int_{t}^{\bar{t}} \langle G_{n}(\bar{t}-s,x-\cdot)Z(s,\cdot),v(s,\cdot)\rangle_{\mathcal{H}} \,\mathrm{d}s\right|^{\bar{q}}\right)$$

$$\leq N^{\bar{q}}E\left(\int_{0}^{\bar{t}-t} \|G_{n}(s,x-\cdot)Z(\bar{t}-s,\cdot)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2} \,\mathrm{d}s\right)^{\frac{\bar{q}}{2}},$$

$$E\left(\left|\int_{0}^{t} \langle (G_{n}(\bar{t}-s,x-\cdot)-G_{n}(t-s,x-\cdot)Z(s,\cdot),v(s,\cdot)\rangle_{\mathcal{H}} \,\mathrm{d}s\right|^{\bar{q}}\right)$$

$$\leq N^{\bar{q}}E\left(\int_{0}^{t} \|(G_{n}(\bar{t}-s,x-\cdot)-G_{n}(t-s,x-\cdot)Z(s,\cdot)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2} \,\mathrm{d}s\right)^{\frac{\bar{q}}{2}}.$$

These are, up to a positive constant, the same upper bounds obtained in [7] for the expressions termed $T_1^n(t, \bar{t}, x)$ and $T_2^n(t, \bar{t}, x)$, respectively. After this remark, the proof follows the same arguments as in [7].

For any $t \in [0, T]$, $a \ge 1$, let $K_a^D(t) = \{y \in \mathbb{R}^3 : d(y, D) \le a(T - t)\}$. For a = 1, we shall simply write $K^D(t)$; this is the light cone of $\{T\} \times D$.

In the next theorem, the statement on existence and uniqueness of solution, as well as (27), extend Theorem 4.3 in [8], while (28) and (29) are extensions of the inequality (4.24) of Theorem 4.6 and (4.41) of Theorem 4.11 in [7], respectively. Indeed in the cited references, the results apply to (4), while in the next theorem, they apply to (12).

Theorem 2.3. Assuming (H), the following statements hold true:

There exists a unique random field solution to (12), $\{u^{\varepsilon,v}(t,x), (t,x) \in [0,T] \times \mathbb{R}^3\}$, and this solution satisfies

$$\sup_{\varepsilon \in [0,1], v \in \mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{H}}^{N}} \sup_{(t,x) \in [0,T] \times \mathbb{R}^{3}} E\left(|u^{\varepsilon,v}(t,x)|^{q} \right) < \infty,$$
(27)

$$\sup_{\varepsilon \in [0,1], v \in \mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{H}}^{N}} \sup_{t \in [0,T]} E\left(\left\| u^{\varepsilon,v}(t) \right\|_{W^{\alpha,q}(K^{D}(t))}^{q} \right) < \infty,$$
(28)

for any $q \in [2, \infty[, \alpha \in \mathcal{I}.$

Moreover, for any $q \in [2, \infty[$ and $\alpha \in \mathcal{I}$, there exists C > 0 such that for $(t, x), (\bar{t}, y) \in [0, T] \times D$,

$$\sup_{\varepsilon \in]0,1], v \in \mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{H}}^{N}} E(|u^{\varepsilon,v}(t,x) - u^{\varepsilon,v}(\bar{t},y)|^{q}) \le C(|t-\bar{t}| + |x-y|)^{\alpha q}.$$
(29)

Thus, a.s., $\{u^{\varepsilon,v}(t,x), (t,x) \in [0,T] \times D\}$ has Hölder continuous sample paths of degree $\alpha \in \mathcal{I}$, jointly in (t,x).

Proof. For the sake of simplicity, we shall consider $\varepsilon = 1$ and write u^{υ} instead of $u^{\varepsilon,\upsilon}$.

We start by proving existence and uniqueness along with (27). For this, we will follow the method of the proof of [8], Theorem 4.3 (borrowed from [14], Theorem 1.2 and [4], Theorem 13). It is based on the Picard iteration scheme:

$$u^{v,(0)}(t,x) = w(t,x),$$

$$u^{v,(n+1)}(t,x) = w(t,x) + \sum_{k\geq 1} \int_0^t \langle G(t-s,x-\cdot)\sigma(u^{v,(n)}(s,\cdot)), e_k(\cdot)\rangle_{\mathcal{H}} dB_k(s)$$

$$+ \int_0^t \langle G(t-s,x-\cdot)\sigma(u^{v,(n)}(s,\cdot)), v(s,\cdot)\rangle_{\mathcal{H}} ds$$

$$+ \int_0^t [G(t-s) * b(u^{v,(n)}(s,\cdot))](x) ds, \quad n \geq 0.$$
(30)

The steps of the proof are as follows. Firstly, we check that

$$\sup_{v\in\mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{H}}^{N}}\sup_{(t,x)\in[0,T]\times\mathbb{R}^{3}}E\left(|u^{v,(n)}(t,x)|^{q}\right)<\infty,$$
(31)

and then

$$\sup_{n\geq 0} \sup_{v\in\mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{H}}^{N}} \sup_{(t,x)\in[0,T]\times\mathbb{R}^{3}} E\left(|u^{v,(n)}(t,x)|^{q}\right) < \infty.$$
(32)

Secondly, by setting

$$M_n(t) := \sup_{(s,x)\in[0,t]\times\mathbb{R}^3} E\left(|u^{v,(n+1)}(s,x) - u^{v,(n)}(s,x)|^q\right), \ n \ge 0,$$

we prove

$$M_n(t) \le C \int_0^t M_{n-1}(s) \left(1 + \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \mu(d\xi) |\mathcal{F}G(t-s)(\xi)|^2 \right) \, \mathrm{d}s.$$
(33)

With these facts, we conclude that $(u^{v,(n)}(t, x), n \ge 0)$ converges uniformly in (t, x) in $L^q(\Omega)$ to a limit $u^v(t, x)$, which satisfies (12) with $\varepsilon = 1$.

In comparison with the proof of Theorem 4.3 in [8], establishing (31)–(33) requires additionally the analysis of the term given by the path-wise integral

$$\mathcal{I}^{\nu,(n+1)} := \int_0^t \langle G(t-s,x-\cdot)\sigma(u^{\nu,(n)}(s,\cdot)), \nu(s,\cdot) \rangle_{\mathcal{H}} \,\mathrm{d}s, \ n \ge 0.$$
(34)

This is done as follows. We assume that (31) holds true for some $n \ge 0$. This is definitely the case for n = 0 (see (7)). By applying Cauchy-Schwarz inequality on the Hilbert space \mathcal{H}_T , and since $||v||_{\mathcal{H}_T} \le N$ a.s., we have

$$E\left(\left|\int_{0}^{t} \langle G(t-s,x-\cdot)\sigma(u^{v,(n)}(s,\cdot)),v(s,\cdot)\rangle_{\mathcal{H}} \,\mathrm{d}s\right|^{q}\right)$$

$$\leq N^{q} E\left(\int_{0}^{t} \left\|G(t-s,x-\cdot)\sigma(u^{v,(n)}(s,\cdot))\right\|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2} \,\mathrm{d}s\right)^{\frac{q}{2}}$$

Notice that, by applying Burkholder's inequality to the stochastic integral term in (30), we obtain

$$E\left(\left|\sum_{k\geq 1}\int_0^t \langle G(t-s,x-\cdot)\sigma(u^{v,(n)}(s,\cdot)),e_k(\cdot)\rangle_{\mathcal{H}} \mathrm{d}B_k(s)\right|^q\right)$$
$$\leq CE\left(\int_0^t \left\|G(t-s,x-\cdot)\sigma(u^{v,(n)}(s,\cdot))\right\|_{\mathcal{H}}^2 \mathrm{d}s\right)^{\frac{q}{2}}.$$

Thus, as has already been mentioned in Remark 2.2, up to a positive constant, $L^q(\Omega)$ estimates of the stochastic integral and of the path-wise integral $\mathcal{I}^{\nu,(n+1)}$ lead to the same upper bounds.

This simple but important remark yields the extension of properties (31)–(33), which are valid for (4), as is proved in Theorem 4.3 in [8], to (12) with $\varepsilon = 1$ and actually, for any $\varepsilon \in]0, 1]$. In fact, those properties can be proved to hold uniformly in $\varepsilon \in]0, 1]$.

Let us now argue on the validity of (28). We will follow the programme of Sect. 4.2 in [7], taking into account the new term

$$\int_0^t \langle G(t-s,x-\cdot)\sigma(u^v(s,\cdot)),v(s,\cdot)\rangle_{\mathcal{H}} \,\mathrm{d}s$$

of (12) (with $\varepsilon = 1$) that did not appear in [7]. This consists of the following steps.

Firstly, we need an extension of Proposition 4.3 in [7]. This refers to an approximation of the localized version of (12) on a light cone. In the approximating sequence, the fundamental solution G of the wave equation is replaced by a smoothed version G_n defined in (21). Going through the proof of that Proposition, we see that for the required extension, the term

$$M_n(t) := E\left(\|v_{G_n,Z}^t - v_{G,Z}^t\|_{L^q(K_a^D(t))}^q \right),$$

with $Z(s, y) = \sigma(u^v(s, y)) \mathbf{1}_{K^D_{\alpha}(s)}(y)$, should be replaced by

$$\tilde{M}_{n}(t) := E\left(\|v_{G_{n},Z}^{t} - v_{G,Z}^{t}\|_{L^{q}(K_{a}^{D}(t))}^{q} \right) + E\left(\|v_{G_{n},Z}^{t} - v_{G,Z}^{t}\|_{L^{q}(K_{a}^{D}(t))}^{q} \right),$$

where we have used the notation introduced in (17), (19). Then, we should prove that $\lim_{n\to\infty} \tilde{M}_n(t) = 0$. This is carried out by considering first the case q = 2. By Remark 2.1, it suffices to have $\lim_{n\to\infty} M_n(t) = 0$ for q = 2, and this fact is proved in [7], Proposition 4.3.

To extend the convergence to any $q \in]2, \infty[$, we must establish that for some fixed $n_0 > 0$,

$$\sup_{n \ge n_0} E\left(\left\| \nu_{G_n, Z}^t \right\|_{L^q(K_a^D(t))}^q \right) < \infty$$
(35)

a result that holds true for $v_{G_n,Z}^t$. Once more, the first step in the proof of (35) consists in obtaining the upper bound

$$E\left(\left\|\nu_{G_n,Z}^t\right\|_{L^q(K_a^D(t))}^q\right) \le CE\int_0^t \mathrm{d}s \int_{K_a^D(t))} \mathrm{d}x E\left(\left\|G_n(t-s,x-\cdot)Z(s,\cdot)\right\|_{\mathcal{H}}^q\right).$$
(36)

This follows easily by applying first Cauchy-Schwarz' inequality to the inner product on \mathcal{H}_T and then Hölder's inequality. Once we have (36), we can obtain (35) by following the steps of the proof of Proposition 3.4 in [7].

The last ingredient for the proof of (28) consist of the extension of Theorem 4.6 in [7]. This requires the following additional arguments. Firstly, using similar notations as in that reference, we set

$$R_{n}^{m,\gamma,D}(t) = E\left(\left\| u_{n}^{\nu,(m)}(t) \right\|_{W^{\gamma,q}(K_{a}^{D}(t))}^{q} \right),$$

where $u_n^{v,(m)}(t, x)$ stands for the *m*th Picard iteration of a similar equation as (12) with *G* replaced by the smoothed version G_n . In comparison with [7], in order to check that $\sup_{n,m\geq 1} R_n^{m,\gamma,D} < \infty$, we have to study the additional term

$$T_{n}^{m,\gamma,D,3}(t) := E\left(\| v_{G_{n},\sigma(u_{n}^{\nu,(m)})1_{K_{a}^{D}}}^{t} \|_{W^{\gamma,q}(K_{a}^{D}(t))}^{q} \right)$$

and more specifically to check that

$$T_n^{m,\gamma,D,3}(t) \le C_1 + C_2 \int_0^t \mathrm{d}s \; R_n^{m-1,\gamma,D}(s),$$
 (37)

for some positive constants C_1 , C_2 .

This property holds true when $T_n^{m,\gamma,D,3}(t)$ is replaced by

$$E\left(\|v_{G_n,\sigma(u_n^{\upsilon,(m)})1_{K_a^D}}^t\|_{W^{\gamma,q}(K_a^D(t))}^q\right)$$

(see the arguments on page 42 of [7] based upon Proposition 3.5 of this reference). In a similar way, (37) follows from Proposition 2.1 and more precisely from (23).

This completes the proof of (28).

An important consequence of (28) is the following. For any t > 0, a.s., the sample paths of $(u^{\varepsilon,v}(t.x)1_{K^D(t)}(x), x \in \mathbb{R}^3)$ are α -Hölder continuous with $\alpha \in \mathcal{I}$. In addition, for any $q \in [2, \infty[$,

$$\sup_{\varepsilon \in [0,1], v \in \mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{H}}^{N}} \sup_{t \in [0,T]} E\left(|u^{\varepsilon,v}(t,x) - u^{\varepsilon,v}(t,y)|^{q} \right) \le C |x-y|^{\alpha q},$$
(38)

for any $x, y \in K^D(t)$, $\alpha \in \mathcal{I}$. Hence, in order to prove (29), it remains to establish that for any $q \in [2, \infty[$ and $\alpha \in \mathcal{I}$, there exists C > 0 such that for every $t, \bar{t} \in [0, T]$,

$$\sup_{\varepsilon \in [0,1], v \in \mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{H}}^{N}} \sup_{x \in D} E\left(|u^{\varepsilon,v}(t,x) - u^{\varepsilon,v}(\bar{t},x)|^{q} \right) \le C |t-\bar{t}|^{\alpha q}, \tag{39}$$

For this, we will follow the steps of Sect. 4.3 in [7] devoted to the analysis of the time regularity of the solution to (4) and get an extension of Theorem 4.10.

As in the first part of the proof, we consider the case $\varepsilon = 1$. The additional required ingredient consists of showing that

$$E\left(\left|\int_{0}^{t} \langle G(t-s,x-\cdot)\sigma(u^{v}(s,\cdot))1_{K^{D}(s)}(\cdot),v(s,\cdot)\rangle_{\mathcal{H}} \,\mathrm{d}s\right. \\ \left. -\int_{0}^{\bar{t}} \langle G(\bar{t}-s,x-\cdot)\sigma(u^{v}(s,\cdot))1_{K^{D}(s)}(\cdot),v(s,\cdot)\rangle_{\mathcal{H}} \,\mathrm{d}s\right|^{q}\right) \\ \leq C|t-\bar{t}|^{\alpha q}, \tag{40}$$

uniformly in $x \in D$.

Remark that the stochastic process

$$\{Z(s, y) := \sigma(u^{v}(s, y)) \mathbf{1}_{K^{D}(s)}(y), (s, y) \in [0, T] \times \mathbb{R}^{3}\},\$$

satisfies the assumptions of Proposition 2.2 with $\mathcal{O} = D$ and arbitrarily large q. This fact is proved in Theorem 4.10 in [7]. Thus, (40) follows from that Proposition.

Going through the arguments, it is easy to realize that for $u^{v,\varepsilon}$, we can get uniform estimates in $\varepsilon \in [0, 1]$ and $v \in \mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{H}}^N$, and therefore (39) holds true. This ends the proof of (29) and of the Theorem.

Remark 2.3. *In connection with conclusion* (4.8) *of Theorem* 4.1 *in* [7], *we notice that property* (27) *implies*

$$\sup_{\varepsilon \in [0,1], v \in \mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{H}}^{N}} \sup_{t \in [0,T]} E\left(\|u^{\varepsilon,v}(t)\|_{L^{q}(K^{D}(t))}^{q} \right) < \infty$$

The estimates on increments described in (15) are a consequence of (29). Indeed, as has been already mentioned, for any $v \in \mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{H}}^N$, the stochastic process V^v is the solution to the particular (12) obtained by setting $\varepsilon = 0$.

Proposition 2.4. Assume (**H**). Consider a family $(v^{\varepsilon}, \varepsilon > 0) \subset \mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{H}}^{N}$ and $v \in \mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{H}}^{N}$ such that a.s.,

$$\lim_{\varepsilon\to 0}\|v^\varepsilon-v\|_w=0.$$

Then, for any $(t, x) \in [0, T] \times D$ and any $q \in [2, \infty[$,

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} E\left(|u^{\varepsilon, v^{\varepsilon}}(t, x) - V^{v}(t, x)|^{q} \right) = 0.$$
(41)

Proof. We write

$$u^{\varepsilon,v^{\varepsilon}}(t,x) - V^{v}(t,x) = \sum_{i=1}^{4} T_{i}^{\varepsilon}(t,x),$$

with

$$\begin{split} T_1^{\varepsilon}(t,x) &= \int_0^t \left[G(t-s) * \left(b(u^{\varepsilon,v^{\varepsilon}}(s,\cdot)) - b(V^{v}(s,\cdot)) \right) \right](x) \, \mathrm{d}s, \\ T_2^{\varepsilon}(t,x) &= \int_0^t \left\langle G(t-s,x-\cdot) \left[\sigma(u^{\varepsilon,v^{\varepsilon}}(s,\cdot)) - \sigma(V^{v}(s,\cdot)) \right], v^{\varepsilon}(s,\cdot) \right\rangle_{\mathcal{H}} \, \mathrm{d}s, \\ T_3^{\varepsilon}(t,x) &= \int_0^t \left\langle G(t-s,x-\cdot)\sigma(V^{v}(s,\cdot)), v^{\varepsilon}(s,\cdot) - v(s,\cdot) \right\rangle_{\mathcal{H}} \, \mathrm{d}s, \\ T_4^{\varepsilon}(t,x) &= \sqrt{\varepsilon} \sum_{k \ge 1} \int_0^t \left\langle G(t-s,x-\cdot)\sigma(u^{\varepsilon,v^{\varepsilon}}(s,\cdot)), e_k(\cdot) \right\rangle_{\mathcal{H}} \mathrm{d}B_k(s). \end{split}$$

Fix $q \in [2, \infty[$. Hölder's inequality with respect to the measure on $[0, t] \times \mathbb{R}^3$ given by G(t - s, dy)ds, along with the Lipschitz continuity of *b* yield

$$E\left(|T_1^{\varepsilon}(t,x)|^q\right) \le \left(\int_0^t \mathrm{d}s \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} G(s,\mathrm{d}y)\right)^{q-1}$$
$$\times \int_0^t \sup_{(r,z)\in[0,s]\times\mathbb{R}^3} E\left(|u^{\varepsilon,v^{\varepsilon}}(r,z)-V^{v}(r,z)|^q\right) \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} G(s,\mathrm{d}y)\right) \mathrm{d}s$$
$$\le C \int_0^t \sup_{(r,z)\in[0,s]\times\mathbb{R}^3} E\left(|u^{\varepsilon,v^{\varepsilon}}(r,z)-V^{v}(r,z)|^q\right) \mathrm{d}s$$

To study $T_2^{\varepsilon}(t, x)$, we apply Cauchy-Schwarz' inequality to the inner product on \mathcal{H} and then Hölder's inequality with respect to the measure on $[0, t] \times \mathbb{R}^3$ given by $|\mathcal{F}G(s)(\xi)|^2 ds \ \mu(d\xi)$. Notice that this measure can also be written as $[G(s) * \tilde{G}(s)](x)\Gamma(dx)ds$. The Lipschitz continuity of σ along with (5) and the property $\sup_{\varepsilon} \|v^{\varepsilon}\|_{\mathcal{H}_T} \leq N$ imply

$$\begin{split} E\left(|T_{2}^{\varepsilon}(t,x)|^{q}\right) &\leq E\left(\int_{0}^{t} \left\|G(t-s,x-\cdot)\left[\sigma(u^{\varepsilon,v^{\varepsilon}}(s,\cdot))-\sigma(V^{v}(s,\cdot))\right]\right\|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2} \mathrm{d}s\right)^{\frac{q}{2}} \\ &\times \left(\int_{0}^{t} \left\|v^{\varepsilon}(s,\cdot)\right\|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2} \mathrm{d}s\right)^{\frac{q}{2}} \\ &\leq CE\left(\int_{0}^{t} \left\|G(t-s,x-\cdot)\left[\sigma(u^{\varepsilon,v^{\varepsilon}}(s,\cdot))-\sigma(V^{v}(s,\cdot))\right]\right\|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2} \mathrm{d}s\right)^{\frac{q}{2}} \\ &\leq C\left(\int_{0}^{t} \mathrm{d}s\int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}}\mu(\mathrm{d}\xi)|\mathcal{F}G(t-s)(\xi)|^{2}\right)^{\frac{q}{2}-1} \\ &\times \int_{0}^{t} \sup_{(r,z)\in[0,s]\times\mathbb{R}^{3}} E\left(|u^{\varepsilon,v^{\varepsilon}}(r,z)-V^{v}(r,z)|^{q}\right) \\ &\times \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}}\mu(\mathrm{d}\xi)|\mathcal{F}G(s)(\xi)|^{2}\right) \mathrm{d}s \\ &\leq C\int_{0}^{t} \sup_{(r,z)\in[0,s]\times\mathbb{R}^{3}} E\left(|u^{\varepsilon,v^{\varepsilon}}(r,z)-V^{v}(r,z)|^{q}\right) \mathrm{d}s. \end{split}$$

For any $(t, x) \in [0, T] \times \mathbb{R}^3$, the stochastic process

$$\{G(t-s, x-y)\sigma(V^{\nu}(s, y)), (s, y) \in [0, T] \times \mathbb{R}^3\}$$

satisfies the property

$$\sup_{v \in \mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{H}}^{N}} \sup_{s \in [0,T]} E\left(\|G(t-s, x-\cdot)\sigma(V^{v}(s, \cdot))\|_{\mathcal{H}}^{q} \right) < \infty.$$

$$(42)$$

Indeed, by applying (27) to the particular case $\varepsilon = 0$, we get

$$\sup_{v \in \mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{H}}^{N}} \sup_{(t,x) \in [0,T] \times \mathbb{R}^{3}} E\left(|V^{v}(t,x)|^{q} \right) < \infty.$$
(43)

Then, we apply Hölder's inequality with respect to the measure on \mathbb{R}^3 given by $|\mathcal{F}G(t-s)(\xi)|^2 \mu(d\xi)$, along with the linear growth property of σ , and we obtain

V. Ortiz-López and M. Sanz-Solé

$$E\left(\|G(t-s,x-\cdot)\sigma(V^{\nu}(s,\cdot))\|_{\mathcal{H}}^{q}\right) \leq C\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}}|\mathcal{F}G(t-s)(\xi)|^{2}\mu(\mathrm{d}\xi)\right)^{\frac{q}{2}} \times \left(1+\sup_{(s,y)\in[0,T]\times\mathbb{R}^{3}}E\left(|V^{\nu}(s,y)|^{q}\right)\right).$$

With (5) and (43), we have (42).

From (42), it follows that $\{G(t-s, x-y)\sigma(V^{v}(s, y), (s, y) \in [0, T] \times \mathbb{R}^{3}\}$ takes its values in \mathcal{H}_{T} , a.s. Since $\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \|v^{\varepsilon} - v\|_{w} = 0$, a.s.,

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \left| \int_0^t \left\langle G(t-s, x-\cdot) \sigma(V^v(s, \cdot)), v^\varepsilon(s, \cdot) - v(s, \cdot) \right\rangle_{\mathcal{H}} \mathrm{d}s \right| = 0.$$

Applying (42) and bounded convergence, we see that the above convergence takes place in $L^q(\Omega)$ as well. Thus,

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} E\left(|T_3^{\varepsilon}(t,x)|^q \right) = 0.$$

By the L^q estimates of the stochastic integral and (27), we have

$$\begin{split} E\left(\left|\sum_{k\geq 1}\int_{0}^{t}\langle G(t-s,x-\cdot)\sigma(u^{\varepsilon,v^{\varepsilon}}(s,\cdot)),e_{k}(\cdot)\rangle_{\mathcal{H}}\mathrm{d}B_{k}(s)\right|^{q}\right)\\ &=E\left(\int_{0}^{t}\|G(t-s,x-\cdot)\sigma(u^{\varepsilon,v^{\varepsilon}}(s,\cdot))\|_{\mathcal{H}_{T}}^{2}\mathrm{d}s\right)^{\frac{q}{2}}\\ &\leq \left(\int_{0}^{t}\mathrm{d}s\int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}}\mu(\mathrm{d}\xi)|\mathcal{F}G(t-s)(\xi)|^{2}\right)^{\frac{q}{2}-1}\\ &\qquad \times\int_{0}^{t}\left(1+\sup_{(r,z)\in[0,s]\times\mathbb{R}^{3}}E\left(|u^{\varepsilon,v^{\varepsilon}}(r,z)|^{q}\right)\right)\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}}\mu(\mathrm{d}\xi)|\mathcal{F}G(s)(\xi)|^{2}\right)\mathrm{d}s\\ &\leq C\int_{0}^{t}\left(1+\sup_{(r,z)\in[0,s]\times\mathbb{R}^{3}}E\left(|u^{\varepsilon,v^{\varepsilon}}(r,z)|^{q}\right)\right)\mathrm{d}s\\ &\leq C. \end{split}$$

This yields

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} E\left(|T_4^{\varepsilon}(t,x)|^q\right) = 0.$$

We end the proof of the Proposition by applying the usual version of Gronwall's lemma.

Notice that we have actually proved the stronger statement

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \sup_{(t,x) \in [0,T] \times \mathbb{R}^3} E\left(|u^{\varepsilon,v^{\varepsilon}}(t,x) - V^{v}(t,x)|^p \right) = 0.$$
(44)

Proof of Theorem 1.1. As has been argued, it suffices to check the validity of (15) and (16). These statements follow from Theorem 2.3 and Proposition 2.4, respectively.

Acknowledgements Supported by the grant MTM 2009-07203 from the Dirección General de Investigación, Ministerio de Ciencia e Innovación, Spain.

References

- 1. Bally, V., Millet, A., Sanz-Solé, M.: Approximation and support theorem in Hölder norm for parabolic stochastic partial differential equations. Annal. Probab. **23**(1), 178–222 (1995)
- Budhiraja, A., Dupuis, P.: A variational representation for positive functionals of infinite dimensional Brownian motion. Probab. Math. Statist. 20, 39–61 (2000)
- Budhiraja, A., Dupuis, P., Maroulas, V.: Large deviations for infinite dimensional stochastic dynamical systems. Annal. Probab. 36(4), 1390–1420 (2008)
- 4. Dalang, R.C.: Extending the martingale measure stochastic integral with applications to spatially homogeneous spde's. Electronic J. Probab. 4 (1999)
- 5. Dalang, R.C., Frangos, N.E.: The stochastic wave equation in two spatial dimensions. Annal. Probab. **26**(1), 187–212 (1998)
- 6. Dalang, R.C., Mueller, C.: Some non-linear SPDE's that are second order in time. Electronic J. Probab. **8**(1), 1–21 (2003)
- 7. Dalang, R.C., Sanz-Solé, M.: Hölder-Sobolev regularity of the solution to the stochastic wave equation in dimension three. Mem. Am. Math. Soc. **199**(931) (2009)
- 8. Dalang, R.C., Quer-Sardanyons, L.: Stochastic integrals for spde's: a comparison. arXiv:1001.0856
- Da Prato, G., Zabczyk, J.: Stochastic Equations in Infinite Dimensions. Encyclopedia of Mathematics and its applications, vol. 45. Cambridge University Press (1992)
- 10. Dupuis, P., Ellis, R.S.: A weak convergence approach to the theory of large deviations. Wiley (1997)
- Duan, J., Millet, A.: Large deviations for the Boussinesq equations under random influences. Stoch. Proc. Appl. 119(6), 2052–2081 (2009)
- 12. Kotolenez, P.: Existence, uniqueness and smoothness for a class of function valued stochastic partial differential equations. Stoch. Rep. **41**, 177–199 (1992)
- 13. Lax, P.D.: Functional analysis. Wiley Interscience (2002)
- Millet, A., Sanz-Solé, M.: A stochastic wave equation in two space dimensions: smoothness of the law. Annal. Probab. 27, 803–844 (1999)
- 15. Sritharan, S.S., Sundar, P.: Large deviations for the two-dimensional Navier-Stokes equations with multiplicative noise. Stoch. Proc. Appl. **116**, 1636–1659 (2006)
- Walsh, J.B.: An introduction to stochastic partial differential equations, École d'été de Probabilités de Saint Flour XIV, Lecture Notes in Mathematics, vol. 1180. Springer (1986)
- 17. Xu, T., Zhang, T.: White Noise Driven SPDEs with Reflection: Existence, Uniqueness and Large Deviation Principles. Stoch. Processes Appl. **119**(10), 3453–3470 (2009)

Intertwinned Diffusions by Examples

Xue-Mei Li

Abstract We discuss the geometry induced by pairs of diffusion operators on two states spaces related by a map from one space to the other. This geometry led us to an intrinsic point of view on filtering. This will be explained plainly by examples, in local coordinates and in the metric setting. This article draws largely from the books On the geometry of diffusion operators and stochastic flows [11] and The Geometry of Filtering [13], and aims to have a comprehensive account of the geometry for a general audience.

Keywords Linear and equi-variant connections \cdot stochastic differential equations \cdot geometry of diffusion operators

MSC (2010): 60Hxx, 60Dxx

1 Introduction

Let *p* be a differentiable map from a manifold *N* to *M* which intertwines a diffusion operator \mathcal{B} on *N* with another diffusion operator, \mathcal{A} on *M*, that is $(\mathcal{A}f) \circ p = \mathcal{B}(f \circ p)$ for a given function *f* from *M* to **R**. Suppose that \mathcal{A} is elliptic and *f* is smooth. It is stated in [11] that this intertwining pair of operators determines a unique horizontal lifting map \mathfrak{h} from *TM* to *TN* which is induced by the symbols of \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} and the image of the lifting map determines a subspace of the tangent space to *N* and is called the associated horizontal tangent space and denoted by *H*. The condition that \mathcal{A} is elliptic can be replaced by cohesiveness, that is, the symbol $\sigma^{\mathcal{A}} : T_x^*M \to T_xM$ has constant non-zero rank and \mathcal{A} is along the image of $\sigma^{\mathcal{A}}$. If \mathcal{A} is of the form, $\mathcal{A} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^m L_{Xi} L_{Xi} + L_{X0}$, it is cohesive if span{ $X^1(x), \ldots, X^m(x)$ } is of constant rank and contains $X^0(x)$. Throughout this paper, we assume that \mathcal{A} is cohesive.

Xue-Mei Li

Mathematics Institute, University of Warwick, Coventry CV4 7AL, United Kingdom e-mail: Xue-Mei.Hairer@warwick.ac.uk

© Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2011

D. Crisan (ed.), *Stochastic Analysis 2010*, DOI 10.1007/978-3-642-15358-7_4,

For simplicity, we assume that the \mathcal{B} -diffusion does not explode. The pair of intertwining operators induces the splitting of TN in the case that \mathcal{B} is elliptic or the splitting of $Tp^{-1}[Im(\sigma^{\mathcal{A}})] = \ker(T_up) \oplus H_u$. Hence, a diffusion operator \mathcal{A} in Hörmander form has a horizontal lift \mathcal{A}^H , operator on N, through the horizontal lift of the defining corresponding vector fields. For operators not in Hörmander form, an intrinsic definition of horizontal lift can also be defined by the lift of its symbols and another associated operator δ^A from the space of differential forms to the space of functions and such that $\delta^{\mathcal{A}}(df) = \mathcal{A}f$. In this case, the diffusion operator \mathcal{B} splits and $\mathcal{B} = \mathcal{A}^H + B^V$ where B^V acts only on the vertical bundle, which leads to computation of the conditional distribution of the \mathcal{B} diffusion given \mathcal{A} diffusion. We describe this in a number of special cases.

This work was inspired by an observation for gradient stochastic flows. Let

$$\mathrm{d}x_t = X(x_t) \circ \mathrm{d}B_t + X_0(x_t)\mathrm{d}t$$

be a gradient stochastic differential equations (SDEs). As usual, (B_t) is an \mathbb{R}^m valued Brownian motion. The bundle map $X : \mathbb{R}^m \times M \to TM$ is induced by an isometric embedding map $f : M \to \mathbb{R}^m$. Define $Y(x) := df(x) : T_x M \to \mathbb{R}^m$ and

$$\langle X(x)e,v\rangle := \langle e, Y(x)(v)\rangle.$$

Then, ker X(x) is the normal bundle νM and $[\ker X(x)]^{\perp}$ corresponds to the tangential bundle. It was observed by Itô that the solution is a Brownian motion, that is the infinitesimal generator of the solutions is $\frac{1}{2}\Delta$. It was further developed in [6] that if we choose an orthonormal basis $\{e_i\}$ of \mathbf{R}^m and define the vector fields $X_i(x) = X(x)(e)$, then the SDE now written as

$$dx_t = \sum_{i=1}^m X_i(x_t) \circ dB_t^i + X_0(x_t)dt$$
(1)

and the Itô correction term $\sum \nabla X^i(X^i)$ vanishes. In [16], this observation is used to prove a Bismut type formula for differential forms related to gradient Brownian flow, in [18] to obtain an effective criterion for strong 1-completeness, and in [17] to obtain moment estimates for the derivative flow $T\xi_t$ of the gradient SDEs. The key observation was that for each *i* either ∇X_i or X_i vanishes, and if $T\xi_t(v)$ is the derivative flow for the SDE, $T\xi_t(v)$ is in fact the derivative in probability of the solution $\xi_t(x)$ at *x* in the direction *v* satisfying

$$//_{t}d(//_{t}^{-1}v_{t}) = \sum_{i=1}^{m} \nabla X_{i}(v_{t}) \circ \mathrm{d}B_{t}^{i} + \nabla X_{0}(v_{t})\mathrm{d}t.$$

where $//_t(\sigma) : T_{\sigma_0}M \to T_{\sigma_t}M$ denotes the stochastic parallel translation corresponding to the Levi-Civita connection along a path σ which is defined almost surely for almost all continuous paths. Consider the Girsanov transform

$$B_t \to B_t + \int_0^t \sum_i \frac{\langle \nabla_{v_s} X_i, v_s \rangle_{x_s}}{|v_s|_{x_s}^2} e_i ds$$

and $\int_0^t \sum_i \frac{\langle \nabla_{v_s} X_i, v_s \rangle_{X_s}}{|v_s|_{X_s}^2} e_i ds = \int_0^t \frac{\langle \nabla_{v_s} X \rangle^*(v_s)}{|v_s|_{X_s}^2} ds$. Let \tilde{x}_t and \tilde{v}_t be the corresponding solutions to the above two SDEs. Then $\mathbf{E}|v_t|_{x_t}^p = \mathbf{E}|\tilde{v}_t|_{\tilde{x}_t}^p G_t$ where G_t is the Girsanov density. It transpires that the transformation does not change (1). Since $|v_t|^p = |v_0|^p G_t e^{a_t^p(x_t)}$, where a_t is a term only depending on x_t not on v_t , see (18) in [18] $\mathbf{E}|v_t|^p = \mathbf{E}e^{a_t^p(\tilde{x}_t)} = \mathbf{E}e^{a_t^p(x_t)}$. In summary, the exponential martingale term in the formula for $|v_t|^p$ can be considered as the Radon–Nikodym derivative of a new measure given by a Cameron–Martin transformation on the path space and this Cameron–Martin transformation has no effect on the x-process.

Letting $\mathcal{F}_s^x = \sigma\{\xi_s(x) : 0 \le s \le t\}, \mathbf{E}\{//t^{-1}v_t | \mathcal{F}_t^x\}$ satisfies [7],

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} / /_t^{-1} W_t = -\frac{1}{2} / /_t^{-1}(\sigma) \mathrm{Ric}^{\#}(W_t) \mathrm{d}t$$

where $\operatorname{Ric}_x : T_x M \to T_x M$ is the linear map induced by the Ricci tensor. The process W_t is called damped stochastic parallel translation, and this observation allows us to give pointwise bounds on the conditional expectation of the derivative flow. Together with an intertwining formula

$$\mathrm{d}P_t(v) = \mathrm{Ed}f(T\xi_t(v)),$$

this gives an intrinsic probabilistic representation for $dP_t f = \mathbf{E} df(W_t)$ and leads to

$$|\nabla P_t f|(x) \le |P_t(\nabla f)|_{L^p}(x) (\mathbf{E}|W_t|^q)^{\frac{1}{q}}(x)$$

and $\nabla |P_t f|(x) \leq |df|_{L^{\infty}} \mathbf{E} |W_t|(x)$, which in the case of the Ricci curvature is bounded below by a positive constant that leads to:

$$|\nabla P_t|(x) \le e^{-Ct} |P_t(\nabla f)|_{L^p}(x)$$

and

$$\nabla |P_t f|(x) \le |\mathrm{d}f|_{L^{\infty}} \mathrm{e}^{-Ct},$$

respectively.

If the Ricci curvature is bounded below by a function ρ , one has the following pointwise bound on the derivative of the heat semigroup:

$$|\nabla P_t|(x) \le |P_t(\nabla f)|_{L^p}(x) \left(\operatorname{Ee}^{-q/2 \int_0^t \rho(x_s) \mathrm{d}s} \right)^{\frac{1}{q}}.$$

See [19] for an application, and [4, 5, 20, 22] for interesting work associated with differentiation of heat semi-groups.

It turns out that the discussion for the gradient SDE is not particular to the gradient system. Given a cohesive operator, the same consideration works provided that the linear connection, equivalently stochastic parallel transport or horizontal lifting map, we use is the correct one.

To put the gradient SDE into context we introduce a diffusion generator on *GLM*, the general linear frame bundle of *M*. Let η_t^i be the partial flow of X_i and let X_i^G

be the vector field corresponding to the flow $\{T\eta_t^i(u) : u \in GLM\}$. Let

$$\mathcal{B} = \frac{1}{2} \sum L_{X_i^G} L_{X_i^G} + L_{X_0^G}.$$

Then \mathcal{B} is over \mathcal{A} , the generator of SDE (1). The symbol of \mathcal{A} is $X^*(x)X(x)$ and likewise there is a similar formulation for $\sigma^{\mathcal{B}}$ and $h_u = X^{GL}(u)Y(\pi(u))$ where Y(x) is the partial inverse of X(x) and $X^G(e) = \sum X_i^G \langle e, e_i \rangle$.

Open Question. Let W_d be the Wasserstein distance on the space of probability measures on M associated to the Riemannian distance function, show that if

$$W_d(P_t^*\mu, P_t^*\nu) \le e^{ct} W_d(\mu, \nu),$$

the same inequality holds true for the Riemannian covering space of M. Note that if this inequality is obtained by an estimate through lower bound on the Ricci curvature, the same inequality holds on the universal covering space. It would be interesting to see a direct transfer of the inequality from one space to the other. On the other hand, if e^{cT} is replaced by Ce^{ct} , we do not expect the same conclusion.

2 Horizontal Lift of Vectors and Operators

Let $p: N \to M$ be a smooth map and \mathcal{B} , \mathcal{A} intertwining diffusions, that is

$$\mathcal{B}(f \circ p) = \mathcal{A}f \circ p$$

for all smooth function $f : M \to \mathbf{R}$, with semi-groups Q_t and P_t , respectively. Instead of intertwining, we also say that \mathcal{B} is over \mathcal{A} .

Note that for some authors intertwining may refer to a more general concept for operators: $\mathcal{AD} = D(\mathcal{B} + k)$, where k is a constant and D an oprator. For example, if Δ^q is the Laplace–Beltrami operator on differential q-forms over a Riemannian manifold $d\Delta = \Delta^1 d$. The usefulness of such relation comes largely from the relation between their respective eigenfunctions. For h a smooth positive function, the following relation $(\Delta - 2L_{\nabla h})(e^h) = e^h(\Delta + V)$ relates to h-transform and links a diffusion operator $\Delta - 2L_{\nabla h}$ with L + V for a suitable potential function V. See [1] for further discussion.

It follows that

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}(P_t f \circ p) = \frac{\partial}{\partial t}(P_t f) \circ p = \mathcal{A}(P_t f) \circ p = \mathcal{B}(P_t f \circ p).$$

Since $P_t f \circ p = f \circ p$ at t = 0 and $P_t f \circ p$ solves $\frac{\partial}{\partial t} = \mathcal{B}$, we have the intertwining relation of semi-groups:

$$P_t f \circ p = Q_t (f \circ p). \tag{2}$$

Intertwinned Diffusions by Examples

The \mathcal{B} diffusion u_t is seen to satisfy Dynkin's criterion for $p(u_t)$ to be a Markov process. This intertwining of semi-groups has come up in other context. The relation $VP_t = Q_t V$, where V is a Markov kernel from N to M, is relates to this one when a choice of an inverse to p is made. For example, take M to be a smooth Riemannian manifold and N the orthonormal frame bundle. One would fix a frame for each point in M. Note that the law of the Horizontal Brownian motion has been shown to be the law of the Brownian motion and independent of the initial frame [6].

The symbol of an operator \mathcal{L} on a manifold M is a map from $T^*M \times T^*M \to \mathbf{R}$ such that for $f, g: M \to \mathbf{R}$,

$$\sigma^{\mathcal{L}}(\mathrm{d}f,\mathrm{d}g) = \frac{1}{2} \left[\mathcal{L}(fg) - f\mathcal{L}g - g\mathcal{L}f \right].$$

If $\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2}a_{ij}\frac{\partial^2}{\partial x_j \partial x_j} + b_k \frac{\partial}{\partial x_k}$ is an elliptic operator on \mathbf{R}^n , its symbol is (a_{ij}) which induces a Riemannian metric $(g_{ij}) = (a_{ij})^{-1}$ on \mathbb{R}^n . For the intertwining diffusions: $p^* \sigma^{\mathcal{B}} = \sigma^A$, or

$$T_u p \circ \sigma_u^{\mathcal{B}}((T_u p)^*) = \sigma_{p(u)}^{\mathcal{A}}$$

if the symbols are considered as linear maps from the cotangent to the tangent spaces. We stress again that throughout this article we assume that A is *cohesive*, i.e. $\sigma^{\mathcal{A}}$ has constant rank and \mathcal{A} is along the distribution $E = Im[\sigma^{\mathcal{A}}]$.

There is a unique horizontal lifting map [11] such that now with the symbols considered as linear maps from the cotangent space to the tangent spaces

$$\mathfrak{h}_u \circ \sigma_{p(u)}^{\mathcal{A}} = \sigma_u^{\mathcal{B}} (T_u p)^*.$$



Let H_u to be the image of \mathfrak{h}_u , called the *horizontal distribution*. They consists of image of differential forms of the form $\phi(Tp-)$ for $\phi \in T^*M$ by $\sigma^{\mathcal{B}}$. Note that this cannot be reduced to the case of A being elliptic because E_x may not give rise to a submanifold of M.

If an operator \mathcal{L} has the Hörmander form representation

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{j=1}^{m} L_{X^j} L_{X^j} + L_{X^0}$$
(3)

Define $X(x) : \mathbf{R}^m \to T_x M$ by $X(x) = \sum X^i(x) e_i$ for $\{e_i\}$ an orthonormal basis of \mathbf{R}^m . Then

$$\sigma_x^{\mathcal{L}} = \frac{1}{2} X(x) X(x)^* : T_x^* M \to T_x M.$$

In the elliptic case, $\sigma^{\mathcal{L}}$ induces a Riemannian metric and $X^*(x)\phi = Y(x)\phi^{\#}$.

An operator \mathcal{L} is along a distribution $S := \{S_x : x \in M\}$, where each S_x is a subspace of $T_x M$, if $\mathcal{L}\psi = 0$ whenever $\psi_x(S_x) = \{0\}$. The horizontal lifts of tangent vectors induce a horizontal lift of the operator which is denoted as \mathcal{A}^H . To define a horizontal lift of a diffusion operator intrinsically, we introduced an operator $\delta^{\mathcal{L}}$. If M is endowed with a Riemannian metric let $\mathcal{L} = \Delta$ be the Laplace– Beltrami operator, this is d^* , the L^2 adjoint of d the differential operator d. Then, $d^*(f\phi) = fd^*\phi + \iota_{\nabla f}(\phi)$ for ϕ a differential 1-form and f a function, using the Riemannian metric to define the gradient operator, and $\Delta = d^*d$.

For a general diffusion operator, it was shown in [11] that there is a unique linear operator $\delta^{\mathcal{L}} : C^{r+1}T^*M \to C^r(M)$ determined by $\delta^{\mathcal{L}}(df) = \mathcal{L}f$ and $\delta^{\mathcal{L}}(f\phi) = f\delta^{\mathcal{L}}(\phi) + df\sigma^{\mathcal{L}}(\phi)$. If \mathcal{L} has the representation (3),

$$\delta^{\mathcal{L}} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{j=1}^{m} L_{X^j} \iota_{X^j} + \iota_{X^0}.$$

Here ι is the interior product, $\iota_v \phi := \phi(v)$. The symbol of the operator now plays the role of the Riemannian metric. For \mathcal{B} over \mathcal{A} ,

$$\delta^{\mathcal{B}}(p^*(\mathrm{d}f)) = p^*(\delta^{\mathcal{A}}\mathrm{d}f).$$

There are many operators over \mathcal{A} and only one of which, \mathcal{A}^H , is horizontal. An operator \mathcal{L} is *horizontal (respectively vertical)* if it is along the horizontal or the vertical distribution. An operator \mathcal{B} is vertical if and only if $\mathcal{B}(f \circ p) = 0$ for all f and $\mathcal{B} - \mathcal{A}^H$ is a vertical operator.

The foundation of the noise decomposition theorem in [11] depends on the following decomposition of operator \mathcal{B} , when \mathcal{A} is cohesive,

$$\mathcal{B} = \mathcal{A}^H + (\mathcal{B} - \mathcal{A}^H) \tag{4}$$

and it can be proven that $\mathcal{B} - \mathcal{A}^H$ is a vertical operator.

2.1 In Metric Form

Note that $\sigma^{\mathcal{A}}$ gives rise to a positive definite bilinear form on T^*M :

$$\langle \phi, \psi \rangle_x = \phi(x)(\sigma_x^{\mathcal{A}}(\psi(x)))$$

and this induces an inner product on E_x :

$$\langle u, v \rangle_x = (\sigma_x^{\mathcal{A}})^{-1}(u)(v).$$

For an orthonormal basis $\{e_i\}$ of E_x , let $e_i^* = (\sigma_x^{\mathcal{A}})^{-1}(e_i)$. Then, $e_j^* \sigma^{\mathcal{A}}(e_i^*) = (\sigma_x^{\mathcal{A}})^{-1}(e_j)(e_i) = \langle e_j, e_i \rangle$ and hence

$$\langle \phi, \psi \rangle_x = \sum_i \langle e_j, e_i \rangle \phi(e_i) \psi(e_j) = \sum_i \phi(e_i) \psi(e_i).$$

Likewise the symbol $\sigma^{\mathcal{A}^H}$ induces an inner product on T^*N with the property that $\langle \phi \circ Tp, \psi \circ Tp \rangle = \langle \phi, \psi \rangle$ and a metric on $H \subset TN$ which is the same as that induced by \mathfrak{h} from *TM*. Note that $\sigma^{\mathcal{B}} = \sigma^{\mathcal{A}^H} + \sigma^{\mathcal{B}^V}$, where \mathcal{B}^V is the vertical part of \mathcal{B} , and $Im[\sigma^{\mathcal{B}^V}] \cap H = \{0\}$. Let μ be an invariant measure for \mathcal{A}^H and $\mu_M = p_*(\mu)$ the pushed forward measure which is an invariant measure for \mathcal{A} . If \mathcal{A} is symmetric,

$$\begin{split} \int_{M} \langle \mathrm{d}f, \mathrm{d}g \rangle \; \mu_{M}(\mathrm{d}x) &= \int \sigma^{\mathcal{A}}(\mathrm{d}f, \mathrm{d}g) \; \mu_{M}(\mathrm{d}x) \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \int [\mathcal{A}(fg) - f(\mathcal{A}g) - g(\mathcal{A}f)] \; \mu_{M}(\mathrm{d}x) \\ &= -\int_{M} f \mathcal{A}g \; \mathrm{d}\mu_{M}(x). \end{split}$$

Hence, $\mathcal{A} = -d^*d$ and

$$\delta^{\mathcal{A}} = -d^*$$

for d^* the L^2 adjoint. Similarly, we have an L^2 adjoint on N and $\mathcal{A}^H = -d^*d$. For a 1-form ϕ on M,

$$\int_{N} \langle \phi \circ Tp, d(g \circ p) \rangle d\mu_{N} = \int \langle d^{*}(\phi \circ Tp), g \circ p \rangle d\mu_{N}$$
$$= \int \langle \mathbf{E} \{ d^{*}(\phi \circ Tp) | p \}, g \circ p \rangle d\mu_{N}$$

Hence, $\mathbf{E}\{d^*(\phi \circ Tp)|p\} = (d^*\phi) \circ p$. Since for $u + v \in H \oplus \ker[Tp]$, $h \circ Tp(u+v) = u$, every differential form ψ on N induces a form $\phi = \psi \circ \mathfrak{h}$ such that $\psi = \phi(T\pi)$ when restricted to H, hence $\mathbf{E}\{d^*\psi\}|p\} = (d^*(\psi \circ h)) \circ p$.

2.2 On the Heisenberg Group

A Lie group is a group G with a manifold structure such that the group multiplication $G \times G \rightarrow G$ and taking inverse are smooth. Its tangent space at the identity g can be identified with left invariant vector fields on G, $X(a) = TL_a X(e)$ and we denote A^* the left invariant vector field with value A at the identity. The tangent space $T_a G$ at a can be identified with g by the derivative TL_a of the left translation map. Let $\alpha_t = \exp(tA)$ be the solution flow to the left invariant vector field $TL_a A$ whose value at 0 is the identity then it is also the flow for the corresponding right invariant vector field: $\dot{\alpha}_s = \frac{d}{dt}|_{t=s} \exp^{(t-s)A} \exp^{sA} = TR_{\alpha_s}A$. Then $u_t = a \exp(tA)$ is the solution flow through a.

Consider the Heisenberg group G whose elements are $(x, y, z) \in \mathbf{R}^3$ with group product

$$(x_1, y_1, z_1)(x_2, y_2, z_2) = (x_1 + x_2, y_1 + y_2, z_1 + z_2 + \frac{1}{2}(x_1y_2 - x_2y_1))$$

The Lie bracket operation is [(a, b, c), (a', b', c')] = (0, 0, ab' - a'b). Note that for $X, Y \in \mathfrak{g}, e^X e^Y = e^{X+Y+\frac{1}{2}[X,Y]}$. If A = (a, b, c), then $A^* = (a, b, c + \frac{1}{2}(xb - ya))$. Consider the projection $\pi : G \to \mathbb{R}^2$ where $\pi(x, y, z) = (x, y)$. Let

$$X_1(x, y, z) = \left(1, 0, -\frac{1}{2}y\right), \quad X_2(x, y, z) = \left(0, 1, \frac{1}{2}x\right),$$

$$X_3(x, y, z) = (0, 0, -1)$$

be the left invariant vector fields corresponding to the standard basis of g. The vector spaces $H_{(x,y,z)} = \text{span}\{X_1, X_2\} = \{(a, b, \frac{1}{2}(xb - ya))\}$ are of rank 2. They are the horizontal tangent spaces associated to the Laplacian $\mathcal{A} = \frac{1}{2}(\frac{\partial^2}{\partial x^2} + \frac{\partial^2}{\partial y^2})$ on \mathbb{R}^2 and the left invariant Laplacian $\mathcal{B} := \frac{1}{2}\sum_{i=1}^{3} L_{X_i}L_{X_i}$ on *G*. The vertical tangent space is $\{(0, 0, c)\}$, and there is a a horizontal lifting map from $T_{(x,y)}\mathbb{R}^2$:

$$h_{(x,y,z)}(a,b) = \left(a,b,\frac{1}{2}(xb-ya)\right).$$

The horizontal lift of \mathcal{A} is the hypo-elliptic diffusion operator $\mathcal{A}^H = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^2 L_{X_i} L_{X_i}$ and the horizontal lift of a 2-dimensional Brownian motion, the horizontal Brownian motion, has its third component the Levy area. In fact for almost surely all continuous path σ : $[0, T] \rightarrow M$ with $\sigma(0) = 0$, we have the horizontal lift curve:

$$\tilde{\sigma}(t) = \left(\sigma^1(t), \sigma^2(t), \frac{1}{2} \int_0^t \left(\sigma^1(t) \circ \mathrm{d}\sigma^2(t) - \sigma^2(t) \circ \mathrm{d}\sigma^1(t)\right)\right).$$

The hypoelliptic semi-group Q_t in \mathbf{R}^3 and the heat semigroup P_t satisfy $Q_t(f \circ \pi) = e^{\frac{1}{2}t\Delta} f \circ \pi$ and $d(e^{\frac{1}{2}t\Delta} f) = Q_t(df \circ \pi) \circ \mathfrak{h}$.

2.3 The Local Coordinate Formulation

Let *M* be a smooth Riemannian manifold and $\pi : P \to M$ a principal bundle with group *G* acting on the right, of which we are mainly interested in the case when *P* is the general linear frame bundle of *M* or the orthonormal frame bundle with *G* the special general linear group or the special orthogonal group of \mathbb{R}^n . For $A \in \mathfrak{g}$, the Lie algebra of *G*, the action of the one parameter group $\exp(tA)$ on *P* induces the fundamental vector field A^* on *P*. Let *VTP* be the vertical tangent bundle consisting of tangent vectors in the kernel of the projection $T\pi$ so the fundamental vector fields are tangent to the fibres and $A \mapsto A^*(u)$ is a linear isomorphism from \mathfrak{g} to VT_uP . At each point, a complementary space, called the horizontal space, can be assigned in a right invariant way: $HT_{ua}P = (R_a)_*HT_uP$.

For the general linear group GL(n), its Lie algebra is the vector space of all n by *n* matrices and the value at *a* of the left invariant vector field A^* is *aA*. The Lie bracket is just the matrix commutator, [A, B] = AB - BA. Every finite dimensional Lie group is homomorphic to a matrix Lie group by the adjoint map. For $a \in G$, the tangent map to the conjugation $\phi : g \in G \mapsto aga^{-1} \in G$ induces the adjoint representation ad(a) : $G \rightarrow GL(\mathfrak{g};\mathfrak{g})$. For $X \in \mathfrak{g}, \phi_*X^*(g) =$ $TL_aTR_{a^{-1}}(X(a^{-1}ga)) = TR_{a^{-1}}X(ga) = (R_{a^{-1}})_*X(g)$ and is left invariant so $ad(a)(A) = TR_{a^{-1}}X^*(a)$. The Lie bracket of two left invariant vector fields $[X^*, Y^*] = \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{t} (\exp(tY)_* X^* - X^*) = \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{t} (R_{e^{tY}})_* X^* - X^*)$ is again a left invariant vector field and this defines a Lie bracket on q by $[X, Y]^* = [X^*, Y^*]$. The Lie algebra homomorphism induced by $a \mapsto ad(a)$ is denoted by Ad : $\mathfrak{g} \rightarrow ad(a)$ $\mathfrak{gl}(n, \mathbf{R})$ is given by $\mathrm{Ad}_X(Y) = [X, Y]$. A tangent vector at $a \in G$ can be represented in a number of different ways, notably by the curves of the form $a \exp(tA)$, $\exp(tB)a$. The Lie algebra elements are related by $B = aAa^{-1} = \operatorname{ad}(a)A$ and $\frac{d}{dt}|_{t=0}A\exp(TB)A^{-1} = \operatorname{ad}(A)B$ so $A\exp(tB)A^{-1} = \exp(t\operatorname{ad}(A)B)$. The left invariant vector fields provide a parallelism of TG, and there is a canonical left invariant 1-form on G, $\omega_g(TL_g(v)) = G_e(v)$, determined by $\theta(A^*) = A$.

The collection of left invariant vector fields on *TP* forms also an algebra and the map $A \to A^*$ is a Lie-algebra isomorphism. A horizontal subspace of the tangent space to the principal bundle *TP* is determined by the kernel of a connection 1-form ω , which is a g-value differential 1-form on *P* such that (i) $\omega(A^*) = A$, for all $A \in \mathfrak{g}$, and (2) $(R_a)^*\omega = ad(a^{-1})\omega(-)$. Here, A^* refers to the *TP* valued left invariant vector field. The first condition means that the connection 1-form restricts to an isomorphism from *VTP* to \mathfrak{g} and the second is a compatibility condition following from that the fundamental vector field corresponding to $ad(a^{-1})A$ is $(R_a)_*A^*$. The kernel of ω is right invariant since $\omega_{ua}(TR_aV) = (R_a)^*\omega(V) =$ $ad(a) \omega_u(V)$ for any $V \in T_uP$.

In a local chart $\pi^{-1}(U)$ with U an open set of M and $u \in \pi^{-1}(U) \rightarrow (\pi(u), \phi(u))$ the chart map where $\phi(ua) = \phi(u)a$, the connection map satisfies $\omega_{(x,a)}(0, B^*) = B$ for B^* the left invariant vector field of G corresponding to $B \in \mathfrak{g}$ and

$$\omega_{(x,a)}(v, B^*(a)) = ad(a^{-1})(M_x v) + B$$

where $M_x : T_x M \to \mathfrak{g}$ is a linear map varying smoothly with x. The trivial connection for a product manifold $M \times G$ would correspond to a choice of M_x with M_x identically zero and so the horizontal vectors are of the form (v, 0). The horizontal tangent space at (x, a) is the linear space generated by

$$H_{(x,a)}TP = \{(v, -TR_a(M_x v)), \quad v \in T_x U, a \in G\}.$$

Given a connection on P, for every differentiable path σ_t on M, through each frame u_0 over σ_0 , there is a unique u_t which projects down to σ_t on M given by $\omega(\dot{u}_t) = 0$. In local coordinates $u_t = (\sigma_t, g_t), \omega(\dot{u}_t) = \operatorname{ad}(g_t^{-1})\omega_{(\sigma_t,e)}(\dot{\sigma}_t, TR_{g_t}^{-1}\dot{g}_t)$ and $g_t^{-1}\dot{g}_t + ad(g_t^{-1})M_{\sigma_t}\dot{\sigma}_t = 0$. If u_t is a lift of x_t , then $u_t \circ g$ is the horizontal lift of x_t through u_0g so $u_t : \pi^{-1}(\sigma_0) \to \pi^{-1}(\sigma_t)$ is an isomorphism. This formulation works for continuous paths. Consider the path of continuous paths over M and a Brownian motion measure. For almost surely all continuous paths σ_t , a horizontal curve exists, as solution to the stochastic differential equation in Stratnovitch form:

$$\mathrm{d}g_t = -M_{\sigma_t}(e_i)(g_t) \circ \mathrm{d}\sigma_t^l.$$

Here, (e_i) is an orthonormal basis of \mathbb{R}^n , and the $M.(e_i)$ s are matrices in g and the solution u_t induces a transformation from the fibre at σ_0 to the fibre at σ_t .

2.4 The Orthonormal Frame Bundle

Let N = OM be the orthonormal frame bundle with π the natural projection to a Riemannian manifold M and a right invariant Riemannian metric. Let $\mathcal{A} = \Delta$ be the Laplacian on M and \mathcal{B} the Laplacian on N. We may choose the Laplacian \mathcal{B} to be of the form $\frac{1}{2}L_{A_i^*}L_{A_i^*} + \frac{1}{2}L_{H_i}L_{H_i}$ where A_i are fundamental vector fields and $\{H_i\}$ the standard horizontal vector fields. The horizontal lifting map \mathfrak{h}_u is: $v \in$ $TM \mapsto (v, 0)$. We mention two Hörmander form representation for the horizontal lift. The first one consists of horizontal lifts of vector fields that defines \mathcal{A} . The second one is more canonical. Let $\{B(e), e \in \mathbb{R}^n\}$ be the standard horizontal vector fields on OM determined by $\theta(B(e)) = e$ where θ is the canonical form of OM, that is $T\pi[B(e)(u)] = u(e)$. Take an orthonormal basis of \mathbb{R}^n and obtaining never vanishing vector fields $H_i =: B(e_i)$, then $\mathcal{A}^H = \sum L_{H_i} L_{H_i}$ and \mathcal{A}^H is called the horizontal Laplacian. The two heat semigroups Q_t , upstairs, and P_t intertwine: $Q_t(f \circ \pi) = P_t f \circ \pi$. Let us observe that if Q_t^H is the semigroup corresponding to horizontal Laplacian \mathcal{A}^H , since $dQ_t f \circ T\pi$ annihilates the vertical bundle, Q_t^H $(f \circ \pi) = Q_t(f \circ \pi)$ and Q_t^H restricts to a semigroup on the set of bounded measurable functions of the form $f \circ \pi$.

Denote by the semi-group corresponding to the Laplace–Beltrami operators by the same letters with the supscript one indicates the semi-group on 1-forms, then $dP_t f = P_t^1 d$ and $dQ_t = Q_t^1 d$, which follows from that the exterior differentiation d

and the Laplace-Beltrami operator commute. Now

$$d(P_t f \circ \pi) = d(P_t f) \circ T\pi = P_t^1(\mathrm{d} f) \circ T\pi.$$

Similarly, $d(Q_t(f \circ \pi)) = Q_t^1(df \circ T\pi)$. Now, we represent Q_t by the horizontal diffusion which does not satisfy the commutation relation: $d\mathcal{A}^H \neq \mathcal{A}^H d$ in general. Let \bar{W}_t be the solution to a differential equation involving the Weitzenbock curvature operator, see Proposition 3.4.5 in [11], $\bar{W}_t //_t = W_t$ where $\frac{d}{dt} \bar{W}_t = -\frac{1}{2}u_t^{-1} \operatorname{Ric}^{\#}(u_t \bar{W}_t)$.

$$d(Q_t^H f \circ \pi)(\mathfrak{h} v) = d(P_t f)(v) = \operatorname{Ed} f(\overline{W}_t u_t \circ u_0^{-1}(v)),$$

the formula as we explained in the introduction, after conditioning the derivative flow. Note also that $d(Q_t^H(f \circ \pi)) = d(P_t f \circ \pi) = dP_t f \circ T\pi$ and

$$d(P_t f)(-) = Q_t (\mathrm{d} f \circ T \pi)(\mathfrak{h} -).$$

3 Examples

3.1 Diffusions on the Euclidean Space

Take the example that $N = \mathbf{R}^2$ and $M = \mathbf{R}$. Any elliptic diffusion operators on M is of the form $a(x)\frac{d^2}{dx^2}$ and a diffusion operator on N is of the form $\mathcal{B} = a(x, y)\frac{d^2}{dx^2} + d(x, y)\frac{d^2}{dy^2} + c(x, y)\frac{d^2}{dxdy}$ with $4ad > c^2$ and a > 0. Now, \mathcal{B} is over \mathcal{A} implies that a(x, y) = a(x) for all y. If a, b, c are constants, a change of variable of the form x = u and $y = (c/2\sqrt{a})u + v$ transforms \mathcal{B} to $a^2\frac{\partial^2}{\partial u^2} + (d-c^2/4a)\frac{\partial^2}{\partial v^2}$. In this local coordinates, \mathcal{B} and \mathcal{A} have a trivial projective relation. In general, we may seek a diffeomorphism $\Phi : (x, y) \mapsto (u, v)$ so that Φ intertwines \mathcal{B} and $\tilde{\mathcal{B}}$ where $\tilde{\mathcal{B}}$ is the sum of $a^2\frac{\partial^2}{\partial u^2}$ and an operator of the form $\frac{\partial^2}{\partial v^2}$. This calculation is quite messy. However, according to the theory in [11], the horizontal lifting map

$$v \mapsto \sigma^{\mathcal{B}}(Tp)^*(\sigma^{\mathcal{A}})^{-1}(v) = \sigma^{\mathcal{B}}\left(\frac{v}{a}, 0\right)^T = \begin{pmatrix} a & \frac{c}{2} \\ \frac{c}{2} & d \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{v}{a} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} = \left(v, \frac{c}{2a}v\right)$$

where $p: (x, y) \to x$ and Tp is the derivative map and $(Tp)^*$ is the corresponding adjoint map. Hence, the lifting of \mathcal{A} , as the square of the lifting $\sqrt{a} \frac{d}{dx}$ gives $\sqrt{a} \left(\frac{d}{dx} + \frac{c}{2a} \frac{d}{dy}\right)$ and resulting the completion of the square procedure and the splitting of \mathcal{B} :

$$\mathcal{B} = a \left(\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}x} + \frac{c}{2a} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}y} \right)^2 + \left(d - \frac{c^2}{4a} \right) \frac{\mathrm{d}^2}{\mathrm{d}y^2}.$$

This procedure trivially generalises to multidimensional case $p : \mathbf{R}^{n+p} \to \mathbf{R}^n$ with p(x, y) = x. If $\pi : \mathbf{R}^N \to \mathbf{R}^m$ is a surjective smooth map not necessarily of the form p(x, y) = x, we may try to find two diffeomorphisms ψ on \mathbf{R}^N and ϕ on \mathbf{R}^m and so that $p = \phi \circ \pi \psi^{-1}$ if of simple form. The diffusion operators \mathcal{B} and \mathcal{A} induce two operators $\tilde{\mathcal{B}}$ and $\tilde{\mathcal{A}}$. If \mathcal{B} and \mathcal{A} are intertwining, then so are $\tilde{\mathcal{B}}$ and $\tilde{\mathcal{A}}$. Indeed from

$$\begin{split} \tilde{\mathcal{B}}(gp)(y)) &= \mathcal{B}(gp \circ \psi)(\psi^{-1}(y)) = \mathcal{B}(g \circ \phi\pi)(\psi^{-1}(y)) \\ &= \mathcal{A}(g \circ \phi)(\pi\psi^{-1}(y)) = \mathcal{A}(g \circ \phi)(\phi^{-1}p(y)) = \tilde{\mathcal{A}}g(p(y)) \end{split}$$

This transformation is again not necessary because of the for-mentioned theorem.

In general, [11], if $p: \mathbf{R}^n \times \mathbf{R} \to \mathbf{R}^n$ is the trivial projection and \mathcal{B} is defined by

$$\mathcal{B}g(x,y) = \sigma^{ij}(x)\frac{\partial^2 g}{\partial x_i \partial x_j} + \sum b^k(x,y)\frac{\partial^2 g}{\partial y \partial x_k} + c(x,y)\frac{\partial^2 g}{\partial y^2}$$

with $a = (a_{ij})$ symmetric positive definite and of constant rank, $[b(x, y)]^T b(x, y) \le c(x, y)a(x)$, there is a horizontal lift induced by \mathcal{B} and $\sigma^{ij}(x)\frac{\partial^2 g}{\partial x_i \partial x_j}$ given by

$$h_{(x,y)}(v) = (v, \langle a(x)^{-1}b, v \rangle).$$

Or even more generally, if $p : \mathbf{R}^{m+p+q} \to \mathbf{R}^{m+p}$ with \mathcal{A} a $(m+p) \times (m+p)$ matrix and B a $(m+p) \times q$ matrix and C a $q \times q$ matrix with each column of B(x, y) in the image of \mathcal{A} , the horizontal lift map is $h_{(x,y)}(v) = (v, B^T(x, y)A^{-1}v)$.

3.2 The SDE Example and the Associated Connection

Consider SDE (1). For each $y \in M$, define the linear map $X(y)(e) : \mathbf{R}^m \to T_y M$ by $X(y)(e) = \sum_{i=1}^m X_i(y) \langle e, e_i \rangle$. Let $Y(y) : T_y M \to [\ker X(y)]^{\perp}$ be the right inverse to X(y). The symbol of the generator \mathcal{A} is $\sigma_y^{\mathcal{A}} = \frac{1}{2}X(y)X(y)^*$, which induces a Riemannian metric on the manifold in the elliptic case, and a sub-Riemannian metric in the case of $\sigma^{\mathcal{A}}$ being of constant rank.

This map X also induces an affine connection $\check{\nabla}$, which we called the LW connection, on the tangent bundle which is compatible with the Riemannian metric it induced as below. If $v \in T_{v_0}M$ is a tangent vector and $U \in \Gamma TM$ a vector field,

$$(\check{\nabla}_v U)(y_0) = X(y_0)D(Y(y)U(y))(v).$$

At each point $y \in M$, the linear map

$$X(y): \mathbf{R}^m = \ker X(y) \oplus [\ker X(y)]^{\perp} \to T_y M$$

...

induces a direct sum decomposition of \mathbb{R}^m . The connection defined above is a metric connection with the property that

$$\check{\nabla}_v X(e) \equiv 0, \quad \forall e \in [\ker X(y_0)]^\perp, v \in T_{y_0} M.$$

This connection is the adjoint connection by the induced diffusion pair on the general linear frame bundle mentioned earlier. See [9] where it is stated any metric connection on M can be defined through an SDE, using Narasimhan and Ramanan's universal connection.

3.3 The Sphere Example

Consider the inclusion $i : S^n \to \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$. The tangent space to $T_x S^n$ for $x \in S^n$ is of the form:

$$T_x S^n = \{ v : \langle x, v \rangle = 0 \}, \qquad \langle u, v \rangle_x = \langle u, v \rangle_{\mathbf{R}^{n+1}}.$$

Let P_x be the orthogonal projection of \mathbf{R}^n to $T_x S^n$:

$$P_x: e \in \mathbf{R}^{n+1} \mapsto e - \langle e, x \rangle \frac{x}{|x|^2}.$$

This induces the vector fields $X_i(x) = P_x(e_i)$ and the gradient SDE

$$\mathrm{d}x_t = \sum_{i=1}^m P_{x_t}(e_i) \circ \mathrm{d}B_t^i.$$

For a vector field $U \in \Gamma TS^n$ on S^n and a tangent vector $v \in T_x S^n$, define the Levi–Civita connection as following:

$$\nabla_v U := P_x((DU)_x(v))$$

= $(DU)_x(v) - \langle (DU)_x(v), x \rangle \frac{x}{|x|^2}.$

The term

$$\langle (DU)_x(v), x \rangle \frac{x}{|x|^2}$$

is actually tensorial since $\langle (DU)_x(v), x \rangle = \langle U, v \rangle$ and hence defines the Christoffel symbols Γ_{ii}^k , where

$$\nabla_{e_i} e_j = \Gamma_{ij}^k, \qquad (\nabla_v U)^k = D_v U^v + \Gamma_{ij}^k v_i u_j.$$

Solution to gradient SDE are BMs since $\nabla_{X_i} X_i = 0$ as observed by Itô. From tensorial property, get Gauss and Weingarten's formula,

$$(DU)_{x}(v) = \nabla_{v}U + \alpha_{x}(Z(x), v), \quad v \in T_{x}M, U \in \Gamma TM$$

$$(D\xi)_{x}(v) - A(\xi(x), v) + [(D\xi)_{x}(v)]^{v}, \quad \xi \in vM$$

For $e \in \mathbf{R}^m$, write $e = P_x(e) + e^{\nu}(x)$ and obtain

$$D_v[P_x(e)] + D_v[e^v] = 0.$$

Take the tangential part of all terms in the above equation to see that

if
$$e \in [\ker X(x_0)]^{\perp}$$
, $\nabla_v[P_x(e)] = A(v, e^v(x_0)) = 0$.

3.4 The Pairs of SDEs Example and Decomposition of Noise

In general, if we have $p: N \to M$ and the bundle maps $\tilde{X}: N \times \mathbf{R}^m \to TN$ and $X: M \times \mathbf{R}^m \to TM$ are *p*-related: $Tp\tilde{X}(u) = X(p(u))$, let $y_t = p(u_t)$ for u_t the solution to

$$\mathrm{d} u_t = \tilde{X}(u_t) \circ \mathrm{d} B_t + \tilde{X}_0(u_t) \mathrm{d} t.$$

Then, y_t satisfies

$$\mathrm{d}y_t = X(y_t) \circ \mathrm{d}B_t + X_0(y_t)\mathrm{d}t.$$

Consider the orthogonal projections at each $y \in M$,

$$\begin{split} &K^{\perp}(y) : \mathbf{R}^m \to [\ker X(y)]^{\perp}, \qquad K^{\perp}(y) := Y(y)X(y) \\ &K(y) : \mathbf{R}^m \to \ker[X(y)], \qquad \qquad K(y) := I - Y(y)X(y). \end{split}$$

Then

$$dy_t = X(y_t)K^{\perp}(y_t) \circ dB_t + X_0(y_t)dt$$
(5)

where the term $K^{\perp}(y_t) \circ dB_t$ captures the noise in y_t .

To find the conditional law of y_t , we express the SDE for u_t use the term $K^{\perp}(y_t) \circ dB_t$. For a suitable stochastic parallel translation [11] that preserves the splitting of \mathbf{R}^m as the kernel and orthogonal kernel of X(y), define two independent Brownian motions

$$B_t^{\perp} := \int_0^s //_t^{-1} K^{\perp}(p(u_t)) \mathrm{d}B_t$$

$$\beta_s := \int_0^s //_t^{-1} K(p(u_t)) \circ \mathrm{d}B_t.$$

See also [10,12]. Assume now the parallel translation on $[\ker X(x)]^{\perp}$ is that given in Sect. 3.2. Since $dx_t = X(x_t)K^{\perp}(x_t) \circ dB_t + X_0(x_t)dt$, the following filtrations are equal:

$$\sigma\{x_u: 0 \le u \le s\} = \sigma\{B_u^{\perp}: 0 \le u \le s\}.$$

The horizontal lifting map induced by the pair $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B})$ is given as following:

$$\mathfrak{h}_u(v) = X(u)Y(\pi(u)v), \qquad u \in T_{p(u)}M.$$

From which we obtain the horizontal lift $X^H(u)$ of the bundle map X:

$$X^H(u) = \tilde{X}(u)K^{\perp}(p(u))$$

and it follows that

$$du_t = \tilde{X}(u_t)K^{\perp}(p(u_t)) \circ dB_t + \tilde{X}(u_t)K(p(u_t)) \circ dB_t + \tilde{X}_0(u_t)dt$$

= $X^H(u_t) \circ dB_t + \tilde{X}(u_t)K(p(u_t)) \circ dB_t + \tilde{X}_0(u_t)dt$
= $h_{u_t} \circ dx_t + \tilde{X}(u_t)K(p(u_t)) \circ dB_t + (\tilde{X}_0 - X_0^H)(u_t)dt$

If this equation is linear in u_t , it is possible to compute the conditional expectation of u_t with respect to $\sigma\{x_u : 0 \le u \le s\}$ as in the derivative flow case (Sect. 2.8 below). This discussion is continued at the end of the article.

3.5 The Diffeomorphism Group Example

If *M* is a compact smooth manifold and *X* is smooth we may consider an equation on the space of smooth diffeomorphisms Diff(M). Define $\tilde{X}(f)(x) = X(f(x))$ and $\tilde{X}_0(f)(x) = X_0(f(x))$ and consider the SDE on Diff(M):

$$\mathrm{d}f_t = \tilde{X}(f_t) \circ \mathrm{d}B_t + \tilde{X}_0(f_t)\mathrm{d}t$$

with $f_0(x) = x$. Then, $f_t(x)$ is solution to $dx_t = X(x_t) \circ dB_t$ with initial point x. Fix $x_0 \in M$, we have a map θ : Diff $(M) \to M$ given by $\theta(f) = f(x_0)$. Let

 $\mathcal{B} = \frac{1}{2} L_{\tilde{X}_i} L_{\tilde{X}_i}$ and $\mathcal{A} = \frac{1}{2} L_{X_i} L_{X_i}$. Then,

$$h_f(v)(x) = X(f) \left(Y(f(x_0))v \right)(x) = X(f(x))(Y(f(x_0))v)$$

3.6 The Twist Effect

Consider the polar coordinates in \mathbb{R}^n , with the origin removed. Consider the conditional expectation of a Brownian motion W_t on \mathbb{R}^n on $|W_t|$ where $|W_t|$, and *n*-dimensional Bessel Process, n > 1, lives in \mathbb{R}_+ . For n = 2, we are in the situation that $p : \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}$ given by $p : (r, \theta) \mapsto r$. The \mathcal{B} and \mathcal{A} diffusion are the Laplacians, $\mathcal{A}^H = \frac{\partial^2}{\partial r^2}$. The map $p(r, \theta) = r^2$ would result the lifting map $v \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \mapsto (\frac{v}{2r}, 0) = \frac{v}{2r} \frac{\partial}{\partial r}$.
At this stage, we note that if B_t is a one dimensional Brownian motion, l_t the local time at 0 of B_t and $Y_t = |B_t| + \ell_t$, a 3-dimensional Bessel process starting from 0. There is the following beautiful result of Pitman:

$$E\{f(|B_t|)|\sigma(Y_s:s\leq t)\} = \int_0^1 f(xY_t)\mathrm{d}x = Vf(Y_t)$$

where *V* is the Markov kernel: $V(x, dz) = \frac{1_{0 \le z \le x}}{x} dz$ [2,21]. A second example, [11], which demonstrates the twist effect is on the product space of the circle. Let $p: S^1 \times S^1 \to S^1$ be the projection on the first factor. For $0 < \alpha < \frac{\pi}{4}$, define the diffusion operator on $S^1 \times S^1$:

$$\mathcal{B} = \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\partial^2}{\partial x^2} + \frac{\partial^2}{\partial y^2} \right) + \tan \alpha \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x \partial y}.$$

and the diffusion operator $\mathcal{A} = \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x^2}$ on S^1 . Then,

$$\mathcal{B}^{V} = \frac{1}{2} (1 - (\tan \alpha)^{2}) \frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial y^{2}}$$
$$\mathcal{A}^{H} = \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial x^{2}} + (\tan \alpha)^{2} \frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial y^{2}} \right) + \tan \alpha \frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial x \partial y}.$$

Applications 4

4.1 Parallel Translation

Let P = GLM, the space of linear frames on M with an assignment of metrics on the fibres. The connection on P is said to be metric if the parallel translation preserves the metric on the fibres. A connection on P reduces to a connection on the sub-bundle of oriented orthonormal frame bundles OM, i.e. the horizontal lifting belongs to OM if and only if it is metric. Let $F = P \times \mathbf{R}^n / \sim$ be the associated vector bundle determined by the equivalent relation $[u, e] \sim [ug, g^{-1}e]$ hence the vector bundle is $\{ue\}$ where $e \in \mathbf{R}^n, u \in P$. A section of F corresponds to a vector field over M. A parallel translation is induced on TM in the obvious way and given a connection on P let H(e) be the standard horizontal vector field such that $H(e)_u$ is the horizontal lift through u of the vector u(e). If $e \neq 0$, H(e) are never vanishing vector fields such that $TR_a(H(e)) = H(a^{-1}e)$. The fundamental vector fields generated by a basis of $gl(n, \mathbf{R})$ and $H(e_i)$ for e_i a basis of \mathbf{R}^n forms a basis of TP at any point and gives a global parallelism on TP.

If we have a curve σ_t with $\sigma_0 = x$ and $\dot{\sigma}_0 = v$,

$$\nabla_{v} Y = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \frac{1}{\varepsilon} [//_{\varepsilon}^{-1} Y(\sigma_{\varepsilon}) - Y(x)].$$

Alternatively, $\nabla_X Y(x) = u_0(\tilde{X}f)$ where \tilde{X} is a horizontal lift of $X, f: P \to \mathbb{R}^n$ is defined by $f(u) = u^{-1}[Y(\pi(u))]$ and

$$\tilde{X}f(u_0) = \lim_{h \to 0} \frac{1}{h} (u_h^{-1} Y(\sigma_h) - u_0^{-1} Y(x))$$

for u_h a horizontal lift of x_t starting from u_0 . Note that the linear maps $M_x(e)$ which define the connection form on *TP* are skew symmetric in the case of P = OM and determine the Christoffel symbols. A vector field Y is horizontal along a curve σ_t if $\nabla_{\dot{\sigma}(t)}Y = \lim_{h\to 0} \frac{1}{h} [//_h^{-1} Y(\sigma_h) - Y(x)] = 0$. Define the curvature form to be the 2-form $\Omega(-, -) := d\omega(P_h -, P_h -)$ where P_h is the projection to the horizontal space. Then, the horizontal part of the Lie bracket of two horizontal vector fields X, Y is the horizontal lift of $[\pi(X), \pi(Y)]$ and its vertical part is determined by $\omega([X, Y]) = -2\Omega(X, Y)$.

The horizontal lift map u_t can also be thought of solutions to:

$$\mathrm{d} u_t = \sum H(e_i)(u_t) \circ \, \mathrm{d} \sigma_t.$$

In fact, if \dot{v}_t is the horizontal lift of $\dot{\sigma}_t$, $\dot{v}_t = \sum_{i=1}^n \langle \dot{\sigma}_t, e_i \rangle H(e_i)(\tilde{\sigma}_t)$. Note that, $//_t(\sigma)$ is not a solution to a Markovian equation, the pair $(//_t(\sigma), u_t)$ is. In local coordinates for v_t^i the ith component of $//_t(\sigma)(v), v \in T_{\sigma_0}M$,

$$\mathrm{d}v_t^k = -\Gamma_{i,j}^k(\sigma_t)v_t^j \circ \mathrm{d}\sigma_t^i. \tag{6}$$

If σ_t is the solution of the SDE $dx_t^k = X_i^k(x_t) \circ dB_t^i + X_0^k(x_t)dt$, then

$$dv_t^k = -\Gamma_{i,j}^k(x_t)v_t^j X_i^k(x_t) \circ dB_t^i - \Gamma_{i,j}^k(x_t)v_t^j X_0^k(x_t) dt.$$

4.2 How Does the Choice of Connection Help in the Case of the Derivative Flow?

One may wonder why a choice of a linear connection removes a martingale term in a SDE? The answer is that it does not and what it does is the careful choice of a matrix which transforms the original objects of interest. Recall the differentiation formula:

$$d(P_t f)(v) = \operatorname{Ed} f(X_t^v)$$

where for each t, X_t^v is a vector field with X(x) = v. The choice of X_t^v is by no means unique. Both the derivative flows and the damped parallel translations are valid choices and the linear connection which is intrinsic to the SDE leads to the correct choice. To make this plain, let us now consider \mathbf{R}^n as a trivial manifold with the non-trivial Riemannian metric and affine connection induced by X. In components, let U_i be functions on \mathbb{R}^n and $U = (U_1, \dots, U_n)$ and $x_0, v \in \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$(\check{\nabla}_v U)_k(x_0) = (DU_k)_{x_0}(v) + \sum_j \langle X(x_0) D(Y(x)(e_j), e_k) \langle v \rangle U_j e_k$$

The last term determines the Christoffel symbols, c.f. [13].

Given a vector field along a continuous curve, there is the stochastic covariant differentiation defined for almost surely all paths, given by $\hat{D}V_t = \hat{/}_t \frac{d}{dt} (\hat{/}_t)^{-1} V_t$ where $\hat{/}_t$ is the stochastic parallel translation using the connection $\hat{\nabla}$, the adjoint connection to $\tilde{\nabla}$ to take into account of the torsion effect. Alternatively,

$$(\hat{D}V_t)^k = \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}V_t^k + \Gamma_{ji}^k(\sigma_t)V_t^j \circ \mathrm{d}\sigma_t^i.$$

The derivative flow $V_t = T\xi_t(v_0)$ satisfies the SDE:

$$\hat{D}V_t = \check{\nabla}X_j(V_t) \circ \mathrm{d}B_t^j + \check{\nabla}X_0(V_t)\mathrm{d}t.$$

Let $\overline{V}_t = \mathbf{E}\{V_t | x_s : 0 \le s \le T\}$. Then,

$$\hat{D}\bar{V}_t = -\frac{1}{2}(\check{\operatorname{Ric}})^{\#}(\bar{V}_t)\mathrm{d}t + \nabla X_0(\bar{V}_t)\mathrm{d}t.$$

In the setting of the Wiener space Ω and $\mathcal{I} = \xi(x_0)$ the Itô map, let $V_t = T\mathcal{I}_t(h)$ for *h* a Cameron Martin vector then

$$\hat{D}V_t = \breve{\nabla}X_j(V_t) \circ \mathrm{d}B_t^j + \breve{\nabla}X_0(V_t)\mathrm{d}t + X(x_t)(\dot{h}_t)\mathrm{d}t$$

and the corresponding conditional expectation of the vector field V_t satisfies

$$\hat{D}\bar{V}_t = -\frac{1}{2}(\breve{\operatorname{Ric}})^{\#}(\bar{V}_t)\mathrm{d}t + \breve{\nabla}X_0(\bar{V}_t)\mathrm{d}t + X(x_t)(\dot{h}_t)\mathrm{d}t$$

This means, $\hat{l}_t^{-1} \bar{V}_t$ is differentiable in t and hence a Cameron–Martin vector and \bar{V}_t is the induced Bismut-tangent vector by parallel translation.

4.3 A Word About the Stochastic Filtering Problem

Consider the filtering problem for a one dimensional signal process x(t) transmitted through a noise channel

$$dx_t = \alpha(x_t)dt + \sigma \ dW_t$$
$$dy_t = \beta(x_t)dt + \sqrt{a}dB_t$$

where B_t and W_t are independent Brownian motions. The problem is to find the probability density of x(t) conditioned on the observation process y(t) which is closely associated to the following horizontal lifting problem.

Let \mathcal{B} and \mathcal{A} be intertwined diffusion operators. Consider the martingale problems on the path spaces, $C_{u_0}N$ and $C_{y_0}M$, on N and M, respectively. Let u_t and y_t be the canonical process on N and on M, assumed to exist for all time, so that for $f \in C_c^{\infty}(M)$ and $g \in C_c^{\infty}(N)$

$$M_t^{\mathrm{d}f,\mathcal{A}} := f(y_t) - f(y_0) - \int_0^t \mathcal{A}f(y_s) \mathrm{d}s$$
$$M_t^{\mathrm{d}g,\mathcal{B}} := g(u_t) - g(u_0) - \int_0^t \mathcal{B}g(u_s) \mathrm{d}s$$

are martingales. For a $\sigma \{y_s : 0 \le s \le t\}$ -predictable T^*M -valued process ϕ_t which is along, y_t we could also define a local martingale $M_t^{\phi,A}$ by

$$\langle M_t^{\phi,\mathcal{A}}, M_t^{\mathrm{d}f,\mathcal{A}} \rangle = 2 \int_0^t \mathrm{d}f(\sigma^{\mathcal{A}}(\phi))(y_s)\mathrm{d}s.$$

It is also denoted by

$$M_t^{\phi,\mathcal{A}} \equiv \int_0^t \phi_s d\{y_s\}.$$

The conditional law of u_t given y_t is given by integration against function f from N to **R**, define

$$\pi_t f(u_0)(\sigma) = \mathbf{E} \Big\{ f(u_t) | p(u_0) = \sigma \Big\}.$$
(7)

This conditional expectation is defined for $P_{p(u_0)}^{\mathcal{A}}$, the \mathcal{A} diffusion measures, almost surely all σ and extends to $\phi_t \circ h_{u_t}$ for ϕ_t as before and *h* the horizontal lifting map. The following is from Theorem 4.5.1 in [11].

Theorem 1. If f is C^2 with $\mathcal{B}f$ and $\sigma^{\mathcal{B}}(df, df) \circ \mathfrak{h}$ bounded, then

$$\pi_t f(u_0) = f(u_0) + \int_0^t \pi_s(\mathcal{B}f)(u_0) \mathrm{d}s + \int_0^t \pi_s(\mathrm{d}f \circ h_{u_{\cdot}})(u_0) d\{y_s\}.$$
 (8)

To see this holds, taking conditional expectation of the following equation:

$$f(u_t) = f(u_0) + \int_0^t \mathcal{B}f(u_s) \mathrm{d}s + M_t^{\mathrm{d}f,\mathcal{B}}$$

and use the following theorem, Proposition 4.3.5 in [11],

$$\mathbf{E}\{M_t^{\mathrm{d}f,\mathcal{B}}|p(u.)=x.\}=M_t^{\mathbf{E}\{\mathrm{d}f\circ h_{u_s}|p(u.)=x.\},\mathcal{A}}.$$

In the case that $p: M \times M_0 \to M$ is the trivial projection of the product manifold to M, let \mathcal{A} be a cohesive diffusion operator on M, \mathbb{E} the diffusion generator on M_0 , and $u_t = (y_t, x_t)$ a \mathcal{B} diffusion. If x_t is a Markov process with generator \mathcal{L} and \mathcal{B} a coupling of \mathcal{L} and \mathcal{A} , by which we mean that \mathcal{B} is intertwined with \mathcal{L} and \mathcal{A} by the projections p_i to the first or the second coordinates, there is a bilinear $\Gamma^{\mathcal{B}}: T^*M \times T^*M_0 \to \mathbf{R}$ such that

$$\mathcal{B}(g_1 \otimes g_2)(x, y) = (\mathcal{L}g_1)(x)g_2(y) + g_1(x)(\mathcal{A}g_2)(y) + \Gamma^{\mathcal{B}}((\mathrm{d}g_1)_x, (\mathrm{d}g_2)_y)$$
(9)

where $g_1 \otimes g_2 : M \times M_0 \to \mathbf{R}$ denotes the map $(x, y) \mapsto g_1(x)g_2(y)$ and g_1, g_2 are C^2 . In fact, $\Gamma^{\mathcal{B}}((\mathrm{d}g_1)_x, (\mathrm{d}g_2)_y) = \sigma^{\mathcal{B}}_{(x,y)}(\mathrm{d}\tilde{g}_1, \mathrm{d}\tilde{g}_2)$ where $\tilde{g}_i = g(p_i)$. Then, $\sigma^{\mathcal{B}} : T^*M_1 \times T^*M_2 \to TM_1 \times TM_2$ is of the following form. For $\ell_1 \in T^*_x M_1$, $\ell_2 \in T^*_y M_2$

$$\sigma^B_{(x,y)}(\ell_1,\ell_2) = \begin{pmatrix} \sigma^L_x & \sigma^{1,2}_{(x,y)} \\ \sigma^{2,1}_{(x,y)} & \sigma^\mathcal{A}_x \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \ell_1 \\ \ell_2 \end{pmatrix}.$$

The horizontal lifting map is given by

$$v \mapsto (v, \alpha \circ (\sigma^{\mathcal{A}})^{-1}(v))$$

where $\alpha : T_x M^* \to T_y M_0$ are defined by

$$\ell_2(\alpha(\ell_1)) = \frac{1}{2} \Gamma^{\mathcal{B}}(\ell_1, \ell_2).$$

In the theorem above, take $1 \otimes f$ to see that $\pi_s \mathcal{B}(1 \otimes f)$ reduces to $\mathcal{L}f$ and the filtering equation is:

$$\pi_t f(x_0) = f(x_0) + \int_0^t \pi_s(\mathcal{L}f)(x_0) ds + \int_0^t \pi_s(df(\alpha \circ (\sigma^{\mathcal{A}})^{-1}))(x_0) d\{y_s\}.$$

The case of non-Markovian observation when the non-Makovian factor is introduced through the drift equation for the noise process y_t can be dealt with through a Girsanov transformation. See [11] for detail. Finally, we note that the field of stochastic filtering is vast and deep, and we did not and would not attempt to give historical references as they deserve. However, we would like to mention a recent development [3] which explore the geometry of the signal-observation system. See also [12, 14, 15] and recent work of T. Kurtz.

Acknowledgements This article is based on the books [9,11] and could and should be considered as joint work with K.D. Elworthy and Y. LeJan and I would like to thank them for helpful discussions. However, any short comings and errors are my sole responsibility. This research is supported by an EPSRC grant (EP/E058124/1).

References

- 1. Anderson, A., Camporesi, R.: Intertwining operators for solving differential equations, with applications to symmetric spaces. Commun. Math. Phys. **130**, 61–82 (1990)
- 2. Carmona, P., Petit, F., Yor, M.: Beta-gamma random variables and intertwining relations between certain Markov processes. Revista Matematica Iberoamericana **14**(2) (1998)
- Crisan, D., Kouritzin, M., Xiong, J.: Nonlinear filtering with signal dependent observation noise. Electron. J. Probab. 14(63), 1863–1883 (2009)
- 4. Driver, B.K., Thalmaier, A.: Heat equation derivative formulas for vector bundles. J. Funct. Anal. **183**(1), 42–108 (2001)
- 5. Driver, B.K., Melcher, T.: Hypoelliptic heat kernel inequalities on the Heisenberg group. J. Funct. Anal. **221**(2), 340–365 (2005)
- Elworthy, K.D.: Geometric aspects of diffusions on manifolds. In: Hennequin, P.L. (ed.) Ecole d'Eté de Probabilités de Saint-Flour XV-XVII, 1985–1987. Lecture Notes in Mathematics 1362, vol. 1362, pp. 276–425. Springer (1988)
- Elworthy, K.D., Yor, M.: Conditional expectations for derivatives of certain stochastic flows. In: Azéma, J., Meyer, P.A., Yor, M. (eds.) Sem. de Prob. XXVII. Lecture Notes in Maths. 1557, pp. 159–172. Springer (1993)
- Elworthy, K.D., LeJan, Y., Li, X.-M.: Concerning the geometry of stochastic differential equations and stochastic flows. In: Elworthy, K.D., Kusuoka, S., Shigekawa, I. (eds.) 'New Trends in stochastic Analysis', Proc. Taniguchi Symposium, Sept. 1994, Charingworth. World Scientific Press (1996)
- 9. Elworthy, K.D., LeJan, Y., Li, X.-M.: On the geometry of diffusion operators and stochastic flows, Lecture Notes in Mathematics 1720. Springer (1999)
- Elworthy, K.D., Le Jan, Y., Li, X.-M.: Equivariant diffusions on principal bundles. In: Stochastic analysis and related topics in Kyoto, vol. 41 of Adv. Stud. Pure Math., pp. 31–47. Math. Soc. Japan, Tokyo (2004)
- 11. Elworthy, K.D., Le Jan, Y., Li, X.-M.: The Geometry of Filtering. To appear in Frontiers in Mathematics Series, Birkhauser
- 12. Kunita, H.: Cauchy problem for stochastic partial differential equations arising in nonlinear filtering theory. Syst. Control Lett. **1**(1), 37–41 (1981/1982)
- LeJan, Y., Watanabe, S.: Stochastic flows of diffeomorphisms. In: Stochastic analysis (Katata/Kyoto, 1982), North-Holland Math. Library, 32, pp. 307–332. North-Holland, Amsterdam (1984)
- Lázaro-Camí, J., Ortega, J.: Reduction, reconstruction, and skew-product decomposition of symmetric stochastic differential equations. Stoch. Dyn. 9(1), 1–46 (2009)
- Liao, M.: Factorization of diffusions on fibre bundles. Trans. Am. Math. Soc. 311(2), 813–827 (1989)
- 16. Li, X.-M.: Stochastic flows on noncompact manifolds. Thesis, University Of Warwick (1992) http://www.xuemei.org/Xue-Mei.Li-thesis.pdf
- 17. Li, X.-M.: Stochastic differential equations on non-compact manifolds: moment stability and its topological consequences. Probab. Theory Relat. Fields. **100**(4), 417–428 (1994)
- Li, X.-M.: Strong p-completeness of stochastic differential equations and the existence of smooth flows on non-compact manifolds. Probab. Theory Relat. Fields 100(4), 485–511 (1994)
- 19. Li, X.-M.: On extensions of Myers' theorem. Bull. London Math. Soc. 27, 392–396 (1995)
- 20. Norris, J.R.: Path integral formulae for heat kernels and their derivatives. Probab. Theory Relat. Fields **94**, 525–541 (1993)
- 21. Pitman, J.: One dimensional Brownian motion and the three dimensional Bessel process. Adv. Appl. Probab. **7**, 511–526 (1975)
- 22. Thalmaier, A., Wang, F.: Gradient estimates for harmonic functions on regular domains in Riemannian manifolds. J. Funct. Anal. **155**, 109–124 (1998)

Efficient and Practical Implementations of Cubature on Wiener Space

Lajos Gergely Gyurkó and Terry J. Lyons

Abstract This paper explores and implements high-order numerical schemes for integrating linear parabolic partial differential equations with piece-wise smooth boundary data. The high-order Monte-Carlo methods we present give extremely accurate approximations in computation times that we believe are comparable with much less accurate finite difference and basic Monte-Carlo schemes.

A key step in these algorithms seems to be that the order of the approximation is tuned to the accuracy one requires. A considerable improvement in efficiency can be attained by using ultra high-order cubature formulae. Lyons and Victoir (Cubature on Wiener Space [19]) give a degree 5 approximation of Brownian motion. We extend this cubature to degrees 9 and 11 in 1-dimensional space-time. The benefits are immediately apparent.

Keywords Stochastic differential equation \cdot Numerical solution \cdot Weak approximation \cdot Cubature \cdot Wiener space \cdot Expected signature \cdot High order

MSC (2010): 65C05, 65C30, 65M75, 91G60

1 Introduction

In this paper, we provide practical tools based on the Kusuoka–Lyons–Victoir (KLV) family of numerical methods for integrating solutions to partial differential equations that occur in mathematical finance and many other fields. These KLV methods, with the refinements of recombination, offer considerable potential for numerically solving partial differential equations. However, until now, these methods have only been implemented using at most a seventh order cubature formula, and more generally a fifth order cubature. A more detailed analysis shows that

© Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2011

L.G. Gyurkó and T.J. Lyons (🖂)

Mathematical Institute, University of Oxford, 24-29 St Giles', Oxford, OX1 3LB, UK and

Oxford-Man Institute, University of Oxford, Eagle House, Walton Well Road, Oxford, OX2 6ED, UK

e-mail: tlyons@maths.ox.ac.uk, gyurko@maths.ox.ac.uk

D. Crisan (ed.), Stochastic Analysis 2010, DOI 10.1007/978-3-642-15358-7_5,

the maximum benefit of the method will only be achieved if one adapts genuinely high-order approximations and uses the expensive process of high-order recombination [13, 14] to keep the "Monte-Carlo" sample population size under control. This paper explores these numerical methods in the 1-dimensional space-time case and gives cubature formulae of order up to 11 for this setting.

The paper is structured as follows. In Sect. 2, a brief introduction to the KLV method is given with special focus on the Cubature on Wiener space framework that interprets the method as a quadrature-type numerical integration technique on the infinite dimensional Wiener space.

Section 3 focuses on the abstract algebraic background required for the construction of cubature formulae. The algebraic background consists of the representation of continuous paths in terms of elements in a certain Lie algebra and the derivation of the moment matching conditions in terms of simplified polynomial equations. The particular polynomial systems corresponding to degree 3 in high dimensions, degree 5 in dimensions 1 and 2, degree 7 in 1-dimension, degree 9 in 1-dimension and degree 11 cubature formula in 1-dimension are derived and solved in the appendix.

In Sect. 4, we consider piece-wise smooth terminal conditions allowing discontinuities. We combine high-order cubature formulae and iterative strategies and introduce a new extension that leads to efficient and highly accurate approximations. The new variant is referred to as *repeated cubature*. Furthermore, we outline a scheme that is expected to perform well if used for the approximation of solutions to Dirichlet boundary problems.

Some numerical results are presented in Sect. 5. We test different versions and extensions on parabolic partial differential equations with globally smooth and with piece-wise smooth terminal conditions.

2 Cubature on Wiener Space

The approximation of expectations of diffusion processes is required in many practical applications. Kusuoka [9, 10] constructed a high-order numerical method for this purpose, which we regard as the first version of (or Kusuoka's approach to) the KLV methods. Lyons and Victoir [18] described a framework that interprets the method as a generalisation of quadrature formulae on finite dimensional spaces to the infinite dimensional Wiener space. We refer to this latter approach as *Cubature on Wiener space*.

2.1 Background

Let the \mathbb{R}^N -valued process Y_t^y be the solution of the following Stratonovich stochastic differential equation

$$dY_t^y = V_0(Y_t^y)dt + \sum_{i=1}^d V_i(Y_t^y) \circ dB_t^i, \ Y_0^y = y$$
(1)

where V_0, \ldots, V_d are elements of the space $C_b^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^N, \mathbb{R}^N)$ of \mathbb{R}^N -valued smooth functions defined in \mathbb{R}^N with bounded derivatives of any order,¹ and $B = (B^1, \ldots, B^d)$ is a Brownian motion in \mathbb{R}^d . The underlying probability space is the Wiener space $(\Omega_T, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P})$, where $\Omega_T := C_0^0([0, T], \mathbb{R}^d)$ denotes the space of \mathbb{R}^d -valued continuous functions defined in [0, T], which start at zero. For $\omega \in \Omega$, we make the convention $\omega^0(t) := t$ and $B_t^0(\omega) := t$.

In this section, we focus on the numerical approximation of the expectation

$$\mathbb{E}_{\mathbb{P}}\left[f(Y_T^{\mathcal{Y}})\right] = \int_{\Omega_T} f(Y_T^{\mathcal{Y}}(\omega)) \mathbb{P}(\mathrm{d}\omega)$$

where f is a smooth or Lipschitz continuous real valued function defined in \mathbb{R}^N .

In numerical analysis, integrals with respect to some measure μ on \mathbb{R}^d are often approximated by integrals with respect to a finitely supported measure ν

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} P(x)\mu(\mathrm{d}x) \approx \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} P(x)\nu(\mathrm{d}x) := \sum_{i=1}^n \nu_i P(x_i)$$
(2)

where $v = \sum_{i=1}^{n} v_i \delta_{x_i}$ and the points x_1, \ldots, x_n are in the support of μ . By Tchakaloff's theorem [23], for any positive integer *m*, there exists a finitely supported measure $v = v_m$, such that the approximation (2) is exact for polynomials $P \in \mathbb{R}_m[X_1, \ldots, X_d]$; furthermore, $n \leq \dim \mathbb{R}_m[X_1, \ldots, X_d]$. For d > 1, the finitely supported approximating measure *v* is referred to as cubature formulae, and for d = 1 we talk about quadrature formulae.

The approach by Lyons and Victoir generalises and adapts this idea to the infinite dimensional Wiener space by constructing a finitely supported measure \mathbb{Q} determined by weights $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_n$ and paths $\omega_1, \ldots, \omega_n \in \Omega_T$:

$$\mathbb{Q}=\sum_{i=1}^n\lambda_i\delta_{\omega_i},$$

such that

$$\int_{\Omega_T} f(Y_T^y(\omega)) \mathbb{P}(\mathrm{d}\omega) \approx \sum_{i=1}^n \lambda_i f(Y_T^y(\omega_i)), \tag{3}$$

where

$$dY_t^y(\omega_i) = V_0(Y_t^y(\omega_i))dt + \sum_{i=1}^d V_i(Y_t^y(\omega_i)) \circ d\omega_t^i, \ Y_0^y(\omega_i) = y.$$
(4)

The nature of the approximation (3) is specified in Sect. 2.2.

¹ The condition can be relaxed; the boundedness of the derivatives is required up to certain order, which we will specify later.

The interpretation of (4) is not obvious; one might consider interpreting the $Y_T^y(\omega_i)$ as a solution to a differential equation driven by the rough path ω_i [16, 17]; however, the existence of \mathbb{Q} supported by piece-wise linear paths is proven in [18], in which case, (4) is an ordinary differential equation. A general approach to constructing the measure \mathbb{Q} supported by piece-wise linear paths is described in Sect. 3.

Finally, we recall the fact [6] that the function u defined by $u(t, x) = \mathbb{E}_{\mathbb{P}}[f(Y_{T-t}^{x})]$ satisfies the partial differential equation (PDE)

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}u(t,x) + W_0u(t,x) + \frac{1}{2}\sum_{i=1}^d W_i^2u(t,x) = 0, \ u(T,x) = f(x)$$
(5)

where the operators W_0, \ldots, W_d are defined by

$$W_i(x) := \sum_{j=1}^N V_i^j(x) \frac{\partial}{\partial x^j}.$$

Therefore, the KLV family is also useful for the approximation of certain PDEs.

2.2 The Scheme and Its Convergence

In this section, we specify the approximation (3). The cubature (quadrature) formula (2) on the finite dimensional space is chosen to be exact for polynomials up to certain degree. The cubature on Wiener space is constructed to be exact for Brownian iterated integrals up to certain degree. This idea is induced by the stochastic Taylor expansion.

For smooth functions $f : \mathbb{R}^N \to \mathbb{R}$, the stochastic Taylor expansion represents $f(Y_T^y)$ in terms of objects indexed by *multi-indices* of the form

$$I = (i_1, \dots, i_k) \in \{0, 1, \dots, d\}^k, \ k = 0, 1, 2, \dots$$

Definition 1. The set of all finite multi-indices is denoted by \mathcal{A} . The empty multi-index is denoted by \emptyset . Given a multi-index $I = (i_1, \ldots, i_k)$, we define

- (a) The *length* |I| of the multi-index I by $|I| = |(i_1, \dots, i_k)| := k$.
- (b) The function $\|\cdot\| : \mathcal{A} \to \mathbb{N}$ referred to as the *degree* of a multi-index as

$$||I|| = ||(i_1, \dots, i_k)|| := |I| + \operatorname{card}\{i_j = 0 | 1 \le j \le k\}$$

(c) The *left decrement* as

$$-I = -(i_1, \dots, i_k) := (i_2, \dots, i_k)$$

Finally, for the multi-index $I = (i_1, \ldots, i_k)$, we introduce the notation

$$W_I f(x) = W_{i_1} \cdots W_{i_k} f(x).$$

We define the norm $\|\cdot\|_{\infty}^{W}$ by

$$||f||_{\infty}^{W} = \max \{||f||_{\infty}, ||W_{1}f||_{\infty}, \dots, ||W_{d}f||_{\infty} \}.$$

Lemma 1 (Stochastic Taylor expansion). Let f be a real-valued smooth function defined in \mathbb{R}^N . Then,

$$f(Y_t^y) = f(y) + \sum_{\|I\| \le m} W_I f(y) \int_{0 < u_1 < \dots < u_k < t} \circ dB_{u_1}^{i_1} \cdots \circ dB_{u_k}^{i_k} + R_t^m.$$
(6)

Furthermore, the following inequality holds

$$\sqrt{\mathbb{E}_{\mathbb{P}}[(R_{t}^{m})^{2}]} \leq C \sum_{\substack{\|-I\| \leq m \\ \|I\| = m+1}} \|W_{I} f\|_{\infty}^{W} t^{(m+1)/2} + C \sum_{\substack{\|-I\| \leq m \\ \|I\| = m+2}} \|W_{I} f\|_{\infty} t^{(m+2)/2}$$
(7)

where C only depends on m and d.

The expansion (6) is based on the repeated use of Itô's lemma written in Stratonovich form:

$$f(Y_t^y) = f(y) + \sum_{i=0}^d \int_0^t W_i f(Y_s^y) \circ dB_s^i.$$

The bound (7) on the remainder term is derived in [7] and also in [4].

Definition 2 (Cubature formula). Let *m* be a positive integer. A measure $\mathbb{Q}_T = \sum_{i=1}^n \lambda_i \delta_{\omega_i}$ supported by finitely many \mathbb{R}^{d+1} -valued paths $\omega_1, \ldots, \omega_n$ defined in [0, T] satisfying $\omega_i^0(t) = t$ is called a *degree m cubature formula on* [0, T] if for all multi-indeces $I = (i_1, \ldots, i_k), k \ge 1, ||I|| \le m$ the following inequality holds

$$\mathbb{E}_{\mathbb{P}}\left[\int_{0 < u_1 < \cdots < u_k < T} \circ \mathrm{d}B^{i_1}_{u_1} \cdots \circ \mathrm{d}B^{i_k}_{u_k}\right] = \mathbb{E}_{\mathbb{Q}_{\mathbb{T}}}\left[\int_{0 < u_1 < \cdots < u_k < T} \circ \mathrm{d}B^{i_1}_{u_1} \cdots \circ \mathrm{d}B^{i_k}_{u_k}\right].$$
(8)

Note, that by the rescaling property of Brownian motion

$$\int_{0 < u_1 < \dots < u_k < t} \circ dB_{u_1}^{i_1} \cdots \circ dB_{u_k}^{i_k} = \mathcal{L} t^{\|(i_1, \dots, i_k)\|/2} \int_{0 < u_1 < \dots < u_k < 1} \circ dB_{u_1}^{i_1} \cdots \circ dB_{u_k}^{i_k}$$

Therefore, the paths $\omega_1, \ldots, \omega_n$ in the support of a cubature formula $\mathbb{Q}_1 = \sum_{i=1}^n \lambda_i \delta_{\omega_i}$ on [0, 1] can be rescaled to a cubature formula $\mathbb{Q}_t = \sum_{i=1}^n \lambda_i \delta_{\langle t, \omega \rangle_i}$ on [0, 1] by

$$\langle t, \omega \rangle_i^j(s) := \begin{cases} t \omega_i^j(s/t) & \text{if } j = 0\\ \sqrt{t} \omega_i^j(s/t) & \text{if } 1 \le j \le d \end{cases}$$
(9)

for $s \in [0, t]$ and i = 1, ..., n.

In the rest of this section, we assume the existence of a degree *m* cubature formula $\mathbb{Q}_1 = \sum_{i=1}^n \lambda_i \delta_{\omega_i}$ on [0, 1] supported by piece-wise linear paths of finite length, and we assume that the cubature formula $\mathbb{Q}_t = \sum_{i=1}^n \lambda_i \delta_{\langle t, \omega \rangle_i}$ is constructed by rescaling (9) from \mathbb{Q}_1 . This rescaling property implies the following bound on the *local cubature error*.

Lemma 2. There exists a positive constant C depending on d and m and on the length of the paths in the support of the measure \mathbb{Q}_1 , such that

$$\left| (\mathbb{E}_{\mathbb{P}} - \mathbb{E}_{\mathbb{Q}_{t}})[f(Y_{t}^{y})] \right| \leq C \sum_{\substack{\|-I\| \leq m \\ \|I\| = m+1}} \|W_{I} f\|_{\infty}^{W} t^{(m+1)/2} + C \sum_{\substack{\|-I\| \leq m \\ \|I\| = m+2}} \|W_{I} f\|_{\infty} t^{(m+2)/2}.$$

The proof is based on the stochastic Taylor expansion of the SDE (1) and on the Taylor expansion of the ODE (4).

The lemma describes a high-order approximation on [0, t] for small enough t. For a longer time interval [0, T], we introduce the global cubature measure.

Definition 3. Let measure $\mathbb{Q}_1 = \sum_{i=1}^n \lambda_i \delta_{\omega_i}$ define a Cubature formula on [0, 1] and $\mathcal{D} = \{0 = t_0 < \cdots < t_k = T\}$ be a partition of [0, T]. The *global cubature measure* $\mathbb{Q}_{\mathcal{D}}$ is defined by

$$\mathbb{Q}_{\mathcal{D}} = \sum_{(i_1,\dots,i_k)\in\{1,\dots,n\}^k} \lambda_{i_1}\cdots\lambda_{i_k}\delta_{\langle t_1-t_0,\omega\rangle_{i_1}\circ\cdots\circ\langle t_k-t_{k-1},\omega\rangle_{i_k}}$$

where $\omega \circ \hat{\omega}$ denotes the concatenation of the paths ω and $\hat{\omega}$.

First, we establish a bound on the global error when the terminal condition function f is smooth with bounded derivatives up to order m.

Proposition 1. Let $\mathcal{D} = \{0 = t_0 < \cdots < t_k = T\}$ be a partition of [0, T] and f a real-valued smooth function with bounded derivatives up to order m. Then, there exists a constant C depending only on d, m and on the length of the paths in the support of \mathbb{Q}_1 , such that

$$\sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}^{N}} \left| (\mathbb{E}_{\mathbb{P}} - \mathbb{E}_{\mathbb{Q}_{D}})[f(Y_{T}^{y})] \right| \leq C \sum_{i=2}^{k} \left(\sum_{\substack{\|-I\| \leq m \\ \|I\| = m+1}} \|W_{I} P_{(T-t_{i-1})} f\|_{\infty}^{W} (t_{i} - t_{i-1})^{(m+1)/2} + \sum_{\substack{\|-I\| \leq m \\ \|I\| = m+2}} \|W_{I} P_{(T-t_{i-1})} f\|_{\infty} (t_{i} - t_{i-1})^{(m+2)/2} \right),$$
(10)

where $P_t f(x) := \mathbb{E}_{\mathbb{P}}[f(Y_t^x)].$

Sketch of the proof: We introduce the operator Q_t by $Q_t f(x) := \mathbb{E}_{\mathbb{Q}_t} [f(Y_t^x)]$. Exploiting the semi-group property $P_t P_s = P_{t+s}$ of the operator P_t , we rewrite the left hand side of the inequality (10) in terms of the following sum.

$$(P_T - Q_{(t_1 - t_0)} \cdots Q_{(T - t_{k-1})}) f(x)$$

= $\sum_{i=1}^k Q_{(t_1 - t_0)} \cdots Q_{(t_{i-1} - t_{i-2})} (P_{(t_i - t_{i-1})} - Q_{(t_i - t_{i-1})}) P_{(T - t_i)} f(x).$ (11)

Then, the inequality (10) is implied by lemma 2 and by the fact that Q_t is a probability measure for each t > 0.

In order to give a bound on the global error when the terminal condition f is not smooth but Lipschitz continuous, some stronger condition is required on the vector fields W_0, \ldots, W_d .

Definition 4 (UFG condition). The set of vector fields $\{W_0, \ldots, W_d\}$ satisfies the *UFG condition*, if there exists a positive integer l, such that for each multi-index $J = (j_1, \ldots, j_k) \neq (0), k \ge 1$,

$$[W_{j_1}, [W_{j_2}, [\cdots, W_{j_k}] \cdots] = \sum_{\substack{I = (i_1, \dots, i_r) \neq (0) \\ |I| \ge 1, \|I\| \le l}} \phi_{I,J} [W_{i_1}, [W_{i_2}, [\cdots, W_{i_r}] \cdots]$$

for some smooth functions $\phi_{I,J} : \mathbb{R}^N \to \mathbb{R}$ with bounded derivatives, where [W, V] denotes the Lie-bracket of the vector fields V and W.

Proposition 2. Let $\mathcal{D} = \{0 = t_0 < \cdots < t_k = T\}$ be a partition of [0, T] and f a real-valued Lipschitz continuous function defined in \mathbb{R}^N . Then, there exists a constant C depending only on d, m and on the length of the paths in the support of \mathbb{Q}_1 , such that

$$\sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}^{N}} \left| (\mathbb{E}_{\mathbb{P}} - \mathbb{E}_{\mathbb{Q}_{\mathcal{D}}})[f(Y_{T}^{y})] \right| \leq C \|\nabla f\|_{\infty} \left((T - t_{k-1})^{1/2} + \sum_{i=1}^{k-1} \frac{(t_{i} - t_{i-1})^{(m+1)/2}}{(T - t_{i})^{m/2}} \right).$$
(12)

Sketch of the proof: The decomposition (11) is used again. Since f is not smooth, the last term in the telescopic sum (11) is estimated as follows.

$$\begin{aligned} \left| (P_{(T-t_{k-1})} - Q_{(T-t_{k-1})})f(x) \right| &\leq \left| (P_{(T-t_{k-1})}f(x) - f(x) \right| \\ &+ \left| (Q_{(T-t_{k-1})}f(x) - f(x) \right| \leq K_1 (T - t_{k-1})^{1/2} \|\nabla f\|_{\infty} \end{aligned}$$

for some constant K_1 depending on the vector fields W_0, \ldots, W_d .

Exploiting the fact that $P_t f$ is smooth for t > 0, the bound on the rest of the terms is derived from a result by Kusuoka and Stroock [8,11] proving that under the UFG condition 4, for any multi-index I:

$$\|W_I P_t f\|_{\infty} \le \frac{K_2 s^{1/2}}{s^{\|I\|/2}} \|\nabla f\|_{\infty}$$

for some constant K_2 depending on the vector fields W_0, \ldots, W_d . For detailed proof, the reader is referred to Kusuoka [10] and Litterer [13].

Remark 1. Note that the bound (12) is not optimal for partitions \mathcal{D} of even steps. Kusuoka constructed the partition $\{0 = t_0 < t_1 < \cdots < t_k = T\}$

$$t_i = T\left(1 - \left(1 - \frac{i}{k}\right)^{\gamma}\right)$$

and proved that

$$\sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}^N} \left| (\mathbb{E}_{\mathbb{P}} - \mathbb{E}_{\mathbb{Q}_{\mathcal{D}}})[f(Y_T^y)] \right| \le C \|\nabla f\|_{\infty} k^{-\gamma/2}$$

if $0 < \gamma < m - 1$,

$$\sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}^N} \left| (\mathbb{E}_{\mathbb{P}} - \mathbb{E}_{\mathbb{Q}_{\mathcal{D}}})[f(Y_T^y)] \right| \le C \, \|\nabla f\|_{\infty} k^{-(m-1)/2} \log(k+1)$$

if $\gamma = m - 1$ and

$$\sup_{\mathbf{y}\in\mathbb{R}^N} \left| (\mathbb{E}_{\mathbb{P}} - \mathbb{E}_{\mathbb{Q}_{\mathcal{D}}})[f(Y_T^{\mathcal{Y}})] \right| \le C \|\nabla f\|_{\infty} k^{-(m-1)/2}$$

if $\gamma > m - 1$.

On Fig. 1, the structure of an equal step-size Cubature tree is demonstrated. On Fig. 2, a Cubature formula corresponding to Kusuoka's uneven partition is sketched. On both figures, the piece-wise linear paths are replace with straight arrows.

2.3 A Note on the Support Size of the Cubature Measure

The support of $\mathbb{Q}_{\mathcal{D}}$ grows exponentially with the number of time-steps in \mathcal{D} . If the support of \mathbb{Q}_1 is big and/or many time-steps are required to attain the desired accuracy, the method loses its tractability. This problem has been addressed in the literature.

Ninomiya and Kusuoka considered Monte-Carlo sampling from the global measure $\mathbb{Q}_{\mathcal{D}}$ as well as random re-sampling [12, 19]. They implemented the tree-based branching algorithm [3] and observed lower variance compared to the Monte-Carlo estimates. The variance reduction feature of the tree-based branching algorithm







Fig. 2 Cubature tree with Kusuoka's partition

applied to the global cubature measure was further analysed by Gyurkó [5]. The drawback of these versions is that they introduce randomness and an approximation error component due to the sampling variance.

Litterer and Lyons [13, 14] considered the recombination of the global cubature measure. By recombination, they refer to an algorithm that constructs a measure $\hat{\mathbb{Q}}$ from a finitely supported measure \mathbb{Q} , such that the support of $\hat{\mathbb{Q}}$ is a subset of the support of \mathbb{Q} ; furthermore, the expectations of certain test functions are the same under the two measures. Litterer and Lyons [13, 14] proved that the growth of the cubature measure can be reduced to a polynomial function of the number of timesteps using recombination. The cost of reducing a cloud of N points to a cloud of d + 1 points preserving d-moments is $C_1 3Nd + C_2 \log_2(N/d)d^4$ for some constants C_1 and C_2 . In a typical implementation, the cloud of points reached by the cubature method at level k is split up into smaller subsets, such that the diameter of each subset is sufficiently small. The recombination is applied to each subset separately.

The recombination tool has proven to be essential for the extensions introduced in Sect. 4.

3 Cubature Formulae

This section is focused on the construction of cubature formulae satisfying the equality (8).

3.1 Signature of Paths

The Sect. 2.2 demonstrates the importance of the iterated integral

$$B_{s,t}^I := \int_{s < u_1 < \dots < u_k < t} \circ \mathrm{d} B_{u_1}^{i_1} \cdots \circ \mathrm{d} B_{u_k}^{i_k}$$

where $I = (i_1, ..., i_k)$ is a multi-index. Following some of the most crucial ideas in Rough Paths Theory [15–17], we introduce the following algebraic structure for handling a collection of iterated integrals simultaneously and for exploiting some algebraic properties of continuous paths.

Definition 5. Let \mathcal{T} denote the associative and non-commutative tensor algebra with unit **1** generated by the letters e_0, \ldots, e_d .

(a) For a multi-index $I = (i_1, \ldots, i_k)$, we will use the notation

$$e_I := e_{i_1} \otimes \cdots \otimes e_{i_k}.$$

(b) The exponential and logarithm functions on \mathcal{T} are defined by power series:

$$\exp(\mathbf{a}) := \mathbf{1} + \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \frac{\mathbf{a}^{\otimes i}}{i!}$$
$$\log(\mathbf{a}) := \log(a_{\emptyset}) + \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^{i-1}}{i} \left(\frac{\mathbf{a}}{a_{\emptyset}} - \mathbf{1}\right)^{\otimes i}, \text{ assuming } a_{\emptyset} \neq 0$$

where $\mathbf{a} = \sum_{I \in \mathcal{A}} a_I e_I$

- (c) The *m*-truncated tensor algebra $\mathcal{T}^{(m)}$ is spanned by the set $\{e_I \mid ||I|| \leq m\}$.
- (d) The projection to $\mathcal{T}^{(m)}$ is denoted by π_m .
- (e) The free Lie-algebra generated by the letters e₀,..., e_d, and the Lie-bracket [a, b] := a ⊗ b − b ⊗ a is denoted by L.
- (f) The *m*-truncated Lie-algebra $\mathcal{L}^{(m)} := \pi_m \mathcal{L}$.

The key algebraic objects are the signature and log-signature of paths.

Definition 6. For $0 \le s \le t \le T$, the *signature* of a continuous path $\omega : [0, T] \rightarrow \mathbb{R}^d$ of finite length is defined as

$$S_{s,t}(\omega) := \sum_{I \in \mathcal{A}} e_I \int_{s < u_1 < \cdots < u_k < t} \mathrm{d}\omega_{u_1}^{i_1} \cdots \mathrm{d}\omega_{u_k}^{i_k}.$$

The *log-signature* of ω is defined by $\log(S_{s,t}(\omega))$.

The Brownian signature $S_{s,t}(B)$ is defined as

$$S_{s,t}(B) := \sum_{I \in \mathcal{A}} B_I e_I$$

The *Brownian log-signature* is defined by $log(S_{s,t}(B))$.

The (realization of) signatures of paths lie in \mathcal{T} ; however, not all elements in \mathcal{T} represent a signature. The following theorem by Chen has a crucial importance for the construction of cubature formulae.

Theorem 1 (Chen's theorem). (*a*) The signature is multiplicative, that is for a continuous path $\omega : [0, T] \to \mathbb{R}^d$ of finite length and for $0 \le s < t < u \le T$, we have

$$S_{s,t}(\omega) \otimes S_{t,u}(\omega) = S_{s,u}(\omega).$$

- (b) The log-signature $\log(S_{s,t}(\omega))$ of a continuous path $\omega : [0,T] \to \mathbb{R}^d$ of finite length lies in \mathcal{L} for any $0 \le s \le t \le T$.
- (c) The Brownian log-signature $\log(S_{s,t}(B))$ a.s. lies in \mathcal{L} for any $0 \le s \le t$.
- (d) Given an element L in $\mathcal{L}^{(m)}$, there exists a (not necessarily unique) continuous path $\omega : [s, t] \to \mathbb{R}^d$, such that $\pi_m \log(S_{s,t}(\omega)) = L$.

The reader is referred to [2, 15] for proof.

3.2 Construction of Cubature Measures in $\mathcal{L}^{(m)}$

The definition 2 can be rephrased in terms of the Brownian signature: a measure \mathbb{Q}_1 on Ω defines a degree *m* cubature formula if

$$\mathbb{E}_{\mathbb{P}}[\pi_m S_{0,1}(B)] = \mathbb{E}_{\mathbb{Q}_1}[\pi_m S_{0,1}(B)].$$

Assume that the Lie-elements L_1, \ldots, L_n in $\mathcal{L}^{(m)}$ and the positive weights $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_n$ satisfy

$$\mathbb{E}_{\mathbb{P}}[\pi_m S_{0,1}(B)] = \sum_{i=1}^n \lambda_i \pi_m \exp(L_i).$$
(13)

Then by part iv) of Chen's theorem, there exist paths $\omega_1, \ldots, \omega_n$, such that $\pi_m S_{0,1}$ $(\omega_i) = \pi_m \exp(L_i)$ and $\mathbb{Q}_1 := \sum_{i=1}^n \lambda_i \delta_{\omega_i}$ defines a degree *m* cubature formula. In this section, the focus is on the solution of (13).

Lemma 3. The expected value of the Brownian signature is

$$\mathbb{E}_{\mathbb{P}}[S_{0,1}(B)] = \exp\left(e_0 + \frac{1}{2}\sum_{i=1}^d e_i \otimes e_i\right).$$
(14)

The lemma is proven in [18].

We have no general algorithm to construct the solution to (13); however, the equation can be simplified since the expected Brownian signature (14) is a sparse and symmetric element in T. The following theorem has crucial importance.

Theorem 2 (Poincaré-Birkhoff-Witt). Let $\mathcal{B}_{\mathcal{L}} = \{\ell_1, \ell_2, ...\}$ be a basis of \mathcal{L} equipped with a total order \leq . The set

$$\bigcup_{k\geq 0} \{\ell_{i_1}\otimes\cdots\otimes\ell_{i_k} \mid \ell_{i_1}\preceq\cdots\preceq\ell_{i_k}\}$$

forms a basis of T.

If l_1, \ldots, l_k are elements in \mathcal{T} , we introduce their symmetrized product by

$$(l_1,\ldots,l_k):=\frac{1}{k!}\sum_{\sigma\in S_k}l_{\sigma(1)}\otimes\cdots\otimes l_{\sigma(k)},$$

where S_k denotes the set of all permutations of k elements.

Theorem 2 implies the following corollary.

Corollary 1. Let $\mathcal{B}_{\mathcal{L}} = \{\ell_1, \ell_2, ...\}$ be a basis of \mathcal{L} equipped with a total order \leq . *The set*

$$\bigcup_{k\geq 0} \{ (\ell_{i_1}, \cdots, \ell_{i_k}) | \ \ell_{i_1} \preceq \cdots \preceq \ell_{i_k} \}$$

forms a basis of T.

An approach to solving (13) could consist of exponentiating the Lie-elements $L_i = \sum_{\|\ell_j\| \le m} \alpha_{i,j} \ell_j$ parametrized with some real valued coefficients $\alpha_{i,j}$, i = 1, ..., n and $j = 1, ..., |\mathcal{B}_{\mathcal{L}}|$ and solving

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_i \pi_m \exp(L_i) = \pi_m \exp\left(e_0 + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{d} e_i \otimes e_i\right)$$
(15)

for λ_i and $\alpha_{i,j}$.

We propose two improvements to this strategy. First, we note that it is possible to narrow down the number of parameters. In this paper, we take the Philip Hall basis for $\mathcal{B}_{\mathcal{L}}$. Given the basis $\mathcal{B}_{\mathcal{L}}$ of \mathcal{L} , we construct the basis of the tensor algebra \mathcal{T} determined by Corollary 1. We use the notation $\mathcal{B}_{\mathcal{T}}$ for this tensor basis. We denote by $\mathcal{S}_{\mathcal{T},m}$ the smallest subset of $\mathcal{B}_{\mathcal{T}}$ spanning the truncated expected signature $\pi_m \exp(e_0 + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^d e_i \otimes e_i)$. Let $\mathcal{S}_{\mathcal{L},m}$ denote the smallest subset of $\mathcal{B}_{\mathcal{L}}$ that generates the set $\mathcal{S}_{\mathcal{T},m}$ via symmetrized products. In general, the set $\mathcal{S}_{\mathcal{L},m}$ is significantly smaller than the set $\{\ell \in \mathcal{B}_{\mathcal{L}}, \|\ell\| \leq m\}$. This way we can reduce the number of parameters, and it is sufficient to look for L_i of the following form

$$L_i = \sum_{\ell_j \in \mathcal{S}_{\mathcal{L},m}} \alpha_{i,j} \ell_j.$$

The next step is to solve (15). Note the following lemma.

Lemma 4. $\pi_m \exp(L_i)$ is a linear combination of symmetrized products of the Lie basis elements:

$$\pi_m \exp(L_i) = \sum_{\substack{I = (i_1, \dots, i_k) \in \mathcal{A} \\ \ell_{i_j} \in \mathcal{S}_{\mathcal{L}, m, j = 1, \dots, k \\ k \ge 0}} m_I(\alpha_{i, i_1}, \dots, \alpha_{i, i_k})(\ell_{i_1}, \dots, \ell_{i_k})$$
(16)

where each m_I is a monomial of its arguments.

Sketch of the proof: The proof is based on the following two facts. On the one hand, by the definition of the exponential function, the product of the Lie basis elements $\ell_{i_1}, \ldots, \ell_{i_k} \in S_{\mathcal{L},m}, k > 0$ will appear in all possible order in $\exp(L_i)$. Again by definition, the coefficient of the product $\ell_{i_1} \otimes \cdots \otimes \ell_{i_k}$ in $\exp(L_i)$ is $\frac{1}{k!} \alpha_{i,i_1} \cdots \alpha_{i,i_k}$, hence a monomial. The coefficient of the symmetrized product $(\ell_{i_1}, \ldots, \ell_{i_k})$ is a scalar multiple of this monomial.

On the other hand, due to the construction of the Philip Hall basis, each Lie basis element ℓ is a (possibly compound) bracket of the letters e_0, \ldots, e_d , and hence it is a sum of tensor monomials of the same degree when expressed in the tensor basis $\{e_I, I \in \mathcal{A}\}$. Hence any product of Lie basis elements is a sum of tensor monomials of the same degree. Therefore, when applying π_m to a symmetrised product $(\ell_{i_1}, \ldots, \ell_{i_k})$, we either get **0** or $(\ell_{i_1}, \ldots, \ell_{i_k})$ itself. \Box

Equation (16) represents $\pi_m \exp(L_i)$ in the basis \mathcal{B}_T . If we express the π_m -truncated expected signature in the basis \mathcal{B}_T , then (15) specifies the values of the weighted monomials:

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} m_{I}(\alpha_{i,i_{1}}, \dots, \alpha_{i,i_{k}}) = c_{I}, \ I \in \{(i_{1}, \dots, i_{k}) | \ell_{i_{j}} \in \mathcal{S}_{\mathcal{L},m}, \ j = 1, \dots, k, k \ge 0\}$$
(17)

where c_I is the coefficient of $(\ell_{i_1}, \ldots, \ell_{i_k})$ in the expected signature. Thus, the second improvement we propose is to derive the polynomial equations (17), resulting in a relatively simple system equivalent to (15).

We derived the set $S_{\mathcal{L},m}$ and solved the corresponding simplified system of polynomial equations (17) for the following pairs of *m* and *d*: (3, 1), (5, 1), (5, 2), (7, 1), (7, 2), (9, 1) and (11, 1). We also derived general solutions to the degree 3 and degree 5 cases. See the appendix for details.

Remark 2 (Construction of Cubature measures on the Wiener space). Given the weights $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_n$ and Lie elements L_1, \ldots, L_n satisfying (15), we need to construct the piece-wise linear paths ω_i on [0, 1] satisfying $S_{0,1}(\omega) = \pi_m \exp(L_i)$. Chen's theorem guarantees the existence of such paths; however, it does not give a construction. We recall that the signature of a piece-wise linear path of *l*-many pieces is of the form

$$\exp\left(\phi_{0,1}e_0 + \sum_{j=1}^d \phi_{j,1}e_j\right) \otimes \cdots \otimes \exp\left(\phi_{0,l}e_0 + \sum_{j=1}^d \phi_{j,l}e_j\right)$$

where we make the additional assumptions $\sum_{i=1}^{n} \phi_{0,i} = 1$ and $\phi_{0,i} > 0$ for $i = 1 \dots n$. The log-signature of the π_m -truncation of the above product can be worked out using the Campbell–Baker–Hausdorff formula. This determines a system of polynomial equations on the coefficients $\phi_{j,k}$ for $k = 1 \dots l \ j = 0 \dots d$ for each L_i . The paths corresponding to the general degree 3 and degree 5 cubature formulae are derived in [18].

3.3 Solving the ODEs

Once the cubature measure $\mathbb{Q}_1 = \sum_{i=1}^n \lambda_i \delta_{\omega_i}$ has been constructed, the method requires the solution of the ODE

$$dY_{s}^{y}(\hat{\omega}_{i}) = V_{0}(Y_{s}^{y}(\hat{\omega}_{i}))ds + \sum_{i=1}^{d} V_{i}(Y_{s}^{y}(\hat{\omega}_{i}))d\hat{\omega}_{s}^{i}, Y_{0}^{y}(\hat{\omega}_{i}) = y.$$
(18)

where $\hat{\omega}_i = \langle t, \omega_i \rangle$ for some $t \in [0, T]$. In general, the exact solution might not be known and numerical techniques are required. We note that the convergence results (propositions 1 and 2) are based on the inequality

$$\left| (P_t - Q_t) f(y) \right| \le C \sum_{\substack{\|-I\| \le m \\ \|I\| = m+1}} \|W_I f\|_{\infty}^W t^{(m+1)/2} + C \sum_{\substack{\|-I\| \le m \\ \|I\| = m+2}} \|W_I f\|_{\infty} t^{(m+2)/2}.$$

The operator $Q_t f(y) = \sum_{i=1}^n \lambda_i f(Y_t^y(\langle t, \omega_i \rangle))$ can be replaced with any operator \tilde{Q}_t satisfying

$$\left| (\tilde{Q}_t - Q_t) f(y) \right| \le \tilde{C} \sum_{\substack{\|-I\| \le m \\ \|I\| = m+1}} \|W_I f\|_{\infty}^W t^{(m+1)/2} + \tilde{C} \sum_{\substack{\|-I\| \le m \\ \|I\| = m+2}} \|W_I f\|_{\infty} t^{(m+2)/2}.$$

for some constant \tilde{C} not depending on t, and the order of the global convergence determined by propositions 1 and 2 remains the same. The choice of \tilde{Q}_t considered in the literature [9, 10, 18, 20] etc. can be described by

$$\tilde{Q}_t f(y) = \sum_{i=1}^n \lambda_i f(\tilde{Y}_t^y(\langle t, \omega_i \rangle)).$$

where $\tilde{Y}_t^y(\langle t, \omega_i \rangle)$ is some numerical approximation of $Y_t^y(\langle t, \omega_i \rangle)$.

The numerical approximations in the literature can be split into two main categories. The first approach approximates the solution to the non-autonomous ODE (18) directly using high-order numerical ODE schemes. The reader is referred to [1] for particular high-order numerical ODE schemes.

The second approach is based on the results by [22] deriving an autonomous ODE approximating the solution of (18) on short time intervals. The solution of this autonomous ODE is then approximated by high-order ODE schemes. Let Γ denote the algebra homomorphism generated by $\Gamma(e_i) := W_i$, $i = 0 \dots d$. Note that Γ assigns vector fields to the elements of $\mathcal{L}^{(m)}$. We introduce the rescaling operator $\langle t, \cdot \rangle$ on \mathcal{T} by

$$\left\langle t, \sum_{I \in \mathcal{A}} a_I e_I \right\rangle := \sum_{I \in \mathcal{A}} t^{\|I\|/2} a_I e_I.$$

Then, the autonomous ODE derived in [22] can be represented as

$$dZ_s^y(\langle t, L_i \rangle) = \Gamma(\langle t, L_i \rangle)(Z_s^y)ds, \ Z_s^y(\langle t, L_i \rangle) = y.$$
(19)

Proposition 3. There exists a constant C_1 depending on m, d, the length of ω_i and on L_i , such that

$$|P_{(T-\tau)}f(Y_t^{y}(\langle t,\omega_i\rangle) - P_{(T-\tau)}f(Z_1^{y}(\langle t,L_i\rangle)))| \le C_1 \sum_{m < \|I\| \le 2m} \|W_I P_{T-\tau}f\|_{\infty} t^{\|I\|/2}$$

Furthermore, if W_0, \ldots, W_d satisfy the UFG condition 4 and $T - \tau \ge t$, there exists a constant C_2 depending on m, d, the length of ω_i and on L_i , such that

$$|P_{(T-\tau)}f(Y_t^{\mathcal{Y}}(\langle t,\omega_i\rangle) - P_{(T-\tau)}f(Z_1^{\mathcal{Y}}(\langle t,L_i\rangle)))| \le C_2 \frac{t^{(m+1)/2}}{(T-\tau)^m} \|\nabla f\|_{\infty}$$

for any Lipschitz continuous function f.

The proof is based on the termwise Taylor expansion of the ODEs (18) and (19). We refer the reader to [4,9] and [10] for details.

Propositions 1 and 2 combined with 3 imply the following.

Corollary 2. Let us define the operator $\hat{Q}_t f(y) = \sum_{i=1}^n \lambda_i f(Z_1^y(\langle t, L_i \rangle))$ and let $0 = t_0 < \cdots < t_k = T$. For a smooth function f with bounded derivatives up to order 2m, we have

$$\begin{split} \sup_{y} |(P_{T} - \hat{Q}_{(t_{1} - t_{0})} \cdots \hat{Q}_{(T - t_{k-1})}) f(y)| &\leq C_{1} \Big(\sum_{i=1}^{k} \sum_{m < \|I\| \leq 2m} \|W_{I} P_{(T - t_{i-1})} f\|_{\infty} t^{\|I\|/2} \\ &+ \sum_{\substack{\|-I\| \leq m \\ \|I\| = m+1}} \|W_{I} P_{(T - t_{i-1})} f\|_{\infty}^{W} (t_{i} - t_{i-1})^{(m+1)/2} \\ &+ \sum_{\substack{\|-I\| \leq m \\ \|I\| = m+2}} \|W_{I} P_{(T - t_{i-1})} f\|_{\infty} (t_{i} - t_{i-1})^{(m+2)/2} \Big). \end{split}$$

Furthermore, for Lipschitz continuous f

$$\sup_{y} |(P_{T} - \hat{Q}_{(t_{1}-t_{0})} \cdots \hat{Q}_{(T-t_{k-1})})f(y)|$$

$$\leq C_{2} \|\nabla f\|_{\infty} \left((T - t_{k-1})^{1/2} + \sum_{i=1}^{k-1} \frac{(t_{i} - t_{i-1})^{(m+1)/2}}{(T - t_{i})^{m/2}} \right).$$

4 Extensions

In this section, we outline the extension of the cubature on Wiener space method to problems with piece-wise smooth terminal conditions that are not required to be continuous and to certain problems with path dependent terminal conditions.

4.1 Piece-Wise Smooth Terminal Conditions

So far, the terminal condition f has been assumed to be smooth or Lipschitz continuous. In this section, we relax the conditions on the terminal condition function f and construct a strategy resulting in an accurate approximation of the expectation of f. We investigate the case when f is piece-wise smooth. The method sketched here works under two conditions. First, we require that $P_t f$ is smooth with bounded derivatives up to certain order. If this condition is satisfied, we can apply the cubature on Wiener space method on an accurate enough estimate of $P_t f$ as it is described in the previous section. The second condition guarantees the existence of accurate estimates of $P_t f$ for small enough *t*. In particular, we will assume that if the discontinuities are far enough from Y_{T-t} , then $P_t f(Y_{T-t}) \approx P_t \hat{f}(Y_{T-t})$ where \hat{f} is a smooth function equal to f around Y_{T-t} .

In this section, we fix the initial value $Y_0 = y^*$. For a positive integer K, we define $\|\nabla^K f\|_1 := \mathbb{E}[\nabla^K f(Y_T)|Y_0 = y^*]$, where ∇ is understood in the weak sense. If $\|\nabla^K f\|_1 < \infty$, the boundedness of the derivatives of P_t is guaranteed under the following conditions.

Assumption 1 ((*K*, *m*)-assumption). For positive integers *K* and *m* and multiindices $I: m + 1 \le ||I|| \le m + 2$, the semi-group P_t satisfies

$$||W_I P_t f||_{\infty} \leq C_I t^{-(||I||+d-K)/2} ||\nabla^K f||_1.$$

Lemma 5. Let K be a positive integer and $\theta \in (0, 1)$. Let us assume that $\|\nabla^K f\|_1$ is finite. Furthermore, let us assume that the semi-group P_t satisfies the (K, m)-assumption. Let the partition $\{0 = t_0 < t_1 < \cdots < t_k = T\}$ be defined by $t_j = T(1 - (1 - \theta)^j)$ for $j = 1, \ldots, k - 1$. Then, there exists a positive constant C depending on C_I , $m + 1 \le \|I\| \le m + 2$ and possibly on T, such that

$$\left| \left(P_{t_{k-1}} - Q_{(t_1 - t_0)} \cdots Q_{(t_{k-1} - t_{k-2})} \right) P_{(T - t_{k-1})} f(y^*) \right| \\ \leq C \| \nabla^K f \|_1 \left(\frac{\theta}{1 - \theta} \right)^{\frac{m+1}{2}} \sum_{i=1}^{k-1} (T(1 - \theta))^{i(K - d)/2}$$

Proof. By definition, $T - t_i = T(1 - \theta)^i$ and $t_i - t_{i-1} = T(1 - \theta)^{i-1}\theta$ for i = 1, ..., k - 1. Then, Lemma 2 and the assumptions imply

$$\begin{split} \left| \left(P_{t_{k-1}} - Q_{(t_1-t_0)} \cdots Q_{(t_{k-1}-t_{k-2})} \right) P_{(T-t_{k-1})} f(y^*) \right| \\ &\leq \sum_{i=2}^{k-1} \left| Q_{(t_1-t_0)} \cdots Q_{(t_{i-1}-t_{i-2})} \left(P_{(t_i-t_{i-1})} - Q_{(t_i-t_{i-1})} \right) P_{(T-t_i)} f(y^*) \right| \\ &\leq C_2 \| \nabla^K f \|_1 \left(\frac{\theta}{1-\theta} \right)^{\frac{m+1}{2}} \sum_{i=1}^{k-1} (T(1-\theta))^{i(K-d)/2} \end{split}$$

Remark 3. There is a trade-off when constructing numerical methods based on lemma 5. The closer θ is to 0, the higher the convergence order becomes. However, since $T - t_{k-1} = T(1-\theta)^{k-1}$, when θ is close to 0, more steps are required to get close enough to the boundary. There is another trade-off; the high value of *m*, that is a high-degree cubature measure improves the convergence; however, it increases the support of the global measure. In the remainder of this section, we highlight the importance of high-degree cubature measures.

To describe the accuracy of the global measure $\mathbb{Q}_{\mathcal{D}}$, we must combine the estimate of lemma 5 with an estimate on $|(P_t - Q_t)f(Y_{T-t})|$. For this purpose, we make the following assumption.

Assumption 2. \mathbb{R}^N can be partitioned into finitely many disjoint connected domains $\mathbb{R}^N = \bigcup_{i=1}^h D_i$, such that $f = \sum_{i=1}^h f_i \mathbf{1}_{D_i}$ where $f_i : D_i \to \mathbb{R}$ is bounded and smooth with bounded derivatives for $i = 1 \dots h$. Furthermore, each f_i can be extended to $\hat{f}_i : \mathbb{R}^N \to \mathbb{R}$, such that \hat{f}_i is smooth satisfying $\|\hat{f}_i\|_{\infty} \le \|f\|_{\infty}$ and $\|W_I \hat{f}_i\|_{\infty} \le \|W_I f_i\|_{\infty}$ for $I: m + 1 \le \|I\| \le m + 2$.

Condition 1. Given $y \in \mathbb{R}^N$ and $\varepsilon > 0$, there exist an index $i: 1 \le i \le h$ such that $\mathbb{P}[Y_T \notin D_i | Y_{T-t} = y] \le \varepsilon$ and $y \in D_i, Y_t^y(\langle t, \omega_j \rangle) \in D_i$ for $j = 1 \dots k$.

Under assumption 2, we cannot give a uniform bound on $|(P_t - Q_t) f(Y_{T-t})|$; however, we can make local estimates. We consider two cases. First, if condition 1 holds, then

$$|(P_t - Q_t)f(y)| \le |P_t f(y) - P_t \hat{f}(y)| + |(P_t - Q_t)\hat{f}(y)| + |Q_t f(y) - Q_t \hat{f}(y)| \le 2\varepsilon ||f||_{\infty} + Ct^{(m+1)/2}.$$
(20)

Second, if $Y_t^y(\langle t, \omega_j \rangle) \in D_i$ does not hold for all $j = 1 \dots n$, then

$$|(P_t - Q_t)f(y)| \le 2||f||_{\infty}.$$
(21)

If f is globally Lipschitz, the inequality (21) can be replaced with

$$|(P_t - Q_t)f(y)| \le \sqrt{t} \|\nabla f\|_{\infty}.$$
(22)

The Repeated Cubature Scheme

The inequality (20) makes the reduction of the computational cost possible. Let ε and τ be positive numbers chosen in advance. At a starting point y with time t to maturity, the repeated cubature estimate denoted by $Q_t^{\varepsilon,\tau} f(y)$ is computed as follows.

- (a) At *y*, we check the condition 1.
- (b) If the condition is met with a pre-defined ε , we jump straight to the boundary (type-(b) step), that is we estimate $P_t f(y)$ with $Q_t f(y)$.
- (c) If the condition is not met, but $t \le \tau$, we jump straight to the boundary (type-(c) step). We estimate $P_t f(y)$ by $Q_t f(y)$.
- (d) If the condition is not met and $t > \tau$, we solve the ODE along each rescaled cubature path $\langle \theta t, \omega_i \rangle$ for $i = 1 \dots k$ generating the points y_1, \dots, y_k with time $t(1 \theta)$ to maturity (type-(d) step).
- (e) We recursively repeat the algorithm starting at the points y₁,..., y_k generated by type-(c) steps resulting in an estimate denoted by Q^{ε,τ}_{t(1-θ)} f(y_i). Then, we estimate P_t f(y) by Σ^k_{i=1} λ_i Q^{ε,τ}_{t(1-θ)} f(y_i).

Corollary 3. Let ε and τ be positive real numbers. Let $\mathcal{N}_{\tau,\varepsilon}$ denote the set of starting points of the type-(c) steps using the algorithm above. Suppose that $\mathcal{N}_{\tau,\varepsilon}$ is non-empty and $\tau < T$. For $Y \in \mathcal{N}_{\tau,\varepsilon}$, λ_Y denotes the measure of the set of cubature paths along which we solved ODEs during the method and reached Y at time $t \leq \tau$ to maturity. Under assumptions 1 and 2, the error of the repeated cubature scheme is bounded by

$$\left| (P_T - Q_T^{\varepsilon,\tau}) f(y^*) \right| \le C_1 \left(\varepsilon + (T(1-\theta))^{(m+1)/2} + \sum_{Y \in \mathcal{N}_{\tau,\varepsilon}} \lambda_Y \right) + C_2 \| \nabla^K f \|_1 \left(\frac{\theta}{1-\theta} \right)^{\frac{m+1}{2}} \sum_{i=1}^{k-1} (T(1-\theta))^{i(K-d)/2}$$

$$(23)$$

where k satisfies $\tau \ge T(1-\theta)^{k-1}$, the constants C_1 and C_2 depend on $m, d, ||f||_{\infty}$, and on $||W_I f_i||_{\infty}$ for i = 1, ..., h and $I: m + 1 \le ||I|| \le m + 2$.

Sketch of the proof: The second term on the right-hand-side of the inequality (23) is the estimate of Lemma 5 on the difference

$$\left| \left(P_{t_{k-1}} - Q_{(t_1 - t_0)} \cdots Q_{(t_{k-1} - t_{k-2})} \right) P_{(T - t_{k-1})} f(y^*) \right|$$

describing the approximation error when we approximate $P_{t_{k-1}}P_{(T-t_{k-1})}f(y^*)$ by $Q_{(t_1-t_0)}\cdots Q_{(t_{k-1}-t_{k-2})}P_{(T-t_{k-1})}f(y^*)$. When applying the repeated cubature, we work out a slightly different measure, because a few sub-trees are replaced with type-(b) steps (see Fig. 3). By the inequality (20), the total additional error due to type-(b) steps can be bounded by

$$C\left(\varepsilon + (T(1-\theta))^{(m+1)/2}\right)$$



Fig. 3 Tree produced by the repeated cubature algorithm

where the constant *C* depends on *m*, *d*, $||f||_{\infty}$, and on $||W_I f_i||_{\infty}$ for i = 1, ..., hand $I: m + 1 \le ||I|| \le m + 2$.

There is another source of additional error due to type-(c) steps, which can be bounded by $2 \| f \|_{\infty} \sum_{Y \in \mathcal{N}_{\tau,\varepsilon}} \lambda_Y$ (see inequality (21)).

Remark 4. The method requires the estimation of the probability

$$\mathbb{P}[Y_T \notin D_i | Y_{T-t} = y].$$

If the expectation of some positive functional of $Y_T - Y_{T-t}$ (e.g. Laplace-transform) is known or can be estimated, one can use Chebyshev-type inequalities. If this is not the case, we suggest the comparison of $Q_t f(y)$ and $Q_{\theta t} Q_{(1-\theta)t} f(y)$. If the difference is of order $t^{(m+1)/2}$, then the condition 1 is likely to be met. Otherwise, the condition is unlikely to be satisfied. This latter decision rule works well, if the innerdiameter of the domains D_1, \ldots, D_h is big enough and the operator $Q_{\theta t} Q_{(1-\theta)t}$ is able to detect the non-smoothness of f.

4.2 Path Dependent Functions

In this section, we outline potential extensions to PDEs with Dirichlet boundary condition. Although no theoretical or empirical justification has been given yet, we believe these extensions should perform reasonably well.

In many applications, the focus is on the expectations of path dependent functionals. We consider path dependent functionals that can be approximated by functions of the signature of the underlying process. A particular example is the Asian option with payoff depending on $\int_0^T Y_t dt$, which is one component in the signature of the process $t \mapsto (t, Y_t)$. Ninomiya [19] tested Kusuoka's version on Asian options.

As a second example, we consider adapting the cubature on Wiener space method to estimating solutions to boundary value problems. In particular, we aim to estimate the following expectation:

$$\mathbb{E}_{\mathbb{P}}\left[g(Y_T^{\mathcal{Y}})\mathbf{1}_{\{\tau>T\}} + c\mathbf{1}_{\{\tau\leq T\}}\right]$$
(24)

where *D* is a domain in \mathbb{R}^N , τ is the stopping time defined as $\tau = \min\{t | Y_t \in \partial D\}$ and *c* is some constant. We note that the expectation (24) is equal to the solution u(y, 0) of the PDE (5) defined on *D* with boundary condition u(x, t) = c for $x \in \partial D$.

To adapt the method, we extend the process Y_t as follows

$$dY_t^y = V_0(Y_t^y)dt + \sum_{i=1}^d V_i(Y_t^y) \circ dB_t^i, \ Y_0^y = y, dA_t = \phi(Y_t)dt, \ A_0 = 0$$

where ϕ is zero in *D* and positive in $\mathbb{R}^N \setminus D$. Then, the terminal condition in the expectation (24) can be rewritten as a non-path dependent function

$$g(Y_T^y)\mathbf{1}_{\{\tau>T\}} + c\mathbf{1}_{\{\tau\le T\}} = g(Y_T^y)\mathbf{1}_{\{A_T\le 0\}} + c\mathbf{1}_{\{A_T>0\}}.$$
(25)

In the general case, the solution to the ODE (18) is numerically approximated, typically on a discrete time-scale. This approximation rarely gives us accurate information on the crossing of the boundary of the domain D. The role of the process A_t is to detect the boundary crossing of the process Y_t with high accuracy.

We claim that the repeated cubature algorithm can be adapted to approximate the expectation of (25).

One possible extension is based on the fact that a Wong-Zakai type strong approximation can be constructed from cubature paths on fine time-partitions;² that is cubature paths on very fine time scales are approaching Brownian paths. This application of the cubature paths leads to a low order approximation of the boundary value problems that we focus on. The fine scale global cubature measure is supported by a huge set of paths; however, fine scale paths are only required close to the boundary. The purpose of the repeated cubature is to detect a point far enough away from the boundary of the domain *D* so that a longer time-step can be taken.

The following second extension leads to a proper high-order scheme. We suggest refining the steps when the boundary of D is approached as follows. Let us assume that an accurate approximation $\hat{u}(y,t)$ of the solution u(y,t) of the PDE is given exogenously in a neighbourhood of the boundary of D with radius δ .

- (a) In order to compute an approximation of the solution to the PDE at a point Y_{t_1} with time $T t_1$ to maturity, we attempt to take a step of length $T t_1$. If the solution of an ODE (18) along one of the paths in the cubature formula started at Y_{t_1} with step length $T t_1$ leaves the domain, we take a shorter step of length $\theta(T t_1)$ from Y_{t_1} for some $\theta \in (0, 1)$.
- (b) We keep refining this step until the paths of each of the solved ODEs stay inside D resulting in nodes $Y_{t_2}^1, \ldots, Y_{t_2}^k$ for $t_2 = t_1 + \theta^l (T t_1)$ for some positive integer l.
- (c) If any of these nodes, for example $Y_{t_2}^i$, are in the δ -radius neighbourhood of the boundary of D, we define the approximation to our PDE problem to be equal to the exogenously given approximation at the point $Y_{t_2}^i$ and time $T t_2$ to maturity.
- (d) From all other nodes, we repeat this procedure from point (a).

To ensure tractability, we put a lower bound ε on the length of the time-steps. If at any time t_i and point Y_{t_i} , the next step of length at least ε results in an ODE solution trajectory leaving the domain D, we use the exogenously given approximation at Y_{t_i} and time $T - t_i$ from maturity. Fig. 4 outlines the algorithm.

² We acknowledge Peter Friz who brought the Wong-Zakai approximation property of the cubature paths to our attention.



Fig. 4 Detection of boundary crossing

If the boundary condition is not constant, for example when one would like to approximate the expectation

$$\mathbb{E}_{\mathbb{P}}\left[g(Y_T^{\mathcal{Y}})\mathbf{1}_{\{\tau>T\}} + h(Y_\tau^{\mathcal{Y}})\mathbf{1}_{\{\tau\leq T\}}\right]$$
(26)

for some function h, the following extension of the state space might be useful:

$$dY_t^y = V_0(Y_t^y)dt + \sum_{i=1}^d V_i(Y_t^y) \circ dB_t^i, \ Y_0^y = y,$$

$$dA_t = \phi(Y_t)dt, \ A_0 = 0$$

$$dX_t = \eta(A_t)dY_t^y, \ X_0 = y$$

where η is a smooth approximation of the Dirac delta function assigned to 0. The process X_t approximates the stopped process $Y_{t \wedge \tau}$, and the payoff can be approximated by

$$g(Y_T^{y})\mathbf{1}_{\{\tau>T\}} + h(Y_{\tau}^{y})\mathbf{1}_{\{\tau\leq T\}} \approx g(Y_T^{y})\mathbf{1}_{\{A_T\leq 0\}} + h(X_T)\mathbf{1}_{\{A_T>T\}}.$$

The accuracy of this method depends on the choice of η .

5 Numerical Results

In this section, we present some numerical results. We tested the classical version of the cubature on Wiener space method on PDEs with smooth terminal conditions; furthermore, we tested Kusuoka's uneven partition and the repeated cubature method on PDEs with piece-wise continuous terminal condition. The algorithm was implemented in C++ using double precision floating point numbers. We remark that the accuracy of high-order cubature formulae combined with the repeated cubature algorithm can be better exploited using higher precision numbers. Packages with high precision number are available for C++.

In all the test runs, we worked with autonomous ODEs defined by (19). One should use high-order numerical solvers to approximate the solution to these ODEs. However, we have chosen our test cases such that the exact solution to the arising ODEs is known, and there is no need for the numerical approximation of these ODEs. The impact of the high and the low accuracy numerical ODE solvers was numerically analysed in [5] and in [20].

5.1 Smooth Terminal Condition

The following SDE was chosen for the first set of test runs.

$$dY_t = aY_t dt + bY_t dB_t$$
$$dA_t = Y_t dt,$$

that is $V_0(x, y) = (ax, x)$ and $V_1(x, y) = (bx, 0)$. This choice was motivated by the following two facts. Firstly, the solution to the above SDE and the explicit expectation of any polynomial of Y_T and A_T is known; the approximation error can directly be measured. Secondly, the Lie-bracket of the corresponding vector fields W_0 and W_1 is of the form

$$[W_0, W_1](x, y) = -bx\frac{\partial}{\partial y}$$

This implies that for any Lie polynomial $L \in \mathcal{L}^{(m)}$, the vector field $\Gamma(\langle t, L \rangle)$ has the following form

$$\Gamma(\langle t,L\rangle) = c_1 x \frac{\partial}{\partial x} + c_2 x \frac{\partial}{\partial y}$$

where c_1 and c_2 are some constants depending on L. Therefore, the solution to the autonomous ODE driven by the vector field $\Gamma(\langle t, L \rangle)$ is explicitly known, and there is no need for any numerical approximation. This also implies that the set $\{W_0, W_1\}$ satisfies the UFG condition 4.

Furthermore, note that the system $\{W_0, W_1\}$ is not nilpotent, that is the algebra homomorphism Γ does not map any of the Lie-brackets appearing in the cubature formulae (written in terms of Lie polynomials, see the appendix) to the constant zero function. Therefore, the above SDE is also useful for testing the newly derived cubature formulae for typos and mistakes.

We implemented the degree 3, 5, 7, 9 and 11 cubature formulae corresponding to the 1-dimensional driving noise with respectively 2, 3, 6, 12 and 30 Lie elements



Fig. 6 Estimating $\mathbb{E}[A_T^2 Y_T]$

in their support (see the appendix for details). The method was applied to the estimation of the expectation of certain polynomials of Y_T and A_T with parameters T = 0.25, a = 0.1 and b = 0.2. Figures 5 and 6 show the results corresponding to $\mathbb{E}[A_T^3]$ and $\mathbb{E}[A_T^2S_T]$, respectively. On the left-hand side chart of each figure the approximation error is plotted against the number of steps in the cubature tree. On the right-hand side graphs in each figure, we plotted the approximation error against the number of ODEs solved for the approximation. Since we were working with the exact solution of the arising ODEs and the evaluation of this solution had roughly equal computational expense for each of the different degree cubature formulae, the number of ODEs solved in each run results in a reasonable accurate measure of the computational expense.

We can observe that the empirical rate of convergence (also plotted) is very close to the theoretical one. The efficiency of high-degree cubature formulae in terms of accuracy at a given computational expense is conspicuous. We ran each formula up to a level with at most 10⁹ ODEs. When estimating $\mathbb{E}[A_T^3]$, the degree 11 formula after 3 steps (corresponding to 27, 930 ODEs) outperformed each of the lower degree formulae.

The performance of the degree 11 formula becomes even more remarkable if we estimate the sample size required by a pure Monte-Carlo method (based on independent sampling without any variance reduction technique) to attain similar accuracy. The standard deviation of A_T^3 is approximately 0.00287597203, and the standard deviation of $A_T^2 S_T$ is approximately 0.01407034093. Recalling that the standard deviation of the Monte-Carlo estimate scales with the square root of the sample size, a sample of size at least 10^{20} is required of both A_T^3 and $A_T^2 S_T$ to result in an estimate with standard deviation of order of magnitude 10^{-12} . With the 4-step degree 11 formula (with less than 10^6 ODEs), we attained an error smaller than 10^{-12} .

Admittedly, in 1-dimension, the Monte-Carlo method is outperformed by finite difference and finite element methods. However, we believe that high-degree cubature methods (especially when combined with recombination) are significantly more efficient compared to finite difference or finite element methods on problems with smooth terminal conditions.

5.2 Piece-Wise Smooth Terminal Condition

In this section, we consider two piece-wise smooth terminal condition functions: $f(x) = (x_K)^+$ and $g(x) = \mathbf{1}_{\{x>K\}}$. The underlying SDE is $dY_t = dB_t$, that is $V_0(x) = 0$, $V_1(x) = 1$. The parameters used are T = 0.25, K = 0.6. The function f is Lipschitz continuous; hence, Kusuoka's estimate based on uneven partitions applies. The function g is discontinuous and Kusuoka's results do not apply. Nevertheless, we experimented with Kusuoka's uneven partition. Partitions corresponding to different γ parameters were tested. Figure 7 illustrates the results corresponding to the least absolute error. We attained an error of order of magnitude 10^{-7} on the Lipschitz continuous terminal condition and 10^{-4} accuracy on the discontinuous terminal condition. Empirically, we observed convergence in both cases, although the order of convergence is not clear.

Since this system satisfies Assumption 1, we also applied the repeated cubature algorithm to the same SDE and terminal conditions. We used cubature formulae of degree³ 9, 11 and 23, θ parameters between 0.2 and 0.4. Condition 1 was checked by comparing Q_t to $Q_{\theta t}Q_{(1-t)\theta}$ as described in Remark 4. Furthermore, the algorithm was using the recombination algorithm of Litterer and Lyons [13,14]. Figure 8 shows the error of different approximations of $\mathbb{E}[(B_T - K)^+]$ and $\mathbb{E}[\mathbf{1}_{\{B_T < K\}}]$ respectively. Given a cubature formula of degree *m* and a $\theta \in (0, 1)$, the estimate

³ This test case falls under the scope of the nilpotent problem; therefore, cubature formulae of degree greater than 11 are available. See Sect. A.11 for details.



Fig. 7 Estimating $\mathbb{E}[(B_T - K)^+]$ (left-hand side graph) and $\mathbb{E}[\mathbf{1}_{\{B_T > K\}}]$ (right-hand side graph) using Kusuoka's uneven partition



Fig. 8 Estimating $\mathbb{E}[(B_T - K)^+]$ (left-hand side graph) and $\mathbb{E}[\mathbf{1}_{\{B_T < K\}}]$ (right-hand side graph) with the repeated cubature algorithm

is not expected to be better than the accuracy of the degree *m* formula on a time step of length θT . Each curve on the graphs of Fig. 8 corresponds to a cubature formula and a fixed θ . In general, on each curve, we observe a downward trend up to certain number of levels (depending on the degree and θ), then the curve flattens. Corollary 3 implies this behaviour.

Running the repeated cubature method with many different sets of parameters, we observe that the smaller θ is, the higher accuracy is achievable, however the more levels we need to work out. The empirical results suggest that the repeated cubature is efficient with a combination of θ close to 1/2 and a very high degree cubature formula. Furthermore, recombination is a crucial ingredient.

Appendix: Polynomial Equations and Solutions

The construction of the cubature formulae consists of two steps. First, the system (17) corresponding to the pair m and d is derived. We adapted and used the libalgebra⁴ package for this purpose. This package contains an implementation of polynomial, lie algebra and tensor algebra objects and operations. This phase is completely done by software.

The second phase is to derive a solution to the system (17). We have no general algorithm solving the system; in each case, we have an ad-hoc approach. Typically, we use a degree m (or higher) Gaussian cubature formula in d-dimensions to determine the random coefficients of e_1, \ldots, e_d . Then, we split some cases into further sub-cases satisfying the rest of the conditions.

Note that in some special nilpotent cases, the elements in the cubature formulae introduced below can be simplified and the number of elements in the support of the formula can be reduced. For example, in the 3-nilpotent case (i.e. when all Lie-brackets formed by more than two vector fields in the set $\{W_0, \ldots, W_d\}$ vanish), the degree 3 cubature formula corresponding to the 1-dimensional case also satisfies the moment conditions of the degree 5 cubature formula. Coincidentally, in the 3-nilpotent case in 1-dimension, the degree 9 cubature formula also satisfies the moment conditions of the degree 11 cubature formula.

A.1 Degree 3, Dimension 1

For the degree 3 case in one dimension, (15) has a solution of the form

$$L_i = e_0 + \alpha_{i,1}e_1$$

where the corresponding system (17) is

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} = 1 \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,1} = 0 \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,1}^{2} = 1 \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,1}^{3} = 0$$

The vectors $(\lambda_1, \lambda_2) = (\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}), (\alpha_{1,1}, \alpha_{2,1}) = (-1, 1)$ solve the above system of polynomial equations.

⁴ Implemented by the CoRoPa project, http://coropa.sourceforge.net/

A.2 Degree 3 in General

In general, for d > 1 and m = 3, (15) has a solution of the form

$$L_i = e_0 + \sum_{j=1}^d \alpha_{i,j} e_j$$

where the corresponding system (17) is

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} = 1 \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,j}^{2} = 1, \ j = 1 \dots d$$

and all coefficients of terms in $\sum_{i=1}^{n} \pi_m \exp(L_i)$ (when expressed in the basis given by the symmetrized products of Lie-basis elements described in Corollary 1) different from the ones above are all zero. There is a solution with $n = 2^d$ derived in [18]. Here we present a solution with n = 2d.

$$\alpha_{i,j} = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\lambda_i}} & \text{if } i = 2j - 1\\ -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2\lambda_i}} & \text{if } i = 2j\\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

where $\lambda_{2k} = \lambda_{2k-1} > 0$ for $k = 1 \dots d$ such that $\sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_i = 1$.

A.3 Degree 5, Dimension 1

Equation (15) has a solution of the form

$$L_i = e_0 + \alpha_{i,1}e_1 + \alpha_{i,2}[e_1, [e_0, e_1]]$$

where the corresponding system (17) is

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} = 1 \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,1}^{2} = 1 \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,1}^{4} = 3 \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,1} \alpha_{i,2} = 0$$
$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,1} = 0 \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,1}^{3} = 0 \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,1}^{5} = 0 \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,2} = -\frac{1}{12}$$

The vectors $(\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \lambda_3) = (\frac{1}{6}, \frac{2}{3}, \frac{1}{6}), (\alpha_{1,1}, \alpha_{2,1}, \alpha_{3,1}) = (-\sqrt{3}, 0, \sqrt{3})$ and

Efficient and Practical Implementations of Cubature on Wiener Space

$$(\alpha_{1,2}, \alpha_{2,2}, \alpha_{3,2}) = \left(-\frac{1}{12}, -\frac{1}{12}, -\frac{1}{12}\right)$$

solve the above system of polynomial equations.

A.4 Degree 5, Dimension 2

The degree 5 cubature formula in 2 dimensions satisfies the following conditions.

$$L_{i} = e_{0} + \alpha_{i,1}e_{1} + \alpha_{i,2}e_{2} + \alpha_{i,3}[e_{1}, e_{2}] + \alpha_{i,4}[e_{1}, [e_{0}, e_{1}]] + \alpha_{i,5}[e_{1}, [e_{1}, e_{2}]] + \alpha_{i,6}[e_{2}, [e_{0}, e_{2}]] + \alpha_{i,7}[e_{2}, [e_{1}, e_{2}]]$$

where the corresponding system (17) is

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} = 1 \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,2}^{2} = 1 \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,4} = -\frac{1}{12} \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,2} \alpha_{i,5} = \frac{1}{12}$$
$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,1}^{2} = 1 \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,2}^{4} = 3 \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,6} = -\frac{1}{12} \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,2}^{2} \alpha_{i,2}^{2} = 1$$
$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,1}^{4} = 3 \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,3}^{2} = \frac{1}{4} \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,1} \alpha_{i,7} = -\frac{1}{12}$$

and all coefficients of terms in $\sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_i \pi_m \exp(L_i)$ (when expressed in the basis given by the symmetrized products of Lie-basis elements described in Corollary 1) different from the ones above are all zero. A solution to this system is derived in [18] with n = 18. Here we present an alternative solution with n = 10:

furthermore, $\alpha_{i,4} = -1/12$, $\alpha_{i,5} = \alpha_{i,2}/12$, $\alpha_{i,6} = -1/12$ and $\alpha_{i,7} = \alpha_{i,1}/12$ for $i = 1 \dots 10$ with $\mu_1 = 1/36$, $\mu_2 = 1/9$ and $\mu_3 = 2/9$.

101

Another solution, that is not permutation-invariant with n = 8:

i	λ_i	$\alpha_{i,1}$	$\alpha_{i,2}$	$\alpha_{i,3}$
1	v_1	$\sqrt{3}$	1	0
2	v_1	$\sqrt{3}$	-1	0
3	v_1	0	2	0
4	v_2	0	0	$1/(2\sqrt{2\nu_2})$
5	v_2	0	0	$-1/(2\sqrt{2\nu_2})$
6	v_1	0	-2	0
7	v_1	$-\sqrt{3}$	1	0
8	v_1	$-\sqrt{3}$	-1	0

furthermore, $\alpha_{i,4} = -1/12$, $\alpha_{i,5} = \alpha_{i,2}/12$, $\alpha_{i,6} = -1/12$ and $\alpha_{i,7} = \alpha_{i,1}/12$ for $i = 1 \dots 8$ with $\nu_1 = 1/12$, $\nu_2 = 1/4$.

A.5 Degree 5 in General

In [18], a general construction of degree 5 cubature formulae in d dimensions is derived that is based on the d-dimensional Gaussian cubature formula. If the underlying Gaussian cubature measure has k points in its support, the construction generates a cubature formula on the Wiener space with 2k points.

Using the key idea in Sect. A.2, it's possible to generate a cubature formula with k + 2d - 1 points.

A.6 Degree 7, Dimension 1

The degree 7 cubature formula in 1 dimension satisfies the following conditions.

$$L_i = e_0 + \alpha_{i,1}e_1 + \alpha_{i,2}[e_0, e_1] + \alpha_{i,3}[e_1, [e_0, e_1]] + \alpha_{i,4}[e_1, [e_1, [e_1, [e_0, e_1]]]]$$

where the corresponding system (17) is

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} = 1 \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,1}^{4} = 3 \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,2}^{2} = \frac{1}{12} \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,4} = -\frac{1}{360}$$
$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,1}^{2} = 1 \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,1}^{6} = 15 \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,3} = -\frac{1}{12} \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,1}^{2} \alpha_{i,3} = -\frac{1}{12}$$

and all coefficients of terms in $\sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_i \pi_m \exp(L_i)$ (when expressed in the basis given by the symmetrized products of Lie-basis elements described in Corollary 1) different from the ones above are all zero.
A solution is derived in [13] with n = 8. Here we present a solution with n = 6.

Let the weights $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_5$ and points z_1, \ldots, z_5 define a degree 5 Gaussian cubature formula, such that $z_3 = 0$. The solution is specified in the table below:

furthermore, $\alpha_{i,3} = -1/12$ and $\alpha_{i,4} = -1/360$ for i = 1...6.

A.7 Degree 7, Dimension 2

The degree 7 cubature formula in 2 dimensions satisfies the following conditions. The parametrized lie element is

$$\begin{split} L_i &= e_0 + \alpha_{i,1}e_1 + \alpha_{i,2}e_2 + \alpha_{i,3}[e_0,e_1] + \alpha_{i,4}[e_0,e_2] + \alpha_{i,5}[e_1,e_2] + \alpha_{i,6}[e_1,[e_0,e_1]] \\ &+ \alpha_{i,7}[e_1,[e_1,e_2]] + \alpha_{i,8}[e_2,[e_0,e_2]] + \alpha_{i,9}[e_2,[e_1,e_2]] + \alpha_{i,10}[e_1,[e_1,[e_1,e_2]]]] \\ &+ \alpha_{i,11}[e_2,[e_2,[e_1,e_2]]] + \alpha_{i,12}[e_1,[e_1,[e_1,e_0,e_1]]]] + \alpha_{i,13}[e_1,[e_1,[e_1,e_1,e_2]]]] \\ &+ \alpha_{i,14}[e_2,[e_1,[e_1,[e_0,e_2]]]] + \alpha_{i,15}[e_2,[e_1,[e_1,e_1,e_2]]]] \\ &+ \alpha_{i,16}[e_2,[e_2,[e_1,[e_0,e_1]]]] + \alpha_{i,17}[e_2,[e_2,[e_1,[e_1,e_2]]]] \\ &+ \alpha_{i,18}[e_2,[e_2,[e_2,[e_0,e_2]]]] + \alpha_{i,19}[e_2,[e_2,[e_2,[e_1,e_2]]]] \\ &+ \alpha_{i,20}[[e_0,e_1],[e_2,[e_1,e_2]]] + \alpha_{i,21}[[e_0,e_2],[e_1,[e_1,e_2]]]] \\ &+ \alpha_{i,22}[[e_1,e_2],[e_1,[e_0,e_2]]] + \alpha_{i,22}[[e_1,e_2],[e_1,[e_1,e_2]]] \\ &+ \alpha_{i,24}[[e_1,e_2],[e_2,[e_0,e_1]]] + \alpha_{i,25}[[e_1,e_2],[e_2,[e_1,e_2]]] \end{split}$$

where the corresponding system (17) is

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} = 1 \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,16} = -\frac{1}{360} \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,1}^{4} \alpha_{i,2}^{2} = 3$$
$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,1}^{2} = 1 \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,18} = -\frac{1}{360} \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,2} \alpha_{i,7} = \frac{1}{12}$$
$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,1}^{4} = 3 \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,20} = -\frac{1}{360} \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,2} \alpha_{i,13} = \frac{1}{360}$$

$$\begin{split} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,1}^{6} &= 15 \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,21} = \frac{1}{180} \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,2} \alpha_{i,17} = \frac{1}{360} \\ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,2}^{2} &= 1 \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,22} = -\frac{1}{60} \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,2} \alpha_{i,25} = -\frac{1}{120} \\ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,2}^{4} &= 3 \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,24} = \frac{1}{90} \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,2}^{2} \alpha_{i,5}^{2} = \frac{5}{12} \\ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,2}^{6} &= 15 \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,1} \alpha_{i,9} = -\frac{1}{12} \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,2}^{2} \alpha_{i,6} = -\frac{1}{12} \\ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,3}^{2} &= \frac{1}{12} \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,1} \alpha_{i,15} = -\frac{1}{360} \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,2}^{2} \alpha_{i,6} = -\frac{1}{12} \\ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,3}^{2} &= \frac{1}{12} \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,1} \alpha_{i,15} = -\frac{1}{360} \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,2}^{2} \alpha_{i,6} = -\frac{1}{12} \\ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,2}^{2} &= \frac{1}{4} \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,1} \alpha_{i,19} = -\frac{1}{360} \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,5} \alpha_{i,10} = \frac{1}{72} \\ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,5}^{2} &= \frac{1}{4} \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,1} \alpha_{i,23} = -\frac{1}{90} \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,5} \alpha_{i,10} = \frac{1}{72} \\ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,6}^{2} &= -\frac{1}{12} \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,1} \alpha_{i,23} = -\frac{1}{90} \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,5} \alpha_{i,10} = \frac{1}{72} \\ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,6}^{2} &= \frac{1}{12} \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,1} \alpha_{i,23} = -\frac{1}{90} \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,5} \alpha_{i,11} = \frac{1}{72} \\ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,6}^{2} &= \frac{1}{12} \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,1}^{2} \alpha_{i,2}^{2} = 1 \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,1} \alpha_{i,6} = -\frac{1}{12} \\ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,6}^{2} &= \frac{1}{12} \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,1}^{2} \alpha_{i,6}^{2} = \frac{1}{12} \\ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,2}^{2} &= \frac{5}{144} \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,1}^{2} \alpha_{i,6}^{2} = \frac{5}{12} \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,1} \alpha_{i,2} \alpha_{i,7} = \frac{1}{12} \\ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,12}^{2} &= -\frac{1}{360} \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,1}^{2} \alpha_{i,6} = -\frac{1}{12} \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,2} \alpha_{i,3} \alpha_{i,7} = \frac{1}{12} \\ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,14}^{2} &= -\frac{1}{360} \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,1}^{2} \alpha_{i,9} = -\frac{1}{12} \\ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda$$

and all coefficients of terms in $\sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_i \pi_m \exp(L_i)$ (when expressed in the basis given by the symmetrized products of Lie-basis elements described in Corollary 1) different from the ones above are all zero. A solution to this system is derived in [13] with n = 50.

A.8 Degree 7, Dimension 3

The Lie-elements in the support of the 3-dimensional degree 7 cubature formula are spanned by 91 Lie-basis elements. There are over 150 conditions in the form of inhomogeneous polynomial equations satisfied by the parameters and a couple of more homogeneous polynomial equations.

A.9 Degree 9, Dimension 1

The degree 9 cubature formula in 1 dimension satisfies the following conditions.

$$\begin{split} L_{i} &= e_{0} + \alpha_{i,1}e_{1} + \alpha_{i,2}[e_{0}, e_{1}] + \alpha_{i,3}[e_{1}, [e_{0}, e_{1}]] + \alpha_{i,4}[e_{1}, [e_{1}, [e_{0}, e_{1}]]] \\ &+ \alpha_{i,5}[e_{1}, [e_{0}, [e_{0}, [e_{0}, e_{1}]]]] + \alpha_{i,6}[e_{1}, [e_{1}, [e_{0}, [e_{0}, e_{1}]]]] + \alpha_{i,7}[e_{1}, [e_{1}, [e_{1}, [e_{0}, e_{1}]]]] \\ &+ \alpha_{i,8}[[e_{0}, e_{1}], [e_{0}, [e_{0}, e_{1}]]] + \alpha_{i,9}[[e_{0}, e_{1}], [e_{1}, [e_{0}, e_{1}]]] \\ &+ \alpha_{i,10}[e_{1}, [e_{1}, [e_{1}, [e_{1}, [e_{1}, [e_{0}, e_{1}]]]]]] \end{split}$$

where the corresponding system (17) is

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} = 1 \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,1}^{8} = 105 \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,7} = -\frac{1}{360} \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,2}^{2} = \frac{1}{12}$$

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,1}^{2} = 1 \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,2}^{2} = \frac{1}{12} \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,8} = -\frac{1}{720} \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,3}^{2} = -\frac{1}{12}$$

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,1}^{4} = 3 \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,3} = -\frac{1}{12} \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,10} = -\frac{1}{6720} \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,1}^{4} = -\frac{1}{4}$$

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,1}^{6} = 15 \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,3}^{2} = \frac{1}{72} \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,1} \alpha_{i,6} = \frac{1}{360} \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,2} \alpha_{i,4} = \frac{1}{144}$$

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,5} = \frac{1}{720} \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,1} \alpha_{i,9} = -\frac{1}{720}$$

and all coefficients of terms in $\sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_i \pi_m \exp(L_i)$ (when expressed in the basis given by the symmetrized products of Lie-basis elements described in Corollary 1) different from the ones above are all zero.

A solution to this system with n = 12 is constructed as follows. Let the weights μ_1, \ldots, μ_5 and points $z_1, z_2, 0, -z_2$ and $-z_1$ define a degree 9 Gaussian quadrature formula in 1 dimension. The solution is specified in the table below:

furthermore, $\alpha_{i,4} = \alpha_{i,2}/12$, $\alpha_{i,5} = 1/720$, $\alpha_{i,6} = \alpha_{i,1}/360$, $\alpha_{i,8} = -1/720$, $\alpha_{i,9} = -\alpha_{i,1}/720$ and $\alpha_{i,10} = -1/6720$ for $i = 1 \dots 12$, where

$$c_{1} = \left(\frac{1-\mu_{3}}{12} - \frac{1}{12}\right) \frac{1}{\mu_{3}}$$

$$c_{2} = \sqrt{\left(\frac{1}{72} - \frac{1-\mu_{3}}{144} - c_{1}^{2}\mu_{3}\right) \frac{1}{\mu_{3}}}$$

A.10 Degree 11, Dimension 1

The degree 11 cubature formula in 1 dimensions satisfies the following conditions.

$$\begin{split} L_i &= e_0 + \alpha_{i,1}e_1 + \alpha_{i,2}[e_0, e_1] + \alpha_{i,3}[e_0, [e_0, e_1]] + \alpha_{i,4}[e_1, [e_0, e_1]] \\ &+ \alpha_{i,5}[e_0, [e_0, [e_0, e_1]]] + \alpha_{i,6}[e_1, [e_0, [e_0, e_1]]] + \alpha_{i,7}[e_1, [e_1, [e_0, e_1]]] \\ &+ \alpha_{i,8}[e_1, [e_0, [e_0, e_0, e_1]]]] + \alpha_{i,9}[e_1, [e_1, [e_0, [e_0, e_1]]]] \\ &+ \alpha_{i,10}[e_1, [e_1, [e_1, [e_0, e_1]]]] + \alpha_{i,11}[[e_0, e_1], [e_0, [e_0, e_1]]]] \\ &+ \alpha_{i,12}[[e_0, e_1], [e_1, [e_0, e_0, [e_0, e_1]]]] + \alpha_{i,13}[e_1, [e_1, [e_1, [e_1, [e_0, [e_0, e_1]]]]] \\ &+ \alpha_{i,14}[e_1, [e_1, [e_1, [e_0, [e_0, e_0, e_1]]]]] + \alpha_{i,15}[e_1, [e_1, [e_1, [e_0, [e_0, e_1]]]]] \\ &+ \alpha_{i,16}[e_1, [e_1, [e_1, [e_1, [e_0, e_1]]]]] + \alpha_{i,17}[[e_0, e_1], [e_1, [e_0, [e_0, e_1]]]]] \\ &+ \alpha_{i,18}[[e_0, e_1], [e_1, [e_1, [e_1, [e_0, e_1]]]]] + \alpha_{i,21}[[e_1, [e_0, e_1], [e_1, [e_0, [e_0, e_1]]]]] \\ &+ \alpha_{i,20}[[e_0, [e_0, e_1]], [e_1, [e_1, [e_0, e_1]]]] + \alpha_{i,21}[[e_1, [e_0, e_1]], [e_1, [e_0, [e_0, e_1]]]] \\ &+ \alpha_{i,22}[[e_1, [e_0, e_1]], [e_1, [e_1, [e_1, [e_0, e_1]]]]] \\ &+ \alpha_{i,23}[e_1, [e_1, [e_1, [e_1, [e_1, [e_1, [e_0, e_1]]]]] \\ &+ \alpha_{i,23}[e_1, [e_1, [e_1, [e_1, [e_1, [e_0, e_1]]]]] \\ &+ \alpha_{i,23}[e_1, [e_1, [e_1, [e_1, [e_1, [e_0, e_1]]]]] \\ &+ \alpha_{i,23}[e_1, [e_1, [e_1, [e_1, [e_1, [e_1, [e_0, e_1]]]]] \\ &+ \alpha_{i,23}[e_1, [e_1, [e_1, [e_1, [e_1, [e_1, [e_0, e_1]]]]] \\ &+ \alpha_{i,23}[e_1, [e_1, [e_1, [e_1, [e_1, [e_1, [e_0, e_1]]]]] \\ &+ \alpha_{i,23}[e_1, [e_1, [e_1, [e_1, [e_1, [e_1, [e_0, e_1]]]]] \\ &+ \alpha_{i,23}[e_1, [e_1, [e_1, [e_1, [e_1, [e_1, [e_0, e_1]]]]] \\ &+ \alpha_{i,23}[e_1, [e_1, [e_1, [e_1, [e_1, [e_1, [e_0, e_1]]]]] \\ &+ \alpha_{i,23}[e_1, [e_1, [e_1, [e_1, [e_1, [e_1, [e_0, e_1]]]]] \\ &+ \alpha_{i,23}[e_1, [e_1, [e_1, [e_1, [e_1, [e_1, [e_0, e_1]]]]]] \\ &+ \alpha_{i,23}[e_1, [e_1, [e_1, [e_1, [e_1, [e_1, [e_0, e_1]]]]] \\ &+ \alpha_{i,23}[e_1, [e_1, [e_1, [e_1, [e_1, [e_1, [e_0, e_1]]]]] \\ &+ \alpha_{i,23}[e_1, [e_1, [e_1, [e_1, [e_1, [e_1, [e_0, e_1]]]]] \\ &+ \alpha_{i,23}[e_1, [e_1, [e_1, [e_1, [e_1, [e_1, [e_0, e_1]]]]] \\ &+ \alpha_{i,23}[e_1, [e_1, [e_1, [e_1, [e_1, [e_1, [e_0, e_1]]]]] \\ &+ \alpha_{i,23}[e_1, [e_1, [e_1, [e_1, [$$

where the corresponding system (17) is

$$\begin{split} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} &= 1 & \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,16} = -\frac{1}{6720} & \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,16}^{2} = -\frac{1}{2880} \\ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,1}^{2} &= 1 & \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,17} = -\frac{1}{10080} & \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,19}^{3} = \frac{1}{120} \\ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,1}^{4} &= 3 & \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,19} = -\frac{1}{10080} & \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,12}^{3} = -\frac{1}{240} \\ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,1}^{6} &= 15 & \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,20} = \frac{1}{2520} & \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,14}^{4} = -\frac{1}{4} \\ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,1}^{8} &= 105 & \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,23} = \frac{1}{201600} & \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,10}^{4} = -\frac{1}{4} \\ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,1}^{10} &= 945 & \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,123} = \frac{1}{201600} & \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,10}^{6} = -\frac{5}{4} \\ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,2}^{2} &= \frac{1}{12} & \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,1} \alpha_{i,12} = -\frac{1}{720} & \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,23}^{6} = -\frac{1}{720} \\ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,3}^{2} &= \frac{1}{720} & \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,1} \alpha_{i,15} = -\frac{1}{5040} & \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,2} \alpha_{i,5} = -\frac{1}{144} \\ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,4}^{2} &= \frac{1}{12} & \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,1} \alpha_{i,15} = -\frac{1}{5040} & \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,2} \alpha_{i,13} = \frac{1}{2880} \\ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,2}^{2} &= \frac{1}{12} & \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,1} \alpha_{i,16} = -\frac{1}{10080} & \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,2} \alpha_{i,16} = -\frac{1}{144} \\ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,2}^{2} &= \frac{1}{12} & \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,1} \alpha_{i,16} = -\frac{1}{10080} & \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,2} \alpha_{i,16} = -\frac{1}{120} \\ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,16} &= -\frac{1}{120} & \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,17} \alpha_{i,27} = \frac{1}{144} \\ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,17} &= \frac{1}{1600} & \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,1} \alpha_{i,18} = -\frac{1}{10080} & \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,2} \alpha_{i,17} = \frac{1}{1440} \\ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,16} &= -\frac{1}{120} & \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,17} \alpha_{i,27} = \frac{1}{120} \\ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,10} &= -\frac{1}{1440} \\ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,10} &= -\frac{1}{1600} & \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,10} = \frac{1}{1440} \\ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,10} &= -\frac{1}{1600} & \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,10} = \frac{1}{1440} \\ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \alpha_{i,10$$

and all coefficients of terms in $\sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_i \pi_m \exp(L_i)$ (when expressed in the basis given by the symmetrized products of Lie-basis elements described in Corollary 1) different from the ones above are all zero.

Here we present a solution to this system with n = 30. Let the weights μ_1, \ldots, μ_7 and the roots of the roots z_1, \ldots, z_7 of the 7th Hermite polynomial define a degree 13 Gaussian cubature formula, such that $\mu_i = \mu_{8-i}, z_i = -z_{8-i}$ for i = 1, 2, 3 and $z_4 = 0, \mu_4 > 0$. The solution is specified in the table below:

i	λ_i	$\alpha_{i,1}$	$\alpha_{i,2}$	$\alpha_{i,3}$	$lpha_{i,4}$	$\alpha_{i,6}$	$\alpha_{i,7}$	$\alpha_{i,10}$
1	$\mu_1/4$	z_1	c_1	$c_3 \alpha_{1,1}$	$c_5\alpha_{1,1}+c_6$	c_{10}	$\alpha_{1,2}/20$	$c_{13}\alpha_{1,1}^2 + c_{14}$
2	$\mu_1/4$	z_1	$-c_1$	$-c_3\alpha_{2,1}$	$-c_5\alpha_{2,1}+c_6$	$-c_{10}$		
3	$\mu_1/4$	z_1	c_1	$-c_3 \alpha_{3,1}$	$-c_5\alpha_{3,1}+c_6$	c_{10}		
4	$\mu_1/4$	z_1	$-c_1$	$c_3\alpha_{4,1}$	$c_5 \alpha_{4,1} + c_6$	$-c_{10}$		
5	$\mu_2/4$	z_2	c_1	$c_3\alpha_{5,1}$	$c_5 \alpha_{5,1} + c_6$	c_{10}	•	
6	$\mu_2/4$	z_2	$-c_1$	$-c_{3}\alpha_{6,1}$	$-c_5 \alpha_{6,1} + c_6$	$-c_{10}$	•	
7	$\mu_2/4$	z_2	c_1	$-c_3 \alpha_{7,1}$	$-c_5 \alpha_{7,1} + c_6$	c_{10}	•	
8	$\mu_2/4$	z_2	$-c_1$	$c_3\alpha_{8,1}$	$c_5 \alpha_{8,1} + c_6$	$-c_{10}$		
9	$\mu_3/4$	<i>Z</i> 3	c_1	$c_{3}\alpha_{9,1}$	$c_5 \alpha_{9,1} + c_6$	c_{10}		
10	$\mu_3/4$	<i>Z</i> 3	$-c_1$	$-c_3\alpha_{10,1}$	$-c_5 \alpha_{10,1} + c_6$	$-c_{10}$		
11	$\mu_3/4$	<i>Z</i> 3	c_1	$-c_3\alpha_{11,1}$	$-c_5 \alpha_{11,1} + c_6$	c_{10}		
12	$\mu_3/4$	<i>Z</i> 3	$-c_1$	$c_3 \alpha_{12,1}$	$c_5 \alpha_{12,1} + c_6$	$-c_{10}$	$\alpha_{12,2}/20$	$c_{13}\alpha_{12,1}^2 + c_{14}$
13	$\mu_47/32$	0	0	<i>C</i> 4	$c_8 - c_9$	0	<i>c</i> ₁₂	C ₁₆
14	$\mu_47/32$	0	0	$-c_{4}$	$c_8 + c_9$	0	<i>c</i> ₁₂	C ₁₆
15	$\mu_4/16$	0	c_2	0	<i>C</i> ₇	0	c_{11}	c ₁₅
16	$\mu_4/16$	0	$-c_{2}$	0	С7	0	$-c_{11}$	<i>c</i> ₁₅
17	$\mu_47/32$	0	0	<i>C</i> 4	$c_{8} + c_{9}$	0	$-c_{12}$	C ₁₆
18	$\mu_47/32$	0	0	$-c_{4}$	$c_8 - c_9$	0	$-c_{12}$	C ₁₆
19	$\mu_5/4$	Z5	c_1	$-c_3 \alpha_{19,1}$	$c_5 \alpha_{19,1} + c_6$	$-c_{10}$	$\alpha_{19,2}/20$	$c_{13}\alpha_{19,1}^2 + c_{14}$
20	$\mu_5/4$	Z5	$-c_1$	$c_3\alpha_{20,1}$	$-c_5 \alpha_{20,1} + c_6$	c_{10}		
21	$\mu_5/4$	z_5	c_1	$c_3 \alpha_{21,1}$	$-c_5 \alpha_{21,1} + c_6$	$-c_{10}$		
22	$\mu_5/4$	Z5	$-c_1$	$-c_3\alpha_{22,1}$	$c_5 \alpha_{22,1} + c_6$	c_{10}		
23	$\mu_6/4$	<i>Z</i> 6	c_1	$-c_3\alpha_{23,1}$	$c_5 \alpha_{23,1} + c_6$	$-c_{10}$		
24	$\mu_6/4$	z_6	$-c_1$	$c_3\alpha_{24,1}$	$-c_5 \alpha_{24,1} + c_6$	c_{10}	•	
25	$\mu_6/4$	z_6	c_1	$c_3 \alpha_{25,1}$	$-c_5 \alpha_{25,1} + c_6$	$-c_{10}$	•	
26	$\mu_6/4$	<i>z</i> 6	$-c_1$	$-c_3\alpha_{26,1}$	$c_5 \alpha_{26,1} + c_6$	c_{10}	•	
27	$\mu_7/4$	Z7	c_1	$-c_3 \alpha_{27,1}$	$c_5 \alpha_{27,1} + c_6$	$-c_{10}$		
28	$\mu_7/4$	Z7	$-c_1$	$c_3\alpha_{28,1}$	$-c_5 \alpha_{28,1} + c_6$	c_{10}		
29	$\mu_7/4$	Z7	c_1	$c_{3}\alpha_{29,1}$	$-c_5 \alpha_{29,1} + c_6$	$-c_{10}$		
30	$\mu_7/4$	Z7	$-c_1$	$-c_3 \alpha_{30,1}$	$c_5 \alpha_{30,1} + c_6$	c_{10}	$\alpha_{30,2}/20$	$c_{13}\alpha_{30,1}^2 + c_{14}$

furthermore,

$$\alpha_{i,5} = \frac{-\alpha_{i,2}}{60}$$
 $\alpha_{i,8} = \frac{1}{720}$, $\alpha_{i,9} = \frac{\alpha_{i,1}}{360}$, $\alpha_{i,11} = -\frac{1}{720}$,

$$\alpha_{i,12} = -\frac{\alpha_{i,1}}{720}, \quad \alpha_{i,13} = \frac{12\alpha_{i,2}}{2880} \quad \alpha_{i,14} = -\frac{1}{10080}, \quad \alpha_{i,15} = -\frac{\alpha_{i,1}}{5040},$$

$$\alpha_{i,16} = c_{17}\alpha_{i,1}^2 - c_{18}, \quad \alpha_{i,17} = -\frac{1}{10080}, \quad \alpha_{i,18} = -\frac{1}{10080}, \quad \alpha_{i,19} = -\frac{1}{10080},$$

$$\alpha_{i,20} = \frac{1}{2520}, \quad \alpha_{i,21} = -\frac{1}{1680}, \quad \alpha_{i,22} = -\frac{\alpha_{i,1}}{5040}, \quad \alpha_{i,23} = \frac{1}{201600}$$

for i = 1 ... 30, and

$$c_1 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{12}},$$
 $c_2 = \sqrt{\frac{2}{3}},$ $c_3 = \frac{1}{720c_5\sum_{i=1}^n \lambda_i |\alpha_{i,1}^3|},$

$$c_4 = \sqrt{\frac{1/720 - c_3^2}{(1 - 1/8)\mu_4}}, \qquad c_5 = \sqrt{\frac{1/60 - c_6^2}{3}}, \qquad c_6 = -\frac{1}{12},$$

$$c_7 = 8 \frac{-11/720 - c_1^2 c_6 (1 - \mu_4)}{\mu_4 c_2^2}, \quad c_8 = \frac{-1/12 - (1 - \mu_4) c_6 - c_7 \mu_4 / 8}{(1 - 1/8) \mu_4},$$

$$c_9 = \sqrt{\frac{1/72 - c_5^2 - (1 - \mu_4)c_6^2 - c_7^2\mu_4/8 - (1 - 1/8)\mu_4c_8^2}{(1 - 1/8)\mu_4}},$$

$$c_{10} = \frac{-1/360}{c_1 \sum_{i=1}^n \lambda_i |\alpha_{i,1}|}, \qquad c_{11} = 8 \frac{1/144 - (1 - \mu_4)c_1^2/20}{\mu_4 c_2},$$

$$c_{12} = \sqrt{\frac{1/960 - (1 - \mu_4)c_1^2/400 - \mu_4 c_{11}^2/8}{(1 - 1/8)\mu_4}}, \quad c_{13} = \frac{1}{720}, \quad c_{14} = -3c_{13},$$

$$\begin{pmatrix} c_{15} \\ c_{16} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{\mu_4}{8} & \left(1 - \frac{1}{8}\right)\mu_4 \\ \frac{c_7\mu_4}{8} & \left(1 - \frac{1}{8}\right)\mu_4c_8 \end{pmatrix}^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} -\frac{1}{360} - c_{13} - (1 - \mu_4)c_{14} \\ \frac{1}{1440} - c_6c_{13} - (1 - \mu_4)c_6c_{14} \end{pmatrix}$$

$$c_{17} = \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{1}{6720} - \frac{1}{2880} \right), \qquad c_{18} = \frac{-1}{6720} - c_{17}.$$

A.11 The 2-Nilpotent Case

Let the weights $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_k$ and points z_1, \ldots, z_k in \mathbb{R}^d form a degree *m* Gaussian cubature formula in *d*-dimensions. Then, in the special case when $[W_i, W_j] = 0$ for all $0 \le i, j \le d$ the weights $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_k$ and Lie elements L_1, \ldots, L_k form a degree *m* cubature formula on the Wiener space, where

$$L_i = e_0 + \sum_{j=1}^d z_i^j e_j.$$

For example, when N = 1, that is when the functions V_0, \ldots, V_d are $\mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ functions and $V_i(x) = \alpha_i x^{\beta}$ for any real β and $\alpha_i, i = 0, \ldots, d$, the above nilpotent condition is satisfied. Furthermore, the path $t \mapsto (t, z_i^1 t, \ldots, z_i^d t)$ has log-signature L_i on [0, 1].

References

- 1. Butcher, J.C.: Numerical methods for ordinary differential equations, 2nd edn. Wiley (2008)
- Chen, K.T.: Integration of paths, geometric invariant and generalized Campbell–Baker– Hausdorff formula. Ann. Math. II 65, 163–178 (1957)
- Crisan, D., Lyons, T.: Minimal entropy approximations and optimal algorithms. Monte Carlo methods Appl. 8(4), 343–355 (2002)
- Gyurkó, L.G., Lyons, T.J.: Rough Paths based numerical algorithms in computational finance, appeared in Mathematics in Finance. American Mathematical Society (2010)
- Gyurkó, L.G.: Numerical methods for approximating solutions to Rough Differential Equations. DPhil thesis, University of Oxford (2009)
- 6. Ikeda, N., Watanabe, S.: Stochastic differential equations and diffusion processes. North-Holland, Amsterdam (1981)
- Kloeden, P.E., Platen, E.: Numerical solution of stochastic differential equations. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, New York (1999)
- Kusuoka, S., Stroock, D.: Application of the Malliavin calculus III. J. Fac. Sci. Univ. Tokyo 1A(34), 391–442 (1987)
- 9. Kusuoka, S.: Approximation of expectation of diffusion process and mathematical finance. Adv. Stud. Pure Math. **31**, 147–165 (2001)
- Kusuoka, S.: Approximation of expectation of diffusion process based on Lie algebra and Malliavin calculus. Adv. Math. Econ. 6, 69–83 (2004)
- 11. Kusuoka, S.: Malliavin calculus Revisited. J. Math. Sci. Univ. Tokyo 10, 261–277 (2003)

- Kusuoka, S., Ninomiya, S.: A New Simulation Method of Diffusion Processes Applied to Finance, appeared in Stochastic Processes and Applications to Mathematical Finance: Proceedings of the Ritsumeikan International Symposium, Kusatsu, Shiga, Japan, 5–9 March 2003 (2004)
- 13. Litterer, C.: The signature in numerical algorithms. DPhil Thesis, Mathematical Institute, University of Oxford (2008)
- 14. Litterer, C., Lyons, T.J.: Cubature on Wiener space continued, appeared in Stochastic Processes and Applications to Mathematical Finance, Proceedings of the 6th Ritsumeikan International Symposium Ritsumeikan University, Japan, 6–10 March 2006 (2006)
- 15. Lyons, T.J.: Differential equations driven by rough signals. Revista Mathematica Iber. 14(2), 215–310 (1998)
- 16. Lyons, T.J., Qian, Z.: System control and rough paths. Oxford mathematical monographs, Clarendon Press, Oxford (2002)
- Lyons, T.J., Caruana, M., Lévy, T.: Differential equations driven by rough paths, Ecole d'Eté de Porbabilités de Saint-Flour XXXIV - 2004, Lecture Notes in Mathematics. Springer (2007)
- 18. Lyons, T.J., Victoir, N.: Cubature on Wiener Space. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. A 460, 169–198 (2004)
- Ninomiya, S.: A partial sampling method applied to the Kusuoka approximation. Monte Carlo Methods Appl. 9(1), 27–38 (2003)
- Ninomiya, M., Ninomiya, S.: A new weak approximation scheme of stochastic differential equations by using the Runge-Kutta method. Finance Stoch. 13, 415–443 (2009)
- Ninomiya, S., Victoir, N.: Weak approximation of stochastic differential equations and application to derivative pricing. Appl. Math. Finance 15(2), 107–121 (2008)
- Strichartz, R.S.: The Campbell–Baker–Hausdorff–Dynkin formula and solutions of differential equations. J. Funct. Anal. 72, 320–345 (1987)
- 23. Stroud, A.H.: Approximate calculation of multiple integrals. Prentice Hall (1971)

Equivalence of Stochastic Equations and Martingale Problems

Thomas G. Kurtz

Abstract The fact that the solution of a martingale problem for a diffusion process gives a weak solution of the corresponding Itô equation is well-known since the original work of Stroock and Varadhan. The result is typically proved by constructing the driving Brownian motion from the solution of the martingale problem and perhaps an auxiliary Brownian motion. This constructive approach is much more challenging for more general Markov processes where one would be required to construct a Poisson random measure from the sample paths of the solution of the martingale problem. A "soft" approach to this equivalence is presented here, which begins with a joint martingale problem for the solution of the desired stochastic equation and the driving processes and applies a Markov mapping theorem to show that any solution of the original martingale problem corresponds to a solution of the joint martingale problem. These results coupled with earlier results on the equivalence of forward equations and martingale problems show that the three standard approaches to specifying Markov processes (stochastic equations, martingale problems, and forward equations) are, under very general conditions, equivalent in the sense that existence and/or uniqueness of one implies existence and/or uniqueness for the other two.

Keywords Existence \cdot Forward equations \cdot Markov mapping theorem \cdot Markov processes \cdot Martingale problems \cdot Stochastic equations \cdot Uniqueness

MSC (2010): 60J25, 60H10, 60J35

T. G. Kurtz

Departments of Mathematic and Statistics, University of Wisconsin – Madison, 480 Lincoln Drive, Madison, WI 53706-1388, USA e-mail: kurtz@math.wisc.edu

D. Crisan (ed.), *Stochastic Analysis 2010*, DOI 10.1007/978-3-642-15358-7_6, © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2011

1 Introduction

Let X be a solution of an Itô equation

$$X(t) = X(0) + \int_0^t \sigma(X(s)) dW(s) + \int_0^t b(X(s)) ds,$$
 (1)

where X has values in \mathbb{R}^d , W is standard, *m*-dimensional Brownian motion, σ is a locally bounded $d \times m$ -matrix-valued function, and b is a locally bounded \mathbb{R}^d valued function. Let L be the corresponding differential generator

$$Lf(x) = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i,j} a_{ij}(x) \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x_i \partial x_j} f(x) + \sum_i b_i(x) \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} f(x).$$

If we define Af = Lf for $f \in \mathcal{D}(A) \equiv C_c^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$, the twice continuously differentiable functions with compact support in \mathbb{R}^d , then it follows from Itô's formula and the properties of the Itô integral that

$$f(X(t)) - f(X(0)) - \int_0^t Af(X(s)) ds = \int_0^t \nabla f(X(s))^T \sigma(X(s)) dW(s)$$
(2)

is a martingale and hence that X is a solution of the martingale problem for A (or more precisely, the $C_{\mathbb{R}^d}[0,\infty)$ -martingale problem for A). That the converse to this observation is, in a useful sense, true is an important fact observed early in the study of martingale problems for diffusion processes (Stroock and Varachan [1]). To state precisely the sense in which the assertion is true, we say that a process X with sample paths in $C_{\mathbb{R}^d}[0,\infty)$ is a *weak solution* of (1) if and only if there exists a probability space (Ω, \mathcal{F}, P) and stochastic processes \widetilde{X} and \widetilde{W} adapted to a filtration $\{\mathcal{F}_t\}$ such that \widetilde{X} has the same distribution as X, \widetilde{W} is an $\{\mathcal{F}_t\}$ -Brownian motion, and

$$\widetilde{X}(t) = \widetilde{X}(0) + \int_0^t \sigma(\widetilde{X}(s)) d\widetilde{W}(s) + \int_0^t b(\widetilde{X}(s)) ds.$$
(3)

We then have

Theorem 1.1. *X* is a solution of the $C_{\mathbb{R}^d}[0,\infty)$ -martingale problem for *A* if and only if *X* is a weak solution of (1).

Taking expectations in (2), we obtain the identity

$$\nu_t f = \nu_0 f + \int_0^t \nu_s A f \, \mathrm{d}s, \quad f \in \mathcal{D}(A), \tag{4}$$

which is just the weak form of the forward equation for $\{v_t\}$, the one-dimensional distributions of X. The converse of the observation that every solution of the martingale problem gives a solution of the forward equation is also true, and we have the following theorem. (See the construction in [2], Theorem 4.9.19, or [3], Theorem 2.6.)

Theorem 1.2. If X is a solution of the martingale problem for A, then $\{v_t\}$, the one-dimensional distributions of X, is a solution of the forward equation (4). If $\{v_t\}$ is a solution of (4), then there exists a solution X of the martingale problem for A such that $\{v_t\}$ are the one-dimensional distributions of X.

Note that Theorem 1.1, as stated, applies to solutions of the $C_{\mathbb{R}^d}[0,\infty)$ -martingale problem, that is, solutions whose sample paths are in $C_{\mathbb{R}^d}[0,\infty)$, while Theorem 1.2 does not have this restriction. In general, we cannot rule out the possibility that a solution of (1) hits infinity in finite time unless we add additional restrictions to the coefficients. One way around this issue is to allow X to take values in $\mathbb{R}^{d\Delta}$, the one-point compactification of \mathbb{R}^d , and to allow v_t to be in $\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^{d\Delta})$. To avoid problems with the definition of the stochastic integral in (1), we can replace (1) by the requirement that (2) hold for all $f \in C_c^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$, extending f to $\mathbb{R}^{d\Delta}$ by defining $f(\Delta) = 0$.

Given an initial distribution $v_0 \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^{d\Delta})$, we say that uniqueness holds for the martingale problem (or $C_{\mathbb{R}^d}[0,\infty)$ -martingale problem) for (A, v_0) if any two solutions of the martingale problem (resp. $C_{\mathbb{R}^d}[0,\infty)$ -martingale problem) for A with initial distribution v_0 have the same finite dimensional distributions. Similarly, weak uniqueness holds for (2) (or (1)) with initial distribution v_0 if any two weak solutions of (2) (resp. (1)) with initial distribution v_0 have the same finite dimensional distributions, and uniqueness holds for the forward equation (4) if any two solutions with initial distribution v_0 are the same.

Note that neither Theorem 1.1 nor Theorem 1.2 assumes uniqueness. Consequently, existence and uniqueness for the three problems are equivalent.

Corollary 1.3. Let $v_0 \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. The following are equivalent:

- (a) Uniqueness holds for the martingale problem for (A, v_0) .
- (b) Weak uniqueness holds for (2) with initial distribution v_0 .
- (c) Uniqueness holds for (4) with initial distribution v_0 .

The usual proof of Theorem 1.1 involves the construction of W in terms of the given solution X of the martingale problem. If d = m and σ is nonsingular, this construction is simple. In particular, if we define

$$M(t) = X(t) - \int_0^t b(X(s)) \mathrm{d}s,$$

then

$$W(t) = \int_0^t \sigma^{-1}(X(s)) \mathrm{d}M(s),$$

where σ^{-1} denotes the inverse of σ . If σ is singular, the construction involves an auxiliary Brownian motion independent of *X*. (See, for example, [4], Theorems 4.5.1 and 4.5.2, or [2], Theorem 5.3.3.)

A possible alternative approach is to consider the process Z = (X, Y) = (X, Y(0) + W). Of course,

$$dZ(t) = d\begin{pmatrix} X(t) \\ Y(0) + W(t) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \sigma(X(t)) \\ I \end{pmatrix} dW(t) + \begin{pmatrix} b(X(t)) \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} dt.$$
(5)

Note that each weak solution of (1) gives a weak solution of (5), and each weak solution of (5) gives a weak solution of (1). As before, using Itô's formula, it is simple to compute the generator \hat{A} corresponding to (5) (take the domain to be $C_c^2(\mathbb{R}^{d+m})$). Furthermore, since if one knows Z one knows W, it follows immediately that every solution of the martingale problem for \hat{A} is a weak solution of the stochastic differential equation. In particular, weak uniqueness for (5) implies uniqueness for the martingale problem for \hat{A} is a weak solution of (5) (and hence gives a weak solution of (1)) does not immediately imply that every solution of the martingale problem for \hat{A} is a weak solution of (5) (and hence gives a weak solution of (1)) does not immediately imply that every solution of the martingale problem for A is a weak solution of (1) since we must obtain the driving Brownian motion. In particular, we cannot immediately conclude that uniqueness for (1) implies uniqueness for the martingale problem for A.

In fact, however, an argument along the lines described can be used to show that each solution of the martingale problem for A is a weak solution of (1). For simplicity, assume d = m = 1. Instead of augmenting the state by Y(0) + W, augment the state by

$$Y(t) = Y(0) + W(t) \mod 2\pi.$$

We can still recover W from observations of the increments of Y. For example, if we set

$$\zeta(t) = \begin{pmatrix} \cos(Y(t)) + \int_0^t \frac{1}{2} \cos(Y(s)) ds\\ \sin(Y(t)) + \int_0^t \frac{1}{2} \sin(Y(s)) ds \end{pmatrix},$$
(6)

and

$$W(t) = \int_0^t (-\sin(Y(s)), \cos(Y(s))) d\zeta(s),$$
(7)

then W is a standard Brownian motion and ζ satisfies

$$d\zeta(t) = \begin{pmatrix} -\sin(Y(t))\\ \cos(Y(t)) \end{pmatrix} dW(t).$$
(8)

The introduction of Y may look strange, but the heart of our argument depends on being able to compute the conditional distribution of Y(t) given $\mathcal{F}_t^X \equiv \sigma(X(s) : s \leq t)$. If Y(0) is uniformly distributed on $[0, 2\pi]$ and is independent of W, then the conditional distribution of Y(t) given \mathcal{F}_t^X is uniform on $[0, 2\pi]$. In fact, that is the conditional distribution even if we condition on both X and W.

Let $\mathcal{D}(\widehat{A})$ be the collection of $f \in C_c^2(\mathbb{R} \times [0, 2\pi))$ such that $f(x, 0) = f(x, 2\pi)$, $f_y(x, 0) = f_y(x, 2\pi)$, and $f_{yy}(x, 0) = f_{yy}(x, 2\pi)$. Applying Itô's formula, for $f \in \mathcal{D}(\widehat{A})$, we have

$$\widehat{A}f = \frac{1}{2}\sigma^2 f_{xx} + \sigma f_{xy} + \frac{1}{2}f_{yy} + bf_x.$$

Suppose Z = (X, Y) is a solution of the martingale problem for \widehat{A} , and define ζ by (6) and W by (7). Applying Lemma A.2 with $f_1(x, y) = f(x)$, $f_2(x, y) = \cos(y)$, $f_3(x, y) = \sin(y)$, $g_1(x, y) = 1$, $g_2(x, y) = f'(x)\sigma(x)\sin(y)$, and $g_3(x, y) = -f'(x)\sigma(x)\cos(y)$ implies

$$M(t) = f(X(t)) - f(X(0)) - \int_0^t Af(X(s)) ds + \int_0^t f'(X(s))\sigma(X(s))\sin(Y(s))d\zeta_1(s) - \int_0^t f'(X(s))\sigma(X(s))\cos(Y(s))d\zeta_2(s)$$

satisfies $\langle M \rangle \equiv 0$ so $M \equiv 0$ and hence

$$f(X(t)) = f(X(0)) + \int_0^t f'(X(s))\sigma(X(s))dW(s) + \int_0^t Af(X(s))ds.$$
(9)

It follows that any solution of the martingale problem for \widehat{A} satisfying $\sup_{s \le t} |X(s)| < \infty$ a.s. for each *t* is a weak solution of (1).

Of course, this last observation does not prove Theorem 1.1. We still have the question of whether or not every solution of the martingale problem for A corresponds to a solution of the martingale problem for \widehat{A} . The following result from [3] provides the tools needed to answer this question affirmatively. Let (E, r) be a complete, separable metric space, B(E), the bounded, measurable functions on E, and $\overline{C}(E)$, the bounded continuous functions on E. If E is locally compact, then $\widehat{C}(E)$ will denote the continuous functions vanishing at infinity. We say that an operator $B \subset B(E) \times B(E)$ is *separable* if there exists a countable subset $\{g_k\} \subset \mathcal{D}(B)$ such that B is contained in the bounded, pointwise closure of the linear span of $\{(g_k, Bg_k)\}$. B is a pregenerator if it is dissipative and there are sequences of functions $\mu_n : E \to \mathcal{P}(E)$ and $\lambda_n : E \to [0, \infty)$ such that for each $(f, g) \in B$

$$g(x) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \lambda_n(x) \int_{\mathbb{S}} (f(y) - f(x)) \mu_n(x, \mathrm{d}y), \tag{10}$$

for each $x \in E$.

For a measurable, E_0 -valued process $U, \hat{\mathcal{F}}_t^U$ is the completion of

$$\sigma\left(\int_0^r h(U(s)) \mathrm{d}s : r \leq t, h \in B(E_0)\right) \vee \sigma(U(0)).$$

Let $\mathbf{T}^U = \{t : U(t) \text{ is } \widehat{\mathcal{F}}_t^U$ -measurable}. (\mathbf{T}^U has full Lebesgue measure, and if U is cadlag with no fixed points of discontinuity, then $\mathbf{T}^U = [0, \infty)$. See Appendix A.2 of [5].) Let $M_{E_0}[0, \infty)$ be the space of measurable functions from $[0, \infty)$ to E_0 topologized by convergence in Lebesgue measure.

Theorem 1.4. Suppose that $B \subset \overline{C}(E) \times \overline{C}(E)$ is separable and a pregenerator and that $\mathcal{D}(B)$ is closed under multiplication and separates points in E. Let (E_0, r_0) be a complete, separable metric space, $\gamma : E \to E_0$ be Borel measurable, and α be a transition function from E_0 into E ($y \in E_0 \to \alpha(y, \cdot) \in \mathcal{P}(E)$ is Borel measurable) satisfying $\alpha(y, \gamma^{-1}(y)) = 1$. Define

$$C = \left\{ \left(\int_E f(z)\alpha(\cdot, \mathrm{d}z), \int_E Bf(z)\alpha(\cdot, \mathrm{d}z) \right) : f \in \mathcal{D}(B) \right\}.$$

Let $\mu_0 \in \mathcal{P}(E_0)$, and define $v_0 = \int \alpha(y, \cdot)\mu_0(dy)$. If \widetilde{U} is a solution of the martingale problem for (C, μ_0) , then there exists a solution V of the martingale problem for (B, v_0) such that \widetilde{U} has the same distribution on $M_{E_0}[0, \infty)$ as $U = \gamma \circ V$ and

$$P\{V(t) \in \Gamma | \widehat{\mathcal{F}}_t^U\} = \alpha(U(t), \Gamma), \quad \Gamma \in \mathcal{B}(E), t \in \mathbf{T}^U.$$
(11)

If \widetilde{U} (and hence U) has a modification with sample paths in $D_E[0,\infty)$, then the modified \widetilde{U} and U have the same distribution on $D_E[0,\infty)$.

Assume that σ and b in (1) are continuous. (This assumption can be removed with the application of more complicated technology. See Sect. 4.) Let B in the statement of Theorem 1.4 be \widehat{A} , $E = \mathbb{R} \times [0, 2\pi)$, $E_0 = \mathbb{R}$, $\gamma(x, y) = x$, and for $f \in B(\mathbb{R} \times [0, 2\pi))$, define $\alpha f(x) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} f(x, y) dy$. For $f \in \mathcal{D}(\widehat{A})$, a straight forward calculation gives

$$\alpha A f(x) = A \alpha f(x),$$

so A = C. It follows that if X is a solution of the martingale problem for A, then there exists a solution $(\widetilde{X}, \widetilde{Y})$ of the martingale problem for \widehat{A} such that X and \widetilde{X} have the same distribution. Consequently, if X has sample paths in $C_{\mathbb{R}}[0, \infty)$, then X is a weak solution for (1), and Theorem 1.1 follows. Every solution of the martingale problem for A will have a modification with sample paths in $D_{\mathbb{R}^{\Delta}}[0, \infty)$, where \mathbb{R}^{Δ} denotes the one-point compactification of \mathbb{R} , and any solution with sample paths in $D_{\mathbb{R}}[0, \infty)$ will, in fact, have sample paths in $C_{\mathbb{R}}[0, \infty)$.

Invoking Theorem 1.4 is obviously a much less straight forward approach to Theorem 1.1 than the usual argument; however, the state augmentation approach extends easily to much more general settings in which the constructive argument becomes technically very complicated if not impossible.

2 Stochastic Differential Equations for Markov Processes

Typically, a Markov process X in \mathbb{R}^d has a generator of the form

$$Af(x) = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i,j=1}^{d} a_{ij}(x) \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x_i \partial x_j} f(x) + \widehat{b}(x) \cdot \nabla f(x) + \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (f(x+y) - f(x) - \mathbf{1}_{B_1}(y)y \cdot \nabla f(x))\eta(x, dy)$$

where B_1 is the ball of radius 1 centered at the origin and η satisfies

$$\int 1 \wedge |y^2| \eta(x, \mathrm{d}y) < \infty \tag{12}$$

for each x. (See, for example, [6] and [7].) The three terms are, respectively, the diffusion term, the drift term, and the jump term. In particular, $\eta(x, \Gamma)$ gives the "rate" at which jumps satisfying $X(s) - X(s-) \in \Gamma$ occur. Note that B_1 can be replaced by any set C containing an open neighborhood of the origin provided that the drift term is replaced by

$$b_{\boldsymbol{C}}(x) \cdot \nabla f(x) = \left(b(x) + \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} y(\mathbf{1}_{\boldsymbol{C}}(y) - \mathbf{1}_{\boldsymbol{B}_1}(y))\eta(x, \mathrm{d}y)\right) \cdot \nabla f(x).$$

Suppose that there exist $\lambda : \mathbb{R}^d \times S \to [0, 1], \gamma : \mathbb{R}^d \times S \to \mathbb{R}^d$, and a σ -finite measure ν on a measurable space (S, S) such that

$$\eta(x,\Gamma) = \int_{S} \lambda(x,u) \mathbf{1}_{\Gamma}(\gamma(x,u)) \nu(\mathrm{d} u).$$

This representation is always possible. In fact, there are many such representations. For example, we can rewrite

$$\begin{split} \eta(x,\Gamma) &= \int_{S} \lambda(x,u) \mathbf{1}_{[0,1]}(|\gamma(x,u|)) \mathbf{1}_{\Gamma}(\gamma(x,u)) \nu(\mathrm{d}u) \\ &+ \int_{S} \lambda(x,u) \mathbf{1}_{(1,\infty)}(|\gamma(x,u|)) \mathbf{1}_{\Gamma}(\gamma(x,u)) \nu(\mathrm{d}u) \\ &= \int_{S} \lambda_{1}(x,u) \mathbf{1}_{\Gamma}(\gamma(x,u)) \nu(\mathrm{d}u) + \int_{S} \lambda_{2}(x,u) \mathbf{1}_{\Gamma}(\gamma(x,u)) \nu(\mathrm{d}u) \\ &= \int_{S_{1}} \lambda(x,u) \mathbf{1}_{\Gamma}(\gamma(x,u)) \nu(\mathrm{d}u) + \int_{S_{2}} \lambda(x,u) \mathbf{1}_{\Gamma}(\gamma(x,u)) \nu(\mathrm{d}u), \end{split}$$

where S_1 and S_2 are copies of S, and λ on S_1 is given by λ_1 and λ on S_2 is given by λ_2 . Noting that $\mathbf{1}_{S_1}(u) = \mathbf{1}_{B_1}(\gamma(x, u))$, we can replace S by $S_1 \cup S_2$, and assuming

$$\int_{S} \lambda(x,u) (\mathbf{1}_{S_1}(u)|\gamma(x,u)|^2 + \mathbf{1}_{S_2}(u)) \nu(\mathrm{d} u) < \infty,$$

$$Af(x) = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i,j=1}^{d} a_{ij}(x) \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x_i \partial x_j} f(x) + b(x) \cdot \nabla f(x)$$

$$+ \int_{S} \lambda(x, u) (f(x + \gamma(x, u)) - f(x) - \mathbf{1}_{S_1}(u)\gamma(x, u) \cdot \nabla f(x))\nu(du).$$
(13)

We will take $\mathcal{D}(A) = C_c^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and assume that for $f \in \mathcal{D}(A)$, $Af \in \overline{C}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Removal of the continuity assumption is discussed in Sect. 4. The assumption that Af is bounded can also be relaxed, but that issue is not addressed here.

Let ξ be a Poisson random measure on $[0, 1] \times S \times [0, \infty)$ with mean measure $m \times v \times m$, and let $\tilde{\xi}(A) = \xi(A) - m \times v \times m(A)$. Let (S_0, S_0) be a measurable space, μ a σ -finite measure on (S_0, S_0) , W a Gaussian white noise on $S_0 \times [0, \infty)$ satisfying $E[W(A, s)W(B, t)] = s \wedge t\mu(A \cap B)$, and $\sigma : \mathbb{R}^d \times S_0 \to \mathbb{R}^d$ satisfying $\int_{S_0} |\sigma(x, u)|^2 \mu(du) < \infty$ and

$$a(x) = \int_{S_0} \sigma(x, u) \sigma^T(x, u) \mu(\mathrm{d} u).$$

Again, there are many possible choices for μ and σ . The usual form for an Itô equation corresponds to taking μ to be counting measure on a finite set S_0 .

Assume that for each compact $K \subset \mathbb{R}^d$

$$\sup_{x \in K} \left(|b(x)| + \int_{S_0} |\sigma(x, u)|^2 \mu(\mathrm{d}u) + \int_{S_1} \lambda(x, u) |\gamma(x, u)|^2 \nu(\mathrm{d}u) \right)$$

$$+ \int_{S_2} \lambda(x, u) |\gamma(x, u)| \wedge 1\nu(\mathrm{d}u) \right) < \infty.$$
(14)

Then, X should satisfy a stochastic differential equation of the form

$$X(t) = X(0) + \int_{S_0 \times [0,t]} \sigma(X(s), u) W(du \times ds) + \int_0^t b(X(s)) ds$$
(15)
+
$$\int_{[0,1] \times S_1 \times [0,t]} \mathbf{1}_{[0,\lambda(X(s-),u)]}(v) \gamma(X(s-), u) \widetilde{\xi}(dv \times du \times ds)$$

+
$$\int_{[0,1] \times S_2 \times [0,t]} \mathbf{1}_{[0,\lambda(X(s-),u)]}(v) \gamma(X(s-), u) \xi(dv \times du \times ds),$$

for $t < \tau_{\infty} \equiv \lim_{k \to \infty} \inf\{t : |X(t-)| \text{ or } |X(t)| \ge k\}$. Stochastic equations of this form appeared first in [8].

An application of Itô's formula again shows that any solution of (15) gives a solution of the martingale problem for *A*. We will apply an extension of Theorem 1.4

to show that every solution of the $D_{\mathbb{R}^d}[0,\infty)$ -martingale problem for A is a weak solution of (15), or more generally, we can replace (15) by the analog of (2) and drop the requirement that the solution have sample paths in $D_{\mathbb{R}^d}[0,\infty)$. (In any case, the solution will have a modification with sample paths in $D_{\mathbb{R}^{d\Delta}}[0,\infty)$.)

As in the introduction, we will need to represent the driving processes W and ξ in terms of processes whose conditional distributions given X are their stationary distributions. To avoid the danger of measure-theoretic or functional-analytic *faux*-*pas*, we will assume that S and S_0 are complete, separable metric spaces and that v and μ are σ -finite Borel measures.

2.1 Representation of W by Stationary Processes

Let $\varphi_1, \varphi_2, \ldots$ be a complete, orthonormal basis for $L_2(\mu)$. Then, W is completely determined by

$$W(\varphi_i, t) = \int_{S_0 \times [0, t]} \varphi_i(u) W(\mathrm{d}u \times \mathrm{d}s), \quad i = 1, 2, \dots$$

In particular, if *H* is an $\{\mathcal{F}_t\}$ -adapted process with sample paths in $D_{L_2(\mu)}[0,\infty)$, then

$$\int_{S_0 \times [0,t]} H(s-,u) W(\mathrm{d}u \times \mathrm{d}s) = \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \int_0^t \langle H(s-,\cdot), \varphi_i \rangle \mathrm{d}W(\varphi_i,s).$$

In turn, if we define $Y_i(t) = Y_i(0) + W(\varphi_i, t) \mod 2\pi$ and

$$\zeta_i(t) = \begin{pmatrix} \cos(Y_i(t)) + \int_0^t \frac{1}{2} \cos(Y_i(s)) \mathrm{d}s \\ \sin(Y_i(t)) + \int_0^t \frac{1}{2} \sin(Y_i(s)) \mathrm{d}s \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} -\int_0^t \sin(Y_i(s)) \mathrm{d}W(\varphi_i, s) \\ \int_0^t \cos(Y_i(s)) \mathrm{d}W(\varphi_i, s) \end{pmatrix},$$

then

$$W(\varphi_i, t) = \int_0^t (-\sin(Y_i(s)), \cos(Y_i(s))) \,\mathrm{d}\xi_i(s), \tag{16}$$

and hence,

$$\int_{S_0 \times [0,t]} H(s,u) W(\mathrm{d}u \times \mathrm{d}s) = \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \int_0^t \langle H(s,\cdot), \varphi_i \rangle (-\sin(Y_i(s)), \cos(Y_i(s))) \mathrm{d}\zeta_i(s).$$

Note that if $Y_i(0)$ is uniformly distributed on $[0, 2\pi)$ and independent of W, then Y_i is a stationary process and for each t, the $Y_i(t)$ are independent and independent of $\sigma(W(\varphi_j, s) : s \le t, j = 1, 2, ...)$. Identifying 2π with $0, [0, 2\pi)$ is compact and $Y = \{Y_i\}$ is a Markov process with compact state space $[0, 2\pi)^{\infty}$.

2.2 Representation of ξ by Stationary Processes

Let $\{D_i\} \subset \mathcal{B}(S)$ be a partition of *S* satisfying $\nu(D_i) < \infty$, and define $\xi_i(C_1 \times C_2 \times [0, t]) = \xi(C_1 \times C_2 \cap D_i \times [0, t])$. Then, the ξ_i are independent Poisson random measures, and setting $N_i(t) = \xi([0, 1] \times D_i \times [0, t])$, ξ_i can be written as

$$\xi_i(\cdot \times [0, t]) = \sum_{i=0}^{N_i(t)-1} \delta_{(V_{i,k}, U_{ik})},$$

where $\{V_{i,k}, U_{i,k}, i \ge 1, k \ge 0\}$ are independent, $V_{i,k}$ is uniform-[0, 1], and $U_{i,k}$ is D_i -valued with distribution

$$\beta_i \equiv \frac{\nu(\cdot \cap D_i)}{\nu(D_i)}.$$

Define

$$Z_i(t) = (V_{i,N_i(t)}, U_{i,N_i(t)})$$

Then, Z_i is a Markov process with stationary distribution $\ell \times \beta_i$, where ℓ is the uniform distribution on [0, 1], and $Z_i(t)$ is independent of $\sigma(\xi(\cdot \times [0, s]), s \le t)$.

Since, with probability one, $V_{i,k} \neq V_{i,k+1}$, N_i can be recovered from Z_i , and since

$$\int_{[0,1]\times S\times[0,t]} H(v,u,s-)\xi(\mathrm{d}v\times \mathrm{d}u\times \mathrm{d}s) = \sum_{i} \int_{0}^{t} H(Z_{i}(s-),s-)\mathrm{d}N_{i}(s),$$

 ξ can be recovered from $\{Z_i\}$.

2.3 Equivalence to Martingale Problem

To simplify notation, we will replace $\mathbf{1}_{[0,\lambda(x,u)]}(v)\gamma(x,u)$ by $\gamma(x,u)$. There is no loss of generality since *S* is arbitrary and we can replace $[0,1] \times S$ by *S*. Under the new notation, ξ is a Poisson random measure on $S \times [0, \infty)$ with mean measure $v \times m$. We will also assume that v is nonatomic, so it is still the case that, with probability one, N_i can be recovered from observations of Z_i .

Let $\mathcal{D}_0 \subset C^2([0, 2\pi))$ be the collection of functions satisfying $f(0) = f(2\pi -)$, $f'(0) = f'(2\pi -)$, and $f''(0) = f''(2\pi -)$, and let $\mathcal{D}_i = \overline{C}(D_i)$. Define

$$\mathcal{D}(\widehat{A}) = \left\{ f_0(x) \prod_{i=1}^{m_1} f_{1i}(y_i) \prod_{i=1}^{m_2} f_{2i}(z_i) : f_0 \in C_c^2(\mathbb{R}^d), f_{1i} \in \mathcal{D}_0, f_{2i} \in \mathcal{D}_i \right\},\$$

and for $f \in \mathcal{D}(\widehat{A})$, derive $\widehat{A}f$ by applying Itô's formula to

Equivalence of Stochastic Equations and Martingale Problems

$$f_0(X(t)) \prod_{i=1}^{m_1} f_{1i}(Y_i(t)) \prod_{i=1}^{m_2} f_{2i}(Z_i(t)).$$

Define L_x by

$$L_x f(x) = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i,j=1}^d a_{ij}(x) \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x_i \partial x_j} f(x) + b(x) \cdot \nabla f(x),$$

and L_y by

$$L_y f(y) = \frac{1}{2} \sum_k \frac{\partial^2}{\partial y_k^2} f(y).$$

Note that L_x would be the generator for X if γ were zero and L_y is the generator for $Y = \{Y_i\}$. The quadratic covariation of X_i and Y_k is

$$[X_i, Y_k] = \int_0^t c_{ik}(X(s)) \mathrm{d}s,$$

where $c_{ik}(x) = \int_{S_0} \sigma_i(x, u) \varphi_k(u) \mu(du)$, so define L_{xy} by

$$L_{xy}f(x,y) = \sum_{i,k} c_{ik}(x)\partial_{x_i}\partial_{y_k}f(x,y).$$

For $u \in S$ and $z \in \prod_i D_i$, let $\rho(z, u)$ be the element of $\prod_i D_i$ obtained by replacing z_i by u provided $u \in D_i$. Define

$$J_i f(x, y, z) = \int_{D_i} \left(f(x + \gamma(x, z_i), y, \rho(z, u)) - f(x, y, z) - \mathbf{1}_{S_1}(u)\gamma(x, u) \cdot \nabla_x f(x, y, z) \right) \nu(du)$$

=
$$\int_{D_i} \left(f(x + \gamma(x, z_i), y, \rho(z, u)) - f(x + \gamma(x, u), y, z) \right) \nu(du)$$

+
$$\int \left(f(x + \gamma(x, u), y, z) - f(x, y, z) - \mathbf{1}_{S_1}(u)\gamma(x, u) \cdot \nabla_x f(x, y, z) \right).$$

Then, at least formally, by Itô's formula,

$$f(X(t), Y(t), Z(t)) - f(X(0), Y(0), Z(0)) - \int_0^t \widehat{A} f(X(s), Y(s), Z(s)) ds$$

is a martingale for

$$\widehat{A}f(x, y, z) = L_x f(x, y, z) + L_y f(x, y, z) + L_{xy} f(x, y, z) + \sum_i J_i f(x, y, z)$$

= $\prod_{i=1}^{m_1} f_{1i}(y_i) \prod_{i=1}^{m_2} f_{2i}(z_i) A f_0(x) + L_y f(x, y, z) + L_{xy} f(x, y, z)$
+ $\sum_i \int_{D_i} (f(x + \gamma(x, z_i), y, \rho(z, u)) - f(x + \gamma(x, u), y, z)) \nu(du).$

Unfortunately, in general, $\sum_i J_i$ may not converge. Consequently, the extension needs to be done one step at a time, so define $Z^n = (Z_1, \ldots, Z_n)$ and observe that the generator for (X, Y, Z^n) is

$$\widehat{A}_{n}f(x, y, z) = L_{x}f(x, y, z) + L_{y}f(x, y, z) + L_{xy}f(x, y, z) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} J_{i}f(x, y, z)$$

$$= \prod_{i=1}^{m_{1}} f_{1i}(y_{i}) \prod_{i=1}^{m_{2}} f_{2i}(z_{i})Af_{0}(x) + L_{y}f(x, y, z) + L_{xy}f(x, y, z)$$

$$+ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \int_{D_{i}} \left(f(x + \gamma(x, z_{i}), y, \rho(z, u)) - f(x + \gamma(x, u), y, z) \right) \nu(du)$$

where we take $\mathcal{D}(\widehat{A}_n) = \{ f \in \mathcal{D}(\widehat{A}) : m_2 \leq n \}$. Note that as long as $Af_0 \in B(\mathbb{R}^d)$, $\widehat{A}_n f \in B(\mathbb{R}^d \times [0, 2\pi)^{\infty} \times \prod_{i=1}^n D_i)$.

Instead of requiring (X, Y, Z) to be a solution of the martingale problem for \widehat{A} , for each *n*, we require (X, Y, Z^n) to be a solution of the martingale problem for \widehat{A}_n .

Lemma 2.1. If for each n, (X, Y, Z^n) is a solution of the martingale problem for \widehat{A}_n with sample paths in $D_{\mathbb{R}^{d\Delta} \times [0,2\pi)^{\infty} \times \prod_{i=1}^{n} D_i}[0,\infty)$, W is given by (16), and ξ is given by

$$\int_{S\times[0,t]} g(u)\xi(\mathrm{d}u\times\mathrm{d}s) = \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \int_0^t g(Z_i(s-))\mathrm{d}N_i(s),$$

then (X, W, ξ) satisfies (15) for $0 \le t < \tau_{\infty}$.

Remark 2.2. Any process (X, Y, Z) such that for each n, (X, Y, Z^n) is a solution of the martingale problem for \widehat{A}_n will have a modification with sample paths in $D_{\mathbb{R}^{d\Delta} \times [0,2\pi)^{\infty} \times \prod_{i=1}^{\infty} D_i}[0,\infty)$, and the modification will satisfy (17) for all $f \in C_c^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$, taking $f(\Delta) = 0$.

Proof. As in the verification of (9), Lemma A.2 can again be used to show that (X, W, ξ) satisfies

$$f(X(t)) = f(X(0)) + \int_0^t Af(X(s)) \mathrm{d}s + \int_0^t \nabla f(X(s))^T \sigma(X(s), u) W(\mathrm{d}u \times \mathrm{d}s)$$

$$+\int_{S\times[0,t]} (f(X(s-)+\gamma(X(s-),u)) - f(X(s-))\widetilde{\xi}(\mathrm{d}u\times\mathrm{d}s), \quad (17)$$

 $f \in C_c^2(\mathbb{R}^d), t \ge 0$, and it follows that X satisfies (15) for $0 \le t < \tau_{\infty}$.

Theorem 2.3. Let A be given by (13), and assume that (14) is satisfied and that for $f \in C_c^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$, $Af \in B(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Then, any solution of the $D_{\mathbb{R}^d}[0,\infty)$ -martingale problem for A is a weak solution of (15). More generally, any solution of the martingale problem for A has a modification with sample paths in $D_{\mathbb{R}^{d\Delta}}[0,\infty)$ and is a weak solution of (15) on the time interval $[0, \tau_\infty)$.

Remark 2.4. We need to relax the requirement in Theorem 1.4 that $\mathcal{R}(B) \subset C(E)$. This extension is discussed in Sect. 4.

Proof. Let $\beta_y \in \mathcal{P}([0, 2\pi)^{\infty})$ be the product of uniform distributions on $[0, 2\pi)$ and $\beta_z^n \in \prod_{i=1}^n \beta_i$. For $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$, $\alpha_n(x, \cdot) = \delta_x \times \beta_y \times \beta_z^n \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d \times [0, 2\pi)^{\infty} \times \prod_{i=1}^n D_i)$. (γ_n is just the projection onto \mathbb{R}^d .) Computing $\alpha_n \widehat{A}_n f$, observe that $\alpha_n L_x f = L_x \alpha_n f$, that $\alpha_n L_y f = 0$ since β_y is the stationary distribution for L_y , and that $\alpha_n L_{xy} f = 0$ since $\int_0^{2\pi} \partial_{y_k} f(x, y, z) dy_k = 0$. To see that $\alpha_n J_i f = J_i \alpha_n f$, note that

$$\int_{D_i} \int_{D_i} f(x + \gamma(x, z_i), y, \rho(z, u)) \nu(du) \nu(dz_i)$$

=
$$\int_{D_i} \int_{D_i} f(x + \gamma(x, u), y, z) \nu(du) \nu(dz_i).$$

Taking these observations together, we have $\alpha_n \widehat{A}_n f = A \alpha_n f$.

We apply Theorem 4.1. See Sect. 4. Note that $\mathcal{D}(\widehat{A}_n)$ is closed under multiplication. The separability condition follows from the separability of $\mathcal{D}(\widehat{A}_n)$ under the norm

$$||f||_* = ||f|| + ||\nabla_x f|| + ||\partial_x^2 f||.$$

The pre-generator condition for \mathbb{B} and \mathbb{B}_n defined in Sect. 4 follows from existence of solutions of the martingale problem for $\mathbb{B}_n^v f \equiv \mathbb{B}_n f(\cdot, v)$. (See the discussion in Sect. 2 of [3].) Consequently, taking C = A and $B = \widehat{A}_n$ in Theorem 4.1, any solution \widetilde{X} of the martingale problem for A corresponds to a solution (X, Y, Z^n) of the martingale problem for \widehat{A}_n . But also note that $\beta_n \widehat{A}_{n+1} f = \widehat{A}_n \beta_n f$ for $f \in \mathcal{D}(\widehat{A}_{n+1})$. Consequently, any solution the martingale problem for \widehat{A}_n extends to a solution of the martingale problem for \widehat{A}_{n+1} . By induction, we obtain the process (X, Y, Z) so the first part of the theorem follows by Lemma 2.1.

If X is a solution of the martingale problem for A, then by [2], Corollary 4.3.7, X has a modification with sample paths in $D_{\mathbb{R}^{d\Delta}}[0,\infty)$. For nonnegative $\kappa \in B(\mathbb{R}^d)$, let

$$\gamma(t) = \inf \left\{ s : \int_0^s \kappa^{-1}(X(r)) \mathrm{d}r \ge t \right\} \,.$$

Then, $\widetilde{X}(t) = X(\gamma(t))$ is a solution of the martingale problem for κA . If $\kappa(x) = 1$ for $|x| \le k$ and $\kappa(x) = 0$ for $|x| \ge k + 1$, then for $\tau_k \equiv \inf\{t : |X(t-)| \text{ or } |X(t)| \ge k\}$, $\widetilde{X}(t) = X(t)$ for $t < \tau_k$ and \widetilde{X} has sample paths in $D_{\mathbb{R}^d}[0,\infty)$. It follows that \widetilde{X} is a weak solution of (15) with σ replaced by $\sqrt{\kappa\sigma}$, *b* replaced by κb and λ replaced by $\kappa \lambda$, and hence *X* is a weak solution of the original equation (15) for $t \in [0, \tau_k)$. Since $\tau_{\infty} = \lim_{k \to \infty} \tau_k$, the theorem follows.

Corollary 2.5. Uniqueness holds for the $D_{\mathbb{R}^d}[0,\infty)$ -martingale problem for (A, v_0) if and only if weak uniqueness holds for (15) with initial distribution v_0 .

3 Conditions for Uniqueness

In the orginal development by Itô [8] as well as in later presentations (for example, by Skorohod [9] and Ikeda and Watanabe [10]), L_2 -estimates are used to prove uniqueness for (15). Graham [11] points out the possibility and desirability of using L_1 -estimates. (In fact, for equations controlling jump rates with factors such as $\mathbf{1}_{[0,\lambda(X(t),u]}(v), L_1$ -estimates are essential.) Kurtz and Protter [12] develop methods that allow a mixing of L_1, L_2 , and other estimates.

Theorem 3.1. Suppose there exists a constant M such that

$$|b(x)| + \int_{S_0} |\sigma(x, u)|^2 \mu(du) + \int_{S_1} |\gamma(x, u)|^2 \lambda(x, u) \nu(du)$$
(18)
+
$$\int_{S_2} \lambda(x, u) |\gamma(x, u)| \nu(du) < M,$$

and

$$\sqrt{\int_{\mathcal{S}_0} |\sigma(x,u) - \sigma(y,u)|^2 \mu(\mathrm{d}u)} \le M |x-y| \tag{19}$$

$$|b(x) - b(y)| \le M|x - y|$$
 (20)

$$\int_{\mathcal{S}_1} (\gamma(x,u) - \gamma(y,u))^2 \lambda(x,u) \wedge \lambda(y,u) \nu(\mathrm{d}u) \le M |x-y|^2$$
(21)

$$\int_{S_1} |\lambda(x, u) - \lambda(y, u)| |\gamma(x, u) - \gamma(y, u)| \nu(\mathrm{d}u) \le M |x - y|$$
(22)

$$\int_{S_2} \lambda(x, u) ||\gamma(x, u) - \gamma(y, u)|\nu(\mathrm{d}u) \le M |x - y|$$
(23)

$$\int_{\mathcal{S}} |\lambda(x,u) - \lambda(y,u)| |\gamma(y,u)| \nu(\mathrm{d}u) \le M |x-y|.$$
(24)

Then, there exists a unique solution of (15).

Proof. Suppose X and Y are solutions of (15). Then,

$$X(t) = X(0) + \int_{S_0 \times [0,t]} \sigma(X(s), u) W(du \times ds) + \int_0^t b(X(s)) ds$$
(25)
+
$$\int_{[0,\infty) \times S_1 \times [0,t]} \mathbf{1}_{[0,\lambda(X(s),u) \wedge \lambda(Y(s),u)]}(v) \gamma(X(s-), u) \widetilde{\xi}(dv \times du \times ds)$$

+
$$\int_{[0,\infty) \times S_1 \times [0,t]} \mathbf{1}_{(\lambda(Y(s-),u) \wedge \lambda(X(s-),u),\lambda(X(s-),u)]}(v)$$

$$\gamma(X(s-), u) \widetilde{\xi}(dv \times du \times ds)$$

+
$$\int_{[0,\infty) \times S_2 \times [0,t]} \mathbf{1}_{[0,\lambda(X(s-),u)]}(v) \gamma(X(s-), u) \xi(dv \times du \times ds),$$

and similarly with the roles of X and Y interchanged. Then, (19) and (20) give the necessary Lipschitz conditions for the coefficient functions in the first two integrals on the right; (21) gives an L_2 -Lipschitz condition for the third integral term; and (22), (23), and (24) give L_1 -Lipschitz conditions for the fourth and fifth integral terms on the right. Theorem 7.1 of [12] gives uniqueness, and Corollary 7.7 of that paper gives existence.

Corollary 3.2. Suppose that there exists a function M(r) defined for r > 0, such that (18)–(24) hold with M replaced by $M(|x| \lor |y|)$. Then, there exists a stopping time τ_{∞} and a process X(t) defined for $t \in [0, \tau_{\infty})$ such that (15) is satisfied on $[0, \tau_{\infty})$ and $\tau_{\infty} = \lim_{k \to \infty} \inf\{t : |X(t)| \text{ or } |X(t-)| \ge k\}$. If $(\widetilde{X}, \widetilde{\tau})$ also has this property, then $\widetilde{\tau} = \tau_{\infty}$ and $\widetilde{X}(t) = X(t)$, $t < \tau_{\infty}$.

Proof. The corollary follows by a standard localization argument. \Box

4 Equations with Measurable Coefficients

Let *E* and *F* be complete, separable metric spaces, and let $\mathbb{B} \subset \overline{C}(E) \times \overline{C}(E \times F)$. Then, Theorem 1.4 can be extended to generators of the form

$$Bf(x) = \int_{F} \mathbb{B}f(x, v)\eta(x, dv), \qquad (26)$$

where η is a transition function from *E* to *F*, that is, $x \in E \to \eta(x, \cdot) \in \mathcal{P}(F)$ is measurable. Note that $B \subset \overline{C}(E) \times B(E)$ but that *B* may not have range in $\overline{C}(E)$. (The boundedness assumption can also be relaxed with the addition of moment conditions.) Theorem 1.4 extends to operators of this form.

Theorem 4.1. Suppose that *B* given by (26) is separable, that for each $v \in F$, $\mathbb{B}^{v} f \equiv \mathbb{B} f(\cdot, v)$ is a pregenerator, and that $\mathcal{D}(B)$ is closed under multiplication and separates points in *E*. Let (E_0, r_0) be a complete, separable metric space, γ :

 $E \to E_0$ be Borel measurable, and α be a transition function from E_0 into E $(y \in E_0 \to \alpha(y, \cdot) \in \mathcal{P}(E)$ is Borel measurable) satisfying $\alpha(y, \gamma^{-1}(y)) = 1$. Define

$$C = \left\{ \left(\int_E f(z)\alpha(\cdot, \mathrm{d}z), \int_E Bf(z)\alpha(\cdot, \mathrm{d}z) \right) : f \in \mathcal{D}(B) \right\}.$$

Let $\mu_0 \in \mathcal{P}(E_0)$, and define $v_0 = \int \alpha(y, \cdot)\mu_0(dy)$. If \widetilde{U} is a solution of the martingale problem for (C, μ_0) , then there exists a solution V of the martingale problem for (B, v_0) such that \widetilde{U} has the same distribution on $M_{E_0}[0, \infty)$ as $U = \gamma \circ V$ and

$$P\{V(t) \in \Gamma | \widehat{\mathcal{F}}_t^U\} = \alpha(U(t), \Gamma), \quad \Gamma \in \mathcal{B}(E), t \in \mathbf{T}^U.$$
(27)

If \widetilde{U} (and hence U) has a modification with sample paths in $D_E[0,\infty)$, then the modified \widetilde{U} and U have the same distribution on $D_E[0,\infty)$.

Proof. See Corollary 3.5, Theorem 2.7, and Theorem 2.9d of [3]. □

To apply this result in the proof of Theorem 2.3, we must show that \widehat{A}_n can be written in the form (26). Suppose that for each compact $K \subset \mathbb{R}^d$,

$$\sup_{x \in K} (|a(x)| + |b(x)| + \int_{S_1} |\gamma(x, u)|^2 \nu(\mathrm{d}u) + \int_{S_2} |\gamma(x, u)| \wedge 1\nu(\mathrm{d}u) < \infty.$$

Let F_1 be the space of $d \times d$ nonnegative definite matrices with the usual matrix norm, $F_2 = \mathbb{R}^d$, and F_3 the space of \mathbb{R}^d -valued functions on S such that

$$\int_{S_1} |\gamma(u)|^2 \nu(\mathrm{d} u) + \int_{S_2} |\gamma(u)| \wedge 1\nu(\mathrm{d} u)) < \infty.$$

We can define a metric on F_3 by

$$d_4(\gamma_1, \gamma_2) = \sqrt{\int_{S_1} |\gamma_1(u) - \gamma_2(u)|^2 \nu(\mathrm{d}u)} + \int_{S_2} |\gamma_1(u) - \gamma_2(u)| \wedge 1\nu(\mathrm{d}u).$$

Then, $F = F_1 \times F_2 \times F_3$ is a complete, separable metric space, and for $v = (v^1, v^2, v^3) \in F$,

$$\mathbb{B}f(x,v) = \frac{1}{2}\sum_{i,j=1}^{d} v_{ij}^{1} \frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial x_{i} \partial x_{j}} f(x) + v^{2} \cdot \nabla f(x)$$

$$+ \int_{S} (f(x+v^{3}(u)) - f(x) - \mathbf{1}_{S_{1}}(u)v^{3}(u) \cdot \nabla f(x))v(\mathrm{d}u)$$
(28)

is the generator of a Levy process in \mathbb{R}^d . Let

$$\eta(x,\cdot) = \delta_{(a(x),b(x),\gamma(x,\cdot))}$$

Then,

$$Af(x) = \int \mathbb{B} f(x, v) \eta(x, dv).$$

Similarly, we can define \mathbb{B}_n to include Y and Z^n so that

$$\widehat{A}_n f(x, y, z) = \int \mathbb{B}_n f(x, y, z, v) \eta(x, \mathrm{d}v).$$

Appendix

Lemma A.2. Let $A \subset B(E) \times B(E)$, and let X be a cadlag solution of the martingale problem for A. For each $f \in D(A)$, define

$$M_f(t) = f(X(t)) - \int_0^t Af(X(s)) \mathrm{d}s.$$

Suppose $\mathcal{D}(A)$ is an algebra and that $f \circ X$ is called for each $f \in \mathcal{D}(A)$. Let $f_1, \ldots, f_m \in \mathcal{D}(A)$ and $g_1, \ldots, g_m \in B(E)$. Then,

$$M(t) = \sum_{i=1}^{m} \int_{0}^{t} g_{i}(X(s-)) dM_{f_{i}}(s)$$

is a square integrable martingale with Meyer process

$$\langle M \rangle_t = \sum_{1 \le i, j \le m} \int_0^t g_i(X(s)) g_j(X(s)) (Af_i f_j(X(s)) - f_i(X(s)) Af_j(X(s)) - f_j(X(s)) Af_i(X(s))) ds.$$

Proof. The lemma follows by standard properties of stochastic integrals and the fact that

$$\langle M_{f_1}, M_{f_2} \rangle_t = \int_0^t (Af_1 f_2(X(s)) - f_1(X(s)) Af_2(X(s)) - f_2(X(s)) Af_1(X(s))) ds.$$

This identity can be obtained by applying Itô's formula to $f_1(X(t)) f_2(X(t))$ and the fact that $[f_1 \circ X, f_2 \circ X]_t = [M_{f_1}, M_{f_2}]_t$ to obtain

$$[M_{f_1}, M_{f_2}]_t = f_1(X(t)) f_2(X(t)) - f_1(X(0)) f_2(X(0)) - \int_0^t Af_1 f_2(X(s)) ds$$

- $\int_0^t f_1(X(s-)) dM_{f_2}(s) - \int_0^t f_2(X(s-)) dM_{f_1}(s)$
+ $\int_0^t (Af_1 f_2(X(s)) - f_1(X(s)) Af_2(X(s)) - f_2(X(s)) Af_1(X(s))) ds$

Since the first five terms on the right give a martingale and the last term is predictable, the last term must be $\langle M_{f_1}, M_{f_2} \rangle_t$.

Acknowledgements The research presented here was supported in part by NSF grant DMS 08-05793.

References

- Stroock, D.W., Varadhan, S.R.S.: In: Proceedings of the Sixth Berkeley Symposium on Mathematical Statistics and Probability, vol. III, pp. 333–359. University of California, Berkeley, California (1970/1971). Probability theory, University of California Press, Berkeley, California (1972)
- Ethier, S.N., Kurtz, T.G.: Markov processes: characterization and convergence. Probability and Mathematical Statistics: Probability and Mathematical Statistics. Wiley, New York (1986)
- 3. Kurtz, T.G.: Electron. J. Probab. 3(9), 29 (electronic) (1998)
- Stroock, D.W., Varadhan, S.R.S.: Multidimensional diffusion processes, Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften. Fundamental Principles of Mathematical Sciences, vol. 233. Springer, Berlin (1979)
- 5. Kurtz, T.G., Nappo, G.: In: Crisan, D., Rozovskii, B. (eds.) The Oxford Handbook of Nonlinear Filtering. Oxford University Press, Oxford (2010)
- 6. Stroock, D.W.: Z. Wahrscheinlichkeitstheorie und Verw. Gebiete 32(3), 209 (1975)
- 7. Cinlar, E., Jacod, J., Protter, P., Sharpe, M.J.: Z. Wahrsch. Verw. Gebiete 54(2), 161 (1980)
- 8. It'o, K.: Mem. Am. Math. Soc. 1951(4), 51 (1951)
- 9. Skorokhod, A.V.: Studies in the theory of random processes. Translated from the Russian by Scripta Technica, Inc. Addison-Wesley Publishing, Reading, MA (1965)
- Ikeda, N., Watanabe, S.: Stochastic differential equations and diffusion processes. North-Holland Mathematical Library, vol. 24, 2nd edn. North-Holland Publishing, Amsterdam (1989)
- 11. Graham, C.: Stochastic Process. Appl. 40(1), 69 (1992)
- Kurtz, T.G., Protter, P.E.: Probabilistic models for nonlinear partial differential equations (Montecatini Terme, 1995), vol. 1627, pp. 197–285. Lecture Notes in Mathametics. Springer, Berlin (1996)

Accelerated Numerical Schemes for PDEs and SPDEs

István Gyöngy and Nicolai Krylov

Abstract We give a survey of some results from Gyöngy and Krylov (An accelerated splitting-up method for parabolic equations [10], Cauchy problems with periodic controls [11], Expansion of solutions of arameterized equations and acceleration of numerical methods [12], Accelerated finite difference schemes for second order degenerate elliptic and parabolic problems in the whole space [13], Accelerated finite difference schemes for linear stochastic partial differential equations in the whole space [14]) on accelerated numerical schemes for some classes of deterministic and stochastic PDEs. First, we consider monotone finite difference schemes for parabolic (possibly degenerate) PDEs in the spatial variable. We present some theorems from Gyöngy and Krylov ("Accelerated finite difference schemes for second order degenerate elliptic and parabolic problems in the whole space, to appear in Mathematics of Computation") on power series expansions of finite difference approximations in terms of the mesh-size of the grid. These theorems imply that one can accelerate the convergence of finite difference approximations (in the spatial variables) to any order by taking suitable mixtures of approximations corresponding to different mesh-sizes. We extend these results to degenerate elliptic equations in spaces with supremum norm. Then, we establish power series expansions for finite difference approximations of linear stochastic PDEs, and hence we get, as before that the rate of convergence of these approximations can be accelerated to any order, provided the data and the coefficients of the equations are sufficiently smooth. Finally, for a large class of equations and various types of time discretizations for them, we present some results from Gyöngy and Krylov [10-12] on power series expansion in the parameters of the approximations and get theorems on their acceleration.

N. Krylov School of Mathematics, University of Minnesota, 127 Vincent Hall, Minneapolis, MN, 55455, USA e-mail: krylov@math.umn.edu

I. Gyöngy (🖂)

Maxwell Institute and School of Mathematics, University of Edinburgh, King's Buildings, EH9 3JZ, United Kingdom e-mail: gyongy@maths.ed.ac.uk

D. Crisan (ed.), *Stochastic Analysis 2010*, DOI 10.1007/978-3-642-15358-7_7, © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2011

Keywords Cauchy problem \cdot Finite differences \cdot Extrapolation to the limit \cdot Richardson's method \cdot SPDEs

MSC (2010): 65M06, 65B05, 35K65, 60H15

1 Introduction

About a century ago, L.F. Richardson introduced an idea of accelerating the convergence of numerical solutions to deterministic equations. He implemented it in improving the accuracy of finite difference approximations for some parabolic PDE, which he wanted to solve as accurately as one could in the time when no computer existed. Richardson's idea is based on the assumption that finite difference approximations admit power series expansions in term of the mesh-size so that in appropriate mixtures of approximations corresponding to different mesh-sizes, the lower order terms vanish. Richardson showed that his idea works in some cases and demonstrated its usefulness in [28] and [29]. His method, often called *Richardson's method* or *extrapolation to the limit*, became an important method of modern numerical analysis, and his idea is applied to various types of approximations. The reader is referred to the survey papers [2] and [4] for a review on the history of the method and on the scope of its applicability and to the textbooks (for instance, [23] and [24]) concerning finite difference methods and their accelerations.

In the present paper, we give a survey of some of our recent results from [10]–[14] on accelerated numerical schemes for linear PDEs and stochastic PDEs. These results revolve around the possibility of power series expansions of approximations for the solutions in terms of the parameter of the discretizations of equations under consideration. First, in Sect. 2, we consider monotone finite difference schemes for parabolic PDEs in the spatial variable. We present some theorems from [13] on power series expansions of finite difference approximations in terms of the mesh-size of the grid. These theorems imply that if the coefficients and the data of the equations are sufficiently regular, then one can accelerate the convergence of finite difference approximations (in the spatial variables) to any order by taking suitable mixtures of approximations corresponding to different mesh-sizes. We also give conditions under which the constants in our estimates are independent of the time variable; it allows us to extend our theorems on expansions and accelerations to elliptic equations in Sect. 3. Our results seem to be the first ones to justify Richardson's method for degenerate elliptic and parabolic equations in spaces with supremum norm.

In Sect. 4, we consider stochastic linear PDEs of parabolic type and finite difference schemes for them in the spatial variables. The finite difference schemes are quite general; we do not require them to be monotone. We establish again a power series expansions in terms of the mesh-sizes and give an estimate of the second moment of suitable Sobolev norms of the remainders. Hence, as before, we get that if the coefficients and the free data are sufficiently regular, then by Richardson's method we can accelerate the rate of convergence of finite difference approximations to any order. We note that there are some well-known applications of Richardson's method to stochastic differential equations (SDE) in the literature. In particular, in [33], and in its generalisations [19] and [16], *week convergence* of Euler's approximations of SDEs are accelerated. In contrast, here we consider acceleration of *strong convergence* of finite difference approximations in the space variable for stochastic parabolic equations. Our results have obvious applications in nonlinear filtering of partially observed diffusion processes. As far as we know, these are the first results in this direction.

In Sects. 2–4, we consider equations in the whole space having in mind treating equations in bounded smooth domains in a subsequent article. In connection with this, it may be worth noting that the results we present are applicable, for example, to the one dimensional ODE

$$(1 - x^2)^2 u''(x) - c(x)u(x) = f(x), \quad x \in (-1, 1).$$

The point is that one need not prescribe any boundary value of u at the points ± 1 , and if one considers this equation on all of \mathbb{R} , the values of its coefficients and f outside (-1, 1) do not affect the values of u(x) for |x| < 1. Another rather standard example even of a uniformly nondegenerate equation with constant coefficients is the following. Consider the one-dimensional heat equation

$$u_t = u_{xx}, \quad t \ge 0, \quad u(0, x) = \cos x.$$

Then, the true solution is

$$u(t, x) = e^{-t} \cos x, \quad u(1, 0) = e^{-1} = 0.3678794,$$

and the obvious symmetric finite difference scheme in the space variable with meshsize h = 1/2 and h = 1/4 give the approximations

$$v(1,0) = 0.3755591$$
, and $w(1,0) = 0.3697965$,

respectively, for u(1, 0). These approximations are accurate up to the *second* digit only, whereas the Richardson's accelerated approximation

$$4w(1,0)/3 - v(1,0)/3 = 0.3678756$$

gives the correct value up to the *fifth (out of seven)* digit. By the way, if one does not use the acceleration, then one gets such accuracy for h = 0.011, which is almost 25 times smaller than 1/4.

Finally, in Sect. 5, we consider a class of deterministic equations and various types of time discretizations for them. The class of equations includes linear parabolic PDEs, systems of parabolic PDEs, in particular symmetric hyperbolic systems of first order PDEs. The numerical approximations we consider include splitting-up approximations and finite difference schemes in time. We cite some results from [11] and [12] on power series expansion of numerical approximations in the parameters of the approximations. In applications, these parameters play the role of the mesh-size of time grids. Hence we get acceleration results for those numerical approximations that belong to the class of schemes presented here. We refer to [12], where more general equations and numerical schemes are considered, and more general theorems on power series expansions are proved.

Clearly, by combining the theorems of Sects. 2 and 5, one can get expansions and accelerations for various *fully discretized* parabolic PDEs and systems of parabolic PDEs. It is natural to look also for accelerated space and time discretized schemes of stochastic PDEs, say by using time discretization to solve the stochastic differential equations obtained after space discretizations. One knows, however, that if the values of the driving multidimensional Wiener process are given only on the grid, then, in general, one cannot have a numerical scheme for SDEs with (strong) rate of convergence better than $\sqrt{\tau}$, where τ is the mesh-size of the grid. On the other hand, in some particular cases, for example, when the Wiener process is one-dimenional or some special data, such as iterated stochastic integrals of the components of the Wiener processes are available, then one can have accelerated fully discretised numerical schemes for SPDEs. (See, e.g., [15] for high order strong approximations of stochastic differential equations when appropriate iterated stochastic integrals of the Wiener processes are used in the numerical schemes.)

2 Monotone Finite Difference Schemes for Parabolic Equations

We fix some numbers $h_0, T \in (0, \infty)$, and for each number $h \in (0, h_0]$, we consider the integral equation

$$u(t,x) = g(x) + \int_0^t \left(L_h u(s,x) + f(s,x) \right) \mathrm{d}s, \quad (t,x) \in H_T$$
(1)

for *u*, where g(x) and f(s, x) are given real-valued Borel functions of $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and $(s, x) \in H_T = [0, T] \times \mathbb{R}^d$, respectively, and L_h is a linear operator defined by

$$L_h \varphi(t, x) = L_h^0 \varphi(t, x) - c(t, x) \varphi(x), \qquad (2)$$

$$L_{h}^{0}\varphi(t,x) = \frac{1}{h}\sum_{\lambda\in\Lambda_{1}}q_{\lambda}(t,x)\delta_{h,\lambda}\varphi(x) + \sum_{\lambda\in\Lambda_{1}}p_{\lambda}(t,x)\delta_{h,\lambda}\varphi(x), \qquad (3)$$

for functions φ on \mathbb{R}^d . Here Λ_1 is a finite subset of \mathbb{R}^d such that $0 \notin \Lambda_1$,

$$\delta_{h,\lambda}\varphi(x) = \frac{1}{h}(\varphi(x+h\lambda) - \varphi(x)), \quad \lambda \in \Lambda_1,$$

 $q_{\lambda}(t, x) \ge 0, p_{\lambda}(t, x), \text{ and } c(t, x) \text{ are given real-valued Borel functions of } (t, x) \in H_{\infty} = [0, \infty) \times \mathbb{R}^{d}$ for each $\lambda \in \Lambda_{1}$. Set $|\Lambda_{1}|^{2} = \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_{1}} |\lambda|^{2}$.

As usual, we denote

$$D^{\alpha} = D_1^{\alpha_1} \dots D_d^{\alpha_d}, \quad D_i = \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i}, \quad |\alpha| = \sum_i \alpha_i, \quad D_{ij} = D_i D_j$$

for multi-indices $\alpha = (\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_d), \alpha_i \in \{0, 1, \dots\}$. For smooth φ and integers $k \ge 0$, we introduce $D^k \varphi$ as the collection of partial derivatives of φ of order k, and define

$$|D^k\varphi|^2 = \sum_{|\alpha|=k} |D^{\alpha}\varphi|^2, \quad [\varphi]_k = \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^d} |D^k\varphi(x)|, \quad |\varphi|_k = \sum_{i \le k} [\varphi]_i.$$

For functions ψ_h depending on $h \in (0, h_0]$, the notation $D_h^k \psi_h$ means the *k*th derivative of ψ in *h*. For Borel measurable bounded functions $\psi = \psi(t, x)$ on H_T , we write $\psi \in \mathfrak{B}^m = \mathfrak{B}_T^m$ if, for each $t \in [0, T]$, $\psi(t, x)$ is continuous in \mathbb{R}^d and for all multi-indices α with $|\alpha| \leq m$ the generalized functions $D^{\alpha}\psi(t, x)$ are bounded on H_T . In this case, we use the notation

$$\|\psi\|_m^2 = \sup_{H_T} \sum_{|\alpha| \le m} |D^{\alpha}\psi(t,x)|^2.$$

This notation will be also used for functions ψ independent of t.

Let $m \ge 0$ be a fixed integer. We make the following assumptions.

Assumption 2.1. For any $\lambda \in \Lambda_1$, we have $p_{\lambda}, q_{\lambda}, c, f, g \in \mathfrak{B}^m$, and for $k = 0, \ldots, m$ and some constants M_k , we have

$$\sup_{H_T} \left(\sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_1} (|D^k q_\lambda|^2 + |D^k p_\lambda|^2) + |D^k c|^2 \right) \le M_k^2.$$
(4)

Remark 1. One can show, see Theorem 2.3 of [6], that under Assumption 2.1 for each $h \in (0, h_0]$, there exists a unique bounded solution u_h of (1); this solution is continuous in H_T , and all its derivatives in x up to order m are bounded. Actually, in Theorem 2.3 of [6], it is required that the derivatives of the data up to order m be continuous in H_T , but its proof can be easily adjusted to include our case (see Remark 5 below).

We view (1) as a finite difference scheme for the problem

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}u(t,x) = \mathcal{L}u(t,x) + f(t,x), \quad t \in (0,T], \ x \in \mathbb{R}^d,$$
(5)

$$u(0,x) = g(x), \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^d, \tag{6}$$

where

$$\mathcal{L} := \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_1} \sum_{i,j=1}^d q_\lambda \lambda_i \lambda_j D_i D_j + \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_1} \sum_{i=1}^d p_\lambda \lambda_i D_i - c.$$
(7)

For this reason, we need the following assumption.

Assumption 2.2. For all $(t, x) \in H_T$

$$\sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_1} \lambda q_\lambda(t, x) = 0.$$

Notice that under Assumption 2.2 for continuous functions φ on H_T , sufficiently smooth in $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$, we have

$$\lim_{h \to 0} L_h \varphi(t, x) = \mathcal{L} \varphi(t, x) \quad \text{for } (t, x) \in H_T,$$

which can be seen from the Taylor formulas

$$\sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_1} p_\lambda \delta_{h,\lambda} \varphi = \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_1} p_\lambda \int_0^1 \partial_\lambda \varphi(t, x + h\theta\lambda) \, \mathrm{d}\theta,$$
$$\sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_1} h^{-1} q_\lambda \delta_{h,\lambda} \varphi = \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_1} q_\lambda \int_0^1 (1 - \theta) \partial_\lambda^2 \varphi(t, x + h\theta\lambda) \, \mathrm{d}\theta,$$

where $\partial_{\lambda}\varphi = \sum_{i=1}^{d} \lambda_i D_i \varphi$ denotes the derivative of φ in the direction of $\lambda = (\lambda_1, \dots, \lambda_d)$.

Remark 2. We often use also the following symmetry conditions:

(S) $\Lambda_1 = -\Lambda_1$ and $q_{\lambda} = q_{-\lambda}$ for all $\lambda \in \Lambda_1$.

(P) $\Lambda_1 = -\Lambda_1$ and $p_{\lambda} = -p_{-\lambda}$ for all $\lambda \in \Lambda_1$.

Clearly condition (S) implies Assumption 2.2. Moreover, if condition (S) holds, then

$$h^{-1}\sum_{\lambda\in\Lambda_1}q_{\lambda}(t,x)\delta_{h,\lambda}\varphi(x) = (1/2)\sum_{\lambda\in\Lambda_1}q_{\lambda}(t,x)\Delta_{h,\lambda}\varphi(x),$$

where

$$\Delta_{h,\lambda}\varphi(x) = h^{-2}(\varphi(x+h\lambda) - 2\varphi(x) + \varphi(x-h\lambda)).$$

By a solution of (5)–(6), we mean a bounded continuous function u(t, x) on H_T , such that it belongs to \mathfrak{B}^2 and satisfies

$$u(t,x) = g(x) + \int_0^t [\mathcal{L}u(s,x) + f(s,x)] \,\mathrm{d}s$$
(8)

136

in H_T in the sense of generalized functions, that is, for any $t \in [0, T]$ and $\phi \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \phi(x)u(t,x) \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \phi(x)g(x) \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_0^t \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \phi(-cu+f)(s,x) \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}s$$
$$+ \int_0^t \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \phi \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_1} \left(\frac{1}{2} \sum_{i,j=1}^d q_\lambda \lambda_i \lambda_j D_i D_j u\right)$$
$$+ \sum_{i=1}^d p_\lambda \lambda_i D_i u(s,x) \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}s. \tag{9}$$

Observe that if $u \in \mathfrak{B}^2$, then (9) implies that (8) holds almost everywhere with respect to x, and if $u \in \mathfrak{B}^3$, then the second derivatives of u in x are continuous in x and (8) holds everywhere.

We remark that it is shown in [20] that in all practically interesting cases of parabolic equations such as (8), the operator \mathcal{L} can be represented as in (7), which justifies considering operators L_h^0 in form (3).

The following theorem on existence and uniqueness of solutions is a classical result (see, for instance, [25–27]). In [13], we give an elementary proof by using finite-difference approximations.

Theorem 1. Let Assumption 2.1 hold with $m \ge 2$. Then, (8) has a unique solution $u^{(0)} \in \mathfrak{B}^2 = \mathfrak{B}^2_T$. Moreover, $u^{(0)} \in \mathfrak{B}^m_T$ and

$$\|u^{(0)}\|_{m} \le N(\|f\|_{m} + \|g\|_{m}), \tag{10}$$

where N is a constant, depending only on d, m, $|\Lambda_1|$, M_0, \ldots, M_m , and T.

Assuming now that Assumption 2.1 holds with $m \ge 2$, we want to know if u_h , the unique bounded solution of (1) (see Remark 1) admits an expansion

$$u_h(t,x) = u^{(0)}(t,x) + \sum_{1 \le j \le k} \frac{h^j}{j!} u^{(j)}(t,x) + h^{k+1} r_h(t,x),$$
(11)

for all $(t, x) \in H_T$ and $h \in (0, h_0]$, where $u^{(0)}$ the unique solution of (8), $u^{(1)}, \ldots, u^{(k)}$ are some functions on H_T , independent of h, and r_h is a function on H_T defined for each $h \in (0, h_0]$ such that

$$|r_h(t,x)| \le N(\|f\|_m + \|g\|_m) \tag{12}$$

for all $(t, x) \in H_T$, $h \in (0, h_0]$ with some constant N independent of h.

To formulate our first result concerning the above expansion, we introduce

$$\chi_{h,\lambda}=q_{\lambda}+hp_{\lambda},$$

and the following assumption.

Assumption 2.3. For all $(t, x) \in H_T$, $h \in (0, h_0]$, and $\lambda \in \Lambda_1$,

$$\chi_{h,\lambda}(t,x) \ge 0. \tag{13}$$

Theorem 2. Let Assumption 2.1 with $m \ge 3$ and Assumption 2.3 hold. Let $k \ge 0$ be an integer. Then, expansion (11) holds with r_h satisfying (12), provided one of the following conditions is met:

- (i) $m \ge 3k + 3$ and Assumption 2.2 holds
- (*ii*) $m \ge 2k + 3$ and condition (*S*) holds
- (iii) k is odd, $m \ge 2k + 2$, and conditions (S) and (P) are satisfied.

In each of the cases (i)–(iii), the constant N depends only on d, m, $|\Lambda_1|$, M_0, \ldots , M_m , and T. In case (iii), we have $u^{(j)} = 0$ for all odd j in expansion (11).

The following corollary is one of the results of [3] proved there by using the theory of diffusion processes. It follows immediately from case (iii) of the above theorem with k = 1. Of course, the result is well known for uniformly nondegenerate equations, but we do not assume any nondegeneracy of \mathcal{L} , which becomes just a zero operator at those points where $q_{\lambda} = p_{\lambda} = c = 0$.

Corollary 1. Let conditions (S) and (P) be satisfied. Let Assumption 2.1 with m = 4 and Assumption 2.3 hold. Then, we have $|u_h - u_0| \le Nh^2$.

Actually, in [3], a full discretization in time and space is considered for parabolic equations, so that, formally, Corollary 1 does not yield the corresponding result of [3]. On the other hand, a similar corollary can be derived from Theorem 13 below, which treats elliptic equations, and it does imply the corresponding result of [3]. It also generalizes it because in [3], one of the assumptions, unavoidable for the methods used there, is that $q_{\lambda} = r_{\lambda}^2$ with functions r_{λ} that have four bounded derivatives in *x*, which may easily be not the case under the assumptions of Theorem 13.

To formulate a result implied by Theorem 2 on acceleration for parabolic equations, we fix an integer $k \ge 0$ and set

$$\bar{u}_h = \sum_{j=0}^k \rho_j u_{2^{-j}h},$$
(14)

where, naturally, $u_{2^{-j}h}$ are the solutions to (1), with $2^{-j}h$ in place of h,

$$(\rho_0, \rho_1, \dots, \rho_k) := (1, 0, 0, \dots, 0)V^{-1}$$
(15)

and V^{-1} is the inverse of the Vandermonde matrix with entries

$$V^{ij} := 2^{-(i-1)(j-1)}, \quad i, j = 1, \dots, k+1.$$

The following result is a simple corollary of Theorem 2.

Theorem 3. In each situation when Theorem 2 is applicable, we have that the estimate

$$|\bar{u}_h(t,x) - u^{(0)}(t,x)| \le N(||f||_m + ||g||_m)h^{k+1}$$
(16)

holds for all $(t, x) \in H_T$, $h \in (0, h_0]$, where N is a constant depending only on d, $m, |\Lambda_1|, M_0, \ldots, M_m$, and T.

Proof. By Theorem 2

$$u_{2^{-j}h} = u^{(0)} + \sum_{i=1}^{k} \frac{h^{i}}{i!2^{ji}} u^{(i)} + \bar{r}_{2^{-j}h} h^{k+1}, \quad j = 0, 1, \dots, k,$$

with $\bar{r}_{2^{-j}h} := 2^{-j(k+1)} r_{2^{-j}h}$, which gives

$$\bar{u}_{h} = \sum_{j=0}^{k} \rho_{j} u_{2^{-j}h} = \left(\sum_{j=0}^{k} \rho_{j}\right) u^{(0)} + \sum_{j=0}^{k} \sum_{i=1}^{k} \rho_{j} \frac{h^{i}}{i!2^{ij}} u^{(i)} + \sum_{j=0}^{k} \rho_{j} \bar{r}_{2^{-j}h} h^{k+1}$$
$$= u^{(0)} + \sum_{i=1}^{k} \frac{h^{i}}{i!} u^{(i)} \sum_{j=0}^{k} \frac{\rho_{j}}{2^{ij}} + \sum_{j=0}^{k} \rho_{j} \bar{r}_{2^{-j}h} = u^{(0)} + \sum_{j=0}^{k} \rho_{j} \bar{r}_{2^{-j}h} h^{k+1},$$

since

$$\sum_{j=0}^{k} \rho_j = 1, \quad \sum_{j=0}^{k} \rho_j 2^{-ij} = 0, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots k$$

by the definition of (ρ_0, \ldots, ρ_k) . Hence,

$$\sup_{H_T} |\bar{u}_h - u^{(0)}| = \sup_{H_T} |\sum_{j=0}^k \rho_j \bar{r}_{2^{-j}h} |h^{k+1} \le N(||f||_m + ||g||_m) h^{k+1},$$

and the theorem is proved.

Sometimes, it suffices to combine fewer terms $u_{2^{-j}h}$ to get accuracy of order k + 1. To consider such a case for integers $k \ge 0$ define

$$\tilde{u}_h = \sum_{j=0}^{\tilde{k}} \tilde{\rho}_j u_{2^{-j}h},$$

where

$$(\tilde{\rho}_0, \tilde{\rho}_1, \dots, \tilde{\rho}_{\tilde{k}}) := (1, 0, 0, \dots, 0)\tilde{V}^{-1}, \quad \tilde{k} = [\frac{k}{2}],$$
 (17)

and \tilde{V}^{-1} is the inverse of the Vandermonde matrix with entries

$$\tilde{V}^{ij} := 4^{-(i-1)(j-1)}, \quad i, j = 1, \dots, \tilde{k} + 1.$$
Theorem 4. Suppose that the assumptions of Theorem 2 are satisfied and condition (iii) is met. Then, for \tilde{u}_h , we have

$$\sup_{H_T} |u^{(0)} - \tilde{u}_h| \le N(\|f\|_m + \|g\|_m)h^{k+1}$$

for all $h \in (0, h_0]$, where N depends only on d, m, $|\Lambda_1|$, M_0, \ldots, M_m , and T.

Proof. We obtain this result from Theorem 2 by a straightforward modification of the proof of the previous result, taking into account that for odd j, the terms with h^j vanish in expansion (11) when condition (iii) holds in Theorem 2.

Example 1. Assume that in the situation of Theorem 4, we have m = 8. Then,

$$\tilde{u}_h := \frac{4}{3}u_{h/2} - \frac{1}{3}u_h$$

satisfies

$$\sup_{H_T} |u^{(0)} - \tilde{u}_h| \le N h^4$$

for all $h \in (0, h_0]$.

The above results show that if the data in (8) are sufficiently smooth, then the order of accuracy in approximating the solution $u^{(0)}$ can be as high as we wish if we use suitable mixtures of finite difference approximations calculated along nested grids with different mesh-sizes. Assume now that we need to approximate not only $u^{(0)}$ but its derivative $D^{\alpha}u^{(0)}$ for some multi-index α as well. What accuracy can we achieve? The answer is closely related to the question whether the expansion

$$D^{\alpha}u_{h}(t,x) = D^{\alpha}u^{(0)}(t,x) + \sum_{1 \le j \le k} \frac{h^{j}}{j!}D^{\alpha}u^{(j)}(t,x) + h^{k+1}D^{\alpha}r_{h}(t,x)$$
(18)

holds for all $(t, x) \in H_T$ and $h \in (0, h_0]$, such that

$$|D^{\alpha}r_{h}(t,x)| \le N(||f||_{m} + ||g||_{m})$$
(19)

for all $(t, x) \in H_T$, $h \in (0, h_0]$. It is also natural to extend the above theorems from the parabolic to the elliptic case. The rather serious difficulty is that the constant in our estimates depends on T. To overcome this difficulty, we introduce some more notation and assumptions and investigate the smoothness of u_h in x. As a simple byproduct of this investigation, we also obtain smoothness of u_h with respect to h, which, by the way, cannot be derived from (11).

Let τ_{λ} be a function defined on Λ_1 taking values in $[0, \infty)$, and for $\lambda \in \Lambda_1$, introduce the operators

$$T_{h,\lambda}\varphi(x) = \varphi(x+h\lambda), \quad \bar{\delta}_{h,\lambda} = \tau_{\lambda}h^{-1}(T_{h,\lambda}-1).$$

Accelerated Numerical Schemes for PDEs and SPDEs

Set

$$\|\Lambda_1\|^2 = \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_1} |\tau_\lambda \lambda|^2$$

For uniformity of notation, we also introduce Λ_2 as the set of fixed distinct vectors ℓ^1, \ldots, ℓ^d , none of which is in Λ_1 and define

$$\delta_{h,\ell^i} = \tau_0 D_i, \quad T_{h,\ell^i} = 1, \quad \Lambda = \Lambda_1 \cup \Lambda_2,$$

where $\tau_0 > 0$ is a fixed parameter. For $\lambda = (\lambda^1, \lambda^2) \in \Lambda^2$, introduce the operators

$$T_{h,\lambda} = T_{h,\lambda^1} T_{h,\lambda^2}, \quad \bar{\delta}_{h,\lambda} = \bar{\delta}_{h,\lambda^1} \bar{\delta}_{h,\lambda^2},$$

For $k = 1, 2, \mu \in \Lambda^k$, we set

$$Q_{h,\mu}\varphi = h^{-1} \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_1} (\bar{\delta}_{h,\mu}q_{\lambda})\delta_{\lambda}\varphi, \quad L^0_{h,\mu}\varphi = Q_{h,\mu}\varphi + \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_1} (\bar{\delta}_{h,\mu}p_{\lambda})\delta_{\lambda}\varphi,$$
$$A_h(\varphi) = 2 \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda} (\bar{\delta}_{h,\lambda}\varphi)L^0_{h,\lambda}T_{h,\lambda}\varphi, \quad Q_h(\varphi) = \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_1} \chi_{h,\lambda}(\delta_{h,\lambda}\varphi)^2.$$

Below $B(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is the set of bounded Borel functions on \mathbb{R}^d , and \mathfrak{K} is the set of bounded operators $\mathcal{K}_h = \mathcal{K}_h(t)$ mapping $B(\mathbb{R}^d)$ into itself preserving the cone of nonnegative functions and satisfying $\mathcal{K}_h 1 \leq 1$.

Finally, we fix some constants $\delta \in (0, 1]$ and $K \in [1, \infty)$ and remark that below $\mathcal{K} = \mathcal{K}_h = \mathcal{K}_h(t)$ denotes generic elements from operators from \mathfrak{K} , which may be different from one appearance to another.

Assumption 2.4. There exists a constant $c_0 > 0$ such that $c \ge c_0$.

This assumption is almost irrelevant if we only consider (1) on a finite time interval. Indeed, if c is just bounded, say $|c| \le C = \text{const}$, by introducing a new function $v(t, x) = u(t, x)e^{-2Ct}$, we will have an equation for v similar to (1) with $L_h^0 v - (c + 2C)v$ and $f e^{-2Ct}$ in place of $L_h u$ and f, respectively. Now for the new c, we have $c + 2C \ge C$.

Assumption 2.5. We have $m \ge 1$, and for any $h \in (0, h_0]$, there exists an operator $\mathcal{K}_h = \mathcal{K}_{h,m} \in \mathfrak{K}$, such that

$$mA_{h}(\varphi) \leq (1-\delta) \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda} \mathcal{Q}_{h}(\bar{\delta}_{h,\lambda}\varphi) + K\mathcal{Q}_{h}(\varphi) + 2(1-\delta)c\mathcal{K}_{h}\left(\sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda} |\bar{\delta}_{h,\lambda}\varphi|^{2}\right)$$
(20)

on H_T for all smooth functions φ .

Assumption 2.6. We have $m \ge 2$, and for any $h \in (0, h_0]$ and n = 1, ..., m, there exist operators $\mathcal{K}_h = \mathcal{K}_{h,n} \in \mathfrak{K}$, such that

$$n\sum_{\nu\in\Lambda}A_h(\bar{\delta}_{h,\nu}\varphi)+n(n-1)\sum_{\lambda\in\Lambda^2}(\bar{\delta}_{h,\lambda}\varphi)Q_{h,\lambda}T_{h,\lambda}\varphi\leq(1-\delta)\sum_{\lambda\in\Lambda^2}Q_h(\bar{\delta}_{h,\lambda}\varphi)$$

$$+ K \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda} \mathcal{Q}_h(\bar{\delta}_{h\lambda}\varphi) + 2(1-\delta)c\mathcal{K}_h\left(\sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda^2} |\bar{\delta}_{h,\lambda}\varphi|^2\right) + K\mathcal{K}_h\left(\sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda} |\bar{\delta}_{h,\lambda}\varphi|^2\right)$$
(21)

on H_T for all smooth functions φ .

Obviously, Assumptions 2.5 and 2.6 are satisfied if q_{λ} and p_{λ} are independent of x. In the general case, as it is discussed in [6], not only do the above assumptions impose analytical conditions, but they are related also to some structural conditions, which can somewhat easier be analized under the symmetry condition (S).

Assumption 2.7. For all $t \in [0, T]$,

$$\sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_1} \lambda q_\lambda(t, x) \quad is independent of \quad x.$$
(22)

In the main case of applications, we will require the last sum to be identically zero as in Assumption 2.2.

Remark 3. Assumptions 2.5 and 2.6 are discussed at length and in many details in [6] and [7], and sufficient conditions, without involving test functions φ are given for these assumptions to be satisfied. In particular, it is shown in [7] that if condition (S) holds, $m \ge 2$, $\tau_{\lambda} = 1$, Assumptions 2.1 and 2.3 are satisfied, and $q_{\lambda} \ge \kappa$ for a constant $\kappa > 0$, then both Assumptions 2.5 and 2.6 are satisfied for any $c_0 > 0$ and $\delta \in (0, 1)$, if h_0 is sufficiently small and τ_0 , K, and \mathcal{K} are chosen appropriately. Moreover, the condition $\kappa > 0$ can be dropped, provided, additionally, that c_0 is large enough (this time we need not assume that h is small). Remember, that the condition that c_0 be large is, actually, harmless as long as we are concerned with equations on a finite time interval. Mixed situations, when c is large at those points where some of q_{λ} can vanish, are also considered in [7].

In [6], we have seen that Assumption 2.5 imposes certain nontrivial *structural* conditions on q_{λ} which cannot be guaranteed by the size of c_0 if q_{λ} is only once continuously differentiable. In contrast, even without condition (S), given that Assumptions 2.1, 2.5, and 2.7 are satisfied and $m \geq 2$, as is shown in [7], Assumption 2.6 is also satisfied if c_0 is large enough.

Theorem 5. Let Assumption 2.1 through 2.6 hold with $m \ge 3$. Let $k \ge 0$ and $l \in [0, m]$ be integers. Then, for every multi-index α such that $|\alpha| \le l$, the function $D^{\alpha}u_h$ is a continuous function on H_T , and expansion (18) holds with $D^{\alpha}r_h$ satisfying (19), provided one of the following conditions is met:

- (*i*) $m \ge 3k + 3 + l$
- (*ii*) $m \ge 2k + 3 + l$ and condition (*S*) holds
- (iii) k is odd, $m \ge 2k+2+l$, and conditions (S) and (P) are satisfied. In each of the cases (i)–(iii), the constant N depends only on d, m, δ , K, τ_0 , c_0 , $|\Lambda_1|$, $||\Lambda_1||$, M_0, \ldots, M_m . In case (iii), we have $u^{(j)} = 0$ for all odd j in the expansion.

The following is an obvious consequence of Theorem 5. (See the proof of Theorem 3.)

Corollary 2. Suppose that the assumptions of Theorem 5 are satisfied. Then,

$$\sup_{H_T} |D^{\alpha} \bar{u}_h - D^{\alpha} u^{(0)}| \le N h^{k+1} (||f||_m + ||g||_m),$$

and if condition (iii) is met, then

$$\sup_{H_T} |D^{\alpha} \tilde{u}_h - D^{\alpha} u^{(0)}| \le N h^{k+1} (||f||_m + ||g||_m),$$

where N depends only on on d, m, δ , K, τ_0 , c_0 , $|\Lambda_1|$, $||\Lambda_1||$, M_0, \ldots, M_m .

Remark 4. Observe that for k = 0 Theorem 5 implies that

$$\sup_{H_T} |D^{\alpha} u_h - D^{\alpha} u^{(0)}| \le Nh$$
(23)

if $m \ge 3 + |\alpha|$ and Assumption 2.1 through 2.6 hold. In addition, one can replace $D^{\alpha}u_h$ in (23) with δ_h^{α} , where

$$\delta_h^{\alpha} = \delta_{h,e_1}^{\alpha_1} \cdot \ldots \cdot \delta_{h,e_d}^{\alpha_d}$$

and e_i is the *i* th basis vector in \mathbb{R}^d . This follows easily from the mean value theorem and Theorem 6 below. The reader understands that similar assertion is true in case of Corollary 2 with the only difference that one needs larger *m* and better finite-difference approximations of D^{α} .

Next, we investigate the smoothness of u_h in x and h. Recall that for functions φ depending on h, we use the notation $D_h^r \varphi$ for the rth derivative of φ in h. As usual, $D_h^0 \varphi := \varphi$.

Remark 5. Suppose that Assumption 2.1 is satisfied. Take an $h_1 \in (0, h_0)$, consider (1) as an equation about a function $u_h(t, x)$ as function of $(h, t, x) \in [h_1, h_0] \times H_T$, and look for solutions in the space $\mathfrak{B}^m(h_1) = \mathfrak{B}^m_T(h_1)$, which is defined as the space of functions on $[h_1, h_0] \times H_T$ with finite norm

$$\sum_{|\alpha|+3r < m} \sup_{[h_1,h_0] \times H_T} |D^{\alpha} D_h^r u_h(t,x)|.$$
(24)

It is obvious that the integrand in (1) can be considered as the result of application of an operator, which is bounded in $\mathfrak{B}^m(h_1)$, to $u_h(s, x)$. Therefore, a standard abstract theorem on solvability of ODEs in Banach spaces shows that there exists a solution of (1) in $\mathfrak{B}^m(h_1)$. Since just bounded solutions are uniquely defined by (1), we conclude that our u_h belongs to $\mathfrak{B}^m(h_1)$ for any $h_1 \in (0, h_0)$. Obviously, if the derivatives of the data are continuous in x, the same will hold for u_h .

The above argument, actually, works if we replace $|\alpha| + 3r \le m$ with $|\alpha| + r \le m$ in (24). We talk about (24) in the above form because we will show that under our future assumptions the quantity (24) is bounded independently of h_1 .

Theorem 6. Let $k \ge 0$ and $m \ge 2$ be integers and suppose that Assumptions 2.1 through 2.6 are satisfied. Then, for each integer $r \ge 0$ such that

$$3k + r \leq m$$

the generalized derivatives $D^r D_h^k u_h$ exist on $(0, h_0] \times H_T$, are bounded, and we have

$$|D^{r}D_{h}^{k}u_{h}| \leq N(||f||_{m} + ||g||_{m}),$$
(25)

where N is a constant depending only on $m, \delta, c_0, \tau_0, K, M_0, \ldots, M_m, |\Lambda_1|$, and $||\Lambda_1||$. In particular, $u_h \in \mathfrak{B}^m$ and

$$||u_h||_m \le N(||f||_m + ||g||_m).$$

From the above theorem, one can get, as simple corollary, the following theorem, which we use when we consider the elliptic case below.

Theorem 7. Suppose that Assumptions 2.1 through 2.6 hold with $m \ge 2$. Then, the constant N in (10) depends only on $m, \delta, c_0, \tau_0, K, M_0, \ldots, M_m, |\Lambda_1|$, and $||\Lambda_1||$ (thus, is independent of T). The same is true for the constants N in Theorems 2, 3, and 4.

Additional information on the behaviour of $D^r D_h^k u_h$ for small h is provided by the following result.

Theorem 8. Let $k \ge 1$ be an odd number and suppose that Assumptions 2.1 through 2.6 hold with $m \ge 3k + 1$. Assume that the symmetry conditions (S) and (P) are satisfied.

Then, for any integer $r \ge 0$ *such that*

$$3k+r \le m-1,$$

we have

$$\sup_{H_T} |D^r D_h^k u_h| \le N(||f||_m + ||g||_m)h$$
(26)

for all $h \in (0, h_0]$, where N depends only on m, δ , c_0 , τ_0 , K, $|\Lambda_1|$, $||\Lambda_1||$, M_0, \ldots, M_m .

3 Acceleration for Elliptic Equations

Here we assume that p_{λ} , q_{λ} , c, and f are independent of t and turn now our attention to the equations

$$L_h v_h(x) + f(x) = 0 \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^d,$$
(27)

$$\mathcal{L}v(x) + f(x) = 0 \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^d,$$
(28)

where L_h and \mathcal{L}_h are defined by (2)–(7) and (8).

Naturally by a solution of (28), we mean a function v on \mathbb{R}^d such that it belongs to \mathfrak{B}^2 , and (28) holds almost everywhere. Clearly, if a solution v belongs to \mathfrak{B}^3 and q_λ , p_λ , c, and f are continuous functions on \mathbb{R}^d , then (28) holds everywhere.

First, we prove the existence and uniqueness of the solutions of (27) and (28).

Theorem 9. Suppose that Assumption 2.1 is satisfied with an $m \ge 0$ and let Assumptions 2.3 and 2.4 hold. Then, (27) has a unique bounded solution v_h . Moreover, v_h belongs to \mathfrak{B}^m .

Proof. Observe that (27) is equivalent to

$$v_h(x) = h^2 \xi(x) f(x) + \xi(x) \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_1} \chi_\lambda v_h(x + \lambda h),$$

where

$$\xi^{-1} = h^2 c + \sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_1} \chi_{\lambda}.$$

Hence we can see that the existence and uniqueness of bounded solution of (27) follow by contraction principle. Using smooth successive iterations yields that $v_h \in \mathfrak{B}^m$.

Theorem 10. Let Assumptions 2.1 through 2.6 hold with an $m \ge 2$. Then, (28) has a unique solution v in the space \mathfrak{B}^2 . Moreover, $v \in \mathfrak{B}^m$ and there is a constant N depending only on m, δ , c_0 , τ_0 , K, M_0, \ldots, M_m , $|\Lambda_1|$, and $||\Lambda_1||$ such that

$$\|v\|_{m} \le N \|f\|_{m}.$$
(29)

Proof. First, we prove uniqueness. Let $v \in \mathfrak{B}^2$ satisfy (28) with f = 0. Take a constant v > 0, so small that $c - v \ge c_0/2$ and conditions (20) and (21) hold with c - v and $\delta/2$ in place of c and δ , respectively. Then, for each T > 0, the function $u(t, x) := e^{vt}v(x)$, $(t, x) \in H_T$, is a solution of class \mathfrak{B}_T^2 of the equation

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}u = (\mathcal{L} + \nu)u \quad \text{on } H_T$$
 (30)

with initial condition u(0, x) = v(x). Hence by virtue of Theorem 7 for every T > 0,

I. Gyöngy and N. Krylov

$$e^{vT}|v(x)| = |u(T,x)| \le N ||v||_2,$$

where N is independent of (T, x). Multiplying both sides of the above inequality by $e^{-\nu T}$ and letting $T \to \infty$, we get v = 0, which proves uniqueness.

To show the existence of a solution in \mathfrak{B}^m , let u be a function defined on H_{∞} such that for each T > 0 its restriction onto H_T is the unique solution in \mathfrak{B}_T^m of (30) with initial condition u(0, x) = f(x) (see Theorem 1). By Theorem 7

$$\sup_{H\infty} \sum_{r \le m} |D^r u| \le N \|f\|_m$$

with a constant N depending only on m, δ , c_0 , τ_0 , K, M_0 , ..., M_m , $|\Lambda_1|$, and $||\Lambda_1||$. Hence

$$v(x) := \int_0^\infty e^{-\nu t} u(t, x) \, \mathrm{d}t, \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^d$$

is a well-defined function on \mathbb{R}^d , $v \in \mathfrak{B}^m$, and

$$\mathcal{L}v(x) = \int_0^\infty e^{-\nu t} \mathcal{L}u(t, x) dt$$

=
$$\int_0^\infty e^{-\nu t} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial t}u(t, x) - \nu u(t, x)\right) dt = -f(x),$$

where the last equality is obtained by integration by parts. Consequently, v is a solution of (30) and it satisfies estimate (29).

Theorem 11. Let $k \ge 0$ and suppose that Assumptions 2.1 through 2.6 are satisfied with an $m \ge 3k$. Then, for any $h \in (0, h_0]$ and for each integer $r \ge 0$, such that

 $3k + r \leq m$,

for the unique bounded solution v_h of (27), we have

$$\sup_{(0,h_0] \times \mathbb{R}^d} |D^r D_h^k v_h| \le N \|f\|_m,$$
(31)

where N is a constant depending only on $m, \delta, c_0, \tau_0, K, |\Lambda_1|, ||\Lambda_1||, M_0, \ldots, M_m$. In particular,

$$||v_h||_m \le N ||f||_m.$$

Proof. To prove (31), take a constant v > 0 as in the proof of Theorem 10, define $u(t, x) := v_h(x)e^{vt}$, and observe that u is the unique bounded solution of

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}u = L_h^0 u - (c - v)u + e^{vt} f, \quad u(0, x) = v_h(x).$$

By Theorem 6 for any T > 0,

Accelerated Numerical Schemes for PDEs and SPDEs

$$e^{\nu T} |D^r D_h^k v_h(x)| = |D^r D_h^k u(T, x)| \le N e^{\nu T} ||f||_m + N ||v_h||_m,$$

where *N* is a constant, depending only on $m, \delta, c_0, \tau_0, K, |\Lambda_1|, ||\Lambda_1||, M_0, \dots, M_m$. By multiplying the extreme terms by $e^{-\nu T}$ and letting $T \to \infty$, we get the result.

From estimate (26), we obtain the corresponding estimate for the derivatives of v_h .

Theorem 12. Let the conditions of Theorem 8 hold. Then, for any integer $r \ge 0$ such that

$$3k + r \le m - 1,$$

for the solution v_h of (27), we have

$$\sup_{\mathbb{R}^d} |D^r D_h^k v_h| \le N \|f\|_m h$$

for all $h \in (0, h_0]$, where N depends only on $m, \delta, c_0, \tau_0, K, |\Lambda_1|, ||\Lambda_1||$ and M_0, \ldots, M_m .

Proof. This theorem can be deduced from Theorem 8 in the same way as Theorem 11 is obtained from Theorem 6. \Box

Now we want to establish an expansion for v_h , that is, to show for an integer $k \ge 0$ the existence of some functions $v^{(0)}, \ldots, v^{(k)}$ on \mathbb{R}^d , and a function R_h on \mathbb{R}^d for each $h \in (0, h_0]$ such that for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and $h \in (0, h_0]$

$$v_h(x) = v^{(0)}(x) + \sum_{1 \le j \le k} \frac{h^j}{j!} v^{(j)}(x) + h^{k+1} R_h(x),$$
(32)

$$\sup_{h \in (0,h_0]} \sup_{\mathbb{R}^d} |R_h| \le N \|f\|_m$$
(33)

with a constant N.

Theorem 13. Suppose that Assumptions 2.1 through 2.6 are satisfied with an $m \ge 3$. Let $k \ge 0$ be an integer. Then, expansion (32) holds with $v^{(0)}$ being the unique \mathfrak{B}^m solution of (28) and R_h satisfying (33), provided one of the following conditions is met:

(i) $m \ge 3k + 3$ (ii) $m \ge 2k + 3$ and condition (S) holds (iii) k is odd, $m \ge 2k + 2$, and conditions (S) and (P) are satisfied.

In each of the cases (i)–(iii), the constant N in (33) depends only on d, m, $\delta, c_0, \tau_0, K, |\Lambda_1|, ||\Lambda_1||, M_0, \ldots, M_m$. Moreover, when (iii) holds, we have $v^{(j)} = 0$ for all odd j.

Proof. Take a small constant $\nu > 0$, as in the proof of Theorem 10; let u be a function defined on H_{∞} such that for each T > 0, its restriction onto H_T is the unique solution in \mathfrak{B}_T^m of

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}u_h = (L_h + v)u_h \quad (t, x) \in H_\infty$$
$$u_h(0, x) = f(x) \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^d,$$

(see Remark 1). As in the proof of Theorem 10, we get that

$$v_h(x) = \int_0^\infty \mathrm{e}^{-\nu t} u_h(t, x) \,\mathrm{d}t.$$

By Theorem 2 in each of the cases (i)–(iii), we have

$$u_h(t,x) = u^{(0)}(t,x) + \sum_{1 \le j \le k} \frac{h^j}{j!} u^{(j)}(t,x) + h^{k+1} r_h(t,x),$$
(34)

for all $(t, x) \in H_{\infty}$, $h \in (0, h_0]$, and by Theorem 7, we have

$$\sup_{h \in (0,h_0]} \sup_{H_{\infty}} \{ |u_h| + \sum_{j=0}^k |u^{(j)}| + |r_h| \} \le N \| f \|_m$$
(35)

with a constant N depending only on d, m, δ , c_0 , τ_0 , K, M_0 , ..., M_m , $|\Lambda_1|$, and $||\Lambda_1||$. Multiplying both sides of (34) by $e^{-\nu t}$ and then integrating them over $[0, \infty)$ with respect to dt, we get expansion (32) with

$$R_h(x) := \int_0^\infty e^{-\nu t} r_h(t, x) \, dt,$$
$$v^{(j)}(x) := \int_0^\infty e^{-\nu t} u^{(j)}(t, x) \, dt, \quad \text{for } j = 0, \dots, k.$$

Clearly, (35) implies that (33) holds with N depending only on $d, m, \delta, c_0, \tau_0, K$, $M_0, \ldots, M_m, |\Lambda_1|$, and $||\Lambda_1||$. As we know, the function $u^{(0)}$ in (34) is the \mathfrak{B}^m solution of

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}u = (\mathcal{L} + \nu)u \quad (t, x) \in H_{\infty},$$
$$u(0, x) = f(x) \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^d,$$

which as we have seen in the proof of Theorem 10 guarantees that $v^{(0)}$ is the unique \mathfrak{B}^m solution of (28).

The following result can be obtained easily from Theorem 5 by inspecting the proof of the previous theorem.

Theorem 14. Let p_{λ} , q_{λ} , c, and f satisfy the conditions of Theorem 13, with m - lin place of m in each of the conditions (i)–(iii) for an integer $l \in [0, m]$. Then, $D^{\alpha}v_h$ is a bounded continuous function on \mathbb{R}^d for every multi-index α , $|\alpha| \leq l$, and the expansion (32) is valid with $D^{\alpha}v_h$, $\{D^{\alpha}v^{(j)}\}_{j=0}^k$ and $D^{\alpha}R_h$ in place of v_h , $\{v^{(j)}\}_{j=0}^k$ and R_h , respectively. Furthermore, (33) holds with $D^{\alpha}R_h$ in place of R_h and a constant N depending only on d, m, δ , c_0 , τ_0 , K, $|\Lambda_1|$, $||\Lambda_1||$, M_0, \ldots, M_m . In case (iii), we have $v^{(j)} = 0$ for all odd j in the expansion.

Set

$$\bar{v}_h = \sum_{j=0}^k \rho_j v_{2^{-j}h}, \quad \tilde{v}_h = \sum_{j=0}^k \tilde{\rho}_j v_{2^{-j}h},$$

where $(\rho_0, \rho_1, \ldots, \rho_k)$ and \tilde{k} , $(\tilde{\rho}_0, \tilde{\rho}_1, \ldots, \tilde{\rho}_{\tilde{k}})$ are defined by (15) and (17) in Sect. 2. Then, we have the following corollary.

Corollary 3. Suppose that the assumptions of Theorem 14 are satisfied. Then, for every multi-index α with $|\alpha| \leq l$,

$$\sup_{\mathbb{R}^d} |D^{\alpha} \overline{v}_h - D^{\alpha} v^{(0)}| \le N \|f\|_m h^{k+1},$$

and if condition (iii) is met, then

$$\sup_{\mathbb{R}^d} |D^{\alpha} \tilde{v}_h - D^{\alpha} v^{(0)}| \le N \|f\|_m h^{k+1},$$

where N depends only on d, m, δ , K, τ_0 , c_0 , $|\Lambda_1|$, $||\Lambda_1||$, M_0, \ldots, M_m .

4 Acceleration for Stochastic Parabolic PDEs

We consider the equation

$$du(t) = (\mathcal{L}(t)u(t) + f(t)) dt + (\mathcal{M}^{\rho}(t)u(t) + g^{\rho}(t)) dw^{\rho}(t),$$
(36)

for $(t, x) \in [0, T] \times \mathbb{R}^d =: H_T$ with some initial condition, where

$$\mathcal{L}(t)\phi = a^{\alpha\beta}(t)D_{\alpha}D_{\beta}\phi, \quad \mathcal{M}^{\rho}(t)\phi = b^{\alpha\rho}(t)D_{\alpha}\phi,$$

and $\{w^{\rho}\}_{\rho=1}^{\infty}$ is a sequence of independent Wiener processes given on a probability space (Ω, \mathcal{F}, P) equipped with a filtration $(\mathcal{F})_{t\geq 0}$ such that w_t^{ρ} is \mathcal{F}_t -measurable and $w_t^{\rho} - w_s^{\rho}$ is independent of \mathcal{F}_s for all $0 \leq s \leq t$ and integers $\rho \geq 1$. Here and below the summation with respect to α and β is performed over the set $\{0, 1, \ldots, d\}$ and with respect to ρ in the range $\{1, 2, \ldots\}$. Assume that, for $\alpha, \beta \in \{0, 1, \ldots, d\}$, we have $a^{\alpha\beta} = a^{\beta\alpha}$, and $a^{\alpha\beta}(t) = a^{\alpha\beta}(t, x)$ are real-valued and $b_t^{\alpha} = (b^{\alpha\rho}(t, x))_{\rho=1}^{\infty}$ are l_2 -valued $\mathcal{P} \times \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ -measurable functions on $\Omega \times H_T$. Let $m \ge 1$ be an integer and let W_2^m be the usual Hilbert-Sobolev space of functions on \mathbb{R}^d with norm $\|\cdot\|_{W_2^m}$.

Assumption 4.1. (i) For each (ω, t) , the functions $a^{\alpha\beta}(t)$ are m times and the functions $b^{\alpha}(t)$ are m + 1 times continuously differentiable in x. There exist constants $K_l, l = 0, ..., m + 1$, such that for all values of indices and arguments, we have

$$|D^{l}a_{t}^{\alpha\beta}| \leq K_{l}, \quad l \leq m, \quad |D^{l}b_{t}^{\alpha}|_{l_{2}} \leq K_{l}, \quad l \leq m+1.$$

(ii) There is a constant $\kappa > 0$ such that for all $(\omega, t, x) \in \Omega \times H_T$ and $z \in \mathbb{R}^d$

$$\sum_{i,j=1}^d (2a^{ij} - b^{i\rho}b^{j\rho})z^i z^j \ge \kappa |z|^2.$$

Assumption 4.2. We have $u_0 \in L_2(\Omega, \mathcal{F}_0, W_2^{m+1})$. The function f is W_2^m -valued, $g^{\rho}, \rho = 1, 2, ..., are W_2^{m+1}$ -valued functions given on $\Omega \times [0, T]$ and they are predictable. Moreover, for $g := (g^{\rho})_{\rho=1}^{\infty}$ and

$$\|g\|_{W_2^l}^2 := \sum_{\rho=1}^{\infty} \|g^{\rho}\|_{W_2^l}^2$$

we have

$$E\int_0^1 \left(\|f(t)\|_{W_2^m}^2 + \|g(t)\|_{W_2^{m+1}}^2\right) \mathrm{d}t + E\|u_0\|_{W_2^{m+1}}^2 =: \mathcal{K}_m^2 < \infty.$$

Remark 6. If Assumption 4.2 holds with m > d/2, then by Sobolev's embedding of W_2^m into C_b , the space of bounded continuous functions, for almost all ω , we can find a continuous function of x that equals to u_0 almost everywhere. Furthermore, for each t and ω , we have continuous functions of x that coincide with f_t and g_t , for almost every $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Therefore, when Assumption 4.2 holds with m > d/2, we always assume that u_0 , f_t and g_t are continuous in x for all t.

The solutions of (36) will be looked for in the Hilbert space

$$\mathbb{W}_{2}^{m+2}(T) = L_{2}(\Omega \times [0, T], \mathcal{P}, W_{2}^{m+2}).$$

One knows, see for example, [18] or [30], how to define stochastic integrals of Hilbert-space valued processes, and (36) is understood accordingly. Observe that since $u_0 \in L_2(\Omega, \mathcal{F}_0, W_2^m)$, the solutions of (36) automatically are continuous W_2^m -valued processes (a.s.).

We are going to use the following classical result (see, for instance, Theorem 5.1, Remark 5.6, and Theorem 7.1 of [17]).

Theorem 15. Under the above assumptions, there exists a unique solution $u \in \mathbb{W}_2^{m+2}(T)$ of (36) with initial condition u_0 . Furthermore, with probability one, the function u_t is a continuous W_2^{m+1} -valued function, and there exists a constant N depending only on T, d, κ , m, and K_l , $l \leq m + 1$, such that

$$E \sup_{t \le T} \|u(t)\|_{W_2^{m+1}}^2 + E \int_0^T \|u(t)\|_{W_2^{m+2}}^2 \, \mathrm{d}t \le N \mathcal{K}_m^2.$$

Remark 7. In the future, we are going to assume that m + 1 > d/2. Then, by Sobolev embedding theorems, the solution $u_t(x)$ from Theorem 15 is a continuous function of (t, x) (a.s). More precisely, with probability one, for any t, one can find a continuous function of x that equals $u_t(x)$ for almost all x, and in addition, the so constructed modification is continuous with respect to the couple (t, x).

We are interested in approximating the solution by means of solving a semidiscretized version of (36) when partial derivatives are replaced with finite differences. For $\lambda = 0$, set $\delta_{h,\lambda}$ to be the unit operator and for the other values of $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}^d$, let

$$\delta_{h,\lambda}u(x) = \frac{u(x+h\lambda) - u(x)}{h} \quad \text{for } h \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}.$$

We draw the reader's attention to the fact that h can be of any sign. This will be important in the future.

To introduce difference equations, we take a finite set $\Lambda \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ containing the origin, and consider the equation

$$du^{h}(t) = (L^{h}(t)u^{h}(t) + f(t)) dt + (M^{h,\rho}(t)u^{h}(t) + g^{\rho}(t)) dw^{\rho}(t),$$
(37)

with

$$L^{h}(t)\phi = \mathfrak{a}^{\lambda\mu}(t)\delta_{h,\lambda}\delta_{-h,\mu}\phi, \quad M^{h,\rho}(t)\phi = \mathfrak{b}^{\lambda\rho}(t)\delta_{h,\lambda}\phi,$$

where the summation is performed over $\lambda, \mu \in \Lambda$ and in (37) also with respect to $\rho = 1, 2, ...$ Assume that, for $\lambda, \mu \in \Lambda$, $\alpha^{\lambda\mu} = \alpha^{\lambda\mu}(t, x)$ are real-valued and $b^{\lambda} = b^{\lambda}(t, x) = (b^{\lambda\rho}(t, x))_{\rho=1}^{\infty}$ are l_2 -valued functions on $\Omega \times H_T$, measurable with respect to $\mathcal{P} \times \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^d)$.

Set $A_0 := A \setminus \{0\}$. Let $\mathfrak{m} \ge 0$ be an integer. Set $\overline{\mathfrak{m}} = \max(\mathfrak{m}, 1)$, and let $A_0, A_1, \ldots, A_{\overline{\mathfrak{m}}}$ be some constants. The functions \mathfrak{a} and \mathfrak{b} are supposed to possess the following properties.

Assumption 4.3. (i) For each (ω, t) and $\lambda, \mu \in \Lambda_0$ and $\nu \in \Lambda, \alpha_t^{\lambda\mu}$ are $\bar{\mathfrak{m}}$ times continuously differentiable in $x, \alpha_t^{0\nu}, \alpha_t^{\nu 0}$ are \mathfrak{m} times continuously differentiable in x and \mathfrak{b}_t^{ν} are \mathfrak{m} times continuously differentiable in x as l_2 -valued functions. For all values of arguments, we have

$$|D^{j} \mathfrak{a}^{\lambda \mu}| \le A_{j}, \quad \lambda, \mu \in \Lambda_{0}, \quad j \le \overline{\mathfrak{m}},$$

 $|D^{j} \mathfrak{a}^{\lambda 0}| \leq A_{j}, \quad |D^{j} \mathfrak{a}^{0\lambda}| \leq A_{j}, \quad |D^{j} \mathfrak{b}^{\lambda}|_{l_{2}} \leq A_{j}, \quad \lambda \in \Lambda, \quad j \leq \mathfrak{m}.$ (*ii*) For all $(\omega, t, x) \in \Omega \times H_{T}$ and numbers $z_{\lambda}, \lambda \in \Lambda_{0}$, we have

$$\sum_{\lambda,\mu\in\Lambda_0} (2\mathfrak{a}^{\lambda\mu} - \mathfrak{b}^{\lambda\rho}\mathfrak{b}^{\mu\rho}) z_{\lambda} z_{\mu} \geq \kappa \sum_{\lambda\in\Lambda_0} z_{\lambda}^2.$$

Introduce

$$\mathbb{G}_h = \{\lambda_1 h + \dots + \lambda_n h : n = 1, 2, \dots, \lambda_i \in \Lambda \cup (-\Lambda)\}$$

and let $l_2(\mathbb{G}_h)$ be the set of real-valued functions u on \mathbb{G}_h such that

$$|u|_{l_2(\mathbb{G}_h)}^2 := |h|^d \sum_{x \in \mathbb{G}_h} |u(x)|^2 < \infty.$$

The notation $l_2(\mathbb{G}_h)$ will also be used for l_2 -valued functions like g.

Remark 8. Observe that, under Assumption 4.3 (i), (37) is an ordinary Itô equation with Lipschitz continuous coefficients for $l_2(\mathbb{G}_h)$ -valued processes. Therefore, if, for instance, (a.s.)

$$\int_0^T (|f(t)|^2_{l_2(\mathbb{G}_h)} + |g(t)|^2_{l_2(\mathbb{G}_h)}) \,\mathrm{d}t < \infty,$$

and Assumption 4.3 (i) holds, then (37) has a unique solution with continuous trajectories in $l_2(\mathbb{G}_h)$, provided that the initial data $u_0^h \in l_2(\mathbb{G}_h)$ (a.s.).

For (37) to be consistent with (36), we impose the following.

Assumption 4.4. *For all* i, j = 1, ..., d *and* $\rho = 1, 2, ...$

$$\begin{split} \sum_{\lambda,\mu\in\Lambda_0} \mathfrak{a}^{\lambda\mu}\lambda^i\mu^j &= a^{ij}, \quad \sum_{\lambda\in\Lambda_0} \mathfrak{a}^{\lambda0}\lambda^i + \sum_{\mu\in\Lambda_0} \mathfrak{a}^{0\mu}\mu^i = a^{i0} + a^{0i}, \quad \mathfrak{a}^{00} = a^{00}, \\ \sum_{\lambda\in\Lambda_0} \mathfrak{b}^{\lambda\rho}\lambda^i &= b^{i\rho}, \quad \mathfrak{b}^{0\rho} = b^{0\rho}. \end{split}$$

Remark 9. Clearly, if

$$a^{ij} = \sum_{\lambda,\mu\in\Lambda_0} a^{\lambda\mu} \lambda^i \mu^j, \quad i,j=1,\ldots,d$$

is an invertible matrix for some ω , t, x, then Λ_0 spans the whole \mathbb{R}^d . On the other hand, if Λ_0 spans \mathbb{R}^d , then clearly a constant $\kappa' > 0$ exists such that

$$\sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_0} |\sum_i z^i \lambda^i|^2 \ge \kappa' |z|^2, \quad \text{for all } z = (z^1, \dots, z^d) \in \mathbb{R}^d,$$

and therefore Assumptions 4.3 (ii) and 4.4 imply Assumption 4.1 (ii). It is not hard to see that Assumptions 4.1 (ii) and 4.4 do not imply Assumption 4.3 (ii), in general, unless Λ_0 is a basis in \mathbb{R}^d .

There are several ways to construct appropriate a and b.

Example 2. The most natural, albeit sometimes not optimal, way to choose α and b is to set $\Lambda = \{e_0, e_1, \dots, e_d\}$, where $e_0 = 0$ and e_i is the *i*th basis vector in \mathbb{R}^d and let

$$a^{e_{\alpha}e_{\beta}} = a^{\alpha\beta}, \quad b^{e_{\alpha}\rho} = b^{\alpha\rho}, \quad \alpha, \beta = 0, 1, \dots, d.$$

Thus, in (37), the first order derivatives in (36) are approximated by usual finite differences and

$$\sum_{\lambda,\mu\in\Lambda_0} a^{\lambda\mu} \delta_{h,\lambda} \delta_{-h,\mu} u = -a^{ij} \delta_{h,e_i} \delta_{h,-e_j} u, \tag{38}$$

which is a standard finite-difference approximation of $a^{ij} D_i D_j u$. Also notice that

$$\sum_{\lambda,\mu\in\Lambda_0} \alpha^{\lambda\mu} z_{\lambda} z_{\mu} = a^{ij} z_{e_i} z_{e_j}, \quad \sum_{\lambda\in\Lambda_0} b^{\lambda\rho} z_{\lambda} = b^{i\rho} z_{e_i}.$$

It follows that a and b satisfy the above assumptions as long as a and b do.

Example 3. The second choice is to use symmetric finite differences to approximate the first-order derivatives. Namely, we take $\Lambda_0 = \{\pm e_1, \dots, \pm e_d\}$ and

$$a^{0,\pm e_i} = a^{\pm e_i,0} = \pm (1/4)(a^{0i} + a^{i0}), \quad b^{\pm e_i,\rho} = \pm (1/2)b^{i,\rho},$$
$$a^{00} = a^{00}, \quad b^{0\rho} = b^{0\rho},$$

so that, for instance,

$$\sum_{\lambda \in \Lambda_0} \mathfrak{b}^{\lambda \rho} \delta_{h,\lambda} u(x) = \sum_{i=1}^d b^{i\rho} \frac{u(x+he_i) - u(x-he_i)}{2h}$$

For $\lambda, \mu \in \Lambda_0$, we define $\alpha_t^{\lambda\mu}$ by

$$\mathfrak{a}^{\pm e_i,\pm e_j} = \frac{1}{2}a^{ij}, \quad \mathfrak{a}^{\pm e_i,\mp e_j} = 0.$$

Then, Assumption 4.4 is satisfied, and formula (38) holds again $(a^{ij} = a^{ji})$. If Assumption 4.1 (ii) is satisfied, then for any numbers z_{λ}

$$\begin{split} \sum_{\lambda,\mu\in\Lambda_0} (2a^{\lambda\mu} - b^{\lambda\rho}b_l^{\mu\rho}) z_{\lambda}z_{\mu} &= \sum_{i,j=1}^d a^{ij} z_{e_i} z_{e_j} + \sum_{i,j=1}^d a^{ij} z_{-e_i} z_{-e_j} \\ &- (1/4) \sum_{\rho} \Big| \sum_{i=1}^d b^{i\rho} z_{e_i} - \sum_{i=1}^d b^{i\rho} z_{-e_i} \Big|^2 \\ &\geq \sum_{i,j=1}^d a^{ij} z_{e_i} z_{e_j} - (1/2) \sum_{\rho} \Big| \sum_{i=1}^d b^{i\rho} z_{e_i} \Big|^2 \\ &+ \sum_{i,j=1}^d a^{ij} z_{-e_i} z_{-e_j} - (1/2) \sum_{\rho} \Big| \sum_{i=1}^d b^{i\rho} z_{-e_i} \Big|^2 \\ &\geq \kappa \sum_{i=1}^d z_{e_i}^2 + \kappa \sum_{i=1}^d z_{-e_i}^2 = \kappa \sum_{\lambda\in\Lambda_0} z_{\lambda}^2, \end{split}$$

so that Assumption 4.3 (ii) is also satisfied.

Our results revolve about the possibility to prove the existence of random processes $u^{(j)}(t, x), t \in [0, T], x \in \mathbb{R}^d, j = 0, ..., k$, for some integer $k \ge 0$ such that they are independent of h; $u^{(0)}$ is the solution of (36) with initial value u_0 , and almost surely, we have

$$u^{h}(t,x) = \sum_{j=0}^{k} \frac{h^{j}}{j!} u^{(j)}(t,x) + R^{h}(t,x)$$
(39)

for $h \neq 0$ and for all $t \in [0, T]$ and $x \in \mathbb{G}_h$, where u^h is the solution to (37) with initial data u_0 and \mathbb{R}^h is a continuous $l_2(\mathbb{G}_h)$ -valued adapted process, such that

$$E \sup_{t \in [0,T]} \sup_{x \in \mathbb{G}_h} |R^h(t,x)|^2 \le N h^{2(k+1)} \mathcal{K}_m^2$$
(40)

with a constant N independent of h.

Theorem 16. Let Assumptions 4.1, 4.2, 4.3, and 4.4 hold with

$$\mathfrak{m} = m > k + 1 + d/2,$$

where $k \ge 0$ is an integer. Then, expansion (39) and estimate (40) hold with a constant N depending only on Λ , d, m, $K_0, \ldots, K_{m+1}, A_0, \ldots, A_m, \kappa$, and T.

Remark 10. Actually $u^h(t, x)$ is defined for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ rather than only on \mathbb{G}_h , and as we will see from the proof of Theorem 16, one can replace \mathbb{G}_h in (40) with \mathbb{R}^d .

Remark 11. Let Λ_0 be a basis in \mathbb{R}^d such that Assumption 4.4 holds. Then, Assumption 4.1 (i) implies Assumption 4.3 (i), and Assumption 4.1 (ii) implies Assumption 4.3 (ii) with $\mathfrak{m} = m$. Thus, if Assumptions 4.1 and 4.2 hold with

Accelerated Numerical Schemes for PDEs and SPDEs

$$m > k + 1 + d/2,$$

then the conditions of Theorem 16 are satisfied.

Equality (39) clearly yields

$$\delta_{h,\lambda}u^{h}(t,x) = \sum_{j=0}^{k} \frac{h^{j}}{j!} \delta_{h,\lambda}u^{(j)}(t,x) + \delta_{h,\lambda}R^{h}(t,x)$$

for any $\lambda = (\lambda_1, \dots, \lambda_n) \in \Lambda^n$ and integer $n \ge 0$, where $\Lambda^0 = \{0\}$ and

$$\delta_{h,\lambda} := \delta_{h,\lambda_1} \cdot \ldots \cdot \delta_{h,\lambda_n}.$$

Theorem 16 can be generalised as follows.

Theorem 17. Let the conditions of Theorem 16 hold with

$$\mathfrak{m} = m > k + n + 1 + d/2$$

for some integers $k \ge 0$ and $n \ge 0$. Then, expansion (39) holds and for $\lambda = (\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_n) \in \Lambda^n$

$$E \sup_{t \in [0,T]} \sup_{x \in \mathbb{G}_h} |\delta_{h,\lambda} R^h(t,x)|^2 + E \sup_{t \in [0,T]} \sum_{x \in \mathbb{G}_h} |\delta_{h,\lambda} R^h(t,x)|^2 |h|^d \le N h^{2(k+1)} \mathcal{K}_m^2,$$

where N depends only on Λ , d, m, $K_0, \ldots, K_{m+1}, A_0, \ldots, A_m$, κ and T.

Hence in the already familiar way, we get the following acceleration result for

$$\bar{u}^h = \sum_{j=0}^k \rho_j u^{2^{-j}h},$$

where $k \ge 0$ is a fixed integer, $u^{2^{-j}h}$ are the solutions to (37), with $2^{-j}h$ in place of *h*, and the sequence of coefficients $\{\rho_j\}_{j=0}^k$ are defined by (15) in Sect. 2.

Theorem 18. Under the assumptions of Theorem 16, we have

$$E \sup_{t \le T} \sup_{x \in \mathbb{G}_h} |\bar{u}^h(t, x) - u^{(0)}(t, x)|^2 \le N |h|^{2(k+1)} \mathcal{K}_m^2, \tag{41}$$

where N depends only on Λ , d, m, K_0, \ldots, K_{m+1} , κ , A_0, \ldots, A_m , and T.

Remark 12. Let the conditions of Theorem 16 hold with

$$\mathfrak{m} = m > k + 1 + n + d/2,$$

where k and n are nonnegative integers. Then, (41) holds with $\delta_{h,\lambda} \bar{u}^h$ and $\delta_{h,\lambda} u^{(0)}$ in place of \bar{u}^h and $u^{(0)}$, respectively, for $\lambda \in \Lambda^n$.

By the above remark, one can construct fast approximations for the derivatives of $u^{(0)}$ via suitable linear combinations of finite differences of \bar{u}^h .

Clearly it suffices to combine fewer terms $u^{2^{-j}h}$ to get accuracy of order k + 1 if some of the terms in the expansion (39) vanish. For integers $k \ge 0$, define

$$\tilde{u}^h = \sum_{j=0}^k \tilde{\rho}_j u^{2^{-j}h},$$

where $\tilde{k} = [\frac{k}{2}]$ and $\tilde{\rho}_0, \tilde{\rho}_1, \dots, \tilde{\rho}_{\tilde{k}}$ are defined by (17) in Sect. 2.

Theorem 19. Let the conditions of Theorem 16 hold. Then, in the situation of *Example 3, we have*

$$E \sup_{t \le T} \sup_{x \in \mathbb{G}_h} |\tilde{u}^h(t, x) - u^{(0)}(t, x)|^2 \le N |h|^{2(k+1)} \mathcal{K}_m^2,$$
(42)

where N is a constant depending only on d, m, κ , $K_0, \ldots, K_{m+1}, A_0, \ldots, A_m$, and T.

To prove this result, we need only repeat the proof of Theorem 18 taking into account that in (39), we have $u_t^{(j)} = 0$ for odd $j \le k$ since $u_t^h = u_t^{-h}$ owing to the fact that in the case of Example 3, (37) does not change if we replace h with -h.

Remark 13. Notice that without acceleration, that is, when k = 1 in the above theorem, the mean square norm of the supremum in t and x of the error of the finite difference approximations in Example 3 is proportional to h^2 . This is a sharp result see, for example, Remark 2.21 in [3] on finite difference approximations for deterministic parabolic PDEs.

Example 4. Assume that in the situation of Example 3, we have d = 2 and m = 7. Then,

$$\tilde{u}^h := \frac{4}{3}u^{h/2} - \frac{1}{3}u^h$$

satisfies

$$E \sup_{t \le T} \sup_{x \in \mathbb{G}_h} |u_t^{(0)}(x) - \tilde{u}_t^h(x)| \le Nh^4.$$

Example 5. Take d = 1 and consider the following SPDE:

$$\mathrm{d}u_t = 3D^2 u_t \,\mathrm{d}t + 2Du_t \,\mathrm{d}w_t$$

with initial data $u_0(x) = \cos x$, where w_t is a one-dimensional Wiener process. Then, a unique bounded solution is $u_t(x) = e^{-t} \cos(x + 2w_t)$. Example 3 suggests the following version of (37): Accelerated Numerical Schemes for PDEs and SPDEs

$$du_t^h(x) = 3\frac{u_t^h(x+h) - 2u_t^h(x) + u_t^h(x-h)}{h^2} dt + \frac{u_t^h(x+h) - u_t^h(x-h)}{h} dw_t,$$

the unique bounded solution of which with initial condition $\cos x$ is given by

$$u_t^h(x) = e^{-c_h t} \cos(x + 2\phi_h w_t), \quad h^2 c_h = 12 \sin^2 \frac{h}{2} - 2 \sin^2 h, \quad \phi_h = \frac{\sin h}{h}$$

For t = 1, h = 0.1, and $w_t = 0$, we have

 $u_1(0) \approx 0.3678794412, \quad u_1^h(0) \approx 0.366352748, \quad u_1^{h/2}(0) \approx 0.3674966179,$ $\tilde{u}_1^h(0) = \frac{4}{3}u_1^{h/2}(0) - \frac{1}{3}u_1^h(0) \approx 0.3678779079.$

It is instructive to observe that such a level of accuracy is achieved for $u_1^{\tilde{h}}(0)$ with $\tilde{h} = 0.00316$, which is more than 15 times smaller than h/2.

Actually, this example does not quite fit into our scheme because u_0 is not square summable over \mathbb{R} . In connection with this, we note that our theorems can be extended to SPDEs with growing data by the help of weighted Sobolev spaces (see [5]), and then the above example can be included formally.

5 Accelerated Time Discretized Schemes

Instead of linear parabolic PDEs, we consider here a more general class of linear equations, and we approximate them by various types of time-discretized schemes whose convergence then we accelerate.

To formulate a general framework for our results, fix an integer $l \ge 1$ and assume that we have a sequence of Banach spaces

$$V_0, V_1, V_2, \ldots, V_l$$

such that V_i is continuously embedded into V_{i-1} , for every i = 1, 2, ..., l, and V_1 is dense in V_0 . Consider

$$du(t) = (Lu(t) + f) dt, \quad u(0) = u_0 \in V_l,$$
(43)

for $t \in [0, T]$, where f is an element from V_l and L is a bounded linear operator from V_1 to V_0 such that

$$||Lv||_i \le K ||v||_{i+1} \quad \text{for all } v \in V_{i+1}, i = 0, \dots, l,$$
(44)

for a fixed constant K, where $\|\psi\|_i$ denotes the norm of ψ in V_i .

Definition 1. A V_1 -valued weakly continuous function u = u(t) on [0, T] is called a solution of (43) if for all $t \in [0, T]$

$$u(t) = u_0 + \int_0^t (L(s)u(s) + f(s)) \,\mathrm{d}s,$$

where the integral is understood in Bochner's sense.

Example 6. (Parabolic PDE) Consider the problem

$$D_t u(t, x) = L u(t, x) + f(x), \qquad t \in (0, T], \ x \in \mathbb{R}^d,$$
 (45)

$$u(0, x) = \varphi(x), \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^d, \tag{46}$$

where L is an operator of the form

$$L = a^{ij}(x)D_{ij} + a^{i}(x)D_{i} + a(x),$$
(47)

 a^{ij} , a^i , a, f, and φ are real-valued functions on \mathbb{R}^d . Assume that the matrix (a^{ij}) is positive semidefinit, and that for some constant $K \ge 0$ and integer $v \ge 2$ the partial derivatives of a^{ij} , a^i and a up to order v are bounded by a constant K, and φ , $f \in W_p^v$ such that

$$\|\varphi\|_{\nu,p} \le K, \quad \|f\|_{\nu,p} \le K,$$

for some p > 1, where

$$\|\psi\|_{\nu,p} = \Big(\sum_{|\gamma| \le \nu} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |D^{\gamma}\varphi(x)|^p \,\mathrm{d}x\Big)^{1/p}$$

is the norm of a function ψ in the Sobolev spaces W_p^{ν} . Then, it is well known (see, for instance, Theorem 3.1 in [9] and recall that $\nu \ge 2$) that there is a unique W_p^{ν} -valued weakly continuous function $v(t), t \ge 0$, such that

$$v(t) = \varphi + \int_0^t (Lv(s) + f) \,\mathrm{d}s,\tag{48}$$

where one understands the integral as Bochner's weak (= strong) integral, or equivalently, one understands the equation in the sense of integral identity obtained by multiplying by test functions and integrating with respect to x. Take $V_i = W_p^{\nu+2i}$ for some $\nu \ge 0$ and i = 0, ..., l. Notice that V_i is continuously and densely embedded into V_{i-1} for each i = 1, ..., l and set

$$V_j := W_p^{\mu+2j}, \quad j = 0, 1, \dots, l,$$

for an integer $\mu \ge 0$ satisfying $\mu + 2l \le \nu$.

Example 7. (Systems of parabolic PDEs and hyperbolic PDEs) As in the previous example, we consider the problem (45)–(46) with an operator L given by (47), but this time instead of unknown real-valued functions u, we consider \mathbb{R}^{q} -valued ones, where q is a fixed number. Accordingly, we assume that a^{i} , a are $q \times q$ -matrix valued functions with entries $a^{i,\alpha\beta}$, $a^{0\alpha\beta}$, respectively, and f and φ are \mathbb{R}^{q} -valued. Yet, a^{ij} is assumed to be real-valued as in the previous example. We set p = 2 and impose the same assumptions as in the previous example with obvious interpretation of the norms $\|\cdot\|_{\nu,2}$ for vector-valued functions. We also assume that for each $x, \lambda \in \mathbb{R}^{d}$ and $\alpha, \beta = 1, \ldots, q$, we have

$$\left|\sum_{i=1}^{d} \bar{a}^{i,\alpha\beta}(x)\lambda^{i}\right| \le K \left(\sum_{i,j=1}^{d} a^{ij}(x)\lambda^{i}\lambda^{j}\right)^{1/2},\tag{49}$$

where $\bar{a}_r^{i,\alpha\beta} = a^{i,\alpha\beta} - a^{i,\beta\alpha}$. Observe that this assumption is obviously satisfied if

- (a) The matrix (a^{ij}) is uniformly nondegenerate, so that the systems are uniformly parabolic, or
- (b) a^{ij} ≡ 0 and the matrix aⁱ is symmetric, so that the systems are first-order symmetric hyperbolic. Then, under the above assumptions, there exists a unique (W₂^ν)^q-valued continuous solution (see [12]), where (W₂^ν)^q denotes the q-fold product of W₂^ν. Take V_j := (W_p^{μ+2j})^q for j = 0, 1, ..., l and integer μ ≥ 0 such that μ + 2l ≤ ν. Clearly, V_j is continuously and densely embedded into V_{j-1} for each j = 1,...,l.

Together with the problem, (43) we consider for every $\tau \in (0, 1]$ the problem

$$dw(t) = \sum_{r=1}^{m} (L_r \Theta_r w(t) + f_r) \, dA_r(t), \quad t \in (0, T], \quad w(0) = u_0, \tag{50}$$

where $m \ge 1$ is a fixed integer, $u_0 \in V_1$, and for each r = 1, ..., m, we have that $f_r \in V_1$, L_r is a bounded linear operator from V_1 into V_0 , $\Theta_r = \Theta_r^{\tau}$ is a bounded linear operator on the space of V_0 -valued weakly cadlag functions on [0, T], and $A_r = A_r^{\tau}(t), t \in [0, T]$ is a right-continuos real function of finite variation over [0, T].

We assume that

$$A_r(t) := \tau H_r(t/\tau), \quad t \ge 0, \quad r = 1, 2, \dots, m$$

with some right-continuous functions $H_r = H_r(t)$ on \mathbb{R} , which have finite variation on every finite interval, such that $H_r(0) = 0$ and

$$H_r(t+1) - H_r(t) = H_r(1) = 1, \quad \forall t \in \mathbb{R}$$

for all r = 1, 2, ..., m. We assume, moreover, that

$$L = L_1 + L_2 + \ldots + L_m, \quad f = f_1 + f_2 + \ldots + f_m.$$

There are various types of time discretization schemes for problem (43), which can be represented by (50). Let us see some examples of such schemes defined on the grid

$$T_{\tau} := \{t_i = i \, \tau : i = 0, 1, 2, \ldots\} \cap [0, T].$$

Example 8. (Finite differences in time.) Let m = 1, $L_1 = L$, $H_1(t) = [t]$, where [t] denotes the integer part of t. Let $\Theta_1 = I$, the identity operator. Then, (50) represents the *implicit Euler method* with step size τ . If $\Theta_1 = \Theta$ is the operator defined by

$$(\Theta\varphi)(t) := \vartheta\varphi(t-) + (1-\vartheta)\varphi(t) \tag{51}$$

with some $\vartheta \in \mathbb{R}$, then (50) is the Θ -method, which is often called the Crank-Nicolson method when $\vartheta = 1/2$, and the explicit Euler method when $\vartheta = 1$.

Example 9. (Splitting up approximations.) Let m > 1. Consider the splitting-up approximations for (43) defined by

$$u(t_i) := \left(P_m(\tau) \dots P_2(\tau) P_1(\tau) \right)^l u_0, \tag{52}$$

at $t_i \in T_{\tau}$, where $P_k(t)\varphi$ denotes the solution of

$$\frac{d}{dt}v(t) = L_k v(t) + f_k, \quad v(0) = \varphi, \quad k := 1, \dots, m$$
 (53)

at time $t \in [0, T]$. Formula (52) means that to get the approximation at $t_{i+1} := t_i + \tau$ from the approximation at $t_i = i \tau$, we solve (53) with k = 1 on $[0, \tau]$ with initial value $u(t_i)$, then we solve (53) with k = 2 on $[0, \tau]$ again with the new initial value $P_1(\tau)u(t_i)$, and so on, and finally, taking the solution at τ of the preceding step as the initial value, we solve (53) with k = m on $[0, \tau]$. We can easily represent this method as a problem of type (50) by using an idea from [8]. Namely, instead of going back and forth in time, when solving problems (53) one after another on $[0, \tau]$ with up-dated initial values, we 'stretch out the time' and rearrange solving these equations in forward time. This procedure can be described by the single equation

$$\mathrm{d}\bar{u}(t) = \sum_{k=1}^{m} (L_k \bar{u}(t) + f_k) \dot{h}_k(t/\tau) \,\mathrm{d}t,$$

where $\dot{h}_k := \frac{d}{dt}h_k$ is a function of period *m*, such that $\dot{h}_k(t) := \mathbf{1}_{[k-1,k)}(t)$ for $t \in [0,m], k = 1, 2, ..., m$. Indeed, clearly $\bar{u}(mt) = u(t)$ for all $t \in T_{\tau}$. Hence $w(t) := \bar{u}(mt)$ satisfies

$$dw(t) = \sum_{k=1}^{m} (L_k w(t) + f_k) \tau dH_k(t/\tau), \quad w(0) = u_0,$$
(54)

with $H_k(t) := h_k(mt)$, which is the type of problem (50).

Example 10. (Fractional step) The splitting-up method described in the previous example for problem (43) can be generalised as follows. Let $p \ge m$ be an integer, $s_1, \ldots, s_p \in \mathbb{R}$ and $k_1, \ldots, k_p \in \{1, 2, \ldots, m\}$, such that $\sum_{j=1}^p s_j \delta_{rk_j} = 1$, for $r = 1, 2, \ldots, m$, where $\delta_{rk_j} = 1$ for $r = k_j$ and 0 otherwise. Then, we say that the product

$$S(\tau) := P_{k_p}(s_p \tau) \cdot \ldots \cdot P_{k_1}(s_1 \tau), \quad \tau \in (0, 1]$$
(55)

is a *fractional step method*, where $P_k(t)\varphi$ denotes the solution of (53). The *fractional step approximation*, $u(t) = u(\tau, t)$, $t \in T_{\tau}$ is defined as

$$u(\tau, t) = S^{t/\tau} u_0, \quad t \in T_{\tau}, \quad S^0 := I.$$
(56)

We characterise the fractional step method (55) by the absolutely continuous functions $\kappa_r = \kappa_r(t)$ on \mathbb{R} , for r = 1, ..., m, whose derivative $\dot{\kappa}_r(t)$ is periodic with period $p, \dot{\kappa}_r(t) := \sum_{j=1}^p s_j \delta_{rk_j} \mathbf{1}_{[j-1,j)}(t)$, for $t \in [0, p)$, and $\kappa_r(0) := 0$. We say that (55) is a symmetric product

$$\dot{\kappa}_r(p-t) = \dot{\kappa}_r(t)$$
 for dt-almost all $t \in (0, p)$, $r = 1, 2, \dots, m$.

The product

$$S(\tau) := P_1(\tau/2) \dots P_{m-1}(\tau/2) P_m(\tau) P_{m-1}(\tau/2) \dots P_1(\tau/2),$$
(57)

introduced and investigated in [31]–[32], is a simple example of a symmetric product. It is often called *Strang's splitting*. In the same way, as explained above, we can see that for $u(\tau, t)$ given by (56), we have

$$u(\tau,t) = w(\tau,t), \quad t \in T_{\tau},$$

where $w(\tau, t)$ satisfies (54) with $H_r(t) := \kappa_r(pt)$.

Example 11. Let us now combine the fractional step method with the method of finite differences to solve (43) numerically. Namely, we solve (53) in each 'fractional' step by the Θ -method. Thus, we get the approximation $w(\tau, t_j)$, defined by (55)–(56) with

$$P_k(t)\varphi := (I - t\bar{\vartheta}_k L_k)^{-1}((I + t\vartheta_k L_k)\varphi + tf_k), \quad k \in \{1, 2, \dots, m\},$$

provided $P_{k_j}(s_j\tau)$ is well-defined for for each j, where $\bar{\vartheta} := 1 - \vartheta$ and $\vartheta \in \mathbb{R}$ is the parameter of the Θ -method. Using the idea of rearranging in forward time from [9], we see that this approximation $u(\tau, t), t \in T_{\tau}$ equals the solution of the equation

$$w(t) = u_0 + \int_0^t \sum_{k=1}^m (\Theta_k L_k w(s) + f_k) \, \tau \, \mathrm{d} H_k(s/\tau).$$

at $t \in T_{\tau}$, where $H_k(t) := [\kappa_k(pt)]$, and Θ_k is defined by (51) with ϑ_k in place of ϑ .

Our aim is to present an expansion in powers of τ for the difference $w(\tau, t) - u(t)$ at the points t_i of the grid T_{τ} . To formulate our results, we use the notation $D_w([0, T] : V)$ and $C_w([0, T] : V)$ for the space of V-valued weakly right-continuos functions on [0, T], having weak limits from the right, and for the space of Vvalued weakly continuos functions on [0, T], respectively. We equip these spaces with the supremum norm, and use the notation $W_j := D_w([0, T], V_j)$. To simplify the presentation of the results, assume that Θ_r in (50) is defined by

$$(\Theta_r \varphi)(t) := \vartheta_r \varphi(t-) + (1-\vartheta)\varphi(t)$$

for some $\vartheta_r \in \mathbb{R}$, r = 1, 2, ..., m. Set $A_0(s) = s$ for $s \ge 0$.

Assumption 5.1. (i) L_r is a bounded operator from V_{j+1} to V_j for r = 1, ..., m, and $||L_r \varphi||_j \le K ||\varphi||_{j+1}$, for $\varphi \in V_{j+1}$, j = 0, ..., l-1;

(*ii*) $u_0 \in V_l$, $f_r \in V_l$, and $||u_0|| \le K$, $||f_r||_l \le K$ for r = 1, 2, ..., m.

Assumption 5.2. For each k = 0, 1, ..., m, there is a bounded linear operator $\mathcal{R}_k : W_0 \to W_0$, such that

(*i*) $\sup_{t \in [0,T]} \|(\mathcal{R}_k g)(t)\|_j \le K \sup_{t \in [0,T]} \|g(t)\|_j, g \in W_j, j = 0, 1, \dots, l;$

(ii) (existence) for any $g \in W_1$, the function $u = \mathcal{R}_k g$ satisfies

$$u(t) = \int_0^t Lu(s) \,\mathrm{d}s + \int_0^t g(s) \,\mathrm{d}A_k(s), \quad t \in [0, T]$$
(58)

(iii) (uniqueness) If $g_0, \ldots, g_m \in D_w([0, T] : V_0)$ and $u \in W_1$ satisfy

$$u(t) = \int_0^t Lu(s) \, \mathrm{d}s + \sum_{k=0}^m \int_0^t g_k(s) \, \mathrm{d}A_k(s), \quad t \in [0, T],$$

then $u = \sum_{k=0}^{m} \mathcal{R}_k g_k$.

Assumption 5.3. For each $\tau(0, 1]$, problems (43) and (50)) have unique solutions $u \in C_w([0, T] : V_l)$ and $w = w(\tau, t) \in D([0, T] : V_l)$, respectively, and

$$\sup_{\tau\in(0,1]}\sup_{t\in[0,T]}\|w(\tau,t)\|_l<\infty.$$

Now we are in the position to formulate our first result on expansion in τ . To ease notation, we often suppress τ in some expressions.

Theorem 20. Let $k \ge 0$ be an integer. Let Assumptions 5.1 5.2, and 5.3 hold with $l \ge 2(k + 1)$. Then, there exist functions $v^{(1)}, \ldots, v^{(k)} \in W_0$, independent from τ , and $R_k(\tau) \in W_0$, such that for all $\tau \in (0, 1]$

Accelerated Numerical Schemes for PDEs and SPDEs

$$w(\tau, t) = u(t) + \tau v^{(1)}(t) + \tau^2 v^{(2)}(t) + \ldots + \tau^k v^{(k)}(t) + R_k(\tau, t)$$
(59)

for all $t \in T_{\tau}$, and

$$\sup_{t\in\mathbb{T}_{\tau}}\|R_k(\tau,t)\|_0 \le N\tau^{k+1},\tag{60}$$

where N is a constant, independent of τ .

This theorem obviously implies that $w(\tau)$ approximates u on the grid T_{τ} , with accuracy proportional to τ . Moreover, for

$$u(\tau,t) := \sum_{j=0}^k \rho_j w(2^{-j}\tau,t),$$

where (ρ_0, \ldots, ρ_k) is defined by (15) in Sect. 2, we get the following theorem.

Theorem 21. Let the conditions of Theorem 20 hold. Then, for all $\tau \in (0, 1]$,

$$\max_{t \in T_{\tau}} \|u(\tau, t) - u(t)\|_{0} \le N \tau^{k+1},$$

where N is a constant independent of τ .

It is worth emphasising that expansion (59) is valid only at the points t_i of the grid T_{τ} . This expansion follows from Theorem 22 below. To formulate it, we need more notation.

We call a sequence $\alpha = \alpha_1 \alpha_2 \dots \alpha_i$ a multi-number of length $|\alpha| := i$, if $\alpha_j \in \{0, 1, 2, \dots, m\}$. The set of all multi-numbers is denoted by \mathcal{N} . For every multinumber $\alpha = \alpha_1 \dots \alpha_j$, we define the operators $\Theta_{\alpha} := \Theta_{\alpha_j}$, $\overline{\Theta}_{\alpha} := \overline{\Theta}_{\alpha_j}$ on W_0 , where $(\overline{\Theta}_{\alpha_j}\varphi)(t) := (1 - \vartheta_j)\varphi(t) + \vartheta_j\varphi(t)$ for $\alpha_j \neq 0$, and

$$\Theta_0 \varphi := I \varphi = \varphi, \quad (\Theta_0 \varphi)(t) := \varphi(t-).$$

_

Moreover, for each $\gamma \in \mathcal{N}$, we define recursively an operator L_{γ} , $f_{\gamma} \in V_0$, a function b_{γ} and a number c_{γ} as follows

$$L_0 := 0, \quad f_0 := 0, \quad L_\gamma := L_r, \quad f_\gamma := f_r$$
$$:= 0, \quad c_\gamma = c_r = c_0 = 0, \quad b_\gamma(t) := \frac{1}{\tau} (A_\gamma(t) - A_0(t)) \tag{61}$$

for $\gamma = r \in \{1, 2, ..., m\}$, and

bn

$$L_{\alpha 0} := LL_{\alpha}, \quad L_{\alpha r} := -L_{\alpha}L_{r}$$

$$f_{\alpha 0} := Lf_{\alpha}, \quad f_{\alpha r} := -L_{\alpha}f_{r}$$
 (62)

$$c_{\alpha\beta} := \frac{1}{\tau} \int_0^\tau \bar{\Theta}(\alpha) b_\alpha(s) \, \mathrm{d}A_\beta(s), \tag{63}$$

$$b_{\alpha\beta}(t) := \frac{1}{\tau} \left(\int_0^t \bar{\Theta}(\alpha) b_{\alpha}(s) \, \mathrm{d}A_{\beta}(s) - c_{\alpha\beta} A_0(t) \right) \tag{64}$$

for $\alpha \in \mathcal{N}, \beta \in \{0, 1, ..., m\}, r \in \{1, 2, ..., m\}.$

Let \mathcal{M} denote the set of multi-numbers $\gamma_1 \gamma_2 \dots \gamma_i$ with $\gamma_j \in \{1, 2, \dots, m\}$, $j = 1, 2, \dots, i$, and integers $i \ge 1$. Introduce the sequences $\sigma = (\beta_1, \beta_2, \dots, \beta_i)$ of multi-numbers $\beta_j \in \mathcal{M}$, where $i \ge 1$ is any integer, and set

$$|\sigma| := |\beta_1| + |\beta_2| + \ldots + |\beta_i|.$$

Let \mathcal{J} denote the set of all these sequences together with the 'empty sequence' *e* of length |e| = 0. For $\sigma = (\beta_1, \beta_2, \dots, \beta_i), i \ge 1$, we define

$$S_{\sigma} = \mathcal{R}L_{\beta_1} \cdot \ldots \cdot \mathcal{R}L_{\beta_i}, \text{ where } \mathcal{R} := \mathcal{R}_0 \Theta_0 = \mathcal{R}_0,$$

and for $\sigma = e$, we set $S_e := \mathcal{R}$. Notice that S_{σ} is well-defined as bounded linear operator from $W_{j+|\sigma|}$ to W_j if $j + |\sigma| \le l$. If we have a collection of $g_{\nu} \in W_0$ indexed by a parameter ν taking values in a set A, then we use the notation $\sum_{\nu \in A}^* g_{\nu}$ for any linear combination of g_{ν} with coefficients depending only on c_{α} , A, and ν . For instance,

$$\sum_{A}^{*} S_{\sigma} w_{\gamma} = \sum_{(\sigma,\gamma) \in A}^{*} S_{\sigma} w_{\gamma} = \sum_{(\sigma,\gamma) \in A} c(\sigma,\gamma) S_{\sigma} w_{\gamma},$$

where $c(\sigma, \gamma)$ are certain functions of $c_{\alpha}, \alpha \in \mathcal{N}$, and $(\sigma, \gamma) \in A$. These functions are allowed to change from one occurrence to another.

For $\mu = 0, ..., l, \kappa \ge 0$, any functions $u = u_{\alpha}(\tau, t)$ depending on the parameters $\alpha \in \mathcal{N}$ and τ , we write

$$u = O_{\mu}(\tau^{\kappa}) \quad \text{if} \quad \sup_{\tau \in (0,1]} \sup_{t \in [0,T]} \|u_{\alpha}(\tau,t)\|_{\mu} \tau^{-\kappa} < \infty.$$

Finally, set

$$A(i) = \{ (\sigma, \beta) : \sigma \in \mathcal{J}, \beta \in \mathcal{M}, |\sigma| + |\beta| \le i \},\$$

$$B^*(i, j) = \{ (\alpha, \beta) : \alpha \in \mathcal{N}, \beta \in \mathcal{M}, |\alpha| \le i, |\beta| \le j \}.$$

and $w_{\beta}(t) = w_{\beta}(\tau, t) := L_{\beta}w(\tau, t) + f_{\beta}, \quad u_{\beta}(t) := L_{\beta}u(t) + f_{\beta}.$

Theorem 22. Under the assumptions of Theorem 20, we have

$$w(t) = u(t) + \sum_{i=1}^{k} \tau^{i} \sum_{A(2i)}^{*} S_{\sigma} u_{\beta}(t) + \sum_{i=1}^{k} \tau^{i} \sum_{B^{*}(i,i+j)}^{*} b_{\alpha}(t) w_{\beta}(t) + O_{0}(\tau^{k+1}),$$

for all $t \in [0, T]$, where $b_{\alpha}(t) = b_{\alpha}(\tau, t)$ is defined by (61)–(64). Furthermore, if $k \ge 1$, then in the above equation,

Accelerated Numerical Schemes for PDEs and SPDEs

$$\sum_{A(2)}^{*} S_{\sigma} u_{\beta} = \sum_{i,j=1}^{m} (c_{ij} - c_{j0}) \mathcal{R} u_{ij},$$

so that it vanishes if $c_{ij} = c_{j0}$ for all i, j = 1, ..., m.

Theorem 22 immediately implies Theorem 20 by virtue of the following proposition, which can be proved by induction on the length of α and by change of variable $s := r\tau$ in the integrals in (63) and (64).

Proposition 1. For every $\alpha \in \mathcal{N}$, the function b_{α} is τ -periodic, that is, $b_{\alpha}(t + \tau) = b_{\alpha}(t)$ for all $t \geq 0$, and $b_{\alpha}(i\tau) = 0$ for all integers $i \geq 0$. Moreover, the numbers c_{α} , the functions $C_{\alpha}(t) := b_{\alpha}(\tau t)$, and

$$K_{\alpha} := \sup_{t \ge 0} |b_{\alpha}(t)| = \sup_{t \ge 0} |C_{\alpha}(t)|$$
(65)

are finite and do not depend on τ .

By Theorem 22, we can investigate the term $v^{(1)}$ in expansion (59). For example, in the case of fractional step methods, Example 10, we get the following specification of $v^{(1)}$.

Theorem 23. Under the conditions of Theorem 20 in the case of Example 10, we have

$$v^{(1)} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i,j=1}^{m} \int_{0}^{p} \left(\kappa_{i}(t) \, \mathrm{d}\kappa_{i}(t) - \kappa_{j}(t) \, \mathrm{d}\kappa_{i}(t) \right) \mathcal{R}u_{ij}$$

where $\mathcal{R}u_{ij}$ is the solution of (45) with $f = u_{ij} = L_i L_j u + L_i f_j$ and 0 initial condition. Thus, $v^{(1)}$ vanishes if

$$\int_0^p \left(\kappa_i(t) \, \mathrm{d}\kappa_j(t) - \kappa_j(t) \, \mathrm{d}\kappa_i(t) \right) = 0 \quad \text{for all } i, j = 1, 2, \dots, m, \tag{66}$$

which is equivalent to

$$\int_0^p \kappa_i(t) \,\mathrm{d}\kappa_j(t) = \frac{1}{2} \quad \text{for all } 1 \le i < j \le m.$$
(67)

In particular, $v^{(1)} = 0$ if (55) is a symmetric product, which is the case of, say Strang's splitting.

Proof. By Theorem 22, expansion (59) holds with

$$v^{(1)} = \sum_{i,j=1}^{m} (c_{ij} - c_{j0}) \mathcal{R} u_{ij},$$

so $v^{(1)} = 0$ if $c_{ij} - c_{j0} = 0$. Notice that for all i, j = 0, 1, 2, ..., m

$$c_{ij} = \int_0^p (\kappa_i(t) - \kappa_0(t)) \,\mathrm{d}\kappa_j(t),$$

where $\kappa_0(t) := t/p$. Therefore,

$$2(c_{ij} - c_{j0}) = 2 \int_0^p (\kappa_i(t) - \kappa_0(t)) \, \mathrm{d}\kappa_j(t) - 2 \int_0^p (\kappa_j(t) - \kappa_0(t)) \, \mathrm{d}\kappa_0(t)$$
$$= 2 \int_0^p \kappa_i(t) \, \mathrm{d}\kappa_j(t) - 2\kappa_0(p)\kappa_j(p) + \kappa_0^2(p) = 2 \int_0^p \kappa_i(t) \, \mathrm{d}\kappa_j(t) - 1,$$

and we have,

$$2(c_{ij}-c_{j0}) = \int_0^p \kappa_i(t) \,\mathrm{d}\kappa_j(t) - \int_0^p \kappa_j(t) \,\mathrm{d}\kappa_i(t)$$

by taking into account

$$1 = \kappa_i(p)\kappa_j(p) = \int_0^p \kappa_i(t) \,\mathrm{d}\kappa_j(t) + \int_0^p \kappa_j(t) \,\mathrm{d}\kappa_i(t).$$

In particular, $c_{ij} - c_{j0} = -(c_{ji} - c_{i0})$, so $c_{ij} - c_{j0} = 0$ implies $c_{ji} - c_{i0} = 0$. Hence conditions (66), (67) and their equivalence follow immediately. If $S(\tau)$ is a symmetric product, then obviously

$$\dot{\kappa}_i(p-t) = \dot{\kappa}_i(t) \quad \text{for all } t \in (0, p] \setminus \{1, \dots, p\},\$$

and $\kappa(t) + \kappa_i(p-t) = 1$ for all $t \in [0, p]$ and $i = 1, 2, \dots, p$. Hence

$$\int_{0}^{p} \kappa_{i}(t) \dot{\kappa}_{j}(t) dt = \int_{0}^{p} \kappa_{i}(p-s) \dot{\kappa}_{j}(p-s) ds$$
$$= \int_{0}^{p} (1-\kappa_{i}(s)) \dot{\kappa}_{j}(s) ds = 1 - \int_{0}^{p} \kappa_{i}(s) \dot{\kappa}_{j}(s) ds,$$

which immediately implies (67). The theorem is proved.

Remark 14. Clearly, every symmetric product is a product of type (57) with respect to a new set of operators L'_i and free terms f'_i , obtained from L_r and f_r by $L'_1 := 2s_1 L_{k_1}, f'_1 := 2s_1 f_{k_1}, \ldots$

Remark 15. There are infinitely many nonsymmetric products, which still satisfy (67), and consequently define splitting-up approximations with accuracy of order τ^2 . For example, when m = 2, every product of the form

$$\mathbb{P}(\tau) = \mathbb{P}_{(1-b)\tau}^{(2)} \mathbb{P}_{(1-a)\tau}^{(1)} \mathbb{P}_{b\tau}^{(2)} \mathbb{P}_{a\tau}^{(1)}$$
(68)

166

with $a \neq 1$, and $b = \frac{1}{2(1-a)}$, satisfies (67). If $a = \frac{1}{2}$, then (68) is Strang's product with m = 2. For $a \neq \frac{1}{2}$, these products are not symmetric.

Indeed, for κ_1 , κ_2 characterising (68), we have

$$\dot{\kappa}_1(t) = a \mathbf{1}_{[0,1)}(t) + (1-a)\mathbf{1}_{[2,3)}(t), \quad \dot{\kappa}_2(t) = b \mathbf{1}_{[1,2)}(t) + (1-b)\mathbf{1}_{[3,4)}(t),$$

for $t \in (0, 4)$, and

$$\int_0^4 \kappa_1(t)\dot{\kappa}_2(t)\,\mathrm{d}t = ab + 1 - b = 1 - b(1 - a) = \frac{1}{2}$$

that is, condition (67) holds. If $a \neq \frac{1}{2}$, then clearly (68) is not symmetric. If $a = \frac{1}{2}$, then b = 1, and (68) is Strang's symmetric product with m = 2.

For parabolic PDEs and systems of parabolic PDEs (see Examples 6 and 7), Assumptions 5.1 5.2 and 5.3 can be ensured by suitable smoothness and boundedness conditions on the coefficients and the free terms. Thus, we can apply the above results on accelerated schemes to the corresponding time discretizations of parabolic PDEs and systems of parabolic PDEs, in particular to symmetric hyperbolic system of first order PDEs. Hence one can also get results on accelerated numerical schemes for nonlinear ordinary differential equations by the method of characteristics (see [12]). For a more general framework of accelerated schemes, we refer to [12].

References

- Blum, H., Lin, Q., Rannacher R.: Asymptotic Error Expansion and Richardson Extrapolation for linear finite elements. Numer. Math. 49, 11–37 (1986)
- Brezinski, C.: Convergence acceleration during the 20th century. J. Comput. Applied Math. 122, 1–21 (2000)
- Dong, H., Krylov, N.V.: On the rate of convergence of finite-difference approximations for degenerate linear parabolic equations with C¹ and C² coefficients. Electron. J. Diff. Eqns. 102, 1–25 (2005) http://ejde.math.txstate.edu
- Joyce, D.C.: Survey of extrapolation processes in numerical analysis. SIAM Rev. 13, 435–490 (1971)
- Gyöngy, I., Krylov, N.V.: Stochastic partial differential equations with unbounded coefficients and applications III. Stochastics Stochastics Rep. 40, 77–115 (1992)
- Gyöngy, I., Krylov, N.V.: First derivative estimates for finite difference schemes. Math. Comp. 78, 2019–2046 (2009)
- Gyöngy, I., Krylov, N.V.: Higher order derivative estimates for finite-difference schemes. Methods Appl. Anal. 16, 187–216 (2009)
- Gyöngy, I., Krylov, N.V.: On Splitting up method and stochastic partial differential equations. Ann. Probab. 31, 564–591 (2003)
- Gyöngy, I., Krylov, N.: On the rate of convergence of splitting-up approximations for SPDEs. Prog. Probab. 56, 301–321, Birkhauser Verlag, Basel (2003)
- Gyöngy I., Krylov, N.: An accelerated splitting-up method for parabolic equations. SIAM J. Math. Anal. 37, 1070–1097 (2006)
- Gyöngy, I., Krylov, N.V.: Cauchy problems with periodic controls. Collect. Math. Vol. Extra 255–273 (2006)

- Gyöngy, I., Krylov, N.V.: Expansion of solutions of parameterized equations and acceleration of numerical methods. Ill. J. Math. 50, 473–514 (2006). Special Volume in Memory of Joseph Doob (1910–2004)
- 13. Gyöngy, I., Krylov, N.V.: Accelerated finite difference schemes for second order degenerate elliptic and parabolic problems in the whole space. To appear in Math. Comp.
- 14. Gyöngy, I., Krylov, N.V.: Accelerated finite difference schemes for linear stochastic partial differential equations in the whole space. SIAM J. Math. Anal. 42, 2275–2296 (2010)
- 15. Kloeden, P., Platen, E.: Numerical solution of stochastic differential equations. Springer, Berlin (1992)
- 16. Kloeden, P., Platen, E., Hoffmann, N.: Extrapolation methods for the weak approximation to Itô diffusions. SIAM J. Numer. Anal. **32**, 1519–1534 (1995)
- Krylov, N.V.: An analytic approach to SPDEs. In: Stochastic Partial Differential Equations: Six Perspectives, Mathematical Surveys and Monographs, 64, 185–242 AMS, Providence, RI (1999)
- Krylov, N.V., Rosovskii, B.L.: Stochastic evolution equations. J. Soviet Math. 16, 1233–1277 (1981)
- Malliavin, P., Thalmaier, A.: Numerical error for SDE: asymptotic expansion and hyperdistributions. C. R. Math. Acad. Sci. Paris 336, 851–856 (2003)
- 20. Krylov, N.V.: On factorizations of smooth nonnegative matrix-values functions and on smooth functions with values in polyhedra. Appl. Math. Optim. **58**, 373–392 (2008)
- 21. Ladyzhenskaya, O.A.: Boundary value problems of mathematical physics. Izdat. "Nauka", Moscow, 1973 (in Russian)
- Littman, W.: Résolution du problème de Dirichlet par la méthode des différences finies. C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 247, 2270–2272 (1958)
- 23. Marchuk, G.I.: Methods of numerical mathematics, Third edition, "Nauka", Moscow (1989) (in Russian)
- 24. Marchuk G.I., Shaidurov V.V.: Difference methods and their extrapolations. Springer, New York Berlin Heidelberg (1983)
- Oleinik, O.A.: Alcuni risultati sulle equazioni lineari e quasi lineari ellittico-paraboliche a derivate parziali del secondo ordine. Atti Accad. Naz. Lincei Rend. Cl. Sci. Fis. Mat. Natur. 40, 775–784 (1966)
- Oleinik, O. A.: On the smoothness of solutions of degenerating elliptic and parabolic equations. Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 163, 577–580 (1965) (in Russian); English translation in Soviet Mat. Dokl. 6, 972–976 (1965)
- Oleinik, O. A., Radkevič, E. V.: Second order equations with nonnegative characteristic form. Mathematical analysis, 7-252 1969 (errata insert) Akad. Nauk SSSR Vsesojuzn. Inst. Naučn. i Tehn. Informacii, Moscow, 1971 in Russian; English translation: Plenum, New York, London (1973)
- Richardson, L.F.: The approximative arithmetical solution by finite differences of physical problems involving differential equations. Philos. Trans. Roy. Soc. London, Ser. A 210, 307–357 (1910)
- Richardson, L.F., Gaunt, J.A.: The Deferred Approach to the Limit. Phil. Trans. Roy. Soc. London Ser. A 226, 299–361 (1927)
- 30. Rozovskii, B.L.: Stochastic evolution systems. Linear theory and applications to nonlinear filtering. Kluwer, Dordrecht (1990)
- Strang, W.G.: Accurate partial difference methods I. Linear Cauchy problems. Arch. Mech. 12, 392–402 (1963)
- 32. Strang, W.G.: Accurate partial difference methods II. Non-linear problems. Numer Math. 13, 37–46 (1964)
- Talay, D., Tubaro, L.: Extension of the global error for numerical schemes solving stochastic differential equations. Stochastic Anal. Appl. 8, 483–509 (1990)
- Yoo, H.: An analytic approach to stochastic partial differential equations and its applications. Thesis, University of Minnesota (1998)
- 35. Yoo, H.: Semi-discretization of stochastic partial differential equations on R^1 by a finitedifference method. Math. Comp. **69**, 653–666 (2000)

Coarse-Grained Modeling of Multiscale Diffusions: The *p***-Variation Estimates**

Anastasia Papavasiliou

Abstract We study the problem of estimating parameters of the limiting equation of a multiscale diffusion in the case of averaging and homogenization, given data from the corresponding multiscale system. First, we review some recent results that make use of the maximum likelihood of the limiting equation. In particular, it has been shown that in the averaging case, the MLE will be asymptotically consistent in the limit, while in the homogenization case, the MLE will be asymptotically consistent only if we subsample the data. Then, we focus on the problem of estimating the diffusion coefficient. We suggest a novel approach that makes use of the total *p*-variation, as defined in [15], and avoids the subsampling step. The method is applied to a multiscale OU process.

Keywords Diffusion estimation \cdot multiscale Ornstein-Uhlenbeck process \cdot *p*-variation

MSC (2010): 62M05, 60G17, 74Q99

1 Introduction

It is often the case that the most accurate models for physical systems are large in dimension and multiscale in nature. One of the main tasks for applied mathematicians is to find coarse-grained models of smaller dimension that can effectively describe the dynamics of the system and are efficient to use (see, for example [11, 12, 16, 17]). Once such a model is chosen, its free parameters are estimated by fitting the model to the existing data. Here, we study the challenges of this statistical estimation problem, in particular for the case where the coarse-grained model is a diffusion. Apart from the usual challenges of parameter estimation for diffusions, an additional problem that needs to be addressed in this setting is that of the mismatch

© Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2011

A. Papavasiliou

Department of Statistics, University of Warwick, Coventry, CV4 7AL, United Kingdom and

Department of Applied Mathematics, University of Crete, 71409 Heraklion, Greece e-mail: a.papavasiliou@warwick.ac.uk

D. Crisan (ed.), *Stochastic Analysis 2010*, DOI 10.1007/978-3-642-15358-7_8,

between the full multiscale model that generated the data and the coarse-grained model that is fitted to the data. A first discussion of this issue, in the context of averaging and homogenization for multiscale diffusions, can be found in [1, 18, 19].

A similar statistical estimation problem arises in the context of "equation-free" modeling. In this case, coarse-grained equations exist only locally and are locally fitted to the data. The main idea of "equation-free" modeling is to use these locally fitted coarse-grained equations in combination with a global algorithm (for example, Newton-Raphson) in order to answer questions about the global dynamics of the coarse-grained model (for example, finding the roots of the drift). In this process, we go through the following steps: We simulate *short* paths of the system for given initial conditions. These are used to locally estimate the effective dynamics. Then, we carefully choose the initial conditions for the following simulations so that we reach an answer to whatever question we set on the global dynamics of the system, as quickly and efficiently as possible (see [14]). The statistical inference problem is similar to the one before: we have the data coming from the full model, we have a model for the effective local dynamics and we want to fit the data to this model. However, there is also an important difference: the available data is short paths of the full model. This issue has not been addressed in [18, 19] or [1], where it is assumed that the time horizon is either fixed or goes to infinity at a certain rate. We address this problem in Sect. 3, by letting the time horizon T be of order $\mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{\alpha})$, where ε is the scale separation variable and $\alpha > 0$. Another important issue that we address here is that of estimating the scale separation variable ε .

We focus on a very simple Ornstein–Uhlenbeck model whose effective dynamics can be described by a scaled Brownian motion. This allows us to perform precise computations, reach definite conclusions and build our intuition about the behavior of more general diffusions. We only tackle the homogenization case and our goal be to estimate the diffusion coefficient of the effective dynamics. This problem has also been addressed in [1,19]. In both these papers, the diffusion coefficient is constant. In fact, in [1], the authors also focus on the Ornstein–Uhlenbeck model. Our main contribution is to demonstrate that in order to compute the diffusion coefficient, one should not use the quadratic variation commonly defined as a limit where we let the size of a partition go to zero but rather as a supremum over all partitions. This definition is discussed in [15] and is at the core of the theory of rough paths, as it gives rise to a topology with respect to which the Itô map is continuous.

In Sect. 2, we review some of the core results for multiscale diffusions and their coarse-grained models. Then, we will review the results of [18, 19] and [1]. Finally, we give a more precise description of "equation-free" modeling.

In Sect. 3, we go on to define a new set of estimators for the diffusion parameter of the coarse-grained model, in the case of homogenization. We perform explicit computations of their L_2 -error, which allows us to attest their performance. We conclude that they outperform the subsampled quadratic variance estimate studied in [1, 19]. Finally, we describe a heuristic way of estimating the scale separation parameter ε .

2 MLE for Multiscale Diffusions: A Review

In this section, we review some of the main concepts that come into play in multiscale modeling. First, we describe the limiting equations for multiscale stochastic differential equations. These allow us to reduce the dimension of the model. Then, we discuss the problem of the statistical estimation of parameters of the limiting equation given multiscale data and how this mismatch between model and data affects the result. Finally, we discuss a numerical algorithm that is applied when the limiting equations are completely unknown, which comes under the name of "equation-free" modeling.

2.1 Limiting Equations for Multiscale Diffusions

For reasons of consistency with the section that follows, the results of this section follow [18]. However, different versions of the same results – sometimes stronger – can be found in several places, such as [4, 6, 8, 9, 20].

There are two basic types of multiscale diffusions. The first is described by the following equations

$$dX_t = f_1(X_t, Y_t)dt + \sigma_1(X_t, Y_t)dW_t$$

$$dY_t = \frac{1}{\varepsilon^2} f_2(X_t, Y_t)dt + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \sigma_2(X_t, Y_t)dV_t$$
(1)

where $X_t \in \mathcal{X}$ and $Y_t \in \mathcal{Y}$ and \mathcal{X}, \mathcal{Y} are finite dimensional Banach spaces. We call X the slow variable, Y the fast variable and ε the scale separation parameter. The main assumptions are the following:

Assumption 1. (*a*) *The solution of the system exists.* (*b*) *The equation*

$$\mathrm{d}Y_t^x = \frac{1}{\varepsilon^2} f_2(x, Y_t^x) \mathrm{d}t + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \sigma_2(x, Y_t^x) \mathrm{d}V_t$$

is ergodic with unique invariant measure μ_x , for every $x \in \mathcal{X}$.

We expect that by the time X takes a small step $\Delta \sim \mathcal{O}(1)$,

$$\frac{1}{\Delta} \int_{t}^{t+\Delta} f_1(X_s, Y_s) \mathrm{d}s \approx \int f_1(X_t, y) \mu_{X_t}(\mathrm{d}y)$$

as a result of the ergodicity of Y. Similarly,

$$\frac{1}{\Delta}\int_t^{t+\Delta}\sigma_1(X_s,Y_s)\sigma_1(X_s,Y_s)'\mathrm{d}s\approx\int\sigma_1(X_t,y)\sigma_1(X_t,y)'\mu_{X_t}(\mathrm{d}y).$$

where by $(\cdot)'$ we denote the transpose of a vector. We set

$$\bar{f}_1(x) = \int f_1(x, y) \mu_x(\mathrm{d}y), \ \bar{\sigma}_1(x) = \left(\int \sigma_1(x, y) \sigma_1(x, y)' \mu_x(\mathrm{d}y)\right)^{1/2}$$

and

$$\mathrm{d}\bar{X}_t = \bar{f}_1(\bar{X}_t)\mathrm{d}t + \bar{\sigma}_1(\bar{X}_t)\mathrm{d}W_t.$$
⁽²⁾

We call (2) the averaged limiting equation and \bar{X} the averaged limit. We expect that $X_t \approx \bar{X}_t$, provided that they have the same initial conditions. Indeed, the following holds

Theorem 1 ([18]). Let $\mathcal{X} = \mathbb{T}^{\ell}$ and $\mathcal{Y} = \mathbb{T}^{d-\ell}$, where $\mathbb{T}^k = [0, 1]^k$ for any $k \ge 1$. We assume that all coefficients in (1) are smooth in both x and y and that the matrix $\Sigma_2(x, y) = \sigma_2(x, y)\sigma_2(x, y)'$ is positive definite, uniformly in x and y. Also, there exists a constant C > 0 such that

$$\langle z, B(x, y)z \rangle \ge C |z|^2, \ \forall (x, y) \in \mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y} \text{ and } z \in \mathbb{R}^{d-\ell}$$

where $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ denotes the Euclidean inner product. Then, if $X_0 = \overline{X}_0$,

$$X \Rightarrow \overline{X}$$
 in $\mathcal{C}([0,T], \mathcal{X})$.

The second basic type of a multiscale diffusion is described by the following equations

$$dX_t = \frac{1}{\varepsilon} f_1(X_t, Y_t) dt$$

$$dY_t = \frac{1}{\varepsilon^2} f_2(X_t, Y_t) dt + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \sigma_2(X_t, Y_t) dV_t$$
(3)

where $X_t \in \mathcal{X}$ and $Y_t \in \mathcal{Y}$ and \mathcal{X}, \mathcal{Y} are finite dimensional Banach spaces. As before, we call X the slow variable and Y the fast variable. In addition to assumption 1, we assume that

Assumption 2.

$$\int_{\mathcal{Y}} f_1(x, y) \mu_x(\mathrm{d} y) = 0, \ \forall x \in \mathcal{X}$$

where μ_x as defined in assumption 1.

Then, we expect that by the time *X* takes a small step $\Delta \sim \mathcal{O}(1)$,

$$\frac{1}{\Delta\varepsilon} \int_t^{t+\Delta} f_1(X_s, Y_s) \mathrm{d}s \approx \frac{1}{\Delta\varepsilon} \int_t^{t+\Delta} f_1(X_t, Y_s^{X_t}) \mathrm{d}s$$

It follows from the Central Limit Theorem for ergodic Markov Processes (see [3]) that this will converge to a random number. More precisely, let us set

Coarse-Grained Modeling of Multiscale Diffusions: The p-Variation Estimates

$$\bar{f}_1(x) = \int_{\mathcal{X}} \int_0^\infty f_1(x, y) \left(P_s \partial_x f_1(x, \cdot) \right) (y)' \mu_x(\mathrm{d}y)$$

and

$$\bar{\tau}(x) = \left(2\int_{\mathcal{X}}\int_0^\infty f_1(x,y)\left(P_s f_1(x,\cdot)\right)(y)'\mu_x(\mathrm{d}y)\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

where P_t are the transition kernels of the diffusion Y^x . Finally, we set

$$\mathrm{d}\bar{X}_t = \bar{f}_1(\bar{X}_t)\mathrm{d}t + \bar{\tau}(\bar{X}_t)\mathrm{d}W_t. \tag{4}$$

We call \bar{X} the homogenized limiting equation. As before, we expect that $X_t \approx \bar{X}_t$, provided that they have the same initial conditions. Indeed, similar to the averaging case, we can prove the following:

Theorem 2 ([18]). Let $\mathcal{X} = \mathbb{T}^{\ell}$ and $\mathcal{Y} = \mathbb{T}^{d-\ell}$. We assume that all coefficients in (3) are smooth in both x and y and that the matrix $\Sigma_2(x, y) = \sigma_2(x, y)\sigma_2(x, y)'$ is positive definite, uniformly in x and y. Also, there exists a constant C > 0 such that

$$\langle z, B(x, y)z \rangle \ge C |z|^2, \ \forall (x, y) \in \mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{Y} \text{ and } z \in \mathbb{R}^{d-\ell},$$

where $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ denotes the Euclidean inner product. Then, if $X_0 = \bar{X}_0$ and assumption 2 holds, we get that

$$X \Rightarrow \overline{X}$$
 in $\mathcal{C}([0,T],\mathcal{X})$.

Theorems 1 and 2 allow us to replace the (X_t, Y_t) system by \bar{X}_t . If we are only interested in the slow dynamics of the system, this allows us to reduce the dimension of the problem. For example, using the limiting equations, we can simulate the slow dynamics of the process much faster, not only because of the dimension reduction but also because the dynamics of \bar{X} do not depend on ε . Thus, the step of any numerical algorithm used to simulate the dynamics can be of order $\mathcal{O}(1)$ rather than $\mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^2)$, which would have been the case if we wanted to simulate the full multiscale system. However, in most cases, the drift and diffusion parameter of the limiting equation are not known in closed form and are approximated, with an additional computational cost. Thus, an efficient approximation is needed – which leads to the subject of the next section. Some results regarding the efficiency of the whole procedure (approximation and simulation of the limiting dynamics) can be found in [4].

2.2 Parameter Estimation for Multiscale Diffusions

The theory reviewed in Sect. 2.1 allows us to reduce the dimension of a multiscale system, approximating the slow dynamics by an diffusion of smaller dimension that does not have a multiscale structure anymore. In addition to multiscale diffusions, similar results hold for ordinary and partial differential equations (see [20]).

It is often the case that the dynamics of the full multiscale system – and consequently those of the limiting system – are not completely known. For example, in the case of multiscale diffusions, the drift and variance of the full system and thus the limiting system might depend on unknown parameters. This poses a statistical problem: how can we estimate these parameters give the multiscale data? In fact, it is even more realistic to ask to find the drift and diffusion coefficient of \bar{X} given only X. This problem has been discussed in [1, 18, 19].

More precisely, in [19], the authors discuss the case where the drift of the limiting equation depends linearly on the unknown parameter while the diffusion parameter is constant. In [18], the authors extended the results of [19] for generic drift but did not discuss the problem of estimating the diffusion parameter. Finally, in [1], the authors extend the results in [19] by also proving the asymptotic normality of the estimators, but they limit their study to the Ornstein–Uhlenbeck system. The approach taken so far is the following:

- (a) We pretend that the data come from the limiting equation, and we write down the corresponding maximum likelihood estimate (MLE) for the unknown parameters.
- (b) We study whether the mismatch between model and data leads to errors, and if so, we try to find a way to correct them. It has been shown that in the limit as the scale separation parameter ε → 0, the MLE corresponding to the averaged equation is consistent. However, this is not true in the case of homogenization. The method used so far to correct this problem has been that of subsampling the data by a parameter δ. Then, for δ ~ O (ε^α) and α ∈ [0, 2], it has been shown that the MLE that corresponds to the homogenized equation will be consistent in the limit ε → 0. Also, an effort has been made to identify the optimal subsampling rate, i.e. the optimal α. However, since ε is usually an unknown, this is of little practical value.

Note that a separate issue is that of writing the maximum likelihood of the limiting diffusion, which in the general multi-dimensional case can still be challenging (see [2, 13]). We will not discuss this issue here, however.

We summarize the main results for the parameter estimation of the limiting equations of multiscale diffusions in the following theorems:

Theorem 3 (Drift estimation, averaging problem). Suppose that \bar{f}_1 in (2) depends on unknown parameters θ , i.e. $\bar{f}_1(x) = \bar{f}_1(x;\theta)$. Let $\hat{\theta}(x;T)$ be the MLE of θ corresponding to (2). Suppose that we observe $\{X_t, t \in [0,T]\}$ of system (1) corresponding to $\theta = \theta_0$. Then, under appropriate assumptions described in [18] (Theorem 3.11), it is possible to show that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} dist\left(\hat{\theta}(X;T), \theta_{\varepsilon}\right) = 0, \text{ in probability}$$

where dist (\cdot, \cdot) is the asymmetric Hausdorff semi-distance and θ_{ε} is a subset of the parameter space identified in the proof. Also

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} d_H \left(\theta_{\varepsilon}, \theta_0 \right) = 0, \text{ in probability}$$

where $d_H(\cdot, \cdot)$ is the Hausdorff distance.

Theorem 4 (Drift estimation, homogenization problem). Suppose that $\bar{f_1}$ in (4) depends on unknown parameters θ , i.e. $\bar{f_1}(x) = \bar{f_1}(x;\theta)$. Let $\hat{\theta}(x; N, \delta)$ be the maximizer of the discretized likelihood corresponding to (2) with step δ , where $T = N\delta$. Suppose that we observe $\{X_t, t \in [0, T]\}$ of system (3) corresponding to $\theta = \theta_0$. Then, under appropriate assumptions described in [18] (Theorem 4.5) and for $\delta = \varepsilon^{\alpha}$ with $\alpha \in (0, 2)$ and $N = [\varepsilon^{-\gamma}]$ for $\gamma > \alpha$, it is possible to show that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \hat{\theta}(X; N, \delta) = 0, \text{ in probability.}$$

The next two theorems deal with the estimation of the diffusion parameter of the limiting equation, given that this is constant. In that case, the MLE is the Quadratic Variation of the process. They assume that the dimension of the slow variable is 1.

Theorem 5 (Diffusion estimation, averaging problem). Let X be the solution of (1) for $\bar{\sigma}_1 \equiv \theta$ a constant. Then, under appropriate conditions described in [19] (Theorem 3.4) and for every $\varepsilon > 0$, we have that

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} \frac{1}{N\delta} \sum_{n=0}^{N-1} |X_{(n+1)\delta} - X_{n\delta}|^2 = \theta^2 \text{ a.s}$$

where $T = N\delta$ is fixed.

Theorem 6 (Diffusion estimation, homogenization problem). Let X be the solution of (3), such that $\overline{\tau} \equiv \theta$ appearing in (4) is a constant. Then, under appropriate conditions described in [19] (Theorem 3.5) and for $\delta = \varepsilon^{\alpha}$ with $\alpha \in (0, 1)$, we have that

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} \frac{1}{N\delta} \sum_{n=0}^{N-1} |X_{(n+1)\delta} - X_{n\delta}|^2 = \theta^2 \text{ a.s.}$$

where $T = N\delta$ is fixed.

It is conjectured that Theorem 6 should hold for any $\alpha \in (0, 2)$ and that the optimal α , i.e. the one that minimizes the error, is $\alpha = \frac{4}{3}$. The reasoning is the following: there are two competing errors, one coming from the Monte-Carlo averaging, which should be of order $\frac{1}{\sqrt{N}} \propto \varepsilon^{\frac{\alpha}{2}}$, and the other one coming from homogenization, which we expect to be of order $\frac{\varepsilon^2}{\delta} \propto \varepsilon^{2-\alpha}$. To achieve optimal performance, these two errors should be balanced.

Clearly, the most interesting case is that of estimating the diffusion parameter of the homogenized system. This is the case that we study in detail in Sect. 3, assuming that the process is an Ornstein–Uhlenbeck process. Also, note that when estimating the diffusion parameter, the length of the time interval T is fixed. We will relax this condition later on, for reasons explained in the following section.
2.3 Equation-Free Modeling

In practical applications, it is often the case that the limiting equations (2) and (4) are completely unknown. More generally, let us say that we have good reasons to believe that a certain variable of a multiscale system that evolves slowly behaves like a diffusion at a certain scale but we have complete ignorance of its drift and diffusion coefficients. We would like to find a way to estimate these coefficients. In statistical terms, let us say that we are interested in the non-parametric estimation of the drift and diffusion coefficients of the limiting equation. Note that our data come "on demand" but for a certain cost, by simulating the multiscale model for given conditions.

A general algorithm for answering questions regarding the limiting dynamics of a quantity coming from a multiscale system that evolves slowly, when these are not explicitly known, comes under the name of "equation-free" algorithm (see [14] and also [5] for a similar approach). In our case, this would suggest pairing the problem of local estimation with an interpolation algorithm in order to estimate the drift and diffusion functions, denoted by $\bar{f}(x)$ and $\bar{\sigma}(x)$ respectively. We make this more concrete by describing the corresponding algorithm:

- (0) Choose some initial condition x_0 and approximate $\bar{f}(x)$ and $\bar{\sigma}(x)$ by a local (polynomial) approximation around x_0 . Simulate short paths of the multiscale system, so that the local approximation is acceptable. Note that the smaller the path, the better or simpler the local approximation.
- (1) For $n \ge 1$, choose another starting point x_n using the knowledge of $\overline{f}(x_{n-1})$ and $\overline{\sigma}(x_{n-1})$ and possibly some of their derivatives on x_{n-1} , according to the rules of your interpolation algorithm.
- (2) Repeat step 0, replacing x_0 by x_n .

As mentioned above, the size of the path T needs to be small and possibly comparable to ε . This is what led us to consider the estimation problem for $T = \varepsilon^{\alpha}$.

3 The *p*-Variation Estimate

In this section, we study the problem of estimating the diffusion parameter of the homogenization limit of a simple multiscale Ornstein–Uhlenbeck process. We hope that the detailed analysis will provide some intuition for the general problem.

Consider the following system:

$$dY_t^{1,\varepsilon} = \frac{\sigma}{\varepsilon} Y_t^{2,\varepsilon} dt$$

$$dY_t^{2,\varepsilon} = -\frac{1}{\varepsilon^2} Y_t^{2,\varepsilon} dt + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} dW_t$$
(5)

with initial conditions $Y_0^{1,\varepsilon} = y_1$ and $Y_0^{2,\varepsilon} = y_2$. It is not hard to see that the homogenization limit as $\varepsilon \to 0$ is

$$Y_t^{1,\varepsilon} \to y_1 + \sigma W_t$$

and the convergence holds in a strong sense:

$$\sup_{t \in [0,T]} |Y_t^{1,\varepsilon} - y_1 - \sigma W_t| \xrightarrow{L_1} 0, \text{ as } \varepsilon \to 0.$$
(6)

Note that for this particular example, $Y_t^{1,\varepsilon}$ is exactly equal to

$$Y_t^{1,\varepsilon} = y_1 + \sigma W_t - \varepsilon \sigma \left(Y_t^{2,\varepsilon} - y_2 \right),$$

and thus proving (6) is equivalent to proving that

$$\varepsilon \sup_{t \in [0,T]} |Y_t^{2,\varepsilon} - y_2| \xrightarrow{L_1} 0, \text{ as } \varepsilon \to 0.$$

This follows from [10].

We want to estimate the diffusion parameter σ given a path $\{Y_t^{1,\varepsilon}(\omega); t \in [0, T]\}$, i.e. we assume we only observe the slow scale of the diffusion. If we were to follow the approach discussed in the previous section, we would use the maximum like-lihood estimate that corresponds to the limiting equation. In this case, this would be the quadratic variation. However, as discussed earlier, this is not a good estimate since the quadratic variation for any fixed $\varepsilon > 0$ is zero. To correct this, we subsample the data, which leads to the following estimate:

$$\hat{\sigma}_{\delta}^{2} = \frac{1}{N\delta} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \left(Y_{i\delta}^{1,\varepsilon} - Y_{(i-1)\delta}^{1,\varepsilon} \right)^{2}, \text{ for } N = \frac{T}{\delta}$$
(7)

The asymptotic behavior of this estimate has been studied in [1, 19]. In fact, taking advantage of the simplicity of the model, we can compute the L_2 -error exactly, as a function of δ , ε and N. We find that

$$\frac{1}{\sigma^4} \mathbb{E} \left(\hat{\sigma}_{\delta}^2 - \sigma^2 \right)^2 = \frac{\varepsilon^4}{\delta^2} \left(1 - e^{-\frac{\delta}{\varepsilon^2}} \right)^2 + \left(2 - 4 \frac{\varepsilon^2}{\delta} \left(1 - e^{-\frac{\delta}{\varepsilon^2}} \right) + \frac{\varepsilon^4}{\delta^2} \left(1 - e^{-\frac{\delta}{\varepsilon^2}} \right)^2 \frac{3 + e^{-\frac{\delta}{\varepsilon^2}}}{1 + e^{-\frac{\delta}{\varepsilon^2}}} \right) \left(\frac{1}{N} \right) + \frac{\varepsilon^4}{\delta^2} \left(\frac{1 - e^{-\frac{\delta}{\varepsilon^2}}}{1 + e^{-\frac{\delta}{\varepsilon^2}}} \right)^2 \left(\frac{e^{-\frac{2\delta N}{\varepsilon^2}} - 1}{N^2} \right)$$
(8)

For reasons explained earlier, we are interested in the behavior of this error not only when T is fixed but also for $T \to 0$. Thus, we set $T = \varepsilon^{\alpha}$ and, as before, $\delta = \varepsilon^{\alpha+\beta}$, which lead to $N = \varepsilon^{-\beta}$. We are interested in the behavior of the error as $\varepsilon \to 0$. For these choices of T and δ , the square error will be

$$\mathbb{E}\left(\hat{\sigma}_{\delta}^{2}-\sigma^{2}\right)^{2}\sim\mathcal{O}\left(\varepsilon^{4-2(\alpha+\beta)}+\varepsilon^{2-\alpha}+\varepsilon^{\beta}\right)$$
(9)

For α fixed, we see that the error will be small if $0 < \beta < 2 - \alpha$. In fact, the optimal choice for β is $\beta = \frac{4-2\alpha}{3}$, in which case the error becomes

$$\left(\mathbb{E}\left(\hat{\sigma}_{\delta}^{2}-\sigma^{2}\right)^{2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}\sim\mathcal{O}\left(\varepsilon^{\frac{2-\alpha}{3}}\right)$$
(10)

So, for $\alpha = 0$, we get that the optimal sub sampling rate is $\beta = \frac{4}{3}$, which results in an optimal error of order $\mathcal{O}\left(\varepsilon^{\frac{2}{3}}\right)$. However, if $\alpha > 0$, the error can increase significantly, especially for non-optimal choices of δ .

In the rest of this section, we are going to investigate the behavior of the *p*-variation norm as an estimator of σ . The intuition comes from the following observation: we know that at scale $\mathcal{O}(1)$, $\{Y_t^{1,\varepsilon}(\omega) ; t \in [0,T]\}$ behaves like scaled Brownian motion, while at scale $\mathcal{O}(\varepsilon)$, it is a process of bounded variation (finite length). Could it be that at scale $\mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{\alpha})$, the process behaves like a process of finite *p*-variation, for some *p* that depends on α ? If so, would the *p*-variation norm be a better estimator of σ ?

3.1 The Total *p*-Variation

We say that a real-valued continuous path $X : [0,T] \rightarrow \mathbb{R}$ has finite total *p*-variation if

$$D_{p}(X)_{T} := \sup_{\mathcal{D}([0,T])} \left(\sum_{t_{\ell} \in \mathcal{D}([0,T])} |X_{t_{\ell+1}} - X_{t_{\ell}}|^{p} \right)^{1/p} < +\infty,$$
(11)

where $\mathcal{D}([0, T])$ goes through the set of all finite partitions of the interval [0, T] (see also [15]). It is clear by the definition that a process of bounded variation will always have finite total *p*-variation for any p > 1. Also, note that the total *p*-variation as defined above will only be zero if the process is constant. Thus, the total *p*-variation of a non-constant bounded variation process will always be a positive number.

For $\varepsilon > 0$ fixed, the process $Y^{1,\varepsilon} : [0,T] \to \mathbb{R}$ defined in (5) is clearly of bounded variation, but its total variation is of order $\mathcal{O}(\frac{T}{\varepsilon})$. We will say that at scale

 $\mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{\alpha})$, the process $Y^{1,\varepsilon}$ behaves like a process of finite total *p*-variation *in the limit* if

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \left(D_p \left(Y^{1,\varepsilon} \right)_{\varepsilon^{\alpha}} \right) < +\infty \text{ and } \forall q < p, \quad \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \left(D_q \left(Y^{1,\varepsilon} \right)_{\varepsilon^{\alpha}} \right) = +\infty.$$
 (12)

We will prove the following:

Theorem 7. At scale $\mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{\alpha})$ and $1 < \alpha < 2$, the process $Y^{1,\varepsilon} : [0,T] \to \mathbb{R}$ defined in (5) behaves like a process of finite total $(2 - \alpha)$ -variation in the limit.

First, we prove the following lemma:

Lemma 1. Let $X : [0, T] \to \mathbb{R}$ be a real-valued differentiable path of bounded variation. Then, its total *p*-variation is given by

$$D_{p}(X)_{T} := \sup_{\mathcal{E}([0,T])} \left(\sum_{t_{\ell} \in \mathcal{E}([0,T])} |X_{t_{\ell+1}} - X_{t_{\ell}}|^{p} \right)^{1/p},$$
(13)

where $\mathcal{E}([0, T])$ goes through all finite sets of extremals of X in the interval [0, T].

Proof. Consider the function

$$f_{a,b}(t) = |X_t - X_a|^p + |X_b - X_t|^p, \quad a < t < b.$$

This is maximized for t an extremal point $(\dot{X}_t = 0)$ or at t = a or t = b. Thus, if $\mathcal{D} = \{0, t_1, \dots, t_{n-1}, t_n = T\}$, there exists a set of extremals \mathcal{E} with cardinality $|\mathcal{E}| \le n + 1$, such that

$$\sum_{t_{\ell}\in\mathcal{D}}|X_{t_{\ell+1}}-X_{t_{\ell}}|^{p}\leq \sum_{t_{\ell}\in\mathcal{E}}|X_{t_{\ell+1}}-X_{t_{\ell}}|^{p}.$$

The set \mathcal{E} can be constructed by choosing τ_1 so that $f_{0,t_2}(t)$ is maximized and τ_k so that $f_{\tau_{k-1},t_{k+1}}(t)$ is maximized, for k = 2, ..., n-1. Thus,

$$\sup_{\mathcal{D}([0,T])} \left(\sum_{t_{\ell} \in \mathcal{D}([0,T])} |X_{t_{\ell+1}} - X_{t_{\ell}}|^p \right)^{1/p} \le \sup_{\mathcal{E}([0,T])} \left(\sum_{t_{\ell} \in \mathcal{E}([0,T])} |X_{t_{\ell+1}} - X_{t_{\ell}}|^p \right)^{1/p}.$$

The opposite inequality is obvious and completes the proof.

To prove the theorem, first we notice that

$$D_p(Y^{1,\varepsilon})_T = \varepsilon \sigma D_p(Z^1)_{\frac{T}{\varepsilon^2}},\tag{14}$$

where (Z^1, Z^2) satisfy

$$dZ_t^1 = Z_t^2 dt$$

$$dZ_t^2 = -Z_t^2 dt + dW_t$$

Now, Z^1 is clearly differentiable and thus, by the lemma

$$D_p(Z^1)_T = \sup_{\mathcal{E}([0,T])} \left(\sum_{t_{\ell} \in \mathcal{E}([0,T])} |Z^1_{t_{\ell+1}} - Z^1_{t_{\ell}}|^p \right)^{\frac{1}{p}}$$

The derivative of Z^1 is equal to Z^2 , so all its extremal points correspond to zerocrossings of Z^2 . So, for $s, t \in \mathcal{E}$,

$$Z_t^1 - Z_s^1 = (W_t - W_s) - (Z_t^2 - Z_s^2) = W_t - W_s$$

and $D_p(Z^1)_T$ becomes

$$D_{p}(Z^{1})_{T} = \sup_{\mathcal{E}([0,T])} \left(\sum_{t_{\ell} \in \mathcal{E}([0,T])} |W_{t_{\ell+1}} - W_{t_{\ell}}|^{p} \right)^{\frac{1}{p}}$$
$$= \lim_{\delta \to 0} \left(\sum_{t_{\ell} \in \mathcal{E}_{\delta}([0,T])} |W_{t_{\ell+1}} - W_{t_{\ell}}|^{p} \right)^{\frac{1}{p}},$$
(15)

where

$$\mathcal{E}_{\delta}([0,T]) = \{0 = t_0, t_1, \dots, t_{N_{\delta}(T)}, T\}$$

and $\{t_1, \ldots, t_{N_{\delta}(T)}\}$ is the set of all zero-crossings of Z^2 in [0, T] that are at least distance δ apart from each other, i.e. if $t_k \in \mathcal{E}_{\delta}([0, T])$ and $k < N_{\delta}(T)$, then t_{k+1} is the first time that Z^2 crosses zero after time $t_k + \delta$. Note that the set of zero-crossings of Z^2 in [0, T] is an uncountable set that contains no intervals with probability 1. Equation (15) follows from the following two facts: (a) in general, adding any point to the partition will increase the L_p norm and thus the supremum is achieved for a countable set of zero-crossings and (b) any countable set that is dense in the set of all zero-crossings will give the same result.

If τ_{δ} is the stopping time of the first zero crossing of Z^2 after δ given $Z_0^2 = 0$, then the random variables { $\tau_k^{\delta} = (t_k - t_{k-1}), t_k \in \mathcal{E}_{\delta}([0, T]), k \leq N_{\delta}(T)$ } are i.i.d. with the same law as that of τ_{δ} . Thus, the sum $\sum_{t_{\ell} \in \mathcal{E}_{\delta}([0, T])} |W_{t_{\ell+1}} - W_{t_{\ell}}|^p$ is a sum of i.i.d. random variables of finite mean (to be computed in the following section), and as a consequence of the Law of Large Numbers, it grows like $N_{\delta}(T)$. From [7], we know that $N_{\delta}(T) \sim \mathcal{O}(\frac{T}{\varepsilon})$. We conclude that

$$D_p(Z^1)_T \sim \mathcal{O}\left(T^{\frac{1}{p}}\right).$$

Finally, from (14), it is clear that

$$D_p(Y^{1,\varepsilon})_{\varepsilon^{\alpha}} \sim \mathcal{O}\left(\varepsilon\left(\frac{\varepsilon^{\alpha}}{\varepsilon^2}\right)^{\frac{1}{p}}\right) \sim \mathcal{O}\left(\varepsilon^{1+\frac{\alpha-2}{p}}\right),$$

which proves the theorem.

3.2 The p-Variation Estimates

Similar to the quadratic variation estimate $\hat{\sigma}^2$ defined in (7), we define the *p*-variation estimates as the properly normalized total *p*-variation of the process:

$$\hat{\sigma}^p := \frac{1}{C_p(T)} \left(D_p(Y^{1,\varepsilon})_T \right)^p.$$
(16)

We will study the L_2 -error of this estimate in different scales. First, we need to define the constant $C_p(T)$. The natural choice would be to choose $C_p(T)$ so that $\mathbb{E}(\hat{\sigma}^p) = \sigma^p$. So,

$$C_p(T) = \frac{1}{\sigma^p} \mathbb{E}\left(\left(D_p(Y^{1,\varepsilon})_T \right)^p \right).$$

We need to compute $\mathbb{E}\left(\left(D_p(Y^{1,\varepsilon})_T\right)^p\right)$. From (14), we get that

$$\mathbb{E}\left(\left(D_p(Y^{1,\varepsilon})_T\right)^p\right) = \varepsilon^p \sigma^p \mathbb{E}\left(\left(D_p(Z^1)_{\frac{T}{\varepsilon^2}}\right)^p\right).$$

Using (15), we get that

$$\mathbb{E}\left(\left(D_p(Z^1)_T\right)^p\right) = \lim_{\delta \to 0} \mathbb{E}\left(\sum_{t_\ell \in \mathcal{E}_\delta([0,T])} |W_{t_{\ell+1}} - W_{t_\ell}|^p\right),$$

Note that for any p > 1, $D_p(Z^1)_T \le D_1(Z^1)_T$, where $\mathbb{E}(D_1(Z^1)_T^p) < +\infty$. Thus, from the Dominated Convergence Theorem, the limit can come out of the expectation. To simplify our computations, from now on, we will assume that $Z_0^2 = Z_T^2 = 0$. We have already observed that the random variables $\{(W_{t_{\ell+1}} - W_{t_\ell}), t_\ell \in \mathcal{E}_{\delta}([0,T]), \ell < N_{\delta}(T)\}$ are independent and distributed like $W_{\tau_{\delta}}$, where τ_{δ} is the first time Z^2 crosses zero after $t = \delta$, given that $Z_0^2 = 0$. Thus,

$$\mathbb{E}\left(\sum_{t_{\ell}\in\mathcal{E}_{\delta}([0,T])}|W_{t_{\ell+1}}-W_{t_{\ell}}|^{p}\right)=\mathbb{E}N_{\delta}(T)\mathbb{E}|W_{\tau_{\delta}}|^{p}+\mathbb{E}|W_{T}-W_{t_{N_{\delta}(T)}}|^{p},$$

where $N_{\delta}(T)$ is the number of zero-crossings of Z^2 in interval [0, T] that are distance δ apart from each other. First, we notice that

$$\mathbb{E}|W_{\tau_{\delta}}|^{p} = \mathbb{E}\left(\mathbb{E}\left(|W_{\tau_{\delta}}|^{p}|\tau_{\delta}\right)\right) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\pi}}2^{\frac{p}{2}}\Gamma\left(\frac{p+1}{2}\right)\mathbb{E}\left((\tau_{\delta})^{\frac{p}{2}}\right).$$

To compute $\mathbb{E}((\tau_{\delta})^{p})$, we note that τ_{δ} can be written as $\tau_{\delta} = \delta + \tau(Z_{\delta}^{2})$, where $\tau(z)$ is the first zero-crossing of the process Z^{2} given that it starts at z. For Z^{2} , an Ornstein–Uhlenbeck process, the p.d.f. of $\tau(z)$ has been computed explicitly (see [21]) and is given by

$$f(t,z) = \frac{2}{\sqrt{\pi}} \frac{|z|e^{-t}}{(1-e^{-2t})^{\frac{3}{2}}} \exp\left(-\frac{z^2 e^{-2t}}{1-e^{-2t}}\right).$$

Since $Z_0^2 = 0$ by assumption, Z_{δ}^2 is a Gaussian random variable with zero mean and variance $\frac{1}{2}(1 - e^{-2\delta})$. Let us denote its p.d.f. by $g_{\delta}(z)$. It follows that the p.d.f. of $\tau(Z_{\delta}^2)$ is given by

$$h_{\delta}(t) := \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} f(t, z) g_{\delta}(z) dz = \frac{4e^{t} \operatorname{csch}(\delta + t) \sinh(\delta) \sinh(t)}{\sqrt{(1 - e^{-2\delta})(1 - e^{-2t})}(-1 + e^{2t})\pi}$$
(17)

where $\operatorname{csch}(t) = \frac{1}{\sinh(t)}$ and $\sinh(t)$ the hyperbolic sine. We write

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} \frac{1}{\sqrt{\delta}} \mathbb{E} \left((\tau_{\delta})^p \right) = \lim_{\delta \to 0} \frac{1}{\sqrt{\delta}} \int_0^\infty (\delta + t)^p h_{\delta}(t) dt$$
$$= \lim_{\delta \to 0} \int_0^\infty \frac{(\delta + t)^p h_{\delta}(t)}{\sqrt{\delta} t H(t)} t H(t) dt.$$

where

$$H(t) = \frac{4e^{-t}\sqrt{e^{-t}\sinh(t)}}{(1-e^{-2t})^2\pi} \text{ and } \int_0^\infty tH(t)dt = \sqrt{2}$$

The function $\frac{(\delta+t)^p h_{\delta}(t)}{\sqrt{\delta}tH(t)}$ is increasing to t^{-1+p} as $\delta \downarrow 0$, and thus by the dominated theorem, we find that

$$K_p := \int_0^\infty t^p H(t) \mathrm{d}t \tag{18}$$

Notice that for $t \to 0$, H(t) behaves like $t^{-\frac{3}{2}}$ and thus the integral K_p is finite if and only if $p > \frac{1}{2}$. Also, for p = 1, 2 we find that $K_1 = \sqrt{2}$ and $K_2 = 2\sqrt{2}\log 2$.

Now, we need to compute the limit of $\sqrt{\delta \mathbb{E} N_{\delta}(T)}$ as $\delta \to 0$. We can use the results in [7] to get an upper and lower bound and show that $N_{\delta}(T)$ behaves like $\mathcal{O}\left(\frac{T}{\sqrt{\delta}}\right)$. However, we need to know the exact value of the limit. We proceed as follows: we write

Coarse-Grained Modeling of Multiscale Diffusions: The p-Variation Estimates

$$\mathbb{E}N_{\delta}(T) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \mathbb{P}\left(N_{\delta}(T) \ge n\right) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \mathbb{P}\left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} \tau_{i}^{\delta} \le T\right),\tag{19}$$

where $\tau_i^{\delta} = t_i - t_{i-1}$ for $t_i \in \mathcal{E}_{\delta}$ ([0, *T*]) and $i \leq N_{\delta}(T)$. Using (17), we find that the Laplace transform of the distribution of τ_{δ} is

$$\hat{H}_{\delta}(\lambda) = e^{-\lambda\delta} \hat{h}_{\delta}(\lambda) = \frac{2e^{-d(\lambda+1)}\Gamma(\frac{\lambda+1}{2})\sinh(d)}{\sqrt{\pi(1-e^{-2d})}} \bar{F}_{1}\left(1, \frac{\lambda+1}{2}, \frac{\lambda+2}{2}, e^{-2d}\right),$$
(20)

where $\bar{F}_1(a, b, c, x)$ is the regularized hypergeometric function given by

$$\bar{F}_1(a,b,c,x) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(c)} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(a)_k(b)_k}{(c)_k} \frac{z^k}{k!}, \text{ and } (d)_n = \prod_{k=0}^{n-1} (d+k).$$

We find that for small d > 0, this behaves like

$$\hat{H}_{\delta}(\lambda) = 1 - \frac{2\sqrt{2}}{\sqrt{\pi}} \frac{\Gamma(\frac{\lambda+1}{2})}{\Gamma(\frac{\lambda}{2})} \sqrt{d} + \mathcal{O}(\delta).$$
(21)

Since the τ_i^{δ} 's are i.i.d., the Laplace transform of the sum $\sum_{i=1}^{n} \tau_i^{\delta}$ will be $\hat{H}_{\delta}(\lambda)^n$ and thus we write

$$\mathbb{P}\left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} \tau_i^{\delta} \leq T\right) = \int_0^T \mathcal{L}^{-1}[\hat{H}_{\delta}(\lambda)^n](\mathrm{d}t).$$

where \mathcal{L}^{-1} denotes the operator of the inverse Laplace transform. Substituting this back to (19), we get

$$\mathbb{E}N_{\delta}(T) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{T} \mathcal{L}^{-1}[\hat{H}_{\delta}(\lambda)^{n}](dt)$$
$$= \int_{0}^{T} \mathcal{L}^{-1}\left[\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \hat{H}_{\delta}(\lambda)^{n}\right](dt)$$
$$= \int_{0}^{T} \mathcal{L}^{-1}\left[\frac{\hat{H}_{\delta}(\lambda)}{1 - \hat{H}_{\delta}(\lambda)}\right](dt).$$
(22)

Taking the limit inside the operator, we finally see that

$$\lim_{\delta \to \infty} \sqrt{\delta} \mathbb{E} \left(N_{\delta}(T) \right) = \frac{\sqrt{\pi}}{2\sqrt{2}} \int_{0}^{T} \mathcal{L}^{-1} \left[\frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{\lambda}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{\lambda+1}{2}\right)} \right] (\mathrm{d}t) = \frac{T}{\sqrt{2}}.$$
 (23)

Finally, we note that since $Z_T^2 = 0$ by assumption,

$$(T - t_{N_{\delta}(T)}) < \delta \Rightarrow \lim_{\delta \to 0} \mathbb{E} |W_T - W_{t_{N_{\delta}(T)}}|^p = 0.$$

For every p > 1, we set

$$a_p := \frac{1}{\sqrt{\pi}} 2^{\frac{p}{2}} \Gamma\left(\frac{p+1}{2}\right) \text{ and } c_p := \frac{a_p}{\sqrt{2}} K_{\frac{p}{2}}.$$
 (24)

Putting everything together, we find that

$$\mathbb{E}\left(\left(D_p(Z^1)_T\right)^p\right) := c_p T \tag{25}$$

and consequently

$$\mathbb{E}\left(\left(D_p(Y^{1,\varepsilon})_T\right)^p\right) = \varepsilon^p \sigma^p c_p \frac{T}{\varepsilon^2} = \varepsilon^{p-2} \sigma^p c_p T$$

Thus, we set

$$C_p(T) := \varepsilon^{p-2} c_p T. \tag{26}$$

By construction, the *p*-variation estimates $\hat{\sigma}^p$ defined in (16) are consistent, i.e. $\mathbb{E}(\hat{\sigma}^p) = \sigma^p$. We now compute its square L_2 -error:

$$\mathbb{E} \left(\hat{\sigma}^{p} - \sigma^{p}\right)^{2} = \mathbb{E} \left(\frac{\left(D_{p}(Y^{1,\varepsilon})_{T}\right)^{p}}{C_{p}(T)} - \sigma^{p} \right)^{2}$$

$$= \mathbb{E} \left(\frac{\left(D_{p}(Y^{1,\varepsilon})_{T}\right)^{2p}}{C_{p}(T)^{2}} \right) - \sigma^{2p}$$

$$= \frac{1}{C_{p}(T)^{2}} \mathbb{E} \left(\left(D_{p}(Y^{1,\varepsilon})_{T}\right)^{2p} \right) - \sigma^{2p}$$

$$= \frac{\varepsilon^{2p}\sigma^{2p}}{\varepsilon^{2p-4}c_{p}^{2}T^{2}} \mathbb{E} \left(\left(D_{p}(Z^{1})_{\frac{T}{\varepsilon^{2}}}\right)^{2p} \right) - \sigma^{2p}$$

$$= \sigma^{2p} \left(\frac{\varepsilon^{4}}{c_{p}^{2}T^{2}} \mathbb{E} \left(\left(D_{p}(Z^{1})_{\frac{T}{\varepsilon^{2}}}\right)^{2p} \right) - 1 \right)$$
(27)

To proceed, we need to compute the second moment of $(D_p(Z^1)_T)^p$. As with the computation of the first moment, we write:

Coarse-Grained Modeling of Multiscale Diffusions: The p-Variation Estimates

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{E}\left(\left(D_p(Z^1)_T\right)^{2p}\right) &= \lim_{\delta \to 0} \mathbb{E}\left(\sum_{t_\ell \in \mathcal{E}_\delta([0,T])} |W_{t_{\ell+1}} - W_{t_\ell}|^p\right)^2 \\ &= \lim_{\delta \to 0} \mathbb{E}\left(\sum_{n=1}^{N_\delta(T)} |W_{\tau_n^\delta}|^p + |W_T - W_{t_{N_\delta(T)}}|^p\right)^2 \\ &= \lim_{\delta \to 0} \mathbb{E}\left(\sum_{n=1}^{N_\delta(T)} |W_{\tau_n^\delta}|^p\right)^2, \end{split}$$

where the last line comes from the fact that $(T - t_{N_{\delta}(T)}) < \delta$. To compute the above expectation, we write

$$\mathbb{E}\left(\sum_{n=1}^{N_{\delta}(T)} |W_{\tau_{n}^{\delta}}|^{p}\right)^{2} = \mathbb{E}\left(\sum_{m,n=1}^{N_{\delta}(T)} |W_{\tau_{n}^{\delta}}|^{p} |W_{\tau_{n}^{\delta}}|^{p}\right)^{2}$$
$$= \mathbb{E}N_{\delta}(T)\mathbb{E}|W_{\tau_{\delta}}|^{2p} + \mathbb{E}\left(N_{\delta}(T)^{2} - N_{\delta}(T)\right)\left(\mathbb{E}|W_{\tau_{\delta}}|^{p}\right)^{2}$$
$$= \mathbb{E}N_{\delta}(T)\mathbb{E}|W_{\tau_{\delta}}|^{2p} + \mathbb{E}N_{\delta}(T)^{2}\left(\mathbb{E}|W_{\tau_{\delta}}|^{p}\right)^{2} + \mathcal{O}\left(\sqrt{d}\right),$$

where the last line follows from the fact that $N_{\delta}(T) \sim \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{T}{\sqrt{d}}\right)$ and $\mathbb{E}|W_{\tau_{\delta}}|^{p} \sim \mathcal{O}\left(\sqrt{\delta}\right)$. It remains to compute the limit of $\delta \mathbb{E} N_{\delta}(T)^{2}$. Following a similar approach to the one before, we write

$$\mathbb{E}N_{\delta}(T)^{2} = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (2n-1)\mathbb{P}\left(N_{\delta}(T) \ge n\right) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (2n-1)\mathbb{P}\left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} \tau_{i}^{\delta} \le T\right)$$
$$= 2\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} n\mathbb{P}\left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} \tau_{i}^{\delta} \le T\right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{\delta}}\right)$$

and

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} n \mathbb{P}\left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} \tau_i^{\delta} \leq T\right) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} n \int_0^T \mathcal{L}^{-1}[\hat{H}_{\delta}(\lambda)^n](dt)$$
$$= \int_0^T \mathcal{L}^{-1}[\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} n \hat{H}_{\delta}(\lambda)^n](dt)$$
$$= \int_0^T \mathcal{L}^{-1}\left[\frac{\hat{H}_{\delta}(\lambda)}{\left(1 - \hat{H}_{\delta}(\lambda)\right)^2}\right](dt)$$

Taking the limit as $\delta \rightarrow 0$, we get

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} \delta \mathbb{E} N_{\delta}(T)^{2} = \lim_{\delta \to 0} 2 \int_{0}^{T} \mathcal{L}^{-1} \left[\frac{\delta \hat{H}_{\delta}(\lambda)}{\left(1 - \hat{H}_{\delta}(\lambda)\right)^{2}} \right] (\mathrm{d}t)$$
$$= \frac{\pi}{4} \int_{0}^{T} \mathcal{L}^{-1} \left[\left(\frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{\lambda}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{\lambda+1}{2}\right)} \right)^{2} \right] (\mathrm{d}t)$$
$$= \frac{T^{2}}{2} + (2\log 2) T$$

Putting everything together, we get

$$\mathbb{E}\left(\left(D_{p}(Z^{1})_{T}\right)^{2p}\right) = \lim_{\delta \to 0} \left(\sqrt{\delta}\mathbb{E}N_{\delta}(T)\mathbb{E}\frac{|W_{\tau_{\delta}}|^{2p}}{\sqrt{\delta}} + \delta\mathbb{E}N_{\delta}(T)^{2}\left(\mathbb{E}\frac{|W_{\tau_{\delta}}|^{p}}{\sqrt{\delta}}\right)^{2}\right)$$
$$= \frac{T}{\sqrt{2}}a_{2p}K_{p} + \left(\frac{T^{2}}{2} + (2\log 2)T\right)\left(a_{p}K_{\frac{p}{2}}\right)^{2}$$
$$= Tc_{2p} + \left(T^{2} + (4\log 2)T\right)\left(c_{p}\right)^{2}$$
$$= T^{2}\left(c_{p}\right)^{2} + T\left(c_{2p} + (4\log 2)\left(c_{p}\right)^{2}\right),$$

where a_p and c_p are defined in (24) and K_p is defined in (18). Finally, we get

$$\mathbb{E} \left(\hat{\sigma}^p - \sigma^p\right)^2 = \sigma^{2p} \left(\frac{\varepsilon^4}{T^2 c_p^2} \left(\frac{T^2}{\varepsilon^4} \left(c_p \right)^2 + \frac{T}{\varepsilon^2} \left(c_{2p} + (4\log 2) \left(c_p \right)^2 \right) \right) - 1 \right)$$
$$= \sigma^{2p} \frac{\varepsilon^2}{T} \left(\frac{c_{2p}}{c_p^2} + 4\log \left(2 \right) \right) = \sigma^{2p} \frac{\varepsilon^2}{T} E(p), \tag{28}$$

where $E(p) = \frac{c_{2p}}{c_p^2} + 4\log(2)$. This is an increasing function for $p \in [1, 2]$ and

$$4\log 2 =: E(1) \le E(p) \le E(2) := 10\log 2, \ \forall p \in [1, 2].$$

We summarize our conclusions in the following:

Theorem 8. The L_2 -error of the estimator $\hat{\sigma}^p$ defined in (16) is described by (28). At scale $\mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{\alpha})$, the error is of order $\mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^{\frac{2-\alpha}{2}})$.

We see that the performance of the estimators $\hat{\sigma}^p$ is the same for all p > 1 and they outperform the $\hat{\sigma}^2_{\delta}$ estimator defined in (7). In terms of the constant E(p), the smaller the p, the smaller the error. However, there is a problem: except for scale $\mathcal{O}(1)$ ($\alpha = 0$), the normalizing constant C_p depends on ε , which will in general be unknown. We go on to define a new estimator that does not assume knowledge of ε .



Fig. 1 The total 2-variation estimates for $\sigma = 2$, $\alpha = 0$, $\varepsilon = .1$ (*left*) and .01 (*right*) and $\delta = \varepsilon^3$

In Fig. 1, we plot the histogram of 1,000 realizations of the 2-variation estimate $\sqrt{\hat{\sigma}^2}$ for $\sigma = 2$ and $\alpha = 0$ or T = 1. We see that the estimator seems to be asymptotically normal, with a bias and asymptotic variance that decrease as ε gets smaller. For $\varepsilon = .1$, the mean is 2.2084 and the variance is 0.1256. For $\varepsilon = .01$, the mean is 2.0864 and the variance is 0.0012.

3.3 Estimating the Scale Separation Variable ε

Suppose that T < 1 and $T = \varepsilon^{\alpha}$ for some $\alpha > 0$. We define the new estimator $\tilde{\sigma}^{p}$ similar to $\hat{\sigma}^{p}$, and only use c_{p} rather than C_{p} as our normalization constant. Thus, we define

$$\tilde{\sigma}^p = \frac{1}{c_p} \left(D_p(Y^{1,\varepsilon})_T \right)^p, \tag{29}$$

where c_p is defined in (24). Then,

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{E} \left(\tilde{\sigma}^p - \sigma^p \right)^2 &= \mathbb{E} \left(\frac{\left(D_p(Y^{1,\varepsilon})_T \right)^p}{c_p} - \sigma^p \right)^2 \\ &= \frac{\varepsilon^{2p} \sigma^{2p}}{c_p^2} \mathbb{E} \left(\left(D_p(Z^1)_{\frac{T}{\varepsilon^2}} \right)^{2p} \right) - 2\sigma^p \frac{\varepsilon^p \sigma^p}{c_p} \mathbb{E} \left(\left(D_p(Z^1)_{\frac{T}{\varepsilon^2}} \right)^p \right) + \sigma^{2p} \end{split}$$

$$= \frac{\varepsilon^{2p} \sigma^{2p}}{c_p^2} \left(\frac{T^2}{\varepsilon^4} (c_p)^2 + \frac{T}{\varepsilon^2} (c_{2p} + (4\log 2) (c_p)^2) \right) - 2\sigma^p \frac{\varepsilon^p \sigma^p}{c_p} (c_p \frac{T}{\varepsilon^2}) + \sigma^{2p}$$

$$= \sigma^{2p} \left(\frac{T^2}{\varepsilon^{4-2p}} + \frac{T}{\varepsilon^{2-2p}} \left(\frac{c_{2p}}{(c_p)^2} + (4\log 2) \right) - 2 \left(\frac{T}{\varepsilon^{2-p}} \right) + 1 \right)$$
(30)

and by substituting T by ε^{α} , this becomes

$$\mathbb{E} \left(\hat{\sigma}^{p} - \sigma^{p} \right)^{2} = \sigma^{2p} \left(\varepsilon^{2p+2a-4} + \varepsilon^{2p+a-2} E(p) - 2\varepsilon^{p+a-2} + 1 \right).$$
(31)

Thus, we get the following behavior:

- (a) For $p > 2 \alpha$, the error is of order $\mathcal{O}(1)$.
- (b) For p = 2 − α, the error is well-behaved and of order O (ε^{2-α}/2).
 (c) For p < 2 − α and α < 2, the error explodes like O (ε^{2p+2a-4}).

We conclude that the optimal estimator is $\hat{\sigma}^2$, since it does not assume knowledge of ε and the estimators $\tilde{\sigma}^p$ do not outperform it even for $p = 2 - \alpha$ (except that the constant E(p) is smaller). However, the estimators $\tilde{\sigma}^p$ can be used to estimate the scale separation variable ε . We set



$$\hat{p} := \arg \min_{1$$

Fig. 2 Left: the estimator $(\tilde{\sigma}^p)^{\frac{1}{p}}$ for $\sigma = 2$, $\varepsilon = .01$ and $T = \varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2}}$. Right: the error $\hat{\varepsilon} - \varepsilon$ as a function of ε , for $\sigma = 2$ and $T = \varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2}}$

and

$$\hat{\alpha} := 2 - \hat{p}$$

Then, we estimate ε by

$$\hat{\varepsilon} := T^{\frac{1}{\hat{\alpha}}}.$$

We demonstrate the method with an example. Let $\sigma = 2$. In Fig. 2 (left), we plot the estimator $(\tilde{\sigma}^p)^{\frac{1}{p}}$ for $\varepsilon = .01$, $T = \varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2}}$ and $\delta = \varepsilon^2/10$. For this realization, we find $(\hat{\sigma}^2)^{\frac{1}{2}} = 2.1098$, so the estimator $(\tilde{\sigma}^p)^{\frac{1}{p}}$ performs best around p = 1.35, and the corresponding $\hat{\varepsilon}$ is 0.0274. In Fig. 2 (right), we plot the error $\hat{\varepsilon} - \varepsilon$, for different values of ε varying from .0001 to .01, and for $\sigma = 2$, $T = \varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2}}$ and $\delta = \varepsilon^2/10$. Clearly, the error decreases with ε .

Acknowledgements The author would like to acknowledge partial support from EPSRC grant EP/H019588/1 and the FP7-REGPOT-2009-1 project.

References

- 1. Azencott, R., Beri, A., Timofeyev, I.: Adaptive subsampling for parametric estimation of Gaussian Diffusions. J. Stat. Phys. **139**, 1066–1089 (2010)
- 2. Bishwal, J.P.N.: Parameter estimation in stochastic differential equations. Springer, Berlin (2008)
- Chen, X.: Limit theorems for functionals of ergodic Markov chains with general state space. Mem. Am. Math. Soc. 129, (1999)
- E, W., Liu, D., Vanden-Eijnden, E.: Analysis of multiscale methods for stochastic differential equations. Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 58, 1544–1585 (2005)
- E, W., Ren, W., Vanden-Eijnden, E.: A general strategy for designing seamless multiscale methods. J. Comput. Phys. 228, 5437–5453 (2009)
- 6. Ethier, S.N., Kurtz, T.G.: Markov processes. Wiley, New York (1986)
- 7. Florens-Zmirou, D.: Statistics on crossings of discretized diffusions and local time. Stoch. Process. Appl. 39, 139–151 (1991)
- 8. Freidlin, M.I., Wentzell, A.D.: Random perturbations of dynamical systems. Springer, New York (1998)
- Givon, D., Kupferman, R., Stuart, A.: Extracting macroscopic dynamics: model problems and algorithms. Nonlinearity 17, R55–R127 (2004)
- Graversen, S.E., Peskir, G.: Maximal inequalities for the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck process. Proc. Am. Math. Soc. 128, 3035–3041 (2000)
- Katsoulakis, M.A., Majda, A.J., Sopasakis, A.: Multiscale couplings in prototype hybrid deterministic/stochastic systems. I. Deterministic closures. Commun. Math. Sci. 2, 255–294 (2004)
- Katsoulakis, M.A., Majda, A.J., Sopasakis, A.: Multiscale couplings in prototype hybrid deterministic/stochastic systems. II. Stochastic closures. Commun. Math. Sci. 3, 453–478 (2005)
- 13. Kutoyants, Y.A.: Statistical inference for ergodic diffusion processes. Springer, London (2004)
- Li, J., Kevrekidis, P.G., Gear, C.W., Kevrekidis, I.G.: Deciding the nature of the coarse equation through microscopic simulations: the baby-bathwater scheme. SIAM Rev. 49, 469–487 (2007)
- 15. Lyons, T., Qian, Z.: System control and rough paths. Oxford University Press, Oxford (2002)
- Majda, A.J., Timofeyev, I., Vanden Eijnden, E.: A mathematical framework for stochastic climate models. Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 54, 891–974 (2001)

- 17. Majda, A.J., Timofeyev, I., Vanden Eijnden, E.: Stochastic models for selected slow variables in large deterministic systems. Nonlinearity **19**, 769–794 (2006)
- Papavasiliou, A., Pavliotis, G.A., Stuart, A.M.: Maximum likelihood drift estimation for multiscale diffusions. Stoch. Process. Appl. 119, 3173–3210 (2009)
- Pavliotis, G.A., Stuart, A.M.: Parameter estimation for multiscale diffusions. J. Stat. Phys. 127, 741–781 (2007)
- 20. Pavliotis, G.A., Stuart, A.M.: Multiscale Methods: averaging and Homogenization. Springer, New York (2008)
- Ricciardi, L.M., Sato, S.: First-passage-time density and moments of the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck process. J. Appl. Prob. 25, 43–57 (1988)

Numerical Solution of the Dirichlet Problem for Linear Parabolic SPDEs Based on Averaging over Characteristics

Vasile N. Stanciulescu and Michael V. Tretyakov

Abstract Numerical methods for the Dirichlet problem for linear parabolic stochastic partial differential equations are constructed. The methods are based on the averaging-over-characteristic formula and the weak-sense numerical integration of ordinary stochastic differential equations in bounded domains. Their orders of convergence in the mean-square sense and in the sense of almost sure convergence are obtained. The Monte Carlo technique is used for practical realization of the methods. Results of some numerical experiments are presented.

Keywords Mean-square and almost sure convergence · Monte Carlo technique · Numerical integration of stochastic differential equations in bounded domains · Probabilistic representations of solutions of stochastic partial differential equations · The first boundary value problem

MSC (2010): 65C30, 60H15, 60H35, 60G35

1 Introduction

A great deal of attention has recently been paid to numerical methods for stochastic partial differential equations (SPDEs; a comprehensive list of references on this topic is available in, e.g., [27]). There are a number of approaches used to derive approximations for parabolic SPDEs. Of course, SPDEs themselves differ in their nature (see, e.g., [8, 14, 51]): linear and nonlinear; with various boundary conditions; different types of noise; and various interpretations of their solutions. This variety results in different regularity properties of the solutions, which (together with the aims of a particular application) usually affect the choice of an approximation technique used and norms for estimating errors of numerical methods. The most

Department of Mathematics, University of Leicester, University Road, Leicester LE1 7RH, United Kingdom

e-mail: M.Tretyakov@le.ac.uk

V.N. Stanciulescu and M.V. Tretyakov (🖂)

D. Crisan (ed.), *Stochastic Analysis 2010*, DOI 10.1007/978-3-642-15358-7_9, © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2011

common approach to construct a numerical method for SPDEs is, to large extent, similar to the one used for approximating deterministic partial differential equations (PDEs). First, one discretizes an SPDE in space using spatial finite differences (see, e.g., [1, 24, 52, 54] and the references therein), finite element methods (see, e.g., [1, 21, 53] and the references therein) or spectral methods (see, e.g., [9, 23, 27]). The result of such a space discretization is a large (obviously growing with refining the space discretization) stiff system of ordinary stochastic differential equations (SDEs) which is then numerically solved by appropriate numerical schemes. In [5, 15], first an SPDE is discretized in time and then to this semi-discretization a finite-element or finite-difference method can be applied. The other numerical approaches include those making use of the Wiener chaos expansion (see, e.g., [26, 39]), splitting techniques (see, e.g., [2, 25, 32]), and quantization [22]. In [45], layer methods based on probabilistic representations are proposed for linear and semilinear parabolic SPDEs. Numerical methods of all these types are applicable to low dimensional SPDEs (say, of spatial dimension $d \leq 3$).

For problems of mathematical physics associated with multi-dimensional (deterministic) linear PDEs, the Monte Carlo technique is the well-established numerical tool (see, e.g., [43] and references therein). In the case of the Cauchy problem for linear SPDEs, the method of characteristics (the averaging over the characteristic formula) and the weak-sense numerical integration of SDEs together with the Monte Carlo technique were used to propose numerical methods in [45] (see also [10, 31, 44, 46, 50]). The closely related approach is branching interacting particle systems methods (see, e.g., [11, 12]).

In this paper, we carry over the approach of [45] to numerically solve the *Dirichlet* problem for linear SPDEs (see (1)–(3) below) exploiting ideas of the simplest random walks for the deterministic Dirichlet problem for PDEs from [42] (see also [43, Chap. 6]). We note that using the weak-sense numerical integration of SDEs with reflection [41,43] the approach of [45] can also be exploited for the Neumann problem for SPDEs.

Let G be a bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^d , $Q = [T_0, T) \times G$ be a cylinder in \mathbb{R}^{d+1} , and $\Gamma = \overline{Q} \setminus Q$ be the part of the cylinder's boundary consisting of the upper base and lateral surface. Let (Ω, \mathcal{F}, P) be a complete probability space, \mathcal{F}_t , $T_0 \leq t \leq T$, be a filtration satisfying the usual hypotheses, and $(w(t), \mathcal{F}_t) = ((w_1(t), \dots, w_r(t))^\top, \mathcal{F}_t)$ be an *r*-dimensional standard Wiener process. We consider the Dirichlet problem for the backward SPDE:

$$-dv = [\mathcal{L}v + f(t, x)] dt + [\beta^{\top}(t, x)v(t, x) + \gamma^{\top}(t, x)] * dw(t), \quad (t, x) \in Q,$$
(1)

$$v \mid_{\Gamma} = \varphi(t, x), \tag{2}$$

where

$$\mathcal{L}v(t,x) = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i,j=1}^{d} a^{ij}(t,x) \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x^i \partial x^j} v(t,x) + b^{\top}(t,x) \nabla v(t,x) + c(t,x)v(t,x),$$
(3)

 $a(t, x) = \{a^{ij}(t, x)\}$ is a $d \times d$ -matrix; b(t, x) is a d-dimensional column-vector composed of the coefficients $b^i(t, x)$; c(t, x) and f(t, x) are scalar functions; $\beta(t, x)$ and $\gamma(t, x)$ are r-dimensional column-vectors composed of the coefficients $\beta^i(t, x)$ and $\gamma^i(t, x)$, respectively. The notation "*dw" in (1) means backward Ito integral [29, 47, 51] (see also Sect. 2).

The form of (1) is convenient for the probabilistic approach: the "initial" condition is prescribed at the final time moment t = T, and the equation is considered for t < T. As a result, stochastic characteristics for (1)–(2) are written in forward time (see Sect. 2). At the same time, we remark that by changing the time $s := T - (t - T_0)$ one can re-write the backward SPDE problem (1)–(2) in the one with forward direction of time [51] (see also Remark 2.1 in [45]), and for a given forward SPDE, one can write down the corresponding backward SPDE. Consequently, the methods for backward SPDEs considered in this paper can be used for solving forward SPDEs as well.

Linear SPDEs have a number of applications (see, e.g., [8,51] and the references therein), the most popular among them is the nonlinear filtering problem (see, e.g., [30, 33, 47, 51]). The backward Zakai equation with Dirichlet boundary condition has the form of (1)–(2) with c = 0, f = 0, $\gamma = 0$. It arises in the nonlinear filtering problem when the unobservable signal is modelled by killed diffusions (see [37, 48] and also the related works [9, 35, 49]).

The rest of the paper is organized as follows. Section 2 contains auxiliary knowledge including the assumptions imposed on the problem, which are used in our proofs, and a probabilistic representation of the solution v(t, x), which involves averaging characteristics over an auxiliary Wiener process W(t) independent of w(t). In Sect. 3, we construct numerical methods for (1)–(2) by approximating the stochastic characteristics for a fixed trajectory w(t). We note that the stochastic characteristics belong to the bounded domain Q, and hence the approximate characteristics should possess this property as well. To this end, we exploit ideas of the simplest random walks for the deterministic Dirichlet problem from [42] (see also [43, Chap. 6]) and propose first-order and order 1/2 (in the mean-square sense) numerical methods for (1)-(2). To realize the proposed methods in practice, the Monte Carlo technique can be used. The corresponding convergence theorems (both in the mean-square sense and in the sense of almost sure convergence) are stated in Sect. 3 and proved in Sect. 4. The theorems are proved under rather strong assumptions, in particular, that the problem (1)–(2) has a sufficiently smooth in x^i classical solution, which allow us to obtain convergence of the proposed methods in a strong norm and with optimal orders. These assumptions are not necessary and the numerical algorithms of this paper can be used under broader conditions. Results of some numerical experiments are presented in Sect. 5.

2 Preliminaries

In this section, we state the assumptions imposed on the problem (1)–(2) and write a probabilistic representation for its solution v(t, x).

Let us first recall the definition of a backward Ito integral [51]. Introduce the "backward" Wiener processes

$$\tilde{w}(t) := w(T) - w(T - (t - T_0)), \ T_0 \le t \le T,$$
(4)

and a decreasing family of σ -subalgebras \mathcal{F}_T^t , $T_0 \leq t \leq T$ induced by the increments w(T) - w(t'), $t' \geq t$. A σ -algebra induced by $\tilde{w}(t')$, $t' \leq t$ coincides with $\mathcal{F}_T^{T-(t-T_0)}$. Then, the backward Ito integral is defined as the Ito integral with respect to $\tilde{w}(s)$:

$$\int_{t}^{t'} \psi(t'') * \mathrm{d}w(t'') := \int_{T-(t'-T_0)}^{T-(t-T_0)} \psi(T-(t''-T_0)) \mathrm{d}\tilde{w}(t''), \ T_0 \le t \le t' \le T,$$

where $\psi(T - (t - T_0)), t \leq T$, is an $\mathcal{F}_T^{T-(t-T_0)}$ -adapted square-integrable function. The solution v(t, x) of the problem (1)–(2) is \mathcal{F}_T^t -adapted, it depends on w(s)-w(t), $t \leq s \leq T$. The more precise notation for the solution of (1)–(2) is $v(t, x; \omega)$, $\omega \in \Omega$, but we use the shorter one v(t, x).

We impose the following conditions on the problem (1)-(2).

Assumption 2.1. (smoothness) We assume that the coefficients $a^{ij}(t, x)$, $b^i(t, x)$, c(t, x), f(t, x), $\beta^i(t, x)$, and $\gamma^i(t, x)$ in (1)–(3) are sufficiently smooth in \overline{Q} , $\varphi(t, x)$ is sufficiently smooth on Γ , and the domain G has a sufficiently smooth boundary ∂G .

Assumption 2.2. (ellipticity) We assume that $a = \{a^{ij}\}$ is symmetric and positive definite in \overline{Q} .

Assumption 2.3. (classical solution) We assume that the problem (1)–(2) has the classical solution v(t, x), which has spatial derivatives up to a sufficiently high order for all $(t, x) \in \overline{Q}$; and the solution and its spatial derivatives are such that for some p > 1 they satisfy an inequality of the form

$$E\left(\max_{(t,x)\in\bar{\mathcal{Q}}}|v(t,x)|\right)^p\leq K,$$

where K > 0 is a constant.

We note that Assumptions 2.1–2.2 together with some compatibility conditions ensure the existence of the classical solution with the properties described in Assumption 2.3 (see [3,4,17,18,48] and also [6,14,28,34,38,49,51]). Such *compatibility conditions* consist, e.g., in requiring that $\gamma(t, x)$ and its partial derivatives up to a sufficiently high order equal to zero for $(t, x) \in [T_0, T] \times \partial G$; the function $\beta(t, x)$ agrees with $\varphi(t, x)$ so that the function $\Phi(t, x)$ defined by

$$\begin{split} \Phi(t,x) &:= \varphi(t,x) \exp(-\eta(t;x)), \\ \eta(t;x) &= \int_t^T \beta^\top(s,x) * \mathrm{d} w(s) = \int_t^T \beta^\top(s,x) \mathrm{d} w(s), \end{split}$$

and its spatial derivatives up to a sufficiently high order are deterministic for $(t, x) \in [T_0, T] \times \partial G$ (e.g., $\Phi(t, x)$ is deterministic for $(t, x) \in [T_0, T] \times \partial G$, when $\varphi(t, x) = 0$ or $\beta(t, x) = 0$ for $(t, x) \in [T_0, T] \times \partial G$); and the function f(t, x) agrees with $\varphi(t, x)$ so that

$$-\frac{\partial\varphi}{\partial t}(T,x) = \mathcal{L}\varphi(T,x) + f(T,x), \ x \in \partial G.$$

To demonstrate that Assumptions 2.1-2.2 together with these compatibility conditions imply the existence of a smooth classical solution, one can exploit the method of robust equation [7, 47, 51], i.e., by deriving the Dirichlet problem for the backward pathwise PDE with random coefficients corresponding to the SPDE (1)-(2). Indeed, the transform

$$v(t, x) = e^{\eta(t;x)}u(t, x) + e^{\eta(t;x)}\varsigma(t; x),$$

$$\varsigma(t; x) = \int_{t}^{T} \gamma^{\top}(s, x)e^{-\eta(s;x)} * dw(s)$$

$$= e^{-\eta(t;x)} \int_{t}^{T} \gamma^{\top}(s, x) \exp\left(\int_{t}^{s} \beta^{\top}(s', x)dw(s')\right) dw(s)$$

$$+ \int_{t}^{T} \gamma^{\top}(s, x)\beta(s, x)e^{-\eta(s;x)} ds,$$
(5)

relates the solution v(t, x) of the Dirichlet problem for the SPDE (1)–(2) with the solution u(t, x) of the corresponding Dirichlet problem for the backward pathwise PDE. Existence of a smooth classical solution of this PDE problem follows from standard results on deterministic parabolic PDEs [20, 36], which together with the transform (5) implies the existence of a smooth classical solution of the SPDE problem (1)–(2).

Assumptions 2.1–2.3 are sufficient for the statements in this paper. At the same time, they are not necessary and the numerical methods presented here can be used under broader conditions. These rather strong assumptions allow us to prove convergence of the proposed methods in a strong norm and with optimal orders. Weakening the conditions (especially, substituting the compatibility assumptions by using weighted spaces [28, 34, 38]) requires further study.

The probabilistic representation (or in other words, the averaging-over-characteristic formula) for the solution of the problem (1)–(2) given below is analogous to the ones in [18] and also to the representations for solutions of the Cauchy problem for linear SPDEs from [29, 30, 45, 47, 51].

Let a $d \times d$ -matrix $\sigma(t, x)$ be obtained from the equation

$$\sigma(t, x)\sigma^{\top}(t, x) = a(t, x).$$

The solution of the problem (1)-(2) has the following probabilistic representation:

$$v(t,x) = E^{w} \left[\varphi(\tau, X_{t,x}(\tau)) Y_{t,x,1}(\tau) + Z_{t,x,1,0}(\tau) \right], \ T_{0} \le t \le T,$$
(6)

where $X_{t,x}(s)$, $Y_{t,x,y}(s)$, $Z_{t,x,y,z}(s)$, $t \le s \le T$, $(t,x) \in Q$, is the solution of the SDEs

$$dX = b(s, X)ds + \sigma(s, X)dW(s), \quad X(t) = x,$$
(7)

$$dY = c(s, X)Yds + \beta^{\top}(s, X)Ydw(s), \quad Y(t) = y,$$
(8)

$$dZ = f(s, X)Yds + \gamma^{\top}(s, X)Ydw(s), \ Z(t) = z,$$
(9)

 $W(s) = (W_1(s), \ldots, W_d(s))^{\top}$ is a *d*-dimensional standard Wiener process independent of w(s) and $\tau = \tau_{t,x}$ is the first exit time of the trajectory $(s, X_{t,x}(s))$ to the boundary Γ . The expectation E^w in (6) is taken over the realizations of W(s), $t \leq s \leq T$, for a fixed $w(s), t \leq s \leq T$; in other words, $E^w(\cdot)$ means the conditional expectation $E(\cdot|w(s) - w(t), t \leq s \leq T)$. We note that the exit time $\tau_{t,x}$ does not depend on $w(\cdot)$.

To verify that (6)–(9) is a probabilistic representation for the solution v(t, x) of (1)–(2), we can proceed, for instance, as follows. First, using the standard results of, e.g., [16, 19], we write down a probabilistic representation for the solution u(t, x) of the discussed above pathwise PDE problem related to the SPDE problem (1)–(2). Then, using the relation (5), we transform this probabilistic representation for u(t, x) into the one for v(t, x) and arrive at (6)–(9).

3 Numerical Methods

To construct numerical methods for the Dirichlet problem for the SPDE (1)-(2), we use ideas of the simplest random walks for the deterministic Dirichlet problem from [42] (see also [43, Chap. 6]) together with the approach to solving SPDEs via averaging over characteristics developed in [45] (see also [44, 46]).

We propose three algorithms: two of them (Algorithms 1A and 1B) are of mean-square order one and Algorithm 2 is of mean-square order 1/2.

Difficulties arising in the realization of the probabilistic representation for solving deterministic Dirichlet problems were discussed in [40, 42, 43]. They are inherited in the case of the Dirichlet problem for SPDEs. For instance, the difference $\tau - t$ in (6) can take arbitrary small values and, consequently, it is impossible to integrate numerically the system (7) with a fixed time step. In particular, we cannot use mean-square Euler approximations for simulating (7). Thanks to the fact that in (6) we average realizations of the solution X(t) of (7), we can exploit simple weak approximations \bar{X} of X imposing on them some restrictions related to nonexit of \bar{X} from the domain \bar{Q} as in the case of deterministic PDEs [40, 42, 43]. Namely, we will require that Markov chains approximating in the weak sense the solution of (7) remains in the domain \bar{Q} with probability one.

In all the algorithms considered here, we apply the weak explicit Euler approximation with the simplest simulation of noise to (7):

$$X_{t,x}(s+h) \approx \bar{X} = x + hb(s,x) + h^{1/2}\sigma(s,x)\xi,$$
 (10)

where h > 0 is a time step, $\xi = (\xi^1, \dots, \xi^d)^{\top}$, ξ^i , $i = 1, \dots, d$ are i.i.d. random variables taking the values ± 1 with probability 1/2. As we will see, this approximation of X is used "inside" the space domain G.

Let us now introduce the boundary zone $S_{t,h} \subset \overline{G}$ for the time layer t while $\overline{G} \setminus S_{t,h}$ will become the corresponding "inside" part of G. Clearly, the random vector \overline{X} in (10) takes 2^d different values. Introduce the set of points close to the boundary (a boundary zone) $S_{t,h} \subset \overline{G}$ on the time layer t: we say that $x \in S_{t,h}$ if at least one of the 2^d values of the vector \overline{X} is outside \overline{G} . It is not difficult to see that due to compactness of \overline{Q} there is a constant $\lambda > 0$ such that if the distance from $x \in G$ to the boundary ∂G is equal to or greater than $\lambda \sqrt{h}$, then x is outside the boundary zone and, therefore, for such x, all the realizations of the random variable \overline{X} belong to \overline{G} .

Since restrictions connected with nonexit from the domain *G* should be imposed on an approximation of (7), the formula (10) can be used only for the points $x \in \overline{G} \setminus S_{t,h}$ on the layer *t*, and a special construction is required for points from the boundary zone. In Algorithms 1, we use a construction based on linear interpolation while in Algorithm 2 we just stop the Markov chain as soon as it reaches the boundary zone $S_{t,h}$. In the deterministic case, these constructions were exploited in [42,43].

Below we also use the following notation. Let $x \in S_{t,h}$. Denote by $x^{\pi} \in \partial G$ the projection of the point x on the boundary of the domain G (the projection is unique because h is sufficiently small and ∂G is smooth) and by $n(x^{\pi})$ the unit vector of internal normal to ∂G at x^{π} .

3.1 First-Order Methods

To define our approximation of X(t) in the boundary zone, we introduce the random vector $X_{x,h}^{\pi}$ taking two values x^{π} and $x + h^{1/2}\lambda n(x^{\pi})$, $x \in S_{t,h}$, with probabilities $p = p_{x,h}$ and $q = q_{x,h} = 1 - p_{x,h}$, respectively, where

$$p_{x,h} = \frac{h^{1/2}\lambda}{|x+h^{1/2}\lambda n(x^{\pi})-x^{\pi}|}.$$

It is not difficult to check that if v(x) is a twice continuously differentiable function with the domain of definition \overline{G} , then an approximation of v(x) by the expectation $Ev(X_{x,h}^{\pi})$ corresponds to linear interpolation and

$$v(x) = Ev(X_{x,h}^{\pi}) + O(h) = pv(x^{\pi}) + qv(x + h^{1/2}\lambda n(x^{\pi})) + O(h).$$
(11)

We emphasize that the second value $x + h^{1/2}\lambda n(x^{\pi})$ does not belong to the boundary zone. We also note that p is always greater than 1/2 (since the distance from x to ∂G is less than $h^{1/2}\lambda$) and that if $x \in \partial G$, then p = 1 (since in this case $x^{\pi} = x$).

Further, we apply the partly weak, partly mean-square explicit Euler approximation (cf. [45]) to the rest of the probabilistic representation, i.e., to (8)–(9), and obtain

$$Y_{t,x,y}(s+h) \approx \bar{Y} = y + hc(s,x) y + \beta^{\top}(s,x)y\Delta w(s) + \frac{1}{2}y\sum_{i=1}^{r} \left[\beta^{i}(s,x)\right]^{2} \left(\left[\Delta w_{i}(s)\right]^{2} - h\right) + y\sum_{i=1}^{r}\sum_{j=i+1}^{r}\beta^{i}(s,x)\beta^{j}(s,x)\Delta w_{i}(s)\Delta w_{j}(s), \quad (12) Z_{t,x,y,z}(t+h) \approx \bar{Z} = z + hf(s,x) y + \gamma^{\top}(s,x)y\Delta w(s) + y\sum_{i=1}^{r}\gamma^{i}(s,x)\beta^{j}(s,x)I_{ij}(s), \quad (13)$$

$$i,j=1$$

where ξ is as in (10), $\Delta w(s) = w(s + h) - w(s)$, and $I_{ij}(s)$ are the Ito integrals

$$I_{ij}(s) = \int_{s}^{s+h} \left(w_j(s') - w_j(s) \right) \mathrm{d}w_i(s').$$
(14)

Let us observe that in the approximation (10), (12)-(13) we approximate the part of the system (7)-(9) related to the auxiliary Wiener process W(t) in the weak sense and the part of the system related to the Wiener process w(t), which drives our SPDE (1), in the mean-square sense. We also recall that X and w are independent.

Remark 1. We note that unless the commutativity condition $\beta^i \gamma^j = \beta^j \gamma^i$ holds we face the difficulty in simulating \overline{Z} from (13) efficiently due to the presence of the integral $I_{ij}(s)$ (see various approaches to its approximation in, e.g., [43] and also [13]). As is well known, to realize (13) in the commutative noise situation, it suffices to simulate the Wiener increments $\Delta w_i(s)$ only. We also note that in the important case of $\gamma \equiv 0$ (e.g., it is so in the Zakai equation [33, 48, 51]) the term with $I_{ij}(s)$ in (13) is cancelled.

Now, we are ready to propose an algorithm for solving the SPDE problem (1)–(2). Let a point $(t_0, x_0) \in Q$. We would like to find the value $v(t_0, x_0)$. Introduce a discretization of the interval $[t_0, T]$, for definiteness the equidistant one:

$$t_0 < t_1 < \cdots < t_N = T, \ h := (T - t_0)/N.$$

Let ξ_k , k = 1, 2, ..., be i.i.d. random variables with the same law as defined for the ξ in (10). We formulate the algorithm as follows.

Algorithm 1A

STEP 0. $X'_0 = x_0$, $Y_0 = 1$, $Z_0 = 0$, k = 0. STEP 1. If $X'_k \notin S_{t_k,h}$ then $X_k = X'_k$ and go to STEP 3. If $X'_k \in S_{t_k,h}$ then either $X_k = X_k^{\prime \pi}$ with probability $p_{X'_k,h}$ or $X_k = X'_k + h^{1/2} \lambda n(X'^{\pi}_k)$ with probability $q_{X'_k,h}$.

- STEP 2. If $X_k = X_k^{\prime \pi}$ then STOP and x = k, $X_x = X_k^{\prime \pi}$, $Y_x = Y_k$, $Z_x = Z_k$. STEP 3. Simulate ξ_{k+1} and find X_{k+1}^{\prime} , Y_{k+1} , Z_{k+1} due to (10), (12)–(13) for
- s = t_k , $x = X_k$, $y = Y_k$, $z = Z_k$, $\xi = \xi_{k+1}$, $\Delta w(s) = \Delta w(t_k)$. STEP 4. If k + 1 = N, STOP and $\varkappa = N$, $X_{\varkappa} = X'_N$, $Y_{\varkappa} = Y_N$, $Z_{\varkappa} = Z_N$, otherwise k := k + 1 and return to STEP 1.

Having obtained the end points of the chain $(t_{\varkappa}, X_{\varkappa}, Y_{\varkappa}, Z_{\varkappa})$ with $(t_{\varkappa}, X_{\varkappa}) \in \Gamma$, we get the approximation of the solution to the SPDE problem (1)–(2):

$$v(t_0, x_0) \approx \bar{v}(t_0, x_0) = E^w \left[\varphi(t_x, X_x) Y_x + Z_x \right], \tag{15}$$

where the approximate equality corresponds to the numerical integration error (see Theorems 1 and 2 below). We note that in the case of the deterministic Dirichlet problem (i.e., when $\beta = 0$ and $\gamma = 0$) Algorithm 1A coincides with Algorithm 6.2.1 in [43, p. 355].

To realize the approximation (15) in practice, one can use the Monte Carlo technique:

$$\bar{v}(t_0, x_0) \approx \hat{v}(t_0, x_0) = \frac{1}{M} \sum_{m=1}^{M} \left[\varphi(t_x^{(m)}, X_x^{(m)}) Y_x^{(m)} + Z_x^{(m)} \right], \quad (16)$$

where $(t_{\chi}^{(m)}, X_{\chi}^{(m)}, Y_{\chi}^{(m)}, Z_{\chi}^{(m)})$ are independent realizations of $(t_{\chi}, X_{\chi}, Y_{\chi}, Z_{\chi})$, each obtained by Algorithm 1A. The approximate equality in (16) corresponds to the Monte Carlo (or in other words, statistical) error.

As it was noted, e.g., in [44, Remark 3.4], it can be computationally more efficient to approximate (8) as

$$Y_{t,x,y}(s+h) \approx \bar{Y} = y \exp\left(c(s,x)h - \beta^{\top}(s,x)\beta(s,x)h/2 + \beta^{\top}(s,x)\Delta w(s)\right)$$
(17)

rather than by (12) since, in particular, in comparison with (12) the approximation (17) preserves the property of positivity of Y.

By Algorithm 1B, we denote the algorithm which coincides with Algorithm 1A but uses (17) to approximate the component Y(t) instead of (12). The approximation of the solution to the SPDE problem (1)-(2) in the case of Algorithm 1B has the same form (15) as for Algorithm 1A but with the new Y_{\varkappa} and Z_{\varkappa} (note that simulation of Z_k depends on simulation of Y_k).

The following two convergence theorems hold for both Algorithms 1A and 1B.

Theorem 1. Algorithms 1A and 1B satisfy the inequality for $p \ge 1$:

$$\left(E \left|\bar{v}(t_0, x_0) - v(t_0, x_0)\right|^{2p}\right)^{1/2p} \le Kh,\tag{18}$$

where K > 0 does not depend on the time step h, i.e., in particular, these algorithms are of mean-square order one.

A proof of this theorem is given in Sect. 4. Theorem 1 together with the Markov inequality and Borel–Cantelli lemma (see the details of the corresponding recipe in, e.g., [44, 45]) implies the a.s. convergence as stated in the next theorem.

Theorem 2. For almost every trajectory $w(\cdot)$ and any $\varepsilon > 0$, there exists $C(\omega) > 0$ such that

$$|\bar{v}(t_0, x_0) - v(t_0, x_0)| \le C(\omega)h^{1-\varepsilon},$$
(19)

where the random variable C does not depend on the time step h, i.e., both Algorithm 1A and 1B converge with order $1 - \varepsilon$ a.s.

Remark 2. It might be useful to choose both h and λ adaptively, depending on the chain's state: h_k and λ_k . Then, in Theorems 1 and 2, one should put $h = \max_{0 \le k < N} h_k$. In practice, one can take $\lambda_k = |\sigma(t_k, X_k)|$, possibly with small corrections.

3.2 Method of Order 1/2

The next algorithm (Algorithm 2) is obtained by a simplification of Algorithm 1A. In Algorithm 2, as soon as X_k gets into the boundary domain $S_{t_k,h}$, the random walk terminates, i.e., $\varkappa = k$, and $\bar{X}_{\varkappa} = X_k^{\pi}$, $Y_{\varkappa} = Y_k$, $Z_{\varkappa} = Z_k$ is taken as the final state of the Markov chain. Since this algorithm obviously cannot be of mean-square order higher than 1/2 (it is already of the order 1/2 in the case of deterministic PDEs [42,43]), we also simplify the approximations (12)–(13). Namely, instead of (12)–(13), we use the approximations

$$Y_{t,x,y}(s+h) \approx \bar{Y} = y + hc(s,x) y + \beta^{\top}(s,x)y \Delta w(s), \qquad (20)$$

$$Z_{t,x,y,z}(t+h) \approx \bar{Z} = z + hf(s,x) y + \gamma^{\top}(s,x)y \Delta w(s).$$
⁽²¹⁾

Let us write this algorithm formally.

Algorithm 2

- STEP 0. $X_0 = x_0$, $Y_0 = 1$, $Z_0 = 0$, k = 0.
- STEP 1. If $X_k \notin S_{t_k,h}$ then go to STEP 2.

If $X_k \in S_{t_k,h}^{\pi}$ then STOP and $\varkappa = k$, $\overline{X}_{\varkappa} = X_k^{\pi}$, $Y_{\varkappa} = Y_k$, $Z_{\varkappa} = Z_k$.

- STEP 2. Simulate ξ_{k+1} and find X_{k+1} , Y_{k+1} , Z_{k+1} due to (10), (20)–(21) for $s = t_k, x = X_k, y = Y_k, z = Z_k, \xi = \xi_{k+1}, \Delta w(s) = \Delta w(t_k)$.
- STEP 3. If k + 1 = N, STOP and $\kappa = N$, $X_{\kappa} = X_N$, $Y_{\kappa} = Y_N$, $Z_{\kappa} = Z_N$, otherwise k := k + 1 and return to STEP 1.

We form the approximation of the solution to the SPDE problem (1)–(2) as (cf. (15)):

$$v(t_0, x_0) \approx \tilde{v}(t_0, x_0) = E^w [\varphi(t_x, X_x) Y_x + Z_x]$$
(22)

with $(t_{\alpha}, X_{\alpha}, Y_{\alpha}, Z_{\alpha})$ obtained by Algorithm 2. We note that in the deterministic case ($\beta = 0$ and $\gamma = 0$) Algorithm 2 coincides with Algorithm 6.2.6 in [43, p. 359]. We also remark that we can modify Algorithm 2 as we did with Algorithm 1A by using the approximation (17) of *Y* instead of (20). This modified algorithm will usually have better properties than Algorithm 2 using (20).

The following convergence theorem can be proved analogously to Theorems 1 and 2.

Theorem 3. Algorithm 2 satisfies the inequality for $p \ge 1$:

$$\left(E\left|\tilde{v}(t_0, x_0) - v(t_0, x_0)\right|^{2p}\right)^{1/2p} \le Kh^{1/2},\tag{23}$$

where K > 0 does not depend on the time step h, i.e., in particular, Algorithm 2 is of mean-square order 1/2.

For almost every trajectory $w(\cdot)$ and any $\varepsilon > 0$, there exists $C(\omega) > 0$ such that

$$|\tilde{v}(t_0, x_0) - v(t_0, x_0)| \le C(\omega) h^{1/2 - \varepsilon},$$
(24)

where the random variable C does not depend on the time step h, i.e., Algorithm 2 converges with order $1/2 - \varepsilon$ a.s.

4 Proof of the Convergence Theorem

In this section, we prove Theorem 1 for Algorithm 1B, its proof for Algorithm 1A is analogous. The proof makes use of some ideas from [42] (see also [43, Sect. 6.2]) and [44]. Note that in this section we shall use the letter K to denote various constants which are independent of k and h.

We extend the definition of the chain corresponding to Algorithm 1B for all k by the rule: if $k > \varkappa$, then $(t_k, X_k, Y_k, Z_k) = (t_\varkappa, X_\varkappa, Y_\varkappa, Z_\varkappa)$. We denote by v_{t_0, x_0} the number of those t_k at which X'_k gets into the set $S_{t_k,h}$.

Let us first provide some intuitive guidance to the proof. "Inside" the domain, i.e., when $X_k \notin S_{t_k,h}$, the Markov chain (t_k, X_k, Y_k, Z_k) is analogous to the one used in the case of the Cauchy problem for the linear SPDE (1), for which the first mean-square order of convergence was proved in [44] (see also [45, 46]). Then, it is reasonable to expect that the approximation "inside" the domain contributes O(h)to the global error of Algorithm 1B. Near the boundary, i.e., when $X_k \in S_{t_k,h}$, the local error is of order O(h) as it follows from the interpolation relation (11) while the number of steps v_{t_0,x_0} on which we should count contributions of this local error is such that its any moment is uniformly (with respect to the time step) bounded (see (25) below), i.e., roughly speaking, the local error O(h) is counted finite number of times to the global error. Consequently, we can expect that the total error "inside" the domain and the total error near the boundary should sum up to O(h).

We now proceed to the formal proof. We note that since we use here the probabilistic representation (6)–(9) in which the Wiener process w(t) driving the SPDE (1) does not enter the X component, the Markov chain X_k coincides with the corresponding Markov chain used in [43, p. 355] for the deterministic Dirichlet problem. As a result, we can exploit here some of the properties of this chain X_k established in [42,43]. The following lemma is proved in [43, p. 356].

Lemma 1. The inequalities

$$P\{v_{t_0,x_0} = n\} \le \frac{1}{2^{n-1}}, \quad P\{v_{t_0,x_0} > n\} \le \frac{1}{2^n}, \ n \in \mathbb{N},$$

hold.

This lemma implies that for any p

$$E v_{t_0, x_0}^p \le K,\tag{25}$$

where K does not depend on the time step
$$h$$
.

We will also need the following uniform estimate for Y_k .

Lemma 2. For any p > 1, the following inequality for Y_k from Algorithm 1B holds:

$$E\left(\max_{0\leq k\leq N}Y_k\right)^p\leq K,$$

where K does not depend on h.

Proof. (cf. [43, p. 358]) We have for $k \le \varkappa$

$$Y_k = M_k \exp\left(h \sum_{i=0}^{k-1} c(t_i, X_i)\right) \le M_k \exp(\bar{c}(t_k - t_0)),$$

where M_k is the corresponding positive martingale and $\overline{c} = \max_{\substack{(s,x)\in\overline{Q}\\ (s,x)\in\overline{Q}}} c(s,x)$. Note that $M_k = M_{\varkappa}$ for $k > \varkappa$ and the moments EM_N^p are finite. Then, the above inequality together with Doob's martingale inequality implies

$$E\left(\max_{0\leq k\leq N}Y_k\right)^p \leq \exp(\bar{c}(T-t_0)p)E\left(\max_{0\leq k\leq N}M_k\right)^p$$
$$\leq \exp(\bar{c}(T-t_0)p)\left[\frac{p}{1-p}\right]^p EM_N^p \leq K.$$

Now, we prove one-step error lemmas for Algorithm 1B. Introduce

$$r_{k} = v(t_{k}, X_{k}) Y_{k} + Z_{k} - v(t_{k}, X'_{k}) Y_{k} - Z_{k},$$

$$R_{k} = v(t_{k+1}, X'_{k+1}) Y_{k+1} + Z_{k+1} - v(t_{k}, X_{k}) Y_{k} - Z_{k},$$

$$k = 0, \dots, N - 1.$$

We recall that X'_k belongs to the layer $t = t_k$; the variable r_k can be nonzero in the case of $X'_k \in S_{t_k,h}$ only, i.e., r_k has the meaning of the local error in the boundary zone. If x > k, then $X_k \notin S_{t_k,h}$ and all the 2^d realizations of the random variable X'_{k+1} belong to \overline{G} ; if $x \le k$, then $t_k = t_{k+1} = t_x$, $X'_{k+1} = X_k = X_x$, $Y_{k+1} = Y_k = Y_x$, $Z_{k+1} = Z_k = Z_x$ and, consequently, $R_k = 0$. The variable R_k has the meaning of the local error "inside" the domain.

Lemma 3. The following relation for the local error in the boundary zone holds:

$$|E^{w}(r_{k} | X'_{k}, Y_{k}, Z_{k})| = \rho(t_{k}, X'_{k}, Y_{k})hI_{S_{t_{k},h}}(X'_{k}) \chi_{\varkappa \ge k},$$
(26)

where $I_{S_{t_k,h}}(x)$ and $\chi_{\varkappa \ge k}$ are the indicator functions and the random variable ρ is such that for p > 1:

$$E\left[\max_{\substack{0\le k\le N-1}}\rho(t_k, X'_k, Y_k)\right]^{2p} \le K$$
(27)

with K being independent of h and k.

Proof. We have

$$E^{w}(r_{k} \mid X'_{k}, Y_{k}, Z_{k}) = Y_{k} I_{S_{t_{k}, h}}(X'_{k}) \chi_{\varkappa \ge k} \left[E^{w}(v(t_{k}, X_{k}) \mid X'_{k}) - v(t_{k}, X'_{k}) \right]$$

and for $X'_k \in S_{t_k,h}$ and $\varkappa \ge k$

$$\rho(t_k, X'_k, Y_k) = Y_k \left| E^w(v(t_k, X_k) \mid X'_k) - v(t_k, X'_k) \right|$$

Due to the interpolation relation (11), we have

$$\begin{split} E^{w}(v(t_{k}, X_{k}) \mid X_{k}') &- v(t_{k}, X_{k}') \\ &= \frac{1}{2} p_{X_{k}',h} \left(X_{k}'^{\pi} - X_{k}' \right)^{\top} H(v)(t_{k}, X_{k}' + \theta_{1}(X_{k}'^{\pi} - X_{k}')) \left(X_{k}'^{\pi} - X_{k}' \right) \\ &+ \frac{h\lambda}{2} q_{X_{k}',h} n^{\top}(X_{k}'^{\pi}) H(v)(t_{k}, X_{k}' + \theta_{2} h^{1/2} \lambda n(X_{k}'^{\pi})) n(X_{k}'^{\pi}), \end{split}$$

where H(v) is the Hessian of v and θ_1 and θ_2 are some values in (0, 1). Using the assumed properties of the solution v and its spatial derivatives and recalling that $|X'^{\pi}_k - X'_k| \le \lambda h^{1/2}$, we get

V.N. Stanciulescu and M.V. Tretyakov

$$E\left[\max_{0 \le k \le N-1} |E^{w}(v(t_{k}, X_{k}) | X_{k}') - v(t_{k}, X_{k}')|\right]^{2p} \le K$$

with K being independent of h and k. Then, the Cauchy–Bunyakovskii inequality and Lemma 2 imply (26). \Box

Lemma 4. The following relation for the local error "inside" the domain holds:

$$E^{w}(R_{k} \mid X_{k}, Y_{k}, Z_{k}) = \chi_{\varkappa > k} Y_{k} \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{r} [h \Delta w_{i}(t_{k}) \alpha_{i}(t_{k+1}, X_{k}) + I_{0i}(t_{k}) \alpha_{0i}(t_{k+1}, X_{k})] + \sum_{i,j,l=1}^{r} I^{*}_{ijl}(t_{k}) \alpha^{*}_{ijl}(t_{k+1}, X_{k}) \right\} + \chi_{\varkappa > k} O(h^{2}), \quad (28)$$

where

$$I_{0i}(t_k) = \int_{t_k}^{t_{k+1}} (w_i(s) - w_i(t_k)) ds,$$

$$I_{ijl}^*(t_k) = \int_{t_k}^{t_{k+1}} \int_{t}^{t_{k+1}} [w_l(t_{k+1}) - w_l(s)] * dw_j(s) * dw_i(t),$$

 $\alpha_i(t_{k+1}, X_k)$, $\alpha_{0i}(t_{k+1}, X_k)$, and $\alpha_{ijl}^*(t_{k+1}, X_k)$ are combinations of the coefficients of (1) and their partial derivatives at (t_k, X_k) and the solution $v(t_{k+1}, X_k)$ and its spatial first and second derivatives; and $O(h^2)$ is a random variable such that for p > 1

$$E|O(h^2)|^{2p} \le Kh^{4p} \tag{29}$$

with K being independent of h and k.

Proof. The error $R_k = 0$ for $\varkappa \le k$. Let us analyze it in the case $\varkappa > k$. Introduce the notation $b_k = b(t_k, X_k)$, $\sigma_k = \sigma(t_k, X_k)$, and so on. We have

$$E^{w}(R_{k} | X_{k}, Y_{k}, Z_{k}) = E^{w}(v(t_{k+1}, X'_{k+1}) Y_{k+1} - v(t_{k}, X_{k}) Y_{k} + Z_{k+1} - Z_{k} | X_{k}, Y_{k}, Z_{k})$$

= $Y_{k}\{E^{w}[v(t_{k+1}, X'_{k+1}) | X_{k}] \times \exp\left(c_{k}h - \beta_{k}^{\top}\beta_{k}h/2 + \beta_{k}^{\top}\Delta w(t_{k})\right) + hf_{k} + \gamma_{k}^{\top}\Delta w(t_{k}) + \sum_{i,j=1}^{r} \gamma_{k}^{i}\beta_{k}^{j}I_{ij}(t_{k}) - v(t_{k}, X_{k})\}.$ (30)

Using the Taylor formula, we expand $v(t_{k+1}, X'_{k+1})$ at (t_{k+1}, X_k) and obtain

204

Numerical Solution of the Dirichlet Problem for Linear Parabolic SPDEs

$$E^{w}[v(t_{k+1}, X'_{k+1}) \mid X_{k}] = E^{w}(v(t_{k+1}, X_{k} + hb_{k} + h^{1/2}\sigma_{k}\xi_{k+1}) \mid X_{k})$$

$$= v(t_{k+1}, X_{k}) + hb_{k}^{\top}\nabla v(t_{k+1}, X_{k})$$

$$+ \frac{h}{2}\sum_{i,j=1}^{d} a_{k}^{ij}\frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial x^{i}\partial x^{j}}v(t_{k+1}, X_{k}) + O(h^{2}), \quad (31)$$

where $O(h^2)$ is as in (29). By the Taylor expansion, we also get

$$\exp\left(c_{k}h - \beta_{k}^{\top}\beta_{k}h/2 + \beta_{k}^{\top}\Delta w(t_{k})\right) = 1 + \beta_{k}^{\top}\Delta w(t_{k}) + c_{k}h \\ + \frac{1}{2}\sum_{i=1}^{r} \left[\beta_{k}^{i}\right]^{2} \left([\Delta w_{i}(t_{k})]^{2} - h\right) + \sum_{i=1}^{r}\sum_{j=i+1}^{r}\beta_{k}^{i}\beta_{k}^{j}\Delta w_{i}(t_{k})\Delta w_{j}(t_{k}) \quad (32) \\ + h(c_{k} - \beta_{k}^{\top}\beta_{k}/2)\beta_{k}^{\top}\Delta w(t_{k}) + \frac{1}{6} \left[\beta_{k}^{\top}\Delta w(t_{k})\right]^{3} + O(h^{2}).$$

Now, we consider the last term in (30), $v(t_k, X_k)$, which we expand around (t_{k+1}, X_k) by iterative application of (1). Due to (1), we have

$$v(t_k, X_k) = v(t_{k+1}, X_k) + \int_{t_k}^{t_{k+1}} \left[(\mathcal{L}v)(t, X_k) + f(t, X_k) \right] dt \qquad (33)$$
$$+ \int_{t_k}^{t_{k+1}} \left[\beta^{\top}(t, X_k) v(t, X_k) + \gamma^{\top}(t, X_k) \right] * dw(t).$$

Clearly,

$$\int_{t_k}^{t_{k+1}} f(t, X_k) dt = hf_k + O(h^2),$$

$$\int_{t_k}^{t_{k+1}} \gamma^\top(t, X_k) * dw(t) = \gamma_k^\top \Delta w(t_k) + \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \gamma_k^\top \int_{t_k}^{t_{k+1}} (t - t_k) dw(t) + O(h^2).$$
(34)

By using the expression for $v(t, X_k)$ from (1) twice, we get

$$\int_{t_{k}}^{t_{k+1}} (\mathcal{L}v) (t, X_{k}) dt = h\mathcal{L}v(t_{k+1}, X_{k})$$

$$+ \int_{t_{k}}^{t_{k+1}} \int_{t}^{t_{k+1}} \mathcal{L} \left[\beta^{\top}(s, X_{k})v(s, X_{k}) + \gamma^{\top}(s, X_{k}) \right] * dw(s) dt + O(h^{2})$$

$$= h\mathcal{L}v(t_{k+1}, X_{k}) + \mathcal{L} \left[\beta_{k}^{\top}v(t_{k+1}, X_{k}) + \gamma_{k}^{\top} \right]$$

$$\times \int_{t_{k}}^{t_{k+1}} (w(t_{k+1}) - w(t)) dt + O(h^{2}),$$
(35)

where the coefficients of \mathcal{L} in the right-hand side are evaluated at (t_k, X_k) . Analogously, we obtain

$$\int_{t_{k}}^{t_{k+1}} \beta^{\mathsf{T}}(t, X_{k})v(t, X_{k}) * dw(t) = \beta_{k}^{\mathsf{T}} \Delta w(t_{k})v(t_{k+1}, X_{k}) + v(t_{k+1}, X_{k})$$

$$\times \sum_{i,j=1}^{r} \beta_{k}^{i} \beta_{k}^{j} \int_{t_{k}}^{t_{k+1}} \left[w_{j}(t_{k+1}) - w_{j}(t) \right] * dw_{i}(t)$$

$$+ \sum_{i,j=1}^{r} \beta_{k}^{i} \gamma_{k}^{j} \int_{t_{k}}^{t_{k+1}} \left[w_{j}(t_{k+1}) - w_{j}(t) \right] * dw_{i}(t)$$

$$+ v(t_{k+1}, X_{k}) \sum_{i,j,l=1}^{r} \beta_{k}^{i} \beta_{k}^{j} \left(\beta_{k}^{l} + \gamma_{k}^{l} \right)$$

$$\times \int_{t_{k}}^{t_{k+1}} \int_{t}^{t_{k+1}} \left[w_{l}(t_{k+1}) - w_{l}(s) \right] * dw_{j}(s) * dw_{i}(t)$$

$$+ (\beta_{k}^{\mathsf{T}} \mathcal{L}v(t_{k+1}, X_{k}) + f_{k}) \int_{t_{k}}^{t_{k+1}} (t_{k+1} - t) dw(t) + O(h^{2}).$$
(36)

It is not difficult to show that

$$\int_{t_{k}}^{t_{k+1}} \left[w_{j}(t_{k+1}) - w_{j}(t) \right] * dw_{i}(t) = \int_{t_{k}}^{t_{k+1}} \left[w_{i}(t) - w_{i}(t_{k}) \right] dw_{j}(t) = I_{ji}(t_{k}), \ i \neq j;$$
(37)
$$\int_{t_{k}}^{t_{k+1}} \left[w_{i}(t_{k+1}) - w_{i}(t) \right] * dw_{i}(t) = \frac{\left[\Delta w_{i}(t_{k}) \right]^{2}}{2} - \frac{h}{2};$$

$$\sum_{i,j,l=1}^{r} \beta_{k}^{i} \beta_{k}^{j} \beta_{k}^{l} \int_{t_{k}}^{t_{k+1}} \int_{t}^{t_{k+1}} \left[w_{l}(t_{k+1}) - w_{l}(s) \right] * dw_{j}(s) * dw_{i}(t)$$

$$= \frac{1}{6} \left[\beta_{k}^{\top} \Delta w(t_{k}) \right]^{3} - \frac{h}{2} \beta_{k}^{\top} \beta_{k} \beta_{k}^{\top} \Delta w(t_{k}).$$

Also, recall that

$$I_{ij}(t_k) = \Delta w_i(t_k) \Delta w_j(t_k) - I_{ji}(t_k), \ i \neq j;$$
(38)
$$\int_{t_k}^{t_{k+1}} (t - t_k) dw_i(t) = h \Delta w_i(t_k) - I_{0i}(t_k);$$

$$\int_{t_k}^{t_{k+1}} (w_i(t_{k+1}) - w_i(t)) dt = h \Delta w_i(t_k) - I_{0i}(t_k); \\\int_{t_k}^{t_{k+1}} (t_{k+1} - t) dw_i(t) = I_{0i}(t_k).$$

Finally, substituting (31)–(38) in (30), we arrive at (28).

Now, we prove the convergence theorem for Algorithm 1B.

Proof of Theorem 1. By the standard technique (see [42, 43]) of re-writing the global error as a sum of local errors, we obtain

$$E^{w}[\varphi(t_{x}, X_{x})Y_{x} + Z_{x}] - v(t_{0}, x_{0}) = E^{w}[v(t_{x}, X_{x})Y_{x} + Z_{x}] - v(t_{0}, x_{0}) \quad (39)$$

$$= E^{w}\sum_{k=0}^{\kappa-1} [v(t_{k+1}, X_{k+1})Y_{k+1} + Z_{k+1} - v(t_{k}, X_{k})Y_{k} - Z_{k}]$$

$$= \sum_{k=0}^{N-1} E^{w}(r_{k}) + \sum_{k=0}^{N-1} E^{w}(R_{k}),$$

where the first sum is related to the total error of Algorithm 1B in the boundary zone while the second one is the total error "inside" the domain.

Using (26) and the conditional Jensen inequality, we obtain for the first sum in (39):

$$E\left[\sum_{k=0}^{N-1} E^{w}(r_{k})\right]^{2p} = E\left[\sum_{k=0}^{N-1} E^{w}E^{w}(r_{k} \mid X_{k}', Y_{k}, Z_{k})\right]^{2p}$$
(40)
$$\leq Kh^{2p} E\left[E^{w}\sum_{k=0}^{N-1} \rho(t_{k}, X_{k}', Y_{k})I_{S_{t_{k},h}}(X_{k}') \chi_{\varkappa \ge k}\right]^{2p}$$
$$\leq Kh^{2p} E\left[\sum_{k=0}^{N-1} \rho(t_{k}, X_{k}', Y_{k})I_{S_{t_{k},h}}(X_{k}') \chi_{\varkappa \ge k}\right]^{2p}$$
$$\leq Kh^{2p} E\left(\max_{0 \le k \le N-1} \rho(t_{k}, X_{k}', Y_{k}) \times \sum_{k=0}^{N-1} I_{S_{t_{k},h}}(X_{k}') \chi_{\varkappa \ge k}\right)^{2p}$$
$$= Kh^{2p} E\left(\max_{0 \le k \le N-1} \rho(t_{k}, X_{k}', Y_{k}) \times \nu_{t_{0},x_{0}}\right)^{2p}.$$

Applying the Cauchy–Bunyakovskii inequality, (25), and (27) to the expression in the last line of (40), we get

$$E\left[\sum_{k=0}^{N-1} E^{w}(r_{k})\right]^{2p} \leq Kh^{2p} \left[E\left(\max_{0 \leq k \leq N} \rho(t_{k}, X_{k}', Y_{k})\right)^{4p}\right]^{1/2} \left[Ev_{t_{0}, x_{0}}^{4p}\right]^{1/2} \leq Kh^{2p}.$$
(41)

Consider the second sum in (39). Let

$$\tilde{R}_{k} := \chi_{\kappa > k} Y_{k} \left\{ \sum_{r=1}^{q} \left[h \Delta w_{r}(t_{k}) \alpha_{r}(t_{k+1}, X_{k}) + I_{0r}(t_{k}) \alpha_{0r}(t_{k+1}, X_{k}) \right] \right. \\ \left. + \sum_{r,n,l=1}^{q} \left[I_{rnl}^{*}(t_{k}) \alpha_{rnl}^{*}(t_{k+1}, X_{k}) + \Delta w_{r}(t_{k}) \Delta w_{n}(t_{k}) \Delta w_{l}(t_{k}) \alpha_{rnl}(t_{k+1}, X_{k}) \right] \right\}.$$

Due to Lemma 4, we have

$$E\left[\sum_{k=0}^{N-1} E^{w}(R_{k})\right]^{2p} = E\left[\sum_{k=0}^{N-1} E^{w}E^{w}(R_{k} \mid X_{k}, Y_{k}, Z_{k})\right]^{2p}$$
$$= E\left[\sum_{k=0}^{N-1} \left(E^{w}\left(\tilde{R}_{k}\right) + \chi_{\varkappa > k}O(h^{2})\right)\right]^{2p}$$
$$\leq E\left[\sum_{k=0}^{N-1} E^{w}\left(\tilde{R}_{k}\right)\right]^{2p} + O(h^{2p}).$$
(42)

According to Lemma 4, we have $E(\tilde{R}_k)^{2p} = O(h^{3p})$ and $E(\tilde{R}_k) = 0$. Then (using only the former estimate for \tilde{R}_k), the sum in the right-hand side of (42) can immediately, but roughly, be estimated as $O(h^p)$. If the coefficients $\alpha_i(t_{k+1}, X_k)$, $\alpha_{0i}(t_{k+1}, X_k)$, $\alpha_{jjl}^*(t_{k+1}, X_k)$ in (28) were \mathcal{F}_{t_k} -measurable random variables (remember that Y_k is \mathcal{F}_{t_k} -measurable; it depends on the increments $w(s) - w(t_0)$, $t_0 \le s \le t_k$ for x > k), then one could estimate this sum by $O(h^{2p})$ as it is done in the case of deterministic PDE problems [43]. However, here, these coefficients include the SPDE solution and its derivatives at time t_{k+1} making them \mathcal{F}_T -measurable; they depend on w(T) - w(s), $t_{k+1} \le s \le T$. This fact makes accurate estimation of this sum difficult. In [44], such a difficulty was overcome in the case of the Cauchy problem for SPDEs. Since the structure of \tilde{R}_k here and of the one-step error in the Cauchy problem case (cf. the result of Step 1 in the proof of Theorem 3.3 in [44]) are analogous, the approach developed in [44, Steps 2–5 in the proof of Theorem 3.3] can be used to obtain

$$E\left[\sum_{k=0}^{N-1} E^{w}\left(\tilde{R}_{k}\right)\right]^{2p} \leq Kh^{2p}.$$
(43)

We omit here the corresponding lengthy details of the proof of (43) but they can be restored from [44].

The inequalities (41), (42), and (43) imply (18). Theorem 1 is proved. \Box

5 Numerical Experiments

For our numerical tests, we take the model which solution can be simulated exactly. We consider the following Dirichlet problem

$$-\operatorname{d} v = \frac{\sigma^2}{2} \frac{\partial^2 v}{\partial x^2} \operatorname{d} t + \beta v \ast \operatorname{d} w(t), \quad (t, x) \in [T_0, T) \times (-1, 1), \qquad (44)$$

$$v(t, \pm 1) = 0, \quad (t, x) \in [T_0, T),$$
(45)

$$v(T, x) = \varphi(x), \quad x \in (-1, 1),$$
(46)

where w(t) is a standard scalar Wiener process, and σ and β are constants. The solution of this problem has the probabilistic representation (see (6)–(9)):

$$v(t,x) = E^{w} \left[\mathbf{1}_{\{\tau \ge T\}} \varphi(X_{t,x}(T)) Y_{t,x,1}(T) \right],$$
(47)

$$\mathrm{d}X = \sigma \mathrm{d}W(s),\tag{48}$$

$$\mathrm{d}Y = \beta Y \mathrm{d}w(s),\tag{49}$$

where W(s) is a standard Wiener process independent of w(s) and $\tau = \tau_{t,x}$ is the first exit time of the trajectory $X_{t,x}(s)$, $s \ge t$, from the interval (-1, 1).

For the experiments, we choose

$$\varphi(x) = A \cdot (x^2 - 1)^3 \tag{50}$$

with some constant A. We note that the coefficients of (44)–(46), (50) satisfy the assumptions made in Sect. 2.

The problem (44)–(46) with (50) has the explicit solution, which can be written in the form

$$v(t,x) = \frac{18\,432}{\pi^7} A \exp\left(-\frac{\beta^2}{2}(T-t) + \beta(w(T) - w(t))\right)$$
(51)

$$\times \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^k (\pi^2 (2k+1)^2 - 10)}{(2k+1)^7} \cos \frac{\pi (2k+1)x}{2} \exp\left(-\frac{\sigma^2 \pi^2 (2k+1)^2 (T-t)}{8}\right).$$

We use the three algorithms from Sect. 3 to solve (44)–(46), (50). In the tests, we fix a trajectory w(t), $0 \le t \le T$, which is obtained with a small time step equal to 0.0001. In Table 1, we present the errors for Algorithms 1A and 1B from our tests. In the table, the " \pm " reflects the Monte Carlo error only, it gives the confidence interval for the corresponding value with probability 0.95 while the values before " \pm " gives the difference $\hat{v}(0,0) - v(0,0)$ (see \hat{v} in (16)). In Table 1, one can observe convergence of both algorithms with order one that is in good agreement with our

Table 1 Errors of Algorithms 1A and 1B. Evaluation of v(0, 0) from (44)–(46), (50) with various time steps *h*. Here, $\sigma = 0.5$, $\beta = 0.5$, A = 10, and T = 5. The expectations are computed by the Monte Carlo technique simulating *M* independent realizations. The "±"reflects the Monte Carlo error only. All simulations are done along the same sample path w(t). The boundary zone parameter λ is taken equal to σ . The corresponding reference value is -2.074421, which is found due to (51)

h	М	Algorithm 1A	Algorithm 1B
0.1	107	$4.823 \cdot 10^{-2} \pm 0.247 \cdot 10^{-2}$	$3.604 \cdot 10^{-2} \pm 0.249 \cdot 10^{-2}$
0.05	108	$2.591 \cdot 10^{-2} \pm 0.079 \cdot 10^{-2}$	$2.219 \cdot 10^{-2} \pm 0.079 \cdot 10^{-2}$
0.025	108	$1.616 \cdot 10^{-2} \pm 0.079 \cdot 10^{-2}$	$0.815 \cdot 10^{-2} \pm 0.079 \cdot 10^{-2}$
0.01	$2.5 \cdot 10^{8}$	$0.545 \cdot 10^{-2} \pm 0.050 \cdot 10^{-2}$	$0.338 \cdot 10^{-2} \pm 0.050 \cdot 10^{-2}$
00.005	$2.5 \cdot 10^{8}$	$0.210 \cdot 10^{-2} \pm 0.050 \cdot 10^{-2}$	$0.135 \cdot 10^{-2} \pm 0.050 \cdot 10^{-2}$

h	М	Algorithm 2
0.0004	107	$0.886 \cdot 10^{-1} \pm 0.025 \cdot 10^{-1}$
0.0003	10^{7}	$0.380 \cdot 10^{-1} \pm 0.025 \cdot 10^{-1}$
0.0002	10^{7}	$0.404 \cdot 10^{-1} \pm 0.025 \cdot 10^{-1}$
0.0001	10^{7}	$0.306 \cdot 10^{-1} \pm 0.025 \cdot 10^{-1}$

Table 2 Errors of Algorithm 2. Evaluation of v(0,0) from (44)–(46), (50) with various time steps h. The parameters here are the same as in Table 1

theoretical results. We note that in this example the trajectory of Y(t) is simulated exactly by Algorithm 1B.

Algorithm 2 produced less accurate results than Algorithms 1 and it was possible to observe its convergence only after choosing very small time steps. Some results are presented in Table 2. They demonstrate an evidence of convergence of Algorithm 2 with order 1/2 and even smaller time steps are required for further confirmation. We can conclude that, with the computational costs of Algorithms 1 and 2 being essentially the same, Algorithm 1B is the more efficient method than the others.

Acknowledgements The work was partially supported by the UK EPSRC Research Grant EP/D049792/1.

References

- 1. Allen, E.J., Novosel, S.J., Zhang, Z.: Finite element and difference approximation of some linear stochastic partial differential equations. Stoch. Stoch. Rep. **64**, 117–142 (1998)
- Bensoussan, A., Glowinski, R., Răşcanu, A.: Approximation of some stochastic differential equations by the splitting up method. Appl. Math. Optim. 25, 81–106 (1992)
- 3. Bonaccorsi, S., Guatteri, G.: Stochastic partial differential equations in bounded domains with Dirichlet boundary conditions. Stoch. Stoch. Rep. **74**, 349–370 (2002)
- 4. Bonaccorsi, S., Guatteri, G.: Classical solutions for SPDEs with Dirichlet boundary conditions. Prog. Probab. **52**, Birkhäuser, 33–44 (2002)
- de Bouard, A., Debussche, A.: Weak and strong order of convergence of a semi discrete scheme for the stochastic nonlinear Schrö dinger equation. J. Appl. Maths Optim. 54, 369–399 (2006)
- Brzezniak, Z.: Stochastic partial differential equations in M-type 2 Banach spaces. Poten. Anal. 4, 1–45 (1995)
- Clark, J.M.C.: The design of robust approximation to the stochastic differential equations of nonlinear filtering. In: J.K. Skwirzynski (ed.) Communication Systems and Random Process Theory, NATO Advanced Study Institute series E Applied Sciences 25, pp. 721–734. Sijthoff and Noordhoff, (1978)
- 8. Chow, P.L.: Stochastic partial differential equations. Chapman and Hall/CRC (2007)
- Chow, P.L., Jiang, J.L., Menaldi, J.L.: Pathwise convergence of approximate solutions to Zakai's equation in a bounded domain. In: Stochastic partial differential equations and applications (Trento, 1990), Pitman Res. Notes Math. Ser. 268, pp. 111–123. Longman Sci. Tech., Harlow (1992)
- Crisan, D.: Particle approximations for a class of stochastic partial differential equations. J. Appl. Math. Optim. 54, 293–314 (2006)

- Crisan, D., Lyons, T.: A particle approximation of the solution of the Kushner-Stratonovich equation. Prob. Theory Rel. Fields 115, 549–578 (1999)
- 12. Crisan, D., Del Moral, P., Lyons, T.: Interacting particle systems approximations of the Kushner-Stratonovitch equation. Adv. Appl. Probab. **31**, 819–838 (1999)
- Cruzeiro, A.B., Malliavin, P., Thalmaier, A.: Geometrization of Monte-Carlo numerical analysis of an elliptic operator: strong approximation. Acad. Sci. Paris Ser. I 338, 481–486 (2004)
- Da Prato, G., Zabczyk, J.: Stochastic equations in infinite dimensions. Cambridge University Press (1992)
- 15. Debussche, A.: Weak approximation of stochastic partial differential equations: the nonlinear case. Math. Comp. (2010), in print
- 16. Dynkin, E.B.: Markov processes. Springer (1965)
- 17. Flandoli, F.: Regularity theory and stochastic flows for parabolic SPDEs. Gordon and Breach (1995)
- Flandoli, F., Schaumlöffel, K.-U.: Stochastic parabolic equations in bounded domains: random evolution operators and Lyapunov exponents. Stoch. Rep. 29, 461–485 (1990)
- Freidlin, M.I.: Functional Integration and Partial Differential Equations. Princeton University Press (1985)
- 20. Fridman, A.: Partial differential equations of parabolic type. Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs (1964)
- 21. Germani, A., Piccioni, M.: Semi-discretization of stochastic partial differential equations on R^d by a finite-element technique. Stochastics **23**, 131–148 (1988)
- Gobet, E., Pages, G., Pham, H., Printems, J.: Discretization and simulation of Zakai equation. SIAM J. Num. Anal. 44, 2505–2538 (2006)
- Grecksch, W., Kloeden, P. E.: Time-discretised Galerkin approximations of parabolic stochastic PDEs. Bull. Austral. Math. Soc. 54, 79–85 (1996)
- 24. Gyöngy, I.: Approximations of stochastic partial differential equations. In: Stochastic partial differential equations and applications (Trento, 2002), Lecture Notes in Pure and Appl. Math. 227, pp. 287–307. Dekker (2002)
- Gyöngy, I., Krylov, N.: On the splitting-up method and stochastic partial differential equations. Ann. Appl. Probab. 31, 564–591 (2003)
- Hou, T., Luo, W., Rozovskii, B.L., Zhou, H.-M.: Wiener chaos expansions and numerical solutions of randomly forced equations of fluid mechanics. J. Comput. Phys. 216, 687–706 (2006)
- 27. Jentzen, A., Kloeden, P. E.: The numerical approximation of stochastic partial differential equations. Milan J. Math. **77**, 205–244 (2009)
- 28. Krylov, N.V.: A W_2^n -theory of the Dirichlet problem for SPDEs in general smooth domains. Probab. Theory Relat. Fields **98**, 389–421 (1994)
- Krylov, N.V., Rozovskii, B.L.: On the characteristics of degenerate second order parabolic Ito equations. J. Soviet Math. 32, 336–348 (1986)
- 30. Kunita, H.: Stochastic flows and stochastic differential equations. Cambridge University Press (1990)
- Kurtz, T.G., Xiong, J.: Numerical solutions for a class of SPDEs with application to filtering. In: Stochastics in finite and infinite dimensions, Trends Math., pp. 233–258. Birkhäuser, Boston (2001)
- 32. Le Gland, F.: Splitting-up approximation for SPDEs and SDEs with application to nonlinear filtering. Lecture Notes in Control and Inform. Sc. 176, pp. 177–187. Springer (1992)
- 33. Liptser, R.S., Shiryaev, A.N.: Statistics of random processes. Springer, I (1977), II (1978)
- Lototsky, S.V.: Dirichlet problem for stochastic parabolic equations in smooth domains. Stoch. Stoch. Rep. 68, 145–175 (2000)
- Lototsky, S.V.: Linear stochastic parabolic equations, degenerating on the boundary of a domain. Electr. J. Prob. 6, Paper No. 24, 1–14 (2001)
- 36. Lunardi, A.: Analytic semigroups and optimal regularity in parabolic problems. Birkhauser (1995)
- Mikulevicius, R., Pragarauskas, H.: On Cauchy-Dirichlet problem for parabolic quasilinear SPDEs. Poten. Anal. 25, 37–75 (2006)
- Mikulevicius, R., Pragarauskas, H., Sonnadara, N.: On the Cauchy-Dirichlet problem in the half space for parabolic sPDEs in weighted Hölder spaces. Acta Appl. Math. 97, 129–149 (2007)
- Mikulevicius, R., Rozovskii, B.L.: Linear parabolic stochastic PDEs and Wiener chaos. SIAM J. Math. Anal. 29, 452–480 (1998)
- Milstein, G.N.: Solution of the first boundary value problem for equations of parabolic type by means of the integration of stochastic differential equations. Theory Probab. Appl. 40, 556–563 (1995)
- Milstein, G.N.: Application of the numerical integration of stochastic equations for the solution of boundary value problems with Neumann boundary conditions. Theory Prob. Appl. 41, 170– 177 (1996)
- Milstein, G.N., Tretyakov, M.V.: The simplest random walks for the Dirichlet problem. Theory Probab. Appl. 47, 53–68 (2002)
- 43. Milstein, G.N., Tretyakov, M.V.: Stochastic numerics for mathematical physics. Springer (2004)
- Milstein, G.N., Tretyakov, M.V.: Monte Carlo algorithms for backward equations in nonlinear filtering. Adv. Appl. Probab. 41, 63–100 (2009)
- Milstein, G.N., Tretyakov, M.V.: Solving parabolic stochastic partial differential equations via averaging over characteristics. Math. Comp. 78, 2075–2106 (2009)
- 46. Milstein, G.N., Tretyakov, M.V.: Averaging over characteristics with innovation approach in nonlinear filtering. In: Crisan, D., Rozovskii, B.L. (eds.) Handbook on Nonlinear Filtering, pp. 892–919. Oxford University Press (2011)
- Pardoux, E.: Stochastic partial differential equations and filtering of diffusion processes. Stochastics 3, 127–167 (1979)
- Pardoux, E.: Filtrage de diffusions avec conditions frontieres: caracterisation de la densite conditionnelle. In: Dacumba-Castelle, D., Van Cutsem, B. (eds.) Journees de Statistique dans les Processus Stochastiques, Lecture Notes in Mathematics 636 (Proceedings, Grenoble, 1977), pp. 163–188. Springer (1978)
- 49. Pardoux, E.: Stochastic partial differential equation for the density of the conditional law of a diffusion process with boundary. In: Stochastic analysis (Proceedings of International Conference, Northwestern University, Evanston, Ill., 1978), pp. 239–269. Academic (1978)
- Picard, J.: Approximation of nonlinear filtering problems and order of convergence. Lecture Notes in Contr. Inform. Sc. 61, pp. 219–236. Springer (1984)
- 51. Rozovskii, B.L.: Stochastic evolution systems, linear theory and application to nonlinear filtering. Kluwer, Dordrecht (1991)
- Shardlow, T.: Numerical methods for stochastic parabolic PDEs. Numer. Func. Anal. Optimiz. 20, 121–145 (1999)
- Yan, Y.: Galerkin finite element methods for stochastic parabolic partial differential equations. SIAM J. Num. Anal. 43, 1363–1384 (2005)
- 54. Yoo, H.: Semi-discretzation of stochastic partial differential equations on R^1 by a finitedifference method. Math. Comp. 69, 653–666 (2000)

Individual Path Uniqueness of Solutions of Stochastic Differential Equations

Alexander M. Davie

Abstract We consider the stochastic differential equation dx(t) = f(t, x(t))dt + b(t, x(t))dW(t), $x(0) = x_0$ for $t \ge 0$, where $x(t) \in \mathbb{R}^d$, W is a standard d-dimensional Brownian motion, f is a bounded Borel function from $[0, \infty) \times \mathbb{R}^d$ to \mathbb{R}^d , and b is an invertible matrix-valued function satisfying some regularity conditions. We show that, for almost all Brownian paths W(t), there is a unique x(t) satisfying this equation, interpreted in a "rough path" sense.

MSC (2010): 60H10 (34F05)

1 Introduction

In this paper, we consider the stochastic differential equation

$$dx(t) = f(t, x(t))dt + b(t, x(t))dW(t), \qquad x(0) = x_0$$
(1)

for $t \ge 0$, where $x(t) \in \mathbb{R}^d$, W is a standard d-dimensional Brownian motion, f is a bounded Borel function from $[0, \infty) \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^d$ to \mathbb{R}^d , and b is an invertible $d \times d$ matrix valued function on $[0, \infty) \times \mathbb{R}^d$ satisfying a suitable regularity condition. If bsatisfies a Lipschitz condition in x, then it follows from a theorem of Veretennikov [4] that (2) has a unique strong solution, i.e. there is a unique process x(t), adapted to the filtration of the Brownian motion, satisfying (1).

Here we consider a different question, posed by N. V. Krylov (Gyöngy, Personal communication): we choose a Brownian path W and ask whether (1) has a unique solution for that particular path. The first problem with this question is to interpret it, since the stochastic integral implied by the equation is not well defined for individual paths. One case for which there is a simple interpretation is when b(t, x) is the identity matrix for all t, x, since in that case we can write the equation as

A.M. Davie

School of Mathematics, University of Edinburgh, James Clerk Maxwell Building, King's Buildings, Mayfield Road, Edinburgh, Scotland EH9 3JZ, United Kingdom e-mail: a.davie@ed.ac.uk

D. Crisan (ed.), *Stochastic Analysis 2010*, DOI 10.1007/978-3-642-15358-7_10, © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2011

$$x(t) = W(t) + x_0 + \int_0^t f(s, x(s)) ds, \quad t \ge 0$$
(2)

and the existence of a unique solution to (1), for almost every path W, was proved in [2].

In this paper, we use methods of rough path theory to give an interpretation of (1), under slightly stronger regularity conditions on b. Our main result is then that for almost all Brownian paths W there is a unique solution in this sense. The proof is similar to that in [2] but requires estimates for solutions of a related equation ((3) below) similar to those for Brownian motion in Sect. 2 of [2], and different arguments including a suitable T(1) theorem are needed for this. The rough path interpretation and formulation of the main theorem are described in Sect. 2, the estimates for solutions of (3) are given in Sect. 3 and the proof of the theorem in Sect. 4.

2 Interpretation of Individual Path Solution

We now describe our interpretations of (1) precisely. Let U be a domain in \mathbb{R}^d containing (x_0) . We assume that f(t, x) and $b_{ij}(t, x)$ are defined on $[0, \infty) \times U$ and that f is bounded and b_{ij} is differentiable with respect to x and that b_{ij} and $\partial b_{ij}/\partial x_k$ satisfy locally a Hölder condition of order α for some $\alpha > 0$ in (t, x). We write (1) in components as

$$dx_i(t) = f_i(t, x(t))dt + \sum_{j=1}^d b_{ij}(t, x(t))dW_j(t)$$

for $i = 1, \dots, n$. For s < t we write $A_{rj}(s, t) = \int_s^t (W_r(\tau) - W_r(s)) dW_j(\tau)$ and $\Psi_i(s, t, x) = \sum_{j=1}^d \int_s^t b_{ij}(\tau, x) dW_j(\tau)$ for $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$. On a suitable set of probability 1, these quantities can be defined simultaneously for all $0 \le s < t$ and $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$, depending continuously on (s, t, x), and we assume that such definitions have been fixed.

We say that a continuous $x : [0, T) \to U$ is a solution *in rough path sense* of (1) on an interval $0 \le t < T$ where $0 < T \le \infty$ if $x(0) = x_0$ and, for any T' with 0 < T' < T we can find $\delta > 0$ and C > 0 such that

$$\begin{vmatrix} x_i(t) - x_i(s) - \int_s^t f_i(\tau, x(\tau)) \mathrm{d}\tau - \Psi_i(s, t, x(s)) - \sum_{j, r} g_{ijr}(x(s)) A_{rj}(s, t) \end{vmatrix}$$

$$\leq C(t-s)^{1+\delta}$$

where $g_{ijr} = \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{\partial b_{ij}}{\partial x_k} b_{kr}$.

It is not hard to show that the strong solution of (1) is, for almost all Brownian paths, a solution in this sense.

We can now formulate the main result.

Theorem 1. For almost every Brownian path W, there is a unique T with $0 < T \le \infty$ and a unique continuous $x : [0, T) \to U$, satisfying (1) in rough path sense, and such that in case $T < \infty$ we have that |x(t)| 'escapes from U as $t \to T$, in the sense that for any compact subset K of U there is $t \in [0, T)$ with $x(t) \notin K$.

This theorem is essentially local in character, and this enables us to reduce it to the case when the coefficients b_{ij} are globally well behaved. We use a standard localisation argument to deduce Theorem 1 from the following:

Proposition 1. Suppose f and b_{ij} are defined on $[0, \infty) \times \mathbb{R}^d$ and satisfy the above regularity conditions, and also that there is K > 0 such that $b_{ij}(t, x) = \delta_{ij}$ if |x| > K. Then (1) has a solution x on $[0, \infty)$ in rough path sense, and is unique in the sense that if y is a solution on [0, t) for some T > 0 then x(t) = y(t) on [0, T).

To deduce Theorem 1 from Proposition 1 we let U_1, U_2, \cdots be relatively compact open subsets of U with union U and $\overline{U}_n \subseteq U_{n+1}$. Then for each n, we can find functions $f^{(n)}$ and $b_{ij}^{(n)}$ satisfying the requirement of the proposition and agreeing, respectively, with f and b_{ij} on U_n . The proposition then gives a solution $x^{(n)}$ on $[0, \infty)$ to (1) with $f^{(n)}, b_{ij}^{(n)}$ replacing f, b_{ij} . Define $T_n \in (0, \infty]$ by $T_n = \sup\{t : x^{(n)}([0, t)) \in U_n\}$. Then by the uniqueness part of the proposition $x^{(n+1)} = x^{(n)}$ on $[0, T_n)$ and $T_{n+1} \ge T_n$. Hence T_n converges to a limit T and we can define x(t)on [0, T) by $x(t) = x^{(n)}(t)$ for $t < T_n$. Then x satisfies (1).

If *T* is finite and *K* is a compact subset of *U*, then for some *n* we have $K \subseteq U_n$. Then $T_n < \infty$ and by continuity $x^{(n+1)}(T_n) \in \overline{U}_n \subseteq U_{n+1}$ so $T_n < T_{n+1}$ and hence there is *t* so that $x(t) \notin U_n$, so $x(t) \notin K$.

The proof of Proposition 1 follows the same lines as [2]. First it suffices to prove the uniqueness for $0 \le t \le 1$. Then we need an estimate analogous to Proposition 2.1 of [2], where instead of W(t) we have a solution y(t) of the equation

$$dy(t) = a(t, y(t))dt + b(t, y(t))dW(t)$$
(3)

where the vector a(t, x) is defined by $a_i = \sum_{k,j} \frac{\partial b_{ij}}{\partial x_k} b_{kj}$. This estimate is proved in the next section, and the deduction of Proposition 1 is

This estimate is proved in the next section, and the deduction of Proposition 1 is described in Sect. 4.

3 The Basic Estimate

In this section, we establish the following estimate for (3). We assume throughout that b is fixed and satisfies the conditions of Proposition 1.

Proposition 2. Let g be a Borel function on $[0, 1] \times \mathbb{R}^d$ with $|g(s, z)| \le 1$ everywhere, let $I \subseteq [0, 1]$ be an interval, and let y satisfy the SDE (3). Then for any even positive integer p and $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$, we have

$$\mathbb{E}\left(\int_{I} \{g(t, y(t) + x) - g(t, y(t))\} dt\right)^{p} \le C^{p}(p/2)! |x|^{p} |I|^{p/2}$$

where C is an absolute constant and |x| denotes the usual Euclidean norm.

The proof of this is similar to that of Proposition 2.1 of [2] with some differences. One is that the reduction to the one-dimensional case no longer works, so the entire argument has to be carried out in \mathbb{R}^d – this does not in fact change much. A more substantial difference is that we have to replace the Gaussian transition densities E(t - s, w - z) by transition densities E(s, t, z, w) for the diffusion defined by (3). Then the proof of Lemma 2.3 of [2], which uses translation invariance, no longer works. Instead we apply a T(1) theorem to prove L^2 boundedness of an integral operator with kernel E(s, t, z, w).

Proposition 2 will be deduced from the following variant for smooth g. We denote by g' the derivative w.r.t. the first component of the vector x, i.e. $g'(t, x) = \frac{\partial g}{\partial x_1}(t, x)$.

Proposition 3. There is a constant C such that, if g is a compactly supported smooth function on $[0, 1] \times \mathbb{R}^d$ with $|g(s, z)| \leq 1$ everywhere and g' bounded, and $0 \leq t_0 < T \leq 1$, then for any even positive integer p we have, conditional on $y(t_0) = y_0$,

$$\mathbb{E}\left(\int_{t_0}^T g'(t, y(t)) \mathrm{d}t\right)^p \le (C|I|)^{p/2} (p/2)!$$

This is proved in a manner similar to that of Proposition 2.2 of [2]. If $I = [t_0, T]$ where $0 \le t_0 < T \le 1$ we can write the LHS as

$$p! \int_{t_0 < t_1 < \dots < t_p < T} \mathbb{E} \prod_{j=1}^p g'(t_j, y(t_j)) dt_1 \cdots dt_p$$

and using the joint distribution of $y(t_1), \ldots, y(t_p)$ this can be expressed as

$$p! \int_{t_0 < t_1 < \dots < t_p < T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{dp}} \prod_{j=1}^p \{g'(t_j, z_j) E(t_{j-1}, t_j, z_{j-1}, z_j)\} dz_1 \cdots dz_p dt_1 \cdots dt_p$$

where $z_0 = y_0$.

We introduce the notation

$$J_k(t_0, z_0) = \int_{t_0 < t_1 < \dots < t_k < T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{kd}} \prod_{j=1}^k \{g'(t_j, z_j) E(t_{j-1}, t_j, z_{j-1}, z_j)\} dz_1 \cdots dz_k dt_1 \cdots dt_k$$

and we shall show that $J_p(t_0, y_0) \leq C^p (T - t_0)^{p/2} / \Gamma(\frac{p}{2} + 1)$; Proposition 3 will then follow since $p! \leq 2^p ((p/2)!)^2$.

As in [2] we use integration by parts to shift the derivatives to the exponential terms. We introduce some notation to handle the resulting terms – we define $B_1(s, t, z, w) = -\frac{\partial}{\partial z_1} E(s, t, w, z)$, $B_2(s, t, z, w) = -\frac{\partial}{\partial w_1} E(s, t, z, w)$ and $D(s, t, z, w) = \frac{\partial^2}{\partial z_1 \partial w_1} E(s, t, z, w)$.

If $S = S_1 \cdots S_k$ is a word in the alphabet $\{E, B_1, B_2, D\}$ then we define

$$I_{S}(t_{0}, z_{0}) = \int_{t_{0} < t_{1} < \dots < t_{k} < 1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{kd}} \prod_{j=1}^{k} \{g(t_{j}, z_{j}) S_{j}(t_{j-1}, t_{j}, z_{j-1}, z_{j})\} dz_{1} \cdots dz_{k} dt_{1} \cdots dt_{k}$$

We say a word is *allowed* if it is of the form $B_2^{m_0} E B_1^{n_1} D B_2^{m_1} E \cdots E B_1^{n_r} D B_2^{m_r}$ for some non-negative integers $r, m_0 \cdots m_r, n_1 \cdots, n_r$. This is equivalent to the definition in[2] except that there B_1 and B_2 are not distinguished. There are 2^{k-1} allowed words of length k. For example, the allowed words of length 3 are $B_2 B_2 B_2$, $EDB_2, B_2 ED$ and $EB_1 D$.

Just as in [2], we show by induction on k that

$$J_k(t_0, z_0) = \sum_{j=1}^{2^{k-1}} I_{S^{(j)}}(t_0, z_0)$$
(4)

where each $S^{(j)}$ is an allowed word of length k. (in fact each allowed word of length k appears exactly once in this sum, but we do not need this fact). The proof will then be completed by obtaining a bound for I_S .

We prove (4) by induction on k. So, assuming (4) for J_k , we have

$$J_{k+1}(t_0, z_0) = \int_{t_0}^1 dt_1 \int g'(t_1, z_1) E(t_1 - t_0, z_1 - z_0) J_k(t_1, z_1) dz_1$$

= $-\int_{t_0}^1 dt_1 \int g(t_1, z_1) B(t_1 - t_0, z_1 - z_0) J_k(t_1, z_1) dz_1$
 $-\int_{t_0}^1 \int g(t_1, z_1) E(t_1 - t_0, z_1 - z_0) J'_k(t_1, z_1) dz_1$

Now we observe that, if *S* is an allowed string, then $I'_{S} = -I_{\tilde{S}}$ where \tilde{S} is defined as BS^* if $S = ES^*$ and as DS^* if $S = BS^*$ (note that \tilde{S} is not an allowed string). Applying this to (4) we find $J'_{k}(t_0, z_0) = \sum_{j=1}^{2^{k-1}-1} \mp I_{\tilde{S}^j}(t_0, z_0)$ and then we obtain

$$J_{k+1}(t_0, z_0) = \mp \sum_{j=1}^{2^{k-1}-1} I_{BS^j}(t_0, z_0) \pm \sum_{j=1}^{2^{k-1}-1} I_{E\tilde{S}^j}(t_0, z_0)$$

Noting that, if S is an allowed string, BS and $E\tilde{S}$ are also allowed, this completes the inductive proof of (4).

We now proceed to the estimation of $I_S(t_0, z_0)$, when S is an allowed string. We start with some standard properties on the transition density E(s, t, z, w).

E satisfies the Kolmogorov equations

$$\frac{\partial E}{\partial s} = -\sum_{i} a_{i}(s, x) \frac{\partial E}{\partial z_{i}} - \frac{1}{2} \sigma_{ij} \frac{\partial^{2} E}{\partial z_{i} \partial z_{j}}$$
$$\frac{\partial E}{\partial t} = -\sum_{i} a_{i}(t, w) \frac{\partial E}{\partial w_{i}} + \frac{1}{2} \sigma_{ij} \frac{\partial^{2} E}{\partial w_{i} \partial w_{j}}$$

recalling that $a_i = \sum_{k,j} \frac{\partial b_{ij}}{\partial x_k} b_{kj}$; σ is defined by $\sigma_{ik} = \sum_j b_{ij} b_{kj}$. Then we can combine standard decay bounds for *E* with Schauder interior

Then we can combine standard decay bounds for E with Schauder interior estimates and obtain the following bounds: there exist c, C > 0 such that for $0 \le s < t \le 1$ and $y, z \in \mathbb{R}^d$ we have $|E(s, t, z, w)| \le C(t-s)^{-d/2} e^{-c|z-w|^2/(t-s)}$ and

$$\frac{\partial^2 E(s,t,z,w)}{\partial z_i \partial z_j} \bigg| \le C(t-s)^{-1-d/2} \mathrm{e}^{-c|z-w|^2/(t-s)}$$

with a similar bound for the 2nd partial derivatives w.r.t. *w*. We can combine these to get $|D(s, t, z, w)| \leq C(t - s)^{-1-d/2} e^{-c|z-w|^2/(t-s)}$. As a consequence we have a bound $|D(s, t, z, w)| \leq Cd(s, z; t, w)^{-d-2}$ using the parabolic metric $d(s, y; t, z) = |z - w| + |s - t|^{1/2}$. Moreover, the Schauder estimates give Hölder estimates from which it follows that for some $\delta > 0$ we have a bound

$$|D(s, t, z, w) - D(s, t', z, w')| \le C \frac{d(t, w; t', w')^{\delta}}{d(s, z; t, w)^{d+2+\delta}}$$

whenever $\frac{d(t,w;t',w')}{d(s,z;t,w)} < \frac{1}{2}$. We now assert:

Lemma 1. The operator T defined by

$$Th(s, y) = \int_{s}^{1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} D(s, t, y, z) h(t, z) dz dt$$

is bounded on $L^2([0,1] \times \mathbb{R}^d)$.

This is proved by applying a 'T(1) theorem on spaces of homogeneous type' for an operator T of Calderon–Zygmund type, which, by virtue of the above bounds on D, our T is (on $[0, 1] \times \mathbb{R}^d$, with Lebesgue measure and the parabolic metric, which is a space of homogeneous type). The T(1) theorem asserts that T is bounded on L^2 provided T(1) and $T^*(1)$ are in BMO. See e.g. [1]. Our operators T_{ij} are of the required type, provided we equip $\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^d$ with the parabolic metric, and we have in fact $T_{ij}(1) = 0$, and $T_{ij}^*(1) = 0$ (this follows from the fact that $\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} D(s, t, y, z) dz = 0$ and $\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} D(s, t, y, z) dy = 0$). We also note the bound $|B_i(s, t, z, w)| \le C(t-s)^{-(d+1)/2} e^{-c|z-w|^2/(t-s)}$ We now apply Lemma 1 to show

Lemma 2. Given $\alpha > 0$ we can find a constant C such that, if ϕ and h are realvalued Borel functions on $[0,1] \times \mathbb{R}$ with $|\phi(t,y)| \leq e^{-\alpha y^2/t}$ and $|h(t,y)| \leq 1$ everywhere, and $0 \leq t_0 < T \leq 1$, then

$$\left|\int_{(t_0+T)/2}^T \mathrm{d}t \int_{(t_0+t)/2}^t \mathrm{d}s \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \phi(s,z)h(t,y)D(t-s,y-z)\mathrm{d}y\mathrm{d}z\right| \le C(T-t_0)$$

Proof. We follow the proof of Lemma 2.3 of [2], using Lemma 1 in place for the Fourier transform calculation. Instead the covering of \mathbb{R} by intervals of length 1 in [2], we use a covering of \mathbb{R}^d by cubes of side $(T-t_0)^{1/2}$. Then with notation as there we have $I_{lm} = \langle Th_m, \phi_l \rangle$ and $\|h_l\|_2 \leq C_1(T-t_0)^{1/2}$, $\sum_l \|\phi_l\|_2 \leq C_2(T-t_0)^{1/2}$. Also the sum of $|I_{lm}|$ over pairs of cubes separated by at least $(T-t_0)^{1/2}$ is bounded by $C_3(T-t_0)$. For other l, m pairs we use $|I_{lm}| \leq \|T\| \|\phi_l\|_2 \|h_m\|_2$ to deduce $\sum_{l,m} |I_{lm}| \leq C(T-t_0)$.

Corollary 1. There is a constant C such that if g and h are Borel functions on $[0, 1] \times \mathbb{R}$ bounded by 1 everywhere, $z_0 \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and $0 \le t_0 < T \le 1$, then

$$\left| \int_{(t_0+T)/2}^T dt \int_{(t_0+t)/2}^t ds \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} g(s,z) E(t_0, s, z_0, z) h(t, w) D(s, t, z, w) dz dw \right| \le C(T - t_0)$$

and

$$\left| \int_{(t_0+T)/2}^T \mathrm{d}t \int_{(t_0+t)/2}^t \mathrm{d}s \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} g(s,z) B_1(t_0,s,z_0,z) h(t,w) D(s,t,z,w) \mathrm{d}z \mathrm{d}w \right| \\ \leq C(T-t_0)^{1/2}$$

Proof. These follow easily from Lemma (2).

Lemma 3. There is a constant C such that if g and h are Borel functions on $[0, 1] \times \mathbb{R}$ bounded by 1 everywhere, and $r \ge 0$ then

$$\left| \int_{t_0}^T dt \int_{t_0}^t ds \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} g(s, z) E(t_0, s, z_0, z) h(t, w) D(s, t, z, w) dz dw (1-t)^r \right| \\ \leq C(1+r)^{-1} (T-t_0)^{r+1}$$

and

$$\left| \int_{t_0}^T dt \int_{t_0}^t ds \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} g(s, z) B_1(t_0, s, z_0, z) h(t, w) D(s, t, z, w) dz dw (1-t)^r \right| \\ \leq C(1+r)^{-1/2} (T-t_0)^{r+\frac{1}{2}}$$

This is proved in the same way as Lemma 2.5 of [2].

As in [2] we can now complete the proof of Proposition 3 by proving by induction on k, for suitable choice of M, that

$$|I_{S}(t_{0}, z_{0})| \leq \frac{M^{k}}{\Gamma(\frac{k}{2}+1)} (1-t_{0})^{k/2}$$
(5)

for any allowed string S of length k. The proof is split into 3 cases as in [2]. The role of B in [2] is played by B_1 in case (1) and B_1 in case (3). With this adjustment the proof is the same as in [2].

We can then deduce Proposition 2 from Proposition 3 in the same way that Proposition 2.1 in [2] is deduced (but omitting the reduction to d = 1).

The following corollary is what we mainly use. For $s \ge 0$ let \mathcal{F}_s be the σ -field generated by $\{W(\tau) : 0 < \tau < s\}$.

Corollary 2. There is a constant c > 0 such that if g is a Borel function on $[0, 1] \times \mathbb{R}^d$ with $|g| \le 1$ everywhere and $0 \le s \le a < b \le 1$, then for $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and $\lambda > 0$ we have

$$\mathbb{P}\left(\left|\int_{a}^{b} \{g(z(t)+x) - g(z(t))\} \mathrm{d}t\right| \ge \lambda(b-a)^{1/2}|x| \, |\mathcal{F}_{s}\right) \le 2\mathrm{e}^{-c\lambda^{2}}$$

This is deduced from Proposition 2 in the same way as Corollary 2.6 in [2]. We also need the following technical lemma.

Lemma 4. There exists $\delta > 0$ such that, given K > 0 we can find C > 0 so that, if $0 \le s_0 < s < t$, and A is a matrix with $||A|| \le K$ and $||(I + A)^{-1}|| \le K$, then the following holds, where we define the random vector X by $X = z(t) + A(z(s) - z(s_0))$:

For any Borel function h on \mathbb{R}^d with $|h| \leq 1$ everywhere, we have

$$\mathbb{E}|(h(X)|\mathcal{F}_{s_0}) - \mathbb{E}h(V)| < C\{(t-s_0)^{\varepsilon}\lambda^{-r} + \lambda\}$$

where $\lambda = \frac{t-s}{t-s_0}$ and V is a random vector, normally distributed with mean $z(s_0)$ and covariance $(I + A)BB^t(I + A)^t$, where $B = b(z(s_0))$.

Proof. Let f_X be the density of X, conditional on \mathcal{F}_{s_0} . Then we can write $F(x) = \mathbb{E}(E(s,t,(I+A)Z(s),x)|\mathcal{F}_{s_0})$ and using our regularity results for E we deduce $|\nabla F(x)| \leq C_1(t-s)^{-\frac{d+1}{2}}$ for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$.

Individual Path Uniqueness of Solutions of Stochastic Differential Equations

Now define

$$Y = z(s_0) + B(W(t) - W(s_0)) + AB(W(x) - W(s_0))$$

Then (conditional on \mathcal{F}_{s_0}) *Y* has a normal distribution with mean $z(s_0)$ and covariance matrix $(s - s_0)(I + A)BB^t(I + A^t) + (t - s)BB^t$. Now straightforward estimates give $\mathbb{E}(|X - Y||\mathcal{F}_{s_0}) \leq C_2(t - s_0)^{\frac{1}{2} + \eta}$ for some constant $\eta > 0$. We need to convert this to a bound for the difference of densities $f_X - f_Y$. Fix $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$, let $\delta > 0$ (to be specified later) and let ϕ be a nonnegative smooth function on \mathbb{R}^d , supported on the δ -neighbourhood of x, such that $\int \phi = 1$ and $|\nabla \phi| \leq C_3 \delta^{-d-1}$. Using the derivative bound for f_X we have $|f_X(x) - \int \phi f_X| \leq C_4 \delta |t - s|^{-\frac{d+1}{2}}$. And

$$\left|\int \phi f_X - \int \phi f_Y \right| \le \mathbb{E}|\phi(X) - \phi(Y)| \le C_3 \delta^{-d-1} \mathbb{E}|X - Y| \le C_5 \delta^{-d-1} |t - s_0^{\frac{1}{2} + \eta}$$

Putting these bounds together, and choosing $\delta = (t - s_0)^{\frac{1}{2} + \frac{\eta}{d+2}} \lambda^{\frac{d+1}{2(d+2)}}$ we obtain

$$|f_X(x) - f_Y(x)| \le C_6(t - s_0)^{\frac{\eta}{d+2} - \frac{d}{2}} \lambda^{-r}$$

and since $f_X(x)$ decays like $e^{-c|x|^2/(t-s_0)}$ we deduce that if $0 < \varepsilon < \frac{\eta}{d+2}$ then $\int |f_X(x) - f_Y(x)| dx \le C_7(t-s_0)^{\varepsilon} \lambda^{-r}$. Finally *Y* and *V* both have normal distributions with the same mean and with covariance matrices having a relative difference $O(\lambda)$ so $\int |f_Y(x) - f_V(x)| dx \le C_8 \lambda$ and the result follows.

4 Proof of Theorem

As we have seen, it suffices to prove Proposition 1, so we assume the conditions of that proposition hold. We let z(t) denote the strong solution of (1), so we have to show that for almost all paths W, z is the only solution of (1) for $0 \le t \le 1$ in our 'rough path' sense. We write x(t) = z(t) + u(t) and then we have to show that the only solution u of

$$u(t) = \int_0^t \{f(s, z(s) + u(s)) - f(s, z(s))\} ds + \int_0^t \{b(s, z(s) + u(s)) - b(s, z(s))\} dW(s)$$
(6)

satisfying u(0) = 0 is u(t) = 0, where the $\int dW$ is interpreted in rough path sense.

The basic idea is to approximate *u* by a sequence of step functions u_n , such that u_n is constant on each interval $I_{nk} = [k2^{-n}, (k+1)2^{-n}], k = 0, 1, 2, ..., 2^n - 1$ and then use

$$\int_{I_{nk}} \{f(t, z(t) + u(t)) - f(t, z(t))\} dt$$

$$= \lim_{l \to \infty} \int_{I_{nk}} \{f(t, z(t) + u_{l}(t)) - f(t, z(t))\} dt$$

$$= \int_{I_{nk}} \{f(t, z(t) + u_{n}(t)) - f(t, z(t))\} dt$$

$$+ \sum_{l=n}^{\infty} \int_{I_{nk}} \{f(t, z(t) + u_{l+1}(t)) - f(t, z(t) + u_{l}(t))\} dt$$
(7)

with a similar expansion for $\int_{I_{nk}} \{b(t, z(t) + u(t)) - b(t, z(t))\} dW(t)$. We introduce the notation

$$\theta_{nk}(x) = \int_{I_{nk}} \{f(t, z(t) + x) - f(t, z(t))\} dt$$

$$\phi_{nk} = \int_{I_{nk}} \{b(t, z(t) + x) - b(t, z(t))\} dW(t)$$

and then $\sigma_{nk}(x) = \theta_{nk}(x) + \phi_{nk}(x)$, $\mu_{nk}(x, y) = \theta_{nk}(x) - \theta_{nk}(y)$, $\nu_{nk}(x, y) = \phi_{nk}(x) - \phi_{nk}(y)$ and finally

$$\rho_{nk}(x, y) = \mu_{nk}(x, y) + \nu_{nk}(x, y) = \sigma_{nk}(x) - \sigma_{nk}(y)$$

Using this notation, from (7), and the similar expansion for the dW, (6) implies

$$u((k+1)2^{-n}) - u(k2^{-n}) = \sigma_{nk}(u(k2^{-n})) + \sum_{l=n}^{\infty} \sum_{r=k2^{l-n}}^{(k+1)2^{l-n}-1} \rho_{l+1,2r+1}$$

$$(u(2^{-l-1}(2r+1)), u(2^{-l}r))$$
(8)

As in [2], the first stage of the proof is to show that a number of estimates for these quantities hold with probability 1. In doing this, we need to use two distinct probability measures on our sample space, the original measure which we denote by \mathbb{P} and the equivalent measure, given by the Girsanov theorem, w.r.t. which the process *z* had the same law as *y* in Sect. 3. We denote this measure by $\tilde{\mathbb{P}}$. We use \mathbb{E} and $\tilde{\mathbb{E}}$ for the corresponding expectations. As the measures are mutually absolutely continuous, statements of the form 'with probability 1' can be made without specifying the measure. The first estimate we need is

Lemma 5. With probability 1, for every cube $Q \subseteq \mathbb{R}^d$ there is a constant C > 0 such that the following bounds hold:

$$|\rho_{nk}(x,y)| \le C \left\{ n^{1/2} + \left(\log^+ \frac{1}{|x-y|} \right)^{1/2} \right\} 2^{-n/2} |x-y|$$

c

for all dyadic $x, y \in Q$ and all choices of integers n, k with n > 0 and $0 \le k \le 2^n - 1$.

This is proved by proving separately the same bound for μ and for ν . The bound for μ is identical to that of Lemma 3.1 in [2], using and working with $\tilde{\mathbb{P}}$. That for ν is proved using and working with \mathbb{P} .

Next we have

Lemma 6. With probability 1, for every cube $Q \subseteq \mathbb{R}^d$ there is a constant C > 0 such that for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$, $k \in \{0, 1, \dots, 2^n - 1\}$ and dyadic $x \in Q$ we have

$$|\sigma_{nk}(x)| \le C n^{1/2} 2^{-n/2} (|x| + 2^{-2^n})$$

Again this is proved separately for θ and ϕ , using the argument of Lemma 3.2 of [2] and the same bounds as in the previous lemma.

We also need an analogue of Lemma 3.6 of [2], for sums of ρ_{nk} terms. This requires martingale arguments as used in the proof of Lemma 3.5 of [2], but they are complicated by the fact these arguments involve both probability measures \mathbb{P} and $\tilde{\mathbb{P}}$. We manage to arrange the proof to keep them separate. First we prove the following bound for sums of σ_{nk} terms.

Lemma 7. With probability 1, for any cube Q we can find C > 0 such that, for any choice of $n, r \in \mathbb{N}$ with $r \leq 2^{n/4}$, $k \in \{0, 1, \dots, 2^n - r \text{ and } x_0 \in Q$, if we define x_1, \dots, x_r by the recurrence relation $x_{q+1} = x_q + \sigma_{n,k+q}(x_q)$, then

$$\sum_{q=0}^{r-1} |\sigma_{n,k+q}(x_q)| \le C(2^{-n/4}|x_0| + 2^{-2^{-n/2}})$$

Proof. Again we prove the estimate separately for θ and ϕ , starting with θ . For K > 0 and dyadic *t* define an event χ_t^K : for all $n \in \mathbb{N}, k \in \{0, 1, \dots, 2^n - 1\}$ with $(k + 1)2^{-n} \le t$ and dyadic $x \in Q$ we have

$$|\sigma_{nk}(x)| \le K n^{1/2} 2^{-n/2} (|x| + 2^{-2^n})$$

Then χ_t^K increases with *K* and Lemma 6 says that the union has full measure. One easily checks that for given *K* there is C(K) such that in χ_t^K one has, in the situation of the statement of this lemma, $|x_q| \leq C(K)|x_0|$ provided $(k+q)2^{-n} \leq t$. We abuse notation and write χ_q for χ_t when $t = (k+q)2^{-n}$.

We fix K and define $Y_q = |\theta_{n,k+q-1}(x_{q-1})|\chi_{q-1}^K$, $Z_q = \tilde{\mathbb{E}}(Y_q|\mathcal{F}_{q-1} \text{ and } X_q = Y_q - Z_q$. Then we have $Z_q \leq C_1 2^{-n/2} C(K)|x_0|$ for each q. Also, by Burkholder's inequality, for any $p \geq 2$,

$$\tilde{\mathbb{E}}|\sum_{q=1}^{r} X_{q}|^{p} \leq C_{p} r^{p/2-1} \sum \tilde{\mathbb{E}}(Y_{q}^{p}) \leq C_{2} C(K)^{p} C(p) r^{p/2-1} 2^{-np/2} |x_{0}|^{p}$$

Using this, we can use the methods of Lemmas 3.5 and 3.6 of [2] to obtain the required bound.

The estimate for ϕ is similar, using \mathbb{P} , but simpler as the analogue of Z_q vanishes.

Now we apply Lemma 7 to obtain the required bound for sums of ρ_{nk} .

Lemma 8. With probability 1, for any cube Q we can find C > 0 such that for any $n, r \in \mathbb{N}$ with $r \leq 2^{n/4}$, and $k \in \{0, 1, \dots, 2^n - r\}$ and any $y_0, \dots, y_r \in Q$ we have

$$\sum_{q=1}^{r} |\rho_{n,k+q}(y_{q-1}, y_q)| \le C \left(2^{-3n/4} |y_0| + 2^{-n/4} \sum_{q=0}^{r-1} |\gamma_q| + 2^{-2^{n/2}} \right)$$

where $\gamma_q = y_{q+1} - y_q - \sigma_{n,k+q}(y_q)$.

Proof. Again we obtain bounds for μ and ν separately. We give the proof for μ .

We proceed in a manner similar to the previous lemma. Fix Q, then define χ_t^K to be the event that the conclusion of Lemma 7 holds with C = K whenever $(k + r + 1)2^{-n} \le t$. Then define $Y_q = |\mu_{n,k+q}(x_{q-1}, x_q)|\chi_q^K$, $Z_q = \tilde{\mathbb{E}}(Y_q | \mathcal{F}_q$ and $X_q = Y_q - Z_q$. We get $\sum Z_q \le CK2^{-3n/4}(|x_0| + 2^{-2^{n/2}})$ and

$$\tilde{\mathbb{E}} |\sum_{q=1}^{\prime} X_q|^p \le C_p K^p r^{p/2} n^{p/2} 2^{-np} (|x_0| + 2^{-2^n})^p$$

which suffices for the method of proof of Lemma 3.6 in [2].

Lemma 9. There exists $\delta > 0$ such that, with probability 1, for any cube Q we can find C > 0 such that for any $n, r \in \mathbb{N}$ with $r \leq 2^{n/4}$, and $k \in \{0, 1, \dots, 2^n - 2r\}$ and any $y_0, \dots, y_r \in Q$ we have

$$\left|\sum_{q=1}^{r} \rho_{n,k+2q}(y_{2q-1}, y_{2q})\right| \le C\left(2^{-(\frac{3}{4}+\delta)n} + 2^{-n/4}\sum_{q=0}^{r-1}|\gamma_q|\right)$$

where $\gamma_q = y_{q+1} - y_q - \sigma_{n,k+q}(y_q)$.

Proof. Again we consider μ and ν separately, and we only discuss μ which is harder. We simply outline the idea, which is to use a martingale argument similar to those in the previous two lemmas, but using a better bound for the expectation term. To do this we consider a short-term approximation to the solutions z(t) and x(t) = z(t) + u(t). Given a time s_0 , for $t > s_0$ but close to s_0 we expect $z(t) \approx z(s_0) + B(W(t) - W(t_0))$ and $x(t) \approx x(s_0) + C(W(s) - W(s_0))$ where $B = b(z(s_0))$ and $C = b(x(s_0))$. Then we have $u(t) \approx Az(s) + w$ where $A = CB^{-1} - I$ and $w = u(s_0) - Az(s_0)$.

Now consider $\tilde{\mathbb{E}}(\mu_{n,k+2q}(x, y)|\mathcal{F}_{s_0})$ where $s_0 = j2^{-n}$ and k + 2q - j >> 1. We can write this as Individual Path Uniqueness of Solutions of Stochastic Differential Equations

$$\int_{(k+2q)2^{-n}}^{(k+2q+1)2^{-n}} \{ \tilde{\mathbb{E}}(g(t,x+z(t))|\mathcal{F}_{s_0}) - \tilde{\mathbb{E}}(g(t,y+z(t))|\mathcal{F}_{s_0}) \} dt$$

where we have suppressed the conditioning. We want to estimate these expectations when x, y are y_{2q-1} , y_{2q} . The idea is that y_j is an approximation to $u(2^{-n}(k+j))$ which can in turn be approximated by $Az(2^{-n}(k+j)) + w$. We can use this approximation and Lemma 4 to approximate each of the two terms in the integral, and the resulting V's are the same in the two cases, so the approximations cancel. We are left with the various error terms which give a bound for $\tilde{\mathbb{E}}(\mu_{n,k+2q}(y_{2q-1}, y_{2q})|\mathcal{F}_{s_0})$ which can then be used in a martingale estimate which gives the stated result.

Note that, in contrast with Lemma 8, the bound in Lemma 9 does not involve y_0 . Lemma 9 is applied for very large *n* and it is the dependence on *n* which is important, the extra δ in the exponent being crucial as it ensures that the bound is small relative to the total length of the intervals involved.

The next step is to use all the above results to obtain the following:

Lemma 10. With probability 1, for any cube Q there are positive constants K and m_0 such that, for all integers $m > m_0$, if u is a solution of (1) with $u(t) \in Q$ for all $t \in [0, 1]$ and for some $j \in \{0, 1, ..., 2^m - 1\}$ and some β with $2^{-2^{3m/4}} \le \beta \le 2^{-2^{2m/3}}$ we have $|u(j2^{-m})| \le \beta$, then

$$|u((j+1)2^{-m})| \le \beta \{1 + K2^{-m} \log(1/\beta)\}\$$

The proof of this Lemma uses (8) and the above bounds and mostly follows exactly the proof of Lemma 3.7 of [2], so we merely mention the points that are different. The estimate for $\sum_{l=N+1}^{\infty} \Omega_l$ in (33) in [2] does not work here because u does not satisfy a Lipschitz condition, but Lemma 9 is an adequate substitute. The other point of difference is the technical justification of the limiting process as $l \to \infty$ involved in (7). In [2], this is handled using Lemma 3.4 of that paper. The proof of that lemma uses the fact that u is Lipschitz, so it does not work in the present context, but we can modify the proof using Lemma 9 as a substitute again, and this deals with the liming question for the dt integral. For the dW integral, it can be handled by a straightforward "rough path" argument.

Finally, Proposition 1, and hence Theorem 1, then follows from Lemma 10 as in [2].

References

- 1. David, G.: Wavelets and singular integrals on curves and surfaces, Lecture Notes in Mathematics 1465. Springer (1991)
- Davie, A.M.: Uniqueness of solutions of stochastic differential equations. Int. Maths. Res. Not. 24 (2007), Art. ID rnm 124
- 3. Ikeda, N., Watanabe, S.: Stochastic differential equations and diffusion processes. North Holland (1989)
- Veretennikov, A.Yu.: On strong solutions and explicit formulas for solutions of stochastic integral equations (Russian). Mat. Sbornik (N.S.) 111(153), 434–452, 480 (1980). English translation in Math. USSR Sb. 39, 387–403 (1981)

Stochastic Integrals and SDE Driven by Nonlinear Lévy Noise

Vassili N. Kolokoltsov

Abstract We develop the theory of SDE driven by nonlinear Lévy noise, aiming at applications to Markov processes. It is shown that a conditionally positive integro-differential operator (of the Lévy–Khintchine type) with variable coefficients (diffusion, drift and Lévy measure) depending Lipschitz continuously on its parameters generates a Markov semigroup, where the measures are metricized by the Wasserstein–Kantorovich metrics W_p . The analysis of SDE driven by nonlinear Lévy noise was initiated by the author in Probability Theory Related Fields, [12] 2009 (inspired partially by Carmona and Nualart, Nonlinear Stochastic Integrators, Equations and Flows [4]; see also Kolokoltsov, Nonlinear Markov Processes and Kinetic Equations [11]). Here, we suggest an alternative (seemingly more straightforward) approach based on the path-wise interpretation of these integrals as nonhomogeneous Lévy processes. Moreover, we are working with more general W_p -distances rather than with W_2 .

Keywords SDE driven by Lévy noise · Nonlinear integrators · Wasserstein-Kantorovich metric · Pseudo-differential operators · Markov processes

MSC (2010): 60J25, 60H05

1 Introduction

It is well known that the generator L of a conservative (i.e., preserving constants) Feller semigroup in \mathbf{R}^d , with a domain containing the space $C_c^2(\mathbf{R}^d)$, has the following Lévy–Khintchine form with variable coefficients:

$$Lf(x) = \frac{1}{2} (G(x)\nabla, \nabla) f(x) + (b(x), \nabla f(x)) + \int (f(x+y) - f(x) - (\nabla f(x), y) \mathbf{1}_{B_1}(y)) v(x, dy),$$
(1)

V.N. Kolokoltsov

Department of Statistics, University of Warwick, Coventry CV4 7AL, United Kingdom e-mail: v.kolokoltsov@warwick.ac.uk

D. Crisan (ed.), Stochastic Analysis 2010, DOI 10.1007/978-3-642-15358-7_11,

[©] Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2011

where G(x) is a symmetric non-negative matrix and v(x, .) a Borel measure on \mathbb{R}^d (called Lévy measure) such that

$$\int_{\mathbf{R}^n} \min(1, |y|^2) \nu(x; \mathrm{d}y) < \infty, \quad \nu(\{0\}) = 0.$$
⁽²⁾

The inverse question on whether a given operator of this form (or better to say its closure) actually generates a Feller semigroup is nontrivial and attracted lots of attention. One can distinguish analytic and probabilistic approaches to this problem. The existence results obtained by analytic techniques require certain nondegeneracy condition on ν , e.g., a lower bound for the symbol of pseudo-differential operator L (see, e.g., [2, 6, 9] and references therein), and for the construction of the processes via usual stochastic calculus (integration with respect to the Wiener process combined with a Poisson measure), one needs to have a family of transformations F_x of \mathbf{R}^d preserving the origin, regularly depending on x and pushing a certain Lévy measure ν to the Lévy measures $\nu(x, .)$, i.e., $\nu(x, .) = \nu^{F_x}$ (see, e.g., [1]). Yet more nontrivial is the problem of constructing the so called nonlinear Markov semigroups solving the weak equations of the form

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}(f,\mu_t) = (L_{\mu_t}f,\mu_t), \quad \mu_t \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbf{R}^d), \quad \mu_0 = \mu, \tag{3}$$

that should hold, say, for all $f \in C_c^2(\mathbf{R}^d)$, where L_{μ} has form (1), but with all coefficients additionally depending on μ , i.e.,

$$L_{\mu}f(x) = \frac{1}{2}(G(x,\mu)\nabla,\nabla)f(x) + (b(x,\mu),\nabla f(x)) + \int (f(x+y) - f(x) - (\nabla f(x),y)\mathbf{1}_{B_{1}}(y))\nu(x,\mu,dy).$$
(4)

Equations of type (3) play indispensable role in the theory of interacting particles (mean field approximation) and exhaust all positivity preserving evolutions on measures subject to certain mild regularity assumptions (see, e.g., [10, 17]).

Our aim is to extend stochastic calculus in the way that would allow the treatment of general Markov processes generated by (1) or their nonlinear counterpart generated by (3) as solutions to certain SDEs. We will concentrate only on the linear problem specified by (1) (nonlinear extension can be done in the same way as in [12]). But unlike [12], here, we follow a more straightforward approach based on the path-wise interpretation of these integrals as nonhomogeneous Lévy or additive processes.

Next section is devoted to a result on the duality for propagators, on the level of generality required. In Sects. 3 and 4, a general approach to the stochastic integration with respect to a nonlinear Lévy noise is developed. In particular, the well-posedness of the corresponding SDEs is reformulated in terms of the uniqueness of an invariant

measure for a certain probability kernel on the Skorohod space of cadlag paths.¹ In Sect. 4, this uniqueness is obtained for the case of Levy measures v(x, dy) depending Lipschitz continuous on the position x in the Wasserstein–Kantorovich metric W_p . Appendix describes the basic coupling of Lévy process forming the cornerstone of our W_p -estimates.

2 Analytic Preliminaries

Suppose $\{U^{t,r}\}, t \leq r$, is a strongly continuous backward propagator (see, e.g., Chap. 5 of [14]) of bounded linear operators on a Banach space *B* with a common invariant domain *D*, which is itself a Banach space with the norm $|| ||_D \geq || ||_B$. Let $\{A_t\}, t \geq 0$, be a family of bounded linear operators $D \rightarrow B$ depending strongly measurably on *t* (i.e., $A_t f$ is a measurable function $t \mapsto B$ for each $f \in D$). Let us say that the family $\{A_t\}$ generates $\{U^{t,r}\}$ on the invariant domain *D* if the equations

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}s}U^{t,s}f = U^{t,s}A_sf, \quad \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}s}U^{s,r}f = -A_sU^{s,r}f, \quad t \le s \le r, \tag{5}$$

hold a.s. in *s* for any $f \in D$, that is there exists a set of zero-measure *S* in **R** such that for all t < r and all $f \in D$ (5) hold for all *s* outside *S*, where the derivatives exist in the Banach topology of *B*. In particular, if the operators A_t depend strongly continuously on *t*, this implies that (5) hold for all *s* and $f \in D$, where for s = t (resp. s = r) it is assumed to be only a right (resp. left) derivative.

For a Banach space B or a linear operator A, we shall denote, as usual, its Banach dual by B^* or A^* , respectively.

Theorem 1. Let $U^{t,r}$ be a strongly continuous backward propagator of bounded linear operators in a Banach space *B* with a common invariant domain *D*, which is itself a Banach space with the norm $|| ||_D \ge || ||_B$, and let the family $\{A_t\}$ of bounded linear operators $D \to B$ generates $U^{t,r}$ on *D*. Then, the following holds.

(i) The family of dual operators $V^{s,t} = (U^{t,s})^*$, $t \le s$, forms a weakly continuous in s, t propagator of bounded linear operators in B^* such that

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}s}V^{s,t}\xi = A_s^{\star}V^{s,t}\xi, \quad t \le s \le r,\tag{6}$$

weakly in D^* , that is

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}s}(f, V^{s,t}\xi) = (A_s f, V^{s,t}\xi), \quad t \le s \le r, \quad f \in D,$$
(7)

for *s* outside a zero-measure subset of $s \in \mathbf{R}$.

¹ recall that a probability or stochastic kernel on a Borel space is a measurable mapping from this space to the set of its probability measures

(ii) $V^{s,t}\xi$ is the unique solution to the Cauchy problem of (7), i.e., if $\xi_t = \xi$ for a given $\xi \in B^*$ and ξ_s , $s \in [t, r]$, is a weakly continuous family in B^* satisfying

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}s}(f,\xi_s) = (A_s f,\xi_s), \quad t \le s \le r, \quad f \in D,$$
(8)

for *s* outside a zero-measure subset of **R**, then $\xi_s = V^{s,t}\xi$ for all $s \in [t, r]$.

(iii) $U^{s,r} f$ is the unique solution to the inverse Cauchy problem of the second equation in (5), i.e., if $f_r = f$, $f_s \in D$ for $s \in [t, r]$ and satisfies the equation

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}s}f_s = -A_s f_s, \quad t \le s \le r, \tag{9}$$

for *s* outside a zero-measure subset of **R** (with the derivative existing in the norm topology of *B*), then $f_s = U^{s,r} f$ for all $s \in [t, r]$.

Proof. Statement (i) is a direct consequence of duality and (5). (ii) For a given r, let $g(s) = (U^{s,r} f, \xi_s)$ for a given $f \in D$. Writing

$$(U^{s+\delta,r} f, \xi_{s+\delta}) - (U^{s,r} f, \xi_s) = (U^{s+\delta,r} f - U^{s,r} f, \xi_s) + (U^{s,r} f, \xi_{s+\delta} - \xi_s) + (U^{s+\delta,r} f - U^{s,r} f, \xi_{s+\delta} - \xi_s)$$

and using (5), (8) and the invariance of D, allows one to conclude that

$$\frac{d}{ds}g(s) = -(A_s U^{s,r} f, \xi_s) + (U^{s,r} f, A_s^* \xi_s) = 0,$$

because a.s. in s

$$\left(\frac{U^{s+\delta,r}f - U^{s,r}f}{\delta}, \xi_{s+\delta} - \xi_s\right) \to 0,$$

as $\delta \to 0$ (since the family $\delta^{-1}(U^{s+\delta,r}f - U^{s,r}f)$ is relatively compact, being convergent, and ξ_s is weakly continuous). Hence, $g(r) = (f, \xi_r) = g(t) = (U^{t,r}f, \xi_t)$ showing that ξ_r is uniquely defined. (iii) Similar to (ii) it follows from the observation that

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}s}(f_s, V^{s,t}\xi) = 0.$$

Theorem 2. Suppose we are given a sequence of propagators $\{U_n^{t,r}\}$, n = 1, 2, ..., generated by the families $\{A_t^n\}$ and a propagator $\{U^{t,r}\}$ generated by the family $\{A_t\}$. Suppose all these propagators satisfy the same conditions as $U^{t,r}$ and A_t from Theorem 1 with the same D, B. Suppose also that all $U^{t,r}$ are uniformly bounded as operators in D.

(i) Let the families Aⁿ_t and A_t depend cadlag on t in the Banach topology of the space L(D, B) of bounded operators D → B and Aⁿ_t converge to A_t as n → ∞ in the corresponding Skorohod topology of the space D([0, T], L(D, B)). Then, U^{t,r}_n converge to U^{t,r} strongly in B as n → ∞.

(ii) Let the families A_t^n and A_t depend cadlag on t in the strong topology of the space $\mathcal{L}(D, B)$, $A_t^n f$ converge to $A_t f$, as $n \to \infty$, in the Skorohod topology of the space D([0, T], B) for any f and uniformly for f from any compact subset of D. Moreover, let the family $U^{t,r}$ is strongly continuous as a family of operators in D. Then again, $U_n^{t,r}$ converge to $U^{t,r}$ strongly in B.

Proof. (i) By the density argument (taking into account that $U_n^{t,r}g$ are uniformly bounded), in order to prove the strong convergence of $U_n^{t,r}$ to $U^{t,r}$, it is sufficient to prove that $U_n^{t,r}g$ converge to $U^{t,r}g$ for any $g \in D$. If $g \in D$,

$$(U_n^{t,r} - U^{t,r})g = U_n^{t,s}U^{s,r}g \mid_{s=t}^r = \int_t^r U_n^{t,s}(A_s^n - A_s)U^{s,r}g \,\mathrm{d}s.$$
(10)

In order to prove that expression (10) converges to zero as $n \to \infty$, it is sufficient to show that

$$\int_0^r \|A_s^n - A_s\|_{D \to B} \,\mathrm{d}s \to 0$$

as $n \to \infty$. Since A_t^n converge to A_t in the Skorohod topology, there exists a sequence λ_n of the monotone bijections of [0, r] such that

$$\sup_{s} |\lambda_n(s) - s| \to 0, \quad \sup_{s} ||A_s^n - A_{\lambda_n(s)}||_{D \to B} \to 0,$$

as $n \to \infty$. Hence, writing

$$\int_0^r \|A_s^n - A_s\|_{D \to B} \, \mathrm{d}s = \int_0^r \|A_s^n - A_{\lambda_n(s)}\|_{D \to B} \, \mathrm{d}s + \int_0^r \|A_s - A_{\lambda_n(s)}\|_{D \to B} \, \mathrm{d}s,$$

we see that both terms tend to zero (the second one by the dominated convergence, as the limiting function vanishes a.s.).

(ii) This is proved similar to (i).

3 Additive Processes as Stochastic Integrals Driven by Nonhomogeneous Noise

Here, we are interested in the processes generated by a time dependent family of Lévy–Khintchine operators

$$L_{t}f(x) = \frac{1}{2}(G_{t}\nabla,\nabla)f(x) + (b_{t},\nabla f)(x) + \int [f(x+y) - f(x) - (y,\nabla f(x))\mathbf{1}_{B_{1}}(y)]v_{t}(dy), \quad (11)$$

where for any t, G_t is a non-negative symmetric $d \times d$ -matrix, $b_t \in \mathbf{R}^d$ and v_t is a Lévy measure. The set of Lévy measures is equipped with the weak topology, where the continuous dependence of the family v_t on t means that $\int f(y)v_t(dy)$ depends continuously on t for any continuous f on \mathbf{R}^d with $|f(y)| \le c \min(|y|^2, 1)$.

We shall denote by $C_{\infty}(\mathbf{R}^d)$ the space of continuous functions on \mathbf{R}^d vanishing at infinity, and by $C_{\infty}^k(\mathbf{R}^d)$ its subspace consisting of functions, whose derivatives up to and including order k also belong to $C_{\infty}(\mathbf{R}^d)$.

Proposition 3.1. For a given family $\{L_t\}$ of form (11) with bounded coefficients $G_t, b_t, v_t, i.e.$,

$$\sup_{t} (\|G_t\| + \|b_t\| + \int (1 \wedge y^2) \nu_t(\mathrm{d}y)) < \infty,$$

that depend continuously on t a.s., i.e., outside a fixed zero-measure subset $S \subset \mathbf{R}$, there exists a unique family $\{\Phi^{s,t}\}$ of positive linear contractions in $C_{\infty}(\mathbf{R}^d)$ depending strongly continuously on $s \leq t$ such that for any $f \in C_{\infty}^2(\mathbf{R}^d)$ the functions $f_s = \Phi^{s,t} f$ belong to $C_{\infty}^2(\mathbf{R}^d)$ and solve a.s. (i.e., for s outside a zero-measure set) the inverse-time Cauchy problem

$$\dot{f_s} = -L_s f_s, \quad s \le t, \quad f_t = f \tag{12}$$

(derivative is taken in the Banach topology of $C(\mathbf{R}^d)$).

Proof. Let f belong to the Schwartz space $S(\mathbf{R}^d)$. Then, its Fourier transform

$$g(p) = (Ff)(p) = \int_{\mathbf{R}^d} e^{-ipx} f(x) dx$$

also belongs to $S(\mathbf{R}^d)$. As the Fourier transform of (12) has the form

$$\dot{g}_{s}(p) = -\left[-\frac{1}{2}(G_{s}p,p) + i(b_{s},p) + \int (e^{ipy} - 1 - ipy\mathbf{1}_{B_{1}})\nu_{s}(dy)\right]g_{s}(p),$$

it has the obvious unique solution

$$g_{s}(p) = \exp\left\{\int_{s}^{t} \left[-\frac{1}{2}(G_{\tau}p, p) + i(b_{\tau}, p) + \int (e^{ipy} - 1 - ipy\mathbf{1}_{B_{1}})\nu_{\tau}(dy)\right] d\tau\right\}g(p)$$
(13)

(the integral is defined both in Lebesgue and Riemann sense, as the discontinuity set of the integrand has measure zero), which belongs to $L^1(\mathbf{R}^d)$, so that $f_s = F^{-1}g_s = \Phi^{s,t}f$ belongs to $C_{\infty}(\mathbf{R}^d)$. As for any fixed s, t the operator $\Phi^{s,t}$ coincides with an operator from the semigroup of a certain homogeneous Lévy process, each $\Phi^{s,t}$ is a positivity-preserving contraction in $C_{\infty}(\mathbf{R}^d)$ preserving the spaces $(C_{\infty} \cap C^2)(\mathbf{R}^d)$ and $C_{\infty}^2(\mathbf{R}^d)$. Strong continuity is then obtained first for $f \in (C^2 \cap C_{\infty})(\mathbf{R}^d)$ and then for general f by the density argument. Finally, the uniqueness follows from Theorem 1.

Let us define a time nonhomogeneous Lévy processes generated by the family $\{L_t\}$ as a time nonhomogeneous cadlag Markov process X_t such that

$$\mathbf{E}(f(X_t)|X_s = x) = (\Phi^{s,t}f)(x), \quad f \in C(\mathbf{R}^d),$$

where $\Phi^{s,t}$ is the propagator of positive linear contractions in $C_{\infty}(\mathbf{R}^d)$ from Proposition 3.1 (notice that a Markov process is defined uniquely up to a modification by its transition probabilities). The processes of this kind are sometimes referred to as additive processes (they are stochastically continuous and have independent increments), see, e.g., [16], pp. 51–68. We use the term "nonhomogeneous Lévy" stressing their translation invariance and the analytic properties of their propagators which represent the most straightforward time-nonhomogeneous extensions of the semigroups of the Lévy processes.

We like to interpret the nonhomogeneous Lévy processes as weak stochastic integrals. For this purpose, it will be notational more convenient to work with the generator families depending on time via a multidimensional parameter. Namely, let L_{η} be a family of the operators of form (11) with coefficients G_{η} , b_{η} , v_{η} depending continuously on a parameter $\eta \in \mathbf{R}^n$ (v_{η} is continuous as usual in the above specified weak sense). Let ξ_t be a curve in \mathbf{R}^n with not more than countably many discontinuities and with left and right limits existing everywhere. Then, the family of operators L_{ξ_t} satisfies the assumptions of Proposition 3.1. Clearly, the resulting propagator { $\Phi^{s,t}$ } does not depend on the values of ξ_t at the points of discontinuity.

To go ahead, we shall need the following well known *randomization lemma* (see, e.g., Lemma 3.22 in [8]):

Lemma 1. Let $\mu(x, dz)$ be a probability kernel from a measurable space X to a Borel space Z. Then, there exists a measurable function $f : X \times [0, 1] \rightarrow Z$ such that if θ is uniformly distributed on [0, 1], then $f(X, \theta)$ has distribution $\mu(x, .)$ for every $x \in X$.

Applying Lemma 1 to the distributions of the family of the Lévy processes $Y_t(\eta)$ (corresponding to the generators L_η), we can define them on a single probability space (actually on the standard Lebesgue space) in such a way that they depend measurably on the parameter η .

Let ξ_s , α_s be piecewise constant left continuous functions (deterministic, to begin with) with values in \mathbf{R}^n and $d \times d$ -matrices, respectively, that is

$$\xi_s = \sum_{j=0}^n \xi^j \mathbf{1}_{(t_j, t_{j+1}]}(s), \quad \alpha_s = \sum_{j=0}^n \alpha^j \mathbf{1}_{(t_j, t_{j+1}]}(s), \tag{14}$$

where $0 = t_0 < t_1 < \ldots < t_{n+1}$. Then, it is natural to define the stochastic integral with respect to the nonlinear Lévy noise $Y_s(\xi_s)$ by the formula

$$\int_{0}^{t} \alpha_{s} \mathrm{d}Y_{s}(\xi_{s}) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} \alpha^{j} Y_{t \wedge t_{j+1} - t_{j}}^{j}(\xi^{j}) \mathbf{1}_{t_{j} < t}, \tag{15}$$

where $Y_t^{j}(\eta)$ are independent copies of the families of $Y_t(\eta)$ defined above via the randomization lemma. It is clear that so defined process $\int_0^t \alpha_s dY_s(\xi_s)$ is a nonhomogeneous Lévy process constructed by Proposition 3.1 from the generator family

$$L_t^{\alpha,\xi} f(x) = \frac{1}{2} ((\alpha_t G_{\xi_t} \alpha_t') \nabla, \nabla) f(x) + (\alpha_t b_{\xi_t}, \nabla f)(x)$$

+
$$\int [f(x + \alpha_t y) - f(x) - (\alpha_t y, \nabla f(x)) \mathbf{1}_{B_1}(y)] \nu_{\xi_t}(\mathrm{d}y), (16)$$

which coincides with L_{ξ_t} for $\alpha_t = 1$. Next, if ξ_t and α_t are arbitrary cadlag function, let us define its natural piecewise constant approximation as

$$\xi_t^{\tau} = \sum_{\tau j < t}^n \xi_{\tau j} \mathbf{1}_{(\tau j, \tau(j+1)]}, \quad \alpha_t^{\tau} = \sum_{\tau j < t}^n \alpha_{\tau j} \mathbf{1}_{(\tau j, \tau(j+1)]},$$

As usual, the integral $\int_0^t \alpha_s dY_s(\xi_s)$ should be defined as a limit (if it exists in some sense) of the integrals over its approximations $\int_0^t \alpha_s^{\tau} dY_s(\xi_s^{\tau})$.

Theorem 3. The distribution of the process of integrals $x + \int_0^t \alpha_s dY_s(\xi_s)$ is well defined as the weak limit, as $\tau \to 0$, of the distributions on the Skorohod space $D([0, T], \mathbf{R}^d)$, of the approximating simple integrals $x + \int_0^t \alpha_s^\tau dY_s(\xi_s^\tau)$, and is the distribution of the Lévy process started at x and generated by the family (16). This limit also holds in the sense of the convergence of the propagators of the corresponding nonhomogeneous Lévy processes.

Proof. The right continuous versions ξ_{s+}^{τ} converge to ξ_t in the sense of the Skorohod topology. Hence, by Theorem 2, the corresponding processes $\int_0^t dY_s(\xi_s^{\tau})$ converge to the nonhomogeneous Lévy process generated by the family (16) in the sense of the convergence of propagators. By the standard results of stochastic analysis, this implies the weak convergence as distributions on the Skorohod space.

In particular, we have constructed the probability kernel on the space D([0, T]], \mathbf{R}^d) of cadlag paths that takes a curve ξ_t to the distribution of the integral $x + \int_0^t dY_s(\xi_s)$. The main point is that the invariant measure for this kernel defines a weak solution to the stochastic equation $\xi_t = \xi_0 + \int_0^t dY_s(\xi_s)$, and its uniqueness is closely linked with the Markovianity of the corresponding process, which we shall discuss in the next section.

Now, let us describe a couple of more specific situations. We shall use the following elementary inequalities.

Proposition 3.2. (*i*) For any $p \in [1, 2]$ and $x \ge -1$ one has

$$0 \le (1+x)^p - 1 - px \le (p-1)x^2,$$
(17)

(ii) For any $p \in [1, 2]$, $d \in N$ and $A, B \in \mathbb{R}^d$

Stochastic Integrals and SDE Driven by Nonlinear Lévy Noise

$$0 \le |A + B|^p - |A|^p - p(A, B)|A|^{p-2} \le c_p |B|^p,$$
(18)

where

$$c_p = \max_{x \in [0, 1/2]} [(1-x)^p - x^p + px^{p-1}].$$
(19)

The next statement describes the jump type processes when L_p -estimates are available.

Proposition 3.3. Suppose $Y_s(\eta)$ is a family of Lévy processes in \mathbb{R}^d with càdlàg paths, depending on a parameter $\eta \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and specified by their generators

$$L_{\eta}f(x) = \int [f(x+y) - f(x) - (y, \nabla)f(x)]v_{\eta}(\mathrm{d}y),$$
(20)

where

$$\nu_{\eta}(\{0\}) = 0, \quad \sup_{\eta} \int |y|^{p} \nu_{\eta}(\mathrm{d}y) = \kappa < \infty$$
(21)

with a certain $p \in [1, 2]$. Then, the process $\int_0^t \alpha_s dY_s(\xi_s)$ is a martingale and

$$\mathbf{E}\left|\int_{0}^{t} \alpha_{s} \mathrm{d}Y_{s}(\xi_{s})\right|^{p} \leq 2c_{p}\kappa_{1} \int |\alpha_{s}|^{p} \,\mathrm{d}s.$$
(22)

Proof. In view of Theorem 3, it is enough to prove the statement for the approximations $\int_0^t \alpha_s^{\tau} dY_s(\xi_s^{\tau})$. Then, the martingale property follows from the property of Lévy processes. Finally, by (19), one has

$$\mathbf{E}\left|\int_0^t \alpha_s^{\tau} \mathrm{d}Y_s(\xi_s^{\tau})\right|^p \le c_p \sum_{j=0}^{\lfloor t/\tau \rfloor} \|(\alpha_{j\tau}\|^p \mathbf{E}|Y_{t\wedge\tau(j+1)-\tau j}^j(\xi_{\tau j})|^p,$$

implying (22). Alternatively, one can get this estimate from the martingale problem associated with the propagator of the corresponding non-homogeneous Lévy process, but the proof given extends straightforwardly to the case of random ξ .

As another situation of interest let consider the case of $Y_s(\eta)$ that are compound Poisson processes, i.e., they are generated by the family

$$L_{\eta}f(x) = \int [f(x+y) - f(x)]\nu_{\eta}(dy)$$
(23)

with uniformly bounded measures v_{η} .

Proposition 3.4. For any cadlag curve ξ_t , the process $x + \int_0^t dY_s(\xi_s)$ has the following probabilistic description. Starting from the initial point x, it waits there a (non-homogeneous exponential) random time τ_1 with $\mathbf{P}(\tau_1 > t) = \exp\{-\int_0^t \|v_{\xi_1}\| \, ds\}$ and then it jumps to a point y_1 distributed according to the law $v_{\xi_{\tau_1}}/\|v_{\xi_{\tau_1}}\|$. Then,

it waits a random time τ_2 with $\mathbf{P}(\tau_2 > t) = \exp\{-\int_{\tau_1}^{t+\tau_1} \|v_{\xi_s}\| ds\}$ and jumps to a point $y_1 + y_2$ with y_2 distributed according to the law $v_{\xi_{\tau_2}}/\|v_{\xi_{\tau_2}}\|$, etc.

Proof. It follows from Theorem 3 and the basic series expansion of the propagator of a process generated by family (23), see, e.g., [8] for time-homogeneous case and [10] for time non-homogeneous case.

In particular, to link with a usual stochastic integration over a Poisson measure, let us note that if N(dsdx) is the Poisson measure of a Levy process Z_t in \mathbf{R}^d and g(s, x) is a continuous bounded function on $\mathbf{R}_+ \times \mathbf{R}_d$, then

$$\int_0^t \int_A g(s, x) N(\mathrm{d} s \mathrm{d} x)$$

is the process of the type described in Proposition 3.4, specified by the family

$$L_t f(x) = \int [f(x + g(t, y)) - f(x)] \nu(\mathrm{d}y)$$

Remark 1. Similarly, one can define the integral $\int_0^t g_s(dY_s(\xi_s))$ for a cadlag family of nonlinear mappings $g_s : \mathbf{R}^n \to \mathbf{R}^d$ of the class $C^2(\mathbf{R}^n)$, as the limit of the approximating sums

$$\sum_{j=0}^n g_{j\tau}(Y^j_{t\wedge(j+1)\tau-j\tau}(\xi_{j\tau}))\mathbf{1}_{j\tau< t},$$

which converge to the non-homogeneous Lévy process generated by the family of the operators

$$L_{t}^{g,\xi}f(x) = \frac{1}{2} \left(\left[\frac{\partial g_{t}}{\partial y}(0)G_{\xi_{t}} \left(\frac{\partial g_{t}}{\partial y} \right)'(0) \right] \nabla, \nabla \right) f(x) + \left(\frac{1}{2}G_{\xi_{t}} \frac{\partial^{2}g_{t}}{\partial y^{2}}(0) + \frac{\partial g_{t}}{\partial y}(0)b_{\xi_{t}}, \nabla f \right) (x) + \int \left[f(x+g_{t}(y)) - f(x) - \left(\frac{\partial g_{t}}{\partial y}(0)y, \nabla f(x) \right) \mathbf{1}_{B_{1}}(y) \right] v_{\xi_{t}}(\mathrm{d}y). (24)$$

4 SDE Driven by Nonlinear Lévy Noise

In order to solve the equation

$$X_t = x + \int_0^t \mathrm{d}Y_s(X_s),\tag{25}$$

with x being a random variable with a given law μ , it is convenient to use Euler type approximations. For a $\tau > 0$, let the process $X_t^{\mu,\tau}$ be defined by the recursive equation

$$X_{t}^{\mu,\tau} = X_{l\tau}^{\mu,\tau} + Y_{t-l\tau}^{l}(X_{l\tau}^{\mu,\tau}), \quad \mathcal{L}(X_{0}^{\mu,\tau}) = \mu,$$
(26)

for $l\tau < t \leq (l+1)\tau$, where $\mathcal{L}(X)$ means the law of X. Clearly, these approximation processes are càdlàg. According to the above definition of the stochastic integral, this process satisfies the equation

$$X_t^{\mu,\tau} = X_0 + \int_0^t dY_s(X_{[s/\tau]}^{\mu,\tau}), \quad \mathcal{L}(X_0) = \mu.$$
(27)

By conditioning, one deduces that $X_t^{\mu,\tau}$ solves the following martingale problem. For any $f \in C_c^2(\mathbf{R}^d)$, the process

$$M_{\tau}(t) = f(X_t^{\mu,\tau}) - f(X_0) - \int_0^t L[X_{[s/\tau]\tau}^{\mu,\tau}] f(X_s^{\mu,\tau}) \,\mathrm{d}s, \quad \mu = \mathcal{L}(X_0), \quad (28)$$

is a martingale, where we transferred the lower subscript to square brackets, i.e., $L[X] = L_X$ in previous notations. Due to the basic convergence criteria for martingale problem solutions (see e.g [5,7,8]), it follows that the family of processes $X_t^{\mu,\tau}$, $\tau > 0$, is tight (as was noted by many authors, see e.g [17] and [3]), and hence relatively compact and moreover, any limiting process X_t^{μ} solves the martingale problem for the family L_η : for any $f \in C_c^2(\mathbf{R}^d)$, the process

$$M_{\tau}(t) = f(X_t^{\mu}) - f(x) - \int_0^t L[X_s^{\mu}] f(X_s^{\mu}) \,\mathrm{d}s, \quad \mu = \mathcal{L}(x), \tag{29}$$

is a martingale. Moreover, using Skorohod's theorem, one can choose a probability space, where all theses approximations are simultaneously defined and converge a.s., and consequently, by Theorem 3, X_t^x also solves the stochastic equation (25). In particular, this equation has a solution.

Theorem 4. Suppose for any x the probability kernel on the subset of $D([0, t], \mathbf{R}^d)$ of paths starting at x given by the integral constructed in Sect. 3 can have at most one invariant measure, i.e., (25) has at most one solution. Then, the approximations (26) converge weakly to the unique solution X_t^x of (25), which is a Markov process solving the martingale problem (29).

Proof. Convergence follows from the uniqueness of the limit. Passing to the limit $\tau \rightarrow 0$ in the Markov property for the approximations

$$\mathbf{E}(f(X_t^{\mu,\tau}) \mid \sigma(X_u^{\mu,\tau})|_{u \le j\tau}) = \mathbf{E}(f(X_t^{\mu,\tau}) \mid X_{j\tau}^{\mu,\tau})$$

yields the Markov property for the limit X_t^{μ} .

5 W_p -Estimates

In order to apply these results, we should be able to compare the Lévy measures. To this end, we introduce an extension of the Wasserstein–Kantorovich distance to unbounded measures. Namely, let $\mathcal{M}_p(\mathbf{R}^d)$ denote the class of Borel measures μ on $\mathbf{R}^d \setminus \{0\}$ (not necessarily finite) with finite *p*th moment (i.e., such that $\int |y|^p \mu(dy) < \infty$). For a pair of measures ν_1, ν_2 in $\mathcal{M}_p(\mathbf{R}^d)$, we define the distance $W_p(\nu_1, \nu_2)$ by

$$W_p(v_1, v_2) = \left(\inf_{\nu} \int |y_1 - y_2|^p \nu(\mathrm{d}y_1 \mathrm{d}y_2)\right)^{1/p},\tag{30}$$

where inf is taken over all $\nu \in \mathcal{M}_p(\mathbf{R}^{2d})$ such that condition

.

$$\int_{\mathbf{R}^{2d}} (\phi_1(x) + \phi_2(y)) \nu(\mathrm{d}x\mathrm{d}y) = (\phi_1, \nu_1) + (\phi_2, \nu_2)$$

holds for all ϕ_1, ϕ_2 satisfying $\phi_i(.)/|.|^p \in C(\mathbf{R}^d)$. It is easy to see that for finite measures this definition coincides with the usual one.

Moreover, by the same argument as for finite measures (see [15, 18]), we can show that whenever the distance $W_p(v_1, v_2)$ is finite, the infimum in (30) is achieved, i.e., there exists a measure $v \in \mathcal{M}_p(\mathbb{R}^{2d})$ such that

$$W_p(\mu_1, \mu_2) = \left(\int |y_1 - y_2|^p \nu(\mathrm{d}y_1 \mathrm{d}y_2)\right)^{1/p}.$$
(31)

To compare the distributions on Skorohod spaces, we shall use the corresponding Wasserstein–Kantorovich distances. These distances depend on the choice of distances between individual paths. The most natural choice of these distances is uniform leading to the distance on the distributions:

$$W_{p,T}(X^1, X^2) = \inf\left(\mathbf{E} \sup_{t \le T} |X_t^1 - X_t^2|^p\right)^{1/p},$$
(32)

where inf is taken over all couplings of the distributions of the random paths X_1, X_2 .

Let us now approach the *stochastic differential equation (SDE)* driven by *nonlinear Lévy noise* of the form

$$X_t = x + \int_0^t dY_s(g(X_{s-})) + \int_0^t b(X_{s-}) ds + \int_0^t G(X_{s-}) dW_s, \quad (33)$$

where W_s is the standard Wiener process in \mathbf{R}^d and $Y_t(\eta)$ is a family of pure-jump Lévy processes from Proposition 3.3.

Theorem 5. Let (21), (34) hold for the family (23) with a $p \in (1, 2]$. Let b, G be bounded functions from \mathbf{R}^d to \mathbf{R}^d and to $d \times d$ -matrices, respectively, and b, G, v be Lipschitz continuous with a common Lipschitz constant κ_2 , where v(x, .) are equipped with W_p -metric, i.e.,

$$W_p(v(x_1,.), v(x_2,.)) \le \kappa_2 ||x_1 - x_2||.$$
 (34)

Finally, let x be a random variable independent of all $Y_s(z)$. Then, the solution to (33) exists in the sense of distribution (i.e., the equation means the coincidence of the distributions) and is unique. Moreover, the solutions to this equation specify a Feller process in \mathbb{R}^d , whose generator contains the set $C_c^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$, where it is given by the formula

$$Lf(x) = \frac{1}{2} (G(x)\nabla, \nabla) f(x) + (b(x), \nabla f)(x) + \int [f(x+y) - f(x) - (y, \nabla f(x))] \nu(x, dy).$$
(35)

Proof. It is based on the contraction principle in the complete metric space $M_p(t)$ of the distributions on the Skorohod space of càdlàg paths $\xi \in D([0, t], \mathbf{R}^d)$ with a finite *p*th moment $W_{p,t}(\xi, 0) < \infty$ and with the metric $W_{p,t}$. For any $\xi \in M_p(t)$, let $\Phi(\xi) = \Phi^1(\xi) + \Phi^2(\xi)$ with

$$\Phi^{1}(\xi)_{t} = x + \int_{0}^{t} \mathrm{d}Y_{s}(\xi_{s-}), \quad \Phi^{2}(\xi)_{t} = \int_{0}^{t} b(\xi_{s-}) \,\mathrm{d}s + \int_{0}^{t} G(X_{s-}) \,\mathrm{d}W_{s}.$$

One has

$$W^{p}_{p,t}(\Phi(\xi^{1}), \Phi(\xi^{2})) = \inf_{\xi^{1}, \xi^{2}} W^{p}_{p,t,cond}(\Phi(\xi^{1}), \Phi(\xi^{2})),$$

where the first infimum is over all couplings of ξ^1, ξ^2 and $W_{p,t,cond}$ denotes the distance (32) conditioned on the given values of ξ^1, ξ^2 . Hence,

$$W_{p,t}^{p}(\Phi(\xi^{1}), \Phi(\xi^{2})) \leq 2W_{p,t}^{p}(\Phi^{1}(\xi^{1}), \Phi^{1}(\xi^{2})) + 2W_{p,t}^{p}(\Phi^{2}(\xi^{1}), \Phi^{2}(\xi^{2})).$$

By Proposition 3.2, applied recursively to the increments of the discrete approximations of our stochastic integrals, one obtains

$$\sup_{s \le t} \mathbf{E} |\Phi^{1}(\xi_{s}^{1}) - \Phi^{1}(\xi_{s}^{2})|^{p} \le 2t\kappa_{2}c_{p} \sup_{s \le t} |\xi_{s}^{1} - \xi_{s}^{2}|^{p}$$

for the coupling of Φ^1 , Φ^2 given by Proposition 5.1. Using now Doob's maximum inequality for martingales yields

$$W^{p}_{p,t,cond}(\Phi^{1}(\xi^{1}),\Phi^{1}(\xi^{2})) \leq 4\kappa_{2}tc_{p} \sup_{s \leq t} |\xi^{1}_{s} - \xi^{2}_{s}|^{p},$$

implying

$$W_{p,t}^{p}(\Phi^{1}(\xi^{1}), \Phi^{1}(\xi^{2})) \leq 4\kappa_{2}tc_{p}W_{p,t}^{p}(\xi^{1}, \xi^{2}).$$

On the other hand, by the standard properties of the Brownian motion,

$$\mathbf{E}|\Phi^{2}(\xi^{1})-\Phi^{2}(\xi^{2})|^{2} \leq t\kappa_{2}\sup_{s\leq t}|\xi_{s}^{1}-\xi_{s}^{2}|^{2},$$

implying

$$W_{2,t}^2(\Phi^2(\xi^1), \Phi^2(\xi^2)) \le 4\kappa_2 t W_{2,t}^2(\xi^1, \xi^2)$$

and consequently

$$W_{p,t}^{p}(\Phi^{2}(\xi^{1}), \Phi^{2}(\xi^{2})) \leq (4\kappa_{2}t)^{p/2}W_{p,t}^{p}(\xi^{1}, \xi^{2}).$$

Thus finally,

$$W_{p,t}^{p}(\Phi(\xi^{1}), \Phi(\xi^{2})) \leq c(t, \kappa_{2}) W_{p,t}^{p}(\xi^{1}, \xi^{2}).$$

Hence, the mapping $\xi \mapsto \Phi(\xi)$ is a contraction in $M_p(t)$ for small enough t. This implies the existence and uniqueness of a fixed point and hence of the solution to (33) for this t. For large t, this construction is extended by iterations.

Consequently, the main condition of Theorem 4 is satisfied. The Feller property is easy to check (see [12]) and the form of the generator reads out from the martingale problem formulation discussed in the previous section.

Theorem 5 reduces the problem of constructing a Feller processes from a given pre-generator to a Monge-Kantorovich mass transportation (or optimal coupling) problem, where essential progress was made recently, see books [15] and [18]. The usual approach of stochastic analysis works in the case when all measures v(x, dy)can be expressed as images of regular enough family of mappings F_x of a certain given Lévy measure ν , see, e.g., [1]. To find such a family, an optimal solution (or its approximation) to the Monge problem is required. Our extension allows one to use instead the solutions of its more easy to handle extension called the Kantorovich problem (the introduction of which in the last century signified a major breakthrough in dealing with mass transportation problems). It is well known (and easy to see on examples with Dirac's measures) that the optimal coupling of probability measures (Kantorovich problem) can not always be realized via a mass transportation (a solution to the Monge problem), thus leading to the examples when the construction of the process via standard stochastic calculus would not work. Let us stress also that our coupling condition is quite different from non-degeneracy or monotonicity assumptions usually required by the analytic approaches to the construction of Markov semigroups, see [6,9,10,13].

Concrete examples (including stable-like processes) are discussed in [12] together with the extensions to time nonhomogeneous and nonlinear (in distributions) evolutions, as well as some additional regularity criteria. Let us note only

that the main assumption on v is satisfied if one can decompose the Lévy measures v(x; .) in the countable sums $v(x; .) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} v_n(x; .)$ of probability measures so that $W_p(v_i(x; .), v_i(z; .)) \le a_i |x - z|$ and the series $\sum a_i^p$ converges.

Appendix

Proposition 5.1. Let Y_s^i , i = 1, 2, be two Lévy processes in \mathbb{R}^d specified by their generators

$$L_{i}f(x) = \int (f(x+y) - f(x) - (\nabla f(x), y))\nu_{i}(\mathrm{d}y)$$
(36)

with $v_i \in \mathcal{M}_p(\mathbf{R}^d)$, $p \in [1, 2]$. Let $v \in \mathcal{M}_p(\mathbf{R}^{2d})$ be a coupling of v_1, v_2 , i.e.,

$$\int \int (\phi_1(y_1) + \phi_2(y_2))\nu(\mathrm{d}y_1\mathrm{d}y_2) = (\phi_1, \nu_1) + (\phi_2, \nu_2) \tag{37}$$

holds for all ϕ_1, ϕ_2 satisfying $\phi_i(.)/|.|^p \in C(\mathbf{R}^d)$. Then, the operator

$$Lf(x_1, x_2) = \int [f(x_1 + y_1, x_2 + y_2) - f(x_1, x_2) - ((y_1, \nabla_1) + (y_2, \nabla_2))f(x_1, x_2)]\nu(\mathrm{d}y_1\mathrm{d}y_2)$$
(38)

(where ∇_i means the gradient with respect to x_i) specifies a Lévy process Y_s in \mathbb{R}^{2d} with the characteristic exponent

$$\eta_{x_1,x_2}(p_1,p_2) = \int (e^{iy_1p_1 + iy_2p_2} - 1 - i(y_1p_1 + y_2p_2))\nu(dy_1dy_2)$$

that is a coupling of Y_s^1, Y_s^2 in the sense that the components of Y_s have the distribution of Y_s^1 and Y_s^2 , respectively. Moreover, if $f(x_1, x_2) = h(x_1 - x_2)$ with a function $h \in C^2(\mathbf{R}^d)$, then

$$Lf(x_1, x_2) = \int [h(x_1 - x_2 + y_1 - y_2) - h(x_1 - x_2) - (y_1 - y_2, \nabla h(x_1 - x_2)]\nu(\mathrm{d}y_1 \mathrm{d}y_2).$$
(39)

And finally

$$\mathbf{E}|\xi + Y_t^1 - Y_t^2|^p \le |\xi|^p + tc_p \int \int |y_1 - y_2|^p \nu(\mathrm{d}y_1 \mathrm{d}y_2).$$
(40)

Proof. It is straightforward to see from the definition of coupling that if f depends only on x_1 (resp. x_2), then the operator (38) coincides with L_1 (resp. L_2). Similarly, one sees that the characteristic exponent of Y_s coincides with the characteristic

exponent of Y^1 (resp. Y^2) for $p_2 = 0$ (resp. $p_1 = 0$). Formula (39) is a consequence of (38). To get (40), one uses Dynkin's formula for the function $f(x_1, x_2) = |\xi + x_1 - x_2|^p$ observing that by (39) and (19) one has

$$|Lf(x_1, x_2)| \le c_p \int \int |y_1 - y_2|^p \nu(\mathrm{d}y_1 \mathrm{d}y_2).$$

Acknowledgements Based on the talk given on the ISAAC Congress, London 2009.

References

- 1. Applebaum, D.: Lévy processes and stochastic calculus. Cambridge studies in advanced mathematics, vol. 93. Cambridge University Press (2004)
- 2. Bass, R.F., Chen, Z.-Q.: Systems of equations driven by stable processes. Probab. Theory Relat. Fields **134**, 175–214 (2006)
- Böttcher, B., Schilling, R.L.: Approximation of Feller processes by Markov chains with Lévy increments. Stoch. Dyn. 9:1, 71–80 (2009)
- 4. Carmona, R.A., Nualart, D.: Nonlinear stochastic integrators, equations and flows. Stochatic Monographs, vol. 6. Gordon and Breach (1990)
- Ethier, S.N., Kurtz, Th.G.: Markov processes characterization and convergence. Wiley Series in Probability and Mathematical Statistics. Wiley, New York Chicester (1986)
- Jacob, N.: Pseudo-differential operators and Markov processes. Vol. I,II,III. London: Imperial College Press (2001, 2002, 2005)
- Joffe, A., Métivier, M.: Weak convergence of sequence of semimartingales with applications to multitype branching processes. Adv. Appl. Probab. 18, 20–65 (1986)
- 8. Kallenberg, O.: Foundations of modern probability. 2nd edn. Springer (2002)
- Kolokoltsov, V.: On Markov processes with decomposable pseudo-differential generators. Stochastics Stochastics Rep. 76:1, 1–44 (2004)
- Kolokoltsov, V.: Nonlinear Markov semigroups and interacting Lévy type processes. J. Stat. Physics 126:3, 585–642 (2007)
- 11. Kolokoltsov, V.: Nonlinear Markov processes and kinetic equations. Monograph. CUP (2010)
- Kolokoltsov, V.N.: The Lévy-Khintchine type operators with variable Lipschitz continuous coefficients generate linear or nonlinear Markov processes and semigroups. arXiv:0911. 5688v1 [Math.PR] (2009). Probability Theory Related Fields DOI: 10.1007/s00440-010-0293-8
- Kolokoltsov, V.N.: Stochastic monotonicity and duality for one-dimensional Markov processes. arXiv:1002.4773v1[math.PR] (2010). Mathematical Notes
- 14. Pazy, A.: Semigroups of linear operators and applications to PDE. Springer (1983)
- Rachev, S., Rüschendorf, L.: Mass transportation problems, Vol. I: Theory, Vol. II: Applications. Springer, New York (1988)
- Sato, K.: Lévy processes and infinitely divisible distributions. Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics, vol. 68. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (1999)
- 17. Stroock, D.W.: Markov processes from K. Ito's perspective. Annals of Mathematics Studies. Princeton University Press (2003)
- Villani, C.: Topics in optimal transportation. Graduates Studies in Mathematics, vol. 58. AMS (2003)

Discrete Algorithms for Multivariate Financial Calculus

Radu Tunaru

Abstract Quantitative financial calculus is dominated by calculations of integrals related to various moments of probability distributions used for modelling. Here, we develop a general technique that facilitates the numerical calculations of options, prices for the difficult case of multi-assets, for the majority of European payoff contracts. The algorithms proposed here rely on known weak convergence results, hence making use of the gaussian probability kernel even when modelling with non-gaussian distributions. In addition, this technique can be employed for calculating greek parameters. We prove that the weak convergence characterizing condition can still be applied under some mild assumption on the payoff function of financial options.

Keywords Approximation algorithms \cdot Greeks \cdot Multi-asset options \cdot Weak convergence

MSC (2010): 65D32, 62P05, 91G60

1 Introduction

This paper develops a general method for generating deterministic algorithms useful in financial calculus. The range of applications cover the valuation of multi-asset European contingent claims including Asian options and spread options, and risk management calculations such as the sensitivity greeks parameters. However, the same algorithm can be applied to any other areas where the calculation of highdimensional integrals is difficult. The main idea on which this paper is based is to use general results related to weak convergence of probability measures and derive numerical approximation schemes in closed form. The underpinning theory behind our approximations is probabilistic in nature but the formulae are deterministic, thus

R. Tunaru

Kent Business School, University of Kent, Canterbury, Kent CT2 7PE, United Kingdom e-mail: r.tunaru@kent.ac.uk

D. Crisan (ed.), *Stochastic Analysis 2010*, DOI 10.1007/978-3-642-15358-7_12, © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2011

avoiding common pitfalls related to Monte Carlo simulations techniques. In addition, the method presented here is very general and it can be adapted to a wide range of modeling situations.

The payoffs of contingent claims generally considered in practice can be seen as functions Π of finitely many positive random variables $\{S_k\}_{1 \le k \le d}$, representing asset prices. Under no-arbitrage principle, risk-neutral valuation of contingent claims is centred upon calculating expectations of the form $\mathcal{E}[\Pi(S_1, \ldots, S_d)]$ under an equivalent martingale probability measure **Q**. One of the strengths of our methodology is that it can be applied to any general finite payoff Π usually encountered in financial markets. While the results presented here are drawn for asset processes following generically a geometric Brownian motion, the techniques outlined in this paper offer a numerical mathematical solution for general models and underlying processes.

The probability theory concerning the convergence of probability measures requires bounded and almost everywhere continuous test functions. However, in finance, there are many contingent claims with unbounded payoffs. In Sect. 4, we show that, under some suitable mild assumptions on the payoff functions, we can still apply the condition defining weak convergence for the chosen probability measure.

There is a price to pay for the high level of generality offered by this new technique and that is the computational effort required for implementation. However, since no simulation is required, parts of the calculations can be reused for pricing different options contingent on the same securities simultaneously. Moreover, for specific payoffs involving the maximum function, one can improve the calculations by imposing natural boundaries on the underlying asset.

Without reduction of generality, we therefore focus on the risk-neutral valuation of the contingent claims on one or several asset under nonstochastic interest rates. This is the same framework outlined in [10] and [34]. Moreover, while the focus here in terms of applications is on European style options, our methods can be useful also in the context of pricing American style derivatives since their calculation can be reduced to European options, see [21] for further details.

As a preview of the developments in this paper, consider an Asian call option on the arithmetic average over the *d* fixings dates t_1, \ldots, t_d . If $\{S_t\}_{t\geq 0}$, the underlying asset follows a geometric Brownian motion, then the average is given by the expression

$$A = \frac{S_0}{d} \sum_{i=1}^{d} \exp((r - \sigma^2/2)t_i + \sigma W_{t_i})$$
(1)

where $\{W_t\}_{t\geq 0}$ is the associated Wiener process. The no-arbitrage risk-neutral price of the Asian call option with fixed strike price K is given by the integral

$$c = e^{-rT} \int_0^\infty (a - K)^+ \rho_A(a) da$$
⁽²⁾

where *K* is the fixed strike price and $\rho_A(\cdot)$ denotes the risk-neutral density of the arithmetic average *A* considered as a random variable. Since ρ_A is not known in exact form, we need to consider then the multivariate distribution of all stock prices contributing to the Asian underlying. Because the randomness comes only from the Wiener process $\{W_t\}_{t\geq 0}$ considered at fixing dates t_1, \ldots, t_d , the calculations are determined by ρ_Y , the joint probability density of the gaussian multivariate vector $Y = (Y_1, \ldots, Y_d)^{\top}$ with mean zero and covariance matrix

$$\Sigma = [\min(t_i, t_j)]_{i,j \in \{1,...,d\}}.$$
(3)

For Asian option pricing, it is important then to calculate the integral of the type

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} g(y) \rho_Y(y; 0_d, \Sigma) \mathrm{d}y \tag{4}$$

where the function $g : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$ is defined through

$$g(Y_1,\ldots,Y_d) = \max\left[\frac{S_0}{d}\sum_{i=1}^d \exp\left((r-\sigma^2/2)t_i + \sigma\sqrt{t_i}Y_i\right) - K, 0\right].$$

The multidimensional integral in (4) appears for other exotic options and therefore methods for calculating this type of integral for general payoffs Π are very valuable in financial markets.

2 Short Review of Numerical Methods Used in Finance

Given the complexity of the models and payoffs involved, the vast majority of financial derivatives are priced using numerical methods. An excellent review of Monte Carlo and deterministic methods that can be used to approximate integrals is contained in [13]. In general, there is a clear classification of numerical methods applied in finance. One class is represented by those numerical methods originated in solving PDE. Finite difference approximations, implicit and explicit schemes, are widely used in pricing financial products and calculating risk management parameters, see, for instance, [8] for some excellent examples. A second class applies stochastic control techniques for problems in finance. This second class proves to be useful for situations when the Bellman equation, appearing frequently in decision making in finance, might not be formally given by a PDE or variational inequality. The most used stochastic control method is the Markov chain approximation method; a review on this topic is provided in [20]. Third, the more direct Monte Carlo simulation is very popular due to the generality of applications and relative straightforward implementation, as illustrated in [2]. Remarkable improvements on this direction are associated with the introduction of importance sampling and variance reduction methods such as control variates. The series of papers authored by Boyle, Broadie and Glasserman¹ contain some of the seminal ideas in this area. In spite of its widespread popularity, the Monte Carlo simulation has a major criticism related to the practical inability to find proper random numbers from specified distributions. This generated the development of quasi-Monte Carlo methods based on equidistributed sequences and low-discrepancy methods. A recent revision of applications of these methods in finance has been given in [12]. Furthermore, it is known that many nominally high-dimensional integrals arising from the pricing of options are of low effective dimension, see [37] and [38] for a very useful discussion. As opposed to Monte Carlo methods, quasi-Monte Carlo simulation benefits from low effective dimensions and work with substantially smaller errors than Monte Carlo methods even if the nominal dimension is high.

A fourth class of methods is spanned by approximations of some sort. This is a rich and varied class containing diverse methods. Jarrow and Rudd [17] proposed a technique for option pricing applying Edgeworth series expansion. This method has some valuable benefits in explaining some of the smile associated with options pricing but does not apply when it is used to approximate the density of the arithmetic average of a lognormal process as pointed out in [18]. The methodology underpinned by the Fast Fourier transform (FFT) was advocated by Carr and Madan [5] as a general tool for option pricing problems. One excellent application is in pricing spread options, as illustrated in [9]. The Laplace method is the cousin transformation of the Fourier transform. A great description of this technique in relation to Asian option pricing is given in [7] and [15]. Laplace transform was also successfully used in [26] for analytical investigations of stochastic volatility models of the Ornstein–Uhlenbeck type. Borovkov and Novikov [4] present an ingenious approach to calculate expectations for option pricing by simply integrating the respective moment generating function with a certain weight. In [22], Lee extended and unified Fourier-analytic methods for pricing a wide class of options on any underlying state variable whose characteristic function is known. Laguerre series generalize the Fourier expansions. They were masterfully applied by Dufresne in [10] who utilized the concept of ladder height densities for improving pricing of Asian options. These ideas were further expanded with excellent mathematical computational results in [34].

Saddlepoint approximations are often applied for computing the distribution of a random variable whose moment generating function is known. This technique has been elegantly applied in [33] to the calculation of prices for European put options under various Levy processes. Their results compare favorably with those using numerical integration (FFT).

Other expansion type methods are developed in [24] where the density of the average rate is approximated with a reciprocal gamma distribution by matching the first two moments, while in [25] the density function is approximated by matching the first four moments. Considering the Taylor expansion of the ratio of the characteristic function of the average to that of the approximating lognormal random variable around zero volatility, it is possible to unify the treatment of basket and

¹ See [16] and the references therein.

Asian option as illustrated in [18]. A method based on small disturbance asymptotics applicable to pricing contingent claims where underlying forward rates follow a continuous Ito process was developed in [19]. Using the moment expansion of the probability distribution function underlying the model, a new quadrature method, with applications in option pricing, has been proposed in [1].

The link between discrete time modelling and continuous time modelling has been emphasized at various points in the past and to a certain level of complexity. It has been proved in [6] that the limit of the discrete-binomial option pricing formula converges to the Black–Scholes formula as the number of time steps per unit of real time approaches zero. Duffie and Protter [11] reviewed conditions under which the discrete-time security market models converge in the limit to continuous time models. Moreover, they provide some pathological examples where a sequence of security price processes $S^{(n)}$ converges in distribution to a limit S and a sequence of associated trading strategies $\theta^{(n)}$ converges also in distribution to the financial gain process defined by the limits. This line of research has been thoroughly investigated in [32] where the most important results related to the convergence of discrete pricing schemes to continuous time limits are provided.

The results developed in this paper, however, make a contribution in a different direction. Rather than trying to *establish* weak convergence results of *known* discrete pricing schemes, we *apply* known weak convergence results from probability theory and *determine* discrete pricing schemes. The approximation formulae proposed here are deterministic.

A general formula for approximating the multi-dimensional integral appearing in the risk-neutral price of a general multi-asset option has been proposed in [3], where there is a similar aim to the research presented here, but a different approach has been chosen. The methods presented in this chapter are in a sense a simplified version of the quantization methodology introduced in the early 1990's in numerical probability to determine some quadrature integration formulae with respect to the distribution \mathbf{P}_X of a random variable X on \mathbb{R}^d using that $\mathcal{E}[\Pi(X)] \approx \mathcal{E}[\Pi(\hat{X})]$ if the length of the approximating sequence is large enough. This approach is efficient in medium dimensions (see [27–29]) especially when many integrals need to be computed with respect to the same distribution \mathbf{P}_X . Lately, optimal quantization has been used to define tree based methods for solving multi-dimensional non-linear problems involving the computation of many conditional expectations: American option pricing, non-linear filtering for stochastic volatility models, portfolio optimization. Examples of quantization applications to computational finance problems are illustrated in [30, 31].

3 Framework and Notations

In this section, we outline the framework for the main results presented in the next section. In addition, we specify the notation used throughout the chapter. A sequence of probability measures $\{\mu_n\}_{n\geq 0}$ is said to converge weakly to a

probability measure μ , denoted by $\mu_n \rightarrow \mu$, if the following equivalent condition is satisfied

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \int f \, \mathrm{d}\mu_n = \int f \, \mathrm{d}\mu \tag{5}$$

for any bounded and μ - almost everywhere continuous function f. Other equivalent conditions are provided by Alexandrov's theorem [23], see also [14] for a more recent reference.

The generic notation for a probability density function is ρ (). For example, the probability density of a multivariate gaussian *d*-dimensional vector with mean vector *m* and covariance matrix Υ is

$$\rho(y;m,\Upsilon) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{(2\pi)^d \det(\Upsilon)}} \exp\left[-\frac{1}{2}(y-m)^{\top}\Upsilon^{-1}(y-m)\right].$$

As you may have already observed, the transpose of a matrix or vector is denoted by \top .

We assume that our primary assets have the following dynamics under an equivalent martingale measure

$$\mathrm{d}S_t^i = rS_t^i \mathrm{d}t + \sigma_i S_t^i \mathrm{d}W_t^i, \text{ for all } i \in \{1, \dots, d\}$$
(6)

$$\mathrm{d}B_t = rB_t\mathrm{d}t\tag{7}$$

where $\mathcal{E}(dW_t^i dW_t^j) = \rho_{ij} dt$ for any $i \neq j$. The last equation is associated with the money account with the short rate r.

Our objective is to price a European multi-asset option with payoff $\Pi(S_T^1, S_T^2, ..., S_T^d)$ at maturity T, contingent on the assets $\{S_T^1, S_T^2, ..., S_T^d\}$. For simplicity, we shall drop the index T from our notations. There are many exotic options that require powerful computational methods for pricing determination. Here, we focus only on European style derivatives and for concreteness we consider the basket options and the discrete Asian arithmetic options as these two are representative of multivariate contingent claim contracts.

The value of each asset at maturity S^i can be calculated with

$$S^{i} = S_{0}^{i} e^{(r - \sigma_{i}^{2}/2)T + \sigma_{i}\sqrt{T}Y_{i}},$$
(8)

where $Y = (Y_1, ..., Y_d)$ is distributed $\mathcal{N}_d(0_d, \Upsilon)$ with the covariance matrix $\Upsilon = (\rho_{ij}\sigma_i\sigma_j T)_{i,j=1}^d$. The relevant probability density function is therefore

$$\rho_d(y;0,\Upsilon) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{(2\pi)^d \det(\Upsilon)}} \exp\left[-\frac{1}{2}y^{\top}\Upsilon^{-1}y\right]$$
(9)

From (8), for all $i \in \{1, ..., d\}$
Discrete Algorithms for Multivariate Financial Calculus

$$Y_i = \frac{1}{\sigma_i \sqrt{T}} \left[\ln\left(\frac{S^i}{S_0^i}\right) - \left(r - \frac{\sigma_i^2}{2}\right)T \right].$$
(10)

For any integrable payoff $\Pi(S^1, \ldots, S^d)$, the value of the multi-asset claim at time 0 is given by

$$V_0 = \eta \int_0^\infty \cdots \int_0^\infty \Pi(S^1, \dots, S^d) \frac{1}{S^1 \cdots S^d} \exp\left[-\frac{1}{2}Y^\top \Upsilon^{-1}Y\right] dS^1 \cdots dS^d$$
(11)
where $\eta = \frac{e^{-rT}}{\sigma_1 \cdots \sigma_d \sqrt{(2\pi T)^d \det(\Upsilon)}}$ and $Y = (Y_1, \dots, Y_d)^\top$ is determined from (10).

If e_i is the *d*-dimensional vector that has the value one on the *i*-th position and zero elsewhere, one can calculate the delta parameters of the multi-asset option as follows. Since $\Delta_i = \frac{\partial V}{\partial S_0^i}$, by derivation on the right side of formula (11), we obtain

$$\Delta_{i} = \eta \int_{0}^{\infty} \cdots \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{S_{0}^{i} \sigma_{i} \sqrt{T}} e_{i}^{\top} \Upsilon^{-1} \Upsilon \Pi(S^{1}, \dots, S^{d}) \frac{1}{S^{1} \cdots S^{d}}$$
$$\times \exp\left[-\frac{1}{2} \Upsilon^{\top} \Upsilon^{-1} \Upsilon\right] dS^{1} \cdots dS^{d}.$$
(12)

The calculation of integrals in formulae (11) and (12) may become difficult as dimension d increases. For small dimensions d, the integrals appearing in formulae (11) and (12) can be calculated with cubature or quadrature methods, see [13] for a good description of such methods. Nevertheless, in financial calculus, the dimension d can be quite large. For example, pricing a basket option may lead easily to a d between 5 and 20. Moreover, we would like to take advantage of the gaussian kernel as this appear quite naturally in financial mathematics.

4 Methods for Multivariate Contingent Claim Pricing

For the technique we propose in this paper, we would like to work on the $(-\infty, \infty)$ scale rather than $(0, \infty)$ scale resulted from the log-normal distribution of the geometric Brownian motion. Thus, we prefer to work with a formula using the gaussian kernel. For simplicity, we denote

$$g(Y_1, \dots, Y_d) = \Pi \left(S_0^1 e^{(r_f - \sigma_1^2/2)T + \sigma_1 \sqrt{T}Y_1}, \dots, S_0^d e^{(r_f - \sigma_d^2/2)T + \sigma_d \sqrt{T}Y_d} \right).$$
(13)

Hence, we can express the value of the multi-asset derivative as

$$V_0 = \frac{\mathrm{e}^{-rT}}{\sqrt{(2\pi)^d \det \Upsilon}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} g(Y_1, \dots, Y_d) \exp\left[-\frac{1}{2}Y^\top \Upsilon^{-1}Y\right] \mathrm{d}Y_1 \cdots \mathrm{d}Y_d \quad (14)$$

and

$$\Delta_{i} = \frac{\mathrm{e}^{-rT}}{\sqrt{(2\pi)^{d} \det \Upsilon}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \frac{1}{S_{0}^{i} \sigma_{i} \sqrt{T}} \mathrm{e}_{i}^{\top} \Upsilon^{-1} Y g(Y_{1}, \dots, Y_{d})$$
$$\times \exp\left[-\frac{1}{2} Y^{\top} \Upsilon^{-1} Y\right] \mathrm{d}Y_{1} \cdots \mathrm{d}Y_{d}. \tag{15}$$

Applying the Cholesky decomposition to the correlation matrix Υ , we get the square root matrix Δ such that $\Upsilon = \Delta \Delta^{\top}$. Making the change of variables $Y = \Delta x$ leads to

$$e^{rT}V_0 = \mathcal{E}[g(Y)] = \frac{1}{\sqrt{(2\pi)^d}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} g(\Delta x) \exp\left[-\frac{1}{2}x^\top x\right] \mathrm{d}x.$$
(16)

This is now the expectation with respect to the standard multivariate gaussian distribution. Since we are going to employ the multivariate central limit theorem, the probability measure μ is going to be a gaussian probability measure while the measure μ_n is corresponding to a discrete multivariate distribution such as the multinomial. Then the calculations of (16) will follow by choosing an appropriate test function mainly driven by the payoff function Π and other subsequent transformations. Hence, there are three steps in our methodology of generating algorithms for calculations of integrals representing financial measures. First, one needs to identify the limiting measure or distribution. Since it can be envisaged that a central limit theorem results will be applied, it is natural to think that the limiting distribution will be gaussian. If the financial modelling is done with a gaussian kernel the normal distribution appears naturally; if not, it can be forced to appear. Second, upon applying a well-known weak convergence result, a sequence of discrete probability distributions defining the measures μ_n is identified. This is straightforward as the multinomial distribution is the only multivariate discrete distribution widely used. The problems here may appear in finding put the correct probability weights defined by this distribution. The third and final step consists in finding out the test function on which the weak convergence condition will be applied to. The test function basically absorbs all factors outside the kernel of the limiting distribution. This step looks the easiest but it is the test function that presents the first challenge.

4.1 A Solution to Payoff Unboundedness

One may think that all that is left to do now is to apply the weak convergence resulting from the central limit theorem for a discrete multivariate distribution such as the multinomial distribution and a suitable test function, and the discrete approximation algorithm would be established. Payoff functions in finance by default cannot exhibit an uncountable set of discontinuities so, from the continuity point of view, we are safe. However, one major inconvenience is that payoffs quite often are unbounded. Nevertheless, the payoffs cannot exhibit explosive growth so the theoretical weak convergence results underpinning our algorithms still work when the test functions satisfy some mild assumptions, as proved next.

We shall prove that for a given test function we have uniform convergence. More precisely, let $B(0, \delta)$ be a ball of radius $\delta \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and let $B^c(0, \delta)$ be its complementary set. For a given test function ψ , if the following two conditions are true

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \mu_n = \mu, \tag{17}$$

$$\lim_{\delta \to \infty} \sup_{n} \int_{B^{c}(0,\delta)} \psi d\mu_{n} = 0$$
⁽¹⁸⁾

then it follows once again that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \int \psi d\mu_n = \int \psi d\mu.$$
 (19)

The key is to prove that condition (18) holds. Applying Holder's inequality for $0 < v, s < \infty$ with $\frac{1}{v} + \frac{1}{s} = 1$, implies that

$$\int_{B^{c}(0,\delta)} \psi d\mu_{n} = \int \psi \mathbf{1}_{B^{c}(0,\delta)} d\mu_{n}$$
$$\leq \left(\int \psi^{v} d\mu_{n} \right)^{\frac{1}{v}} \left(\mu_{n} (B^{c}(0,\delta))^{s} \right)^{\frac{1}{s}}$$
(20)

If one can prove that

$$\lim_{\delta \to \infty} \sup_{n} \mu_n(B^c(0,\delta)) = 0$$
(21)

and that

$$\sup_{n} \left(\int \psi^{v} \mathrm{d}\mu_{n} \right) < \infty \tag{22}$$

are then the condition (18) follows which ensures that the convergence in (19) works for the unbounded test function ψ . In order to fix the notation, we consider the real valued random variables $Y_n = \sqrt{n} \left(\frac{\xi^{(n)}}{n} - p\right)$ and the associated probability measure $\mu_n = \mathbf{P} \circ Y_n^{\leftarrow}$.

Proposition 1.

$$\lim_{\delta \to \infty} \sup_{n} \mu_n(B^c(0,\delta)) = 0$$

Proof. Considering the function

$$h_{\delta}(x) = \begin{cases} \frac{\|x\|^2}{\delta^2}, & \text{if } \|x\| > \delta, \\ 0, & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$
(23)

with $\|$ the euclidian norm, it follows that

$$\mu_{n}(B^{c}(0,\delta)) = \int 1_{B^{c}(0,\delta)} d\mu_{n}$$

$$\leq \int h_{\delta} d\mu_{n} = \frac{1}{\delta^{2}} \int ||x||^{2} d\mu_{n}$$

$$= \frac{1}{\delta^{2}} \int (x_{1}^{2} + x_{2}^{2} + \dots x_{d}^{2}) d\mu_{n}$$
(24)

The probability measure μ_n corresponds to the random variable Y_n that has component-wise mean zero and variance equal to $p_i(1-p_i)$ for the *i*-th variable of the vector. Therefore,

$$\mu_n(B^c(0,\delta)) \le \frac{1}{\delta^2} \sum_{i=1}^d p_i(1-p_i)$$

$$0 \le \sup_n \mu_n(B^c(0,\delta)) \le \frac{1}{\delta^2} \sum_{i=1}^d p_i(1-p_i)$$

Taking the limit when δ goes to infinity concludes the proof.

For the payoff function $\Pi : (0, \infty)^d \to \mathbb{R}$, we make the general assumption that there exist some positive real numbers $0 < m_1, m_2, \ldots, m_d$ such that

$$\Pi(u_1,\ldots,u_d) \le u_1^{m_1} u_2^{m_2} \cdots u_d^{m_d}$$
⁽²⁵⁾

for any large positive real numbers (u_1, \ldots, u_d) . This condition prevents explosive growth and pathological cases.

Proposition 2.

$$\sup_{n} \int \psi^{\nu} \mathrm{d}\mu_{n} < \infty \tag{26}$$

Proof. Consider the application $U : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$, $U(u) = \sqrt{n} \left(\frac{u}{n} - p\right)$. Making the notation $\alpha_i = S_0^i e^{\mu_i T}$

$$\int \psi^{v} d\mu_{n} = \int \psi^{v} d\mathbf{P} \circ (U(X^{(n)})^{\leftarrow})$$

= $\sum_{\substack{0 \le k_{1}, \dots, k_{d} \le n}}^{k_{1} + \dots + k_{d} = n} \psi^{v} (U(k_{1}, \dots, k_{d})) \mathbf{P}(X^{(n)} = (k_{1}, \dots, k_{d}))$
= $\sum_{\substack{0 \le k_{1}, \dots, k_{d} \le n}}^{k_{1} + \dots + k_{d} = n} P_{n}^{k_{1}, \dots, k_{d}} \Pi^{v} \left(\alpha_{1} e^{\sigma_{1} \sqrt{T} \frac{k_{1} - np_{1}}{\sqrt{n}}}, \dots, \alpha_{d} e^{\sigma_{d} \sqrt{T} \frac{k_{d} - np_{d}}{\sqrt{n}}} \right)$

Then

$$\sup_{n} \left(\int \psi^{v} d\mu_{n} \right) = \sup_{n} \sum_{0 \le k_{1}, \dots, k_{d} \le n}^{k_{1} + \dots + k_{d} = n} P_{n}^{k_{1}, \dots, k_{d}} \left[\Pi \left(\alpha_{1} e^{\sigma_{1} \sqrt{T} \frac{k_{1} - np_{1}}{\sqrt{n}}}, \dots, \alpha_{d} e^{\sigma_{d} \sqrt{T} \frac{k_{d} - np_{d}}{\sqrt{n}}} \right) \right]^{v}$$

$$\leq \sup_{n} \sum_{0 \le k_{1}, \dots, k_{d} \le n}^{k_{1} + \dots + k_{d} = n} P_{n}^{k_{1}, \dots, k_{d}} \prod_{i=1}^{d} \alpha_{i}^{vm_{i}} e^{vm_{i}\sigma_{i}} \sqrt{T} \frac{k_{i} - np_{i}}{\sqrt{n}}$$

$$= \alpha \sup_{n} \sum_{0 \le k_{1}, \dots, k_{d} \le n}^{k_{1} + \dots + k_{d} = n} \frac{n!}{k_{1}! \cdots k_{d}!} e^{-v\sqrt{nT}(\sigma_{1}m_{1}p_{1} + \dots \sigma_{d}m_{d}p_{d})} \prod_{i=1}^{d} \left(p_{i} e^{v\sigma_{i}m_{i}} \sqrt{T/n} \right)^{k_{i}}$$

$$= \alpha \sup_{n} \left\{ e^{-v\sqrt{nT}(\sigma_{1}m_{1}p_{1} + \dots \sigma_{d}m_{d}p_{d})} \left(p_{1} e^{v\sigma_{1}m_{1}} \sqrt{T/n} + \dots p_{d} e^{v\sigma_{d}m_{d}} \sqrt{T/n} \right)^{n} \right\}$$

where $\alpha = \prod_{i=1}^{d} \alpha_i^{vm_i}$. Denoting

$$a = v\sqrt{T}(p_1\sigma_1m_1 + \dots p_d\sigma_dm_d), a_i = v\sigma_im_i\sqrt{T}, \text{ for all } i = 1, \dots, d,$$

we can calculate

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} e^{-a\sqrt{n}} e^{n \ln \left[p_1 e^{a_1/\sqrt{n}} + \dots p_d e^{a_d/\sqrt{n}} \right]} = \lim_{n \to \infty} e^{n \left\{ \ln \left[p_1 e^{a_1/\sqrt{n}} + \dots p_d e^{a_d/\sqrt{n}} \right] - a/\sqrt{n} \right\}}$$

Making use of l'Hopital rule

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{\ln \left[p_1 e^{a_1/\sqrt{n}} + \dots p_d e^{a_d/\sqrt{n}} \right] - a/\sqrt{n}}{1/n}$$
$$= \lim_{n \to \infty} \left[\frac{\frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^d p_i a_i \frac{1}{n\sqrt{n}} e^{a_i/\sqrt{n}}}{\sum_{i=1}^d p_i e^{a_i/\sqrt{n}}} - \frac{a}{2n\sqrt{n}} \right] n^2$$
$$= \lim_{n \to \infty} \left[\frac{n^2}{2} \sum_{i=1}^d (a_i - a) p_i e^{a_i/\sqrt{n}} \right].$$

Applying l'Hopital rule four more times we get that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \left[\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{d} (a_i - a) p_i e^{a_i/\sqrt{n}}}{n^{-2}} \right] = \lim_{n \to \infty} \left[\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{d} (a_i - a) p_i a_i e^{a_i/\sqrt{n}}}{4n^{-3/2}} \right]$$
$$= \dots$$
$$= \lim_{n \to \infty} \left[\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{d} (a - a_i) p_i a_i^4 e^{a_i/\sqrt{n}}}{24} \right]$$

The last limit is equal to $\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{d} (a_i - a) p_i a_i^4}{24}$ when *n* goes to infinite, and this is evidently a finite real number. Therefore, its exponential would be finite too and consequently $\sup_n \left(\int \psi^v d\mu_n \right) < \infty$.

4.2 Eliminating the Singularity of the Covariance Matrix

The set-up described here is quite general and encompasses a large variety of situations. For practical applications, we consider here the multinomial distribution. More specifically let $\xi^{(n)} = (\xi_1^{(n)}, \xi_2^{(n)}, \dots, \xi_{d+1}^{(n)})$ be a random vector with a multinomial distribution with parameters *n* and $p = (p_1, \dots, p_{d+1})$, where by definition $\sum_{j=1}^{d+1} p_j = 1$. The reason for taking the order d + 1 will become evident immediately.

The central limit theorem ensures that

$$\sqrt{n}\left(\frac{\xi^{(n)}}{n} - p\right) \xrightarrow{\mathcal{D}} Z \tag{27}$$

where $Z \sim \mathcal{N}_{d+1}[0_{d+1}, \Sigma(p)]$ and

$$\Sigma(p) = [Diag(p_1, \dots, p_{d+1}) - pp^{\top}]$$
(28)

is the variance-covariance matrix of the multivariate gaussian limit distribution.

The CLT applied here results in the limit probability measure μ given by the probability density $\rho_d(y; 0_{d+1}, \Sigma(p))$. There are two problems with this limiting distribution. The first one is only apparent. The covariance matrix $\Sigma(p)$ has negative correlations off the diagonal, and therefore, it seems that it is not suitable for financial calculus. However, by making an adjustment reminiscent of the Radon-Nikodym derivative, we shall see later that this problem is easily solved. The second problem is more serious as it concerns the singularity of the covariance matrix

$$\Sigma(p) = \begin{pmatrix} p_1(1-p_1) & -p_1p_2 & \dots & -p_1p_{d+1} \\ -p_1p_2 & p_2(1-p_2) & \dots & -p_2p_{d+1} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ -p_{d+1}p_1 & -p_{d+1}p_2 & \dots & p_{d+1}(1-p_{d+1}) \end{pmatrix}$$

for *any* choice of probability vector $p = (p_1, \ldots, p_{d+1})$. This means that there is no probability density function for the limiting gaussian probability measure and calculus is impossible.

Nevertheless, we are going to show that we can still perform calculations by switching to a lower d-dimensional space. First, the delta-continuity theorem is applied for the multivariate case of the central limit theorem.

Lemma 1. Suppose that $\sqrt{n}\left(\frac{\xi^{(n)}}{n}-p\right) \xrightarrow{\mathcal{D}} Z$ where $Z \sim \mathcal{N}_d[0_{d+1}, \Sigma(p)]$ and the vectors $\xi^{(n)}$ and p are d + 1-dimensional. Let $h : \mathbb{R}^{d+1} \to \mathbb{R}^d$ be defined by $h(x) = (h_1(x), \dots, h_d(x))$ and assume that each function $h_i(\cdot)$ has continuous partial derivatives at $x = 0_d$. Then

Discrete Algorithms for Multivariate Financial Calculus

$$\sqrt{n}\left(h(\frac{\xi^{(n)}}{n}) - h(p)\right) \xrightarrow{\mathcal{D}} Z^*$$
(29)

where $Z^* \sim \mathcal{N}_d[0_d, \nabla h(p)\Sigma(p)(\nabla h(p))^{\top}]$ and $(\nabla h(p))_{ij} := \left(\frac{\partial h_i(p)}{\partial p_j}\right)$ for all $1 \le i \le d, 1 \le j \le d+1$.

Taking $h_i(p_1, \ldots, p_{d+1}) = p_i$, the projection on the *i*-th direction, it is obvious that $(\nabla h(p))_{ij}$ equals 1 for i = j and zero otherwise. Moreover, all h_i are continuous at any given probability vector p. The new covariance matrix is

$$\nabla h(p)\Sigma(p)(\nabla h(p))^{\top} = \begin{pmatrix} p_1(1-p_1) & -p_1p_2 & \dots & -p_1p_d \\ -p_1p_2 & p_2(1-p_2) & \dots & -p_2p_d \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ -p_1p_d & -p_2p_d & \dots & p_d(1-p_d) \end{pmatrix}$$
(30)

which is the matrix obtained from $\Sigma(p)$ after removing the last row and the last column. It can be shown that this matrix is always invertible. With mathematical induction the following result can be proved.

Lemma 2. For any probability vector $p = (p_1, ..., p_{d+1})$ and for the projection operators $h_i(p_1, ..., p_{d+1}) = p_i$, the following formula is true

$$\det\left\{\left(\nabla h(p)\Sigma(p)(\nabla h(p))^{\top}\right)\right\} = \left(1 - \sum_{i=1}^{d} p_i\right) \prod_{i=1}^{d} p_i.$$
 (31)

Since all $p_i > 0$ and the probability vector p is d + 1 dimensional, the above theorem proves that det $\{(\nabla h(p)\Sigma(p)(\nabla h(p))^{\top})\} \neq 0$. Consequently, the probability distribution $\mathcal{N}_d[0_d, \nabla h(p)\Sigma(p)(\nabla h(p))^{\top}]$ has the probability density function $\rho_d(x; 0_d, \nabla h(p)\Sigma(p)(\nabla h(p))^{\top})$.

4.3 Pricing Multi-Asset Options

After this digression, we recall that pricing multi-asset options could be done with formula (16). We aim to apply the central limit theorem for a multinomial distribution to generate a deterministic algorithm for approximating the expression on the right side of (16). However, since the covariance matrix of the limit gaussian distribution is not the identity matrix, we need to make some adjustments.

$$\mathcal{E}(g(Y)) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{(2\pi)^d}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} g(\Delta x) \exp\left(-\frac{1}{2}x^\top x\right) \mathrm{d}x \tag{32}$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} g(\Delta x) \rho(x; 0_d, I_d) \mathrm{d}x \tag{33}$$

R. Tunaru

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} g(\Delta x) \frac{\rho(x; 0_d, I_d)}{\rho(x; 0_d, M)} \rho(x, 0_d, M) \mathrm{d}x \tag{34}$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \psi(x) \rho(x; 0_d, M) \mathrm{d}x \tag{35}$$

where

$$\psi(x) = g(\Delta x) \frac{\rho(x; 0_d, I_d)}{\rho(x; 0_d, M)}, \quad M = \nabla h(p) \Sigma(p) (\nabla h(p))^{\top}.$$
 (36)

After determining the functional expression of the test function, we need to identify the probabilities associated with the test function over the grid generated by the multinomial distribution.

Recalling that $\xi^{(n)} = (\xi_1^{(n)}, \xi_2^{(n)}, \dots, \xi_{d+1}^{(n)})$ has a multinomial distribution with parameters *n* and (p_1, \dots, p_{d+1}) , the sequence of probability measure μ_n is given by $\mu_n = \mathbb{P} \circ v_n \left(\xi_1^{(n)}, \xi_2^{(n)}, \dots, \xi_{d+1}^{(n)} \right)^{\leftarrow}$ where

$$v_n(\xi_1^{(n)}, \xi_2^{(n)}, \dots, \xi_{d+1}^{(n)}) = \left(\frac{\xi_1^{(n)} - np_1}{\sqrt{n}}, \dots, \frac{\xi_d^{(n)} - np_d}{\sqrt{n}}\right).$$
(37)

The vector used on the right side makes use of only a subset of the full multinomial vector. However, its conditional distribution is still multinomial

$$\left(\xi_{1}^{(n)},\ldots,\xi_{d}^{(n)}|\xi_{d+1}^{(n)}=j\right) \sim Multin\left(n-j;\frac{p_{1}}{p_{1}+\ldots+p_{d}},\ldots,\frac{p_{d}}{p_{1}+\ldots+p_{d}}\right)$$
(38)

In addition, the marginal distribution of $\xi_{d+1}^{(n)}$ is binomial with parameters *n* and p_{d+1} . Therefore, we can calculate the marginal distribution of the subset vector $(\xi_1^{(n)}, \ldots, \xi_d^{(n)})$ as

$$P(\xi_1^{(n)} = k_1, \dots, \xi_d^{(n)} = k_d)$$

= $\sum_{j=0}^{j=n} P(\xi_1^{(n)} = k_1, \dots, \xi_d^{(n)} = k_d | \xi_{d+1}^{(n)} = j) P(\xi_{d+1}^{(n)} = j).$ (39)

Making the notation $\widetilde{p}_i = \frac{p_i}{p_1 + \dots + p_d}$, for all $i = 1, \dots, d$, it follows that

$$P(\xi_1^{(n)} = k_1, \dots, \xi_d^{(n)} = k_d) = \sum_{j=0}^{j=n} \binom{n}{j} p_{d+1}^j (1 - p_{d+1})^{(n-j)} \frac{(n-j)!}{k_1! \dots k_d!} \prod_{i=1}^d \widetilde{p_i}^{k_i}.$$
(40)

256

Discrete Algorithms for Multivariate Financial Calculus

Remarking that

$$\psi(x) = g(\Delta x)\sqrt{\det(M)} \exp\left[-\frac{1}{2}x^{\top}(I_d - M^{-1})x\right]$$
(41)

and applying the weak convergence of μ_n to μ for the test function ψ leads to our main result

Theorem 1.

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \psi(x)\rho(x;0_{d},M)dx = \lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{j=0}^{j=n} \sum_{\substack{0 \le k_{1},\dots,k_{d} \le n-j}}^{k_{1}+\dots+k_{d}=n-j} \\ \times \psi\left(\frac{k_{1}-np_{1}}{\sqrt{n}},\dots,\frac{k_{d}-np_{d}}{\sqrt{n}}\right) \frac{n!}{k_{1}!\dots k_{d}!j!} p_{d+1}^{j} \prod_{i=1}^{d} p_{i}^{k_{i}}.$$
 (42)

To recap, what we have done is to apply the probability convergence equivalent condition for the test function ψ

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \int \psi d\mu_n = \int \psi d\mu \tag{43}$$

taking into account now that μ_n is the probability measure corresponding to a discrete probability function, so the integral is transformed into a sum where calculations depend on $\psi(v_n(k_1, k_2, \dots, k_{d+1}))$ and the associated probabilities as determined in (40).

In other words, we have proved the following multi-asset option pricing approximation formula.

Theorem 2. The no-arbitrage price of the European option with payoff function $\Pi = \Pi(S_T^1, \ldots, S_T^d)$ can be calculated with the formula

$$e^{-rT} \lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{j=0}^{j=n} \sum_{0 \le k_1, \dots, k_d \le n-j}^{k_1 + \dots + k_d = n-j} \psi\left(\frac{k_1 - np_1}{\sqrt{n}}, \dots, \frac{k_d - np_d}{\sqrt{n}}\right) \frac{n!}{k_1! \dots k_d! j!} p_{d+1}^j \prod_{i=1}^d p_i^{k_i}$$
(44)

where $\psi : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$

$$\psi(u) = \sqrt{\det(M)}g(\Delta u) \exp\left[-\frac{1}{2}u^{\top}(I_d - M^{-1})u\right]$$

with $M = \nabla h(p)\Sigma(p)(\nabla h(p))^{\top}$ and $u = (u_1, \dots, u_d)^{\top}$.

Remark that $\frac{n!}{k_1!...k_d!j!} p_{d+1}^j \prod_{i=1}^d p_i^{k_i}$ is exactly the multinomial probability for the d+1 multinomial vector.

Furthermore, since the result is true for any choice of multinomial probability vector values, it is convenient to choose all of them equal, that is, $p_1 = p_2 = \ldots =$ $p_{d+1} = \frac{1}{d+1}$. The matrix M becomes in this particular case

$$M = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{d}{(d+1)^2} & -\frac{1}{(d+1)^2} & \dots & -\frac{1}{(d+1)^2} \\ -\frac{1}{(d+1)^2} & \frac{d}{(d+1)^2} & \dots & -\frac{1}{(d+1)^2} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ -\frac{1}{(d+1)^2} & -\frac{1}{(d+1)^2} & \dots & \frac{d}{(d+1)^2} \end{pmatrix}$$
(45)

which has the determinant $det(M) = \frac{1}{(d+1)^{d+1}}$. The approximation result can be rewritten simpler as:

Corollary 1. The no-arbitrage price of the European option with payoff function $\Pi = \Pi(S_T^1, \ldots, S_T^d)$ can be calculated with the formula

$$e^{-rT} \lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{j=0}^{j=n} \sum_{0 \le k_1, \dots, k_d \le n-j}^{k_1 + \dots + k_d = n-j} \psi\left(\frac{k_1 - np_1}{\sqrt{n}}, \dots, \frac{k_d - np_d}{\sqrt{n}}\right) \frac{n!}{k_1! \dots k_d! j!} \frac{1}{(d+1)^n}$$
(46)

where $\psi : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$

$$\psi(u) = \frac{1}{(d+1)^{\frac{d+1}{2}}} g(\Delta u) \exp\left[-\frac{1}{2}u^{\top} (I_d - M^{-1})u\right]$$

with M in (45).

Similarly, for the greek parameter Δ , recall the formula given in (15)

$$\Delta_{i} = \frac{\mathrm{e}^{-rT}}{\sqrt{(2\pi)^{d} \det \Upsilon}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \frac{1}{S_{0}^{i} \sigma_{i} \sqrt{T}} \mathrm{e}_{i}^{\top} \Upsilon^{-1} Y g(Y_{1}, \dots, Y_{d})$$
$$\times \exp\left[-\frac{1}{2} Y^{\top} \Upsilon^{-1} Y\right] \mathrm{d}Y_{1} \cdots \mathrm{d}Y_{d}$$

All that needs to be done is to redefine the g function inside the integral. For example,

$$\Delta_{i} = \frac{\mathrm{e}^{-rT}}{\sqrt{(2\pi)^{d} \det \Upsilon}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \frac{1}{S_{0}^{i} \sigma_{i} \sqrt{T}} \underbrace{\mathrm{e}_{i}^{\top} \Upsilon^{-1} Y g(Y_{1}, \dots, Y_{d})}_{g^{*}(Y)} \times \exp\left[-\frac{1}{2} Y^{\top} \Upsilon^{-1} Y\right] dY_{1} \cdots Y_{d}$$

$$(47)$$

5 Some Univariate Considerations

In practice, the univariate case is more thoroughly studied due to safety regarding the numerical dimensionality curse. The univariate counterpart of the technique revealed above for the multidimensional case has been illustrated in [36] using the binomial distribution as the workhorse of the numerical scheme. From a mathematical point of view, other probability distributions can be used. The first example refers to a scheme of non-identically distributed random variables, this case presenting more of a mathematical interest.

Approximation with Poisson Generalized Binomial Distribution

For example, consider $\{X_n\}_{n\geq 1}$ a sequence of independent random variables such that

$$\mathbf{P}([\omega:X_j(\omega)=1]) = p_j; \quad \mathbf{P}([\omega:X_j(\omega)=0]) = 1 - p_j = q_j$$
(48)

for all $j \ge 1$. The distribution of the random variable $X^{(n)} = X_1 + \ldots + X_n$ is sometimes called the Poisson generalized binomial. The random variable $X^{(n)}$ takes only the values $0, 1, 2, \ldots, n$, and $\widetilde{P}_n^k = \mathbf{P}(X_{(n)} = k)$ is equal to the coefficient of t^k in the polynomial $(p_1t + q_1)(p_2t + q_2) \ldots (p_nt + q_n)$. Applying Liapounov's theorem, the following version of De Moivre–Laplace theorem can be easily proved.

Theorem 3. Let $\{X^{(n)}\}_{n\geq 1}$ be a sequence of random variables such that for each positive integer n, $X_{(n)}$ has a Poisson generalized binomial distribution. Suppose that $\sum_{n>1} p_n(1-p_n)$ is divergent. Then

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \mathbf{P} \circ \left(\frac{X_{(n)} - \sum_{i=1}^{i=n} p_i}{\sqrt{\sum_{i=1}^{i=n} p_i (1 - p_i)}} \right)^{\leftarrow} = \mathbf{N}(0, 1).$$
(49)

As usual, N(0, 1) denotes the probability measure corresponding to the Gaussian distribution with mean 0 and variance 1. An example when the series $\sum_{n\geq 1} p_n(1-p_n)$ is divergent is easily obtained for $p_n = 1/n$. Applying the weak convergence condition for

$$\mu_n = \mathbf{P} \circ \left(\frac{X_{(n)} - \sum_{i=1}^{i=n} p_i}{\sqrt{\sum_{i=1}^{i=n} p_i (1 - p_i)}} \right)^{-1} \text{ and } \mu = \mathbf{N}(0, 1)$$
(50)

leads to the next result indicated in [35].

Theorem 4. Let $\varphi : [a, b] \to \mathbb{R}$ be Riemann integrable and $\{p_n\}_{n \ge 1}$ a sequence of real numbers such that $0 \le p_n \le 1$ and the series $\sum_{n>1} p_n(1-p_n)$ is divergent.

Then

$$\int_{a}^{b} \varphi(x) \, \mathrm{d}x = \lim_{n \to \infty} a_n, \tag{51}$$

$$a_n = \sum_{k=0}^{k=n} \widetilde{P}_n^k \sqrt{2\pi} \varphi_1 \left(\frac{k - \sum_{i=1}^{i=n} p_i}{\sqrt{\sum_{i=1}^{i=n} p_i (1-p_i)}} \right) \exp\left[\frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{k - \sum_{i=1}^{i=n} p_i}{\sqrt{\sum_{i=1}^{i=n} p_i (1-p_i)}} \right)^2 \right],$$

and $\varphi_1 : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$, where $\varphi_1(x) = \varphi(x)$ if $x \in [a, b]$ and $\varphi_1(x) = 0$ otherwise.

When $p_i \equiv p$ for all *i*, one obtains the binomial distribution case and the approximation scheme is then rewritten as

$$\int_{a}^{b} \varphi(x) \, \mathrm{d}x = \lim_{n \to \infty} a_n \tag{52}$$

$$a_n = \sum_{k=0}^{k=n} P_n^k \sqrt{2\pi} \,\varphi_1\left(\frac{k-np}{\sqrt{np(1-p)}}\right) \exp\left[\frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{k-np}{\sqrt{np(1-p)}}\right)^2\right]$$

where $P_n^k = {n \choose k} p^k (1-p)^{n-k}$ are the well known binomial probabilities. In [36], it is illustrated why the binomial approximation algorithm is still valid for unbounded payoffs that satisfy some mild growth constraints.

Similarly, another approximation scheme can be proposed for the Poisson generalized binomial distribution. Recalling that \widetilde{P}_n^k is the coefficient of t^k in the polynomial $(p_1t + q_1)(p_2t + q_2) \dots (p_nt + q_n)$ we have

Theorem 5. The price at time zero of an European option with payoff $\Pi(S_T)$ at maturity T, contingent on an underlying asset $\{S_t\}_{0 \le t \le T}$ that follows a geometric Brownian motion with parameters μ and σ , can be calculated as

$$e^{-rT} \lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{k=0}^{k=n} \widetilde{P}_n^k \Pi \left[S_0 \exp\left(\left(r - \frac{\sigma^2}{2} \right) T + \sigma \sqrt{T} \frac{k - \sum_{i=1}^{i=n} p_i}{\sqrt{\sum_{i=1}^{i=n} p_i q_i}} \right) \right]$$
(53)

Approximation with Negative Binomial Kernel

One can adapt the method discussed above to discrete distributions that take an infinity of possible values. Let $\{X_n\}_{n\geq 1}$ be a sequence of iid random variables, each variable taking only the values 1, 2, ..., k, ... with probabilities

$$\mathbf{P}([\omega:X_{j}(\omega)=k]) = p(1-p)^{k-1}.$$
(54)

Then, the random variable $X^{(n)} = X_1 + \ldots + X_n$ has the negative binomial distribution with parameters -n and p, where 0 and <math>n obviously positive

260

integer. Applying the Central Limit Theorem leads to

$$\mathbf{P} \circ \left(\frac{X_{(n)} - \frac{n}{p}}{\sqrt{n\frac{1-p}{p^2}}}\right)^{\leftarrow} \longrightarrow \mathbf{N}(0, 1)$$
(55)

Following a similar route with the binomial case, we get the next approximation scheme

Theorem 6. The price at time zero of a European option with payoff $\Pi(S_T)$ at maturity T, contingent on an underlying asset $\{S_t\}_{0 \le t \le T}$ that follows a geometric Brownian motion with parameters μ and σ , can be calculated as

$$e^{-rT}\lim_{n\to\infty}\sum_{k\geq n} \binom{k-1}{n-1} p^n (1-p)^{k-n} \Pi \left[S_0 \exp\left(\left(r-\frac{\sigma^2}{2}\right)T + \sigma\sqrt{T}\frac{kp-n}{\sqrt{n(1-p)}}\right) \right]$$
(56)

In [36], it is proved that the univariate approximation grids obtained in this manner are dense sets in the domain of the target integral for calculation. This is an important property, since it guarantees a uniform covering of the domain of integration, similar to low-discrepancy sequences, that proved their superiority to Monte Carlo methods.

6 Examples of Applications

Asian Options

Here, we consider the pricing of Asian options with discrete fixings at times t_1, t_2, \ldots, t_d . The underlying is only one asset described by a geometric Brownian motion

$$\mathrm{d}S_t = \mu S_t \mathrm{d}t + \sigma S_t \mathrm{d}W_t.$$

The payoff of an Asian call options with strike K is

$$\max\left[\frac{1}{d}\sum_{i=1}^{i=d} S_{t_i} - K, 0\right]$$
(57)

and for a put is

$$\max\left[K - \frac{1}{d}\sum_{i=1}^{i=d} S_{t_i}, 0\right].$$
 (58)

The formula (44) can be used here if we make the identification

$$S_T^1 \doteq S_{t_1}, S_T^2 \doteq S_{t_2}, \dots, S_T^d \doteq S_{t_d}.$$
 (59)

In other words, the value of the stock at the grid pre-specified time t_i is viewed as the value of one asset at maturity T. The correlation between the components of the basket is the path correlation of *one* Brownian motion governing the dynamics of the underlying asset referencing the Asian option. The payoff for the arithmetic Asian put can be written as

$$g(S_T^1, \dots, S_T^d) = \max\left[K - \frac{1}{d} \sum_{i=1}^{i=d} S_T^i, 0\right]$$
(60)

while for the geometric Asian put would be

$$g(S_T^1, \dots, S_T^d) = \max\left[K - \sqrt[d]{\prod_{i=1}^d S_T^i}, 0\right].$$
 (61)

Application to Pricing Spread Options

Spread options can be viewed as particular cases of basket options that have the general payoff at maturity

$$\max\left(\sum_{i=1}^d \alpha_i S_i - K_{\text{basket}}\right)$$

where K_{basket} is the strike price defined in terms of the aggregate value of the basket and the coefficients α could be proper weights for standard basket contracts or simply taking +1 and -1 values for spread options when d = 2.

Options on the Maximum or the Minimum of Risky Assets

The most common case is that, of two assets, the case of a large number of assets is not tractable analytically and not very used. The payoff for options on the maximum (or the minimum) of two risky assets is given by

$$\max[\alpha(\beta \min(\beta S_T^1, \beta S_T^2) - K), 0]$$
(62)

where $\alpha = 1$ for a call, $\alpha = -1$ for a put and the option if on the maximum for $\beta = -1$ and on the minimum for $\beta = +1$. Also, S_T^1, S_T^2 are the two assets at maturity *T* and *K* is the exercise price.

We consider that each asset follows a geometric Brownian motion

Discrete Algorithms for Multivariate Financial Calculus

$$\mathrm{d}S_t^i = rS_t^i \mathrm{d}t + \sigma_i S_t^i \mathrm{d}W_t^i$$

where i = 1, 2 and W_t^1, \ldots, W_t^d are correlated Wiener processes with $\mathcal{E}(dW_t^1, dW_t^2) = \rho dt$. Here, we should price a put on the maximum so the payoff is

$$g(S_T^1, S_T^2) = \max[\min(-S_T^1, -S_T^2) + K), 0] = \max[K - \max(S_T^1, S_T^2), 0].$$
(63)

What we need to calculate is

$$\mathcal{E}[g(Y)] = \frac{1}{\sqrt{(2\pi)^d \det(\Upsilon)}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} g(y) \exp\left[-\frac{1}{2}y^\top \Upsilon^{-1}y\right] \mathrm{d}y.$$

Taking $\sigma_1 = 0.25$, $\sigma_2 = 0.4$, and correlation coefficient 0.10, the risk-free rate 10%, exercise price K = 110 and initial stock prices $S_0^1 = 100$ and $S_0^2 = 120$ and applying formula (44), we get the price equal to 2.071, which compares well with the Monte Carlo price of 2.067.

With the payoff g in (63), the calculation algorithm goes through the following steps

- 1. Determine the Cholesky square root matrix Δ of covariance matrix Υ .
- 2. Initialise the vector of probabilities (p_1, p_2, p_3) , for our example $p_1 = p_2 = p_3 = \frac{1}{3}$.
- 3. Calculate the matrix M from formula (30).
- 4. Initialise n.
- 5. Calculate the series on the right side of (46), a simplified and more direct version of (44).
- 6. The calculations are done for increasing *n* until two consecutive calculations are close to a pre-specified tolerance level.

Pricing Basket Options

Basket options are very popular instruments. The payoff that applies in this case is specified as

$$g(S_T^1, S_T^2, \dots, S_T^d) = N \times \max\left[K - \sum_{i=1}^d w_i \frac{S_T^i}{S_0^i}\right]$$
(64)

and it is evident that this case also falls under the methodology presented above in this chapter.

7 Conclusions and Further Research

Numerical methods are less developed for multivariate applications due to computational problems with increased dimensionality. At the same time, it is desirable to have general methods able to cover a wide spectrum of applied problems in economics, finance and other sciences. The algorithms presented here clearly satisfy the second objective. Moreover, due to advances in computer science related to parallel computation and multi-thread technology, one can envisage the future developments in this area, particularly for situations where similar calculations are required frequently in a multi-dimensional set-up. Investment banks having exotic options trading desks are the perfect example. The portfolio of products is usually large, hence the dimensionality problem. Given that the products that make the portfolio are not taken in and out of the portfolio very often, considerable computation savings can be made by saving the probability weights associated with the approximation grid suggested here.

An important line of further research is improving the speed of convergence and designing measures to ensure convergence has been reached. Currently, this can be done on a case by case basis where one can take advantage of the characteristics of the specific payoff.

While the discussion here has been focused on using the gaussian distribution as the limiting distribution, other cases may appear and are possible. For example, the χ^2 distribution is readily available after applying the delta-continuity theorem and a suitable transformation to a central limit result. Hence, a connection can be made in this way, if required, to non-gaussian models.

Acknowledgements The author thanks Dan Crisan for insightful discussions in the preliminary stages of this research. Many thanks also to Ionut Florescu, Christian Homescu and conference participants at MathFinance 2009 in Frankfurt, 7th ISAAC Congress Section on Stochastic Analysis in London and AMS Section on Mathematical Finance 2009 in Penn State and seminar participants at Essex University, Department of Mathematics, for useful suggestions and comments.

References

- 1. Airoldi, M.: A moment expansion approach to option pricing. Quant. Finance 5, 89–104 (2005)
- Barraquand, J., Martineau, D.: Numerical valuation of high dimensional multivariate American securities. J. Financ. Quant. Anal. 30, 383–405 (1995)
- 3. Barrett, J., Moore, G., Wilmott, P.: Inelegant efficiency. RISK 5, 82-84 (1992)
- Borovkov, K., Novikov, A.: On a new approach to calculating expectations for option pricing. J. Appl. Probab. 39, 889–895 (2002)
- 5. Carr, P., Madan, D.: Option valuation and the fast fourier transform. J. Comput. Financ. 2, 61–73 (1999)
- Cox, J., Ross, S., Rubinstein, M.: Option pricing: a simplified approach. J. Financ. Econ. 7, 229–263 (1979)
- 7. Carr, P., Schroder, M.: On the valuation of arithmetic-average Asian options: the Geman-Yor Laplace transformation revisited. Research paper. Bank of America Securities (2001)

- Dempster, M.A.H., Hutton, J.P.: Numerical valuation of cross-currency swaps and swaptions. In: Dempster, M.A.H., Pliska, S. (eds.) Mathematics of derivative securities, pp. 473–501. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (1997)
- Dempster, M.A.H., Hong, S.: Pricing spread options with the fast fourier transform. In: Geman, H., Madan, D., Pliska, S., Vorst, T. (eds.) First World Congress of the Bachelier Finance Society, Springer, New York (2000)
- 10. Dufresne, D.: Laguerre series for Asian and other options. Math. Finance 10, 407-428 (2000)
- Duffie, D., Protter, P.: From discrete to continuous-time finance: weak convergence of the financial gain process. Math. Finance 2, 1–15 (1992)
- 12. L'Ecuyer, P.: Quasi-Monte Carlo methods with applications in finance. Finance Stoch. 13, 307–349 (2009)
- 13. Evans, M., Swartz, T.: Approximating integrals via Monte Carlo and deterministic methods. Oxford University Press, Oxford (2000)
- 14. Fristedt, B., Gray, L.: A modern approach to probability theory. Birkhauser, Boston (1997)
- Fu, M., Madan, D., Wang, T.: Pricing continuous Asian options: a comparison of Monte Carlo and Laplace Transform Inversion Methods. J. Comput. Finance 2, 49–74 (1999)
- 16. Glasserman, P.: Monte Carlo methods in financial engineering. Springer, New York (2004)
- 17. Jarrow, R., Rudd, A.: Approximate option valuation for arbitrary stochastic processes. J. Financ. Econ. 10, 347–369 (1982)
- 18. Ju, N.: Pricing Asian and basket options via Taylor expansion. J. Comput. Finance 5, (2002)
- 19. Kunitomo, N., Takahashi, A.: The asymptotic expansion approach to the valuation of interest rate contingent claims. Math. Finance **11**,117–151 (2001)
- Kushner, H.: Numerical methods for stochastic problems in finance. In: Dempster, M.A.H., Pliska, S. (eds.) Mathematics of derivative securities, pp. 504–527. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (1997)
- Laprise, S.B., Fu, M.C., Marcus, S.I., Lim, A.E., Zhang, H.: Pricing American-style derivatives with European call options. Manage. Sci. 52, 95–110 (2006)
- Lee, R.W.: Option pricing by transform methods: extensions, unification, and error control. J. Comput. Finance 7, 51–86 (2004)
- 23. Loève, M.: Probability theory. Springer, New York (1977)
- Milevsky, M., Posner, S.: Asian options, the sum of lognormals, and the reciprocal gamma distribution. J. Financ. Quant. Anal. 33, 409–422 (1998)
- Milevsky, M., Posner, S.: A closed-form approximation for valuing basket options. J. Derivatives 5, 54–61 (1998)
- Nicolato, E., Venardos, E.: Option pricing in stochastic volatility models of the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck type. Math. Finance 13, 445–466 (2003)
- Pagès, G.: A space vector quantization method for numerical integration. J. Comput. Appl. Math. 89, 1–38 (1997)
- Pagès, G., Printems, J.: Optimal quadratic quantization for numerics: the Gaussian case. Monte Carlo Methods Appl. 9, 135–166 (2003)
- 29. Pagès, G., Printems, J.: Functional quantization for numerics with an application to option pricing. Monte Carlo Methods Appl. **11**, 407–446 (2005)
- Pagès, G., Bally, V., Printems, J.: A quantization method for pricing and hedging multidimensional American style options. Math. Finance 15, 119–168 (2005)
- Pagès, G., Pham, H., Printems, J.: Optimal quantization methods and applications to numerical methods and applications in finance. In: Rachev, S. (ed.) Handbook of numerical methods in finance, pp. 253–298. Birkhäuser, Boston (2004)
- 32. Prigent, J.: Weak convergence of financial markets. Springer, Berlin (2003)
- Rogers, L.C.G., Zane, O.: Saddlepoint approximations to option prices. Ann. Appl. Probab. 9, 493–503 (1999)
- Schroder, M: Laguerre series in contingent claim valuation with applications to Asian options. Math. Finance 15, 491–531 (2005)
- 35. Tunaru, R.: Approximating Riemann integral using central limit theorem. Math. Jpn. 49, 191–193 (1999)

- 36. Tunaru, R.: Discrete approximations algorithms for financial calculus. In: Ruzhansky, M., Wirth, J. (eds.) Proceedings of the 7th International ISAAC Congress, pp. 504–527. World Scientific, Singapore (2010)
- 37. Wang, X., Fang, K.-T.: The effective dimension and Quasi-Monte Carlo integration. J. Complex. **19**, 101–124 (2003)
- Wang, X., Sloan, I.: Why are high-dimensional finance problems often of low effective dimension? SIAM J. Sci. Comput. 27, 159–183 (2005)

Credit Risk, Market Sentiment and Randomly-Timed Default

Dorje C. Brody, Lane P. Hughston, and Andrea Macrina

Abstract We propose a model for the credit markets in which the random default times of bonds are assumed to be given as functions of one or more independent "market factors". Market participants are assumed to have partial information about each of the market factors, represented by the values of a set of market factor information processes. The market filtration is taken to be generated jointly by the various information processes and by the default indicator processes of the various bonds. The value of a discount bond is obtained by taking the discounted expectation of the value of the default indicator function at the maturity of the bond, conditional on the information provided by the market filtration. Explicit expressions are derived for the bond price processes and the associated default hazard rates. The latter are not given a priori as part of the model but rather are deduced and shown to be functions of the values of the information processes. Thus the "perceived" hazard rates, based on the available information, determine bond prices, and as perceptions change so do the prices. In conclusion, explicit expressions are derived for options on discount bonds, the values of which also fluctuate in line with the vicissitudes of market sentiment.

Keywords Information-based asset pricing · Credit derivatives · Random times

MSC (2010): 91G40, 93E11, 60G40, 94Axx

D.C. Brody and L.P. Hughston (🖂)

Department of Mathematics, Imperial College London, London SW7 2AZ, United Kingdom e-mail: dorje@imperial.ac.uk, l.hughston@imperial.ac.uk

A. Macrina

Department of Mathematics, King's College London, London WC2R 2LS, United Kingdom and

Institute of Economic Research, Kyoto University, Kyoto 606-8501, Japan e-mail: andrea.macrina@kcl.ac.uk

D. Crisan (ed.), *Stochastic Analysis 2010*, DOI 10.1007/978-3-642-15358-7_13,

[©] Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2011

1 Credit-Risk Modeling

In this paper, we consider a simple model for defaultable securities and, more generally, for a class of financial instruments for which the cash flows depend on the default times of a set of defaultable securities. For example, if τ is the time of default of a firm that has issued a simple credit-risky zero-coupon bond that matures at time T, then the bond delivers a single cash-flow H_T at T, given by

$$H_T = N \, \mathbb{1}\{\tau > T\},\tag{1}$$

where *N* is the principal, and $\mathbb{I}\{\tau > T\} = 1$ if $\tau > T$ and $\mathbb{I}\{\tau > T\} = 0$ if $\tau \le T$. By a "simple" credit-risky zero-coupon bond we mean the case of an idealised bond where there is no recovery of the principal if the firm defaults. If a fixed fraction *R* of the principal is paid at time *T* in the event of default, then we have

$$H_T = N \mathbb{1}\{\tau > T\} + RN \mathbb{1}\{\tau \le T\}.$$
(2)

More realistic models can be developed by introducing random factors that determine the amount and timing of recovery levels. See, e.g., Brody, Hughston and Macrina [7, 10], and Macrina and Parbhoo [24].

As another example, let $\tau_1, \tau_2, \ldots, \tau_n$ denote the default times of a set of *n* discount bonds, each with maturity after *T*. Write $\overline{\tau}_1, \overline{\tau}_2, \ldots, \overline{\tau}_n$ for the "order statistics" of the default times. Hence $\overline{\tau}_1$ is the time of the first default (among $\tau_1, \tau_2, \ldots, \tau_n$), $\overline{\tau}_2$ is the time of the second default, and so on. Then a structured product that pays

$$H_T = K \, \mathbb{1}\{\bar{\tau}_k \le T\} \tag{3}$$

is a kind of insurance policy that pays K at time T if there have been k or more defaults by time T.

One of the outstanding problems associated with credit-risk modeling is the following. What counts in the valuation of credit-risky products is not necessarily the "actual" or "objective" probability of default (even if this can be meaningfully determined), but rather the "perceived" probability of default. This can change over time, depending on shifts in market sentiment and the flow of relevant market information. How do we go about modeling the dynamics of such products?

2 Modeling the Market Filtration

We introduce a probability space with a measure \mathbb{Q} which, for simplicity, we take to be the risk-neutral measure. Thus, the price process of any non-dividend-paying asset, when the price is expressed in units of a standard money-market account, is a \mathbb{Q} -martingale. We do not assume that the market is necessarily complete; rather, we merely assume that there is an established pricing kernel. We assume, again for simplicity, that the default-free interest-rate term structure is deterministic. Time 0 denotes the present, and we write P_{tT} for the price at t of a default-free discount bond that matures at T. To ensure absence of arbitrage, we require that $P_{tT} = P_{0T}/P_{0t}$, where $\{P_{0t}\}_{0 \le t < \infty}$ is the initial term structure. No attempt will be made in the present investigation to examine the case of stochastic interest rates: to keep credit-related issues in the foreground, we suppress considerations relating to the default-free interest rate term structure. See Rutkowski and Yu [25], Hughston and Macrina [20], Brody and Friedman [4], and Macrina and Parbhoo [24] for discussions of the stochastic interest rate case in an information-based setting.

The probability space comes equipped with a filtration $\{\mathcal{G}_t\}$ which we take to be the market filtration. Our first objective is to define $\{\mathcal{G}_t\}$ in such a way that market sentiments concerning the default times can be modeled explicitly. We let $\tau_1, \tau_2, \ldots, \tau_n$ be a collection of non-negative random times such that $\mathbb{Q}(\tau_{\alpha} = 0) = 0$ and $\mathbb{Q}(\tau_{\alpha} > t) > 0$ for t > 0 and $\alpha = 1, 2, \ldots, n$. We set

$$\tau_{\alpha} = f_{\alpha}(X_1, X_2, \dots, X_N), \qquad (\alpha = 1, 2, \dots, n). \tag{4}$$

Here X_1, X_2, \ldots, X_N are N independent, continuous, real-valued *market factors* that determine the default times, and f_{α} for each α is a smooth function of N variables that determines the dependence of τ_{α} on the market factors. We note that if two default times share an X-factor in common, then they will in general be correlated. With each τ_{α} , we associate a "survival" indicator process $1{\tau_{\alpha} > t}$, $t \ge 0$, which takes the value unity until default occurs, at which time it drops to zero. Additionally, we introduce a set of N information processes ${\xi_t^k}_{t\geq 0}$ in association with the market factors, which in the present investigation we take to be of the form

$$\xi_t^k = \sigma_k t X_k + B_t^k. \tag{5}$$

Here, for each k, σ_k is a parameter ("information flow rate") and $\{B_t^k\}_{t\geq 0}$ is a Brownian motion ("market noise"). We assume that the X-factors and the market noise processes are all independent of one another.

We take the market filtration $\{\mathcal{G}_t\}_{t\geq 0}$ to be generated jointly by the information processes and the survival indicator processes. Therefore, we have:

$$\mathcal{G}_{t} = \sigma \left[\{\xi_{s}^{k}\}_{0 \le s \le t}^{k=1,\dots,N}, \mathbb{1}\{\tau^{\alpha} > s\}_{0 \le s \le t}^{\alpha=1,\dots,n} \right].$$
(6)

It follows that at *t* the market knows the information generated up to *t* and the history of the indicator processes up to time *t*. For the purpose of calculations, it is useful also to introduce the filtration $\{\mathcal{F}_t\}_{t\geq 0}$ generated by the information processes:

$$\mathcal{F}_t = \sigma \left[\{\xi_s^k\}_{0 \le s \le t}^{k=1,\dots,N} \right]. \tag{7}$$

Then clearly $\mathcal{F}_t \subset \mathcal{G}_t$. We do not require as such the notion of a "background" filtration for our theory. Indeed, we can think of the ξ 's and the 1's as providing two related but different types of information about the X's.

3 Credit-Risky Discount Bond

As an example, we study in more detail the case n = 1, N = 1. We have a single random market factor X and an associated default time $\tau = f(X)$. We assume that X is continuous and that f(X) is monotonic. The market filtration $\{\mathcal{G}_t\}$ is generated jointly by an information process of the form

$$\xi_t = \sigma t X + B_t, \qquad t \ge 0,\tag{8}$$

and the indicator process $1{\tau > t}$, $t \ge 0$. The Brownian motion ${B_t}_{t>0}$ is taken to be independent of X. The value of a defaultable T-maturity discount bond, when there is no recovery on default, is then given by

$$B_{tT} = P_{tT} \mathbb{E} \left[\mathbb{1} \{ \tau > T \} \, \big| \, \mathcal{G}_t \right] \tag{9}$$

for $0 \le t \le T$. We shall write out an explicit expression for B_{tT} . First, we use the identity (see, e.g., Bielecki, Jeanblanc and Rutkowski [1]):

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\mathbb{1}\{\tau > T\} \mid \mathcal{G}_t\right] = \mathbb{1}\{\tau > t\} \frac{\mathbb{E}\left[\mathbb{1}\{\tau > T\} \mid \mathcal{F}_t\right]}{\mathbb{E}\left[\mathbb{1}\{\tau > t\} \mid \mathcal{F}_t\right]},\tag{10}$$

where \mathcal{F}_t is as defined in (7). It follows that

$$B_{tT} = P_{tT} \mathbb{1}\{\tau > t\} \frac{\mathbb{E}\left[\mathbb{1}\{\tau > T\} | \mathcal{F}_t\right]}{\mathbb{E}\left[\mathbb{1}\{\tau > t\} | \mathcal{F}_t\right]}.$$
(11)

We note that the information process $\{\xi_t\}$ has the Markov property with respect to its own filtration. To see this, it suffices to check that

$$\mathbb{Q}\left(\xi_t \le x | \xi_s, \xi_{s_1}, \xi_{s_2}, \dots, \xi_{s_k}\right) = \mathbb{Q}\left(\xi_t \le x | \xi_s\right)$$
(12)

for any collection of times $t \ge s \ge s_1 \ge s_2 \ge \cdots \ge s_k > 0$. We observe that for $s > s_1 > s_2 > s_3 > 0$, the random variables $\{B_s/s - B_{s_1}/s_1\}$ and $\{B_{s_2}/s_2 - B_{s_3}/s_3\}$ are independent. This follows directly from a calculation of their covariance. Hence from the relation

$$\frac{\xi_s}{s} - \frac{\xi_{s_1}}{s_1} = \frac{B_s}{s} - \frac{B_{s_1}}{s_1} \tag{13}$$

we conclude that

$$\mathbb{Q}(\xi_t \le x | \xi_s, \xi_{s_1}, \dots, \xi_{s_k}) = \mathbb{Q}\left(\xi_t \le x \left| \xi_s, \frac{\xi_s}{s} - \frac{\xi_{s_1}}{s_1}, \frac{\xi_{s_1}}{s_1} - \frac{\xi_{s_2}}{s_2}, \dots, \frac{\xi_{s_{k-1}}}{s_{k-1}} - \frac{\xi_{s_k}}{s_k}\right) \\
= \mathbb{Q}\left(\xi_t \le x \left| \xi_s, \frac{B_s}{s} - \frac{B_{s_1}}{s_1}, \frac{B_{s_1}}{s_1} - \frac{B_{s_2}}{s_2}, \dots, \frac{B_{s_{k-1}}}{s_{k-1}} - \frac{B_{s_k}}{s_k}\right). \tag{14}$$

However, since ξ_t and ξ_s are independent of $B_s/s - B_{s_1}/s_1$, $B_{s_1}/s_1 - B_{s_2}/s_2$, ..., $B_{s_{k-1}}/s_{k-1} - B_{s_k}/s_k$, the result (12) follows.

As a consequence of the Markovian property of $\{\xi_t\}$ and the fact that X is \mathcal{F}_{∞} -measurable, we therefore obtain

$$B_{tT} = P_{tT} \mathbb{1}\{\tau > t\} \frac{\mathbb{E}\left[\mathbb{1}\{\tau > T\} \mid \xi_t\right]}{\mathbb{E}\left[\mathbb{1}\{\tau > t\} \mid \xi_t\right]}$$
(15)

for the defaultable bond price. Thus we can write

$$B_{tT} = P_{tT} \mathbb{1}\{\tau > t\} \frac{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathbb{1}\{f(x) > T\}\rho_t(x)dx}{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathbb{1}\{f(x) > t\}\rho_t(x)dx}.$$
(16)

Here

$$\rho_t(x) = \mathbb{E}\left[\delta(X - x) \,|\, \xi_t\right] \tag{17}$$

is the conditional density for X given ξ_t , and a calculation using the Bayes law shows that:

$$\rho_t(x) = \frac{\rho_0(x) \exp\left[\sigma x \xi_t - \frac{1}{2} \sigma^2 x^2 t\right]}{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \rho_0(x) \exp\left[\sigma x \xi_t - \frac{1}{2} \sigma^2 x^2 t\right] \mathrm{d}x},\tag{18}$$

where $\rho_0(x)$ is the *a priori* density of *X*. Thus for the bond price we obtain:

$$B_{tT} = P_{tT} \mathbb{1}\{\tau > t\} \frac{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \rho_0(x) \mathbb{1}\{f(x) > T\} \exp\left[\sigma x \xi_t - \frac{1}{2} \sigma^2 x^2 t\right] dx}{\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \rho_0(x) \mathbb{1}\{f(x) > t\} \exp\left[\sigma x \xi_t - \frac{1}{2} \sigma^2 x^2 t\right] dx}.$$
 (19)

It should be apparent that the value of the bond fluctuates as ξ_t changes. This reflects the effects of changes in market sentiment concerning the possibility of default. Indeed, if we regard τ as the default time of an obligor that has issued a number of different bonds (coupon bonds can be regarded as bundles of zero-coupon bonds), then similar formulae will apply for each of the various bond issues.

When the default times of two or more distinct obligors depend on a common market factor, the resulting bond price dynamics are correlated and so are the default times. The modelling framework presented here therefore provides a basis for a number of new constructions in credit-risk management, including explicit expressions for the volatilities and correlations of credit-risky bonds.

Our methodology is to consider models for which each independent X-factor has its own information process. Certainly, we can also consider the situation where there may be two or more distinct information processes available concerning the same X-factor. This situation is relevant to models with asymmetric information, where some traders may have access to "more" information about a given market factor than other traders; see Brody, Davis, Friedman and Hughston [3], Brody, Brody, Meister and Parry [2], and Brody, Hughston and Macrina [10]. In principle, a variety of different types of information processes can be considered. We have in (5) used for simplicity what is perhaps the most elementary type of information process, a Brownian motion with a random drift. The linearity of the drift term in the time variable ensures on the one hand that the information process has the Markov property, and on the other hand, since the Brownian term grows in magnitude on average like the square-root of time, that the drift term eventually comes to dominate the noise term, thus allowing for the release of information concerning the likely time of default. Information processes based variously on the Brownian bridge (Brody, Hughston and Macrina [7,8]), the gamma bridge (Brody, Hughston and Macrina [9]), and the Lévy random bridge (Hoyle, Hughston and Macrina [18, 19]) have been applied to problems in finance and insurance.

Our work can be viewed in the context of the growing body of literature on the role of information in finance and its application to credit risk modeling in particular. No attempt will be made here at a systematic survey of material in this line. We refer the reader, for example, to Kusuoka [22], Föllmer, Wu and Yor [14], Duffie and Lando [13], Jarrow and Protter [21], Çetin, Jarrow, Protter and Yildirim [11], Giesecke [17], Geman, Madan and Yor [16], Coculescu, Geman and Jeanblanc [12], Frey and Schmidt [15], Bielecki, Jeanblanc and Rutkowski [1], and works cited therein.

4 Discount Bond Dynamics

Further insight into the nature of the model can be gained by working out the dynamics of the bond price. An application of Ito calculus gives the following dynamics over the time interval from 0 to T:

$$\mathrm{d}B_{tT} = (r_t + h_t)B_{tT}\mathrm{d}t + \sigma\Sigma_{tT}B_{tT}\mathrm{d}W_t + B_{t-T}\mathrm{d}\mathbb{I}\{\tau > t\}.$$
(20)

Here

$$r_t = -\partial_t \ln(P_{0t}) \tag{21}$$

is the deterministic short rate of interest, and

$$h_t = \frac{\mathbb{E}\left[\delta(f(X) - t) \mid \mathcal{F}_t\right]}{\mathbb{E}\left[1\{f(X) > t\} \mid \mathcal{F}_t\right]}$$
(22)

is the so-called hazard rate. It should be evident that if $\tau \leq T$, then when the default time is reached the bond price drops to zero. The defaultable discount bond volatility Σ_{tT} is given by

$$\Sigma_{tT} = \frac{\mathbb{E}\left[\mathbbm{1}\left\{f(X) > T\right\}X \mid \mathcal{F}_t\right]}{\mathbb{E}\left[\mathbbm{1}\left\{f(X) > T\right\} \mid \mathcal{F}_t\right]} - \frac{\mathbb{E}\left[\mathbbm{1}\left\{f(X) > t\right\}X \mid \mathcal{F}_t\right]}{\mathbb{E}\left[\mathbbm{1}\left\{f(X) > t\right\} \mid \mathcal{F}_t\right]}.$$
(23)

The process $\{W_t\}$ appearing in the dynamics of $\{B_{tT}\}$ is defined by the relation:

$$W_t = \int_0^t \mathbb{1}\{f(X) > s\} \left(\mathrm{d}\xi_s - \sigma \mathbb{E}\left[X | \mathcal{G}_s \right] \mathrm{d}s \right).$$
(24)

To deduce the formulae above, we define a one-parameter family of $\{\mathcal{F}_t\}$ -adapted processes $\{F_{tu}\}$ by setting

$$F_{tu} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \rho_0(x) \mathbb{1}\{f(x) > u\} \exp\left[\sigma x \xi_t - \frac{1}{2} \sigma^2 x^2 t\right] \mathrm{d}x.$$
(25)

Then the bond price can be written in the form

$$B_{tT} = P_{tT} \mathbb{1}\{\tau > t\} \frac{F_{tT}}{F_{tt}}.$$
(26)

An application of Ito's lemma gives

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}F_{tT}}{F_{tT}} = \sigma \frac{\mathbb{E}\left[\mathbbm{1}\left\{f(X) > T\right\}X \mid \mathcal{F}_t\right]}{\mathbb{E}\left[\mathbbm{1}\left\{f(X) > T\right\} \mid \mathcal{F}_t\right]} \,\mathrm{d}\xi_t \tag{27}$$

and

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}F_{tt}}{F_{tt}} = -\frac{\mathbb{E}\left[\delta(f(X) - t) \mid \mathcal{F}_t\right]}{\mathbb{E}\left[\mathbbm{1}\left\{f(X) > t\right\} \mid \mathcal{F}_t\right]} \,\mathrm{d}t + \sigma \frac{\mathbb{E}\left[\mathbbm{1}\left\{f(X) > t\right\} \mid \mathcal{F}_t\right]}{\mathbb{E}\left[\mathbbm{1}\left\{f(X) > t\right\} \mid \mathcal{F}_t\right]} \,\mathrm{d}\xi_t.$$
 (28)

The desired results then follow by use of the relation

$$d\left(\frac{F_{tT}}{F_{tt}}\right) = \frac{F_{tT}}{F_{tt}} \left[\frac{dF_{tT}}{F_{tT}} - \frac{dF_{tt}}{F_{tt}} + \left(\frac{dF_{tt}}{F_{tt}}\right)^2 - \frac{dF_{tT}}{F_{tT}}\frac{dF_{tt}}{F_{tt}}\right].$$
 (29)

The process $\{W_t\}_{0 \le t < \tau}$ defined by (24) is a $\{\mathcal{G}_t\}$ -Brownian motion. This can be seen by use of Lévy's characterisation. Specifically, we have $dW_t^2 = dt$ and $\mathbb{E}[W_u | \mathcal{G}_t] = W_t$. To see that $\{W_t\}_{0 \le t < \tau}$ is a $\{\mathcal{G}_t\}$ -martingale, we observe that

$$W_{u} = \int_{0}^{u} \mathbb{1} \{ \tau > s \} (d\xi_{s} - \sigma \mathbb{E} [X | \mathcal{G}_{s}] ds),$$

= $W_{t} + \int_{t}^{u} \mathbb{1} \{ \tau > s \} (d\xi_{s} - \sigma \mathbb{E} [X | \mathcal{G}_{s}] ds),$ (30)

and hence

$$\mathbb{E}\left[W_{u} \mid \mathcal{G}_{t}\right] = W_{t} + \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{t}^{u} \mathbb{1}\left(\mathrm{d}\xi_{s} - \sigma \mathbb{E}[X \mid \mathcal{G}_{s}]\mathrm{d}s\right) \mid \mathcal{G}_{t}\right].$$
 (31)

Then by inserting $d\xi_s = \sigma X ds + dB_s$ and using the tower property, we find that the terms involving X cancel and we are left with

$$\mathbb{E}\left[W_{u} \mid \mathcal{G}_{t}\right] = W_{t} + \mathbb{E}\left[\int_{t}^{u} \mathbb{1}\{\tau > s\} \mathrm{d}B_{s} \mid \mathcal{G}_{t}\right],$$

$$= W_{t} + \mathbb{E}\left[\mathbb{E}\left[\int_{t}^{u} \mathbb{1}\{\tau > s\} \mathrm{d}B_{s} \mid \sigma\left\{X, \mathcal{G}_{t}\right\}\right] \mid \mathcal{G}_{t}\right],$$

$$= W_{t}.$$
(32)

The Brownian motion that "drives" the defaultable bond is not adapted to a pre-specified background filtration. Rather, it is directly associated with information about the factors determining default. In this respect, the information-based approach is closer in spirit to a structural model, even though it retains the economy of a reduced-form model.

5 Hazard Rates and Forward Hazard Rates

Let us now examine more closely properties of the intensity process $\{h_t\}$ given by the expression (22). We remark first that the intensity at time *t* is a function of ξ_t . This shows that in the present model, the default intensity is determined by "market perceptions." Our model can thus be characterised as follows:

The market does not know the "true" default intensity; rather, from the information available to the market a kind of "best estimate" for the default intensity is used for the pricing of bonds—but the market is "aware" of the fact that this estimate is based on perceptions, and hence as the perceptions change, so will the estimate, and so will the bond prices. Thus, in the present model (and unlike the majority of credit models hitherto proposed), there is no need for "fundamental changes" in the state of the obligor, or the underlying economic environment, as the basis for improvement or deterioration of credit quality: it suffices simply that the information about the credit quality should change—whether or not this information is actually representative of the true state of affairs.

In the present example, we can obtain a more explicit expression for the intensity by transforming variables as follows. Since f is invertible, we can introduce the inverse function $\phi(\tau) = f^{-1}(\tau) = X$ and write

$$\xi_t = \sigma t \phi(\tau) + B_t \tag{33}$$

for the information process. As before, we assume that the Brownian motion $\{B_t\}_{t\geq 0}$ is independent of the default time τ . Writing p(u) for the *a priori* density

of the random variable $\tau = f(X)$, we deduce from (22) that the hazard process is given by the expression

$$h_{t} = \frac{p(t) e^{\sigma \phi(t)\xi_{t} - \frac{1}{2}\sigma^{2}\phi^{2}(t)t}}{\int_{t}^{\infty} p(u) e^{\sigma \phi(u)\xi_{t} - \frac{1}{2}\sigma^{2}\phi^{2}(u)t} du}.$$
(34)

This expression manifestly reminds us the fact that $\{h_t\}$ is a function of the information ξ_t , and thus its value moves up and down according to the market perception of the timing of default.

In the present context, it is also natural to consider the forward hazard rate defined by the expression

$$h_{tu} = \frac{\mathbb{E}\left[\delta(f(X) - u) \mid \mathcal{F}_t\right]}{\mathbb{E}\left[1\{f(X) > u\} \mid \mathcal{F}_t\right]}.$$
(35)

We observe that $h_{tu}du$ represents the *a posteriori* probability of default in the infinitesimal interval [u, u + du], conditional on no default until time *u*. More explicitly, we have

$$h_{tu} = \frac{p(u) e^{\sigma \phi(u)\xi_t - \frac{1}{2}\sigma^2 \phi^2(u)t}}{\int_u^\infty p(v) e^{\sigma \phi(v)\xi_t - \frac{1}{2}\sigma^2 \phi^2(v)t} dv}$$
(36)

for the forward hazard rate.

It is a straightforward matter to simulate the dynamics of the bond price and the associated hazard rates by Monte Carlo methods. First we simulate a value for X by use of the *a priori* density $\rho_0(x)$. From this, we deduce the corresponding value of τ . Then we simulate an independent Brownian motion $\{B_t\}$, and thereby also the information process $\{\xi_t\}$. Putting these ingredients together we have a simulation for the bond price and the associated hazard rate. In Fig. 1, we sketch several sample paths resulting from such a simulation study.

6 Options on Defaultable Bonds

We consider the problem of pricing an option on a defaultable bond with bond maturity *T*. Let *K* be the option strike price and let t (< T) be the option maturity. The payoff of the option is then $(B_{tT} - K)^+$. Let us write the bond price in the form

$$B_{tT} = \mathbb{1}\{\tau > t\}B(t, \xi_t), \tag{37}$$

where the function B(t, y) is defined by

$$B(t, y) = P_{tT} \frac{\int_{T}^{\infty} p(u) \exp\left[\sigma\phi(u)y - \frac{1}{2}\sigma^{2}\phi^{2}(u)t\right] du}{\int_{t}^{\infty} p(u) \exp\left[\sigma\phi(u)y - \frac{1}{2}\sigma^{2}\phi^{2}(u)t\right] du}.$$
(38)



Fig. 1 Sample paths of the defaultable discount bond and the associated hazard rate. We choose $\phi(t) = e^{-0.025t}$, and the initial term structure is assumed to be flat with $P_{0t} = e^{-0.02t}$. The information flow rate parameter is set to be $\sigma = 0.3$, and the bond maturity is one year

We make note of the identity

$$\left(\mathbb{1}\{\tau > t\}B(t,\xi_t) - K\right)^+ = \mathbb{1}\{\tau > t\}\left(B(t,\xi_t) - K\right)^+,\tag{39}$$

satisfied by the option payoff. The price of the option is thus given by

$$C_0 = P_{0t} \mathbb{E} \Big[\mathbb{1} \{ \tau > t \} \big(B(t, \xi_t) - K \big)^+ \Big].$$
(40)

We find, in particular, that the option payoff is a function of the random variables τ and ξ_t . To determine the expectation (40), we need to work out the joint density of τ and ξ_t , defined by

$$\rho(u, y) = \mathbb{E}\left[\delta(\tau - u)\delta(\xi_t - y)\right] = -\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}u} \mathbb{E}\left[\mathbbm{1}\{\tau > u\}\delta(\xi_t - y)\right]. \tag{41}$$

Note that the expression

$$A_0(u, y) = P_{0t} \mathbb{E} \left[\mathbb{1} \{ \tau > u \} \delta(\xi_t - y) \right]$$
(42)

appearing on the right side of (41), with an additional discounting factor, can be regarded as representing the price of a "defaultable Arrow-Debreu security" based on the value at time *t* of the information process.

To work out the expectation appearing here we shall use the Fourier representation for the delta function:

$$\delta(\xi_t - y) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \exp\left(-iy\lambda + i\xi_t\lambda\right) d\lambda, \qquad (43)$$

which of course has to be interpreted in an appropriate way with respect to integration against a class of test functions. We have

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\mathbb{1}\{\tau > u\}\delta(\xi_t - y)\right] = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{-iy\lambda} \mathbb{E}\left[\mathbb{1}\{\tau > u\}e^{i\xi_t\lambda}\right] d\lambda.$$
(44)

The expectation appearing in the integrand is given by

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\mathbbm{1}\{\tau > u\}e^{i\xi_t\lambda}\right] = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathbbm{1}\{x > u\} p(x) \exp\left(i\sigma\lambda t\phi(x) - \frac{1}{2}\lambda^2 t\right) dx, \quad (45)$$

where we have made use of the fact that the random variables τ and B_t appearing in the definition of the information process (33) are independent. We insert this intermediate result in (44) and rearrange terms to obtain

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\mathbb{1}\{\tau > u\}\delta(\xi_t - y)\right] = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathbb{1}\{x > u\} p(x) \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{-iy\lambda + i\sigma\lambda t\phi(x) - \frac{1}{2}\lambda^2 t} d\lambda dx.$$
(46)

Performing the Gaussian integration associated with the λ variable, we deduce that the price of the defaultable Arrow–Debreu security is

$$A_0(u, y) = \frac{P_{0t}}{\sqrt{2\pi t}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathbb{1}\{x > u\} p(x) \exp\left[-\frac{(\sigma t \phi(x) - y)^2}{2t}\right] \mathrm{d}x.$$
(47)

For the calculation of the price of a call option written on a defaultable discount bond, it is convenient to rewrite (47) in the following form:

$$A_{0}(y) = \frac{P_{0t}}{\sqrt{2\pi t}} \exp\left(-\frac{y^{2}}{2t}\right) \int_{u}^{\infty} p(x) \exp\left(\sigma\phi(x)y - \frac{1}{2}\sigma^{2}\phi^{2}(x)t\right) dx.$$
 (48)

It follows that for the joint density function we have

$$\rho(u, y) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi t}} p(u) e^{-\frac{1}{2t}y^2} e^{\sigma \phi(u)y - \frac{1}{2}\sigma^2 \phi^2(u)t}.$$
(49)

The price of the call option can therefore be worked out as follows:

$$C_{0} = P_{0t} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} du \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dy \,\rho(u, y) \mathbb{1}\{u > t\} (B(t, y) - K)^{+}$$

= $\frac{P_{0t}}{\sqrt{2\pi t}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dy \,e^{-\frac{1}{2t}y^{2}} (B(t, y) - K)^{+} \left[\int_{t}^{\infty} p(u) e^{\sigma\phi(u)y - \frac{1}{2}\sigma^{2}\phi^{2}(u)t} du\right].$ (50)

We notice that the term inside the square brackets is identical to the denominator of the expression for B(t, y). Therefore, we have

$$C_{0} = \frac{P_{0t}}{\sqrt{2\pi t}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dy \, e^{-\frac{1}{2t}y^{2}} \left(P_{tT} \int_{T}^{\infty} p(u) e^{\sigma\phi(u)y - \frac{1}{2}\sigma^{2}\phi^{2}(u)t} du - K \int_{t}^{\infty} p(u) e^{\sigma\phi(u)y - \frac{1}{2}\sigma^{2}\phi^{2}(u)t} du \right)^{+}.$$
 (51)

An analysis similar to the one carried out in Brody and Friedman [4] shows the following result: Provided that $\phi(u)$ is a decreasing function, there exists a unique critical value y^* for y such that

$$P_{tT} \int_{T}^{\infty} p(u) \mathrm{e}^{\sigma\phi(u)y - \frac{1}{2}\sigma^{2}\phi^{2}(u)t} \mathrm{d}u - K \int_{t}^{\infty} p(u) \mathrm{e}^{\sigma\phi(u)y - \frac{1}{2}\sigma^{2}\phi^{2}(u)t} \mathrm{d}u > 0$$
(52)

if $y < y^*$. On the other hand, if $\phi(u)$ is increasing, then there is likewise a unique critical value y^{\dagger} of y such that for $y > y^{\dagger}$ we have

$$P_{tT} \int_{T}^{\infty} p(u) \mathrm{e}^{\sigma\phi(u)y - \frac{1}{2}\sigma^{2}\phi^{2}(u)t} \mathrm{d}u - K \int_{t}^{\infty} p(u) \mathrm{e}^{\sigma\phi(u)y - \frac{1}{2}\sigma^{2}\phi^{2}(u)t} \mathrm{d}u > 0.$$
(53)

Therefore, we can perform the y-integration in (51) to obtain the value

$$C_{0} = P_{0T} \int_{T}^{\infty} p(u) N\left(\frac{y^{*} - \sigma\phi(u)t}{\sqrt{t}}\right) du$$
$$- P_{0t} K \int_{t}^{\infty} p(u) N\left(\frac{y^{*} - \sigma\phi(u)t}{\sqrt{t}}\right) du$$
(54)

when $\phi(u)$ is decreasing. If $\phi(u)$ is increasing, we have

$$C_{0} = P_{0T} \int_{T}^{\infty} p(u) N\left(\frac{\sigma\phi(u)t - y^{\dagger}}{\sqrt{t}}\right) du$$
$$- P_{0t} K \int_{t}^{\infty} p(u) N\left(\frac{\sigma\phi(u)t - y^{\dagger}}{\sqrt{t}}\right) du.$$
(55)

The critical values $y_{\phi}^{*}(t, T, K, \sigma)$ and $y_{\phi}^{\dagger}(t, T, K, \sigma)$ can be determined numerically to value the prices of call options. An example of the call price as a function of its strike and maturity, when $\phi(u)$ is decreasing, is shown in Fig. 2. If the function $\phi(u)$ is not monotonic, then there is in general more than one critical value of y for which the argument of the max function in (51) is positive. Therefore, in this case there will be more terms in the option-valuation formula.

The case represented by a simple discount bond is merely an example and as such cannot be taken as a completely realistic model. Nevertheless, it is interesting that modelling the information available about the default time leads to a dynamical model for the bond price, in which the Brownian fluctuations driving the price process arise in a natural way as the innovations associated with the flow of



Fig. 2 Price of a call option on a defaultable discount bond. The bond maturity is five years. The information-adjusting function is set to be $\phi(t) = e^{-0.05t}$, and the initial term structure is assumed to be flat so that $P_{0t} = e^{-0.02t}$. The information flow rate is set to be $\sigma = 0.25$

information to the market concerning the default time. Thus no "background filtration" is required for the analysis of default in models here proposed. The information flow-rate parameter σ is not directly observable, but rather can be backed out from option-price data on an "implied" basis. The extension of the present investigation, which can be regarded as a synthesis of the "density" approach to interest-rate modeling proposed in Brody and Hughston [5,6] and the information-based asset pricing framework developed in Brody, Hughston and Macrina [7–9] and Macrina [23], to multiple asset situations with portfolio credit risk will be pursued elsewhere.

Acknowledgements The authors are grateful to seminar participants at the Workshop on Incomplete Information on Mathematical Finance, Chemnitz (June 2009), the Kyoto Workshop on Mathematical Finance and Related Topics in Economics and Engineering (August 2009), Quant Congress Europe, London (November 2009), King's College London (December 2009), Hitotsubashi University, Tokyo (February 2010) and Hiroshima University (February 2010) for helpful comments and suggestions. Part of this work was carried out while LPH was visiting the Aspen Center for Physics (September 2009), and Kyoto University (August and October 2009). DCB and LPH thank HSBC, Lloyds TSB, Shell International, and Yahoo Japan for research support.

References

- 1. Bielecki, T.R., Jeanblanc, M., Rutkowski, M.: Credit risk modelling. Osaka University Press (2009)
- 2. Brody, D.C., Brody, J., Meister, B.K., Parry, M.F.: Outsider trading. arXiv:1003.0764 (2010)
- Brody, D.C., Davis, M.H.A., Friedman, R.L., Hughston, L.P.: Informed traders. Proceedings of the Royal Society London A 465, 1103–1122 (2008)

- 4. Brody, D.C., Friedman, R.L.: Information of interest. Risk magazine, December 2009 issue, 101–106 (2009)
- Brody, D.C., Hughston, L.P.: Interest rates and information geometry. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. A 457, 1343–1364 (2001)
- 6. Brody, D.C., Hughston, L.P.: Entropy and information in the interest rate term structure. Quant. Finance **2**, 70–80 (2002)
- 7. Brody, D.C., Hughston, L.P., Macrina, A.: Beyond hazard rates: a new framework for creditrisk modelling. In: Fu, M., Jarrow, R., Yen, J.-Y., Elliott, R. (eds.) Advances in Mathematical Finance: Festschrift Volume in Honour of Dilip Madan. Birkhäuser, Basel (2007)
- Brody, D.C., Hughston, L.P., Macrina, A.: Information-based asset pricing. Int. J. Theor. Appl. Finance 11, 107–142 (2008)
- 9. Brody, D.C., Hughston, L.P., Macrina, A.: Dam rain and cumulative gain. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. A 464, 1801–1822 (2008)
- Brody, D.C., Hughston, L.P., Macrina, A.: Modelling information flows in financial markets. In: Di Nunno, G., Øksendal, B. (eds.) Advanced Mathematical Methods for Finance. Springer, Berlin (2011)
- 11. Çetin, U., Jarrow, R., Protter, P., Yildirim, Y.: Modeling credit risk with partial information. Ann. Appl. Probab. 14, 1167–1178 (2004)
- Coculescu, D., Geman, H., Jeanblanc, M.: Valuation of default sensitive claims under inperfect information. Finance Stoch. 12, 195–218 (2008)
- Duffie, D., Lando, D.: Term structures of credit spreads with incomplete accounting information. Econometrica 69, 633–664 (2001)
- Föllmer, H., Wu, C.-T., Yor, M.: Canonical decomposition of linear transformations of two independent Brownian motions motivated by models of insider trading. Stoch. Processes Appl. 84, 137–164 (1999)
- 15. Frey, R., Schmidt, T.: Pricing corporate securities under noisy asset information. Math. Finance **19**, 403–421 (2009)
- Geman, H., Madan, D.B., Yor, M.: Probing option prices for information. Methodology Comput. Appl. Probab. 9, 115–131 (2007)
- 17. Giesecke, K.: Default and information. J. Econ. Dyn. Control 30, 2281-2303 (2006)
- Hoyle, E., Hughston, L.P., Macrina, A.: Lévy random bridges and the modelling of financial information. arXiv:0912.3652 (2009)
- Hoyle, E., Hughston, L.P., Macrina, A.: Stable-1/2 bridges and insurance: a Bayesian approach to non-life reserving. arXiv:1005.0496 (2010)
- Hughston, L.P., Macrina, A.: Pricing fixed-income securities in an information-based framework. arXiv:0911.1610 (2009)
- 21. Jarrow, R., Protter, P.: Structural versus reduced-form models: a new information based perspective. J. Investment Manag. 2, 1–10 (2004)
- 22. Kusuoka, S.: A remark on default risk models. Adv. Math. Econ. 1, 69-82 (1999)
- 23. Macrina, A.: An information-based framework for asset pricing: X-factor theory and its applications. PhD thesis, King's College, London (2006)
- Macrina, A., Parbhoo, P.A.: Security pricing with information-sensitive discounting. In: Kijima, M., Hara, C., Tanaka, K., Muromachi, Y. (eds.) Recent Advances in Financial Engineering 2009, pp. 157–180. World Scientific (2010)
- Rutkowski, M., Yu, N.: On the Brody–Hughston–Macrina approach to modelling of defaultable term structure. Int. J. Theor. Appl. Finance 10, 557–589 (2007)

Continuity of Mutual Entropy in the Limiting Signal-To-Noise Ratio Regimes

Mark Kelbert and Yuri Suhov

Abstract This article addresses the issue of the proof of the entropy power inequality (EPI), an important tool in the analysis of Gaussian channels of information transmission, proposed by Shannon. We analyse continuity properties of the mutual entropy of the input and output signals in an additive memoryless channel and discuss assumptions under which the entropy-power inequality holds true.

Keywords Mutual entropy · Gaussian channel · Entropy power inequality

MSC (2010): 62B10, 94A15

1 Introduction

The aim of this paper is to analyse continuity properties of mutual and conditional entropies, between the input and output of a channel with additive noise. Our attention is focused mainly on a distinctly nonGaussian situation, for both large and small signal-to-noise ratio. To our knowledge, this nontrivial aspect has not been discussed before at the level of generality adopted in this paper. A complex character of the continuity properties of various entropies was acknowledged as early as

and

e-mail: yms@statslab.cam.ac.uk

M. Kelbert (🖂)

Department of Mathematics, Swansea University, Singleton Park, Swansea, SA2 8PP, United Kingdom

International Institute of Earthquake Prediction Theory and Mathematical Geophysics, Russian Academy of Sciences (RAS), Profsoyuznaya str. 84/32, Moscow 117997, Russia e-mail: M.Kelbert@swansea.ac.uk

Y. Suhov

Statistical Laboratory, DPMMS, University of Cambridge, Wilberforce Road, Cambridge, CB 3 0WB, United Kingdom

and

Institute for Information Transmission Problems, Russian Academy of Sciences (RAS) 19 Bol'shoi Karetnyi per, Moscow 101447, Russia

D. Crisan (ed.), Stochastic Analysis 2010, DOI 10.1007/978-3-642-15358-7_14,

[©] Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2011

in the 1950s; see, e.g., paper [1] where a number of important (and elegant) results have been proven, about limiting behaviour of various entropies.

An additional motivation was provided by the short note [9] suggesting an elegant method of deriving the so-called entropy-power inequality (EPI). The way of reasoning in [9] is often referred to as the direct probabilistic method, as opposite to the so-called analytic method; see [2, 5, 6, 8]. The results of this paper (Lemmas 2.1-2.4 and Lemma 3.1) provide additional insight on the assumptions under which the direct probabilistic method can be used to establish the EPI in a rigorous manner. For completeness, we give in Sect. 4 a short derivation of the EPI in which we follow [9] but clarify a couple of steps thanks to our continuity lemmas. However, without rigorously proven continuity properties of mutual and conditional entropies in both signal-to-noise ratio regimes, the derivation of the EPI via the direct probabilistic method cannot be accomplished.

Another approach to EPI, for discrete random variables (RVs) where it takes a different form, is discussed in [4], see also references therein. For the history of the question, see [2]; for reader's convenience, the statement of the EPI is given at the end of this section.

To introduce the entropy power inequality, consider two independent RVs X_1 and X_2 taking values in \mathbb{R}^d , with probability density functions (PDFs) $f_{X_1}(x)$ and $f_{X_2}(x)$, respectively, where $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Let $h(X_i)$, i = 1, 2, stand for the differential entropies

$$h(X_i) = -\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} f_{X_i}(x) \ln f_{X_i}(x) dx := -\mathbb{E} \ln f_{X_i}(X_i),$$

and assume that $-\infty < h(X_1), h(X_2) < +\infty$. The EPI states that

$$e^{\frac{2}{d}h(X_1+X_2)} \ge e^{\frac{2}{d}h(X_1)} + e^{\frac{2}{d}h(X_2)},$$
(1)

or, equivalently,

$$h(X_1 + X_2) \ge h(Y_1 + Y_2),$$
 (2)

where Y_1 and Y_2 are *any* independent normal RVs with $h(Y_1) = h(X_1)$ and $h(Y_2) = h(X_2)$. This inequality was first proposed by Shannon [7]; as was mentioned earlier, it is used in the analysis of (memoryless) Gaussian channels of signal transmission. A rigorous proof of (1), (2) remains a subject of a growing amount of literature; see, e.g., references cited above. In particular, the question under what conditions upon PDFs f_{X_i} (1), (2) hold true remains largely open.

It is not hard to check that (1) is violated for discrete random variables (a trivial case is where (1) is wrong is when X_1 , X_2 take one or two values). Nevertheless, continuity properties of joint entropy remain true (although look slightly different) when one or both of RVs X_1 , X_2 have atoms in their distributions, i.e., admit values with positive probabilities. In our opinion, these properties can be useful in a number of situations.

When variables X_1 or X_2 have atoms, the corresponding differential entropies $h(X_1)$ and $h(X_2)$ are replaced with "general" entropies:

$$h(X_i) = -\sum_{x} p_{X_i}(x) \ln p_{X_i}(x) - \int f_{X_i}(x) \ln f_{X_i}(x) dx$$

= $-\int g_{X_i}(x) \ln g_{X_i}(x) m(dx) := -\mathbb{E} \ln g_{X_i}(X_i).$

Here \sum_{x} represents summation over a finite or countable set $\mathbb{D}(=\mathbb{D}(X_I))$ of points $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Further, given an RV X, $p_X(x)$ stands for the (positive) probability assigned: $p_X(x) = \mathbb{P}(X = x) > 0$, with the total sum $\eta(X) := \sum_{x} p_X(x) \le 1$. Next, f_X , as before, denotes the PDF for values forming an absolutely continuous part of the distribution of X (with $\int f_X(x) dx = 1 - \eta(X)$, so when $\eta(X) = 1$, the RV X has a discrete distribution, and $h(X) = -\sum_{x} p_X(x) \ln p_X(x)$). Further, $m(=m_X)$ is a reference measure (a linear combination of the counting measure on

 $m(=m_X)$ is a reference measure (a linear combination of the counting measure on the discrete part and the Lebesgue measure on the absolutely continuous part of the distribution of X) and g_X is the respective Radon–Nikodym derivative:

$$g_X(x) = p_X(x)\mathbf{1}(x \in \mathbb{D}) + f_X(x), \text{ with } \int g_X(x)m(\mathrm{d}x) = 1$$

We will refer to g_X as a probability mass function (PMF) of RV X (with a slight abuse of traditional termonology). It is also possible to incorporate an (exotic) case where a RV X_i has a singular continuous component in its distribution, but we will not bother about this case in the present work.

It is worth noting that the scheme of proving (1) for a discrete case fails in Lemma 4.1 (see below).

2 Continuity of the Mutual Entropy

Throughout the paper, all random variables are taking values in \mathbb{R}^d (i.e., are *d*-dimensional real random vectors). If *Y* is such an RV then the notation h(Y), $f_Y(x)$, $p_Y(x)$, $g_Y(x)$ and m(dx) have the same meaning as in Sect. 1 (it will be clear from the local context which particular form of the entropy h(Y) we refer to).

Similarly, $f_{X,Y}(x, y)$ and, more generally, $g_{X,Y}(x, y)$, $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^d$, stand for the joint PDF and joint PMF of two RVs X, Y (relative to a suitable reference measure $m(dx \times dy)(=m_{X,Y}(dx \times dy))$ on $\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d$). Correspondingly, h(X, Y) denotes the joint entropy of X and Y and I(X : Y) their mutual entropy:

$$h(X,Y) = -\int g_{X,Y}(x,y) \ln g_{X,Y}(x,y) m(\mathrm{d}x \times \mathrm{d}y),$$

$$I(X:Y) = h(X) + h(Y) - h(X,Y).$$

We will use representations involving conditional entropies:

$$I(X : Y) = h(X) - h(X|Y) = h(Y) - h(Y|X),$$

where

$$h(X|Y) = h(X, Y) - h(Y), \ h(Y|X) = h(X, Y) - h(X).$$

In this section, we deal with various entropy-continuity properties related to the so-called additive channel where a RV X (a signal) is transformed into the sum X + U, with RV U representing "noise" in the channel. In fact, we will adopt a slightly more general scheme where X is compared with $X\sqrt{\gamma} + U$, $\gamma > 0$ being a parameter (called sometimes the signal-to-noise ratio), and study limits where $\gamma \to +\infty$ or $\gamma \to 0+$. We will assume that RVs X and U are independent (though this assumption may be relaxed), and that the "noise" U has a PDF $f_U(x)$ with $\int f_U(x) dx = 1$. However, the signal X may have a general distribution including a discrete and an absolutely continuous part.

We begin with the analysis of behaviour of the mutual entropy $I(X : X\sqrt{\gamma} + U)$ when $\gamma \to +\infty$: this analysis will be used in Sect. 4, in the course of proving (1). We begin with the case where X has a PDF $f_X(x)$, with $\int f_X(x)dx = 1$. Here and below, we use the (standard) notation $(b)_+ = \max [0, b]$ and $(b)_- = \min [0, b]$, $b \in \mathbf{R}$.

Lemma 2.1. Let X, U be independent RVs with PDFs f_X and f_U where $\int f_X(x) dx = \int f_U(x) dx = 1$. Suppose that (A) $\int f_X(x) | \ln f_X(x) | dx < +\infty$ and that (B) for any $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists a domain $\mathbf{D}_{\varepsilon} \subseteq \mathbf{R}^d \times \mathbf{R}^d$ such that for all $\gamma > \gamma_0(\varepsilon)$

$$-\int_{(\mathbb{R}^{d}\times\mathbb{R}^{d})\setminus\mathbf{D}_{\varepsilon}} \mathrm{d}x\mathrm{d}y\mathbf{1}(f_{X}(x)>0)f_{X}(x)f_{U}(y)\left(\ln\left[\int f_{X}\left(x+\frac{y-v}{\sqrt{\gamma}}\right)f_{U}(v)\mathrm{d}v\right]\right)_{-}<\varepsilon$$
(3)

and for $(x, y) \in \mathbf{D}_{\varepsilon}$ uniformly in $\gamma > \gamma_0(\varepsilon)$, the following inequality holds true:

$$-\left(\ln\left[\int f_X\left(x+\frac{y-v}{\sqrt{\gamma}}\right)f_U(v)\mathrm{d}v\right]\right)_{-} \leq \Psi_{\varepsilon}(x,y) \tag{4}$$

where $\Psi_{\varepsilon}(x, y)$ is a function not depending on γ , with $\int dx \int dy f_X(x) f_U(y) \Psi_{\varepsilon}(x, y) < \infty$.

Also assume that (C) PDF f_X is piece-wise continuous (that is, f_X is continuous on each of open, pair-wise disjoint domains $\mathbf{C}_1, \ldots, \mathbf{C}_N \subseteq \mathbf{R}^d$ with piece-wise smooth boundaries $\partial \mathbf{C}_1, \ldots, \partial \mathbf{C}_N$, with dimension dim $\partial \mathbf{C}_j < d$, and $f_X = 0$ on the complement $\mathbf{R}^d \setminus \bigcup_{1 \le j \le N} (\mathbf{C}_j \cup \partial \mathbf{C}_j)$). Furthermore, let f_X be bounded: sup $[f_X(x) : x \in \mathbb{R}] = b < +\infty$. Then

$$h(X) = \lim_{\gamma \to \infty} \left[I\left(X : X\sqrt{\gamma} + U\right) + h\left(U/\sqrt{\gamma}\right) \right].$$
(5)
Proof of Lemma 2.1. Set: $Y := X\sqrt{\gamma} + U$. The problem is obviously equivalent to proving that

$$\left[h(X|Y) - h(U/\sqrt{\gamma})\right] \to 0.$$
Writing $h(U/\sqrt{\gamma}) = -\ln\sqrt{\gamma} - \int f_U(u) \ln f_U(u) du$, we obtain
$$h(X|Y) - h(U/\sqrt{\gamma})$$

$$= -\int dx \mathbf{1} (f_X(x) > 0) f_X(x) \int f_U(y - x\sqrt{\gamma}) \ln \frac{f_X(x) f_U(y - x\sqrt{\gamma})}{\int du f_X(u) f_U(y - u\sqrt{\gamma})} dy$$

$$+ \ln\sqrt{\gamma} + \int f_U(u) \ln f_U(u) du$$

$$= \int dx \mathbf{1} (f_X(x) > 0) f_X(x) \int f_U(y) \ln \left[\frac{\sqrt{\gamma} \int du f_X(u) f_U(y + (x - u)\sqrt{\gamma})}{f_X(x)} \right] dy$$

$$= \int dx \mathbf{1} (f_X(x) > 0) f_X(x) \int f_U(y) \ln \left[\frac{\int f_X \left(x + \frac{y - v}{\sqrt{\gamma}} \right) f_U(v) dv}{f_X(x)} \right] dy := I(\gamma)$$
(6)

Next, we decompose the last integral:

$$I(\gamma) = I_{+}(\gamma) + I_{-}(\gamma) \tag{7}$$

where

$$I_{+}(\gamma) = \int dx \mathbf{1} \left(f_{X}(x) > 0 \right) f_{X}(x) \int f_{U}(y) \left(\ln \left[\frac{\int f_{X} \left(x + \frac{y - v}{\sqrt{\gamma}} \right) f_{U}(v) dv}{f_{X}(x)} \right] \right)_{+} dy$$
(8)

and

$$I_{-}(\gamma) = \int dx \mathbf{1} \left(f_X(x) > 0 \right) f_X(x) \int f_U(y) \left(\ln \left[\frac{\int f_X \left(x + \frac{y - v}{\sqrt{\gamma}} \right) f_U(v) dv}{f_X(x)} \right] \right)_{-} \frac{dy}{(9)}$$

The summand $I_+(\gamma)$ is dealt with by using Lebesgue's dominated convergence theorem. In fact, as $\gamma \to +\infty$, for almost all $x, y \in \mathbf{R}^d$,

$$\mathbf{1}(f_X(x) > 0) \left(\ln \left[\frac{\int f_X\left(x + \frac{y - v}{\sqrt{\gamma}}\right) f_U(v) \mathrm{d}v}{f_X(x)} \right] \right)_+ \to 0, \tag{10}$$

because (a) $f_X\left(x + \frac{y-v}{\sqrt{y}}\right) \to f_X(x) \ \forall \ x, y, v \in \mathbf{R}^d$ by continuity of f_X , and (b) $\int f_X\left(x + \frac{y-v}{\sqrt{y}}\right) f_U(v) dv \to f_X(x) \ \forall \ x, y \text{ since } f_X \text{ is bounded.}$ Next, we derive from (8) that $I_+(y) \to 0$. Here we write

$$\left[\ln \int f_X\left(x + \frac{y - v}{\sqrt{\gamma}}\right) f_U(v) \mathrm{d}v - \ln f_X(x)\right]_+ \le |\ln b| + |\ln f_X(x)|$$

and again use the Lebesgue's theorem, in conjunction with the assumption that

$$\int f_X(x) |\ln f_X(x)| \mathrm{d}x < +\infty.$$

The summand $I_{-}(\gamma)$ requires a different approach. Here we write $I_{-}(\gamma) = I_{-}(\gamma, \mathbf{D}_{\varepsilon}) + I_{-}(\gamma, \overline{\mathbf{D}}_{\varepsilon})$, by restricting integration in dxdy to \mathbf{D}_{ε} and $\overline{\mathbf{D}}_{\varepsilon} = (\mathbf{R}^{d} \times \mathbf{R}^{d}) \setminus \mathbf{D}_{\varepsilon}$, respectively. The summand $I_{-}(\gamma, \mathbf{D}_{\varepsilon}) \to 0$ by an argument similar to the above (i.e., with the help of the Lebesgue's theorem). For $I_{-}(\gamma, \overline{\mathbf{D}}_{\varepsilon})$ we have that $\limsup_{\gamma \to +\infty} -I_{-}(\gamma, \overline{\mathbf{D}}_{\varepsilon}) \leq \varepsilon$. Since ε can be made arbitrarily close to 0, the statement of $\gamma \to +\infty$

In Sect. 3, we check conditions of Lemma 2.1 in a number of important cases.

Remark 2.1. An assertion of the type of Lemma 2.1 is crucial for deriving the EPI in (1) by a direct probabilistic method, and the fact that it was not provided in [9] made the proof of the EPI given in [9] incomplete (the same is true of some other papers on this subject).

In the discrete case where signal X takes finitely or countably many values, one has the following

Lemma 2.2. Let X and U be independent RVs. Assume that X is non-constant, admits discrete values $x_1, x_2, ...$ with probabilities $p_X(x_1), p_X(x_2), ...,$ and has $h(X) = -\sum_{x_i} p_X(x_i) \ln p_X(x_i) < +\infty$. Next, assume that U has a bounded PDF $f_U(x)$ with $\int f_U(x) dx = 1$ and $\sup [f_U(x) : x \in \mathbb{R}^d] = a < +\infty$, and

$$\lim_{\alpha \to \pm \infty} f_U(x + \alpha x_0) = 0, \quad \forall \ x, x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^d \quad with \ x_0 \neq 0.$$

Finally, suppose that $\int f_U(x) |\ln f_U(x)| dx < +\infty$. Then

$$h(X) = \lim_{\gamma \to \infty} I(X : X\sqrt{\gamma} + U).$$
(11)

Proof of Lemma 2.2. Setting as before, $Y = X\sqrt{\gamma} + U$, we again reduce our task to proving that $h(X|Y) \to 0$.

Now write

$$h(X|Y) = -\sum_{i \ge 1} p_X(x_i) \int f_U(y - x_i \sqrt{\gamma}) \ln \frac{p_X(x_i) f_U(y - x_i \sqrt{\gamma})}{\sum\limits_{j \ge 1} p_X(x_j) f_U(y - x_j \sqrt{\gamma})} dy$$
$$= \sum_{i \ge 1} p_X(x_i) \int f_U(y) \ln \left[1 + \sum_{j:j \ne i} p_X(x_j) p_X(x_i)^{-1} \right]$$
$$\times f_U\left(y - (x_j - x_i) \sqrt{\gamma}\right) f_U(y)^{-1} dy.$$
(12)

The expression under the logarithm clearly converges to 1 as $\gamma \to +\infty$, $\forall i \ge 1$ and $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Thus, $\forall i \ge 1$ and $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$, the whole integrand

$$f_U(y) \ln \left[1 + \sum_{j: j \neq i} p_X(x_j) p_X(x_i)^{-1} f_U(y - (x_j - x_i)\sqrt{\gamma}) f_U(y)^{-1} \right] \to 0.$$

To guarantee the convergence of the integral we set $q_i = \sum_{j:j \neq i} p_X(x_j) p_X(x_i)^{-1} = p_X(x_i)^{-1} - 1$ and $\psi(y) = \ln f_U(y)$ and use the bound

$$\ln \left[1 + \sum_{j:j \neq i} p_X(x_j) p_X(x_i)^{-1} f_U(y - (x_j - x_i)\sqrt{\gamma}) f_U(y)^{-1} \right]$$

$$\leq \ln \left(1 + aq_i e^{-\psi(y)} \right)$$

$$\leq \mathbf{1} (aq_i e^{-\psi(y)} > 1) \ln \left(2aq_i e^{-\psi(y)} \right) + \mathbf{1} (aq_i e^{-\psi(y)} \le 1) \ln 2$$

$$\leq 2 \ln 2 + \ln a + \ln (q_i + 1) + |\psi(y)|.$$

We then again apply Lebesgue's dominated convergence theorem and deduce that $\lim_{y \to +\infty} h(X|Y) = 0.$

In the general case, the arguments developed lead to the following continuity property:

Lemma 2.3. Let RVs X and U be independent. Assume a general case where X may have discrete and absolutely continuous parts on its distribution while U has a PDF f_U with $\int f_U(x)dx = 1$. Suppose the PDF f_X , with $\int f_X(x)dx := 1 - \eta(X) \le 1$, is continuous, bounded and satisfies assumption (B) from Lemma 2.1. Next, suppose that the PDF f_U is bounded and

$$\lim_{\alpha \to \pm \infty} f_U(x + x_0 \alpha) = 0, \quad \forall \ x, x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^d, \quad with \ x_0 \neq 0.$$

Finally, assume that $\int g_X(u) |\ln g_X(u)| m_X(du) + \int f_U(u) |\ln f_U(u)| du < +\infty$. Then

$$h(X) = \lim_{\gamma \to \infty} \left[I(X : X\sqrt{\gamma} + U) + [1 - \eta(X)]h\left(U/\sqrt{\gamma}\right) \right].$$

The proof of the EPI (1) in Sect. 4 requires an analysis of the behaviour of $I(X : X\sqrt{\gamma} + N)$ also when $\gamma \to 0$. Here we are able to cover a general case for RV X in a single assertion:

Lemma 2.4. Let X, U be independent RVs. Assume that U has a bounded and continuous PDF $f_U \in C^0(\mathbb{R}^d)$, with $\int f_U(x) dx = 1$ and $\sup [f_U(x), x \in \mathbb{R}^d] = a < +\infty$ whereas the distribution of X may have discrete and continuous parts. Next, assume, as in Lemma 2.3, that

$$\int g_X(u) \left| \ln g_X(u) \right| m_X(\mathrm{d} u) + \int f_U(u) \left| \ln f_U(u) \right| \mathrm{d} u < +\infty.$$

Then

$$\lim_{\gamma \to 0} I\left(X : X\sqrt{\gamma} + U\right) = 0.$$
⁽¹³⁾

Proof of Lemma 2.4. Setting again $Y = X\sqrt{\gamma} + U$, we now reduce the task to proving that $h(X|Y) \to h(X)$. Here we write

$$h(X|Y) = -\int g_X(x) \int f_U(y - x\sqrt{\gamma}) \ln \frac{g_X(x) f_U(y - x\sqrt{\gamma})}{\int g_X(u) f_U(y - u\sqrt{\gamma}) m_X(du)} dy m_X(dx)$$

=
$$\int g_X(x) \int f_U(y) \ln \left[\frac{\int g_X(u) f_U(y + (x - u)\sqrt{\gamma}) m_X(du)}{g_X(x) f_U(y)} \right] dy m_X(dx).$$
(14)

Due to continuity of f_U , the ratio under the logarithm converges to $(g_X(x))^{-1}$ as $\gamma \to 0$, $\forall x, y \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Hence, the integral in (14) converges to h(X) as $\gamma \to 0$. Again, the proof is completed with the help of the Lebesgue-dominated convergence theorem.

Remark 2.2. Lemma 2.4 is another example of a missing step in earlier direct probabilistic proofs of the EPI.

3 Uniform Integrability

As was said before, in this section we discuss several cases where assumptions of Lemma 2.1 can be checked. We begin with the case where PDF f_X is lower-bounded by a multiple of the normal PDF. Let ϕ_{Σ} (or, briefly, ϕ) stand for the standard *d*-variate normal PDF with mean vector 0 and a $d \times d$ covariance matrix Σ , and we assume that Σ is strictly positive definite:

Continuity of Mutual Entropy in the Limiting Signal-To-Noise Ratio Regimes

$$\phi_{\Sigma}(x) = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{d/2} \det \Sigma^{1/2}} \exp\left[-\frac{1}{2} \langle x, \Sigma^{-1} x \rangle\right], \ x \in \mathbb{R}^d.$$
(15)

Here and below, $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ stands for the Euclidean scalar product in \mathbb{R}^d .

Proposition 3.1. Assume that $f_X(x) \ge \alpha \phi_{\Sigma}(x)$, $x \in \mathbf{R}^d$, where $\alpha \in (0, 1]$, and

$$\int f_X(x) |\ln f_X(x)| dx, \int f_X(x) \langle x, \Sigma^{-1}x \rangle dx, \int f_U(y) \langle y, \Sigma^{-1}y \rangle dy < +\infty.$$
(16)

Then assumptions (A) and (B) of Lemma 2.1 hold, and the bound in (4) is satisfied, with $\gamma_0(\varepsilon) = 1$, $\mathbf{D}_{\varepsilon} \equiv \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d$ and

$$\Psi(x, y) = \left(\langle x, \Sigma^{-1} x \rangle + \langle y, \Sigma^{-1} y \rangle \right) + \left| \ln \int \exp \left[-2 \langle v, \Sigma^{-1} v \rangle \right] f_U(v) dv \right| + \rho$$
(17)
where $\rho = \left| \ln \frac{\alpha}{(2\pi)^{d/2} \det \Sigma^{1/2}} \right|.$

Proof of Proposition 3.1. Write:

$$\begin{split} &\int f_X \left(x + \frac{y - v}{\sqrt{\gamma}} \right) f_U(v) \mathrm{d}v \ge \alpha \int \phi_{\Sigma} \left(x + \frac{y - v}{\sqrt{\gamma}} \right) f_U(v) \mathrm{d}v \\ &\ge \frac{\alpha}{(2\pi)^{d/2} \mathrm{det} \ \Sigma^{1/2}} \int \exp\left[-\frac{1}{2} \left\langle x + \frac{y - v}{\sqrt{\gamma}}, \ \Sigma^{-1} \left(x + \frac{y - v}{\sqrt{\gamma}} \right) \right\rangle \right] f_U(v) \mathrm{d}v \\ &\ge \frac{\alpha}{(2\pi)^{d/2} \mathrm{det} \ \Sigma^{1/2}} \exp\left[- \left\langle x, \ \Sigma^{-1} x \right\rangle \right] \exp\left[-\frac{1}{\gamma} \left\langle y, \ \Sigma^{-1} y \right\rangle \right] \\ &\quad \times \int \exp\left[-\frac{2}{\gamma} \left\langle v, \ \Sigma^{-1} v \right\rangle \right] f_U(v) \mathrm{d}v. \end{split}$$

Hence, we obtain that $\forall x, y \in \mathbf{R}^d$,

$$-\left[\ln \int f_X\left(x + \frac{y - v}{\sqrt{\gamma}}\right) f_U(v) dv - \ln f_X(x)\right]_{-}$$

$$\leq \langle x, \Sigma^{-1}x \rangle + \frac{1}{\gamma} \langle y, \Sigma^{-1}y \rangle + \left|\ln \int \exp\left[-\frac{2}{\gamma} \langle v, \Sigma^{-1}v \rangle\right] f_U(v) dv \right|$$

$$+ \left|\ln f_X(x)\right| + \left|\ln \frac{\alpha}{(2\pi)^{d/2} \det \Sigma^{1/2}}\right|,$$

with the RHS of this bound decreasing with γ . For $\gamma = 1$, it gives the bound of (3).

It is not difficult to extend the argument from the proof of Proposition 3.1 to the case where a more general lower bounds holds:

289

$$f_X(x) \ge \exp\left(-P(x)\right), \ x \in \mathbf{R}^d$$

where P(x) is a polynomial in $x \in \mathbf{R}^d$ bounded from below. Of course, existence of finite polynomial moments should be assumed, for both PDFs f_X and f_U . Moreover, the lower bounds for f_X can be replaced by lower bounds for $f_U(y)$; in particular, this covers the case where $f_U(y) \ge \alpha \phi(y)$, $y \in \mathbf{R}^d$, $\alpha \in (0, 1]$, and (16) holds true.

An "opposite" case of substantial interest is where both PDFs f_X and f_U have compact supports. In this paper, we do not address this case in full generality, leaving this for future work. However, we will discuss a couple of examples to show what mechanisms are behind convergence. For $A, B \in \mathbf{R}^d$ denote

$$[[A, B]] = \underset{1 \le j \le d}{\times} [A_j, B_j]$$

(tacitly assuming that $A_i < B_i \ \forall i$).

Proposition 3.2. Let PDF f_X admit finitely many values. Further, assume that PDF f_U has a compact support [[A, B]], and satisfies the lower bound

$$f_U(y) \ge \frac{\alpha}{\prod\limits_{1 \le i \le d} (B_i - A_i)} \mathbf{1}(A_i < y < B_i, \ i = 1, \dots, d)$$

where $0 < \alpha < 1$ and $A = (A_1, \ldots, A_d)$, $B = (B_1, \ldots, B_d) \in \mathbf{R}^d$ obey $-\infty < A_i < B_i < +\infty$. Then assumption (B) of Lemma 2.1 holds with function $\Psi_{\varepsilon}(x, y) \equiv 0$ and domains $\mathbf{D}_{\varepsilon} = \underset{1 \leq j \leq d}{\times} \mathbf{D}_{\varepsilon}^{(i)}$ where the sets $\mathbf{D}_{\varepsilon}^{(i)}$ are defined in (21). Moreover, $\gamma_0(\varepsilon) = C \varepsilon^{-2/d}$.

Proof of Proposition 3.2. Consider first a simplified scalar case where $f_X(x) = \frac{1}{b-a}\mathbf{1}(a < x < b), -\infty < a < b < \infty$, while f_U has support [A, B] and satisfies the bound $f_U(y) \ge \frac{\alpha}{B-A}\mathbf{1}(A < y < B)$, with $0 < \alpha < 1$ and $-\infty < A < B < +\infty$. Take $\gamma > 4(B-A)^2/(b-a)^2$. Then write

$$I := -\int dx \mathbf{1} \left(f_X(x) > 0 \right) f_X(x) \int dy f_U(y) \times \left(\ln \left[\int f_X \left(x + \frac{y - v}{\sqrt{y}} \right) f_U(v) dv \middle/ f_X(x) \right] \right)_- = -\frac{1}{(b-a)} \int_a^b dx \int_A^B dy f_U(y) \left(\ln \left[\int_{A \lor (y + (x-a)\sqrt{y})}^{B \land (y+(x-a)\sqrt{y})} f_U(v) dv \right] \right)_- := I(0) + I(1).$$
(18)

The decomposition I = I(0) + I(1) in the RHS of (18) extracts an "interior" term I(0), which vanishes, and a "boundary" term I(1) which has to be estimated. More precisely, $I(0) = I_{-}(0) + I_{0}(0) + I_{+}(0)$ where

Continuity of Mutual Entropy in the Limiting Signal-To-Noise Ratio Regimes

$$I_{-}(0) = -\frac{1}{(b-a)} \int_{a}^{a+(B-A)/\sqrt{\gamma}} dx \int_{B-(x-a)\sqrt{\gamma}}^{B} dy f_{U}(y) \left(\ln\left[\int_{A}^{B} dv f_{U}(v)\right]\right)_{-} = 0,$$
(19)

$$I_0(0) = -\frac{1}{(b-a)} \int_{a+(B-A)/\sqrt{\gamma}}^{b-(B-A)/\sqrt{\gamma}} dx \int_A^B dy f_U(y) \left(\ln \left[\int_A^B dv f_U(v) \right] \right)_{-} = 0,$$
(20a)

and

$$I_{+}(0) = -\frac{1}{(b-a)} \int_{b-(B-A)/\sqrt{\gamma}}^{b} dx \int_{A}^{A+(b-x)\sqrt{\gamma}} dy f_{U}(y) \left(\ln \left[\int_{A}^{B} dv f_{U}(v) \right] \right)_{-} = 0.$$
(20b)

Correspondingly, set D_{ε} in the case under consideration is the union of three sets $D_{\varepsilon} = D_{\varepsilon,-} \cup D_{\varepsilon,0} \cup D_{\varepsilon,+}$ where

$$\mathbf{D}_{\varepsilon,-} = \left\{ (x, y) : a < x < a + (B - A)\sqrt{\varepsilon}, B - (x - a)/\sqrt{\varepsilon} < y < B \right\},$$
$$\mathbf{D}_{\varepsilon,0} = \left(a + (B - A)\sqrt{\varepsilon}, b - (B - A)\sqrt{\varepsilon} \right) \times \left(A, B \right)$$

and

$$\mathbf{D}_{\varepsilon,+} = \left\{ (x,y) : b - (B-A)\sqrt{\varepsilon} < x < b, \ A < y < A + (b-x)/\sqrt{\varepsilon} \right\}.$$
(21)

Observe that so far we have not used the upper bound for PDF f_U . See Fig. 1.



Fig. 1 Domain of integration for rectangular PDF f_U

Further, $I(1) = I_{-}(1) + I_{+}(1)$ where

$$I_{-}(1) = -\frac{1}{b-a} \int_{a}^{a+(B-A)/\sqrt{\gamma}} dx \int_{A}^{B-(x-a)\sqrt{\gamma}} dy f_{U}(y) \left(\ln \left[\int_{A}^{y+(x-a)\sqrt{\gamma}} dv f_{U}(v) \right] \right)_{(\overline{22})}$$

and

$$I_{+}(1) = -\frac{1}{b-a} \int_{b-(B-A)/\sqrt{\gamma}}^{b} dx \int_{A+(b-x)\sqrt{\gamma}}^{B} dy f_{U}(y) \left(\ln \left[\int_{y+(x-b)\sqrt{\gamma}}^{B} dv f_{U}(v) \right] \right)_{(23)}$$

We have to upper-bound integrals $I_{-}(1)$ and $I_{+}(1)$. For definiteness, we focus on $I_{-}(1)$; the changes for $I_{+}(1)$ are automatic. We have that

$$I_{-}(1) \leq -\int_{a}^{a+(B-A)/\sqrt{\gamma}} \frac{\mathrm{d}x}{b-a} \int_{A}^{B-(x-a)\sqrt{\gamma}} \mathrm{d}y f_{U}(y) \ln\left[\frac{\alpha}{B-A}\left(y+(x-a)\sqrt{\gamma}-A\right)\right]$$
$$= -\int_{0}^{(B-A)/\sqrt{\gamma}} \frac{\mathrm{d}x}{b-a} \int_{0}^{B-A-x\sqrt{\gamma}} \mathrm{d}y f_{U}(y+A) \ln\left[\frac{\alpha}{B-A}\left(y+x\sqrt{\gamma}\right)\right]$$
$$= -\frac{B-A}{b-a} \int_{0}^{1/\sqrt{\gamma}} \mathrm{d}x \int_{0}^{1-x\sqrt{\gamma}} \mathrm{d}y f_{U}(y(B-A)+A) \ln\left[\alpha\left(y+x\sqrt{\gamma}\right)\right]$$
$$= -\frac{B-A}{b-a} \frac{1}{\sqrt{\gamma}} \int_{0}^{1} \mathrm{d}x \int_{0}^{1-x} \mathrm{d}y f_{U}(y(B-A)+A) \ln\left[\alpha\left(y+x\sqrt{\gamma}\right)\right].$$
(24)

It remains to check that the integral in the RHS of (24) is finite.

But the integrand in the RHS of (24) has singularity at x = y = 0 only, which is integrable. A similar calculation applies to $I_+(1)$. This yields that, in the simplified case under consideration, the integral I in (18) obeys $I \le C/\sqrt{\gamma}$. In the multidimensional situation, if we assume that $X \sim U([[A, B]])$, then a similar argument gives that $I \le C\gamma^{-d/2}$. The extension of this argument to the general scalar case where f_X takes a finite number of values is straightforward. In the multidimensional case, when $X \sim U \sim U([0, 1]^d)$, a similar argument gives that $I = C\gamma^{-d/2}$, finally a similar bounds holds when X takes a finite number of values. **Proposition 3.3.** Let both f_X and f_U have a pyramidal form

$$f_X(x) = \prod_{i=1}^d (1 - |x_i|)_+, \quad f_U(y) = \prod_{i=1}^d \frac{1}{a_i} \left(1 - \frac{1}{a_i} |y_i - b_i| \right)_+, \quad x, y \in \mathbf{R}^d,$$
(25)

where $a_1, \ldots, a_d > 0$ and $-\infty < b_i < \infty$, $i = 1, \ldots, d$. Then assumption (B) of Lemma 2.1 holds, with

$$\mathbf{D}_{\varepsilon} = \left(\left[\left[-1 + \underline{\varepsilon}, -\underline{\varepsilon} \right] \right] \cup \left[\left[-1 + \underline{\varepsilon}, -\underline{\varepsilon} \right] \right] \right) \times \left[\left[b - a, b + a \right] \right], \tag{26}$$

where $a = (a_1, \ldots, a_d)$, (b_1, \ldots, b_d) and $\underline{\varepsilon} = (\varepsilon, \ldots, \varepsilon) \in \mathbf{R}^d$ and $\varepsilon \in (0, 1/2)$. Further, $\gamma_0(\varepsilon) = 1/(4\varepsilon^2)$ and function $\Psi_{\varepsilon}(x, y)$ is given by

$$\Psi_{\varepsilon}(x, y, \gamma) = \prod_{i=1}^{d} \left| \ln \left[1 - 2\varepsilon \frac{a_i + b_i + y_i \left(\operatorname{sgn} x_i \right)}{1 - |x_i|} \right] \right|.$$
(27)

Proof of Proposition 3.3. First, consider a scalar case (where both PDFs have a triangular form) and assume, w.l.o.g., that b = 0. It is convenient to denote the rectangle $(-1, 1) \times (-a, a)$ in the (x, y)-plane by \mathcal{R} . For $(x, y) \in \mathcal{R}$, set:

$$J(=J(x,y)) = \int dv f_U(v) f_X\left(x + \frac{y-v}{\sqrt{\gamma}}\right) = \sqrt{\gamma} \int du f_X(u) f_U\left((x-u)\sqrt{\gamma}+y\right).$$
(28)

Then, for $\sqrt{\gamma} > a$, on the parallelogram

$$\mathcal{P}_+\big(=\mathcal{P}_+(\gamma)\big)=\big\{(x,y)\in\mathcal{R}:\ a-x\sqrt{\gamma}< y<\sqrt{\gamma}(1-x)-a\big\},$$

we have that

$$J = \frac{\sqrt{\gamma}}{a} \begin{bmatrix} x + \frac{y+a}{\sqrt{\gamma}} \\ \int \\ x + \frac{y}{\sqrt{\gamma}} \end{bmatrix} (1-u) \left(1 - \frac{1}{a}(\sqrt{\gamma}(x-u) + y)\right) du$$
$$+ \int \\ x + \frac{y}{\sqrt{\gamma}} (1-u) \left(\frac{1}{a}(\sqrt{\gamma}(x-u) + y) - 1\right) du \end{bmatrix}.$$

By the direct computation

$$J = 1 - x - \frac{1}{\sqrt{\gamma}}(a + y).$$

So, for $\sqrt{\gamma} > a$, in parallelogram \mathcal{P}_+ , we have

$$J(x, y) = 1 - x - \frac{1}{\sqrt{\gamma}}(y+a) \text{ and } \ln \frac{J(x, y)}{f_X(x)} = \ln \left[1 - \frac{y+a}{\sqrt{\gamma}(1-x)}\right].$$
(29)

Geometrically, parallelogram \mathcal{P}_+ corresponds to the case where the support of the scaled PDF

$$x \mapsto \sqrt{\gamma} f_U((x-u)\sqrt{\gamma} + y) \tag{30}$$

lies entirely in (0, 1), the right-hand half of the support for f_X . Cf. Fig. 2 below.

Similarly, on the symmetric parallelogram

$$\mathcal{P}_{-}\big(=\mathcal{P}_{-}\big) = \big\{(x,y) \in \mathcal{R} : -(1+x)\sqrt{\gamma} + a < y < -\sqrt{\gamma}x - a\big\},$$

we have

$$J(x, y) = 1 - x - \frac{1}{\sqrt{\gamma}}(a - y) \text{ and } \ln \frac{J(x, y)}{f_X(x)} = \ln \left[1 - \frac{a - y}{\sqrt{\gamma}(1 + x)}\right].$$
(31)

This parallelogram corresponds with case where the support of the PDF in (30) lies in (-1, 0). On the union $\mathcal{P} = \mathcal{P}_+ \cup \mathcal{P}_-$,

$$H(x, y, \gamma) := \ln \frac{J(x, y)}{f_X(x)} = \ln \left[1 - \frac{a + y(\operatorname{sgn} x)}{\sqrt{\gamma}(1 - |x|)}\right].$$
 (32)

If we set $H(x, y; \gamma) = 0$ on $\mathcal{R} \setminus \mathcal{P}$, then function $H(x, y, \gamma)$ converges to 0 pointwise on the whole of \mathcal{R} . Given $\varepsilon \in (0, 1/2)$, take $\gamma > 1/(4\varepsilon^2)$. On the set \mathbf{D}_{ε} , we have that

$$|H(x, y, \gamma)| \le |H(x, y, 1/(4\varepsilon^2))| := \Psi_{\varepsilon}(x, y).$$

The complement $\mathcal{R} \setminus \mathcal{P}$ is partitioned in six domains (a right triangle with a vertex at point (-1, -a) plus an adjacent trapezoid on the left, a right triangle with



Fig. 2 Domain of integration for pyramidal PDF f_U

a vertex at point (1, a) plus an adjacent trapezoid on the right, and two adjacent parallelograms in the middle). These domains correspond to various positions of the "centre" and the endpoints of support of PDF $x \mapsto \sqrt{\gamma} f_U((x-u)\sqrt{\gamma} + y)$ relative to (-1, 1) (excluding the cases covered by set \mathcal{P}). On each of these domains, function J(x, y) is a polynomial, of degree ≤ 3 . Viz., on the RHS triangle $\{(x, y) \in \mathcal{R} : \sqrt{\gamma}(1-x) < y\}$,

$$J(x,y) = \frac{\sqrt{\gamma}}{a} \int_{x+\frac{y-a}{\sqrt{\gamma}}}^{1} (1-u) \Big(\frac{1}{a}(\sqrt{\gamma}(x-u)+y) - 1\Big) \mathrm{d}u$$

Next, in the RHS trapezoid $\{(x, y) \in \mathcal{R} : \sqrt{\gamma}(1-x) - a < y < \sqrt{\gamma}(1-x)\}$

$$J(x, y) = \frac{\sqrt{\gamma}}{a} \left[\int_{x+\frac{y}{\sqrt{\gamma}}}^{1} (1-u) \left(1 - \frac{1}{a} (\sqrt{\gamma}(x-u) + y) \right) du + \int_{x+\frac{y-a}{\sqrt{\gamma}}}^{x+\frac{y}{\sqrt{\gamma}}} (1-u) \left(\frac{1}{a} (\sqrt{\gamma}(x-u) + y) - 1 \right) du \right].$$

Finally, on the RHS parallelogram $\{(x, y) \in \mathcal{R} : -x\sqrt{\gamma} < y < a - x\sqrt{\gamma}\},\$

$$J(x, y) = \frac{\sqrt{\gamma}}{a} \bigg[\int_{x+\frac{y-a}{\sqrt{\gamma}}}^{0} (-1+u) \bigg(1 - \frac{1}{a} (\sqrt{\gamma}(x-u)+y) \bigg) du + \int_{0}^{x+\frac{y}{\sqrt{\gamma}}} (1-u) \bigg(1 - \frac{1}{a} (\sqrt{\gamma}(x-u)+y) \bigg) du + \int_{x+\frac{y}{\sqrt{\gamma}}}^{(x+\frac{y+a}{\sqrt{\gamma}}\wedge 1)} (1-u) \bigg(\frac{1}{a} (\sqrt{\gamma}(x-u)+y) - 1 \bigg) du \bigg].$$

Similar formulas take place for LHS counterparts. The integrals

$$\int \int f_X(x) f_U(y) \left| \ln \left[J(x, y) / f_X(x) \right] \right| dx dy$$
(33)

over each of these domains are assessed by inspection and decay as $O(1/\sqrt{\gamma})$.

In addition, to cover the complement $\mathcal{R} \setminus \mathbf{D}_{\varepsilon}$, we have to consider the set $\mathcal{P} \setminus \mathbf{D}_{\varepsilon}$ and integrate the function J(x, y) from (30) and (33). This again is done by inspection; the corresponding integral is assessed as $O(\varepsilon)$. Hence, the integral (19) over the entire complement $\mathcal{R} \setminus \mathbf{D}_{\varepsilon}$ is $\leq C \varepsilon$, for an appropriately chosen constant C > 0.

The above argument can be easily extended to the d-dimensional case since we will be dealing with products of integrals.

4 The Entropy-Power Inequality

In this section, we show how to deduce the EPI (1) from the lemmas established in Sect. 2. We begin with a convenient representation of the mutual entropy $I(X : X\sqrt{\gamma} + U)$ in the case where U is a d-variate normal RV, with a short (and elementary) proof. We do not consider this proof as new: it follows the same line as [3] but is more elementary.

Lemma 4.1. Let X and N be two independent RV, where $N \sim N(0, \Sigma)$ while X has a PDF f_X . Suppose that $\int f_X(x)||x||^2 dx < +\infty$. Given $\gamma > 0$, write the mutual entropy between X and $X\sqrt{\gamma} + N$:

$$I(X : X\sqrt{\gamma} + N) = -\int f_X(x)\phi(u - x\sqrt{\gamma}) \ln \left[f_X(x)\phi(u - x\sqrt{\gamma}) \right] dudx + \int f_X(x) \ln f_X(x) dx + \int f_X\sqrt{\gamma} + N(u) \ln f_X\sqrt{\gamma} + N(u) du$$

where

$$f_{X\sqrt{\gamma}+N}(u) = \int f_X(x)\phi(u - x\sqrt{\gamma})dx.$$
(34)

Then

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\gamma} \Big[I(X : X\sqrt{\gamma} + N) + h(N/\sqrt{\gamma}) \Big] = \frac{1}{2}M(X;\gamma) - \frac{1}{2\gamma}$$
(35)

where

$$M(X;\gamma) = \mathbb{E}\Big[\left\| X - \mathbb{E}(X|X\sqrt{\gamma} + N) \right\|^2 \Big]$$

and the norm $||x||^2 = \langle x, \Sigma^{-1}x \rangle, x \in \mathbb{R}^d$.

Proof of Lemma 4.1. Differentiate expression for $I(X : X\sqrt{\gamma} + N)$ given in (34), and observe that the derivative of the joint entropy $h(X, X\sqrt{\gamma} + N)$ vanishes, as $h(X, X\sqrt{\gamma} + N)$ does not change with $\gamma > 0$:

$$h(X, X\sqrt{\gamma} + N)$$

= $-\int f_X(x)\phi(u - x\sqrt{\gamma}) \left[\ln f_X(x) + \ln \phi(u - x\sqrt{\gamma}) \right] dx du$
= $h(X) + h(N)$.

The derivative of the marginal entropy $h(X\sqrt{\gamma} + N)$ requires some calculations:

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\gamma}h(X\sqrt{\gamma}+N) = -\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\gamma}\int f_{X\sqrt{\gamma}+N}(u)\ln f_{X\sqrt{\gamma}+N}(u)\mathrm{d}u$$
$$= \int \frac{1}{2\sqrt{\gamma}}\int f_X(y)\phi(u-\sqrt{\gamma}y)\left\langle (u-\sqrt{\gamma}y), \Sigma^{-1}y \right\rangle \mathrm{d}y$$

Continuity of Mutual Entropy in the Limiting Signal-To-Noise Ratio Regimes

$$\times \ln \int f_X(z)\phi(u - \sqrt{\gamma}z)dzdu + \int \frac{1}{2\sqrt{\gamma}} \int f_X(y)\phi(u - \sqrt{\gamma}y)dy \times \frac{\int f_X(w)\phi(u - \sqrt{\gamma}w)\langle (u - \sqrt{\gamma}w), \Sigma^{-1}w\rangle dw}{\int f_X(z)\phi(u - \sqrt{\gamma}z)dz} du.$$
(36)

The second summand vanishes, as (i) the integrals

$$\int f_X(y)\phi(u-\sqrt{\gamma}y)\mathrm{d}y \text{ and } \int f_X(z)\phi(u-\sqrt{\gamma}z)\mathrm{d}z$$

cancel each other and (ii) the remaining integration can be taken first in du, which yields 0 for $\forall w$. The first integral we integrate by parts. This leads to the representation

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\gamma}I(X:X\sqrt{\gamma}+N) = \frac{1}{2\sqrt{\gamma}}\int\int f_X(y)\phi(u-\sqrt{\gamma}y) \\
\times \frac{\int f_X(x)\phi(u-\sqrt{\gamma}x)\langle(u-\sqrt{\gamma}x),\Sigma^{-1}y\rangle\mathrm{d}x}{\int f_X(z)\phi(u-\sqrt{\gamma}z)\mathrm{d}z}\mathrm{d}y\mathrm{d}u \\
= \frac{1}{2\sqrt{\gamma}}\int\int\mathrm{d}y\mathrm{d}u f_X(y)\phi(u-\sqrt{\gamma}y) \\
\times \frac{\int f_X(x)\phi(u-\sqrt{\gamma}x)\Big[\langle(u-\sqrt{\gamma}y,\Sigma^{-1}y\rangle+\sqrt{\gamma}\langle(y-x),\Sigma^{-1}y\rangle\Big]\mathrm{d}}{\int f_X(z)\phi(u-\sqrt{\gamma}z)\mathrm{d}z}.$$
(37)

The integral arising from the summand $\langle (u - \sqrt{\gamma} y, \Sigma^{-1} y) \rangle$ vanishes, because the mean vector in PDF ϕ is zero. The remaining contributions, from $\langle y, \Sigma^{-1} y \rangle - \langle x, \Sigma^{-1} y \rangle$, is equal to

$$\frac{1}{2}\mathbb{E}\Big[\left\|X - \mathbb{E}(X|X\sqrt{\gamma} + N)\right\|^2\Big].$$

On the other hand, the first term in RHS of (36) equals

$$\int \left\| x - \frac{\int f_X(y)\phi(u - \sqrt{\gamma}y)\Sigma y dy}{\int f_X(z)\phi(u - \sqrt{\gamma}z) dz} \right\|^2 f_X(x)\phi(u - \sqrt{\gamma}x) dx du$$
$$= \mathbb{E} \Big[\|X - \mathbb{E}(X|X\sqrt{\gamma} + N)\|^2 \Big] \equiv M(X;\gamma).$$

We are now going to derive the EPI (1) following the line of argument proposed in [9] and based on Lemma 4.1. First, suppose that X is an RV with a PDF f_X where $\int f_X(x) dx = 1$. Then we assume that $f_X(x)$ satisfies the assumptions

stated in Lemma 2.1 and Lemma 2.4 and use these lemmas with $U = N \sim N(0, \Sigma)$. Consequently, $\forall \varepsilon > 0$,

$$h(X) = \lim_{\gamma \to +\infty} \left[I(X : X\sqrt{\gamma} + N) + h(N/\sqrt{\gamma}) \right]$$

= $\int_{\varepsilon}^{+\infty} \frac{d}{d\gamma} \left[I(X : X\sqrt{\gamma} + N) + h(N/\sqrt{\gamma}) \right] d\gamma + I(X : X\sqrt{\varepsilon} + N) + h(N/\sqrt{\varepsilon})$
= $\frac{1}{2} \int_{\varepsilon}^{+\infty} \left[M(X;\gamma) - \frac{1}{\gamma} \mathbf{1}(\gamma > 1) \right] d\gamma + h(N) + I(X : X\sqrt{\varepsilon} + N).$
(38)

Here we use the identity $\int_{\varepsilon}^{1} (1/\gamma) d\gamma = -\ln \varepsilon$. By Lemma 2.4 the last term in (38) tends to 0 as $\varepsilon \to 0$. Hence, for an RV X with PDF $f_X \in C^0$ we obtain

$$h(X) = h(N) + \frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{\infty} \left[M(X;\gamma) - \mathbf{1}(\gamma > 1) \frac{1}{\gamma} \right] d\gamma.$$
(39)

Remark 4.1. A straightforward calculation shows that (39) can be written in an equivalent form

$$h(X) = \frac{1}{2} \ln \left(2\pi e \sigma_X^2\right) - \frac{1}{2} \int_0^\infty \left[\frac{\sigma_X^2}{1 + \gamma \sigma_X^2} - M(X;\gamma)\right] \mathrm{d}\gamma \tag{40}$$

used in (4) from [9]. We thank the referee who pointed at this fact in his comments.

The proof of EPI is based on (39) and the following result from [5].

Lemma 4.2. ([5], Theorem 6) Let \mathcal{X} be a given class of probability distributions on \mathbb{R}^d , closed under convex linear combinations and convolutions. The inequality

$$h(X_1 \cos \theta + X_2 \sin \theta) \ge h(X_1) \cos^2 \theta + h(X_2) \sin^2 \theta, \tag{41}$$

for any $\theta \in [0, 2\pi]$ and any pair of independent RVs X_1 , X_2 with distributions from \mathcal{X} , holds true if and only if the entropy power inequality is valid for any pair of RVs X_1 , X_2 with distributions from \mathcal{X} .

Theorem 4.1. Let U be d-variate normal $N(0, \mathbf{I})$. Assume that RV's X_1, X_2 take values in \mathbb{R}^d and have continuous and bounded PDFs $f_{X_1}(x), f_{X_2}(x), x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ satisfying condition (A)–(B) of Lemma 2.1. Assume that the differential entropies $h(X_1)$ and $h(X_2)$ satisfy $-\infty < h(X_1), h(X_2) < +\infty$. Then the EPI (see (1)–(2)) holds true.

Proof of Theorem 4.1. The proof follows Ref. [9] and is provided here only for completeness of presentation. The result of Theorem 4.1 may also be established for piece-wise continuous PDFs $f_{X_1}(x)$ and $f_{X_2}(x)$ as well (cf. Lemma 3.2). According to Lemma 4.2, it suffices to check bound (41) $\forall \theta \in (0, 2\pi)$ and \forall pair of RVs X_1 , X_2 with continuous and bounded PDFs $f_{X_i}(x)$, i = 1, 2. Take any such pair and let N be N(0, **I**) where **I** is the $d \times d$ unit matrix. Following the argument developed in [9], we apply formula (39) for the RV $X = X_1 \cos \phi + X_2 \sin \phi$:

$$h(X_1 \cos \phi + X_2 \sin \phi) = h(N) + \frac{1}{2} \int_0^\infty \left[M(X_1 \cos \phi + X_2 \sin \phi; \gamma) - \mathbf{1}(\gamma > 1) \frac{1}{\gamma} \right] d\gamma.$$

To verify (41), we need to check that

$$M(X_1\cos\phi + X_2\sin\phi;\gamma) \ge \cos\phi^2 M(X_1;\gamma) + \sin\phi^2 M(X_2;\gamma).$$
(42)

To this end, we take two independent RVs N_1 , $N_2 \sim N(0, \mathbf{I})$ and set

$$Z_1 = X_1 \sqrt{\gamma} + N_1, Z_2 = X_2 \sqrt{\gamma} + N_2, \text{ and } Z = Z_1 \cos \phi + Z_2 \sin \phi.$$

Then inequality (41) holds true because

$$\mathbb{E}\Big[\|X - \mathbb{E}(X|Z)\|^2 \Big] \ge \mathbb{E}\Big[\|X - \mathbb{E}(X|Z_1, Z_2)\|^2 \Big]$$

=
$$\mathbb{E}\Big[\|X_1 - \mathbb{E}(X_1|Z_1)\|^2 \Big] \cos \phi^2 + \mathbb{E}\Big[\|X_2 - \mathbb{E}(X_2|Z_2)\|^2 \Big] \sin \phi^2.$$

Acknowledgements The authors acknowledge the support of the Program "Statistical Processes in Communication Science" at Isaac Newton Institute, Cambridge. We would like to express our gratitude to the anonymous referee for his comments, particularly on an incorrect remark in the previous version of the paper.

References

- 1. Dobrushin, R.L.: Taking the limit of the argument of entropy and information functions. Theory Probab. Appl. **5**(1), 25–32 (1960)
- 2. Cover, T.M., Thomas, J.A.: Elements of Information Theory. Wiley, NY (2006)
- 3. Guo, D., Shamai, S., Verdu, S.: Mutual information and minimum mean-square error in Gaussian channels. IEEE Trans. Inform. Theory **51**(4), 1261–1288 (2005)
- Johnson, O., Yu, Y.: Monotonicity, thinning and discrete version of the entropy power inequality, IEEE Transactions on Information Theory, 56(11) 2010. DOI 10.1109/TIT.2010.2070570
- 5. Lieb, E.H.: Proof of entropy conjecture of Wehrl. Commun. Math. Phys. 62(1), 35-41 (1978)
- 6. Rioul, O.: A simple proof of the entropy-power inequality via properties of mutual information. In: Proceeding of the 2007 IEEE Inter. Symp. on Information Theory. Nice, France (2007)
- 7. Shannon, C., Weaver, W.: The mathematical theory of communication. University of Illinois Press, Urbana, IL (1949)
- Stam, A.J.: Some inequalities satisfied by the quantities of information of Fisher and Shannon. Inf. Control, 2, 101–112 (1959)
- 9. Verdu, S., Guo, D.: A simple proof of the entropy-power inequality. IEEE Trans. Inform. Theory **52**(5), 2165–2166 (2006)